Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48

Vinod Kumar Yata Shivendu Ranjan Nandita Dasgupta Eric Lichtfouse *Editors*

Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3



Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World

Volume 48

Series Editors

Eric Lichtfouse , Aix-Marseille University, CNRS, IRD, INRA, Coll France, CEREGE, Aix-en-Provence, France Jan Schwarzbauer, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany Didier Robert, CNRS, European Laboratory for Catalysis and Surface Sciences, Saint-Avold, France

Other Publications by the Editors

Books

Environmental chemistry http://www.springer.com/978-3-540-22860-8

Organic Contaminants in Riverine and Groundwater Systems http://www.springer.com/978-3-540-31169-0

Sustainable Agriculture Volume 1: http://www.springer.com/978-90-481-2665-1 Volume 2: http://www.springer.com/978-94-007-0393-3

Book series

Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World http://www.springer.com/series/11480

Sustainable Agriculture Reviews http://www.springer.com/series/8380

Journals

Environmental Chemistry Letters http://www.springer.com/10311

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11480

Vinod Kumar Yata • Shivendu Ranjan Nandita Dasgupta • Eric Lichtfouse Editors

Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3



Editors Vinod Kumar Yata Animal Biotechnology Centre National Dairy Research Institute Karnal, Haryana, India

Nandita Dasgupta Department of Biotechnology Institute of Engineering and Technology Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh, India Shivendu Ranjan Faculty of Engineering and Built Environment University of Johannesburg Johannesburg, South Africa

Eric Lichtfouse CNRS, IRD, INRA, Coll France, CEREGE Aix-Marseille University Aix-en-Provence, France

 ISSN 2213-7114
 ISSN 2213-7122 (electronic)

 Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World
 ISBN 978-3-030-47119-4
 ISBN 978-3-030-47120-0 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0
 ISBN 978-3-030-47120-0
 ISBN 978-3-030-47120-0 (eBook)

@ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Nanopharmaceuticals are at the forefront of advanced medicine and its applications are rapidly growing in the fields of drug delivery and diagnosis. The third volume of this book provides more insightful and updated information about the synthesis, safety, and toxicity of nanopharmaceuticals. This book also describes transport phenomenon, dental and dermal delivery of nanopharmaceuticals. A couple of chapters are devoted to the applications of nanopharmaceuticals on cancer therapy and diagnosis.

Chapter 1 emphasizes the safety issues of inorganic nanomaterials such as gold, silver, silica, copper, iron, and zinc nanoparticles. Toxicology profiling and cyto-toxic studies of these nanoparticles were provided in this chapter.

Chapter 2 focuses on development and applications of nanoparticle-based biosensors for cancer detection. This chapter provides information on different types of biosensors capable of detecting biomarkers of cancer.

Chapter 3 is devoted to the novel approaches of nanotechnology towards advancements in dentistry. This chapter also focuses on different nanotools for dental ailments associated with bony as well as soft tissue defects.

Chapter 4 deals with the synthesis of both organic and inorganic nanostructures along with their characterization techniques and challenges faced during their development.

The first part of Chap. 5 deals with the basic concepts of electro spinning process and characterization techniques of electrospun nanofibers. The remaining part of the chapter covers drug-loaded nanofibers and recent applications of nanofibers in dermal drug delivery.

Chapter 6 provides the extensive information on nanomaterials for immobilization of enzymes and biomedical applications of enzyme immobilized nanocarriers. Challenges and critical opinions are also discussed at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 7 elucidates the toxicity of nanoparticles to different physiological systems and different methods to assess the toxicity of the nanoparticles for different organ systems using examples of in vivo systems.

Chapter 8 presents recent updates and insightful information on chemistry, synthesis, characterization, and applications of dendrimers. Chapter 9 focuses on the main pathways of nanoparticles to penetrate and permeate the epithelial barrier and novel bio responsive delivery systems. Final part of the chapter deals with the toxicity of nanoparticles and its impact on organisms.

Chapter 10 provides information on advances in nano-theranostic materials. This chapter deals with nomenclature, bio-distribution, pharmacokinetics, surface functionalization, and application of nano-theranostics.

Karnal, Haryana, India Johannesburg, South Africa Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh, India Aix-en-Provence, France Vinod Kumar Yata Shivendu Ranjan Nandita Dasgupta Eric Lichtfouse

Contents

1	Inorganic Nanomaterials for Enhanced Therapeutic Safety Sunaina Indermun, Mershen Govender, Pradeep Kumar, Yahya E. Choonara, and Viness Pillay	1
2	Nanoparticles Application for Cancer Diagnosis Mohammad Ramezani, Mona Alibolandi, Fahimeh Charbgoo, Khalil Abnous, and Seyed Mohammad Taghdisi	25
3	Insights into Nanotools for Dental Interventions Pooja Jain, Fahima Dilnawaz, and Zeenat Iqbal	53
4	Nanopharmaceuticals: Synthesis, Characterization, and Challenges Sunita Ojha, Dharitri Saikia, and Utpal Bora	81
5	Electrospun Nanofibers as Carriers in Dermal Drug Delivery Meryem Sedef Erdal and Sevgi Güngör	139
6	Enzyme-Responsive and Enzyme Immobilized Nanoplatforms for Therapeutic Delivery: An Overview of Research Innovations and Biomedical Applications Mohd Faheem Khan, Debasree Kundu, Manashjit Gogoi, Ashwinee Kumar Shrestha, Naikankatte G. Karanth, and Sanjukta Patra	165
7	Systemic Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment in Animal Models Vishal Sharma, Bharti Aneja, Vinod Kumar Yata, Dhruba Malakar, and Ashok Kumar Mohanty	201
8	Dendrimers as Drug Carriers for Cancer Therapy Narsireddy Amreddy, Anish Babu, Anupama Munshi, and Rajagopal Ramesh	245

9	Nanoparticle Design to Improve Transport Across	
	the Intestinal Barrier	271
	Wai-Houng Chou, Tessa Lühmann, Lorenz Meinel,	
	and Javier Octavio Morales	
10	Recent Progress in Nanotheranostic Medicine	317
	Pravas R Sahoo, H. Madhyastha, R. Madhyastha, M. Maruyama,	
	and Y. Nakajima	
T., J		225
Ind	Index	

About the Editors



Dr. Vinod Kumar Yata is an interdisciplinary researcher working at National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, India. Previously, he worked as an Assistant Professor in Department of Biotechnology, Dr. B. R. Ambedkar National Institute of Technology Jalandhar, Punjab, India. Dr. Yata received his Ph.D. in Biotechnology from Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati. He specializes in interdisciplinary research which includes Nanotechnology, Microfluidics, Biotechnology, Cancer Biology, and Bioinformatics. Dr. Yata has developed a microfluidic device for the separation of live and motile spermatozoa from cattle semen samples. He opened up a new avenue for prodrug enzyme therapy by introducing nanocarriers for the delivery of non-mammalian prodrug activating enzymes. Dr. Yata elucidated the structural features and binding interactions of several bio molecules by *in silico* methods. He published several research papers in peer-reviewed international journals and presented papers in several international conferences.



Dr. Shivendu Ranjan has completed his B.Tech. and Ph.D. in Biotechnology from VIT University, Vellore, India, and has expertise in Nano(bio)technology. He was elected as a Fellow (FLS) of the oldest active biological society started in 1778, The Linnean Society (London), and he was an elected Fellow of Bose Scientific Society (FBSS). In 2018, he has been elected as Fellow of Indian Chemical Society (FICS) - a society founded in 1924. He has also been elected as Fellow (FIETA) of Indian Engineering Teachers Association. Currently, he is designated as a Senior Research Associate at Faculty of Engineering & Built Environment, University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg, South Africa. Recently he has been nominated as Strategic Head – Research & Development at Ennoble IP, Noida, India. He is also working as Visiting Faculty at the National Institute of Pharmaceutical Education and Research-R (NIPER-R), Lucknow. He is also designated as Vice President, Indian Chemical Society North Branch. Earlier, he has worked as Scientist at DST-Centre for Policy Research, Lucknow, supported by Ministry of Science and Technology, Govt. of India. He also worked as Head, Research & Technology Development at E-Spin Nanotech Pvt. Ltd., SIDBI Incubation Center, Indian Institute of Technology, Kanpur, India. He is also Advisor of many companies, e.g., Eckovation Solutions Pvt. Ltd. (IIT Delhi based start-up), Chaperon Biotech Pvt. Ltd (IIT Kanpur based start up), Kyntox Biotech India Pvt. Ltd., and Xcellogen Biotech Pvt. Ltd. Dr. Shivendu is also reviewer of Iran National Science Foundation (INSF), Tehran, Iran, and Jury at Venture Cup, Denmark, from the past 3 consecutive years. He had founded and drafted the concept for the first edition of the "VIT Bio Summit" in 2012, and the same has been continued till date by the university. He is the Associate Editor of Environmental Chemistry Letters (Springer journal of 4.6 impact factor). He is serving as an editorial board member and referee for reputed international peer-reviewed journals. He has published several scientific articles as well as books and has h-index of 21. He has bagged several awards and recognition from different national as well as international organizations.



Dr. Nandita Dasgupta completed her B.Tech. and Ph.D. from VIT University, Vellore, India, and is Elected Fellow (FBSS) of Bose Science Society. She has major working experience in Micro/Nanoscience and is currently working as Assistant Professor at Department of Biotechnology, Institute of Engineering and Technology, Lucknow, India. Earlier, at LV Prasad Eye Institute, Bhubaneswar, India, she worked on Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes for the treatment of uveitis. Dr. Dasgupta has exposure of working at universities, research institutes, and industries, including VIT University, Vellore, Tamil Nadu, India; CSIR-Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore, India; Uttar Pradesh Drugs and Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Lucknow, India; and Indian Institute of Food Processing Technology (IIFPT), Thanjavur, Ministry of Food Processing Industries, Government of India. At IIFPT, Thanjavur, she was involved in a project funded by a leading pharmaceutical company, Dr. Reddy's Laboratories, and has successfully engineered micro-vehicles for model drug molecules. Her areas of interest include Micro/Nanomaterial fabrication and its applications in various fields - medicine, food, environment, and agriculture biomedical.

Dr. Dasgupta has published 21 edited books and 1 authored book with Springer Switzerland. Dr. Dasgupta has authored many chapters and also published many scientific articles in international peer-reviewed journals. She is the associate editor of *Environmental Chemistry Letters* – a Springer journal of 3.2 impact factor – and also serving as editorial board member and referee for reputed international peer-reviewed journals. Dr. Dasgupta has received several awards and recognitions from different national and international organizations.



Dr. Eric Lichtfouse, Ph.D., born in 1960, is an environmental chemist working at the University of Aix-Marseille, France. He has invented carbon-13 dating, a method allowing to measure the relative age and turnover of molecular organic compounds occurring in different temporal pools of any complex media. He is teaching scientific writing and communication and has published the book *Scientific Writing for Impact Factors*, which includes a new tool – the Micro-Article – to identify the novelty of research results. He is founder and Chief Editor of scientific journals and series in environmental chemistry and agriculture. He has founded the European Association of Chemistry and the Environment. He got the Analytical Chemistry Prize by the French Chemical Society, the Grand Prize of the Universities of Nancy and Metz, and a Journal Citation Award by the Essential Indicators.

Contributors

Khalil Abnous Pharmaceutical Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Department of Medicinal Chemistry, School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Mona Alibolandi Pharmaceutical Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Narsireddy Amreddy Department of Pathology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Bharti Aneja Dairy Microbiology Division, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

Anish Babu Department of Pathology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Utpal Bora Bioengineering Research Laboratory, Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India Centre for the Environment, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Fahimeh Charbgoo DWI-Leibniz Institute for Interactive Material, Aachen, Germany

Yahya E. Choonara Wits Advanced Drug Delivery Platform Research Unit, Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Gauteng, South Africa **Wai-Houng Chou** Department of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, School of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Santiago, Chile Center of New Drugs for Hypertension (CENDHY), Santiago, Chile

Fahima Dilnawaz Laboratory of Nanomedicine, Institute of Life Sciences, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

Meryem Sedef Erdal Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Turkey

Manashjit Gogoi Biomedical Engineering Department, North Eastern Hill University, Shillong, Meghalaya, India

Mershen Govender Wits Advanced Drug Delivery Platform Research Unit, Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Gauteng, South Africa

Sevgi Güngör Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Turkey

Sunaina Indermun Wits Advanced Drug Delivery Platform Research Unit, Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Gauteng, South Africa

Zeenat Iqbal Department of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmaceutical Education and Research (SPER), Jamia Hamdard, New Delhi, India

Pooja Jain Department of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmaceutical Education and Research (SPER), Jamia Hamdard, New Delhi, India

Naikankatte G. Karanth Department of Fermentation Technology, CSIR-Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysuru, India

Mohd Faheem Khan Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Pradeep Kumar Wits Advanced Drug Delivery Platform Research Unit, Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Gauteng, South Africa

Debasree Kundu Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Tessa Lühmann Institute of Chemistry and Pharmacy, University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany

H. Madhyastha Department of Applied Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Miyazaki, Miyazaki, Japan

R. Madhyastha Department of Applied Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Miyazaki, Miyazaki, Japan

Dhruba Malakar Animal Biotechnology Centre, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

M. Maruyama Department of Applied Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Miyazaki, Miyazaki, Japan

Lorenz Meinel Institute of Chemistry and Pharmacy, University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany

Ashok Kumar Mohanty Animal Biotechnology Centre, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

Javier Octavio Morales Department of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, School of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile

Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Santiago, Chile

Center of New Drugs for Hypertension (CENDHY), Santiago, Chile

Pharmaceutical Biomaterial Research Group, Department of Health Sciences, Luleå University of Technology, Luleå, Sweden

Anupama Munshi Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Y. Nakajima Department of Applied Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Miyazaki, Miyazaki, Japan

Sunita Ojha Bioengineering Research Laboratory, Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Sanjukta Patra Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Viness Pillay Wits Advanced Drug Delivery Platform Research Unit, Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Gauteng, South Africa

Rajagopal Ramesh Department of Pathology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Graduate Program in Biomedical Sciences, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA **Mohammad Ramezani** Pharmaceutical Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Pravas R Sahoo Department of Animal Biochemistry, College of Veterinary Science & Animal Husbandry, Odisha University of Agriculture & Technology, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

Dharitri Saikia Centre for the Environment, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Vishal Sharma Animal Biotechnology Centre, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

Ashwinee Kumar Shrestha Department of Pharmacy, Kathmandu University, Dhulikhel, Nepal

Seyed Mohammad Taghdisi Targeted Drug Delivery Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Vinod Kumar Yata Animal Biotechnology Centre, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

Chapter 1 Inorganic Nanomaterials for Enhanced Therapeutic Safety



Sunaina Indermun, Mershen Govender, Pradeep Kumar, Yahya E. Choonara, and Viness Pillay

Contents

1.1	Introduction	2
1.2	Mechanism of Toxicity	3
1.3	Inorganic Nanomaterials Used in Drug Delivery	5
	1.3.1 Metallic Nanomaterials.	5
	1.3.2 Nonmetallic Nanomaterials.	14
1.4	Safety of Nanotheragnostic Agents	16
1.5	Nanomaterial Hazard Assessment.	16
1.6	Conclusion	17
Refe	rences	18

Abstract Background/issues: Nanomaterials have been effectively and widely utilized in a variety of scientific disciplines to enhance biomedical applications. These nanomaterials are often organic or inorganic and often comprised of polymers or metal derivatives. The therapeutic safety of these often-toxic materials, however, is of paramount importance to ensure therapeutic safety. The safety of nanomaterials is therefore a widely undertaken research discipline evaluated both in vitro and in vivo. **Major advances:** This review provides for the currently undertaken research for the determination of therapeutic safety in inorganic nanomaterials. The importance of therapeutic safety, toxicity, and regulation of nanomaterials has been provided prior to the review of the respective nanomaterials. Specific focus has been given to metal-derived nanomaterials including gold, silver, silica, copper, iron, zinc, and titanium nanomaterials. Toxicology profiling and cytotoxicity studies of these nanomaterials have also been provided in addition to the in vivo studies that

S. Indermun · M. Govender · P. Kumar · Y. E. Choonara · V. Pillay (⊠) Wits Advanced Drug Delivery Platform Research Unit, Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Gauteng, South Africa e-mail: viness.pillay@wits.ac.za

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_1

have been undertaken and the potential for alternative nanomaterial safety assessments.

Keywords Multifunctional nanomaterials · Toxicity · Physicochemical properties · Gold · Silver · Silica · Copper · Iron · Zinc · Titanium dioxide

1.1 Introduction

Exploited mainly for drug delivery applications, advances in the field of nanomaterials have been exponential. Offering the advantages of enhanced and efficacious delivery, nanomaterials improve the in vivo stability and solubility of active pharmaceutical agents (APIs) (Moghimi et al. 2001; Jia et al. 2013). Their nanosize correlates with many biological structures and organelles, making the nanomaterials appropriate for interactions at the submicron scale, thereby assisting in improving intracellular delivery, circulation, biodistribution, and the crossing of biological membranes (Singh and Lillard Jr 2009; Hassan et al. 2017).

Beyond the conventional approach of using nanomaterials as delivery vehicles, nanomaterials have also been designed and developed to confer individual functionality in the fields of energy generation, devices, therapeutics, biomedical applications, and chemical assays including medical imaging and antimicrobial coatings. The advent of nanomaterials has also led to the development of functionalized nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems that are able to diagnose, image, sense, and deliver therapeutics via conjugating moieties, such as aptamers, small molecules, and peptides (Lee et al. 2012).

Gold nanoparticles, silver nanoparticles, copper nanoparticles, magnetic nanoparticles, and mesoporous silica are some examples of inorganic nanocarriers which are amenable to functionalization and in addition can provide tracking capabilities (Subbiah et al. 2010). Although nanomaterials offer attractive advantages, physicochemical properties such as shape, size, surface charge, structure, composition, functionalization, and dissolution could significantly affect their cytotoxicity and therapeutic safety (Sharifi et al. 2012; Nel et al. 2013). Organic-based nanomaterials such as polymeric micelles, nanoparticles, and liposomes, primarily consisting of biocompatible amphiphilic copolymers, are well-known for their therapeutic safety (Bi et al. 2008; Oh et al. 2008). Contrasting studies have been conducted in the past where some authors have demonstrated that inorganic nanoparticles are in fact suitable for in vivo applications, whereas others have proved otherwise. Undoubtedly, the ability of nanomaterials to impart both action and interference at the cellular level renders many toxicity implications for such materials. This chapter will therefore detail the use, safety, and toxicity of inorganic nanomaterials with emphasis provided on the toxicology profiling and cytotoxicity studies of these nanomaterials in addition to the results of the in vivo studies that have been undertaken. Also provided for is the effectiveness of current safety profiling in addition to the potential for alternative nanomaterial safety assessments.

1.2 Mechanism of Toxicity

Nanoparticle toxicity is dependent on dose, route of administration, size, shape, lipophilicity, and exposure time and may interrupt the chemical and biological processes at various parts of the human anatomy such as at the molecular, cellular, and tissue levels (Johnston et al. 2010; Schrand et al. 2010; Wolfram et al. 2015). Interactions between these nanoparticles and body's biomolecules instantaneously occur upon delivery of the nanoparticles. This is due to the nanoparticles' high surface free energy which results in the biomolecules coating the nanoparticles, forming the protein corona (Monopoli et al. 2012; Wolfram et al. 2014, 2015). Consisting of both a hard and soft layer, the protein corona can drastically influence the nanoparticle size, shape, and charge, ultimately changing the amount of protein interactions (Fig. 1.1; Wolfram et al. 2014). Additionally, the endogenous biomolecules may also undergo structural and functional alterations as a result.

As mentioned, nanomaterial size, composition, and surface chemistry of nanomaterials are key determinants in their interactions with biological systems and their subsequent toxicity (Mirshafiee et al. 2017). These physicochemical properties may result in random membrane insertion, thereby leading to a cascade of signaling transductions that result in cytokine production and proinflammatory responses or eventual cell death. At the cellular level, peroxidative product accumulation, in vitro apoptosis, and cell antioxidant depletion can occur as a result of overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Shang et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2016). Consequently, the redox state of the cell becomes imbalanced resulting in oxidative stress which has detrimental effects on the cells through protein, lipid, and DNA damage, resulting in cellular apoptosis and mutagenesis (Khanna et al. 2015). In order to ensure in vivo safety, well-defined methods to characterize and evaluate nanomaterials are required. Cellular homeostasis can be affected by inorganic nanomaterials, thus

Fig. 1.1 Schematic representation of the current protein corona hypothesis. A hard and soft layer of proteins covers the surface of the nanoparticle. The proteins in the hard corona are more tightly associated with the particle surface, making them less dynamic than the proteins in the soft corona. (Reproduced from Wolfram et al. 2014, © 2014 Elsevier B.V)



allowing for a cascade of possible effects. Several mechanisms may result in such effects which are detailed in Fig. 1.2.

At the cellular level, nanoparticles may disrupt membrane integrity resulting in cellular leakage and disruption or destruction of cellular function. Lysosomal membrane dysfunction has been reported to be caused by polycation particles (Molinaro et al. 2013), zinc oxide (Cho et al. 2011), and titanium dioxide (Hamilton et al. 2009), resulting in endoplasmic reticulum stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and protein aggregation (Stern et al. 2012). Organ-related nanoparticle toxicity also occurs as a result of nanoparticle accumulation due to toxicity occurring at the molecular and cellular levels as well as through immunological responses.



Fig. 1.2 Cytotoxic effects of nanoparticles. In the biological environment, nanoparticles may trigger the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Elevated ROS levels may lead to (i) activation of cellular stress-dependent signaling pathways, (ii) direct damage of subcellular organelles such as mitochondria, and (iii) DNA fragmentation in the nucleus, resulting in cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, and inflammatory response. Nanoparticles may interact with membrane-bound cellular receptors, e.g., growth factor (GF) receptors and integrins, inducing cellular phenotypes such as proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation, and migration. After internalization via endocytic pathways, nanoparticles are trafficked along the endolysosomal network within vesicles with the help of motor proteins and cytoskeletal structures. To access cytoplasmic or nuclear targets, nanoparticles must escape from the endolysosomal network and traverse through the crowded cytoplasm. (Reproduced from Shang et al. 2014 © Shang et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. 2014, distributed under a CC-BY 2.0)

1.3 Inorganic Nanomaterials Used in Drug Delivery

1.3.1 Metallic Nanomaterials

Gold Nanoparticles

Possessing appreciable properties such as unique optical and electric properties and ease of functionalization with targeting moieties, drugs, and polymers using gold-thiol bonds, gold (Au) nanoparticles have been widely studied and employed in various applications such as drug delivery, photothermal delivery, and cellular and diagnostic imaging (Dreaden et al. 2012; Jia et al. 2013; Cheng et al. 2017). A study undertaken by Huo (2010) employed Au nanoparticle-based protein complex aggregation biomarker assays for the detection and diagnosis of cancer. Since these Au nanoparticles may be easily functionalized through simple bioconjugation techniques in a range of shapes and sizes, their cytotoxicity may thus be easily affected.

Below sizes of 4–5 nm in diameter, Au nanoparticles are catalytically active and may induce cytotoxicity (Falagan-Lotsch et al. 2016). Additionally, many toxicity studies have found Au nanoparticles with sizes greater than 4–5 nm in diameter to be nontoxic after acute exposure (Alkilany and Murphy 2010; Khlebtsov and Dykman 2011; Soenen et al. 2011). Particles of this size are considered mostly non-toxic to the mitochondrial cells; however, oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage can be incurred in cultured cells due to their high surface reactivity (Dreaden et al. 2012).

Au nanoparticles of 5 nm are generally used in nanomedicine and are presumed safe in drug delivery applications and photothermal therapy, with particles larger than 5 nm having the potential to result in cellular toxicity (Alkilany and Murphy 2010). Different cell type sensitivities and the use of high concentrations of Au nanoparticles may also attribute to other cases of acute toxicity (Patra et al. 2007; Mironava et al. 2010; Khlebtsov and Dykman 2011). After in vivo administration, Au nanoparticles have not been fully investigated for their long-term toxicological effects. Au nanoparticles have also been known to display an accumulation of degradation products as well as a reduced clearance of several months, possibly resulting in chronic toxicity (Khlebtsov and Dykman 2011; Kolosnjaj-Tabi et al. 2015). In addition, nephrotoxicity and erythrocytic cellular death have also been shown in vivo (Sereemaspun et al. 2008; Sopjani et al. 2008).

Studies have also shown that Au nanoparticle surface charge influences cellular uptake properties. The negatively charged cell surface residues have a higher affinity for cationic gold nanoparticles as compared to their anionic counterparts. Nevertheless, studies have demonstrated that the cationic nanoparticle surface charge can also result in an increased cytotoxicity in airway cells BEC and ASM and the ovarian cancer cells CP70, A2780 (Arvizo et al. 2010), and HeLa (Hauck et al. 2008) due to their altered surface properties associated with reduced particle size.

Additionally, due to their high biocompatibility and bioinert character, Au nanoparticles have also been extensively applied in diagnostic applications and gene delivery. However, for endothelial and epithelial applications, the presence of stabilizers such as sodium citrate residues on the Au nanoparticles was revealed to affect the proliferation and induce cytotoxicity in human alveolar type II (AT II)-like cells, human cerebral microvascular endothelial cells (hcMEC/D3), and human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMEC). The study was carried out to determine if these effects were related to the varying degree of internalization of the Au nanoparticles, to surface sodium citrate on the Au nanoparticles, or to nanoparticle size. Differing uptake behaviors for citrate-stabilized Au nanoparticles were observed for the epithelial and endothelial cells. Concentration-dependent cytotoxicity was also observed after exposure to the Au nanoparticles (Fig. 1.3). It was demonstrated that the lower the degree of purification, the less cell viability and proliferation occurred concluding that the safety of Au nanoparticles may be enhanced with the abridged addition of sodium citrate (Freese et al. 2012).

Falagan-Lotsch and coworkers (2016) investigated the long-term in vitro effect on human dermal fibroblasts of two shapes of Au nanoparticles. The study was conducted on both nanorods and nanospheres under both chronic and nonchronic conditions. It was determined that the oxidative stress and inflammation gene expression could be modified with a subcytotoxic dose of Au nanoparticles, with the effect lasting over 20 weeks. The results indicated that the cell stress response is not reversible over time upon removal of the nanoparticles after acute exposure and that the cells can adaptively respond to chronic, low-level nanoparticle insults (Falagan-Lotsch et al. 2016). Interestingly, in the study undertaken by Falagan-Lotsch et al. (2016), the surface chemistry of polyethylene glycol was found to be not as benign as is generally assumed.

These studies investigating the toxicological effects of Au nanoparticles therefore suggest that long-term studies are warranted, rather than their acute counterparts, to elucidate better, safety profiles of gold nanomaterials.

Silver Nanoparticles

Used in various antimicrobial applications, silver (Ag) nanoparticles have been implicated in major health concerns due to their toxicological impacts on various organs (Mirshafiee et al. 2017). A notable effect of chronic silver exposure is argyria in humans (Wijnhoven et al. 2009). Ag nanoparticles release toxic silver ions following particle dissolution resulting in significant cytotoxicity via ROS generation (Wang et al. 2014; Zhornik et al. 2014; Osborne et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2015).

Furthermore, these Ag nanoparticles may migrate to the brain, lungs, kidneys, liver, and spleen following detachment from colloidal silver wound dressings (Ahamed et al. 2010). Peripheral multiorgan inflammation caused by Ag nanoparticles was demonstrated by Guo and coworkers (2016). Focusing on interendothelial junctions, the mechanisms of action of Ag nanoparticles and silver nitrate (AgNO₃) were compared employing primary human umbilical vein endothelial



Fig. 1.3 (**I**) Internalization of gold nanoparticles in HDMEC and hCMEC/D3 analyzed by transmission electron microscopy. HDMEC (**a**–**c**) and hCMEC/D3 (**d**–**f**) were incubated with 300 μ M gold nanoparticles for 24 h. After exposure, cells were extensively washed, fixed with paraformal-dehyde, and examined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). AuS0302-RIT, AuS0302-RIS02, and AuS0302-RIS04 were found in intracellular vesicles which were mostly located in the perinuclear region. The arrow heads indicate the gold nanoparticles within the vesicles. Scale bar: 1 μ m. (**II**) Quantification of internalized gold nanoparticles in endothelial and epithelial cells by ICP-AES. Both epithelial cells (H441 and A549) and endothelial cells (HDMEC and hCMEC/D3) were incubated with 50 μ M gold nanoparticles at 37 °C for 24 h. Cells were extensively washed, lysed by aqua regia (3:1 hydrochloric acid/nitric acid), and analyzed for gold concentration by ICP-AES. In (**a**) the total number of particles per area was calculated, while in (**b**) the percentage uptake of particles into cells, as a function of the total amount applied, was determined. (Reproduced with permission from Freese et al. 2012 © Freese et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. 2012, distributed under a CC-BY 2.0)

cells (HUVEC). It was shown that endothelial endocytosis was primarily due to Ag nanoparticles as opposed to AgNO₃. This study determined increased intracellular ROS and VE-cadherin downregulation resulting in the disruption of the integrity of the endothelial layer between the endothelial cells caused by Ag nanoparticles which interestingly could be remedied by N-acetylcysteine (Fig. 1.4). However, AgNO₃ (>20 µg/mL) resulted in direct cell death without ROS induction at lower concentrations. Notably, peripheral inflammation was induced in the liver, lungs, and kidneys from Ag nanoparticle release with the severity increasing in relation to the diameter of the Ag nanoparticles used.



Fig. 1.4 The viability and intracellular ROS of cells exposed with Ag nanoparticles or AgNO₃: (A) Cell viability from CCK-8 assay. (B) The intracellular ROS level caused by Ag nanoparticle or AgNO₃ exposure for 1 h. The H₂O₂ group was set as the positive control. The * represents significant difference between control group and Ag nanoparticle-75-treated group (*: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01). (C) Representative fluorescence images of cells stained by DCFH-DA, in which (a) control group, (b and c) cells incubated with AgNO₃ at 1 µg/mL and 10 µg/mL of Ag, (d) cells exposed to 7.5 mg/mL H₂O₂, (e–h) cells treated with 1, 10, 20, and 40 µg/mL Ag nanoparticle-75. The scale bar represents 50 µm. Ag nanoparticle toxicity depends on surface chemistry and particle size. (Reproduced from Guo et al. 2016 © Guo et al. 2016, distributed under a CC-BY 4.0 license)

Studies conducted by Wang and coworkers (2014) determined that polyvinylpyrrolidone- and citrate-coated Ag nanoparticles (20 nm) cause more oxidative stress and cellular toxicity than larger particles (110 nm) due to their bioavailability and higher rate of dissolution. The pulmonary impact was assessed in vivo, where the large Ag nanoparticles were shown to cause more significant subchronic lung injury at 21 days due to a slower dissolution rate, whereas the smaller silver particles (20 nm) induced higher acute lung inflammation. This study has demonstrated the size and dissolution effects on biopersistence and lung inflammation.

Copper Nanoparticles

A vital micronutrient in all tissue, copper (Cu), is mandatory for various cellular functions: cellular pigment formation, neurotransmitter biosynthesis, connective tissue strength, respiration, and peptide amidation (Araya et al. 2003; Desai and Kaler 2008; Ude et al. 2017). The preservation in Cu homeostasis is essential in preventing possible neurological diseases such as Huntington's and Alzheimer's disease (Kaler 1998; Gaggelli et al. 2006). Used in an array of products such as cosmetics, textiles, inks, antimicrobials, and food contact materials, it is pertinent that copper-containing nanomaterials be evaluated for possible toxicity.

Of the metallic nanomaterials, copper oxide nanomaterials (42 nm) were deemed to be the most cytotoxic in comparison to iron complexes (CuZnFe₂O₄, Fe₃O₄, and Fe₂O₃), titanium oxide (TiO₂), and zinc oxide (ZnO). They were seen to exhibit the most DNA damage to the A459 human lung epithelial cell line (Karlsson et al. 2008). However, studies on the toxicity of ingested copper oxide (CuO) nanomaterials are few. A recent study by Ude and coworkers (2017) has exploited the cytotoxic impact of CuO nanomaterials on intestinal epithelial cells (Fig. 1.5). Employing undifferentiated Caco-2 intestinal cells, CuO nanomaterials, and CuSO₄, the study evaluated the toxicity comparability of both CuO nanomaterials and CuSO₄ in vitro, suggesting particle- and ion-mediated mechanism effects due to the less soluble CuO nanomaterial. The CuO nanomaterials displayed concentration-dependent decreases in undifferentiated cell viability, yet no discernable difference was seen between the cytotoxicity of CuO nanomaterials and CuSO₄. Additionally, important for risk assessment, CuO nanomaterials were proven to be no more potent than the CuSO₄.

An interesting study by Murugan and coworkers (2017) investigated the function of geometrical structure of copper nanoparticles (Fig. 1.6). Nanoparticles were synthesized with a dual functionality comprising the ability to induce cytotoxicity on proliferating cells as well as geometric attributes for enhanced cellular uptake. Extensive cellular internalization studies were conducted using HeLa and NHEK cell models. The primary toxicity factor was attributed to the effect of the nanogeometry of the copper nanoparticles. Cell viability was also observed to be dose dependent. Interestingly, results displayed a significant difference in toxicity between the two cell lines and the geometrical nanoparticles. On the NHEK cell line, cell viability was observed to be 33.33% at the highest Cu nanoparticle



Fig. 1.5 Cytotoxicity of CuO nanomaterials and CuSO₄ to undifferentiated Caco-2 cells. Viability of undifferentiated Caco-2 cells was assessed using the Alamar Blue assay following exposure of cells to cell culture medium (control), CuO nanomaterials, or CuSO₄ at concentrations ranging from 0.61 to 78.13 µg/cm² Cu for 24 hours. (a) Viability of Caco-2 cells following CuO nanomaterial or CuSO₄ exposure expressed as a % of the control. (b) Determination of 20% benchmark dose (BMD 20) in µg/ml following exposure of undifferentiated Caco-2 cells to CuO nanomaterials or CuSO₄ exposure. Data was analyzed using Proast 38.9 software to obtain the BMD 20. Data are expressed in mean \pm SEM (n = 3), and * represents significance compared to control at P < 0.05. (Reproduced from Ude et al. 2017) © Ude et al. 2017, distributed under a CC-BY 4.0 license)

concentration with the median lethal concentration (LC₅₀) values occurring at approximately 12.5 μ g/ml and 25 μ g/ml, respectively, for the NHEK and HeLa cell lines.

Iron Nanoparticles

There are currently several iron nanoparticles approved by the FDA for therapeutics and imaging purposes (Hassan et al. 2017). Iron nanoparticles may be functionalized for different therapies but have primarily been used for targeted drug delivery, protein separation, magnetic hyperthermia, and MRI (Mahmoudi and Shokrgozar 2012; Schladt et al. 2012). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) display lower toxicity in comparison to other contrast agents (Mirshafiee et al. 2017). AAs an example, in hepatic imaging, following administration, the SPION particles are expected to be phagocytosed by the hepatic Kupffer cells (Wang 2011). Since lower uptake is expected in the diseased hepatic region, a concentrated signal will be generated by the SPIONs to more aptly identify lesions. Following intracellular uptake, SPIONs dissolve into a nonsuperparamagnetic form of iron ions which is further hepatically metabolized and subsequently excreted via kidneys or utilized in red blood cell formation (Weissleder et al. 1989).



Fig. 1.6 Phase contrast images of geometric Cu nanoparticle internalization over a 24 hour incubation period. (Reproduced with permission from Murugan et al. 2017, © 2017 Elsevier B.V)

Lunov and coworkers (2010) purport increased ROS production by SPIONs that eventually lead to Kupffer cell apoptosis via the ferrous ions (Fe²⁺) released via the Fenton reaction. This, in turn, reacts with mitochondrial hydrogen peroxide and oxygen ultimately inducing oxidative stress. Moreover, with frequent administration or prolonged treatment, SPION accumulation can result in elevated lipid metabolism, disruption of iron homeostasis, as well as liver dysfunction. Thus, to combat or possibly reduce such adversities associated with SPION use, surface coatings (e.g., dextran and silicon) have been applied to improve biocompatibility but do not address iron accumulation issues in the body (Mirshafiee et al. 2017).

Interestingly, DeLoid and coworkers (2017) reported on the evaluation of nanoparticle biokinetics and toxicity using an iron oxide (Fe_2O_3) and corn oil in phosphate buffer emulsion. This nanoenabled food was passed through a GIT simulator. The study determined the influence of food and GIT components on

nanoparticle biokinetics, transport, and toxicological profile. Fe₂O₃ was found to be nontoxic with the Fe₂O₃ translocation after 4 h being <1% and ~2% for digesta with and without serum, respectively. Results from this study suggest the alteration of nanomaterial biokinetics by serum proteins, raising concerns about the neglect of such food–GIT interactions.

Producing a multifunctional nanomaterial, Zhang and coworkers (2012) exploited the use of SiO₂-coated magnetic Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles based on the premise of avoiding iron leaching in acidic biological environments. Addressing chemotherapeutic applications, these nanorattles were produced through an ion exchange process and consisted of hydrophilic, rare-earth-doped NaYF₄ shells. Displaying appreciable drug-loading capacity and excellent water dispersibility, this system allowed for both upconversion magnetic and luminescent properties and was found to shrink tumors in vivo by simultaneously delivering doxorubicin (DOX) and enhancing tumor targeting (Fig. 1.7).

Zinc Nanoparticles

Zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles have been utilized in cosmetics as well as in sunscreen lotions due to their UV-blocking ability. These nanoparticles have been purported to induce cytotoxicity through ROS generation, affecting endothelial cell function and causing possible damage to intracellular organelles (Abukabda et al. 2016).

Kura and coworkers (2015) evaluated for acute oral toxicity in Sprague Dawley rats using a zinc–aluminum–LDH–levodopa nanocomposite (ZAL) and zinc–aluminum nanocomposite (ZA). Employing a layered double hydroxide (LDH) nano-carrier system, the results suggested that acute toxicity in the rats was not induced by ZAL and ZA at 2000 mg/kg body weight, suggesting safe, acute, oral administration of zinc–aluminum.

In another study by Kolesnikova and coworkers (2011), nanocomposite microcapsules with zinc oxide nanoparticles in their shells were fabricated using layerby-layer assembly. Constituent components of the microcapsule shell included both poly(allylamine hydrochloride) solution (PAH) and poly(sodium styrene sulfonate) solution (PSS). Results indicated that the acute toxicity effect in comparison with the constituent components was significantly decreased for the suspension of the microcapsules.

Fig. 1.7 (continued) H22 xenograft tumor were injected with DOX-loaded MUC-F-NR (1 mg/kg) and subjected (+MF) or not subjected (-MF) to the magnetic field for 1 h. At 24 h postinjection, mice were imaged in vivo. (c) The luminescence signal was measured from the whole tumor in vivo and ex vivo. (d) Tumor volume changes of saline-treated mice compared to mice treated with MUC-F-NR, DOX, and DOX-loaded MUC-F-NR over 21 days in the absence and presence of magnetic field. Data show mean \pm SD (n = 5, *p e 0.05). (Adapted with permission from Zhang et al. 2012 ©, 2011 American Chemical Society)



Fig. 1.7 (I) Synthetic procedure for the drug-loaded $Fe_3O_4@SiO_2@\alpha-NaYF/Yb$, Er nanorattles (DOX-MUC-F-NR). (II) (a) Schematic illustration of targeting of DOX-loaded multifunctional drug carrier to tumor cells assisted by an externally applied magnetic field (MF). (b) Tumor location as defined by MUC-F-NR intensity increases with 1 h magnetic field treatment. Mice bearing-(continued)

Titanium Dioxide

The literature available on titanium dioxide TiO_2 is vast as this metal oxide nanoparticle is widely exploited. TiO_2 is a white pigment with a very high refractive index and is thus commonly included in inks, paints, papers, pharmaceuticals, medicines, food products, and toothpaste and along with zinc oxides in sunscreens and cosmetics (Shi et al. 2013). Several investigations have focused on the dermal penetration and toxicity of TiO_2 . In a study by Schulz and coworkers (2002), particle size, coating, and shape were evaluated for its effect on TiO_2 skin penetration (4 mg/cm²). Several TiO_2 -coated sunscreens including aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃), silica (SiO₂) (10–15 nm), and trimethyloctylsilane (20 nm) were exposed topically to human skin for 6 h. Results indicated that TiO_2 did not penetrate the skin. Similarly, a study conducted by Mavon and coworkers (2007) determined TiO_2 (20 nm) distribution both in vitro and in vivo. Five hours post direct topical application (2 mg/cm²), tape stripping was used to determine the dermal penetration of TiO_2 . It was found that there was minimal TiO_2 distribution within the epidermis.

Concern over the potential cytotoxicity of TiO₂ nanoparticles stems mainly from that of the pulmonary adverse effects of TiO₂ with many dermal TiO₂ distribution studies concluding that TiO₂ nanoparticles are not systemically available to a significant extent after dermal exposure. Originally emanating from studies by Ferin and coworkers (1990, 1992) and Oberdorster and coworkers (1990), ultrafine TiO₂ was demonstrated to enhance pulmonary inflammation and particle retention and translocation. These studies have led to the reassessment of TiO₂ as a negative control in pulmonary toxicology studies when assessing the toxicity of pathogenic particulates such as alpha-quartz (Johnston et al. 2009). The limit for fine particles in the air is 50 μ g/m³ for an average human of 70 kg (Simko and Mattsson 2010). Acute toxicity information for TiO₂ nanoparticles in humans, however, is currently lacking (Shi et al. 2013).

1.3.2 Nonmetallic Nanomaterials

Silica-Derived Nanoparticles

Silica (Si) nanoparticles offer exemplary characteristics such as rapid in vivo degradation, chemical conjugation-mediated camouflage (Parodi et al. 2013), metal incorporation for theragnostic applications (Lee et al. 2011), and regulation of pore sizes (2–10 nm) for drug encapsulation (Gao et al. 2011). Cutaneous absorption of this metalloid nanomaterial through the skin often simultaneously occurs with exposure to other environmental allergens as well as other chemical compounds, yet these potential associated hazards have not been thoroughly investigated (Li et al. 2008).

A study conducted by Hirai and coworkers (2015) investigated the concurrent topical application of amorphous silica nanoparticles and mite extract on human

atopic dermatitis and allergic sensitization in NC/Nga mice. Low-level production of allergen-specific IgGs was observed after concurrent cutaneous exposure of the nanoparticles and allergens. Additionally, following exposure to the allergen–silica nanoparticle agglomerates, low-level IgG production was induced in the mice, but this was not observed when exposed to well-dispersed nanoparticles or nanoparticles applied separately from the allergen. This research conducted suggests that the allergen-specific immune response is not directly affected by silica nanoparticles. However, it should be noted that the Si nanoparticles led to a key risk factor of atopic allergies in humans as well as a low IgG/IgE ratio, when present in allergenadsorbed agglomerates.

Mesoporous silica nanoparticles, the advancement of silica (Si) nanoparticles, have been utilized to overcome the issues associated with biocompatibility, degradability, and drug release rates related to metallic or other inorganic nanomaterials (Hassan et al. 2017). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles have since been functionalized to regulate biodistribution and reduce systemic toxicity. "Cloaking" of the mesoporous silica nanoparticles, i.e., coating with leucocyte membranes, has been found to reduce cytotoxicity while enhancing the delivery of doxorubicin in vivo (Parodi et al. 2013). Kim and coworkers (2016) investigated functionalized poly(ethylene glycol)-coated (PEGylated) near-infrared (NIR) fluorescent silica nanoparticles that were functionalized with melanoma-targeting peptides. This hybrid organosilica particle demonstrated the ability to induce cell death and ferroptosis as well as the inhibition of tumor growth and tumor regression with high-dose particle delivery.

Nanoclay-Derived Delivery

The implementation of nanoclays in industrial and commercial commodities has increased exponentially over the years. In the pharmaceutical industry, nanoclay–polymer-based composites have allowed for improved mechanical strength and reinforcement properties. Due to their fine and nanoparticulate nature, nanoclays have been investigated for toxic effects on lung health (Wagner et al. 2017). Studies have shown that nanoclays, on a cellular level, display mitochondrial damage, ROS generation, and membrane and cellular damage effects (Wagner et al. 2017). Most clays have been deemed as non-toxic and have thus been extensivley studied for their biomedical applications such as drug delivery, preparation of scaffolds and tissue engineering. Studies by Wang and Tong (2008) and Michael and coworkers (2016) have investigated the effects of nanoclays, for bone cement applications. Results of both studies have determined increased bioactivity and mechanical properties. Yang and coworkers (2017) developed semi-IPN sericin/poly(NIPAm/LMSH) (HSP) nanocomposite hydrogels for wound healing applications. The nano-composites were shown to result in almost complete recovery by day 13 of the study.

1.4 Safety of Nanotheragnostic Agents

Theragnostics synergistically employs the use of both diagnostics and therapeutics culminating into more safe and efficacious personalized disease management. Commonly used in ultrasound, single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), positron emission tomography (PET), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), theragnostic nanoparticles can be categorized into therapeutic payload, payload carrier, signal emitter, and targeting ligand (Fang and Zhang 2010). Theragnostic nanoparticles possess qualities that allow for sufficient, targeted drug delivery; specific, rapid, and selective targeting; reporting of biochemical and morphological disease characteristics; and rapid, efficient clearance without the formation of toxic by-products (Jokerst and Gambhir 2011; Chen et al. 2014). Though studies on theragnostic nanomaterial toxicity are limited, many studies have employed theragnostic approaches with functionalized engineered magnetic nanoparticles for MRI-guided therapeutic cell replacement and MRI-assisted diagnosis and surgeries (Shubayev et al. 2009).

Notably, the superior superparamagnetic theragnostic qualities of iron oxide engineered magnetic nanoparticles have been safely and effectively used in MRI with many dextran-coated nanoformulations being approved for clinical use as MRI contrast agents, i.e., ferumoxtran, ferucarbotran, and ferumoxides (Shubayev et al. 2009). Even though iron deposits have been associated with many neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, and Huntington's disease, iron oxide engineered magnetic nanoparticles were shown in studies to be the safest of the metal oxide nanoparticles only producing cytotoxic effect at 100 μ g/ml or higher (Hussain et al. 2005; Jeng and Swanson 2006; Gojova et al. 2007). Dextran-coated magnetite nanoparticles were found to exert cytotoxic effects at 400 mg/kg in rats (Lacava et al. 1999; Lacava et al. 2004).

1.5 Nanomaterial Hazard Assessment

Relative to the toxicity potential of nanomaterials, risk assessments in this subject matter have been exponential (OECD 2005, 2007, 2010a, b, 2012a, b, c, 2014, 2015, 2016a, b, c, d, e, f). Depending on particular nanomaterial characteristics such as various biological indicators, structure activity, physicochemical, in vitro test results, or in vivo test results, predictive toxicological modeling is achieved (Schulte et al. 2018). In vivo exposure systems have been extensively utilized to address these concerns and have been instrumental in addressing the potential safety concerns regarding nanomaterials. Since the ethical support of the replacement of animals with more human-relevant alternatives, the principle of the 3Rs – Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement – has become an increasing mandate (Tornqvist et al. 2014; Drasler et al. 2017). A stepwise approach to categorize the need for validated in vivo studies based on positive effects of in vitro cell experiments involving



Fig. 1.8 Frontier of risk assessment for developing occupational exposure limits for engineered nanomaterials. Abbreviations: *ENM* engineered nanomaterial, *OEL* occupational exposure limit, *QSAR* quantitative structure–activity relationship. (Reproduced with permission from Schulte et al. 2018, © Elsevier Inc.)

nanomaterials exists and is highlighted in Fig. 1.8. However, hurdles such as in vivo behavior of the nanomaterials and the ability to create additional functionality through sophisticated fabrication methods are warranted (Cheng et al. 2012). Regulatory bodies, consumer, and society expectations about their safety are increasing, and as with all developing technologies, it is pertinent to identify possible hazards and develop risk assessment and management approaches (Drasler et al. 2017; Meldrum et al. 2017). Hansen (2010) and Breggin and coworkers (2009) sufficiently provide for an overview of national and international initiatives to regulate nanomaterials.

1.6 Conclusion

Nanomaterials have been extensively utilized for their enhanced biomedical properties. Information and data on the safety of these materials in the physiological environment is however essential prior to the use in the treatment or prevention of any physiological conditions. This review has provided an extensive account on the studies that have been undertaken on gold, silver, copper, iron, zinc, and titanium as well as on silica and nanoclay nanomaterials with focus given on their therapeutic safety profiles as well as the cytotoxic effects due to varying particle size and concentration. All evaluated nanomaterials have been noted to be inherently cytotoxic; however, research into these respective materials has aimed to increase their biocompatibility through modification of particle size, shape, and charge as well as through the use of metal derivatives with increased safety profiles. The alternatives to cytotoxicity and in vivo studies with the aim to minimize the use of animal models in the therapeutic safety studies have also been provided to highlight the advancements in therapeutic safety analyses. Therapeutic safety analysis of nanomaterials is therefore a vital tool to ensure the effective use of potentially toxic materials in the treatment and prevention of physiological conditions.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the National Research Foundation (NRF) of South Africa.

References

- Abukabda AB, Stapleton PA, Nurkiewicz TR (2016) Metal nanomaterial toxicity variations within the vascular system. Curr Environ Health Rep 3(4):379–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40572-016-0112-1
- Ahamed M, Alsalhi MS, Siddiqui MKJ (2010) Silver nanoparticle applications and human health. Clin Chim Acta 411(23–24):1841–1848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2010.08.016
- Alkilany AM, Murphy CJ (2010) Toxicity and cellular uptake of gold nanoparticles: what we have learned so far? J Nanopart Res 12(7):2313–2333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-010-9911-8
- Araya M, Olivares M, Pizarro F, González M, Speisky H, Uauy R (2003) Gastrointestinal symptoms and blood indicators of copper load in apparently healthy adults undergoing controlled copper exposure. Am J Clin Nutr 77(3):646–650
- Arvizo RR, Miranda OR, Thompson MA, Pabelick CM, Bhattacharya R, Robertson JD, Rotello VM, Prakash YS, Mukherjee P (2010) Effect of nanoparticle surface charge at the plasma membrane and beyond. Nano Lett 2010 10(7):2543–2548. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl101140t
- Bi R, Shao W, Wang Q, Zhang N (2008) Spray-freeze-dried dry powder inhalation of insulinloaded liposomes for enhanced pulmonary delivery. J Drug Target 16(9):639–648. https://doi. org/10.1080/10611860802201134
- Breggin L, Falkner R, Jaspers N, Pendergrass J, Porter R (2009) Securing the promise of nanotechnologies towards transatlantic regulatory cooperation. © Royal Institute of International Affairs, London
- Chen F, Ehlerding EB, Cai W (2014) Theranostic nanoparticles. J Nucl Med 55(12):1919–1922. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.114.146019
- Cheng Z, Zaki AA, Hui JZ, Muzykantov VR, Tsourkas A (2012) Multifunctional nanoparticles: cost versus benefit of adding targeting and imaging capabilities. Science 338(6109):903–910. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1226338
- Cheng H, Chawla A, Yang Y, Li Y, Zhang J, Jang HL, Khademhosseini A (2017) Development of nanomaterials for bone-targeted drug delivery. Drug Discov Today 22(9):1336–1350. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2017.04.021
- Cho WS, Duffin R, Howie SE, Scotton CJ, Wallace WA, Macnee W, Bradley M, Megson IL, Donaldson K (2011) Progressive severe lung injury by zinc oxide nanoparticles; the role of Zn2+ dissolution inside lysosomes. Part Fibre Toxicol 8:27. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-8-27
- DeLoid GM, Wang Y, Kapronezai K, Lorente LR, Zhang R, Pyrgiotakis G, Konduru NV, Ericsson M, White JC, De La Torre-Roche R, Xiao H, McClements DJ, Demokritou P (2017) An inte-

grated methodology for assessing the impact of food matrix and gastrointestinal effects on the biokinetics and cellular toxicity of ingested engineered nanomaterials. Part Fibre Toxicol 14(40). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-017-0221-5

- Desai V, Kaler SG (2008) Role of copper in human neurological disorders 1–3. Am J Clin Nutr 88(3):855S–858S
- Drasler B, Sayre P, Steinhäuser CK, Petri-Fink A, Rothen-Rutishauser B (2017) In vitro approaches to assess the hazard of nanomaterials. NanoImpact 8:99–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. impact.2017.08.002
- Dreaden EC, Alkilany AM, Huang X, Murphy CJ, El-Sayed MA (2012) The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine. Chem Soc Rev 41:2740–2779. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C1CS15237H
- Falagan-Lotsch P, Grzincic EM, Murphy CJ (2016) One low-dose exposure of gold nanoparticles induces long-term changes in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 113(47):13318–13323. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1616400113
- Fang C, Zhang M (2010) Nanoparticle-based theragnostics: integrating diagnostic and therapeutic potentials in nanomedicine. J Control Release 146:2–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2010.05.013
- Ferin J, Oberdoster G, Penney DP, Soderholm SC, Gelein R, Piper HC (1990) Increased pulmonary toxicity of ultrafine particles? I. particle clearance, translocation, morphology. J Aerosol Sci, 1990 21(3):381–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-8502(90)90064-5
- Ferin J, Oberdorster G, Penney DP (1992) Pulmonary retention of ultrafine and fine particles in rats. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 6(5):535–542. https://doi.org/10.1165/ajrcmb/6.5.535
- Freese C, Uboldi C, Gibson MI, Unger RE, Weksler BB, Romero IA, Couraud P-O, Kirkpatrick CJ (2012) Uptake and cytotoxicity of citrate-coated gold nanospheres: comparative studies on human endothelial and epithelial cells. Part Fibre Toxicol 9(23). http://www.particleandfibretoxicology.com/content/9/1/23
- Gaggelli E, Kozlowski H, Valensin D, Valensin G (2006) Copper homeostasis and neurodegenerative disorders (Alzheimer's, prion, and Parkinson's diseases and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis). Chem Rev 106(6):1995–2044. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr040410w
- Gao Y, Chen Y, Ji X, He X, Yin Q, Zhang Z, Shi J, Li Y (2011) Controlled intracellular release of doxorubicin in multidrug-resistant cancer cells by tuning the shell-pore sizes of mesoporous silica nanoparticles. ACS Nano 5(12):9788–9798. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn2033105
- Gojova A, Guo B, Kota RS, Rutledge JC, Kennedy IM, Barakat AI (2007) Induction of inflammation in vascular endothelial cells by metal oxide nanoparticles: effect of particle composition. Environ Health Perspect 115(3):403–409. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8497
- Guo H, Zhang J, Boudreau M, Meng J, Yin J, Liu J, Xu H (2016) Intravenous administration of silver nanoparticles causes organ toxicity through intracellular ROS-related loss of interendothelial junction. Part Fibre Toxicol 13(21). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-016-0133-9
- Hamilton RF, Wu N, Porter D, Buford M, Wolfarth M, Holian A (2009) Particle length-dependent titanium dioxide nanomaterials toxicity and bioactivity. Part Fibre Toxicol 6:35. https://doi. org/10.1186/1743-8977-6-35
- Hansen SF (2010) A global view of regulations affecting nanomaterials. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 2:441–449. https://doi.org/10.1002/wnan.99
- Hassan S, Prakash G, Ozturk AB, Saghazadeh S, Sohail MF, Seo J, Dokmeci MR, Zhang YS, Khademhosseini A (2017) Evolution and clinical translation of drug delivery nanomaterials. Nano Today 15:91–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2017.06.008
- Hauck TS, Ghazani AA, Chan WCW (2008) Assessing the effect of surface chemistry on gold nanorod uptake, toxicity, and gene expression in mammalian cells. Small 4(1):153–159
- Hirai T, Yoshioka Y, Takahashi H, Ichihashi K, Udaka A, Mori T, Nishijima N, Yoshida T, Nagano K, Kamada H, Tsunoda S, Takagi T, Ishii KJ, Nabeshi H, Yoshikawa T, Higashisaka K, Tsutsumi Y (2015) Cutaneous exposure to agglomerates of silica nanoparticles and allergen results in IgE-biased immune response and increased sensitivity to anaphylaxis in mice. Part Fibre Toxicol 12(16). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-015-0095-3
- Huo Q (2010) Protein complexes/aggregates as potential cancer biomarkers revealed by a nanoparticle aggregation immunoassay. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 78(2):259–265. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.03.012
- Hussain SM, Hess KL, Gearhart JM, Geiss KT, Schlager JJ (2005) In vitro toxicity of nanoparticles in BRL 3A rat liver cells. Toxicol In Vitro 19:975–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tiv.2005.06.034
- Jeng HA, Swanson J (2006) Toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles in mammalian cells. J Environ Sci Health – Part A Toxic/Hazard Subst Environ Eng 41(12):2699–2711. https://doi. org/10.1080/10934520600966177
- Jia F, Liu X, Li L, Mallapragada S, Narasimhan B, Wang Q (2013) Multifunctional nanoparticles for targeted delivery of immune activating and cancer therapeutic agents. J Control Release 172(3):1020–1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.10.012
- Johnston HJ, Hutchison GR, Christensen FM, Peters S, Hankin S, Stone V (2009) Identification of the mechanisms that drive the toxicity of TiO2 particulates: the contribution of physicochemical characteristics. Part Fibre Toxicol 6(33). https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-6-33
- Johnston HJ, Hutchison GR, Christensen FM, Peters S, Hankin S, Aschberger K, Stone V (2010) A critical review of the biological mechanisms underlying the in vivo and in vitro toxicity of carbon nanotubes: the contribution of physicochemical characteristics. Nanotoxicology 4(2):207–246. https://doi.org/10.3109/17435390903569639
- Jokerst JV, Gambhir SS (2011) Molecular imaging with theranostic nanoparticles. Acc Chem Res 44(10):1050–1060. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar200106e
- Kaler SG (1998) Metabolic and molecular bases of Menkes disease and occipital horn syndrome. Pediatr Dev Pathol 1(1):85–98
- Karlsson HL, Cronholm P, Gustafsson J, Möller L (2008) Copper oxide nanoparticles are highly toxic: a comparison between metal oxide nanoparticles and carbon nanotubes. Chem Res Toxicol 21(9):1726–1732. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx800064j
- Khanna P, Ong C, Bay BH, Baeg GH (2015) Nanotoxicity: an interplay of oxidative stress, inflammation and cell death. Nanomaterials 5:1163–1180. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano5031163
- Khlebtsov N, Dykman L (2011) Biodistribution and toxicity of engineered gold nanoparticles: a review of in vitro and in vivo studies. Chem Soc Rev 40:1647–1671. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c0cs00018c
- Kim SE, Zhang L, Ma K, Riegman M, Chen F, Ingold I, Conrad M, Turker MZ, Gao M, Jiang X, Monette S, Pauliah M, Gonen M, Zanzonico P, Quinn T, Wiesner U, Bradbury MS, Overholtzer M (2016) Ultrasmall nanoparticles induce ferroptosis in nutrient-deprived cancer cells and suppress tumour growth. Nat Nanotechnol 11(11):977–985. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nnano.2016.164
- Kolesnikova TA, Fedorova IA, Gusev AA, Gorin DA (2011) Acute toxicity analysis of polyelectrolyte microcapsules with zinc oxide nanoparticles and microcapsule shell components using aquatic organisms. Nanotechnol Russia 6(3–4):244–255. https://doi.org/10.1134/ S1995078011020108
- Kolosnjaj-Tabi J, Javed Y, Lartigue L, Volatron J, Elgrabli D, Marangon I, Pugliese G, Caron B, Figuerola A, Luciani N, Pellegrino T, Alloyeau D, Gazeau F (2015) The one year fate of iron oxide coated gold nanoparticles in mice. ACS Nano 9(8):7925–7939. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.5b00042
- Kura AU, Saifullah B, Cheah P-S, Hussein MZ, Azmi N, Fakurazi S (2015) Acute oral toxicity and biodistribution study of zinc-aluminium-levodopa nanocomposite. Nanoscale Res Lett 10(105). https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-015-0742-5
- Lacava ZGM, Azevedo RB, Martins EV, Lacava LM, Freitas MLL, Garcia VAP, Rébula CA, Lemos APC, Sousa MH, Tourinho FA, Da Silva MF, Morais PC (1999) Biological effects of magnetic fluids: toxicity studies. J Magn Magn Mater 201(1–3):431–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0304-8853(99)00002-5
- Lacava LM, Garcia VAP, Kückelhaus S, Azevedo RB, Sadeghiani N, Buske N, Morais PC, Lacava ZGM (2004) Long-term retention of dextran-coated magnetite nanoparticles in the

liver and spleen. J Magn Magn Mater 272–276(III):2434–2435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmmm.2003.12.852

- Lee JE, Lee N, Kim T, Kim J, Hyeon T (2011) Multifunctional mesoporous silica nanocomposite nanoparticles for theranostic applications. Acc Chem Res 44(10):893–902. https://doi. org/10.1021/ar2000259
- Lee DE, Koo H, Sun IC, Ryu JH, Kim K, Kwon IC (2012) Multifunctional nanoparticles for multimodal imaging and theragnosis. Chem Soc Rev 41(7):2656–2672. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c2cs15261d
- Li N, Xia T, Nel AE (2008) The role of oxidative stress in ambient particulate matter-induced lung diseases and its implications in the toxicity of engineered nanoparticles. Free Radic Biol Med 44(9):1689–1699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.01.028
- Lunov O, Syrovets T, Büchele B, Jiang X, Röcker C, Tron K, Nienhaus GU, Walther P, Mailänder V, Landfester K, Simmet T (2010) The effect of carboxydextran-coated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles on c-Jun N-terminal kinase-mediated apoptosis in human macrophages. Biomaterials 31(19):5063–5071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.03.023
- Mahmoudi M, Shokrgozar MA (2012) Multifunctional stable fluorescent magnetic nanoparticles. Chem Commun 48:3957–3959. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2CC30213F
- Mavon A, Miquel C, Lejeune O, Payre B, Moretto P (2007) In vitro percutaneous absorption and in vivo stratum corneum distribution of an organic and a mineral sunscreen. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 20(1):10–20. https://doi.org/10.1159/000096167
- Meldrum K, Guo C, Marczylo EL, Gant TW, Smith R, Leonard MO (2017) Mechanistic insight into the impact of nanomaterials on asthma and allergic airway disease. Part Fibre Toxicol 14:45. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-017-0228-y
- Michael FM, Khalid M, Walvekar R, Ratnam CT, Ramarad S, Siddiqui H, Hoque ME (2016) Effect of nanofillers on the physicomechanical properties of load bearing bone implants. Mater Sci Eng C 67:792–806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.05.037
- Mironava T, Hadjiargyrou M, Simon M, Jurukovski V, Rafailovich MH (2010) Gold nanoparticles cellular toxicity and recovery: effect of size, concentration and exposure time. Nanotoxicology 4(1):120–137. https://doi.org/10.3109/17435390903471463
- Mirshafiee V, Jiang W, Sun B, Wang X, Xia T (2017) Facilitating translational nanomedicine via predictive safety assessment. Mol Ther 25(7):1522–1530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2017.03.011
- Moghimi SM, Hunter AC, Murray JC (2001) Long-circulating and target-specific nanoparticles: theory to practice. Pharmacol Rev 53(2):283–318
- Molinaro R, Wolfram J, Federico C, Cilurzo F, Di Marzio L, Ventura CA, Carafa M, Celia C, Fresta M (2013) Polyethylenimine and chitosan carriers for the delivery of RNA interference effectors. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 10(12):1653–1668. https://doi.org/10.1517/1742524 7.2013.840286
- Monopoli MP, Aberg C, Salvati A, Dawson KA (2012) Biomolecular coronas provide the biological identity of nanosized materials. Nat Nanotechnol 7(12):779–786. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nnano.2012.207
- Murugan K, Choonara YE, Kumar P, du Toit LC, Pillay V (2017) Cellular internalisation kinetics and cytotoxic properties of statistically designed and optimised neo-geometric copper nanocrystals. Mater Sci Eng C 78:376–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.04.087
- Nel A, Xia T, Meng H, Wang X, Lin S, Ji Z, Zhang H (2013) Nanomaterial toxicity testing in the 21st century: use of a predictive toxicological approach and high-throughput screening. Acc Chem Res 46(3):607–621. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar300022h
- Oberdorster G, Ferin J, Finkelstein J, Wade P, Corson N (1990) Increased pulmonary toxicity of ultrafine particles? II. Lung lavage studies. J Aerosol Sci 21(3):384–387. https://doi. org/10.1016/0021-8502(90)90065-6
- OECD (2005) Guidance document on the validation and international acceptance of new or updated test methods for hazard assessment. OECD, Paris

- OECD (2007) Guidance document on the validation of (quantitative) structure-activity relationships [(Q)SAR] Models. No. 34. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/riskassessment/validationofQSARmodels.htm
- OECD (2010a) Guidance manual for the testing of manufactured nanomaterials: OECD's sponsorship programme; first revision — ENV/JM/MONO(2009)20/REV. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2010b) Preliminary guidance notes on sample preparation and dosimetry for the safety testing of manufactured nanomaterials ENV/JM/MONO(2010)25. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2012a) Important issues on risk assessment of manufactured nanomaterials. Available at: no. 33. http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mon o(2012)8&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2012b) Guidance on sample preparation and dosimetry for the safety testing of manufactured nanomaterials. In: Series on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials, no. 36. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mon o(2012)40&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2012c) Inhalation toxicity testing: expert meeting on potential revisions to OECD test guidelines and guidance document. No. 35. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mono(2012)14& doclanguage=en
- OECD (2014) Ecotoxicology and environmental fate of manufactured nanomaterials: test guidelines. No. 40. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/ ?cote=ENV/JM/MONO(2014)1&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2015) Harmonized tiered approach to measure and assess the potential exposure to airborne emissions of engineered nano-objects and their agglomerates and aggregates at workplaces. No. 55. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpd f/?cote=env/jm/mono(2015)19&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2016a) Future challenges related to the safety of manufactured nanomaterials: report from the special session. No. 75. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplay documentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mono(2012)14&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2016b) Physical-chemical parameters: measurements and methods relevant for the regulation of nanomaterials. No. 63. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisp laydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mono(2016)2&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2016c) Physical-chemical properties of nanomaterials: evaluation of methods applied in the OECD-WPMN testing programme. No. 65. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/ officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mono(2016)7&doclanguage=en
- OECD (2016d) Guideline for the testing of chemicals, subacute inhalation toxicity: 28-day study (OECD TG 412). Available at: http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/ test-no-412-subacute-inhalation-toxicity-28-day-study_9789264070783-en
- OECD (2016e) Guideline for the testing of chemicals, subchronic inhalation toxicity: 90-day Study (OECD TG 413). Available at: http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/ oecdguidelines-for-the-testing-of-chemicals-section-4-health-effects_20745788
- OECD (2016f) Toxicokinetics of manufactured nanomaterials: report from the OECD expert meeting. No. 72. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/? cote=env/jm/mono(2016)24&doclanguage=en
- Oh JK, Drumright R, Siegwart DJ, Matyjaszewski K (2008) The development of microgels/nanogels for drug delivery applications. Prog Polym Sci 33(4):448–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. progpolymsci.2008.01.002
- Osborne OJ, Lin S, Chang CH, Ji Z, Yu X, Wang X, Lin S, Xia T, Nel AE (2015) Organ-specific and size-dependent Ag nanoparticle toxicity in gills and intestines of adult zebrafish. ACS Nano 9(10):9573–9584. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b04583
- Parodi A, Quattrocchi N, van de Ven AL, Chiappini C, Evangelopoulos M, Martinez JO, Brown BS, Khaled SZ, Yazdi IK, Enzo MV, Isenhart L, Ferrari M, Tasciotti E (2013) Synthetic nanoparticles functionalized with biomimetic leukocyte membranes possess cell-like functions. Nat Nanotechnol 8(1):61–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2012.212

- Patra HK, Banerjee S, Chaudhuri U, Lahiri P, Dasgupta AK (2007) Cell selective response to gold nanoparticles. Nanomedicine 3(2):111–119
- Schladt TD, Koll K, Prufer S, Bauer H, Natalio F, Dumele O, Raidoo R, Weber S, Wolfrum U, Schreiber LM, Radsak MP, Schild H, Tremel W (2012) Multifunctional superparamagnetic MnO@SiO2 core/shell nanoparticles and their application for optical and magnetic resonance imaging. J Mater Chem 22:9253–9262. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2jm15320c
- Schrand AM, Rahman MF, Hussain SM, Schlager JJ, Smith DA, Syed AF (2010) Metal-based nanoparticles and their toxicity assessment. WIREs Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 2:544–568
- Schulte PA, Kuempel ED, Drew NM (2018) Characterizing risk assessments for the development of occupational exposure limits for engineered nanomaterials. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 95:207–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2018.03.018
- Schulz J, Hohenberg H, Pflucker F, Gartner E, Will T, Pfeiffer S, Wepf R, Wendel V, Gers-Barlag H, Wittern KP (2002) Distribution of sunscreens on skin. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1(54):S157– S163. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(02)00120-5
- Sereemaspun A, Rojanathanes R, Wiwanitkit V (2008) Effect of gold nanoparticle on renal cell: an implication for exposure risk. Ren Fail 30(3):323–325. https://doi. org/10.1080/08860220701860914
- Shang L, Nienhaus K, Nienhaus GU (2014) Engineered nanoparticles interacting with cells:size matters. J Nanobiotechnol 12:5. http://www.jnanobiotechnology.com/content/12/1/5
- Sharifi S, Behzadi S, Laurent S, Forrest ML, Stroeve P, Mahmoudi M (2012) Toxicity of nanomaterials. Chem Soc Rev 41:2323–2343. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1CS15188F
- Shi H, Magaye R, Castranova V, Zhao J (2013) Titanium dioxide nanoparticles: a review of current toxicological data. Part Fibre Toxicol 10:15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-10-15
- Shubayev VI, Pisanic TR, Jin S (2009) Magnetic nanoparticles for theragnostics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61(6):467–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2009.03.007
- Simko M, Mattsson MO (2010) Risks from accidental exposures to engineered nanoparticles and neurological health effects: a critical review. Part Fibre Toxicol 7(42). https://doi. org/10.1186/1743-8977-7-42
- Singh R, Lillard JW Jr (2009) Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. Exp Mol Pathol 86(3):215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.12.004
- Soenen SJ, Rivera-Gil P, Montenegro J-M, Parak WJ, De Smedt SC, Braeckmans K (2011) Cellular toxicity of inorganic nanoparticles: common aspects and guidelines for improved nanotoxicity evaluation. Nano Today 6(5):446–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2011.08.001
- Sopjani M, Föller M, Lang F (2008) Gold stimulates Ca2+ entry into and subsequent suicidal death of erythrocytes. Toxicology 244(2–3):271–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2007.12.001
- Stern ST, Adiseshaiah PP, Crist RM (2012) Autophagy and lysosomal dysfunction as emerging mechanisms of nanomaterial toxicity. Part Fibre Toxicol 9:20. https://doi. org/10.1186/1743-8977-9-20
- Subbiah R, Veerapandian M, Yun KS (2010) Nanoparticles: functionalization and multifunctional applications in biomedical sciences. Curr Med Chem 17(36):4559–4577
- Tornqvist E, Annas A, Granath B, Jalkesten E, Cotgreave I, Oberg M (2014) Strategic focus on 3R principles reveals major reductions in the use of animals in pharmaceutical toxicity testing. PLoS One 9(7):e101638. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101638
- Ude VC, Brown DM, Viale L, Kanase N, Stone V, Johnston HJ (2017) Impact of copper oxide nanomaterials on differentiated and undifferentiated Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells; assessment of cytotoxicity, barrier integrity, cytokine production and nanomaterial penetration. Part Fibre Toxicol 14(31). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-017-0211-7
- Wagner A, Eldawud R, White A, Agarwala S, Stueckle TA, Konstantinos A, Sierros KA, Rojanasakul Y, Gupta RK, Dinu CZ (2017) Toxicity evaluations of nanoclays and thermally degraded byproducts through spectroscopical and microscopical approaches. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1861(1):3406–3415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.09.003

- Wang YXJ (2011) Superparamagnetic iron oxide based MRI contrast agents: current status of clinical application. Quant Imaging Med Surg 1(1):35–40. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2223-4292.2011.08.03
- Wang CX, Tong J (2008) Interfacial strength of novel PMMA/HA/nanoclay bone cement. Biomed Mater Eng 18:367–375. https://doi.org/10.3233/BME-2008-0553
- Wang X, Ji Z, Chang CH, Zhang H, Wang M, Liao YP, Lin S, Meng H, Li R, Sun B, Van Winkle L, Pinkerton KE, Zink JI, Xia T, Nel AE (2014) Use of coated silver nanoparticles to understand the relationship of particle dissolution and bioavailability to cell and lung toxicological potential. Small 10(2):385–398. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201301597
- Wang Q, Yan J, Yang J, Li B (2016) Nanomaterials promise better bone repair. Mater Today 19(8):451–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2015.12.003
- Weissleder R, Stark DD, Engelstad BL, Bacon BR, Compton CC, White DL, Jacobs P, Lewis J (1989) Superparamagnetic iron oxide: pharmacokinetics and toxicity. Am J Roentgenol 152(1):167–673. https://doi.org/10.2214/ajr.152.1.167
- Wijnhoven SWP, Peijnenburg WJGM, Herberts CA, Hagens WI, Oomen AG, Heugens EHW, Roszek B, Bisschops J, Gosens I, Van de Meent D, Dekkers S, De Jong WH, Van Zijverden M, Sips AJAM, Geertsma RE (2009) Nano-silver – a review of available data and knowledge gaps in human and environmental risk assessment. Nanotoxicology 3:109–138. https://doi. org/10.1080/17435390902725914
- Wolfram J, Yang Y, Shen J, Moten A, Chen C, Shen H, Ferrari M, Zhao Y (2014) The nano-plasma interface: implications of the protein corona. Colloids Surf B: Biointerfaces 124:17–24. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.02.035
- Wolfram J, Zhu M, Yang Y, Shen J, Gentile E, Paolino D, Fresta M, Nie G, Chen C, Shen H, Ferrari M, Zhao Y (2015) Safety of nanoparticles in medicine. Curr Drug Targets 16(14):1671–1681
- Yang C, Xue R, Zhang Q, Yang S, Liu P, Chen L, Wang K, Zhang X, Wei Y (2017) Nanoclay cross-linked semi-IPN silk sericin/poly (NIPAm/LMSH) nanocomposite hydrogel: an outstanding antibacterial wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 81:303–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2017.08.008
- Zhang F, Braun GB, Pallaoro A, Zhang Y, Shi Y, Cui D, Moskovits M, Zhao D, Stucky GD (2012) Mesoporous multifunctional upconversion luminescent and magnetic "nanorattle" materials for targeted chemotherapy. Nano Lett 12:61–67. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl202949y
- Zhang H, Wang X, Wang M, Li L, Chang CH, Ji Z, Xia T, Nel AE (2015) Mammalian cells exhibit a range of sensitivities to silver nanoparticles that are partially explicable by variations in antioxidant defense and metallothionein expression. Small 11(31):3797–3805. https://doi. org/10.1002/smll.201500251
- Zhornik EV, Baranova LA, Drozd ES, Sudas MS, Chau NH, Buu NQ, Dung TT, Chizhik SA, Volotovskii ID (2014) Silver nanoparticles induce lipid peroxidation and morphological changes in human lymphocytes surface. Biophysics 59(3):380–386. https://doi.org/10.1134/ S0006350914030282

Chapter 2 Nanoparticles Application for Cancer Diagnosis



Mohammad Ramezani, Mona Alibolandi, Fahimeh Charbgoo, Khalil Abnous, and Seyed Mohammad Taghdisi

Contents

2.1	Introd	uction	26
2.2	Nanor	particle-Based Biosensors for Cancer Detection.	27
	2.2.1	Optical Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors for Cancer Detection	27
	2.2.2	Colorimetric Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors	27
	2.2.3	Fluorescent Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors.	28
	2.2.4	Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopy (SERS)	
		Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors.	32
	2.2.5	Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors	33
	2.2.6	Electrochemical Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors	34
	2.2.7	Protein Biosensing	34
	2.2.8	Genetic Biomarkers Biosensing	38
	2.2.9	Cytosensors	40
2.3	Concl	usion	41
Refe	erences.		48

M. Ramezani (🖂) · M. Alibolandi

Pharmaceutical Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran e-mail: Ramezanim@mums.ac.ir

F. Charbgoo DWI-Leibniz Institute for Interactive Material, Aachen, Germany

K. Abnous Pharmaceutical Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Department of Medicinal Chemistry, School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

S. M. Taghdisi Targeted Drug Delivery Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_2 **Abstract** Biosensor as a diagnostic platform could provide the opportunity for cancer detection at the molecular levels. Due to the complexity of the cancer biology in patient, development of versatile sensors for molecular diagnosis of cancer is a challenging issue. Various molecular biomarkers of cancers could be implemented as a target for preparation of diagnostic biosensors for cancer detection. In this regard, some specific biological properties of cancer cells comprising genetic markers, protein expression, gene expression, and posttranslational modifications of proteins could be used as molecular signature of cancer which plays a crucial role in development of biosensors for cancer diagnostic purposes. Different methodologies *based* on *nanoparticles* (NPs) have been developed to *detect* specific markers or to distinguish between normal and cancerous situations. Also, *biosensors based* on *nanoparticles* have been used *in* cancer *detection* to improve conventional analytical procedures. In this chapter, we summarized recent studies relating to development and application of nanoparticle-based biosensors for cancer detection.

Keywords Nanoparticles · Biosensors · Cancer detection · Analytical methods

2.1 Introduction

It is now well understood that the survival of patients with cancer and the effectiveness of treatments strongly depend on the stage of the tumor at the time of diagnosis (The Lancet Respiratory n.d.; Alharbi and Al-sheikh 2014). Therefore, fast, specific, and sensitive cancer diagnosis is pivotally important for clinicians. Accordingly, introducing a biosensor for early detection of cancer has attracted great attention. Biosensor is a system that contains biological recognition elements capable of recognizing target molecule as well as the detector element (transducer) that transforms the signal produced by interaction of the target with the recognition element into quantitative or semiguantitative information (Charbgoo et al. 2016). Nanoparticle-based biosensors named as nanobiosensors could overcome many of the challenges that prevent wide-scale use of biosensors, without any of their major drawbacks. Nanobiosensors have made clinics closer to the ultimate goal of detection that is detecting any cancer biomarker at the level of single molecule or cell. In other word, emerging field of nanotechnology improved particularly transducing element by employing different nanoparticles as signal enhancers. To be specific, nanoparticles (NPs) revolutionized cancer diagnosis due to their unique properties that are different from bulk materials or small ones (Parvanian et al. 2017). The capability of nanoparticles in producing strong signals provided improved cancer imaging systems that have led to accurate image-guided therapies (Baetke et al. 2015). Moreover, nanoparticles are even capable of providing platforms for personalized medicine therapy by enabling preselection and early diagnosis of patients and controlling treatment efficacy (Editorial 2015; Baetke et al. 2015). Applying nanoparticles with unique optical and electrochemical properties and large surface/

volume ratio provided different promising nanobiosensors for timely detection of cancer (Charbgoo et al. 2016). The most common nanoparticles used in biosensing are carbon-based nanomaterials and metallic nanoparticles such as gold and silver nanoparticles (Yang et al. 2018; Wei et al. 2017).

In this chapter, current applications of nanoparticles in fabrication of different effective sensing devices for cancer detection are discussed.

2.2 Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors for Cancer Detection

There are different types of cancer biomarkers that could be detected by nanoparticlebased biosensors such as peptides (Martorella and Robbins 2007; Xu et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2016a), carbohydrate antigen, and genetic biomarkers (Li et al. 2017; Ki et al. 2017; Hu et al. 2015). Considering the properties of these biomarkers in physiological samples, different types of biosensors were designed according to the mechanism of transducing element. Here, we discuss different nanoparticle-based biosensors capable of detecting biomarkers of cancer.

2.2.1 Optical Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors for Cancer Detection

Among different types of biosensors, optical ones are more easily constructed and provide advantages such as low cost, high performance, small size, and high sensitivity and selectivity. Optical nanobiosensors are the most appropriate substituent for traditional analytical techniques. They show the presence of a target molecule in the form of a photo-signal such as color change, absorbance, fluorescence, polarization, and reflective index using nanotechnology.

2.2.2 Colorimetric Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors

Detection of biological components in colorimetric biosensors will be performed through color changes. In this strategy, different nanomaterials like AuNPs, magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs), and quantum dots (QDs) were used. Due to strong light absorption properties, AuNPs are widely used in this type of nanobiosensors (Nekouian et al. 2014). Nekouian et al. detected overexpression of fibronectin (FN) in extracellular matrix (ECM) of lung carcinoma tissue using anti-hFN-Ab conjugated AuNPs. In the presence of high levels of FN in the ECM, anti-hFN-AuNP formed a network in ECM mimicking AuNP aggregation and consequently color change (Nekouian et al. 2014). Another colorimetric method based on distance-dependent color change of AuNP was reported for cancer-related point mutation in

KRAS gene. In this study, poly dT-AuNPs (as probe 1) could hybridize with polyA containing probe 2. Probe 2 is specifically complementary to wild-type KRAS; thus it could capture wild-type target which was previously biotinylated after extracting from the cells. Therefore, in the presence of normal cell, a sandwich of B-KRAS/ probe2/probe1-AuNP could be formed. In this study, streptavidin-MNP (S-MNP) was also used to improve color change of AuNPs. The biotinylated KRAS/probe2/ probe1-AuNP was attached to the S-MNP, bringing AuNPs close to each other in the magnetic field generating red color change. However, in the presence of mutant, B-KRAS could not be captured by probe2, and subsequently B-KRAS/S-MNP complex could not capture probe1-AuNP; thus color remained unchanged (Valentini et al. 2013). A lateral flow strip biosensor based on AuNPs was also fabricated for the cancer antigen 19-9 (CA 19-9) detection. In the presence of CA 19-9, the first Ab which was labeled with AuNP would be attached to the target followed by conjugation to the second Ab (Ab2) that was immobilized on the test line of the strip. The assembly of AuNPs on the test line produced red color. The control line of the strip was produced by immobilizing Goat anti-mouse IgG that cannot recognize AuNP-Ab1/CA 19-9, so color change would not occur (Barveh et al. 2017).

2.2.3 Fluorescent Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors

The most common optical nanobiosensors are fluorescent-based ones (Wang et al. 2017a, 2018; Oiu et al. 2017). They detect different types of biological molecules using organic/inorganic fluorophores and also NPs such as SiNPs, AgNPs, AuNPs, and quantum dots (QDs) (Gharatape and Yari 2017; Huertas et al. 2017). Nanoparticles help fluorescent biosensors providing more sensitive and photobleaching-resistant detection. For example, streptavidin (St)-conjugated FITC-labeled SiNPs capable of attaching to biotinylated aptamer (B-aptamer) was used for hepatoma cells detection. SiNP enhances FITC fluorescence signal and dedicates photobleaching resistance (Hu et al. 2017). Using Si nanosubstrate (SiNS), Huertas et al. interestingly designed a fluorescent-based biosensor for detecting mRNA alternative splicing of Fas gene (Huertas et al. 2017). This gene introduces two different isoforms as Fas567 and Fas57 which are apoptotic and antiapoptotic proteins, respectively. Fas57 overexpression in cancer cells leads to aggressiveness (Owen-Schaub et al. 1998). Two different ssDNA probes were attached to separate channels of SiNS that has a strong fluorescent signal. The probes were complementary to the special exon junction sequences on each isoform. Attachment of any mRNA isoform provided a particular phase shift demonstrating its presences. This is a very innovative design; however, for real sample detection, a mRNA fragmentation procedure is necessary (Huertas et al. 2017).

Moreover, there are some reports on application of AgNPs in fluorescent-based nanobiosensors. Ag nanoclusters were conjugated to a ssDNA composed of two different fragments for P53 single mismatch mutation. The ssDNA contained one specific DNA sequence (probe) complementary to target p53 and two cytosine-rich

rings at its 3' and 5' end. It is demonstrated that cytosine-rich sequences anchor AgNPs and provide fluorescent AgNCs through chemical reduction reactions. In the presence of wild-type p53, a rigid duplex was formed leading to better prevention of AgNC bleaching; thus, a stronger fluorescent signal could be observable. Mutant p53 formed loose duplex causing reduction in fluorescent signal of AgNCs-ssDNA (Hosseini et al. 2017). DNA-AgNCs are widely used in biosensor fabrication since they have tunable emission spectrum, high photostability, and high biocompatibility (Xu and Wei 2017; Yang et al. 2016b). AgNCs play role as label-free reporters overcoming the shortcoming of DNA fragments such as low signal transfer property. AgNC-DNA was also used in fluorescent aptasensors without using PCR or RCA signal amplification strategies for highly sensitive detection of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA). The target triggers a recycling process to break the pair of AgNCs, leading to decline of the fluorescence intensity of AgNCs. Simultaneously, release of abundant G-quadruplex sequences results in enhancement of the fluorescence intensity of thioflavin T (THT) as THT binding to G-DNA increases its intrinsic fluorescent property. This label-free, enzyme-free aptasensor achieved high sensitivity by using two types of fluorescent probes, THT and AgNCs (Wang et al. 2017a) (Fig. 2.1).

Further, using AgNPs, optical nanofibers were fabricated to immobilize antitelomerase Ab (Ab1-AgNPs) for detecting telomerase overexpression in breast cancer



Fig. 2.1 Schematic representation of optical aptasensor based on two label-free probes (THT, AgNCs) using recycling amplification strategy for CEA cancer biomarker detection. (Reprinted with permission from the published work of (Wang et al. 2017a))

single living cell. Ab1-AgNPs were transferred into nucleus of MCF7 cell to bind telomerase followed by conjugation with second Ab which was labeled with alkaline phosphatase through biotin–streptavidin bridging. More telomerase in one MCF7 live cell nucleus provides more fluorescent signal (Fig. 2.2) (Zheng and Li 2010).



Fig. 2.2 Schematic representation of telomerase detection using Ag nanofiber-based fluorescent biosensors. (Reprinted with permission from (Zheng and Li 2010))

Since AuNPs act as both quencher and carrier, they are also attractive nanoparticles in fluorescent-based nanobiosensors. Using FERT strategy, Ab-conjugated AuNPs and FITC-conjugated Ab were able to detect CEA. When FITC-Ab/CEA/ Ab-AuNPs complex was formed, quenching of FITC fluorescence occurred; thus, detection of CEA with LOD of 0.1 ng/ml was accomplished (Wang et al. 2018). AuNPs could also carry fluorescent molecular beacons (MB) in order to detect miR-NAs in gastric cancer cells. An AuNP-conjugated ssDNA probe could capture a cye-3-labeled MB resulting in quenching of cye-3 fluorescence by AuNPs. In the presence of target miRNA in the cell cytoplasm, the probe released the MB and captured the target so the fluorescent signal of cye-3-MB could be observable within the cells. It is demonstrated that using star-like AuNPs increased the MB loading level 4.5-fold higher than spherical AuNPs (Ki et al. 2017). Moreover, Fe₃O₄/AuNPs are also used for fluorescent-based early detection of cancer by targeting DNA methylation process in adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene as a well-known tumor suppressor. Fe₃O₄/AuNPs conjugated ssDNA probe capable of hybridizing with CpG islands of APC in combination with dipyridamole as fluorescent label were used in this biosensor. Dipyridamole intercalated within duplex of DNA both in methylated and nonmethylated sequences. However, dipyridamole intercalation in methylated duplex decreased the fluorescent signal while its attachment to nonmethylated DNA duplex increased the fluorescent intensity. The reason is that methyl groups as electron donors alter the orientation and interaction of dipyridamole with DNA leading to decrease in the fluorescent emission intensity (Dadmehr et al. 2014).

Another nanoparticle that plays a role in fluorescent-based detection devices is QD. In an interesting design, QDs were used to detect telomerase activity that is correlated with 85% of tumors. In the presence of telomerase, the 3' end of an immobilized probe was elongated so it could capture a biotinylated probe in the solution. Then, by addition of streptavidin to the duplex, biotinylated OD encapsulated in liposome could attach to the duplex. Following addition of Triton X100, liposome was lysed and then QD released thereby increasing the fluorescent intensity remarkably (Zavari-Nematabad et al. 2017). As a type of QD, carbon dots (CDs) wrapped by AS1411 aptamer could also detect cancer cells overexpressing nucleolin on their surfaces. In the presence of tumor cells, AS1411 aptamers left CDs and captured the cells overexpressing nucleolin on their surfaces leading to detectable fluorescent signal of CD (Motaghi et al. 2017). CDs in combination with AuNPs were also used for CA125 cancer biomarker detection using FRET approach (Hamd-Ghadareh et al. 2017). However, it is demonstrated that QDs provide more sensitive nanobiosensors than CDs particularly for cancer cell detection (Motaghi et al. 2017).

2.2.4 Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopy (SERS) Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors

Raman spectroscopy (RS) provides a label-free spectral technique for direct detection of targets. Using RS, signal/noise ratio is very desirable compared to fluorescence and other methods of detection; however, its sensitivity can be improved by about ten orders of magnitude applying surface-enhanced RS (SERS) (Cottat et al. 2015). In SERS, a unique property of metal-based nanoparticles is exploited in which their specific interactions with light and consequent excitation of surface plasmon results in high electromagnetic field at the NPs surface. This electromagnetic field enhances Raman scattering of any molecule at the NPs vicinity, enabling single molecule detection of cancer (Lin et al. 2014). SERS provides several advantages such as narrow spectral peaks, detection of multiple labels using one source, and photostability of labels without bleaching (Lin et al. 2014). Moreover, SERS can provide even label-free detection systems.

Among different metal NP, AuNPs are widely used as SERS active structures. For example, antimanganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) aptamer-coated gold nanostructures, which were synthesized by electron-beam lithography, was reported to distinguish MnSOD in serum and saliva with LOD of 10 nM based on SERS (Cottat et al. 2015).

From different scattering modes of SERS including nonpolarized and polarized, it is demonstrated that polarized SERS is more sensitive for distinguishing cancer cells from normal ones with accuracy of 91.6% in blood serum (Lin et al. 2016). SERS-based nanobiosensors are also capable of analyzing stage of tumor which then can be applied for early-stage distinguishing between cancer and noncancerous cells (Lin et al. 2014). In nasopharyngeal cancer (NPC), blood SERs predicted T1 stage vs normal cells with accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of 83–84% using AuNPs and principal component analysis combined with linear discriminant analysis (PCA-LDA) method in three groups including healthy individuals, early-stage (T1) patients, and advanced-stage (T2-T4) patients. Different cells provided different pattern of Raman intensity signal (Lin et al. 2014).

AuNPs were also combined with graphene in SERS-based detection of cancer. Manikandan et al. introduced an Au nanohexagon-doped graphene sheets capable of distinguishing between normal, cancer, and cancer stem cells based on enhancing Raman signal. Graphene is a strong Raman enhancer due to good performance in preventing fluorescent noise in resonance Raman. It also has easy and low-cost preparation. The cell interacted with this SERS substrate through hydrogen bonding and electrostatic interactions causing alteration in intensity of peaks in SERS curves. This nanobiosensor provided 5.4-fold increase in the detection limit of breast cancer cells (BCCs) and 4.8-fold increment in sensitivity for breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) detection (Manikandan et al. 2014).

Furthermore, there is a report on use of silver nanoparticles (AgNP) for SERSbased detection of cancer. Wang et al. used a Raman-labeled ssDNA hairpin as a probe that was attached to AgNPs trough SH group. The configuration resulted in strong SERS signal since Raman label was in close proximity of AgNPs surface. In the presence of target *erbB-2* and *ki-67* as genetic breast cancer biomarkers, hairpin was broken, and hybridization of *erbB-2* and *ki-67* with probe occurred resulting in SERS signal quenching. However, this report provided LOD of 3 mM which is not remarkably sensitive (Wang and Vo-Dinh 2009).

2.2.5 Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors

As one another special property of metallic NPs, SPR is widely used for designing highly sensitive nanobiosensors. SPR is produced when incident light interacts with electrons on the metal NPs surface in their conducting band (Hong et al. 2013). The resonance confines a magnetic field that is very sensitive to alterations of dielectric microenvironment. Optical spectroscopy is an appropriate method for detecting the changes in the magnetic field resulting from interactions of molecules with the surface of metallic NPs (Hong et al. 2013). Among metal NPs, AuNPs are widely used for providing SPR-based biosensors carrying different recognition elements such as Ab, peptides, or aptamers.

As a peptide recognition element, tumor-associated antigen (TAA) was attached to Au nanodisks in order to detect autoantibodies immediately secreted by the immune cells after tumor appearance in colorectal cancer (CRC) using SPR-based nanosensors. This system could provide real-time detection of CRC biomarkers with LOD of 1 nM (Soler et al. 2016). In another design, a peptide which could be cleaved by membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) was conjugated to AuNP substrate in order to detect invasive cancer cells. MT1-MMP anchors on the invasive cells and is an appropriate biomarker of cancer. In the presence of cancer cell lysate, MT1-MMP cleaved the peptide attached on AuNP substrate producing a blue shift in optical spectrum. As MT1-MMP and cancer cells concentration increased, λ max shift of SPR spectra also increased which resulted in highly sensitive detection of MT1-MMP with LOD of 1 nM (Hong et al. 2013).

Ab-attached AuNPs were also reported to provide surface plasmon-based nanobiosensors. AuNP-deposited nanoporous aluminum oxide chip was used to immobilize an Ab against serum amyloid A1 for lung cancer detection based on SPR. Attachment of target to Ab changes the reflective index, which brought about a shift in resonance spectrum. The LOD of nanobiosensor was 100 ag/ml showing that the sensor was very sensitive for lung cancer detection based on SPR (Lee et al. 2015). Zhang et al. further synthesized a gold nanohole with immobilized anti-PSA antibody as Ab1 for PSA detection in sandwich-like approach. The second antibody (Ab2) was fluorescently labeled so this nanobiosensor was a surface plasmonenhanced fluorescence (SPFS). Synthesizing nanohole substrate with AuNPs resulted in condensing of electromagnetic field in the Au nanohole that finally provides detection limit as low as 140 fM (Zhang et al. 2017).

Moreover, aptamer conjugated AuNPs have also attracted attention for SPRSbased detection of miRNAs in cancer. For example, an individual AuNP was attached to single-strand oligonucleotide through S-Au bond. The probe, which was against miRNA-21, could form hairpin structure. In the presence of target, hairpin was broken, and miRNA hybridized with the probe generating a red shift in SPR signal (Hu et al. 2015). AuNP in composition with graphene oxide (AuNP-GO) was also reported to immobilize ssDNA molecules for miRNA-141 and small molecule adenosine detection in sandwich-like approach. ssDNA1-attached AuNP-deposited GO was immobilized onto an Au film substrate. In the presence of target, probe 1 captured the target miRNA-141 followed by hybridization of ssDNA2 as probe2, with miRNA-141. The probe 2 was also attached to a layer of AuNP-deposited GO. Using two layers of GO-AuNPs improved signal amplification process and provided LOD in picomolar range (Li et al. 2017). This approach introduced a platform capable of detecting small molecules such as adenosine based on SPR which could potentially overcome the problem of SPR-based biosensors. Typical SPRbased biosensors are not appropriate for detecting small molecules because they cannot change the dielectric constant as much as required due to small interactions with surface of NPs (Gharatape and Yari 2017).

In addition to AuNPs, AgNPs are also used in designing SPR-based nanobiosensors. With a simple approach, anti-HE4 Ab molecules were attached to AgNPs for human epididymis secretory protein 4 (HE4) detection which is an ovarian cancer biomarker (Yuan et al. 2012). A sensitive detection was obtained with LOD of 4 pM with a rapid, low-cost, label-free, and portable screening method (Yuan et al. 2012). However, AgNPs are not as strong as AuNPs in amplification of signal for SPR-based signals.

2.2.6 Electrochemical Nanoparticle-Based Biosensors

Electrochemical biosensors offer high performance, ease of preparation, rapid feedback, and possibilities for miniaturization thus have attracted great attention among researchers (Ibau et al. 2017). These types of biosensors provide label-free detection that is a preferential sensing approach because the signal intensity of labeled biosensors is affected by different parameters such as temperature, pH, and incubation time that limited their uses in various environmental conditions (Charbgoo et al. 2016).

2.2.7 Protein Biosensing

Prostate-Specific Antigen

Prostate-specific antigen (PSA) or human kallikrein 3 (hK3 or KLK3) is the common important serum biomarker for prognosis, screening, and monitoring posttreatment of prostate cancer. PSA is a 33-kDa androgen-regulated serine protease of the kallikrein family that is produced in the ducts and acinar cells of the prostate. Wang et al. in 1979 reported that PSA can be used as prostate biomarker (Wang et al. 1979). The precursor employed for prostate cancer detection is to monitor the PSA concentration in the human serum. A healthy prostate normally leaks only minute amount into the circulatory system, typically lower than 4 ng/ml; thus, 4 ng/ml is the internationally recognized threshold value for prostate cancer occurrence. In 2011, first application of nanotechnology in PSA electrochemical detection was reported using Au nanoelectrodes. One approach for improving electrochemical detection of PSA using nanoparticles is to modify electrodes with different nanoparticles like AuNPs to produce nanoelectrodes. Nanoelectrodes provide high surface area to communicate with electroactive redox molecules, enhance electron transfer from these molecules to the electrode resulting in high sensitive detection of target molecules. Smaller electrodes transfer higher mass and current density because of thinner depletion thickness. When a biomolecular catalytic reaction is in progress, the high mass transfer is important since it ensures that catalytic activity is not controlled by substrate diffusion onto electrode surface. Nanoelectrodes enhance the diffusion of substrates to the electrode by radial diffusion, thus providing accurate information about the electrochemical response of enzymatic activities (Triroj et al. 2011). Accordingly, using AuNP-deposited alumina electrodes, low levels of PSA (270 fM) in microfluidic environment could be detected in less than 7 sec with dynamic range of 0-50 nM (Triroj et al. 2011). Low-cost carbon ink electrodes were also deposited with AuNPs for more sensitive detection of PSA with LOD of 0.5 fg/ mL. AuNPs deposition on carbon ink electrode provided high active surface for anti-PSA molecule immobilization in addition to increasing the electrode conductance (Truong et al. 2012). Other nanoparticles such as iron oxide nanoparticles (IONP) were reported to improve and modified ITO electrodes providing fg/ml detection of PSA (Blel et al. 2016). Nowadays, hybrid nanocomposites are used for improving electrodes functionality. A composite of self-assembled peptide nanotube (PNT), AuNP, and polyaniline (PANI) (PANI/AuNP-PNT) was used to modify a pencil graphite electrode (PGE) for PSA detection with LOD of 680 pg/ml. PSA concentration in PBS was measured with electrocatalytic activity of H₂O₂ catalyzed by HRP on anti-PSA attached to PSA in sandwich similar to the second anti-PSA on PANI/AuNP-PNT-PGE. Both PNT and AuNP have unique electronic properties promoting electrochemical activity of PGE (Vural et al. 2017).

Another approach for improving electrochemical detection of PSA using nanoparticles is to use them as signal enhancers. AuNPs are widely used as signal amplifier in electrochemical biosensors. In an interesting "signal on" design, PSA was detected with LOD of 60 fg/ml using AuNPs as signal amplifiers. First, a peptide that is cleavable with PSA as protease was immobilized on GCE. Then, AuNPs were attached to the peptides followed by the addition of positively charged surfactant, CTAB, to cap AuNPs with positive charge which could then adsorbed the negatively charged [Fe(CN)6]^{3-/4-}. This coverage results in lower resistance in electron transfer and impedance. In the presence of PSA, peptide is cleaved releasing AuNPs which then results in higher electron transfer resistance. Signal amplification strategy induced by AuNPs exhibited high sensitivity and reliability (Wang et al. 2015).

Interestingly, AuNPs are used in dual amplified strategies for sandwich-type PSA detection. In this approach, an anti-PSA aptamer was immobilized on gold electrodes in order to capture PSA target. 4-Mercaptophenylboronic acid-coated AuNPs (MBA-AuNP) capable of forming covalent bonds with diols of captured PSA as a glycoprotein were used as the first signal amplifier. The second signal enhancer was electroactive dopamine-coated AuNPs (DA-AuNPs) capable of forming bonds with boronic acid moiety of MBA-AuNP. This method is very sensitive since many DA-AuNP molecules could be attached to MBA-AuNPs considering that each DA-AuNPs carries large number of electroactive dopamine (Xia et al. 2013).

Recently, combination of these two strategies (using nanoparticles as electrode surface modifiers and as signal enhancers/quenchers) is extensively reported for PSA electrochemical detection. Applying AuNPs as signal enhancers and MWCNTmodified GCE for sandwich immunosensing of PSA provided LOD of 5.7 pg/ml. PSA was detected by first antibody-MWCNTs, and then second antibody (Ab2), conjugated to AuNPs attached to the immobilized PSA on the MWCNT-GCE, and formed AuNP-Ab2-PSA-Ab1-MWCNT-GCE sandwich. This composite increased the current which was proportional to PSA concentration (Yang et al. 2015). MWCNTs improved the electron transfer on the GCE (Yang et al. 2015; Nur Topkaya and Ozkan-Ariksoysal 2016), while AuNPs act as carriers for immobilizing high levels of Ab2 (Yang et al. 2015). Moreover, photoelectrochemical immunosensing of PSA using CdSe-sensitized TiO₂-NPs as photoelectrochemical matrix and dopamine-melanin-attached AuNPs as signal quenchers was reported recently (Dong et al. 2017). This design provides dual signal quenching: first by strong energy transfer between AuNPs and CdSe QD and second by inducing steric hindrance between ascorbic acid as electron donor and electrode surface that resulted from attachment of dopamine-melanin-AuNPs. The biosensor provided LOD of 2.7 pg/ml for PSA detection (Dong et al. 2017). In another study, WO₃-AuNP was used to modify ITO and immobilize Ab1. Reduced GO-ODs were also used for signal amplification and immobilizing Ab2. This design increased the photocurrent and introduced LOD of 2.6 pg/ml (Wang et al. 2017b).

CeO₂ mesoporous nanoparticles (CeO₂mNPs) are used as electron donor encapsulating toluidine blue (TB) as the electron transfer mediator while immobilizing Ab1. In order to prevent TB leakage, ionic liquid-doped carboxymethyl chitosan (CMC/ILs) was added to CeO₂mNPs which produced TB/M-CeO₂/CMC/ILs complex. Furthermore, AuNP-QD-graphene-modified GCE was used for Ab2 immobilization by sandwich immunoassay for sensitive PSA detection with LOD of 0.16 pg/ml (Wei et al. 2017). The most sensitive electrochemical sensor for PSA detection was reported by using AuNP-functionalized nitrogen-doped graphene quantum dots (Au@N-GQDs) as platform for immobilizing Ab1 on GCE and Au@ Ag-Cu₂O as Ab2 immobilizers, signal amplifiers, and enhancer of electrocatalytic activity toward the reduction of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) for the amplified detection of PSA. The design provided ultrasensitive method of PSA electrochemical detection with LOD of 3 fg/ml (Yang et al. 2018). It should be noticed that the nanomaterial selection for nanobiosensor design is pivotally important otherwise it negatively affects the LOD of PSA detection (Tezerjani et al. 2016).

Recently, some biosensors for early diagnosis of prostate cancer by simultaneous detection of PSA with other biomarkers such as VEGF are also introduced (Pan et al. 2017).

Cancer Antigen 15-3

Unique properties of nanoparticles such as AuNPs is further used for cancer antigen 15-3 (CA 15-3) detection in breast cancer samples. CA 15-3 is the sheddable form of MUC1 that plays role in cell protection and lubrication. However, its overexpression in cancer cells introduced it as a cancer diagnosis biomarker. Using AuNPs in electrochemical sensing of CA 15-3 provided high surface area; thus, large number of recognition element could be immobilized. Additionally, AuNPs due to higher electrical conductivity, producing more detectable signal play the role of signal amplifier (Selwyna et al. 2013). With the same LOD (5 u/ml), sandwich-type detection of CA 15-3 was also reported in dual target diagnosis (Wu et al. 2014; Cui et al. 2014; Ge et al. 2012). For example, applying AuNP-doped carbon electrode, both CA 15-3 and Her2 could be detected by monoclonal anti-CA and HER1 as Ab1 and alkaline phosphatase-labeled antibody as Ab2 (AP-Ab). AP converts Ag⁺ to Ag, and the resulted signal was deposited on the electrode surface at the site of the enzyme thereby avoiding the cross talk between electrodes (Marques et al. 2018).

Carcinoembryonic Antigen

Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) is a cell surface glycoprotein which has specific cancer-associated carbohydrate alterations when compared with its normal counterpart. Using lectin or monoclonal antibodies, carbohydrate change in glycoproteins can be detected for pathological study of carcinogenesis. This glycoprotein is detected in 60-70% of tumor cells including ovarian carcinoma, breast tumors, cervical carcinomas, and colon tumors. A sandwich-type electrochemical immunosensor with the anti-CEA Ab1 as capture antibody which was attached to magnetic NPs (MNPs) was used for CEA detection. The detection Ab2 was labeled with HRP and further conjugated to AuNPs as signal enhancers. The sensor detected the electron transfer current produced by hydrolysis of H₂O₂ that resulted from attachment of AuNP-Ab2-HRP to CEA providing LOD of 5 ng/mL (Jin et al. 2014). Lectin usage as a CEA recognition element instead of antibodies is preferred due to limitations of Ab. Compared with Ab-based immunosensors, the lectin-based nanobiosensors could detect both the content and the abnormal glycosylation of the tumor markers. One sandwich-type design for CEA detection was introduced, while the recognition element was lectin attached to AuNPs-carbon electrodes (Zhao et al. 2016).

Other Protein/Peptide Biomarkers

Some other peptide biomarkers are also introduced as the candidates of cancer diagnosis using NPs. For example, it is demonstrated that estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) has an important role in initiation and progression of cancer. Therefore, AuNPmodified carbon electrodes were coated with anti-ER α aptamer for producing an electrochemical biosensor for breast cancer detection. After capturing of ER α , the HRP-labeled anti-ER α Ab-coated magnetic NPs were added, and finally the detection with LOD of 10 fg/ml was reported (Uliana et al. 2018). Furthermore, interleukin 8 as a biomarker of salivary oral cancer was also detected using AuNP-doped reduced graphene oxide (AuNP-rGO) in an electrochemical immunosensor. AuNPrGo nanocomposite provides fast response and high sensitivity because of electron transfer improvement, high surface area, and presenting functional groups for immobilizing recognition elements (Verma et al. 2017).

2.2.8 Genetic Biomarkers Biosensing

As genetic biomarkers of cancers, both RNA and DNA molecules were selected as targets for cancer detection. Specifically, miRNAs are now well-known biomarkers of different cancers. They are released from specific types of cancers, and their detection leads to diagnosis of cancer (Paul et al. 2018). Approximately, 1200 different miRNA molecules are identified, from which miRNA-21, miRNA-141, and miRNA-155 are strongly related to different types of cancer (Ghanghoria et al. 2018). Accordingly, labeled/label-free and enzymatic/enzyme-free approaches are introduced for their detection. As a simple design, an immobilized DNA probe on poly(JUG-co-JUGA)-MWNT-modified GC electrode was used for the detection of miRNA-141 with LOD of 8 fM. Poly(JUG-co-JUGA) provided high surface area, and MWNT improved electron transfer capacity of the electrode (Tran et al. 2013). Moreover, multiple signal amplification approaches for miRNA detection were also introduced. Combining polymerase extension method with alkaline phosphatase and AuNPs, an excellent nanobiosensor was reported in which miRNA was hybridized with the immobilized capture probe and worked as a primer for template extension by polymerase and dNTPs. Since some dNTPs were biotinylated, alkaline phosphatase could attach to the double strand of miRNA/DNA through streptavidin-AuNP as a linker. This method provided very high specificity by detecting even single nucleotide difference, however, showed LOD of 99.2 fM (Peng et al. 2014) that is not as low as expected. This may be attributed to the limitations of enzymatic approaches. However, there are some enzymatic approaches that reported OD as low as 0.14 fM (Hu et al. 2016). In another design, an immobilized probe on Au electrode surface captured the first part of target miRNA-155, while the second probe which was aminated was hybridized with the other part of the miRNA-155. Then, carboxyl groups of grapheme quantum dots (GQD) conjugated electrostatically with NH2-DNA probe, providing platform for HRP noncovalent attachment that catalyzed TMB oxidation. This enzymatic reaction resulted in color change and increased the intensity of the electrochemical signal (Hu et al. 2016). miRNA-21 was also detected by electrochemical nanobiosensors. AuNScoated GCE that could immobilize a probe against miRNA-21 was synthesized. After target capturing and production of duplex (DNA probe/miRNA), toluidine blue (TB) was intercalated into it as signal amplifier indicator and increased the resistance of electron transfer from $Fe_3(CN)_6$ (Tian et al. 2018). Furthermore, miRNA-21 could also be detected in blood serum of patients with gastric cancer. Li et al. designed three DNA molecules as DNA1, DNA2, and, the third one, DNA3 which was labeled with thiol group at 3' end and ferrocene at 5' end. DNA1 could be hybridized with both miRNA-21 and DNA2 as can be seen in Fig. 2.2. In addition to these sequences, the solution contained T4 ligase, T7 exonuclease, and AuNP-coated Au electrode. T4 ligase sealed the nick between iRNA-21 and DNA2 providing a perfect duplex for T7 exonuclease. T7 Exo as a sequence-independent nuclease is able to hydrolyze mononucleotides from the blunt but nor overhang of 5' end of duplexes. Thus, it cannot work on single-strand nucleotides, and thus, in the sensor, T7 Exo hydrolyzed DNA1 fromDNA1/DNA2-miRNA duplex. DNA1 could be also hybridized with the labeled DNA3, providing 4-nucleotide overhang from the 5' end of DNA1 that protects it from hydrolysis by T7 Exo. However, the enzyme starts degradation of DNA3 from its 5' end of DNA1/DNA3 duplex. In this situation, the degraded DNA3 could not attach to AuNPs via thiol groups. In the presence of miRNA-21, DNA1/DNA2-miRNA duplex was formed and DNA1 was hydrolyzed by T7 Exo and no longer hybridized to DNA3; thus, DNA1/DNA3 duplex did not form, and consequently DNA3 was not hydrolyzed by T7 Exo. Therefore, DNA3 could attach to AuNP-coated electrodes and increase the current remarkably (Li et al. 2016) (Fig. 2.3).



Fig. 2.3 Schematic representation of the DNA probe-based nanobiosensor for miRNA-21 detection. (Redrawn from (Li et al. 2016))

In order to improve accuracy of cancer diagnosis and provide high detection efficiency, multiplex biomarker detection was reported. miRNA-21 and miRNA-141 were simultaneously detected using multifunction MNPs tagged probes coupled with target-triggered hybridization chain reaction (HCR) approach. In this strategy, hairpin probes against the target were immobilized on Au electrode. In the presence of targets, hybridization occurred and hairpins opened, thus providing single strand for binding MNP-complementary sequences (probes). In this approach, HCR could remarkably increase the binding sites of MNP-probe resulting in carrying large number of redox signals followed by amplification of electrical signals (Yuan et al. 2017).

Moreover, nanobiosensors can be used for cancer-associated DNA sequence detection. Saeed et al. developed a sensor for the detection of Her2 overexpressed gene and CD4 as a prognostic marker in breast cancer using AuNP-attached GO-coated GCE. A capture probe 1 was immobilized on AuNPs by thiol binding. In the presence of target DNA, hybridization with probe 1 occurred followed by hybridization of HRP-labeled probe. The attached HRP hydrolyzed the TNB and resulted in increase in resistance of electron transfer, and consequently, the current decreased depending on the DNA target concentration (Saeed et al. 2017). Furthermore, using DNA probe-immobilized QD-modified electrode, chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) was detected. The probe was designed from BCR-ABL oncogene which is overexpressed in CML. The QD generated increased electron transfer kinetics and improved electroactive surface area (Sharma et al. 2013).

2.2.9 Cytosensors

Electrochemical cytosensors have great role in diagnosis of cancer cells due to advantages such as rapid response, high sensitivity, easy operation, nondestructive analysis, and real-time monitoring. Using different nanomaterials provided considerable sensitivity to these sensors.

In this type of sensors, an overexpressed marker or cancer-specific glycons on the cell surface or a cell-secreted molecule can be detected. A lectin-based cytosensor for the detection of living cancer cells was introduced considering sialic acid abundance in tumor cells. Lectin could capture cancer-specific glycosylation of tumor cells in sandwich-type cytosensor, in which AuNPs act as signal amplifier and MWNTs as electrode modifiers (Zhang et al. 2010). MUC1 is also an appropriate candidate for most cancer cells and could capture breast solid tumors. Mouffouk et al. developed an electrochemical cytosensor for breast cancer using selfassembled pH sensitive polymeric micelle loaded with ferrocene as signal generator and amplifier. They conjugated anti-MUC1 Ab on both magnetic NPs and ferrocenecontaining micelles. In the presence of MCF7 cells, micelles and MNPs were attached to cells and subsequently were captured under magnetic field. Decreasing the pH of solution triggered the ferrocene release and produced sensitive signal as each micelle contained thousands of ferrocene molecules (Zhang et al. 2018).

As described above, various electrochemical cytosensors have been reported; however, implantable cytosensor capable of real-time monitoring and in vivo detection has attracted great attention. This approach requires highly biocompatible blocks for the biosensor. For this purpose, peptides are appropriate candidates due to their inherent biocompatibility, biological recognition, and chemical versatility. For example, diphenylalanine (FF), a short dipeptide that can be self-assembled to peptide nanotube (PNT) structure, was used for the detection of K562 cells. FF catalyzes oxidation of H₂O₂ and NADH owing to electroconductivity resulting from its spatially aligned electrons of aromatic ring. PNTs are attached to chitosan (CS) to provide hydrophilic support films, improving morphology and increasing stability. The hydrophilic PNT-CS composite produces an appropriate microenvironment for cell immobilization which is a critical issue for synthesizing an electrochemical cytosensor. K562 cells adhere to PNT on PNT-CS electrode where nanotube enhances the electron transfer from electroactive center of the cells (glutathione) to the electrode due to its conductivity (Lian et al. 2017). In another approach, products that are secreted from live cancer cells can be detected as a criterion of cancer cell presence. For example, since cancer cells produce more H_2O_2 than normal cells, these molecules can be detected in situ real time in live cells as molecular probes of cancer cells. Previously AuNP-decorated nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes on carbon fiber electrodes was used to detect H_2O_2 secreted from live MCF7 and MDA-MB cells with LOD of 50 nM. Owing to electrocatalytic activity of AuNPs and high electroconductivity of carbon nanotubes, this sensitive detection of H_2O_2 was developed (Fig. 2.4) (Zhang et al. 2018).

2.3 Conclusion

We have discussed nanoparticle-based biosensors for cancer diagnosis. In comparison with conventional analytical methods, NP-based biosensors are simple, flexible, and inexpensive and can be easily fabricated. Implementation of various NPs with interesting properties could provide higher sensitivity, lower detection limit, and wider linear detection range for early cancer diagnosis (Table 2.1).



Fig. 2.4 (a) Super resolution image of carbon nanofiber electrode in live cancer cell suspension. (b) Current change triggered by H_2O_2 secreted from the cells after using two simulators. (Reprinted with permission form (Zhang et al. 2018))

		manoparizie ouoga orog					
Type		Target	Type of biomarker	Method	LOD	Elements	Ref
Opti	ical nanobiosensors						
	Optical	Fibronectin of lung carcinoma	Glycoprotein	Colorimetric	I	Color change results from assembly/ aggregation of AuNP	Nekouian et al. (2014)
5	Optical	35G > A point mutation in KRAS gene in lung cancer	DNA (gene)	Colorimetric	20 pM	Color change results in assembly of probe-AuNP	Valentini et al. (2013)
ŝ	Optical	CA 19-9 in pancreatic and colorectal cancers	Protein	Colorimetric	5 u/ml	Color change results in assembly of probe-AuNP	Baryeh et al. (2017)
4	Optical	HepG2	Hepatoma cells	Fluorescent	1	St-FITC-SiNP/B- aptamer/cells	Hu et al. (2017)
S	Optical	Fas 567 and Fas57 mRNA isoforms	RNA	Fluorescent	580 fM	mRNA/ssDNA-SiNS	Huertas et al. (2017)
9	Optical	P53 mismatch mutation	DNA	Fluorescent	1.3 nM	P53 mRNA/ssDNA- cytosine rings-AgNC	Hosseini et al. (2017)
L	Optical	CEA	Protein	Fluorescent	100 pg/ml	CEA/aptamer-H-DNA/ AgNCs-DNA/G-DNA/ THT	Wang et al. (2017a)
~	Optical	Telomerase activity in single live MCF7	Protein	Fluorescent	1	Ab1-AgNPs/telomerase/ alkaline phosphatase-Ab2	Zheng and Li (2010)
6	Optical	CEA	Protein	Fluorescent	100 pg/ml	FITC-Ab/CEA/ Ab-AuNPs	Wang et al. (2018)
10	Optical	miRNA in gastric cancer	RNA	Fluorescent	<10 M	ssDNA-AuNP/ cy3-ssDNA(MB)/ miRNA	Ki et al. (2017)

 Table 2.1
 Different types of nanoparticle-based biosensors for cancer biomarkers detection

11	Optical	DNA methylation of APC gene	DNA	Fluorescent	Unmethylated DNA: 0.21 aM	Dipyridamole/ssDNA probe- Fe ₃ O ₄ /AuNPs	Dadmehr et al. (2014)
					Methylated DNA: 0.31 aM		
12	Optical	Telomerase activity in A549 cells	Protein	Fluorescent	10 cells	CdTe QD-liposome- biotin/st/biotin-probe2/ probe 1-telomerase	Zavari- Nematabad et al. (2017)
13	Optical	4 T1	Cancer cells	Fluorescent	100 cell/ml	CD-aptamer/cancer cell	Motaghi et al. (2017)
14	Optical	CA125	Protein	Fluorescent	0.5 fg/mL	AuNP-dendrimer-Ab/ CA125/ssDNA-CD	Hamd- Ghadareh et al. (2017)
15	Optical	MnSOD	Protein (enzyme)	SERS	10 nM	MnSOD/aptamer-AuNS	Cottat et al. (2015)
16	Optical	Tumor stages in nasopharyngeal cancer		SERS	1	AgNP	Lin et al. (2014)
17	Optical	Breast cancer/cancer stem cells	Cancer cells	SERS	$100 \ \mu g/l \times 10^{4} \ cells$	Au nanohexagon-doped graphene sheets	Manikandan et al. (2014)
18	Optical	<i>erbB-2</i> and <i>ki-67</i> of breast cancer	DNA	SERS	3 mM	ssDNA-AgNP	Wang and Vo-Dinh (2009)
19	Optical	MT1-MMP	Protein (enzyme)	SPR	I	Glass substrate-AuNR- peptide/MT1-MMP	Hong et al. (2013)
20	Optical	TAA	Proteins	SPR	1 nM	Ab/ TAA-PLL-PEG-AuNS	Soler et al. (2016)
21	Optical	Serum amyloid A1 of lung cancer	Protein	SPR	100 ag/ml	Anodic aluminum oxide-AuNP-Ab	Lee et al. (2015)
							(continued)

Tabl	e 2.1 (continued)						
Typ	6	Target	Type of biomarker	Method	LOD	Elements	Ref
22	Optical	PSA	Glycoprotein	SPF	140 fM	Au nanohole-Ab1/PSA/ labeled Ab2	Zhang et al. (2017)
23	Optical	miRNA-21	RNA	LSPR	3 nM	ssDNA-ANP-ITO glass substrate	Hu et al. (2015)
24	Optical	miRNA-141	RNA	SPR	100 pM	Au film-GO-AuNP-	Li et al.
		Adenosine				ssDNA1/miRNA/ ssDNA2-AuNPs-GO	(2017)
25	Optical	HE4 of ovarian cancer	Protein	SPR	4 pM	Ab-AgNP	Yuan et al. (2012)
Elec	strochemical nanobiose	nsors based on type of	detected biomarke	r			
Pro	tein						
26	Electrochemical	PSA	Glycoprotein	Cyclic voltammetry (CV)	10 pg/ml	AuNP-deposited alumina electrode	Triroj et al. (2011)
27	Electrochemical	PSA	Glycoprotein	Impedimetric	0.5 fg/mL	AuNP-deposited carbon electrode	Truong et al. (2012)
28	Electrochemical	PSA	Glycoprotein	Impedimetric and amperometric	10 fg/mL	IONP-doped ITO electrode	Blel et al. (2016)
29	Electrochemical	PSA	Glycoprotein	Amperometric	680 pg/ml	PANI/AuNP-PNT- modified graphite electrode	Vural et al. (2017)
30	Photoelectrochemical	PSA	Glycoprotein	Photocurrent	60 fg/ml	CTAB-capped AuNPs with PSA cleavable peptide-modified graphite electrode	Wang et al. (2015)
31	Electrochemical	PSA	Glycoprotein	CV, PDV	1.6 pg/ml	DA-AuNPs/MBA- AuNPs/PSA/apt-gold electrode	Xia et al. (2013)

(continued)							
Zhao et al. (2016)	CE@AuNPs-lectin/CEA/ HRP-Ab	0.01 ng/mL	Chronoamperometric	Protein	CEA	Electrochemical	41
Jin et al. (2014)	Graphene@MNPs-Ab1/ CEA/HRP-Ab2-AuNP	5 ng/ml	CV and impedimetric	Protein	CEA	Electrochemical	40
(2018)	HER2/Ag, AP-Ab2 HER2/Ag, AP-Ab2	2.9 ng/ml	voltammetry (LSV)	LIUGIII		Electrochennical	6
Selwyna et al. (2013)	Saturated calomel electrode (SCE)- AuNP-Ab/CA 15-3	5 u/ml	CV, EIS	Protein	CA 15-3	Electrochemical	38
Pan et al. (2017)	Apt-GO-PLLA-Au electrode/PSA, VEGF	1 ng/ml 50 fg/ml	DPV	Glycoprotein and protein	PSA and VEGF	Electrochemical	37
Yang et al. (2018)	Au@Ag-Cu2O-Ab2/ PSA/ Ab1- Au@N-GQDs- GCE	3 fg/ml	Impedimetric and CV and amperometric	Glycoprotein	PSA	Electrochemical	36
Wei et al. (2017)	TB/M-CeO2/CMC/ ILs-Ab2/PSA/Ab1- AuNP-QD-graphene- modified GCE	0.16 pg/ml	DPV and amperometric	Glycoprotein	PSA	Electrochemical	35
Wang et al. (2017b)	WO3-AuNP-Ab2/PSA/ Ab1-QD-rGO- ITO	2.6 pg/ml	Photocurrent	Glycoprotein	PSA	Photoelectrochemical	34
Dong et al. (2017)	Dopamine-melanin- AuNPs with QD-TiO ₂ NP-modified ITO	2.7 pg/ml	Impedimetric and CV and photocurrent	Glycoprotein	PSA	Photoelectrochemical	33
Yang et al. (2015)	AuNP-Ab2/PSA/ Ab1-MWCNT-GCE	5.4 pg/ml	Differential pulse voltammetric (DPV)	Glycoprotein	PSA	Electrochemical	32

labl	e 2.1 (continued)						
E		E	Type of		401	Ē	9
Typ	0	Target	biomarker	Method	гор	Elements	Ket
42	Electrochemical	ERα	Protein	CV	10f g/ml	HRP-MP-Ab/ER α	Uliana et al. (2018)
43	Electrochemical	IL-8	Protein	CV and DPV	$72.73 \pm 0.18 \text{ pg/}$ mL	AuNP-rGO	Verma et al. (2017)
4	Electrochemical	miRNA-141	RNA	SWV and CV	8 fM	miRNA/ssDNA probe-poly(JUG-co- JUGA)-MWNT- GC	Tran et al. (2013)
45	Electrochemical	miRNA	RNA	DPV and EIS	99.2 fM	miRNA/ssDNA-B- dNTPs/St-AuNP-B- alkaline phosphatase	Peng et al. (2014)
46	Electrochemical	miRNA-155	RNA	CV and EIS	0.14 fM	HRP-GQD-probe 2/ miRNA/probe 1-Au electrode	Hu et al. (2016)
47	Electrochemical	miRNA-21	RNA	DPV	78 aM	TB-miRNA/ probe-AuNS-GCE	Tian et al. (2018)
48	Electrochemical	miRNA-21	RNA	DPV	0.36 fM	DNA1/DNA2/DNA3/ miRNA/AuNP-Au electrode	Li et al. (2016)
49	Electrochemical	miRNA-21 and miRNA-141	RNA	DPV	0.36 fM and 0.28 fM	DNA1/Fe ₃ O ₄ NPs/Thi and DNA2/Fe ₃ O ₄ NPs/Fc	Yuan et al. (2017)
50	Electrochemical	HER2 DNA CD4 DNA	DNA	CV & EIS	0.16 nM 0.23 nM	HRP-probe2/ probe1-AuNP-GO-GCE	Saeed et al. (2017)
51	Electrochemical	CML DNA	DNA	CV	1 pM	DNA target/probe-QD- ITO electrode	Sharma et al. (2013)

 Table 2.1 (continued)

Whe	ole cancer cells						
52	Electrochemical	Cytosensor (sialic acid detection on MRC-5, A549, H1299)	Monosaccharide	DPV	1 cell/ml	AuNP-thionine-Lectin/ cancer cell/ lectin-MWNT-GCE	Zhang et al. (2010)
53	Electrochemical	Cytosensor (MUC1 on MCF7)	Protein	CV	10 cell/ml in less than 1 min	Ab1-MNP/cancer cell/ Ab2-ferrocene-loaded pH-sensitive micelle	Zhang et al. (2018)
54	Electrochemical	Cytosensor (K562)	Cancer cell		630 cells mL ⁻¹	PNT-CS	Lian et al. (2017)
55	Electrochemical	Cytosensor (MCF-7, MBA-MD-231	Cancer cell		$50 \text{ nm of } \text{H}_2\text{O}_2$	AuNP-decorated nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes on carbon fiber electrodes	Zhang et al. (2018)

All reported advantages for NP-based biosensors confirm the versatility of this platform for the development of diagnostic kit for clinical applications. Different NPs such as gold NPs, graphene oxide and graphene quantum dots, magnetic NPs, silica NPs, QDs, etc. with diverse characteristics can be implemented as fluorescent/ optical probe, quencher, transducer, etc. toward the application in cancer diagnosis due to their superior properties in terms of electronic/thermal conductivity and special luminescence and mechanical properties.

Major biosensor systems summarized here comprise electrochemical and optical sensors.

Commonly, NPs with desirable surface modification can facilitate the detection of interaction between specific biomarker ligand and its receptor for definite cancer cells.

Although numerous studies were conducted on the chemistry, intensity level, and concentration of surface modification of NP-based sensors, the optimal conditions for providing low detection limit and high sensitivity against specific biomarker for cancer cells are not well studied.

Furthermore, the in vivo performance of NPs with diverse surface modifications is complicated and still under examination for better understating.

The crucial concerns regarding NP-based sensors for cancer detection have been identified which include NP biocompatibility, diverse biodistribution of NPs, complicated NPs–cell membrane interaction, stability and biocompatibility of NPs following chemical modifications, verification of safety, nontoxicity, and NPs' fate in vivo.

It could be concluded that if the aforementioned obstacles are addressed appropriately for each given application, the NP-based sensors will meaningfully improve the early detection of cancer.

References

- Alharbi KK, Al-sheikh YA (2014) Role and implications of nanodiagnostics in the changing trends of clinical diagnosis. Saudi J Biol Sci 21(2):109–117
- Baetke SC, Lammers T, Kiessling F (2015) Applications of nanoparticles for diagnosis and therapy of cancer. Br J Radiol 88(1054):20150207
- Baryeh K et al (2017) Development of quantitative immunochromatographic assay for rapid and sensitive detection of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA 19-9) in human plasma. J Pharm Biomed Anal 146:285–291
- Blel N, et al (2016) Self assembled monolayers versus iron oxide nanoparticles modified surfaces: two functionalization strategies for femtomolar detection of prostate specific antigen: comparative study between two electrochemical biosensors for femtomolar detection of prostate specific antigen. In: Sensors, IEEE, USA
- Charbgoo F et al (2016) Nanoparticles application in high sensitive aptasensor design. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 85(Part C):85–97
- Cottat M et al (2015) High sensitivity, high selectivity SERS detection of MnSOD using optical nanoantennas functionalized with aptamers. J Phys Chem C 119(27):15532–15540

2 Nanoparticles Application for Cancer Diagnosis

- Cui Z et al (2014) Ultrasensitive electrochemical immunosensors for multiplexed determination using mesoporous platinum nanoparticles as nonenzymatic labels. Anal Chim Acta 807:44–50
- Dadmehr M et al (2014) DNA methylation detection by a novel fluorimetric nanobiosensor for early cancer diagnosis. Biosens Bioelectron 60:35–44
- Dong YX et al (2017) A novel immunosensing platform for highly sensitive prostate specific antigen detection based on dual-quenching of photocurrent from CdSe sensitized TiO2 electrode by gold nanoparticles decorated polydopamine nanospheres. Biosens Bioelectron 91:246–252
- Editorial (2015) Lung cancer diagnosis: when speed wins the day. Lancet Respir Med 3(3):171
- Ge S et al (2012) Disposable electrochemical immunosensor for simultaneous assay of a panel of breast cancer tumor markers. Analyst 137(20):4727–4733
- Ghanghoria R et al (2018) Targeting luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone: a potential therapeutics to treat gynecological and other cancers. J Control Release 269:277–301
- Gharatape A, Yari AK (2017) Optical biomarker-based biosensors for cancer/infectious disease medical diagnoses. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol: AIMM 27(4):278–286
- Hamd-Ghadareh S et al (2017) An amplified comparative fluorescence resonance energy transfer immunosensing of CA125 tumor marker and ovarian cancer cells using green and economic carbon dots for bio-applications in labeling, imaging and sensing. Biosens Bioelectron 96:308–316
- Hong Y, et al (2013) Molecular sensing for biomarkers of invasive cancer cells using localized surface plasmon resonance. In: Nano-bio sensing, imaging, and spectroscopy. International Society for Optics and Photonics
- Hosseini M et al (2017) Detection of p53 gene mutation (single-base mismatch) using a fluorescent silver nanoclusters. J Fluoresc 27:1–6
- Hu Y et al (2015) Plasmonic nanobiosensor based on hairpin DNA for detection of trace oligonucleotides biomarker in cancers. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7(4):2459–2466
- Hu T et al (2016) Enzyme catalytic amplification of miRNA-155 detection with graphene quantum dot-based electrochemical biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron 77:451–456
- Hu Z et al (2017) Aptamer combined with fluorescent silica nanoparticles for detection of hepatoma cells. Nanoscale Res Lett 12(1):96–96
- Huertas CS, Domínguez-Zotes S, Lechuga LM (2017) Analysis of alternative splicing events for cancer diagnosis using a multiplexing nanophotonic biosensor. Sci Rep 7:41368
- Ibau C, Md Arshad MK, Gopinath SCB (2017) Current advances and future visions on bioelectronic immunosensing for prostate-specific antigen. Biosens Bioelectron 98:267–284
- Jin B et al (2014) Multi-nanomaterial electrochemical biosensor based on label-free graphene for detecting cancer biomarkers. Biosens Bioelectron 55(Supplement C):464–469
- Ki J et al (2017) Instantaneous pH-boosted functionalization of stellate gold nanoparticles for intracellular imaging of miRNA. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9:21
- Lee J-S et al (2015) Rapid and sensitive detection of lung cancer biomarker using nanoporous biosensor based on localized surface plasmon resonance coupled with interferometry. J Nanomater 2015:1
- Li B et al (2016) Two-stage cyclic enzymatic amplification method for ultrasensitive electrochemical assay of microRNA-21 in the blood serum of gastric cancer patients. Biosens Bioelectron 79:307–312
- Li Q et al (2017) High sensitivity surface plasmon resonance biosensor for detection of microRNA and small molecule based on graphene oxide-gold nanoparticles composites. Talanta 174:521–526
- Lian M et al (2017) A self-assembled peptide nanotube–chitosan composite as a novel platform for electrochemical cytosensing. Sensors Actuators B Chem 251:86–92
- Lin D et al (2014) Label-free blood plasma test based on surface-enhanced Raman scattering for tumor stages detection in nasopharyngeal cancer. Sci Rep 4:4751
- Lin D et al (2016) Diagnostic potential of polarized surface enhanced Raman spectroscopy technology for colorectal cancer detection. Opt Express 24(3):2222–2234

- Manikandan M et al (2014) Facile synthesis of gold nanohexagons on graphene templates in Raman spectroscopy for biosensing cancer and cancer stem cells. Biosens Bioelectron 55:180–186
- Marques RC et al (2018) Voltammetric immunosensor for the simultaneous analysis of the breast cancer biomarkers CA 15-3 and HER2-ECD. Sensors Actuators B Chem 255:918–925
- Martorella A, Robbins R (2007) Serum peptide profiling: identifying novel cancer biomarkers for early disease detection. Acta Biomed 78(Suppl 1):123–128
- Motaghi H, Mehrgardi MA, Bouvet P (2017) Carbon dots-AS1411 aptamer nanoconjugate for ultrasensitive spectrofluorometric detection of cancer cells. Sci Rep 7:10513
- Nekouian R, Khalife NJ, Salehi Z (2014) Anti human fibronectin–gold nanoparticle complex, a potential nanobiosensor tool for detection of fibronectin in ECM of cultured cells. Plasmonics 9(6):1417–1423
- Nur Topkaya S, Ozkan-Ariksoysal D (2016) Prostate cancer biomarker detection with carbon nanotubes modified screen printed electrodes. Electroanalysis 28(5):1077–1084
- Owen-Schaub LB et al (1998) Fas and Fas ligand interactions suppress melanoma lung metastasis. J Exp Med 188(9):1717–1723
- Pan LH et al (2017) An electrochemical biosensor to simultaneously detect VEGF and PSA for early prostate cancer diagnosis based on graphene oxide/ssDNA/PLLA nanoparticles. Biosens Bioelectron 89(Pt 1):598–605
- Parvanian S, Mostafavi SM, Aghashiri M (2017) Multifunctional nanoparticle developments in cancer diagnosis and treatment. Sens Bio-Sens Res 13(Supplement C):81–87
- Paul P et al (2018) Interplay between miRNAs and human diseases. J Cell Physiol 233(3):2007-2018
- Peng Y, Jiang J, Yu R (2014) A sensitive electrochemical biosensor for microRNA detection based on streptavidin–gold nanoparticles and enzymatic amplification. Anal Methods 6(9):2889–2893
- Qiu G-H et al (2017) A metal-organic framework based PCR-free biosensor for the detection of gastric cancer associated microRNAs. J Inorg Biochem 177:138–142
- Saeed AA et al (2017) DNA biosensors based on gold nanoparticles-modified graphene oxide for the detection of breast cancer biomarkers for early diagnosis. Bioelectrochemistry 118:91–99
- Selwyna PGC, Loganathan PR, Begam KH (2013) Development of electrochemical biosensor for breast cancer detection using gold nanoparticle doped CA 15-3 antibody and antigen interaction. In: Signal processing image processing & pattern recognition (ICSIPR), 2013 International Conference on. 2013. IEEE
- Sharma A et al (2013) Quantum dots self assembly based interface for blood cancer detection. Langmuir 29(27):8753–8762
- Soler M et al (2016) Label-free nanoplasmonic sensing of tumor-associate autoantibodies for early diagnosis of colorectal cancer. Anal Chim Acta 930:31–38
- Tezerjani MD et al (2016) A comparative investigation for prostate cancer detection using two electrochemical biosensors based on various nanomaterials and the linker of thioglycolic acid. J Electroanal Chem 778(Supplement C):23–31
- The Lancet Respiratory M Lung cancer diagnosis: when speed wins the day. Lancet Respir Med 3(3):171
- Tian L et al (2018) Gold nanoparticles superlattices assembly for electrochemical biosensor detection of microRNA-21. Biosens Bioelectron 99:564–570
- Tran H et al (2013) Label-free and reagentless electrochemical detection of microRNAs using a conducting polymer nanostructured by carbon nanotubes: application to prostate cancer biomarker miR-141. Biosens Bioelectron 49:164–169
- Triroj N et al (2011) Microfluidic chip-based nanoelectrode array as miniaturized biochemical sensing platform for prostate-specific antigen detection. Biosens Bioelectron 26(6):2927–2933
- Truong LTN, et al (2012), Sensitive labelles impedance immunosensor using gold nanoparticlesmodified of screen-printed carbon ink electrode for act-prostate specific antigen detection. In: 16th International Conference on Miniaturized Systems for Chemistry and Life Sciences, Okinawa, Japan
- Uliana CV et al (2018) Fully disposable microfluidic electrochemical device for detection of estrogen receptor alpha breast cancer biomarker. Biosens Bioelectron 99:156–162

- Valentini P et al (2013) Gold-nanoparticle-based colorimetric discrimination of cancer-related point mutations with picomolar sensitivity. ACS Nano 7(6):5530–5538
- Verma S et al (2017) Anti-IL8/AuNPs-rGO/ITO as an immunosensing platform for noninvasive electrochemical detection of oral cancer. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9(33):27462–27474
- Vural T et al (2017) Electrochemical immunoassay for detection of prostate specific antigen based on peptide nanotube-gold nanoparticle-polyaniline immobilized pencil graphite electrode. J Colloid Interface Sci 510:318–326
- Wang H-N, Vo-Dinh T (2009) Multiplex detection of breast cancer biomarkers using plasmonic molecular sentinel nanoprobes. Nanotechnology 20(6):065101
- Wang MC et al (1979) Purification of a human prostate specific antigen. Investig Urol 17(2):159-163
- Wang D et al (2015) Target protein induced cleavage of a specific peptide for prostate-specific antigen detection with positively charged gold nanoparticles as signal enhancer. Chem Commun (Camb) 51(52):10521–10523
- Wang K et al (2017a) A label-free and enzyme-free ratiometric fluorescence biosensor for sensitive detection of carcinoembryonic antigen based on target-aptamer complex recycling amplification. Sensors Actuators B Chem 253:893–899
- Wang X et al (2017b) Using reduced graphene oxide-Ca:CdSe nanocomposite to enhance photoelectrochemical activity of gold nanoparticles functionalized tungsten oxide for highly sensitive prostate specific antigen detection. Biosens Bioelectron 96:239–245
- Wang J et al (2018) FRET on lateral flow test strip to enhance sensitivity for detecting cancer biomarker. Talanta 176:444–449
- Wei Y et al (2017) Dual-responsive electrochemical immunosensor for prostate specific antigen detection based on Au-CoS/graphene and CeO2/ionic liquids doped with carboxymethyl chitosan complex. Biosens Bioelectron 94:141–147
- Wu Y et al (2014) A paper-based microfluidic electrochemical immunodevice integrated with amplification-by-polymerization for the ultrasensitive multiplexed detection of cancer biomarkers. Biosens Bioelectron 52:180–187
- Xia N et al (2013) Sandwich-type electrochemical biosensor for glycoproteins detection based on dual-amplification of boronic acid-gold nanoparticles and dopamine-gold nanoparticles. Biosens Bioelectron 43:155–159
- Xu J, Wei C (2017) The aptamer DNA-templated fluorescence silver nanoclusters: ATP detection and preliminary mechanism investigation. Biosens Bioelectron 87:422–427
- Xu J et al (2017) The exploration of peptide biomarkers in malignant pleural effusion of lung cancer using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Dis Markers 2017:9
- Yang J et al (2015) Electrochemical immunosensor for the prostate specific antigen detection based on carbon nanotube and gold nanoparticle amplification strategy. Microchim Acta 182(9):1855–1861
- Yang J et al (2016a) Identification of novel serum peptides biomarkers for female breast cancer patients in Western China. Proteomics 16(6):925–934
- Yang W et al (2016b) A new label-free fluorescent sensor for human immunodeficiency virus detection based on exonuclease III-assisted quadratic recycling amplification and DNA-scaffolded silver nanoclusters. Analyst 141(10):2998–3003
- Yang Y et al (2018) An ultrasensitive sandwich-type electrochemical immunosensor based on the signal amplification strategy of echinoidea-shaped Au@Ag-Cu2O nanoparticles for prostate specific antigen detection. Biosen Bioelectron 99(Supplement C):450–457
- Yuan J et al (2012) Detection of serum human epididymis secretory protein 4 in patients with ovarian cancer using a label-free biosensor based on localized surface plasmon resonance. Int J Nanomedicine 7:2921
- Yuan Y-H et al (2017) Simultaneously electrochemical detection of microRNAs based on multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles probe coupling with hybridization chain reaction. Biosens Bioelectron 97:325–331

- Zavari-Nematabad A et al (2017) Development of quantum-dot-encapsulated liposome-based optical nanobiosensor for detection of telomerase activity without target amplification. Anal Bioanal Chem 409(5):1301–1310
- Zhang X et al (2010) Lectin-based biosensor strategy for electrochemical assay of glycan expression on living cancer cells. Anal Chem 82(22):9455–9460
- Zhang Q et al (2017) Surface plasmon-enhanced fluorescence on au nanohole array for prostatespecific antigen detection. Int J Nanomedicine 12:2307
- Zhang Y et al (2018) Flexible nanohybrid microelectrode based on carbon fiber wrapped by gold nanoparticles decorated nitrogen doped carbon nanotube arrays: in situ electrochemical detection in live cancer cells. Biosens Bioelectron 100:453–461
- Zhao L et al (2016) Electrochemical lectin-based biosensor array for detection and discrimination of carcinoembryonic antigen using dual amplification of gold nanoparticles and horseradish peroxidase. Sensors Actuators B Chem 235:575–582
- Zheng XT, Li CM (2010) Single living cell detection of telomerase over-expression for cancer detection by an optical fiber nanobiosensor. Biosens Bioelectron 25(6):1548–1552

Chapter 3 Insights into Nanotools for Dental Interventions



Pooja Jain, Fahima Dilnawaz, and Zeenat Iqbal

Contents

3.1	Introdu	iction	54
	3.1.1	Dental Tissues or Tooth Anatomy	56
	3.1.2	Types of Nanotechnological Approaches.	57
3.2	Applic	ations of Nanotechnology in Dentistry	58
	3.2.1	Applications of Nanotechnology in Restorative Dentistry	58
	3.2.2	Application of Nanotools in Preventive Dentistry	62
	3.2.3	Applications of Nanotools in Operative Dentistry	64
	3.2.4	Applications of Nanotechnological Tools in Periodontal Therapy	69
3.3	Barrier	rs of Nanotechnology	72
3.4	Conclu	ision	74
Refe	rences.		74

Abstract Orodental afflictions although not life-threatening have recently been found to be clinically associated with a large variety of life style related diseases, adding to the disease burden and leading to poor health outcomes. The disease ramifications might lead to poor quality of life and often go unnoticed till exhibits severe symptoms and evidence of disease associations. Despite being a locoregional affliction, they do not remain restricted to the mouth cavity; rather they have negative effects on distant organs too. Henceforth the disease requires a thorough understanding, and the treatment modalities are devised in a manner to cater mild to severe status of orodental afflictions. Successful treatment of orodental afflictions requires the customized therapeutic approaches which can be borrowed from the nanotechnology. The advancement in nanotechnology and its ramification into

P. Jain \cdot Z. Iqbal (\boxtimes)

F. Dilnawaz

Laboratory of Nanomedicine, Institute of Life Sciences, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

Department of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmaceutical Education and Research (SPER), Jamia Hamdard, New Delhi, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_3

medicinal and allied fields has brought remarkable changes in the field of dentistry. Additionally, the forays into nanomaterial sciences, biotechnology, and maneuvering through dental nanorobotics have further added impetus to contemporary dental practices. Often the dental infections are progressive in nature and need an umbrella approach for treatment to deliver comprehensive oral hygiene and health. Nanotechnology tools with their aesthetic approach have recently emerged as a favored tool for both practitioners and patients. The treatment protocols could include controlled oral analgesia, dentin replacement therapy, as well as cure for dental hypersensitivity. Interesting development of mechanical dentifrobots for tooth repairing via covalently bonded diamondized enamel ensures robust orodontal environment. Succinctly put, nanotools have opened up avenues in the diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of dental diseases. The development of nanotools allows perfect therapeutic approach which has led to nearly seamless oral health, possibly due to the use of nanomaterials, tissue engineering, nanocomposites, and nanorobots. Nanotools have elicited great impact on restorative dentistry, pharmacotherapeutics, and diagnostic techniques and offers better ways toward maintaining perfect oral health. This chapter focuses on a review of various approaches of nanotechnology which has contributed to the advancements in dentistry. It also focuses on advent of other nanotools which will cater to a variety of dental ailments associated with bony as well as soft tissue defects. It is realized that the nanotechnology offers a perfect tool to treat a multitude of orodental infections.

Keywords Bone grafts · Laser therapy · Nanoanesthesia: Nanofibers · Nanocomposites · Nanodentistry · Nanotechnology · Orodental infections · Orthodontics · Periodontics

3.1 Introduction

The global prevalence of orodental infections has risen enormously in the last few decades leading to reported cases of about 3.5 billion, majorly affecting the population of lower social strata (Dye 2017). Although it is rarely associated with fatal disease outcomes, recent clinical findings have established its foray into systemic complications (Bošnjak et al. 2001). These findings are reasons enough to attract the attention of current researchers who are focusing on oral diseases, customizing their treatment modalities, and progressively designing the advanced drug delivery systems.

Orodental afflictions broadly include the various diseases which attack the gingival and subgingival tissue as well as the dental adnexa. The various dental infections and their progressions can be summarized with the help of Fig. 3.1.

Amelioration of such diseases requires customized treatment which has recently borrowed from the discoveries of nanotechnology armamentarium. The treatment premise primarily depends on the disease stage and types of dental affliction and the

PROGRESSION OF DENTAL AFFLICTIONS





The dental afflictions progresses in two ways: In one way, it starts from gingivitis, early periodontitis, then moderate periodontitis, and ultimately severe periodontitis. In another way, it begins with enamel caries, dental caries, then pulpitis, and ultimately advanced stage periodontitis

intervention required. Intrapocket infections like periodontitis with its specific stages and treatment challenges constitute the largest umbrella of diseases in this area. Up till now dental treatments are challenging as people are psychophobic toward dentistry. On account of this fear, they avoid the dental treatment as they are scared for injection and drills that are used in dental clinics. Also it is a fact that conventional methods of root planning, scaling, and plaque removal have limited success and poor patient compliance because of length of procedure and high treatment costs. To ease the discomfort in recent times, dentistry offers period of dynamic changes and growth with the use of ozone in dental treatment. Through ozone therapy, the pain is eradicated significantly. Ozone also stimulates remineralization in case of caries-affected teeth providing potentiality for an atraumatic, biologically based treatment for conditions encountered in dental practice (Gupta and Mansi 2012; Moezizadeh 2013).
The integration of nanotechnology in "dental interventions" ever since its existence has immensely contributed to the advancements in diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of various dental ailments (Uysal et al. 2009). The potential applications of nanotools include an umbrella of dental techniques focused at dentition renaturalization, local anesthesia, orthodontic realignments, permanent hypersensitivity cure, covalently bonded diamondized enamel, oral health maintenance with the help of mechanical dentifrobots, and artificial bone and teeth creation (Rybachuk et al. 2009). There is an increase in opinion that if nanotools are applied to dentistry, it will bring significant advances in the diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of dental disease in numerous ways.

3.1.1 Dental Tissues or Tooth Anatomy

The human teeth are composed of four types of tissues, namely, enamel, dentin, cementum, and pulp. Out of the four, pulp is the only soft, noncalcified connective tissue and contains nerves and blood vessels. And the other three are the hard tissues (Berkovitz et al. 1978).

Enamel is the hard substance or the calcified tissue and covers the dentin in the crown. It is the hardest substance/tissue of human body and composed of 96% inorganic minerals, 1% organic materials, and 3% water. Calcium and phosphorus (as hydroxyapatite) are the two main inorganic constituents. It is devoid of living cells and blood supply and thereby lacks the potential of autoregeneration (Türp and Alt 1998).

Dentin is present in between the enamel and cementum. Dentin is porous in nature and constitutes to the largest portion of tooth. Dentin also consists of 70% inorganic matter and 30% organic matter and water. It is a living tissue and is perforated with microscopic tubules that run between the cement–enamel junction and the pulp. If the enamel gets degraded from the surface, then these tubules start stimulating the sensations of heat and cold thereby generating the sensitivity (Black 1897).

Cementum is the hard bone-like connective tissues, covers the root of tooth, and provides the attachment to periodontal ligament. It is composed of approximately 55% organic material and 45% inorganic material. The major components of inorganic material are the calcium salts. The area where the cementum joins the enamel is called as the cement–enamel junction, and such areas are very sensitive to the external stimuli such as heat and cold (Türp and Alt 1998).

Dental pulp is the soft tissue that develops from the connective tissues of dental papilla and contains nerves and blood vessels. Beneath the crown, the chamber containing pulp is called the pulp chamber and the pulp is called as coronal pulp, whereas inside the root, the pulp is called as radicular pulp. The main function of the pulp is the formation and nourishment of the dentin. It also provides sensation to the

tooth and shows irritation response in terms of inflammation. The nerves and blood vessels pass through the end of radicular pulp to reach the interior of the tooth (Black 1897).

3.1.2 Types of Nanotechnological Approaches

The main approaches which could help in tangible use of nanotools in practice are as follows:

- (i) Bottom-up approach; where it involves arrangement of smaller components into complex structures. It focuses on the use of micron-sized nanorobots which could be manipulated for a variety of hands on jobs like instilling local anesthesia, polishing the enamel surface with diamondized covalent bonding, curing of teeth hypersensitivity, dental durability and cosmetic appearance, and use of photosensitizers like quantum dots for hitting the specific targets (Kumar and Vijayalakshmi 2006).
- (ii) Top-down approach: where it embraces development of nanostructures of smaller dimensions using larger parts. It primarily involves the use of nanosolutions, nanoneedles, nanofillers, nanocomposites, and bone replacement materials (Sasalawad et al. 2014).

AdperTM single bond plus is the example of dentin adhesive nanosolution with single step application procedure (Perdigao 2007). Suture needles such as Sandvik Bioline RK 91TM needles are developed to a carry nanosized stainless steel crystals to minimize the tissue damage (Suresh et al. 2014). The top-down approach of nanotechnology has application in salivary diagnostics as well, where the saliva can be analyzed by the biochemical sensors. Oral fluid nanosensor test (OFNASET) is the one such automated and integrated system to detect the targeted protein and nucleic acid in saliva (Terry 2004; Wong 2006).

Although it is a futuristic and promising tool in dental practice, patient acceptability and desired success is still elusive to nanotools in dentistry. However, it is marred with a set of unique tasks which encompass engineering, biological, as well as ethical and social issues. The manufacturing and engineering challenge lies in the lack of mass production, precise positioning and assembly of molecular scaling part, manipulating, and coordinating activities of large numbers of independent microscale robots. Simultaneously biological challenges are there for the development of biofriendly nanomaterial that would ensure compatibility with all intricacies of the human body. Although nanotechnology would possess tremendous potential, the social issues of ethics, public acceptance, regulation, and human safety needs to be addressed as it carries a significant potential for misuse and abuse on such a scale that has never seen before. In this review, current status of nanotools in dentistry has been discussed that provides an insight into its future along with the ethical and safety concerns related to it.

3.2 Applications of Nanotechnology in Dentistry

As the nanotechnology includes bottom-up approach and top-down approach, depending upon these approaches, various applications of nanotechnology are explained in the individual sections and summarized in Fig. 3.2.

3.2.1 Applications of Nanotechnology in Restorative Dentistry

Emergence of nanodentistry and its various uses aid in the maintenance of affected oral health through the use of various nanomaterials, tissue engineering, nanotools, and nanorobotics that could lead to achieve a near to perfect oral health. In the following sections, using different nanodevices pertaining to the oral health has been discussed.



Fig. 3.2 Various applications of nanotechnology in dentistry

Various application of nanotechnology are categorized into restorative dentistry, operative dentistry, preventive dentistry, and periodontal therapy

Nanoanesthesia for Surgical Intervention

The major deterrent for a dental patient is the assumption of the ensuing pain which he/she will face on a visit to the dentist, and therefore in dental practice, the most common procedure is the administration of oral anesthesia. The colloidal suspension of oral nanoanesthesia is comprised of millions of active analgesic nanorobotic particles and administered to the patient's gingiva. After that it comes in contact with the crown or mucosa and the ambulating nanorobots reach the dentin by migrating painlessly through the thick layer of loose tissue at the cement-dentinal junction. These nanorobots then enter the dentinal tubules holes (~1 to 4 microns in diameter) and progress toward the pulp guided by a combination of chemical gradients, temperature difference, as well as positional navigation under the control of the onboard nanocomputer as directed by the dentist. The branching pattern of tubules sometimes gives a significant challenge to navigation. The robotic movements are successful due to the constant motion of natural cells around and inside the teeth. Once it is successfully installed and it has established control over the nerve impulse traffic, the analgesic dental nanorobots can be commanded by the dentist to shutdown the sensitivity for any particular tooth that needs treatment. After the hand held controller, the targeted tooth become numb and treatment procedure is followed. The nanorobot is aspired out after completion of the oral procedure, and the dentist restores all the sensation (Schleyer 2000).

These nanorobotic analgesics provide great patient comfort, reduced anxiety, specific selectivity, as well as controllability to avoid most side effects and complications. Also, it is envisioned that nanorobots will assist dentists in precisely operating the complex cases of microscopic level. And in the future, it will be a prime tool for dentists to practice conventional as well as four-handed dentistry.

Tooth Repairs

Most common dental problem is dental caries, which occurs in all age groups and adversely affects an individual's daily life seriously. The dental caries are slowly progressive and infectious disease that results in loss of dental hard tissue. In conventional treatment the caries are mechanically excavated and then filled up with resins or metals comprising inorganic-base cements as glues. Ideal filling materials are usually similar to the structure and composition of natural tooth (John 2007). The dental hard tissue is composed of inorganic hydroxyapatite (HA) crystal and organic matrix; by the process of biomineralization the hydroxyapatite crystal is orderly oriented. In routine clinical treatments, microleakage occurs with the secondary caries due to the discrepancy in physicochemical property between filled materials and tooth.

Various synthetic materials are available to restore the dental caries. Hydroxyapatite crystal, minerals like amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP), casein protein (CPP) compounds, nanobioactive glass; and the stimulated body fluid could reverse the early caries lesion in dentin or enamel surface (Yamagishi et al. 2005; Andersson et al. 2007; Vollenweider et al. 2007). Guided tissue remineralization can also be imposed for partially demineralized human dentin where dentin collagen could guide the phase transition of nano-ACP into HA (Tay and Pashley 2008).

With the help of nanotechnology, molecular biomimetics materials were fabricated. These biomimetics materials are based on molecular recognition between genetically engineered peptides for inorganics (GEPIs) and inorganic crystal. Hybrid of GEPI and HA crystal can be used in the assembly of functional nanostructures using their recognition properties to repair dental hard tissue in the future (Zhou et al. 2008).

With the availability of tooth repair materials, dental caries is not a difficult problem to handle, and with the help of nanomaterials, partial to complete restoration is possible and this serves as boon for dental cosmetics industry.

Orthodontic Treatment

In orthodontic treatment sliding a tooth along the arch wire involves more frictional force for its movement. Applying excessive orthodontic force might cause loss of anchorage and root resorption. Redlich et al. (2008) reported the reduction of friction by coating inorganic fullerene like tungsten disulfide nanoparticles (IF-WS2) nanosolution. IF-WS2 is known for their excellent dry lubrication properties. The NP-coated wires offer better friction reduction opportunity up to 54% during the tooth movement. Polymer nanocomposites are used as orthodontic adhesives for increasing mechanical properties, tensile, comprehensive strength, and resistance to fracture. These nanocomposites illustrate excellent optical properties, superior polish ability, and easy handling. These nanofiller nanocomposites can decrease the surface roughness of the orthodontic adhesives. As, the oral cavity is an open growth system, where attachment and colonization of bacteria takes place and it gradually shifts towards disease. The rough surface promotes plaque formation and maturation and strong binding. Therefore decrease in roughness by nanocomposites can dramatically enable very less bacterial accumulation (Quirynen and Bollen 1995; Lee et al. 2004). Nanoinomers are based on resin-modified monomers of acrylic and itaconic acid copolymers which polymerizes via free radical addition and curing by light activation (Korkmaz et al. 2010). The nanocomposites, i.e., Filtek Supreme Plus Universal, and nanoionomers like Ketac TM N100 Light Curing are suitable for bonding as they fulfill better clinical acceptability shear bond strength (SBS) in comparison to the conventional light-cured orthodontic bonding adhesive (Transbond XT, 3 M Unitek) (Uysal et al. 2009). In another study, Bishara et al. compared the shear bond strength between Grandio (Voco, Germany) and Transbond XT, 3 M Unitek, while testing the bonding of the orthodontic brackets. It was found that the nanofilled composites demonstrated better bonding ability, nice flowability, and ready attachability in orthodontic bracket base (Bishara et al. 2007). Over the past decade there has been an increased demand in manufacturing aesthetic orthodontic wires that would complement tooth colored brackets. Responsive polymer materials are those polymers that can adapt to surrounding environments, regulate transport of ions and molecules, change wettability and adhesion of different species on external stimuli, or convert chemical and biochemical signals into optical, electrical, thermal, and mechanical signals and vice versa (Stuart et al. 2010). The sharp memory polymers can memorize a macroscopic or equilibrium shape and then be manipulated and fixed to a temporary or dormant shape under specific conditions of temperature and stress. At later phase they can relax to original, stressfree condition under thermal, electrical, or environmental condition which is associated with elastic deformation stored during prior manipulation toward its equilibrium shape accompanied by an adequate and prescribed force. The sharp memory polymers have the ability to meet the unattainable needs of current orthodontic materials which will further comfort the procedure of orthodontist. Once placed inside the mouth, these polymers can be activated by body temperature or light and enable the tooth movement and provide lighter more constant forces giving less pain to patients. The sharp memory polymeric materials are colorless and stain resistant which give aesthetically appealing appliance during treatment. Moreover the high percent of elongation of sharp memory polymers provides continuous force for a long range of tooth movement hence less number of visits to patients (Redlich et al. 2008). Using these properties and better features, aesthetic nanocomposite wires can be formed for orthodontic purpose (Meng and Hu 2009; Leng et al. 2011).

These findings suggest that in the future, orthodontic nanorobot-based treatment could directly manipulate the periodontal tissues, allowing rapid and painless tooth straightening, rotating, and vertical repositioning within minutes to hours. With this method, the need for the cumbersome and dreaded braces could be eliminated.

Diagnosis of Oral Cancer

The noticeable contribution from nanotechnology in the field of dentistry is mostly observed in the diagnosis of oral cancer. Obtaining the image plays a critical role in designing of treatment plan and overall cancer management. For getting basic information regarding tumor location, size, and spread, standard structural imaging techniques such as computer tomography (CT), molecular resonance imaging (MRI), and ultrasound are used. However, these imaging techniques become less reliable to distinguish between benign and metastatic tumor where the tumor size is smaller than 5 mm (Popovtzer et al. 2008; Reuveni et al. 2011). Recently gold nanoparticle (AuNP)-based CT imaging have been shown progress. For specificity these gold nanoparticles can be functionalized with ligands to target the receptors of overex-pressed tumors (Hainfeld et al. 2004; Marega et al. 2012).

One of the most common types of cancer in oral oncology is the oral squamous cell carcinoma, representing ~6% of all cases of cancers. Selective targeting of oral squamous cell carcinoma is an enduring problem because of the lack of specificity of current drugs. Popovtzer et al. (2008) studied the molecular CT imaging of oral cancer with the targeted gold nanoparticles. They reported that the attenuation coefficient is five times higher than the untargeted cells of oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Yang et al. (2011) conjugated cell-penetrating peptides to near-infrared quantum dots for cancer diagnostics. In their pioneering approach, the group labeled oral squamous cell carcinoma cells with quantum dots and conjugates by endocytosis for visual in vivo imaging on a mouse model.

In another study, Bhirde et al. (2009) demonstrate superior efficacy of single wall carbon nanotube bioconjugate, over nontargeted bioconjugates. The three colors, two-photon intravital video imaging demonstrated administration of epidermal growth factor (EGF) targeted single wall carbon nanotube quantum dot in live mice which was selectively taken up by head and neck squamous carcinoma cell (HNSCC) tumors, whereas the nontargeted single wall carbon nanotube quantum was cleared from the tumor region in less than 20 min. Regression in tumor growth was fast in mice treated with single wall carbon nanotube–cisplatin–EGF compared to nontargeted single wall carbon nanotube–cisplatin.

The above studies suggest that the nanotechnology is not only restricted to the tooth restoration, rather it has the potential in the imaging of oral cancer as well. Also imaging with the nanotechnology can help to diagnose and combat the oral cancers during initial stages.

3.2.2 Application of Nanotools in Preventive Dentistry

The aim of modern dentistry is prevent the disease progression before it enters in the noncontrollable state. The prevention of tooth decay and treatment of lesions and cavities are the prime concerns; thereby treating dental diseases with the help of nanotools has been of great interest (Hannig and Hannig 2010). Application of nanotools for preventive dentistry can be stretched from dentin hypersensitivity to drug delivery and tissue engineering.

Dentin Hypersensitivity

Dentin is a yellow-hued calcified tissue and the major components of teeth usually covered by enamel on the crown and cementum on the root that surrounds the entire pulp. It has elastic-like properties and serves as the support for enamel. Due to its soft nature, it decays rapidly and form cavities when not treated properly. The dentin hypersensitivity occurs when the protective layers are removed causing pain (Addy and Urquhart 1992). The protective layer gets lost due to the response to chemical, thermal, or osmotic stimuli or any other form of dental defect or pathology. Apart from that, improper tooth brushing, gingival recession, and periodontal also expose the root surfaces, and the thin covering cementum layer (approximately 20–50 μ m) is easily lost. In all these situations, the sensitive dentin tissues are exposed which has numerous tubules that in turn changes the fluid pressure hydrodynamics of the fluid inside the dentinal tubules and is subjected to many external sources of irritation. Liu et al. (2007) explored the possibility of nanoscale gold particle in the

occlusion of dentinal tubules that would reduce movement of dentinal fluid or dentin permeability should decrease sensitivity. The gold nanoparticles (GNPs) possess smaller dimension than dentinal tubules, so they can easily enter the tubules without much resistance. Also the GNPs have large absorption coefficients (Taton et al. 2000; Liu et al. 2007). The dentinal tubules were occluded with GNPs by adsorbing onto the inner dentinal tubule walls, followed by a silver staining to reduce the dentin sensitivity. In another process, highly concentrated GNPs are brushed into the opened ends of the dentinal tubules and after laser irradiation induced photofusion of GNPs via photothermal conversion (Liu et al. 2007). Using biological materials' induction of dental nanorobots offers a speedy cure to dentin hypersensitivity by precisely occluding the tubules in minutes (Schleyer 2000).Based on the above discussion, it can be concluded that owing to the small size, the nanoparticles have the capacity to enter the dentinal tubules and treat the dentin hypersensitivity. Although nanoformulation-based products are not yet available in the market for dentin hypersensitivity, in the near future, this potential can be commercialized.

Drug Delivery and Tissue Engineering

Tissue engineering has become one of the promising approaches for delivering of therapeutically relevant molecules to treat the damaged tissues. These molecules can be effectively loaded in large quantities in scaffolds or nanoparticles for sustained and controlled release. The nanochemistry of the scaffold can carry signaling molecule for homing and the therapeutic molecule for sustained release to the surrounding tissues for regulation of cellular function (Treuel et al. 2013; Kettler et al. 2014). Various polymeric materials or inorganics and their hybrids have been developed for the delivery of molecules. In case of treatment of periodontal disease, two methods are used: antibacterial process to avoid progression of the disease and the regenerative therapy which can be able to regenerate the damaged tissue (Pragati et al. 2009). For the regenerative treatment, bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs) are used as they are involved in osteogenic differentiation of stem cells are for the regeneration of periodontal ligament (PDL), cementum and alveolar bone (Giannobile et al. 1998; Ripamonti et al. 2001; Wikesjö et al. 2004). Similarly in case of dental pulp infection, successful regeneration of odontoblasts, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and even neurons is greatly needed to restore pulp tissue. In the regeneration process, different growth factors such as transforming growth factor (TGF-\beta1), bone morphogenic protein (BMP), and platelet-derived growth factor can be either used alone or in combination. For periodontal regeneration, PLGA nanoparticles were developed which can encapsulate minocycline for periodontal infections in a sustained manner for several weeks impacting significant antibacterial effect compared to native (Kashi et al. 2012).

Therefore it can be concluded that nanotechnology can play a major role in the development of cost-effective therapies for drug delivery and in situ tissue regeneration.

3.2.3 Applications of Nanotools in Operative Dentistry

Operative dentistry can be defined as the branch of dentistry which deals with the diagnosis and treatment of tooth defects which do not require full restoration. Thereby operative dentistry is of prime importance for enhancing the dental health. Employment of nanotechnology for operative dentistry is the budding field wherein various nanotools can be explored. Also various commercial preparations of the dental materials are available and are summarized in Table 3.1. In general, up till now nanotools in the form of nanocomposites, antimicrobial agents, root-end seal-ants, and dental biofilm penetrators have been instigated.

Nanocomposites

Dental composites are the solid materials composed of synthetic matrix, inorganic fillers, initiators, activators, and coupling agents. The activator promotes the light-initiated polymerization of the organic matrix to generate cross-linked polymer structure, and coupling agents mainly with silane groups ensure the bonding of nanofillers to the polymer matrix.

The most commonly used organic matrix in the commercial dental composites is Bis-GMA monomer. As high viscosity-related problems are associated with the Bis-GMA, it must be diluted with other fluid monomers to attain the desired viscosity for dental composites. Other base monomers used in manufacturing of commercial composites are uretane dimethacrylate (UDMA), triethyleneglycol dimethacrylate (TEGDMA), ethoxylated bisphenol-A-dimethacrylate (Bis-EMA), urethane tetramethacrylate (UTMA), bis(methacryloyloxymethyl) tricyclodecane, and decanediol dimethacrylate (D3MA) (Ferracane 1995).

Dental approach	Marketed preparations
Orthodontic materials	Ketac TM N100 Light Curing,
	Filtek Supreme Plus Universal,
	Grandio (Voco, Germany),
	Transbond XT; 3 M Unitek,
	Adper [™] single bond plus,
	Sandvik Bioline RK 91™
Nanocomposites	Filtek Supreme (3 M ESPE, St. Paul, MN, USA),
	Premise (Kerr/Sybron, Orange,CA, USA)
	Nano-DCPA whiskers,
	TTCP-whiskers,
	Polymer kaolinite
Root-end sealant	Endo Sequence BC sealer,
	Gutta-Flow Sealer
Plasma-based nanotools	MicroPlaSter
Periodontal bone grafts and bone	Ostim (Osartis GmdH, Germany),
replacement material	NanOSST(Angstrom, Medica, USA), Vitoss
	(Orthovita Inc., USA)

Table 3.1 Various marketed preparations of dental materials

When the inorganic phase of dental composite is nanosized, it becomes nanocomposites. Nanofillers in the nanocomposites are added either in dispersed form or in cluster form. Due to their smaller size dimension, the nanofillers are invisible and are capable to improve the optical property (Mitra et al. 2003). Owing to their small particle size, nanofillers are capable to increase the overall filler levels. Also the physical properties of nanocomposites can be improved by increasing and decreasing the filler level and resin content, respectively.

In dental composites, good mechanical properties can be obtained by strong covalent interaction between the fillers and organic matrix. Coating of fillers with silane coupling agent assures the bonding between the two phases, i.e., matrix and fillers. 3-Methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane.

(MPTS) is a typical example of coupling agent. One end of this molecule can be bonded to the hydroxyl groups of silica particles and the other end copolymerize into the polymer matrix.

Various nanocomposites are available in the market. Filtek Supreme (3 M ESPE, St. Paul, MN, USA) is a dental nanocomposite based on nanomers and nanoclusters. Nanomers are the uniformly dispersed, nonaggregated, and nonaglomerated silica particles of 20–70 nm particle size. In the Filtek Supreme, filler content is about 58–60% by volume and 78.5% by weight (Mitra et al. 2003).

Premise (Kerr/Sybron, Orange, CA, USA) is another dental nanocomposite, composed of three different types of filler components such as nonagglomerated silica nanoparticles, prepolymerized fillers (PPF), and barium glass fillers. The combination allows the filler loading up to 69% by volume and 84% by weight (Bauer et al. 2000).

Dental nanocomposites can be mechanically strengthened by incorporation of reinforced fillers such as nanofibers (Tian et al. 2007), short E-glass fibers (Garoushi et al. 2008), and TiO2 nanoparticles (Xia et al. 2008). Dental nanocomposite of ion-releasing properties have been developed to increase the mineral content and to control the dental caries. Nanocomposites such as nano-DCPA whiskers (Xu et al. 2007) or TTCP-whiskers (Xu et al. 2009) and polymer kaolinite (Wang et al. 2007) release calcium, phosphorus, and fluorides, respectively, thereby increasing the mineralization of tooth and control the caries development. It has been proven that the significant improvement in the field of dental materials has been majorly contributed by the development of dental nanocomposites.

Potential of nanotechnology has been extended to the characterization of dental materials as well. Various techniques such as atomic force microscopy, scanning electron microscopy, X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, and Piezoresponse force microscopy (PFM) have been successfully utilized to study the surface characteristics of dental nanocomposites (Sharma et al. 2010; Khanal et al. 2015; Salerno and Diaspro 2015). Figure 3.3 enlists the various techniques for the nanoscale characterization of the dental materials.

Nano-characterizati	on of dental materials
Atomic force microscopy (AFM)	Optical profilometry
Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)	X-ray diffraction spectroscopy
Scanning tunneling microscopy (STM)	Fourier-transformed infrared spectroscopy (FTIR)
X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy	Raman scattering
Dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA)	Energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS)
Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)	Total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF)
Optical microscope mapping	High speed-AFM
Lorentz contact resonance spectroscopy	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET)
Piezoresponse force microscopy (PFM)	Scanning ion conductance microscopy (SICM)
Scanning probe microscopy (SPM)	Live-cell interferometry (LCI)

Fig. 3.3 Nanocharacterization techniques of dental materials

Various techniques to characterize the surface morphology and to study the surface behavior of dental materials are enlisted

Nanoparticles as Antimicrobial Agent

The plethora of work in the field of design and development of nanoparticles has led to an enormous use of these systems for treatment of versatile kinds of diseases including dental infections and other dental afflictions. Such usage of nanoparticles is akin to the Paul Ehrlich's concept of "magic bullet" where the systems invariably engage with the target and yield positive therapeutic outcomes. Owing to the polycationic or anionic nature and large surface area with charge density, nanoparticles interact effectively with the bacterial cell and result in higher antibacterial activity (Allaker 2010). Chitosan nanoparticles being antimicrobial and biocompatible in nature have been exploited in the treatment of bacterial biofilm and wound healing (Raafat and Sahl 2009; Kong et al. 2010). Chitosan nanoparticles are less cytotoxic in nature and can be used as drug delivery carriers in various systemic diseases. They provide a remarkable improvement in root canal disinfection by selectively removing the residual adherent and nonadherent bacteria also increasing the flux of antimicrobial agent from the root canal sealant (Shrestha et al. 2009). The nanosize hydroxyapatite particles having remineralization capacity also have been shown to inhibit the formation of oral biofilm (Venegas et al. 2006). Various oral healthcare products such as toothpastes and mouth rinses containing nanohydroxyapatite have been developed. And it has been suggested that their efficacy is related to the size specific effects of nanohydroxyapatite (Reynolds et al. 2003; Rahiotis et al. 2008).

Also nanotechnology is gaining tremendous popularity in the present world due to its capability of modulating metals into nanosize, which enormously modulates the physicochemical and optical properties of metals. Silver nanoparticle which is the derived form of metallic silver is a good example of antimicrobial agent. Also, as the bacterial resistance toward the antibiotics is increasing day by day, then in such cases, the use of silver nanoparticle can be an alternative. Various medical applications of silver nanoparticles are available as silver-based dressings, silver nanoparticles against the bacterial strain of *S. mutans*, which is a major causation of dental caries, was compared. The studies revealed higher antimicrobial effects against *S. mutans* of silver nanoparticles at lower concentrations than gold or zinc (Hernández-Sierra et al. 2008). Also it is concluded that with size reduction, contact surface increases, which is important for the broad-spectrum antimicrobial effect of silver. The low concentration of silver can avoid the teeth staining. In this manner silver nanoparticles can be a powerful approach for treatment of dental caries.

Nanotools as Root-End Sealant

With the enhancement of nanotechnology, the quality of dental biomaterial has also improved. Nanotechnology manufactures materials with better properties or modulating the properties of existing materials. Root-end sealants play the important role as pulp filling material in a carious primary tooth. Also the nanomaterial enhanced retrofill polymers (NERPs) impart superior strength and adaptability to the tooth surface. In the study of extracted tooth model, the results showed that NERP materials reduce the microleakage and hence have the ability to seal effectively. Bioaggregate white nanoparticles are a novel type of ceramic cement primarily which consists of calcium silicate, calcium hydroxide, and hydroxyapatite (Yuan et al. 2010). Recently, Endo Sequence BC sealer which is a bioceramic-based nanomaterial has been developed. It mainly consists of calcium silicate, calcium hydroxide, calcium phosphate, zirconia, and a thickening agent. Handling and physical properties of the nanoparticles have been improved. During the root canal treatment, hydration reaction occurs with the formation of calcium silicate and hydroxyapatite. Availability of water is the key factor for hydration reaction and setting time in overly dried canals. Nanosized particles assure delivery of capillary needle of size from 0.012 to adopt into the irregular dentin surfaces. Within few hours, it sets hard and provides excellent seal with dimensional stability. This form of hydroxyapatite is bioactive and biocompatible. Its high alkaline pH, i.e., 12.8, provides additional antimicrobial properties as well. Similarly Gutta-Flow Sealer is an example of root-end sealant which consists of silicon, gutta-percha powder, and silver nanoparticles (Koch and Brave 2009). This nanosealer sets within half an hour and has good biocompatibility and dimensional stability. It is reported that this material can provide better bacterial penetration resistance and enhance the sealing capability. Also from the infection reference, antimicrobial activity of root-end sealants can be a synergistic effect. Recently antibacterial nanoparticle, i.e., quaternary ammonium polyethyleneimine (QPEI), was incorporated into already existing sealers like AH plus, Epiphany and Guttaflow. Results suggest prolonged antibacterial activity without compromising the mechanical properties. In order to obtain antibacterial effect in endodontic sealers, 0–2% nanoparticles of QPEI were incorporated into the marketed sealers. The obtained product was very stable and remains biocompatible; however the antibacterial effect was excellent (Abramovitz et al. 2012).

The above studies suggest that the nanosize-based root-end sealants are better in strength and durability than the other root-filled materials. Also with the nanobased root-end sealants, antibacterial effect can be obtained, and this will further aid to the root canal treatment.

Nanotools for Dental Biofilms

Nanotechnology tools help to study the interspecies interaction involved in the development of biofilm and can be used to understand the demineralization/remineralization process in development of dental caries. For example, atomic force microscope can be used to detect bacterial plaque-generated demineralization at an ultrasensitive level.¹⁶O/¹⁸O reverse proteolytic labeling is another application of nanotechnology used to determine the influence of bacterial culture on the cell envelope proteome of Porphyromonas gingivalis which is responsible for periodontitis (Ang et al. 2008). Nanotechnology also makes it possible to detect both cultivable and non-cultivable bacteria and can selectively and preferentially remove cariogenic bacteria without disturbing the normal oral flora. Similarly plaque acidity, which is a good marker of tooth demineralization, can be monitored using a microscale planar pH sensor. New silver-based nanotechnology has been proven to be active against biofilms. The silver has high affinity for negatively charged side groups like sulphydryl, carboxyl and phosphate moieties of bacterial cell wall. Silver selectively binds to these moieties and arrests the bacterial cell wall synthesis, protein function, membrane transport, electron transport, and other physiological cell functions. It is effective against biofilm-associated pathogens including E. coli, S. pneumoniae, S. aureous, and A.niger (Bhardwaj et al. 2009). For preventing cell growth in certain bacteria, as little as one part per billion of silver may be effective (Gibbins 2003). The various aspects of nanotechnology in oral biofilm have led us to visualize the smart mouthwash comprises of nanomachines which will selectively allow the nonpathogenic flora of mouth to flourish in healthy environment and simultaneously inhibits the pathogenic ones, thereby increasing the oral health of human beings.

3.2.4 Applications of Nanotechnological Tools in Periodontal Therapy

Periodontal disease is a complex disease involving the destruction of tooth supporting materials and alveolar bone loss (Verma et al. 2010). Thus the ultimate goal of therapy is to restore the tissue destruction by repair and regeneration. Similar to the other branches of dentistry such as preventive, restorative, and operative, periodontics is also impacted by the advances of nanotechnology. Utilization of nanotechnology or nanotools for periodontal therapy has led to the development of better imaging and drug delivery alternatives and mainly includes the laser plasma-based nanotools, nanobone fibers, periodontal bone grafts, and nanomaterials for periodontal drug delivery.

Laser Therapy and Plasma-Based Nanotools

Lasers in the range of middle- and far-infrared regions allow their successful use in dentistry for hard and soft tissue procedures, because of its high sensitivity and the lack of the associated risks of ionizing radiation (Jha et al. 2017). For periodontal applications, lasers have been explored in various procedures such as soft tissue extraction, calculus removal, bacterial reduction, incision and ablation, biostimulation, decontamination of root and implant surface, and bone removal. Laser wavelength like Er:YAG, Er, and Cr:YSGG are greatly absorbed by hydroxyapatite and can be utilized for bone removal (Romanos 2015).

Laser therapy (diode and Nd:YAG lasers) can be of great help in treating noninvasive problems like gingival hyperpigmentation and also revealed that it could easily replace the need for analgesics (Shankar et al. 2013). Low-temperature plasma has a promising usage in the field of dentistry and can be effectively used to sanitize the gingival crevices and periodontal pockets (Chen Fa-Ming et al. 2009). This type of treatment alleviates the fear of dental visits which is called as odontophobia and can help in the treatment of dental infections in children and adults as well.

Plasma devices could be highly effective in inhibiting bacterial growth significantly in the root canal and consequently lead to complete sterilization during dental treatments (Liang et al. 2015). A significant advantage of plasma is amenability to both wet and dry environments, and henceforth, presence of blood, gingival crevicular fluid, and saliva does not compromise its efficacy (Jha et al. 2017). They can regenerate and differentiate periodontal stem cells and thus show potential as a future dental therapy, and they facilitate successful gingival treatments such as that for gummy smile, resulting in the more rapid generation of various dental-related cells (e.g., fibroblasts and collagen) with the least amount of postoperative pain to the patient (Miletić et al. 2013). Plasma is available in various types like dielectric barrier discharge, plasma jet, plasma torch, and barrier coronal discharge. Research is being done in the research centers and medical industry with advent of new devices for fast and easy treatment. In medical field, argon plasma torch, i.e., MicroPlaSter, has been introduced for a randomized controlled trial for patients with chronic infected wounds with well-tolerated healing results. Summarily, plasma-aided dental devices that are futuristic in its approach may replace exciting technologies and emerge as a future nonsurgical, noninvasive treatment modality, especially in periodontal dentistry.

Nanobone Fibers

Nanofibers are the preferred reinforced constituent of dental nanocomposites. In order to enhance the mechanical strength of nanocomposite, nanofibers are incorporated into them. Nanobone fibers have 100 times the strength to that of steel (polyphosphazene nanofibers). They have attained popularity in local drug delivery system due to their superior properties (Slavkin 1999). Studies suggest that incorporation of high-strength inorganic fibers in the dental composite led to the significant improvement in mechanical properties (Fong 2004; Callaghan et al. 2006) Recently, nanofibers have been employed to formulate HA- and fluoro-HA-containing ceramics (Kim and Kim 2006). Nanofibrillar silicate crystals have also been studied for the capacity of regenerating or supporting of dental structures. One such type of combination consists of 2.2'-bis-[4-(methacryloxypropoxy)-phenyl]-propane (Bis-GMA) and thinning agent as triethylene glycol dimethacrylate (TEGDMA) (Tian et al. 2007; Tian et al. 2008). After incorporation of relatively small amount of nylon 6 nanofibers into the resin, the three-point bending test of the modified dental composite suggests that flexural strength, work of fracture, and elastic modulus were considerably increased. But addition of more than 6% mass fraction of nylon 6 nanofibers into the resin did not enhance the mechanical properties of the dental composite significantly. If formulated in the correct proportions and with uniform distribution, nanofibers were reported to enhance the physical properties of the composites.

As the size of the nanofiber is less than the wavelength of visible light, it does not affect the transparency of the nanocomposite and offers an advantage of using nanofibers as reinforcement materials (Bergshoef and Vancso 1999). The aforementioned advantages of polymer nanofibers make them a promising candidate for future development of orthodontic composites that are of sufficient mechanical strength and of desired aesthetic properties.

Periodontal Bone Grafts and Bone Replacement Material

In dentistry, one of the biggest challenges is the predictable regeneration of alveolar bone destroyed by periodontitis. A great success in this field has been achieved by the periodontal bone grafts (Brunsvold and Mellonig 1993). The periodontal bone grafts are inserted with the objectives of reduction of probing depth; regain the clinical attachment, alveolar bone fill and regeneration of bone, cementum and periodontal ligament (Schallhorn 1977). Periodontal bone grafts allows ideal bone

regeneration as they have greater surface area as compared to other synthetic bone grafting material, due to their microporosity and nanoporosity (Slavkin 1999). In bone therapy, from very recent time autogenous and allogenic bone grafts have been used, synthetic biomaterials have been developed, but none of them is similar to the natural bone in terms of structure and composition. Owing to the fact that hydroxyapatite/collagen systems are structure- and composition-wise similar to the natural bone, their nanocomposites are promising bone grafts. Their functional characteristics in the nanorange facilitate collagen growth and subsequent periodontal tissue formation (Whitesides and Love 2001). Smart material for periodontium, developed through nanotechnology, will aid in repair and regeneration of bone (Khosla 2009). Synthetic hydroxyapatites have been marketed in various forms such as resorbable, solid nonresorbable, and porous nonresorbable. Ostim (Osartis GmdH, Germany), NanOSST(Angstrom, Medica, USA), and Vitoss (Orthovita Inc., USA) are the hydroxyapatite nanoparticle used to repair bone defects (Sheikh et al. 2015). Other synthetic variant is the bioglass. Bioactive glass is mainly composed of sodium calcium salts, phosphates, and silicon dioxide (Anderegg et al. 1999). Bioactive glass possesses the ability to release mineral ions and promote natural bone regeneration. Once it reacts with blood, it attaches to the bone and slowly releases silica ions (Hoppe et al. 2011). There it initiates osteoblast differentiation and proliferation (Hench 2006; Jones 2015). In due course of time, it gets fully absorbed and replaced by the bone. When the bioactive glass is mixed with autogenous bone graft material, synergistic effect is produced, and natural bone regeneration process gets doubled (Oonishi et al. 2000). In summary the complex procedure of bone regeneration can be minimized with the various types of available bone grafts and bone replacement materials.

Nanomaterials for Periodontal Drug Delivery

Modern delivery systems are designed with the purpose of targeted and controlled drug release. Up to now polymeric or microparticulate delivery systems are utilized in dentistry which controlled the drug release due to their structure, but the intensive research in the nanotechnology leads to development of nanomaterials for effective periodontal drug delivery. When compared with the microparticulate systems, the nanomaterials offer several advantages such as high dispersibility in aqueous medium, controlled drug release, and better stability. Also owing to the small size, nanomaterials can penetrate deep inside the periodontal pockets and are suitable candidate for periodontal drug delivery (Jain et al. 2008). Nanomaterials particularly nanospheres, core-shell structure, nanotubes, and nanocomposites have been widely employed for controlled drug delivery system (Jain et al. 2019). Nanospheres can be fabricated with biodegradable polymer and drug for the controlled drug delivery. Biodegradable nanoparticles formulated with polyethyleneglycol dimethacrylate (PEGDMA) and 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) can be used as drug delivery carrier for periodontal applications. Further these nanoparticles can be suitably incorporated into hydrogel matrix for ease of application (Bakó et al. 2007).

Recently, Pinon-Segundo et al. (2005) formulated and characterized triclosanloaded nanoparticles through the process of emulsification-diffusion so as to obtain a novel delivery system directed toward periodontitis. These nanoparticles were formulated using poly(D,L-lactide-coglycolide), poly(D,L-lactide), cellulose acetate phthalate, and polyvinyl alcohol which were taken as stabilizer. These nanoparticles act as a homogeneous polymer matrix-type delivery system in which triclosan was dispersed. Results indicate that triclosan nanoparticles were capable to reduce inflammation at the experimental sites (Pinon-Segundo et al. 2005). The ongoing research in nanotechnology suggests that the suitably developed and optimized nanoformulations or nanomaterials could be effective drug delivery carriers for the periodontotherapy.

But before the submission of the formulation for patient use, it is imminent that these are subjected to animal studies for which number of authors has devised various experimental models, and the summary of the work is enlisted in Table 3.2.

3.3 Barriers of Nanotechnology

Continuous improvements of traditional approaches, development of novel restorative materials, advanced medications, and pharmacological strategies will continue to improve dental care. Derivatives of nanotechnological tools like nanoparticles and nanotubes have significant role in operative dentistry, periodontal management, endodontics, and restorative dentistry. Nanotechnology is set to revolutionize clinical dental practice. In no distant future, oral healthcare services will become less stressful for the dental surgeons, more acceptable to patients, and the outcome will significantly become more favorable. Optimal utilization of the advantages and opportunities offered by nanotechnology in clinical dental practice will facilitate improvements in oral health. The misuse and abuse of any technology continues to be a human issue, which could not be easily discerned by even intelligent systems. Nanotechnological tools if not properly controlled and directed carry a significant potential for misuse and abuse. The rapid progress and proper investigation will ensure that the development which seems unbelievable today is possible in the near future. However, in nanorobot mass production technique, precise positioning and assembly of molecular-scale part require simultaneous coordination of activities of large numbers of independent micron-scale robots. If the precision fails to some extent, then it will be havoc for the patients; hence it needs to be taken care of. Apart from that, the biocompatibility issue of the materials used till now or that will be engineered in the near future should possess no toxic effect to the health. Last but not the least, the funding and strategic issues because of inadequate venture capital, excessive bureaucracy and lack of medical input, insufficient integration of clinical research, and inefficient translation of concept to product would raise social issues of public acceptance, ethics, and regulation required for human safety.

Table 3.2 Animal mo	dels of periodontitis to assess th	ne in vivo behavior of dosage forms	
Animal model	Dosage forms	Aim of study	References
Mouse	Local delivery system	To study the effect of locally delivered antimicrobial agent on the inflammatory response	Vanderkerckhove et al. (1998)
Rat	Topical	To assess the potential effectiveness of the developed formulation in treating periodontitis	Luan et al. (2008), Jain et al. (2020)
	Gel foam pellet	To evaluate the combined efficacy of locally delivery of alandronate and tetracyclines in reducing alveolar bone loss	Yaffe et al. (2003)
	Isosorbide gel	To evaluate the role of nitric oxide (NO) on bone metabolism and effect of isosorbide on periodontal disease	Leitao et al. (2004)
	Bioerodible polymer insert	To evaluate a new class of bioerodible polymers as periodontal inserts for controlled release of metronidazole	Gates et al. (1994)
Beagle dogs	Nanoparticles	To evaluate in vivo efficacy of the developed dosage form of triclosan	Pinon-Segundo et al. (2005)
	Gel	To evaluate the potential of locally injected simvastatin in human sized periodontal defects	Morris et al. (2008)
	Collagen gel	To examine the effects of bFGF on the regeneration of cementum and periodontal ligament in experimentally induced partial defects	Sato et al. (2004)
	Ointment	To evaluate clinical, enzymatic and microbiological effects of controlled release localized administration of minocycline on dogs with periodontitis	Hirasawa et al. (2000)
	Biodegradable membrane	To evaluate the regenerative effect of a 25% doxycycline loaded biodegradable GTR membrane	Chang and Yamada (2000)
	Film-forming solutions	To evaluate the in vivo efficacy of the developed formulation	Kozlovsky et al. (1992)
	Dental paste	To study the effect of topical metronidazole therapy on ligature- induced periodontitis	Klinge et al. (1992)

3.4 Conclusion

The advancements in nanosciences/nanotechnology have led to an unprecedented growth in niche areas like medicine and its allied fields. Of these, an insurmountable effect has been on the contemporary dental practice and has led to the emergence of a newer discipline of dentistry. The bottom-up and top-down approaches of nanotools in dentistry aims at circumvention of all diseases of bony origin, dental adnexa, and associated soft tissues. One of the major challenges of dentistry is to address afflictions located at difficult to reach sites in the oral cavity. These often demand precise and controlled handling and require scrupulous sterilization so as to reduce bacterial deposition. Henceforth, the advents of laser, plasma, dentrifobots, and nanoassemblers have added robustness to dental cleaning and better oral hygiene. Likewise, the nanoencapsulation of antibiotics and their delivery into periodontal pockets ensure drug availability above MIC's over a prolonged period of times and do not require large doses of oral antibiotics. dentin hypersensitivity, tooth repairs, caries filling, and diagnosis of oral cavity cancer are other areas wherein the nanotools are highly commendable. Optimal utilization of the available nanotools in modern dental practice will definitely promise better oral health with a markedly reduced odontophobia.

Acknowledgments Pooja Jain gratefully thanks the Jamia Hamdard for providing financial grant in the form of Jamia Hamdard – silver jubilee research fellowship – 2017, AS/Fellow/JH-5/2018.

Fahima Dilnawaz gratefully thanks the Department of Science and Technology, Govt. of India, for providing financial grant in the form of women scientist fellowship, SR/WOS-A/LS-524/2013(G). Fahima Dilnawaz is thankful to Dr. Sanjeeb Kumar Sahoo, for the encouragement and support.

References

- Abramovitz I, Beyth N, Weinberg G, Borenstein A, Polak D, Kesler-Shvero D, Houri-Haddad Y (2012) In vitro biocompatibility of endodontic sealers incorporating antibacterial nanoparticles. J Nanomater 2012:12
- Addy M, Urquhart E (1992) dentin hypersensitivity: its prevalence, aetiology and clinical management. Dent Update 19:407–408
- Allaker R (2010) The use of nanoparticles to control oral biofilm formation. J Dent Res 89:1175-1186
- Anderegg CR, Alexander DC, Freidman M (1999) A bioactive glass particulate in the treatment of molar furcation invasions. J Periodontol 70:384–387
- Andersson A, Sköld-Larsson K, Haligren A, Petersson LG, Twetman S (2007) Effect of a dental cream containing amorphous calcium phosphate complexes on white spot lesion regression assessed by laser fluorescence. Oral Health Prev Dent 5(3):229–233
- Ang C, Veith PD, Dashper SG, Reynolds EC (2008) Application of 16O/18O reverse proteolytic labeling to determine the effect of biofilm culture on the cell envelope proteome of Porphyromonas gingivalis W50. Proteomics 8:1645–1660
- Bakó J, Szepesi M, Márton I, Borbély J, Hegedůs C (2007) Synthesis of nanoparticles for dental drug delivery systems. Fogorv Sz 100:109–113

- Bauer F, Ernst H, Decker U, Findeisen M, Gläsel H, Langguth H, Hartmann E, Mehnert R, Peuker C (2000) Preparation of scratch and abrasion resistant polymeric nanocomposites by monomer grafting onto nanoparticles, 1 FTIR and multi-nuclear NMR spectroscopy to the characterization of methacryl grafting. Macromol Chem Phys 201:2654–2659
- Bergshoef MM, Vancso GJ (1999) Transparent nanocomposites with ultrathin, electrospun nylon-4, 6 fiber reinforcement. Adv Mater 11:1362–1365
- Berkovitz BKB, Holland GR, Moxham BJ (1978) A colour atlas & textbook of oral anatomy. Wolfe Medical Publications, London
- Bhardwaj SB, Mehta M, Gauba K (2009) Nanotechnology: role in dental biofilms. Indian J Dent Res 20:511
- Bhirde AA, Patel V, Gavard J, Zhang G, Sousa AA, Masedunskas A, Leapman RD, Weigert R, Gutkind JS, Rusling JF (2009) Targeted killing of cancer cells in vivo and in vitro with EGFdirected carbon nanotube-based drug delivery. ACS Nano 3:307–316
- Bishara SE, Ajlouni R, Soliman MM, Oonsombats C, Laffoon JF, Warren J (2007) Evaluation of a new nano-filled restorative material for bonding orthodontic brackets. World J Orthod 8(1):8–12
- Black GV (1897) Descriptive anatomy of the human teeth. SS White Manufacturing Company, Philadelphia
- Bošnjak A, Plančak D, Curilović Z (2001) Advances in the relationship between periodontitis and systemic diseases. Acta Stomatol Croat 35:267–271
- Brunsvold MA, Mellonig JT (1993) Bone grafts and periodontal regeneration. Periodontol 2000(1):80–91
- Callaghan DJ, Vaziri A, Nayeb-Hashemi H (2006) Effect of fiber volume fraction and length on the wear characteristics of glass fiber-reinforced dental composites. Dent Mater 22:84–93
- Chang C-Y, Yamada S (2000) Evaluation of the regenerative effect of a 25% doxycycline-loaded biodegradable membrane for guided tissue regeneration. J Periodontol 71:1086–1093
- Chen FM, Shelton RM, Jin Y, & Chapple IL (2009). Localized delivery of growth factors for periodontal tissue regeneration: role, strategies, and perspectives. Medicinal Research Reviews, 29(3), 472–513
- Dye B (2017) The global burden of oral disease: research and public health significance. J Dent Res 96:361–363
- Ferracane JL (1995) Current trends in dental composites. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 6:302-318
- Fong H (2004) Electrospun nylon 6 nanofiber reinforced BIS-GMA/TEGDMA dental restorative composite resins. Polymer 45:2427–2432
- Garoushi S, Vallittu PK, Lassila LV (2008) Depth of cure and surface microhardness of experimental short fiber-reinforced composite. Acta Odontol Scand 66:38–42
- Gates KA, Grad H, Birek P, Lee PI (1994) A new bioerodible polymer insert for the controlled release of metronidazole. Pharm Res 11:1605–1609
- Giannobile WV, Ryan S, Shih M-S, Su DL, Kaplan PL, Chan TC (1998) Recombinant human osteogenic protein-1 (OP-1) stimulates periodontal wound healing in class III furcation defects. J Periodontol 69:129–137
- Gibbins B (2003) The antimicrobial benefits of silver and the relevance of microlattice technology. Ostomy Wound Manage 4-7
- Gupta G, Mansi B (2012) Ozone therapy in periodontics. J Med Life 5:59
- Hainfeld JF, Slatkin DN, Smilowitz HM (2004) The use of gold nanoparticles to enhance radiotherapy in mice. Phys Med Biol 49:N309
- Hannig M, Hannig C (2010) Nanomaterials in preventive dentistry. Nat Nanotechnol 5:565
- Hench LL (2006) The story of Bioglass®. J Mater Sci Mater Med 17:967-978
- Hernández-Sierra JF, Ruiz F, Pena DCC, Martínez-Gutiérrez F, Martínez AE, de JP GA, Tapia-Pérez H, Castañón GM (2008) The antimicrobial sensitivity of Streptococcus mutans to nanoparticles of silver, zinc oxide, and gold. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 4:237–240

- Hirasawa M, Hayashi K, Takada K (2000) Measurement of peptidase activity and evaluation of effectiveness of administration of minocycline for treatment of dogs with periodontitis. Am J Vet Res 61:1349–1352
- Hoppe A, Güldal NS, Boccaccini AR (2011) A review of the biological response to ionic dissolution products from bioactive glasses and glass-ceramics. Biomaterials 32:2757–2774
- Jain P, Mirza MA, & Iqbal Z (2019) A 4-D approach for amelioration of periodontitis. Medical hypotheses 133, 109392
- Jain P, Mirza MA, Talegaonkar S, Nandy S, Dudeja M, Sharma N, ... & Iqbal Z (2020) Design and in vitro/in vivo evaluations of a multiple-drug-containing gingiva disc for periodontotherapy. RSC Advances 10(14):8530–8538
- Jain N, Jain GK, Javed S, Iqbal Z, Talegaonkar S, Ahmad FJ, Khar RK (2008) Recent approaches for the treatment of periodontitis. Drug Discov Today 13:932–943
- Jha N, Ryu JJ, Wahab R, Al-Khedhairy AA, Choi EH, Kaushik NK (2017) Treatment of oral hyperpigmentation and gummy smile using lasers and role of plasma as a novel treatment technique in dentistry: an introductory review. Oncotarget 8:20496
- John KRS (2007) Biocompatibility of dental materials. Dent Clin N Am 51:747-760
- Jones JR (2015) Reprint of: review of bioactive glass: from Hench to hybrids. Acta Biomater 23:S53–S82
- Kashi TSJ, Eskandarion S, Esfandyari-Manesh M, Marashi SMA, Samadi N, Fatemi SM, Atyabi F, Eshraghi S, Dinarvand R (2012) Improved drug loading and antibacterial activity of minocycline-loaded PLGA nanoparticles prepared by solid/oil/water ion pairing method. Int J Nanomedicine 7:221
- Kettler K, Veltman K, van de Meent D, van Wezel A, Hendriks AJ (2014) Cellular uptake of nanoparticles as determined by particle properties, experimental conditions, and cell type. Environ Toxicol Chem 33:481–492
- Khanal D, Dillon E, Hau H, Fu D, Ramzan I, Chrzanowski W (2015) Lorentz contact resonance spectroscopy for nanoscale characterisation of structural and mechanical properties of biological, dental and pharmaceutical materials. J Mater Sci Mater Med 26:272
- Khosla R (2009) Nanotechnology in dentistry. Famdent Pract Dent Handb 9:69-84
- Kim H, Kim H (2006) Nanofiber generation of hydroxyapatite and fluor-hydroxyapatite bioceramics. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater Off J Soc Biomater Jpn Soc Biomater Aust Soc Biomater Korean Soc Biomater 77:323–328
- Klinge B, Kuvatanasuhati J, Attström R, Kalfas S, Edwardsson S (1992) The effect of topical metronidazole therapy on experimentally-induced periodontitis in the beagle dog. J Clin Periodontol 19:702–707
- Koch K, Brave D (2009) The increased use of bioceramics in endodontics. Dentaltown 10:33-43
- Kong M, Chen XG, Xing K, Park HJ (2010) Antimicrobial properties of chitosan and mode of action: a state of the art review. Int J Food Microbiol 144:51–63
- Korkmaz Y, Ozel E, Attar N, Bicer CO (2010) Influence of different conditioning methods on the shear bond strength of novel light-curing nano-ionomer restorative to enamel and dentin. Lasers Med Sci 25:861–866
- Kozlovsky A, Sintov A, Zubery Y, Tal H (1992) Inhibition of plaque formation and gingivitis in beagle dogs by topical use of a degradable controlled-release system containing chlorhexidine. J Dent Res 71:1577–1581
- Kumar SR, Vijayalakshmi R (2006) Nanotechnology in dentistry. Indian J Dent Res 17:62-65
- Lee Y, Lim B, Rhee S, Yang H, Powers JM (2004) Changes of optical properties of dental nanofilled resin composites after curing and thermocycling. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater Off J Soc Biomater Jpn Soc Biomater Aust Soc Biomater Korean Soc Biomater 71:16–21
- Leitao R, Rocha F, Chaves H, Lima V, Cunha F, Ribeiro R, Brito G (2004) Locally applied isosorbide decreases bone resorption in experimental periodontitis in rats. J Periodontol 75:1227–1232

- Leng J, Lan X, Liu Y, Du S (2011) Shape-memory polymers and their composites: stimulus methods and applications. Prog Mater Sci 56:1077–1135
- Liang Y, Li Y, Sun K, Zhang Q, Li W, Zhu W, Zhang J, Fang J (2015) CORRECTION: plasma thorns: atmospheric pressure non-thermal plasma source for dentistry applications. Plasma Process Polym 12:1186–1187
- Liu M-H, Chan C-H, Ling J-H, Wang CC (2007) Filling in dentinal tubules. Nanotechnology 18:475104
- Luan Q, Desta T, Chehab L, Sanders V, Plattner J, Graves D (2008) Inhibition of experimental periodontitis by a topical boron-based antimicrobial. J Dent Res 87:148–152
- Marega R, Karmani L, Flamant L, Nageswaran PG, Valembois V, Masereel B, Feron O, Vander Borght T, Lucas S, Michiels C (2012) Antibody-functionalized polymer-coated gold nanoparticles targeting cancer cells: an in vitro and in vivo study. J Mater Chem 22:21305–21312
- Meng Q, Hu J (2009) A review of shape memory polymer composites and blends. Compos Part Appl Sci Manuf 40:1661–1672
- Miletić M, Mojsilović S, Đorđević IO, Maletić D, Puač N, Lazović S, Malović G, Milenković P, Petrović ZL, Bugarski D (2013) Effects of non-thermal atmospheric plasma on human periodontal ligament mesenchymal stem cells. J Phys Appl Phys 46:345401
- Mitra SB, Wu D, Holmes BN (2003) An application of nanotechnology in advanced dental materials. J Am Dent Assoc 134:1382–1390
- Moezizadeh M (2013) Future of dentistry, nanodentistry, ozone therapy and tissue engineering. J Dev Biol Tissue Eng 5:1–6
- Morris MS, Lee Y, Lavin MT, Giannini PJ, Schmid MJ, Marx DB, Reinhardt RA (2008) Injectable simvastatin in periodontal defects and alveolar ridges: pilot studies. J Periodontol 79:1465–1473
- Oonishi H, Hench L, Wilson J, Sugihara F, Tsuji E, Matsuura M, Kin S, Yamamoto T, Mizokawa S (2000) Quantitative comparison of bone growth behavior in granules of Bioglass®, A-W glass-ceramic, and hydroxyapatite. J Biomed Mater Res Off J Soc Biomater Jpn Soc Biomater Aust Soc Biomater Korean Soc Biomater 51:37–46
- Perdigao J (2007) New developments in dental adhesion. Dent Clin N Am 51:333-357
- Pinon-Segundo E, Ganem-Quintanar A, Alonso-Pérez V, Quintanar-Guerrero D (2005) Preparation and characterization of triclosan nanoparticles for periodontal treatment. Int J Pharm 294:217–232
- Popovtzer R, Agrawal A, Kotov NA, Popovtzer A, Balter J, Carey TE, Kopelman R (2008) Targeted gold nanoparticles enable molecular CT imaging of cancer. Nano Lett 8:4593–4596
- Pragati S, Ashok S, Kuldeep S (2009) Recent advances in periodontal drug delivery systems. Int J Drug Deliv 1:1–14
- Quirynen M, Bollen C (1995) The influence of surface roughness and surface-free energy on supraand subgingival plaque formation in man: a review of the literature. J Clin Periodontol 22:1–14
- Raafat D, Sahl H (2009) Chitosan and its antimicrobial potential–a critical literature survey. Microb Biotechnol 2:186–201
- Rahiotis C, Vougiouklakis G, Eliades G (2008) Characterization of oral films formed in the presence of a CPP–ACP agent: an in situ study. J Dent 36:272–280
- Redlich M, Katz A, Rapoport L, Wagner H, Feldman Y, Tenne R (2008) Improved orthodontic stainless steel wires coated with inorganic fullerene-like nanoparticles of WS2 impregnated in electroless nickel–phosphorous film. Dent Mater 24:1640–1646
- Reuveni T, Motiei M, Romman Z, Popovtzer A, Popovtzer R (2011) Targeted gold nanoparticles enable molecular CT imaging of cancer: an in vivo study. Int J Nanomedicine 6:2859
- Reynolds E, Cai F, Shen P, Walker G (2003) Retention in plaque and remineralization of enamel lesions by various forms of calcium in a mouthrinse or sugar-free chewing gum. J Dent Res 82:206–211
- Ripamonti U, Crooks J, Petit J, Rueger DC (2001) Periodontal tissue regeneration by combined applications of recombinant human osteogenic protein-1 and bone morphogenetic protein-2. A pilot study in Chacma baboons (Papio ursinus). Eur J Oral Sci 109:241–248

- Romanos G (2015) Current concepts in the use of lasers in periodontal and implant dentistry. J Indian Soc Periodontol 19:490
- Rybachuk AV, Chekman IS, Nebesna TY (2009) Nanotechnology and nanoparticles in dentistry. Pharmacol Pharm 1:e20
- Salerno M, Diaspro A (2015) Dentistry on the bridge to nanoscience and nanotechnology. Front Mater 2:19
- Sasalawad SS, Naik SN, Shashibhushan K, Poornima P, Roshan N (2014) Nanodentistry: the next big thing is small. Int J Contemp Dent Med Rev 2014:1–6
- Sato Y, Kikuchi M, Ohata N, Tamura M, Kuboki Y (2004) Enhanced cementum formation in experimentally induced cementum defects of the root surface with the application of recombinant basic fibroblast growth factor in collagen gel in vivo. J Periodontol 75:243–248
- Schallhorn RG (1977) Present status of osseous grafting procedures. J Periodontol 48:570-576
- Schleyer TL (2000) Nanodentistry: fact or fiction? J Am Dent Assoc 131:1567-1568
- Shankar BS, Ramadevi T, Neetha M, Reddy PSK, Saritha G, Reddy JM (2013) Chronic inflammatory gingival overgrowths: laser gingivectomy & gingivoplasty. J Int Oral Health 5:83
- Sharma S, Rasool HI, Palanisamy V, Mathisen C, Schmidt M, Wong DT, Gimzewski JK (2010) Structural-mechanical characterization of nanoparticle exosomes in human saliva, using correlative AFM, FESEM, and force spectroscopy. ACS Nano 4:1921–1926
- Sheikh Z, Sima C, Glogauer M (2015) Bone replacement materials and techniques used for achieving vertical alveolar bone augmentation. Materials 8:2953–2993
- Shrestha A, Fong S-W, Khoo B-C, Kishen A (2009) Delivery of antibacterial nanoparticles into dentinal tubules using high-intensity focused ultrasound. J Endod 35:1028–1033
- Slavkin HC (1999) Entering the era of molecular dentistry. J Am Dent Assoc 130:413-417
- Stuart MAC, Huck WT, Genzer J, Müller M, Ober C, Stamm M, Sukhorukov GB, Szleifer I, Tsukruk VV, Urban M (2010) Emerging applications of stimuli-responsive polymer materials. Nat Mater 9:101
- Suresh M, Sujatha V, Mahalaxmi S (2014) Nanotechnology–an asset to dentistry!!! Int J Comm Dent 5:27–31
- Taton TA, Mirkin CA, Letsinger RL (2000) Scanometric DNA array detection with nanoparticle probes. Science 289:1757–1760
- Tay FR, Pashley DH (2008) Guided tissue remineralisation of partially demineralised human dentin. Biomaterials 29:1127–1137
- Terry DA (2004) Direct applications of a nanocomposite resin system: part 1-the evolution of contemporary composite materials. Pract Proced Aesthetic Dent 16:417–422
- Tian M, Gao Y, Liu Y, Liao Y, Xu R, Hedin NE, Fong H (2007) Bis-GMA/TEGDMA dental composites reinforced with electrospun nylon 6 nanocomposite nanofibers containing highly aligned fibrillar silicate single crystals. Polymer 48:2720–2728
- Tian M, Gao Y, Liu Y, Liao Y, Hedin NE, Fong H (2008) Fabrication and evaluation of Bis-GMA/ TEGDMA dental resins/composites containing nano fibrillar silicate. Dent Mater 24:235–243
- Treuel L, Jiang X, Nienhaus GU (2013) New views on cellular uptake and trafficking of manufactured nanoparticles. J R Soc Interface 10:20120939
- Türp JC, Alt KW (1998) Anatomy and morphology of human teeth. In: Dental anthropology. Springer, New York, pp 71–94
- Uysal T, Yagci A, Uysal B, Akdogan G (2009) Are nano-composites and nano-ionomers suitable for orthodontic bracket bonding? Eur J Orthod 32:78–82
- Vanderkerckhove B, Quirynen M, Van Steenberghe D (1998) The use of locally-delivered minocycline in the treatment of chronic periodontitis. A review of the literature. J Clin Periodontol 25:964–968
- Venegas S, Palacios J, Apella M, Morando P, Blesa M (2006) Calcium modulates interactions between bacteria and hydroxyapatite. J Dent Res 85:1124–1128
- Verma SK, Prabhat K, Goyal L, Rani M, Jain A (2010) A critical review of the implication of nanotechnology in modern dental practice. Natl J Maxillofac Surg 1:41

- Vollenweider M, Brunner TJ, Knecht S, Grass RN, Zehnder M, Imfeld T, Stark WJ (2007) Remineralization of human dentin using ultrafine bioactive glass particles. Acta Biomater 3:936–943
- Wang Y-L, Lee B-S, Chang K-C, Chiu H-C, Lin F-H, Lin C-P (2007) Characterization, fluoride release and recharge properties of polymer–kaolinite nanocomposite resins. Compos Sci Technol 67:3409–3416
- Whitesides GM, Love JC (2001) The art of building small. Sci Am 285:38-47
- Wikesjö UM, Sorensen RG, Kinoshita A, Jian Li X, Wozney JM (2004) Periodontal repair in dogs: effect of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-12 (rhBMP-12) on regeneration of alveolar bone and periodontal attachment: a pilot study. J Clin Periodontol 31:662–670
- Wong DT (2006) Salivary diagnostics powered by nanotechnologies, proteomics and genomics. J Am Dent Assoc 137:313–321
- Xia Y, Zhang F, Xie H, Gu N (2008) Nanoparticle-reinforced resin-based dental composites. J Dent 36:450–455
- Xu H, Weir M, Sun L, Takagi S, Chow L (2007) Effects of calcium phosphate nanoparticles on Ca-PO4 composite. J Dent Res 86:378–383
- Xu HH, Weir MD, Sun L (2009) Calcium and phosphate ion releasing composite: effect of pH on release and mechanical properties. Dent Mater 25:535–542
- Yaffe A, Herman A, Bahar H, Binderman I (2003) Combined local application of tetracycline and bisphosphonate reduces alveolar bone resorption in rats. J Periodontol 74:1038–1042
- Yamagishi K, Onuma K, Suzuki T, Okada F, Tagami J, Otsuki M, Senawangse P (2005) Materials chemistry: a synthetic enamel for rapid tooth repair. Nature 433:819
- Yang K, Zhang F-J, Tang H, Zhao C, Cao Y-A, Lv X-Q, Chen D, Li Y-D (2011) In-vivo imaging of oral squamous cell carcinoma by EGFR monoclonal antibody conjugated near-infrared quantum dots in mice. Int J Nanomedicine 6:1739
- Yuan Z, Peng B, Jiang H, Bian Z, Yan P (2010) Effect of bioaggregate on mineral-associated gene expression in osteoblast cells. J Endod 36:1145–1148
- Zhou B, Liu Y, Wei W, Mao J (2008) GEPIs-HA hybrid: a novel biomaterial for tooth repair. Med Hypotheses 71:591–593

Chapter 4 Nanopharmaceuticals: Synthesis, Characterization, and Challenges



Sunita Ojha, Dharitri Saikia, and Utpal Bora

Contents

4.1	Introd	uction	82
4.2	Synthe	esis of Nanopharmaceuticals	83
	4.2.1	Organic Nanopharmaceuticals.	86
	4.2.2	Inorganic Nanopharmaceuticals.	110
4.3	Chara	cterization of Nanopharmaceuticals	121
	4.3.1	Imaging Through Electron Microscope.	121
	4.3.2	Scanning Probe Microscopy	122
	4.3.3	Spectroscopy Techniques	123
	4.3.4	Scattering Techniques.	125
	4.3.5	Surface Hydrophobicity Studies	126
	4.3.6	Drug Release Studies	127
	4.3.7	Biocompatibility Studies.	127
4.4	Conclu	usion	128
Refe	rences.		128

Abstract Nanomaterials have a great potential in pharmaceutical industries for drug delivery, gene delivery, gene therapy, tissue engineering, diagnosis, and in vivo imaging. For this purpose, polymeric nanoparticles, lipid-based nanoparticles, carbon-based nanoparticles, and inorganic nanoparticles are explored. The various syn-

S. Ojha

D. Saikia

Centre for the Environment, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

U. Bora (🖂)

Centre for the Environment, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India e-mail: ubora@iitg.ac.in; http://www.iitg.ernet.in/biotech/U.Bora.html

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_4

Bioengineering Research Laboratory, Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

Bioengineering Research Laboratory, Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

thesis methods of nanopharmaceuticals are broadly categorized into top-down and bottom-up approaches. Top-down approaches include mechanical milling, electroexpulsion, and sputtering techniques in which bulk materials are broken into nanosized particles. While in bottom-up approach, nanomaterials are synthesized by atomic level self-assembly. Chemical reduction and green synthesis of nanomaterials are two examples of bottom-up approaches. The properties of nanomaterials such as morphology, structure, hydrophobicity, purity, drug release properties, and toxicity are characterized by several biophysical techniques such as spectroscopy, scattering techniques, imaging through electron microscopy, mammalian cell culture, and animal studies. Synthesizing a nanopharmaceutical of desired characteristic and activity is challenging in every step. Consistency and reproducibility are the major challenges which need to be addressed before considering any nanopharmaceutical to be a potential lead.

Keywords Nanomaterials · Nanopharmaceuticals · Polymeric nanoparticles · Lipid-based nanoparticles · Carbon-based nanoparticles · Inorganic nanoparticles

4.1 Introduction

The term "nanopharmaceuticals" refers to the convergence of nanotechnology and pharmaceuticals. Nanotechnology is used to define product, processes, and properties at nanoscale. Reducing the material size to 1-500 nm in at least any one of the three dimensions results into change in their physical, optical, chemical, and biological properties. These properties are unique and different from their bulk counterparts due to high surface area to volume ratio. These unique properties are explored in drug delivery, therapeutics, and diagnosis. Drug delivery at the target site in correct dose is a challenge for most of the traditional drugs. Hence, drugs are administered at higher doses which increase side effects. Further, traditional drugs are not capable of crossing blood-brain barrier and blood-retinal barrier due to their anatomical features. Nanotechnology-based drugs with improved therapeutic properties and precision in drug delivery at target site will minimize the drug dosage. Nanopharmaceuticals have shown to cross intact blood-brain barrier and bloodretinal barrier. The ability of nanopharmaceuticals to permeate the tight epithelial junctions of skin is utilized in topical emulsions. Nanotechnology-based drug formulations also improve their pharmaceutical properties, solubility and permeability across intestinal epithelium. Drugs encapsulated in nanomaterials are protected from degradation (enzymatic and nonenzymatic), complexation (with chelating ligands and metal ions), and intestinal efflux (Rodriguez-Fragoso et al. 2014). Nanopharmaceuticals also alter the pharmacokinetic properties of the drugs such as (1) in vivo improved drug release profile, (2) enhanced drug absorption, (3) site-directed drug distribution, (4) modified drug metabolism pattern, (5) prolonged drug residence time in body (e.g., in blood circulation), and (6) delayed and/or decreased renal excretion of the drug (Hamidi et al. 2013).

Nanotechnology-based biosensors enable early disease detection due to high sensitivity and specificity. Detection of specific genetic sequence in a sample can be performed using short fragments of DNA tagged with gold nanoparticles. Gold nanoparticles have also made gene sequencing efficient. Better understanding of molecular basis of diseases and their prevention is possible through nanotechnology (Nikalje 2015).

Although nanotechnology is an age old concept, its application in healthcare industries is new and needs to be constantly researched and improvised. The evolution of nanotechnology in healthcare industries can be visualized from the number of nanotechnology-based therapeutics being approved by FDA for clinical use. Two dozen nanotechnology-based drugs have been approved by FDA, and more are under clinical trials (Shi et al. 2010). Nanopharmaceuticals such as Doxil® and Abraxane® are already available in market (Devalapally et al. 2007). Some FDA-approved nanopharmaceuticals are listed in Table 4.1.

Nanomaterials that are explored in pharmaceutical industries include polymeric nanoparticles, liposomes, magnetic nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes, dendrimers, carbon dots, metallic nanoparticles, etc. Therefore, these nanopharmaceuticals are categorized into organic and inorganic nanopharmaceuticals. Nanopharmaceuticals are synthesized by physical, chemical, and biological methods and characterized by several biophysical techniques. The properties of nanopharmaceuticals are affected by local environment and exposure duration. During large-scale production of nanopharmaceuticals, consistency and reproducibility are the major challenges. Further, removal of residual organic solvent to ensure purity and safety of the nanopharmaceuticals is a tedious task. Therefore, to overcome these challenges, upgradation of the techniques involved in nanopharmaceutical synthesis and characterization is required. In this chapter, synthesis of both organic and inorganic nanostructures is described along with their characterization techniques and challenges faced during their development.

4.2 Synthesis of Nanopharmaceuticals

Nanopharmaceutical synthesis techniques are categorized into top-down and bottom-up approaches. Top-down approach involves breaking a bulk material into smaller pieces mechanically, chemically, or by any other form of energy. In bottomup approach, atoms and molecules assemble themselves or react chemically and gradually increase in size to form nanostructures. Nanomaterial synthesis method is desirable to have control in manipulating particle morphology, shape, size, and size distribution. Nanomaterials synthesized through self-assembly process allow a good control on these factors (Masala and Seshadri 2004).

S1.	Name of the					Year of FDA
<u>No.</u> 1	drug Adagen® (pegademase bovine)	Manufacturer Sigma-Tau Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	Type Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Target disease Severe combined immunodeficiency disease associated with ADA deficiency	Approved	approval 1990
2	Cimzia®	UCB	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Plaque psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, and other inflammation that may be caused by overactive immune system	Approved	2008– 2013
3	Copaxone®	Teva	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis (MS)	Approved	1996
4	Eligard®	Tolmer	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Prostate cancer	Approved	2002
5	Macugen® (Pegaptanib)	Bausch & Lomb	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Age-related macular degeneration	Approved	2004
6	Mircera®	Roche (except in Japan)	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Anemia associated with chronic kidney diseases	Approved	2007
7	Neulasta®	Amgen	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Postchemotherapeutic infection	Approved	2002
8	Pegasys®	Gentech	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Chronic hepatitis B and chronic hepatitis C	Approved	2002
9	PegIntron®	Merck	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Hepatitis C and melanoma	Approved	2001
10	Renagel®	GelTex Pharmaceuticals	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Chronic kidney disease	Approved	2000

 Table 4.1
 List of FDA-approved nanopharmaceuticals

(continued)

(continued)

S1.	Name of the					Year of FDA
No.	drug	Manufacturer	Туре	Target disease	Status	approval
11	Somavert®	Pfizer	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Acromegaly	Approved	2003
12	Oncaspar®	Enzon Pharmaceuticals	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	Approved	2006
13	Krystexxa®	Horizon pharma	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Severe, chronic gout which cannot be controlled by other treatment	Approved	2010
14	Plegridy®	Biogen	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Multiple sclerosis	Approved	2014
15	Adynovate®	Baxalta	Synthetic polymer combined with drug/biologics	Hemophilia	Approved	2016
16	DaunoXome®	Galen	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	HIV-associated Kaposi's sarcoma	Approved	1996
17	Marqibo®	Onco TCS	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Philadelphia chromosome-negative (Ph–) acute lymphoblastic leukemia	Approved	2012
18	Onivyde®	Merrimack	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Pancreatic cancer	Approved	2015
19	AmBisome®	Gilead Sciences	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Serious fungal infections and leishmaniasis	Approved	1997
20	DepoDur®	Pacira Pharmaceuticals	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Postsurgical pain	Approved	2004
21	Visudyne®	Bausch & Lomb	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Macular degeneration	Approved	2000
22	Doxil®	Janssen	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Kaposi's sarcoma, multiple myeloma, ovarian cancer	Approved	1995 2008 2005
23	Abelcet®	Sigma-tau	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Fungal diseases		1995

(continued)

S1.	Name of the					Year of FDA
No.	drug	Manufacturer	Туре	Target disease	Status	approval
24	Curosurf®	Chiesi Farmaceutici	Liposome combined with drug/biologics	Respiratory distress syndrome		1999
25	Estrasorb TM	Novavax	Micelle combined with drug/biologics	Menopause-related diseases	Approved	2003
26	Abraxane®	Celgene	Protein nanoparticle with drug/ biologics	Breast cancer, lung cancer, pancreatic cancer		2005 2012 2013
27	Ontak®	Eisai Corporation of North America	Protein nanoparticle with drug/ biologics	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL)	Approved	
28	Emend®	Merck	Nanocrystal	Postsurgery and postchemotherapeutic symptoms	Approved	2015
29	Tricor®	Lupin Pharmaceuticals	Nanocrystals	To reduce higher cholesterol and triglyceride level	Approved	2004
30	Rapamune®	Pfizer	Nanocrystal	Immunosuppresant (after organ transplant)	Approved	1999

Table 4.1 (continued)

Bobo et al. 2016; Ventola 2017; Anselmo and Mitragotri 2016; Pillai 2014; Hare et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2013

4.2.1 Organic Nanopharmaceuticals

Recently pharmaceutical industry has led the research into organic nanoparticles. Organic nanoparticles contain carbon and hydrogens which form hydrocarbons. Organic nanopharmaceuticals include polymeric nanoparticles, polymeric nanomicelles, dendrimers, lipid based nanoparticles, and carbon-based nanomaterials. The methods used for the synthesis of these nanomaterials are described below.

Polymeric Nanoparticles

The most studied organic strategies for nanomedicines are polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs) of biocompatible and biodegradable nature. PNPs are utilized for targeted drug delivery techniques such as entrapment and conjugation of drugs, prodrugs, stimuli-responsive systems, imaging, theranostics, and controlled distribution of

drugs at tissue and cellular level. PNPs entrap drug into nanosized carriers and release the drug at the target site (Desgouilles et al. 2003). PNPs are generally prepared by two main strategies – first, through dispersion of preformed polymers (topdown), and second, through polymerization of monomers (bottom-up) (Vauthier and Bouchemal 2009). PNPs can be termed a nanocapsules or nanosphere depending on the composition. Nanocapsule has a vesicular structure with a liquid core containing either oil or water surrounded by a solid shell. Nanosphere is a solid mass with polymer chains organized in matricial manner. The drugs can be entrapped in, dissolved or dispersed within, and adsorbed on PNPs (Couvreur et al. 1995; Guterres et al. 2007).

The techniques used for the preparation of PNPs from preformed polymers are solvent evaporation, salting out, nanoprecipitation, dialysis, and supercritical fluid technology involving the rapid expansion of a supercritical solution or rapid expansion of a supercritical solution into liquid solvent. On the other hand, various polymerization techniques utilized for the preparation of PNPs from monomer units are emulsion polymerization, microemulsion polymerization, miniemulsion polymerization, interfacial polymerization, and controlled/living radical polymerization (Rao and Geckeler 2011). The polymers used to design nanopharmaceuticals must fulfill certain requirements such as they should be nontoxic, nonimmunogenic, and biodegradable. The polymers should not accumulate in the body and hence should be eliminated within a span of time so that neither the polymers nor its degraded products accumulate in the body. Only a limited number of synthetic polymers (poly(lactide), poly(isobutylcyanoacrylate), poly(lactide-co-glycolide), poly(epsilon-caprolactone)) and natural polymers (chitosan, alginate, gelatin, albumin) are used as constituent of PNPs for drug delivery. Among these only a few are sanctioned for parenteral administration by healthcare specialists and others for oral or topical formulations and food industries (Vauthier and Bouchemal 2009).

Dispersion of Preformed Polymers

Several methods which are developed to synthesize PNPs by dispersing preformed polymers are discussed below.

Solvent Evaporation Method

Solvent evaporation method is an easy and very popular method which encapsulates lipophilic compounds efficiently. In this method, preformed polymers are dispersed in an organic phase and emulsified in aqueous phase. This is followed by homogenization by ultrasonication and solvent evaporation leaving the NPs behind as shown in Fig. 4.1 (Desgouilles et al. 2003). Two main strategies are used for the emulsion such as oil-in-water emulsion and water-in-oil emulsion. Surfactants are added to stabilize the nanoparticles (NPs). Several additives such as surfactants used in the synthesis process are removed by washing and then lyophilized. Polymers such as poly(organophosphazene), poly(d,l-lactic acid-co-glycolic acid), (monomethoxypoly(ethylene oxide)-poly(lactic acid)), etc. and stabilizers such as



Fig. 4.1 Drug-loaded nanoparticle formation by solvent evaporation method. (Adapted from Ray et al. 2015)

poloxamine 908, PVA, Span 40, sodium cholate, sucrose, SDS, and Pluronic F-108 are used for the preparation of PNPs by this method (Rao and Geckeler 2011). This process is advantageous as it requires mild conditions such as ambient temperature and constant stirring. Process parameters such as power and duration of energy application influence size of the particles and drug content. Concentration of polymer and drug in organic phase, solvent volume, aqueous phase volume, surfactant concentration, molecular weight, and end groups of polymer are also among such factors influencing nanopharmaceutical properties (Hoa et al. 2012).

Salting Out Method

In salting out method, the use of organic solvent is replaced by water miscible solvent such as acetone in which polymers and drug are mixed. The solution is further emulsified into an aqueous solution mixed with salting out reagents and a colloidal stabilizer. Examples of few salting out reagents used are calcium chloride, magnesium chloride, magnesium acetate, sucrose, etc. Polyvinylpyrrolidone or hydroxy-ethylcellulose is used as colloidal stabilizer. Sufficient amount of water is added to the emulsion which induces formation of nanospheres efficiently, encapsulating the drug as shown in Fig. 4.2. The salting out reagents and the solvent are removed by cross filtration. This method is advantageous for proteins and heat-sensitive drugs as no heat is involved in this method. However, this technique is disadvantageous for lipophilic drugs (Nagavarma et al. 2012).

Nanoprecipitation Method

Nanoprecipitation method, otherwise known as solvent displacement method, uses three components: polymer, polymer solvent and polymer nonsolvent. Water



Fig. 4.2 Illustration of salting out method. (Adapted from Fonseca et al. 2013)

miscible organic solvent of immediate polarity is used to dissolve the polymer. Natural, synthetic, or semisynthetic polymers can be used for this method. The polymer solution is injected into an aqueous phase in presence or absence of surfactant. Polymer deposition occurs at the interface after displacement of semipolar water miscible solvent from the lipophilic solution (Nagavarma et al. 2012; Miladi et al. 2016). This method has three stages: nucleation, growth, and aggregation. Uniform particle size is obtained when the particles are separated out between nucleation and growth stage. This simple, fast, and reproducible method can generate both nanosphere and nanocapsule (Rao and Geckeler 2011).

Dialysis Method

In this method, polymer along with the drug is dissolved in an organic solvent miscible with water and dialyzed against water. Dialysis membrane used here is chosen with appropriate molecular cutoff. Dialysis results in displacement of solvent inside the membrane, and thus the polymer starts to aggregate due to loss of solubility. The nanosuspension thus obtained is freeze dried using a cryoprotectant to obtain a fine powder (Krishnamoorthy and Mahalingam 2015).

Supercritical Fluid Method

Supercritical fluid above their critical point exhibits properties of both liquid and gas. This method does not use organic solvent; therefore this is an environment friendly technology. Usually CO_2 is used as supercritical fluid because they are highly pure, odorless, colorless, safe, nontoxic, nonflammable, cost effective, and recyclable (Girotra et al. 2013). There are two most common processes of supercritical fluid technology: rapid expansion of supercritical solution (RESS) and rapid expansion of supercritical solution into liquid solvent (RESOLV). RESS involves dissolution of solute in a supercritical fluid followed by rapid expansion of the solution into ambient air through an orifice or capillary nozzle (Fig. 4.3a). The nozzle temperature is kept high. In this method, the products are microscale rather than nanoscale. RESOLV is an improved form of RESS technology in which supercritical fluid expands into a liquid solvent (Fig. 4.3b). The liquid here suppresses the growth of the particles, and hence nanosized products are obtained (Byrappa et al. 2008).



Fig. 4.3 Illustration of (a) rapid expansion of supercritical solution (RESS) and (b) rapid expansion of supercritical solution into liquid solvent (RESOLV). (Adapted from Rao and Geckeler 2011)

Polymerization of Monomers

PNPs can be designed for specific application and target using this approach. Techniques of monomer polymerization for the synthesis of PNPs are discussed below.

Emulsion Polymerization

Emulsion polymerization technique is a fast and scalable method. This method has been categorized into two groups based on utilization of organic and aqueous continuous phase. In organic continuous phase technology, monomers are dispersed into an emulsion or an inverse microemulsion or into a medium in which monomers are insoluble. However, this method has become less important as it uses toxic organic solvent, surfactant for protection of NPs from aggregation and initiators for polymerization. These components are finally eliminated from the product (Pinto Reis et al. 2006).

In aqueous continuous phase method, the monomers are usually dispersed in an aqueous phase without surfactant and emulsifiers. Here polymerization starts when monomer collides to initiator which can be a free radical or ion. Sometimes monomers themselves can be transformed into initiators when exposed to high-energy radiations (gamma-radiation, UV rays, and visible light). Initiated monomers or monomer radicals collide with other monomers and chain growth starts. During polymerization or after the termination of polymerization process, phase separates and solid particles are formed (Pinto Reis et al. 2006).

Miniemulsion Polymerization

This method is carried out in a shearing system comprising of a continuous phase, a dispersed phase, a surfactant, and an osmotic pressure agent. Miniemulsion process starts with the formation of small stable droplets of size 30–500 nm. These droplets polymerize without changing their uniqueness (Fig. 4.4) (Landfester 2003). The main difference between emulsion and miniemulsion polymerization lies in the



Fig. 4.4 Miniemulsion polymerization principle. (Adapted from Landfester 2003)

use of a low molecular mass compound (costabilizer) and high-energy sheer pressure (e.g., ultrasound). Costabilizer should be insoluble in aqueous medium and soluble in monomer droplets to prevent their diffusion. In this case, increase in costabilizer concentration results in free energy increase which again balances the interfacial energy to limit Ostwald ripening (Schork and Guo 2008). Miniemulsification allows functionalization of polymers by copolymerizing one or several functional monomers. Else polymers present in the dispersed phase of a miniemulsion are modified by degradation of polymer reaction or assembly of small molecules on polymers or grafting macromolecules (Crespy and Landfester 2010).

Microemulsion Polymerization

In microemulsion polymerization, smaller particle size with less average number of polymer chains per particle is obtained. The essential features of this technique are (1) polymerization proceeds under dynamic state; (2) during polymerization size and particle concentration; (3) chain transfer to monomer/exit of transferred monomeric radical/radical reentry events is operative; and (4) broad distribution of polymers (Capek 2001). Microemulsion is a thermodynamically stable transparent dispersion containing two immiscible liquids (oil and water) with surfactant. Polymerization involves free radical reaction with vinyl monomer in very fine oil droplets dispersed in water. Thermodynamic stability is lost after the formation of the first chain of the polymer. Very small amount of monomers can be solubilized within microemulsion droplet, whereas a large amount of surfactant and cosurfactant are required to stabilize the colloidal system. The reaction rate and the particle size vary with the type of surfactant used. Particle growth depends on the ratio of reaction rate to the transport of monomers between micelles (Al-Sabagh et al. 2012).

Interfacial Polymerization

Interfacial polymerization is an emulsification/solidification technique that generates nanocapsules (Mehrotra and Pandit 2015). This method involves dissolution of two monomers in separate phases (continuous and dispersed phase) with reaction initiating at the interfaces of the two liquids. At the interface, cross-linking reactions like polyadditions and polycondensations or radical polymerizations occur which produce hollow particles. Oil-containing nanocapsules are formed at the interface of oil-in-water microemulsion. Interfacial polymerization of monomers results in water containing nanocapsules in water-in-oil microemulsion. Aprotic solvents promote nanocapsule formation, whereas protic solvents induce formation of nano-spheres and nanocapsules (Rao and Geckeler 2011).

Controlled/Living Radical Polymerization

This technique is defined by a linear increase in the degree of polymerization with conversion and narrow molecular weight dispersion. A polymer with polydispersity index (PDI) of 2 can be termed as living agent. Living agent-mediated free radical polymerization generates three types of polymers: dormant chains, dead chains, and polymeric radicals. The former two chains can no longer be extended due to termination reactions. The later has negligible concentration, and its living behavior is determined by the ratio of the other two chains. This method has control over molecular mass and molar mass distribution. The macromolecular architecture, end functionalities, and impact on environment can also be manipulated which were lacking in radical polymerization technique.

Most of these methods are developed in an academic settings and lack scale-up facilities required for clinical use. Further, some techniques are only suitable for a specific type of nanomaterial and cannot be used for all types of nanomaterial design, thus requiring a unique synthesis and scale-up approach for a specific type of nanomaterial. Combination chemotherapy is widely used in clinics. However, nanoparticle-based delivery system for combination therapy is lacking due to the complex synthesis process required for multidrug nanoparticle system development (Anselmo et al. 2017). Another limitation of polymeric nanopharmaceutical synthesis is the toxicity caused due to the over use of detergent polyvinyl alcohol (Thakur et al. 2017).

Polymeric nanopharmaceuticals differ in size, structure, morphology, and drug release property based on the synthesis technique. Size of the polymeric nanopharmaceuticals is studied by electron microscopy (TEM, SEM, FESEM) and dynamic light scattering (DLS). Field emission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM) is carried out to study the morphology of the synthesized nanomaterials. Aggregation of nanoparticles will increase their size which is an important issue. Therefore, to study dispersity photon, correlation spectroscopy is utilized. Surface charge of the nanopharmaceuticals plays an important role in stability, and drug delivery is characterized by DLS. Surface chemistry, crystallinity, and the chemical structure of the nanomaterials are studied by XRD (X-ray diffraction), FTIR (Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy), and XPS (X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy). Drug entrapment efficiency and drug release properties are studied using UV-visible spectroscopy and HPLC. These techniques are listed in Table 4.2, and the detailed principle of these techniques has been described in Sect. 3. The particles with complex shape and geometrical size electron microscopy are used for the measurements which
Polymeric			
Nanopharmaceuticals	Characterization	Techniques	References
Polymeric Nanocapsules	Morphology	FESEM	Amgoth and
loaded with anticancer drug	Cell viability	MTT assay	Dharmapuri
(Imatinib-ITM)	Cellular imaging	Laser scanning confocal	(2016)
		microscopy	
	Drug release	Dialysis and UV-visible	
	studies	spectroscopy	
5-fluorouracil-loaded chitosan-coated polylactic-co- glycolic acid polycaprolactone	Particle size and poly dispersity index	Photon correlation spectroscopy	Badran et al. (2017)
nanoparticles	Zeta potential	Laser Doppler velocimetry	
	Entrapment efficiency	Separation of particles and estimation of nonentrapped fluorouracil by HPLC	
	Particle surface	Scanning electron	
	morphology	microscopy	
	Drug release studies	Dialysis and HPLC	
	Cell viability	MTT assay	
PLGA nanoparticle with an	Compatibility	Differential scanning	Sakthivel and
antiepileptic drug tiagabine	studies between	calorimetry	Arunachalam
hydrochloride	drug and polymer	Di lut	(2017)
	Particle size	Photon correlation	
	Surface charge	Zeta potential analysis	
	Drug antronmant	Spectrophotometric	
	efficiency	analysis	
	External morphological analysis	TEM	
	In vitro drug release study	Dialysis bag diffusion technique and spectrophotometric analysis	
Polymeric nanoparticles composed of	Size	Transmission electron microscopy	Bisht et al. (2008)
N-isopropylacrylamide,	Polydispersity	Dynamic light scattering	
methylmethacrylate, and	In vitro drug	Separation and estimation	
Acid loaded with rapamycin	release	of nonentrapped fluorouracil by centrifugation and spectrophotometry	
	In vivo	Drug release in blood	
	pharmacokinetic studies	studied by HPLC	
Lignin polymeric	Size	DLS, SEM	Azimvet al.
nanoparticles	Chemical structure	FTIR	(2018)
	Thermal stability	TGA-DTG	

 Table 4.2
 List of techniques employed to characterize polymeric nanopharmaceuticals

require samples to be in dry state. 3D particle shape and size analyzer must be leveraged to analyze particles with complex physical features. Moreover, characterization of nanoparticles having dynamic physical properties is also a challenge (Anselmo et al. 2017).

Polymeric Nanomicelle Synthesis

Block copolymers comprising both hydrophilic and lipophilic parts have drawn attention for drug delivery. These copolymers including surfactants and amphiphilic monomers self-aggregate above their critical micellar concentrations in aqueous systems forming a core-shell structure with a hydrophobic core. The critical micellar concentrations of copolymers are lower than surfactants and therefore mostly preferred (Chen et al. 2016; Mitra et al. 2017). Polymeric nanomicelles can be prepared by direct dissolution, solution casting, and dialysis methods. In direct dissolution method, low molecular weight block copolymers with short length of insoluble block are used. Thermal, stirring, or ultrasound treatments are used to facilitate dissolution. In solvent casting method, the copolymer and drug are dissolved in organic solvent such as ethanol, and then the solvent is evaporated under vacuum. This results in the formation of a thin film which is then rehydrated with water for drug encapsulation (Cholkar et al. 2016). The direct dissolution method and solvent casting method are unsuitable when the core forming block is long and more hydrophobic. In such cases the polymers tend to solubilize large amount of poorly watersoluble drugs. Dialysis method can be used in these cases. In dialysis method, the drug and copolymers are dissolved in organic phase and dialyzed against water. It is suitable for water-insoluble copolymers. This process is although highly effective but time-consuming process. These limitations can be overcome by freeze-drying method (Mourya et al. 2011). It is a simple method which involves freeze-drying of freeze-dryable organic solvent containing copolymer, drug, and water resulting in freeze-thawed cake. This freeze-thawed cake is rehydrated, and nanomicelles are prepared (Puoci 2016). The size of the polymeric micelles depends on the preparation process, molecular weight of the amphiphilic block copolymer, aggregation number of the amphiphiles, relative proportion of hydrophilic and hydrophobic chains, and the quantity of solvent trapped inside the micellar core (Kulthe et al. 2012). Synthesized polymeric nanomicelles are characterized for their physical properties, cytotoxicity, and degradability by the techniques listed in Table 4.3. Polymeric micelle stability in physiological relevant media is an important aspect which needs to be evaluated. They lack stability in blood. Questions related to correlation between drug release and micelle stability are still unanswered. If the drug is hydrophobic and the core of the micelle is hydrophobic, then how the drug will be released? Whether enhancing drug load in polymeric micelle will have negative impact on micelle stability. Further the effect of freeze-drying and reconstitution on micelle stability is questioned. There are also limited of polymers which can be used for micelle synthesis. Though novel copolymers are reported for polymer micelle drug delivery systems, little attention is devoted for their cytotoxicity and

Polymeric micelle	Characterization	Techniques	References
Hydroxyapatite hollow	Phases of the nanoparticles	XRD	Ye et al. (2010)
nanoparticles	Morphology	SEM, TEM	
	Chemical structure	FTIR	_
	Estimation of drug loaded	TG measurement	
	Pore size	Nitrogen sorption	
Polymeric micelle	Size	DLS, static light scattering, atomic force microscopy (AFM), and TEM	Makhmalzade and Chavoshy (2018)
Radiolabeled polymeric	Structure	MALDI-TOF, UV spectroscopy, and FTIR	Oda et al. (2017)
nanomicelle	Critical micelle concentration	Spectrofluorometry, using pyrene P.A. as fluorescent probe	
	Size	DLS and SAXS	
	Surface charge	Zeta potential	
	Radioactivity	Gamma counter	
	In vitro stability	Thin layer chromatography (TLC)	
PEGylated polymeric nanomicelle	Composition and number-average molecular weight of copolymers	'H-NMR	Lin et al. (2010)
	Molecular weight distribution	Gel permeation chromatography	
	Critical micellar concentration	Fluorescence spectrophotometer using pyrene as a fluorescence probe	_
	Biocompatibility	Cell viability assay (MTT)	

 Table 4.3 List of techniques employed to characterize polymeric nanomicelle

biocompatibility properties. There are also limited methods for scaled-up synthesis of polymeric micelle-based nanopharmaceuticals (Lu and Park 2013; Owen et al. 2012).

Dendrimer Synthesis

Dendrimers are well-defined homogenous, branched, monodispersed nanosized radially symmetrical molecules (Abbasi et al. 2014). They consist of three major parts: a core, an inner shell, and an outer shell. There are numerous dendrimer synthetic strategies which can be categorized into divergent approaches and convergent approaches (Baig et al. 2015). Dendrimers are functionalized with drug molecules, gene, peptides, antibodies, MRI contrasting agents like dyes, etc. for medical



Fig. 4.5 Dendrimers as nanopharmaceutical. (Adapted from Madaan et al. 2014)

applications as shown in Fig. 4.5 (Madaan et al. 2014). Covalent attachment of PEG to the exterior of dendrimers reduces their toxicity and increases their permeability into tumor cells. Folic acid is conjugated to the dendrimers so that they can be targeted to the cancer cells due to the presence of folic acid receptors. Conjugation of folic acid is performed by EDC coupling. Doxorubicin in water is added dropwise to folic acid and PEG conjugated dendrimer solution. After stirring for 24 h, doxorubicin is loaded to dendrimers (Li et al. 2017). Dendrimers are characterized by spectroscopy, spectrometry, microscopy, and electrical and scattering techniques which are listed in Table 4.4.

Divergent Synthesis

It starts with addition of four arms (molecules) to the nitrogen of a multifunctional core molecule ethylenediamine through Michael addition reaction. Then in the second step, ethylenediamine is added so that they can react with the four arms of the molecule formed from the first step by amidation reaction. Excess ethylenediamine is used to avoid structural defects. This step is repeated multiple times to generate different generations of dendrimers. In this approach the yield is high with less purity (Gupta and Nayak 2015). A depiction of divergent method of dendrimer synthesis has been shown in Fig. 4.6a.

Dendrimers	Characterization	Techniques	References
Dendrimers	To monitor the synthesis of dendrimers	Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy	Baig et al. (2015) and
	Analysis of chemical transformation of end groups	NMR	Caminade et al. (2005)
	Chemical alteration analysis on the surface of dendrimers	Infrared spectroscopy	
	Position changed π - π stacking interaction between end groups of modified PAMAM	Near infrared spectroscopy	
	Defect quantification during dendrimers synthesis.	Fluorescence	
	Characterization of small dendrimers (mass < 3000)	Mass spectroscopy	
	Precise determination of size, structure, shape, and chemical composition	XRD	
	Average radius of gyration (Rg) determination in solution.	Small-angle X-ray scattering (SAXS)	
	End group location determination	Small-angle neutron scattering (SANS)	
	Determination of hydrodynamic radius of dendrimers	Laser light scattering (LLS)	
	Imaging	SEM, TEM	
	Determination of substitution effectiveness of PANAM dendrimer surface	Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR)	
	Electroactive end group interaction	Electrochemistry	
	Homogeneity and purity assessment of water-soluble dendrimers	Electrophoresis	
	Determination of glass transition temperature that depends on polymer composition, entanglement, and molecular weight	Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC)	
	Molecular dynamic processes (α -, β)	Dielectric spectroscopy (DS)	
	Chemical composition of dendrimers	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS)	
	Dipole moment measurement for lactosylated PAMAM dendrimer	Sedimentation	
	Quantitation of NH2 end groups of PAMAM dendrimers	Titrimetry	

(continued)

DendrimersCharacterizationTechniquesPolyurethanePurityMatrix-assidendritic wedgesfunction(MALDI-1	Techniques R Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization P1 time-of-flight mass spectrometry (1	References Puapaiboon and Taylor (1999)
Polyurethane Purity Matrix-assi dendritic wedges time-of-flig time-of-flig (MALDI-1 (MALDI-1 time-of-flig	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization Pt time-of-flight mass spectrometry (1	Puapaiboon and Taylor (1999)
	(INIALUI-IUFINIS)	~
Poly(amidoamine) Molecular weight, structure, and polydispersity MALDI-Ti Dendrimers and their complexes with Cu ²⁺	persity MALDI-TOF ZI	Zhou et al. (2001)



Fig. 4.6 Dendrimer synthesis: (a) divergent method and (b) convergent method. (Source: Baig et al. 2015)

Convergent Synthesis

The purity and structural defect issue is addressed in this approach. Uniformity and symmetry of the dendrimers synthesized are maintained, but the yield is very low. In this approach, the outermost arm of the final dendrimer is synthesized first and finally linked to a core molecule (Fig. 4.6b). Therefore final generation number is predetermined. However, larger size dendrimer creates steric hindrance during attachment to the core. This limitation is not observed in divergent synthesis technique (Abbasi et al. 2014; Gupta and Nayak 2015).

Dendrimers have been implemented in various practical applications. Still these are not propelled out of the academic curiosities to market for being extreme costly and their tedious procedures of synthesis (Hecht 2003). Moreover, limited drug loading capacity and inability to be surface modified are challenges for dendrimerbased nanopharmaceuticals (Pearson et al. 2012).

Lipid-Based Nanopharmaceuticals

Lipid-based nanomaterials are biocompatible and biodegradable and have ability to self-assemble to form membranes. They can form vesicles with volumes within and between the cells. Thus, they are explored as vehicle for molecular drug, biopharmaceutical agents (DNA, RNA interference effectors), and imaging agents

(magnetic resonance contrast reagents, radiometals, fluorescent probes) (Turánek et al. 2015). The three most important forms of lipid-based nanocarriers are (a) phospholipid-polymer nanomicelles, (b) lipid bilayer vesicular nanostructures (liposomes), and (c) solid lipid NPs (Fig. 4.7). Self-aggregation of monomers to form nanomicelles and liposomes is a bottom-up approach (Buse and El-Aneed 2010). However reducing the size of liposomes to nanoliposomes using energy input is a top-down approach. Nanomicelle and liposomes are made up of diglycerides, and the solid lipid NPs are made up of triglycerides. Preparation techniques of nanomicelle have already been discussed in the Sect. 2.2.

Nanoliposomes Synthesis

Nanoliposomes are 50–100 nm size vesicles filled with aqueous phase and surrounded by lipid bilayer membrane. Nanoliposomes enable efficient entrapment of water-soluble and insoluble drugs (Fig. 4.8). Double-emulsion method was reported



Fig. 4.7 Types of lipid-based nanocarriers. (Adapted from Wang et al. 2014)



Fig. 4.8 Nanoliposomes as drug delivery vehicle. (Adapted from Malam et al. 2009)

to be the most efficient method for encapsulation of hydrophilic drug. Nanoliposomes have higher bioavailability and prolonged drugs residence time in the blood which makes slow release of drug release (Yang et al. 2013). Preparation of nanoliposomes requires phospholipids dispersed in water with sufficient amount of energy input. Energy input can be provided in the form of sonication, homogenization, heating, etc. so that the phospholipids arrange themselves into bilayer vesicles and a thermodynamic equilibrium is achieved in aqueous phase. Sonication technique uses titanium tipped probe sonicator to reduce the size of liposomes into nanoliposomes. Nanoliposomes are also prepared by extrusion method in which micrometric vesicles are extruded physically under pressure through a polycarbonate filter of defined pore size. Pharmaceutical industries use microfluidization technique to produce nanoliposomes encapsulating drugs. This technique is carried out in a microfluidizer in which high pressure is applied that induces cavitation and reduction in liposome size. The key advantages of this technique are large-scale production of nanoliposomes with reproducibility and control over particle size, and solutes to be encapsulated are not exposed to harsh conditions such as sonication and organic solvents. Heating method of nanoliposomes is used for gene transfer and drug delivery. In this method, prehydrated lipids and glycerol are dissolved after heating them at a temperature above their melting point under inert condition with constant stirring. Nanoliposome suspension is then allowed to anneal and stabilize under inert environment above their melting temperature for 1 h. Drugs can be added when the temperature drops or at the time of heating. An improvised heating method, known as Mozafari method, does not require prehydration of the liposomal ingredients (Mozafari 2010). Nanoliposomes have superior biocompatibility due to similarity with biological membrane. However, liposomes are less stable and can release drug at nonspecific sites. These challenges can be overcome by liposome modification and functionalization (Amoabediny et al. 2018).

Solid Lipid Nanoparticle Synthesis

Solid lipid NPs (SLNPs) are spherical colloidal carriers of 50–1000 nm average diameter. They contain solid lipid core which is stabilized by surfactant solution. Lipophilic drugs are solubilized in the solid lipid core. The important features of SLNPs are their small size and large surface area and superior drug loading ability. The interaction of phases at the interface makes them potent for pharmaceutical applications. SLNPs are composed of lipids which are solid at body temperature. They are synthesized by high-pressure homogenization (hot and cold homogenization), solvent emulsification, evaporation method, microemulsion-based method, etc. (Mitra et al. 2017). Preparation of SLNPs by homogenization technique is a top-down approach (Buse and El-Aneed 2010). These methods are summarized below.



Fig. 4.9 Solid lipid nanoparticle synthesis by cold homogenization technique. (Adapted from Bondì et al. 2012)

Hot Homogenization Technique

Hot homogenization technique involves melting of solid lipids at a temperature above their melting temperature. To the melted lipid, drug is dissolved and dispersed. Melted lipid with drug (the above) is then dispersed into aqueous surfactant solution kept at a temperature similar to the melted lipid. Homogenization of this preemulsion results into nanoemulsion, and to start recrystallization of the lipids, its temperature is cooled down to room temperature. SLNPs are formed by recrystallization of the lipids through lyophilization (Fig. 4.9). This method is not suitable for temperature-sensitive drugs (Naseri et al. 2015).

Cold Homogenization Technique

Starting steps of hot homogenization technique are similar to cold homogenization technique. To the melted lipid, drug is added, and using dry ice or liquid nitrogen, temperature is lowered so that drug is distributed homogenously in lipid matrix. Microparticles obtained after pulverization of the solid lipid obtained by ball or mortar milling are dispersed in a chilled aqueous surfactant solution. This presuspension is homogenization technique is presented in Fig. 4.10. Here comparatively broader and larger particles are obtained than hot homogenization technique. This technique resolves some of the issues associated with hot homogenization technique such as drug loss to the aqueous phase during homogenization due to



Fig. 4.10 Solid lipid nanoparticle synthesis by hot homogenization technique. (Adapted from Bondì et al. 2012)

partitioning, drug degradation due to high temperature, and uncertain polymorphic transitions of lipid in the crystallization step of the nanoemulsion (Yadav et al. 2014).

Ultrasonication or High Speed Homogenization

Here, the SLNPs are synthesized by ultrasonication or stirring at very high speed. There are few disadvantages of this method such as particle distribution at micrometer range, particle growth upon storage, and metal contamination during ultrasonication. Therefore usually this method is employed combined with high temperature (Mukherjee et al. 2009).

Microemulsification

In microemulsification method, a transparent mixture comprising of surfactant, cosurfactants, and a low-melting lipid dissolved in aqueous phase is stirred at 65–70 °C temperature. SLNPs are obtained when this microemulsion was added to cold aqueous phase under stirring condition. Typically the ratio of hot emulsion to cold aqueous phase ranges at 1:25 to 1:50 (Mukherjee et al. 2009).

Solvent Emulsification-Evaporation and Solvent Evaporation-Diffusion

Solvent emulsification–evaporation involves dissolution of lipids in an organic solvent followed by dispersion into an aqueous phase. Evaporation of this preemulsion under reduced pressure produces SLNPs (Mitra et al. 2017). In solvent evaporation–diffusion technique, a mixture of organic solvent partially miscible with water

saturated with water and lipid as prepared at elevated temperature. To this surfactant solution is added followed by surplus water addition. As a result organic solvent diffuses to aqueous phase and SLNPs precipitates (Mitra et al. 2017).

Homogeneous entrapment of drug is obtained by hot and cold homogenization process. Shell-enriched drugs result from phase separation of lipids and aqueous phase during SLNPs formation. During synthesis, if drug precipitates first, then core of the NP is usually filled with drug (Mitra et al. 2017). Several characterization techniques of lipid-based nanopharmaceuticals are listed in Table 4.5. Though SLNPs offer several benefits, there are some limitations too. There is a chance of degradation of the active components (DNA, peptides, and siRNA) during homogenization process. Similarly inactivation of the drug due to the heat generated during synthesis process is also an issue. Drug expulsion from the lipid matrix, coexistence of different colloidal forms, particle size, and shape variation are some challenges associated solid lipid nanoparticles (Kammari et al. 2017).

Carbon-Based Nanopharmaceuticals

Carbon-based NPs have useful physiochemical properties for which they have wide spectrum of biomedical applications such as therapeutics, sensing, and imaging. These NPs are fullerenes, carbon dots, and carbon nanotubes possessing unique electrical and tensile properties. Alternatively, carbon-based NPs can be classified as zero-dimensional, one-dimensional, and two-dimensional carbon NPs. Examples of zero-dimensional carbon NPs are fullerenes and carbon dots. Carbon nanotubes and graphene are considered as one-dimensional and two-dimensional carbon NPs, respectively (Singh et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2017).

Fullerenes

Fullerenes can be used in diagnostic purposes with radioactive metal enclosed inside them for magnetic resonance imaging and radioactive tracers. Fullerenes or buckyballs can also be used for drug transport, host immune response stimulator, antibody production, free radical scavengers, and photosensitizers (Sushen et al. 2017). Sixty carbon atoms are arranged in a soccer ball shape with 20 hexagons and 12 pentagons and 7 Å diameter in fullerenes. Various types of fullerenes include endo- and exohedral fullerenes, heterofullerenes, endohedral metallofullerenes, and alkali-doped fullerenes. Endohedral fullerenes consist of an atom enclosed inside the fullerene, whereas the atom is metallic in case of endohedral metallofullerenes. When alkali metal atoms are present between the fullerenes contributing valence electrons to the neighboring fullerenes, they are known as alkali-doped fullerenes. These are synthesized from larger fullerenes (C_{82} and C_{84}) as smaller fullerenes are synthesized due to chemical reaction of fullerenes with other chemical groups.

Lipid-based			
nanopharmaceuticals	Characterization	Techniques	References
SLNPs and nanostructured lipid carrier	Shape and surface morphology	TEM, SEM, AFM, phase contrast optical microscopy, freeze fracture microscopy	Ganesan and Narayanasamy (2017)
	Size and size distribution	Optical microscopy, SEM/ TEM, photon correlation spectroscopy (PCS)	
	Surface pH and surface potential	pH-sensitive probes, zeta potential measurement	
	Surface charge and electrophoretic mobility	Laser light scattering technique	
	Surface hydrophobicity	Two-phase partition, contact angle measurement probe, X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, hydrophobic interaction, chromatography radiolabel, synchrotron radiation X-ray (SAX)	
	Rheology	Viscometer	
	Density	Gas pycnometer	
	Molecular weight	Gel permeation chromatography (GPC)	
	In vitro release	Dialysis membrane dissolution test apparatus	
Lipid nanoparticles containing hydrophobic	Morphology	Cryotransmission electron microscopy	Kulkarni et al. (2017)
metal nanoparticles	Estimation of total lipid concentration	Phospholipids C assay	
	Estimation of iron oxide concentration	Colorimetric thiocyanate assay	
	Particle size	DLS	
	In vivo pharmacokinetic and biodistribution studies	Measuring LNP labeled with ³ H – Cholesteryl hexadecyl ether using a scintillation counter	
	MRI contrast enhancement studies	In vivo magnetic resonance imaging	

 Table 4.5
 List of techniques employed to characterize lipid-based nanopharmaceuticals

Heterofullerenes contain nitrogen or boron atoms replacing one or more carbon atoms (Thakral and Mehta 2006; Bhatia 2016).

Synthesis of Fullerenes

Fullerene synthesis methods are of five types such as evaporation of high purity carbon by using resistive heating, arc discharge method using AC or DC, laser ablation of a rotating carbon disk in a furnace under flowing argon, flame production of soot from controlled combustion of benzene, and high-frequency inductive heating. These techniques produce carbon soots from which fullerenes are extracted using different solvents (Kroto et al. 1993). Resistive heating of graphite rods is performed in a helium atmosphere at 1300 °C and 1 kilobar pressure. This is the very first method of fullerene synthesis. However, the yield was less than 1% and required purification (Mojica et al. 2013). Carbon arc discharge method involves vaporization of graphite electrodes in low-pressure helium atmosphere by passing electric current through the electrodes generating an arc which produces soot-containing fullerene (Kyesmen et al. 2015). Fullerenes of C_{60} and C_{70} were obtained by combustion of benzene in a flat flame. Fullerenes can be produced in large scale through this technique. The fullerene concentration depends on the height above the burner surface (Mitra et al. 1992). Fullerene synthesis by laser evaporation of carbon starts with vaporization of a carbon source by laser beam. The vapor is carried away by inert gas stream through a zone where fullerenes are formed and grow. In this zone, the temperature is maintained between 1000° to 2000 °C. Fullerene is collected from this zone (Smalley 1994). Thermal evaporation using high-frequency oven at 2700 °C temperature yielded good amount of C60 fullerene. The soots obtained through the above techniques are solubilized in toluene. Fullerenes are separated using various chromatography techniques (Singh and Srivastava 1995). Shi et al. (2014) developed a tumoral pH-sensitive doxorubicin-loaded polyethyleneaminederivatized fullerene to facilitate chemotherapy and photodynamic therapy. Doxorubicin was covalently conjugated with C_{60} -polyethyleneamine fullerene by pH-sensitive hydrazine linkage.

Carbon Dots

Carbon dots are biocompatible and low-cost materials having diameter below 10 nm with excellent fluorescent properties and high resistance to photobleaching. Due to these properties, carbon dots are applied in drug delivery, biological sensing, and imaging and environmental applications (Smagulova et al. 2017; Tuerhong et al. 2017). Carbon dots are of three types, graphene quantum dots, carbon nanodots, and polymer dots. Graphene nanodots are made up of less than five layers of carbon hexatomic ring honeycomb lamella with oxygen-containing functional groups which can be used for further modifications. Carbon nanodots are spherical and can be carbon NPs, without having a crystal lattice or carbon quantum dots with a crystal lattice. Linear polymers or monomers aggregate or cross-linked to form polymer

dot. Polymer chains attached to a carbon core can reassemble to form carbon dot (Zhu et al. 2015; Tuerhong et al. 2017).

Carbon Dot Synthesis

Carbon dots are synthesized from carbon resources such as graphite powder, carbon rods, carbon black, carbon nanotubes, carbon fibers, and candle soot by using an oxidizing acid (HNO₃, HNO₃/H₂SO₄ mixture). The surface is modified by oxygenbased groups to obtain graphene quantum dots, carbon quantum dots, and carbon nanodots (Zhu et al. 2015).

Graphene quantum dots are prepared by top-down and bottom-up approaches. Bottom-up approach includes solution chemistry and carbonization (Kellici et al. 2017). Top-down approach of graphene quantum dot preparation involves exfoliation of graphite powder by mineral acids and oxidizing agents in the first step also known as Hummer's method. In the second step, graphene oxide obtained from the first step is chemically reduced into graphene quantum dots (Paulo et al. 2016). Other top-down approaches of include electrochemistry, metal graphite intercalation, hydrothermal or solvothermal or special oxidation, laser ablation, arc discharge, and nanolithography by reactive ion etching (Zhu et al. 2015). Graphene quantum dots are produced by constant current electrolysis of graphite rod either in ethanol containing sodium methoxide or water as electrolyte (Muthurasu et al. 2016). Electrochemical exfoliation of carbon fibers in ionic liquid also formed graphene quantum dots (Yan et al. 2017). Electrolysis of graphite rod in a solution of tetrabutylammonium, DMSO, and refluxing with nitric acid and sulfuric acid generates multicolor fluorescent graphene quantum dots (Yuan et al. 2015).

Hydrothermal/solvothermal method of graphene oxide synthesis is the most used one among all the methods. In hydrothermal method, water is used as green solvent. Thermal treatment to graphene oxide sheets produces graphene sheets which were further cut by mixed acids under mild sonication. Graphene quantum dots were obtained when the suspension was transferred to a Teflon lined autoclave. In solvothermal reactions, organic acids are used as solvent to split graphene oxide to graphene quantum dot powder. Microwave hydrothermal method integrates hydrothermal method with microwave field, thereby accelerating reaction kinetics, shortening reaction time, and forming novel phases (Xu et al. 2013). Mass scale graphene quantum dots are also produced from graphene oxide by photo-Fenton reaction in which graphene oxide sheets reacted with Fenton's reagent under UV illumination (Zhou et al. 2012). Etching process is a well-known process of nanofabrication. Dry etching process involves breakage of a reactive gas in an etching chamber using a controlled radio frequency voltage. A plasma is created which disrupts the gas molecules into reactive fragments which when collide with the surface form volatile reaction products that etches the sample. If ions are the energetic species, then the etching process is known as reactive ion etching (Karmakar 2015). High-throughput patterning method fabricates uniform graphene quantum dots from graphene films using an etch mask (Fan et al. 2013).

Carbon nanodots are prepared by several existing methods such as laser ablation, pyrolysis, ultrasound, wet oxidation, microwave-assisted synthesis, hydrothermal

synthesis, and electrochemical etching (Wang and Hu 2014; Roy et al. 2015). Microwave-assisted carbon dot synthesis is popular among these methods for its low cost and one-step method. However, surface passivation is required to achieve luminescent carbon dots (Jelinek 2017).

Carbon nanodots and polymer dots can be produced in large-scale techniques involving dehydration and carbonization. These processes can be carried out by various approaches such as hydrothermal, microwave, combustion, pyrolysis in concentrated acid, carbonization in microreactor, microwave hydrothermal, and plasma-hydrothermal methods. These processes result in carbon dots with polydispersity as there is no control in the formation process. When precursors such as polycyclic hydrocarbons were used, size and molecular weight of graphene quantum dots were accurately controlled (Wang et al. 2014).

Quantum yield and photoluminescence of the carbon dots were enhanced by passivation and functionality which involves modification of reactive groups with other chemical groups. Photoluminescence of the carbon dots can also be tuned by surface or edge modification. Cross-linking enhances the photoluminescence property of nonconjugated polymer dots which is known as crosslink-enhanced emission effect (Zhu et al. 2014, 2015). Yao et al. (2016) constructed magnetic-carbon-quantum-dots-probe-labeled apoferritin nanocages for bioimaging and targeted therapy. They started with the synthesis of gadolinium-doped carbon dots by one-step microwave-assisted pyrolysis method. The carbon dot surface was coated with polyethyleneamine. Doxorubicin was loaded onto apoferritin cavity subsequently. Polyethyleneamine-coated and gadolinium-doped carbon dots were terminated with amine groups which were used for linking apoferritin loaded with doxorubicin by modified EDC-NHS method. The resultant compound was linked to folic acid.

Carbon Nanotube

Carbon nanotubes are cylindrical in structure with diameter in nanometer range and length in micrometers. These are single molecules made up of hexagonal network of covalently bonded carbon atoms seems as a graphite sheet being rolled up. The carbon tubes can be single-walled or multiwalled, where the former consists of a single layer of graphene sheet and the later consists of multiple layers of graphene sheets. They also have thermal conductivity, high tensile strength, high resilience, and high current density with changing electronic properties from metallic to semimetallic. In biomedicine, carbon nanotube has wide applications such as sensing, imaging, and drug and gene delivery (Singh et al. 2009).

Carbon Nanotube Synthesis

There are several methods of carbon nanotube synthesis among which three commonly used methods are carbon arc discharge method, laser ablation technique, and chemical vapor deposition technique. Laser ablation and arc discharge method use high temperature which is now replaced by chemical vapor deposition technique which uses low temperature. Additionally, the chemical vapor deposition technique also has control over diameter, carbon nanotube length, alignment, density, orientation, and purity (Eatemadi et al. 2014). Arc discharge method involves generation of an arc between two graphite rods kept few millimeters distance apart inside an inert environment (Hornbostel et al. 2006; Sharma et al. 2015). It is a fast and costeffective method and can be of two types depending on the use of catalyst precursors. In the absence of catalyst precursors, arc discharge method synthesizes multiwalled carbon nanotubes. Conversely, in the presence of catalysts, precursor and a complex anode comprising of graphite and a metal which can be Gd, Ni, Co, Pt, Fe, Ag, Pd, etc. or mixtures of Fe, Co, and Ni with other metals such as Ni-Y, Co-Pt, Co-Ru, Ni-Cu, Fe-Ni, Co-Ni, Co-Cu, Ni-Ti, Fe-No, Ni-Y, etc. synthesize single-walled carbon nanotubes. Higher yield of single-walled carbon nanotubes were obtained with anode comprising Ni-Y-graphite but with little control over chirality or alignment (Eatemadi et al. 2014).

A high-power laser is used to vaporize carbon from graphite block at high temperature in laser ablation technique. Both single and multiwalled carbon nanotube can be synthesized using this technique (https://sites.google.com/site/nanomodern/ Home/CNT/syncnt/laser-ablation). The diameter of carbon nanotubes is controlled by laser power. High-power laser results in thinner carbon nanotubes. Metal particles are also added as catalysts to the graphite target for the synthesis of singlewalled carbon nanotube. Other parameters such as target material (structure and composition), laser properties, buffer gas properties (flow and pressure), chamber conditions (composition and pressure), ambient temperature, and distance between the target and substrate material control the quality and quantity of the synthesized carbon nanotubes. This method results in low metal impurities as metallic atoms tend to evaporate from one end of the tube after its closure (Eatemadi et al. 2014). However, this method has two disadvantages: first, evaporation of carbon source makes it difficult for scale-up production with industrial standard, and second, production of mixed carbon nanotubes requires purification (Kaushik and Majumder 2015).

Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) method is one of the standard methods of carbon nanotubes synthesis. Both single- and multiwalled carbon nanotubes are synthesized by this technique with yield higher than laser ablation and arc discharge methods (Karimi et al. 2015). There are several types of chemical vapor deposition methods used to synthesize carbon nanotubes such as catalytic chemical vapor deposition (CCVD) which can be thermal CCVD or plasma-enhanced CVD, waterassisted CVD, microwave plasma CVD, radio frequency CVD, and hot filament CVD. CCVD is the standard technique for carbon nanotube synthesis (Pantapasis et al. 2017). Thermal CCVD involves pyrolysis of hydrocarbons such as acetylene, ethylene, propylene, methane, benzene, toluene, etc. or other carbon source such as polymers and carbon monoxide mixed with an inert gas. This mixture of gas flows inside a furnace containing substrates coated with catalysts (Ni, Fe, Co) with the furnace temperature maintained between 500 and 1200 °C. The carbon nanotube grows in various forms such as straight or coiled, thin or thick films, powder, aligned or entangled, or in a customized form on a predesigned substrate. The growth of carbon nanotube can also be controlled by temperature, atmosphere, carbon source,

and catalyst. Low temperature, i.e., 600–900 °C, yields multiwalled carbon nanotube, whereas higher temperature such as 900–1200 °C yields single-walled carbon nanotubes. This process has been scaled up to synthesize multiwalled carbon nanotube for commercial use. In plasma-enhanced CVD process, high temperature is replaced by plasma energy sources, and the hydrocarbon feedstocks used are in higher transition state to that of the transition metal catalysts. Multiwalled carbon nanotubes and nanofibers are synthesized in low temperature, whereas singlewalled carbon nanotubes still require higher furnace temperature (Koziol et al. 2010). The characterization techniques employed for carbon-based nanopharmaceuticals are listed in Table 4.6.

Carbon nanomaterials have attracted a great deal of interest in the scientific community for their unprecedented physical and chemical properties. However, due to lack of large-scale fabrication process and difficulty in controlling important parameters, the development of carbon-based nanopharmaceuticals is still in progress. Manipulation of carbon nanotube limits their potential in pharmaceutical industries. Extensive exploration of carbon nanomaterial by scientific community can address these limitations (Nasir et al. 2018).

4.2.2 Inorganic Nanopharmaceuticals

Inorganic NPs can act as efficient nanocarriers due to their small size and stability against enzymatic degradation. Their optical, electronic, and magnetic properties can be tuned by changing their crystal phase, shape, dimensions, composition, and surface properties. Due to their small size, they can be excreted out through urine and feces. However, for FDA approval, their complete clearance after certain time period is required. The inorganic NPs can be widely used as therapeutic and diagnostic purposes. These NPs include semiconductor NPs, plasmonic NPs, magnetic NPs, silica-based NPs, and upconversion NPs. Inorganic NPs are synthesized both by bottom-up and top-down approaches.

Top-down approaches of inorganic NP synthesis include mechanical milling, mechanochemical processing, electroexplosion, sputtering, laser ablation, and nanolithography. Bottom-up approaches include chemical vapor deposition, chemical vapor condensation, plasma arcing, wet chemical method, hydrothermal, solvothermal, reverse micelle method, sol–gel method, sonochemical method, and green synthesis (Kumar and Kumbhat 2016). In bottom-up approach, NP synthesis employs three main components: metal precursors, reducing agents, and stabilizing or capping agents. The formation of NP involves two stages of nucleation and consequent growth. The size of the NPs depends on these two steps. These processes depend on temperature, pH, precursor, reducing agents, and stabilizing agents (Tran and Le 2013).

Table 4.6 List of te	schniques employed to characterize carbon-based and inory	ganic nanopharmaceuticals	
Nanomaterials	Characterization	Techniques	References
Nanodiamond	Particle size, dispersity, and morphology	TEM	Roy et al. (2018)
loaded with	Estimating degree of crystallinity	XRD	
anti-HIV drug	Surface modification	Raman spectroscopy	1
	Biocompatibility	MTS assay	
Carbon-based	Size	DLS, SEM, TEM	Barzegar (2015)
one-dimensional	Surface topography	AFM	
structure	Chemical composition analysis of surface	SdX	
	Purity of the SWCNT, defects, charge transfer, chirality, and diameter	Raman spectroscopy	
	Crystal structure	XRD	
	Thermal stability	TGA	
	Electronic properties carbon nanorods	Field-effect transistor geometry	Ι
	Electrocatalytic activity of nanorods	Cyclic voltammetry	I
Gold and silver	Size	TEM, SEM	Alaqad and Saleh (2016),
nanoparticle	Surface plasmon resonance	Surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy and UV-visible spectroscopy	Christy and Umadevi (2012), Menon et al. (2017) and Kim
	Functional groups on nanoparticles	IR spectroscopy	et al. (2008)
	Crystallite size	XRD	
Copper	Surface plasmon resonance	UV-visible spectroscopy	Camacho-Flores et al. (2015)
nanoparticles	Size	TEM, SAXS, DLS, FESEM	and Saranya et al. (2014)
	Optical properties	UV-visible spectroscopy	
	Crystallinity	XRD	
	Electrochemical characteristics	Cyclic voltammetry	

(contined)

numoo) out oront			
Nanomaterials	Characterization	Techniques	References
ZnO nanoparticles	Size	SEM, TEM	Talam et al. (2012)
	Crystallite size and phase	XRD	
	Optical properties	UV-visible spectrophotometer	
	Quantum confinement	Photoluminescence	
Iron oxide	Size	DLS, SEM, TEM	Ali et al. (2016), Cheng et al.
nanoparticles	Molecular weight	Mass spectrophotometer	(2012) and Campos et al.
	Surface chemistry	FTIR	(2015)
	Crystallinity	XRD	
	Shape, structure, size, and size transportation	SAXS	
	Magnetization	Vibrating sample magnetometry	
	Surface area	Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET)	

(continued)
4.6
Table



Rotation of the milling bowl

Mechanical Milling

Mechanical milling process is widely used among all the top-down approaches to produce nanomaterials, nanograins, nanoalloy, nanocomposite, and nanoquasicrystalline materials. In this method, elemental or prealloyed powders are placed in a high-energy mill along with tungsten or carbide-coated balls (Fig. 4.11). The size of the particles is reduced due to the high-energy collision of these balls with the particles. The kinetics of the milling process depends on the energy transfer from the balls to the powder. Dense materials such as steel or tungsten carbide materials are preferred for the milling balls. Milling conditions (speed and duration, dry or wet milling, temperature), powder material, size, and size distribution of the milling balls govern the milling process (Prasad Yadav et al. 2012). Surfactants such as cationic, anionic, or charge neutral lubricants in the milling process control the nano-/microenvironment of the nanostructured materials so that NPs with improved dispersion are generated (Ullah et al. 2014).

Mechanochemical Processing

NP synthesis by mechanochemical processing involves repeated welding, deformation, and fracture of the reactant mixture. During milling process, nanometer-sized grains are regenerated, and chemical reactions occur at their interface. The chemical reactions that would generally require high temperature can take place at low temperature in a ball mill. Chemical reactions can occur in a steady-state manner or self-propagating combustive manner where the former results in a nanoscale mixture of products and the later results in micron sized particles. Addition of inert diluents to the starting powder reduces the reaction rate and hence avoids mechanochemical reaction. Selection of suitable chemical reaction path depends on stoichiometry of the starting material and milling conditions. Mechanochemical processing can be used to synthesize NPs dispersed in a suitable matrix. The NPs are recovered by washing with appropriate solvents to remove matrix (McCormick et al. 2001; Tsuzuki and McCormick 2004).

Electroexplosion

Electroexplosion technique, an energy-efficient process is based on high-density current pulse passage through a metal wire which results in explosion of products and formation of NPs while passing through a gas atmosphere. This technique can be used to produce NPs of metals, alloys, metal oxides, and metal nitrides. Changes in NP characteristics are generated by changing the parameters of the process. Additionally, NPs obtained under normal conditions are stable but highly active in chemical reactions (Kryzhevich et al. 2017). Electrical explosion of Cu wire in n-hexane containing oleic acid generated surface oxide-free copper NPs (Lee et al. 2014) (Fig. 4.12). The Cu NPs produced through this technique were not aggregated.

Sputtering

Sputtering, a nonthermal process, involves physical ejection of clusters or surface atoms from a surface due to energetic bombarding of atomic or molecular species and momentum transfer between them. Sputter sources can be an ion gun or hollow cathode plasma or an electron gun. In case of magnetron sputtering, interaction is confined near the target region which is an advantage and not seen in diode and triode sputtering process (Kruis et al. 1998; Rajput 2015).



Fig. 4.12 Electroexplosion system. (Source: Lee et al. 2014)

Laser Ablation Technique

High purity NPs or nanofilms can be synthesized by very powerful and versatile laser ablation technique. In this technique, target is bulk sized, and the lasers are either excimer, pulsed yttrium, aluminum garnet, or femtosecond lasers. High-melting point materials can be easily deposited by this technique. α -Fe NPs can also be synthesized by pulsed laser ablation of an iron wire and bulk iron target at atmospheric pressure. Nanoparticle size can be changed by optimizing the laser parameters or ambient gas pressure (Altavilla and Ciliberto 2016).

Nanolithography

Synthesis of NPs with controlled and defined geometries can be achieved by nanolithography (Selvakumar et al. 2014). This technique generates surface with nanosized features by depositing, etching, or writing. Lithography is of different types: optical or photolithography (using light), X-ray lithography (using X-ray), i-beam lithography (using ions), or e-beam lithography (using electrons). Photolithography is a commonly used lithography technique. In the first step, surface is coated with desired substrate and a thin polymer layer of a positive or negative photoresist. Further the surface is covered by a predesigned light blocking mask. After UV exposure, the uncured portions are removed by the developer, while the cured photoresist remains on the substrate as a protective coating. Finally photoresist is removed after substrate etching process. When positive resist is used, direct duplication of the mask is obtained, whereas the use of negative resist generates inverse of it. Several advancements in lithographic techniques have been developed such as dip pen lithography in which a small tip deposits on a positive printing mode. Lithography is used in bioMEMS devices due to their applications in patterning in organic and inorganic materials, hydrogels, membranes, and ion-selective electrodes (Daraio and Jin 2012).

Chemical Vapor Synthesis

In this method, vapor phase precursors are bought into a hot wall reactor under conditions favorable for particle nucleation in vapor phase. The precursors that can be gas, liquid, or solid at ambient conditions are converted to vapor phase before delivering to the reactor. This technique also allows formation of multicomponent NPs using multiple precursors and doped NPs (Swihart 2003).

Chemical Vapor Deposition (CVD) and Chemical Vapor Condensation (CVC)

Deposition of solid particles from vapor or gas phase occurs on a heated surface through chemical reaction. The reaction needs activation energy to proceed which is provided by either high temperature above 900 °C as in thermal chemical vapor deposition method or by plasma at temperatures between 300 and 700°C as in plasma CVD. In laser CVD, laser thermal energy heats an absorbing substrate and pyrolysis occurs. In photolaser CVD, photon induces chemical reaction, and deposition occurs at room temperature. CVC involves pyrolysis of metal organic precursor vapors in a reduced pressure. Doping of NPs can be acquired by supplying two types of metal precursors in a reactor (Rajput 2015).

Sol-Gel Method

This method involves two phases: solution and gelation. Sol is colloidal solution of solid particles, and gel is an interconnected network of solid particles forming a continuous entity usually in a liquid phase. These phases are conserved throughout the sol–gel technology due to the chemical reactions taking place during the gel evolutions. This can be manipulated by altering initial precursors, catalysts, degree of solvation, gelation conditions, and physical processing of the gel. This technique allows formation of solid materials through gelation solution (Owens et al. 2016).

Chemical Reduction Method

In this method, metal salts solubilized in aqueous solution are reduced to zerovalent metal atoms at early stage of nucleation. These nuclei collide with other metal ions, metal atoms, or clusters to generate irreversible "seed" of stable metal nuclei. The diameter of the seed depends on the reducing potential of various metal salts, reducing agents, and strength of metal–metal bond. Examples of reducing agents are ascorbic acid; alkali hydrides, namely, NaBH₄, NaB(C_2H_5)₃H and LiB(C_2H_5)₃H; and citric acid and their salts. Stabilizing agents prevent the synthesized NPs from agglomeration in this process. The stabilization can be electrostatic and/or steric. Ions on the NP surface form electrical double layer cause coulombic repulsion between the particles. Organic molecules on the NP surface act as protective shield. Stabilizing agents used in this process include polymers, (e.g., polyvinylpyrrolidone), surfactants, and organic ligand (e.g., quaternary amines, thiols) (Richards and Bönnemann 2005).

Reverse Micelle Method

Microemulsions are thermodynamically stable dispersion of two partially miscible or immiscible solvents stabilized by surfactants. Water-in-oil microemulsion is a type of microemulsions formed when water is dispersed in hydrocarbon-based continuous phase. Aggregates generated by thermodynamically driven self-assembly of surfactants, also known as reverse or inverted micelle. Two separate microemulsions containing different reactants are prepared and mixed together for NP synthesis. In water-in-oil emulsion, nucleation starts at the edge of the micelle due to oversaturation of reactants in the water. Growth occurs at the nucleation point due to incoming of more reactants by intermicellar exchange (Eastoe et al. 2006).

Hydrothermal and Solvothermal Method

Hydrothermal/solvothermal method involves performing chemical reactions in solvents at temperature around their critical point by heating with autogenous pressure. Therefore, this process is performed in a sealed reactor known as autoclave lined with Teflon or alloy. Inside autoclave extra can or beaker or tube made up of Teflon, gold, silver, or platinum can be used so that autoclave body is protected from solvents that are highly corrosive in high temperature and pressure. The organic solvents commonly used in solvothermal processes include toluene, methanol, 1,4-butanediol, and amines. Solvothermal process using water as solvent is known as hydrothermal. Nucleation starts when the solvent becomes supersaturated. Nuclei grow sequentially or through carriage of units in the solution and their attachment to the surface. Then these units move on the surface and attach to the growth sites. Factors such as additives, precursors, reaction time, and filling factor (the ratio of reactor volume filled with solution to the total reactor volume) affect the nucleation and growth of the NPs in this process (Li et al. 2015).

Sonochemical Method

Among the various gas phase techniques, ultrasound-assisted synthesis is extensively used. Sonochemistry and ultrasonic spray pyrolysis are two types of ultrasound-assisted synthesis techniques. Sonochemical reduction of metal salts is a fast process and does not require any chemical reducing agent. Sonolysis of water generates hydrogen radicals which are responsible for the reduction process. Different types of metallic colloids can be synthesized depending on the time, concentration, ultrasonic frequency, and organic additives. Sonolysis of aqueous solution of metal salts in the presence of air results in the formation of metal oxide NPs. Similarly, metal chalcogenides and carbides are prepared by sonolysis of aqueous solution of metal salts and a chalcogen. Physical effects induced by ultrasound have also been utilized to deposit NPs onto substrates. Ultrasound spray pyrolysis process starts with ultrasonic nebulization of precursor solution and formation of liquid droplets of micrometer size. A gas flow carries these droplets to heating zone where the solvent evaporates, droplets shrink, and solute precipitates after supersaturation due to heating (Tsai et al. 2004; Bang and Suslick 2010).

Electrospinning

A typical electrospinning setup comprises of a syringe pump to hold sample, a highvoltage source, and a collector. In this process, a polymer solution is kept in a syringe, and at the needle tip, the polymer solution is held by surface tension. Highvoltage charge is induced within the polymer when electric field is applied resulting in charge repulsion within the solution. Eventually a jet is initiated due to the charge repulsion which overpowers the surface tension. As this jet travels, solvent is evaporated, and nanofibers are produced. A collector is placed to collect the nanofibers. Electrospinning is an important and popular technique in tissue engineering and drug delivery field (Pham et al. 2006; Sill and Recum 2008).

Green Synthesis of Nanoparticles

NP synthesis by physical and chemical methods is expensive and high-energy consuming and uses toxic and environmentally hazardous chemicals. These processes also generate several byproducts and waste materials which are equally toxic. Moreover, chemical method of NP synthesis increases reactivity and toxicity. Therefore, their use in biomedical field is sometimes questionable. Biogenic approach of NP synthesis is ecofriendly, sustainable, and economical, and the synthesized NPs are free of toxic chemicals (Hussain et al. 2016). Importantly, green synthesis explores biological entities to use their inherent biochemical processes to transform metallic ions to NPs (Baker et al. 2013). During the past decade, it has been established that a wide range of biological entities such as plants, algae, diatoms, bacteria, fungi, yeast, viruses, and single cells are used to synthesize NPs (Parveen et al. 2016). Each biological entity has varying processing capabilities and different mechanisms for the metal and metal oxide NP synthesis. Therefore, the choice of the biological entity is important for the synthesis of NP of desired characteristics (Shah et al. 2015).

Microbe-Mediated Nanoparticle Synthesis

Microorganisms, both unicellular and multicellular, are reported to synthesize NPs through bottom-up approach by reduction/oxidation of metal ions using biomolecules such as enzymes, sugars, and proteins secreted by them. NPs synthesized by microbes can be applied in various fields such as drug delivery and sensors for diagnostics owing to their less toxicity. Metallic NPs, metal oxide NPs including magnetic and nonmagnetic oxide NPs, sulfide NPs, and other miscellaneous NPs are synthesized using microorganisms (Li et al. 2011).

Microbes synthesize inorganic materials either extra or intracellularly, where the former is desirable for easy recovery (Khandel and Shahi 2016). Usually metal ions are trapped on the surface or inside the microbial cells due to electrostatic interaction between ions and cell membranes. They are then reduced to NPs in the presence of enzymes such as NADH and NADH-dependent nitrate reductase enzymes. Some metallophillic bacteria have the genetic system which enables cellular detoxification against heavy metals such as cadmium, copper, nickel ions, etc. through reductive precipitation, complexation, and efflux mechanisms (Li et al. 2011). In case of extracellular nanoparticle synthesis, there are possibly two routes of NPs synthesis: (i) the microbes release biomolecules to the external medium which reduces the metal ions to form NPs. (ii) NPs are synthesized inside the microbe and then released to exterior (Singh et al. 2015).

Plant-Mediated Nanoparticle Synthesis

Biosynthesis of metallic NP using living plants (intracellular), plant extracts (extracellular), and phytochemicals are considered as an appropriate substitute to traditional physical and chemical methods (Iravani 2011). The use of agricultural wastes for NP synthesis further lowers the cost of NP synthesis many folds (Gan and Li 2012). The size of the plant-mediated synthesized NPs is comparable to those obtained from physical and chemical methods (Parsons et al. 2007). However, to control the size of the NPs, purified phytoconstituents such as polyphenols, proteins, and organic acids are used to synthesize NPs (Basha et al. 2010; Tamuly et al. 2014).

Plant Biomass-Mediated Nanoparticle Synthesis

Researchers employ the ability of plant species to accumulate heavy metals (phytoextraction) and detoxification (phytoremediation) to synthesize metallic NPs. Using *Medicago sativa* grown in a solid media, gold and silver NPs were synthesized. Using intracellular route, other plants are also reported which synthesize various NPs including *Brassica juncea*, *Festuca rubra*, *Triticum aestivum*, *Chilopsis linearis*, *Avena sativa*, and *Sesbania drummondii*. The intracellular route of NP synthesis has disadvantages such as deviation in reducing and stabilizing potential of the bioorganic compounds in different plant parts and conditions resulting in variations in degree of polydispersity and morphology of the nanoparticles. Additionally, the downstream processes such as recovery of the NP and their purification are tedious jobs. Due to these drawbacks, this approach has been outdated (Dauthal and Mukhopadhyay 2016).

Plant Extract-Mediated Nanoparticle Synthesis

This is an extracellular process in which the phytoconstituents are extracted from the plants and directly used for the NP synthesis. The protocol starts with collection



Fig. 4.13 Depiction of silver NPs synthesis using plant extract

of plant parts and cleaning to remove dust, epiphytes, and necrotic plants. The cleaned plant parts are dried under shade and ground to powder by domestic blender. Extract of the plant is prepared by hot or cold maceration process. The extract is filtered and mixed with metal ions such as silver nitrate or gold chloride solution at optimized concentration to synthesize NPs (Fig. 4.13). Synthesis of NPs is verified by UV-visible spectrum analysis. Plant extract containing amino acids, proteins, enzymes, polysaccharides, vitamins, and secondary metabolites (alkaloids, tannins, phenolics, saponins, terpenoids) act as both reducing and stabilizing agents in this technique (Ahmed et al. 2016). Biosynthesis of metallic NPs using plant extracts is simple, one-step method, fast, ecofriendly, and biocompatible method for the synthesis of NPs. This process has easy downstream processing and NP recovery and can be easily scaled up. Green synthesis method generates highly reactive nanoparticles (FCC structure) with energetically favorable shape. For various commercial applications, nanoparticles with spherical shape and growth along (111) plane are desirable for their reactivity (Dauthal and Mukhopadhyay 2016; Iravani 2011).

Inorganic nanoparticles are characterized by high-throughput standardized methods. Still there is a need of rapid assessment of their toxicity under different environment conditions. In vivo toxicity of inorganic nanoparticles cannot be predicted based on the results of in vitro toxicity assessment with cells and proteins. Further, preclinical studies using animal models mimicking human system with standardized and validated protocol should be developed so that the effect of nanopharmaceuticals can be explained for a given dose and duration of exposure. The biological interaction of the nanoparticles inside body during their life cycle along due to occupational exposure and from environmental release should be governed and regulated (Hofmann-Amtenbrink et al. 2015). Although nanoparticle-based imaging offers enhanced detection sensitivity and improved chemical and optical stability, drawbacks such as tissue damage on exposure to UV radiation used for quantum dot excitation prevent their extensive use in clinics. Magnetic susceptibility artifacts arising from T2 MRI contrast agents and toxicity of heavy metal-containing nanoparticles should be corrected in nanoparticle imaging system (Kim et al. 2018).

4.3 Characterization of Nanopharmaceuticals

Nanopharmaceuticals synthesized from above synthetic procedures exhibit different physical, chemical, and biological properties than their counterpart bulk materials due to their nanosize and large surface to volume ratio. The properties of the nanostructures change according to their size and shape. Various advanced techniques and sophisticated instruments have been developed by different interdisciplinary areas aiming to observe nanostructured objects with high resolution. These techniques are discussed below.

4.3.1 Imaging Through Electron Microscope

Electron microscopes were developed to overcome the limitations of simple optical microscopes which have a resolution power around 0.2 μ m 200 nm. On the other hand, electron microscopes have a resolution power around picometer range. Electron microscopy and scanning probe microscopy are two types of electron microscopy imaging techniques. In case of electron microscopy, electron beam is focused on the sample to obtain an image, whereas in scanning probe microscopy, a probe of nanometer range scans over the sample surface revealing the 3D structure of the material surface. Further, there are two types of electron microscopes: scanning electron microscope and transmission electron microscope. A probe beam scans the sample surface in scanning electron microscope, whereas in transmission electron microscope, a probe beam passes through the sample which is differentially refracted and absorbed, and an image is created (Kumar and Kumbhat 2016).

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

SEM allows imaging of NPs, nanofibers, nanocoating fracture surface, and surface configuration of polymer composites with clarity. Atomic flat surfaces, multilayered nanowires, carbon nanotubes, and biomolecules are also characterized by SEM. In tissue engineering, cell growth and scaffold construction are visualized through SEM. The resolution of SEM is up to 5 nm. Moreover, elemental composition and crystallographic, magnetic, and electrical properties of the sample can be obtained through SEM with advanced instrumentation. For SEM, sample should be dry and coated with conducting material such as gold. The dried powdered sample is kept over a sample holder which is kept inside SEM instrument, and vacuum is created. A beam of electrons is focused onto the sample. Surface structure and elemental composition is analyzed from the backscattered electrons, secondary electrons, auger electrons, and X-rays generated from the surface. Elemental composition and their proportion are analyzed by SEM in conjunction with energy-dispersive X-rays (EDX). Samples should be dry and conductive for SEM analysis (Kumar and Kumbhat 2016; Linkov et al. 2013).

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

TEM involves imaging using transmitted electrons through the specimen. Image of high resolution, i.e., X1000000, with diffraction information is obtained from TEM. TEM also characterizes nanocomposites and reports about their extent of dispersion, intercalation, and exfoliation. High-resolution transmission electron microscopy (HRTEM) is another tool used for NP characterization with resolving power around 1 Å. Morphology (particle shape and size) and information on crystallography, elemental composition, phases (lattice spacing), topography, and elemental mapping of the nanomaterials are obtained through TEM analysis. Sample preparation for TEM is an extensive process for biological samples though nanopowders can be easily deposited onto a copper grid. Biological samples are unstable in vacuum; therefore they are fixed using fixating agents such as glutaraldehyde and paraformaldehyde, dehydrated and stabilized using resins. Biological samples and polymeric nanocomposites are cut into ultrathin slices under cryogenic condition so that they can be electron transparent. Mostly nanoclusters, nanocrystals, nanoparticles, quantum dots, nanowires, nanotubes, dendrimers, and biomolecules are analyzed using TEM. Image contrast can be enhanced using metal stains such as lead citrate (Kumar and Kumbhat 2016). Sample thickness limit for TEM is 200 nm. Sample preparation technique is time consuming, and ultrahigh vacuum is required for atomic scale resolution. For biological samples there is a chance of material damage by the electron beam (Linkov et al. 2013).

4.3.2 Scanning Probe Microscopy

This technique uses a physical probe that scans the sample surface by raster scanning motion, and an image is generated (https://physics.boisestate.edu/kimresearch/ instruments/). This technique is useful for measurement of surface topography and surface properties at atomic scale (Bottomley 1998). Both conductive and nonconductive nanomaterials, nanotubes, and nanocrystals are characterized by scanning probe microscopy. Scanning tunnel microscopy and atomic force microscopy are the most widely used variants of scanning probe microscopy (Mozafari et al. 2005).

Scanning Tunnel Microscope (STM)

In this microscopy, the conducting sample surface and the metal tip are brought very close to each other. When the tip-sample distance is in the range of 1–2 nm, a tip-sample voltage drives a measurable tunneling current through vacuum. STM with spectroscopic capabilities allows atomic resolution imaging of conducting surfaces and manipulation of atoms and molecules of the sample (Natelson 2015). STM allows to study surface topology, surface structures, surface reactions, and single

point defects of the nanomaterials. The sample should be conductive, and electrical and mechanical noises should be minimized for STM (Linkov et al. 2013).

Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)

Considering the limitations of STM, AFM was developed. Using AFM, visualization of biological entity-coated samples is possible in air, controlled environment even in liquid which is impossible for STM. This is a nondestructive technique with high 3D spatial resolution. Besides, it also provides information about size, morphology, surface area, surface texture, and volume distribution. In this technique, the tip is mounted on a cantilever which moves over the sample surface. Height changes caused by particles are converted to voltage change. Minute deflection occurring on the cantilever due to the force between cantilever and sample surface is detected optically. It is necessary for NPs to be fixed onto a sticky surface such as mica, TempFix, and Tacky Dot slides (Maver et al. 2016). Slow scanning speed of AFM that gives rise to thermal drift is a limitation of this technique. AFM images might get affected by hysteresis of the piezoelectric material (Linkov et al. 2013). Applications of AFM in nanopharmaceuticals characterizations are wide including drug discovery, drug delivery, and drug transport (Maver et al. 2016).

4.3.3 Spectroscopy Techniques

Spectroscopy deals with the interaction of matters with electromagnetic radiation. NPs have different optical properties according to their size, shape, agglomeration state, and refractive index near NP surface. They are characterized using absorption, transmission, and scattering of the electromagnetic radiations. A lot of information about nanomaterial properties can be decoded using different wavelength of electromagnetic radiations.

UV-Visible Spectroscopy

UV-visible spectroscopy uses light of UV-visible spectral region. When the light energy matches with the electronic transition within the molecule, it is absorbed to promote electrons to high-energy orbital. Optical spectrophotometer records the absorbance degree at each wavelength and presents a graph of absorbance versus wavelength (https://www2.chemistry.msu.edu/faculty/reusch/virttxtjml/Spectrpy/ UV-Vis/spectrum.htm). The wavelength at which maximum absorbance is recorded is a characteristic for a specific NP. Metallic NPs such as gold and silver are characterized by plasmon resonance absorption which gives a characteristic color when present in solution. When these NPs are excited with electromagnetic radiation, collective oscillation of conduction band electrons results in wavelength-selective absorption which is called as surface plasmon resonance (Krajczewski et al. 2017). If an incident light has an energy close to the excitation energy of surface plasmon oscillations, the local electromagnetic field near the particle can be higher in magnitude than the incident fields. The incident light around the resonant peak wavelength is scattered very strongly then. Particle morphology (size and shape), interparticle coupling (e.g., state of aggregation), and dielectric environment (surrounding medium and substrate coating) determine the exact position, shape and intensity of the localized NP surface plasmon resonance (Grigorchuk 2012).

Vibrational Spectroscopies: Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) and Raman Spectroscopy

FTIR and Raman spectroscopies complement each other in investigating the structure of the molecule. Vibrations that are strong in infrared spectrum are weak in Raman spectrum and vice versa. The IR spectrum reveals the molecular structure and functional groups and bonds present in the sample qualitatively through their characteristic frequency of the bands. It covers 50 to 12,500 cm⁻¹ region. When IR passes through an organic sample, some frequencies are absorbed, and others are transmitted according to the type of bond and functional groups present in them. However, FTIR is unable to provide quantitative data (Garhwal 2011).

In Raman spectroscopy, when sample is illuminated with monochromatic laser, light interaction of the sample with the light results in scattering of light. Much of the scattered light has frequency equal to the frequency of incident light and constitutes Rayleigh scattering. When the scattered light has frequency different from incident radiation, they are known as Raman scattering. Raman spectrum presents intensity versus wavelength shift. Raman spectrum is recorded over 10 to 4000 cm⁻¹. Using Raman spectroscopy, molecules are identified as vibrational information is specific to chemical bonds and symmetry (Bumbrah and Sharma 2016). Raman signals are weak for metals as their surface plasmons limit light penetration. Particles with fluorescence properties also mask the Raman spectra. Quantitative analysis of different phases is not possible in Raman spectroscopy (Gouadec and Colomban 2007).

X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS)

XPS technique is applied to broad range of materials and provides quantitative and chemical state information from the surface of the materials (https://www.phi.com/ surface-analysis-techniques/xps-esca.html). Nanolayers, nanoparticles, thin corrosion, block polymer, and copolymeric light-emitting diodes are characterized by XPS. In XPS, X-rays of well-defined energy are bombarded to the substrate so that they interact with the core electrons present around the nucleus of the different atoms present in the sample. If these electrons escape, they are emitted at a welldefined kinetic energy which is different for different types of atoms and orbitals and even the same type of atom and orbital in different binding states. An analyzer separates electrons with different kinetic energy and represents a result in a spectrum. This spectrum shows the photoelectron intensity, types of atoms present in the surface layer, and their abundance. High vacuum is required for this method, and during analysis there is a chance of sample degradation. Errors arise in analyzing chemically heterogeneous surfaces through XPS (Claesson 2007).

4.3.4 Scattering Techniques

Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)

DLS is mostly used to determine size and size distribution of the NPs in solution. It measures the hydrodynamic radius of the NPs. This technique relies on the Rayleigh scattering from the suspended NPs that undergo Brownian motion. The hydrodynamic diameter of the NPs is calculated from their diffusion speed on laser light illumination. DLS provides agglomeration status of the NPs in solution. Size of proteins, polymers, micelles, carbohydrates, and NPs can be characterized by DLS. However DLS has some limitations. This concept is applicable for monodisperse sample and unable to resolve polydisperse samples (Fissan et al. 2014).

X-Ray Diffraction (XRD)

Uniqueness of X-ray diffraction pattern for each crystallite is used for the identification of a chemical compound. Bulk polycrystalline solids, membranes, liquid-suspended particles, and biological objects are analyzed by XRD. In pharmaceutical industry, XRD is used in drug development, testing, and production. The consistency in production of drug is checked by XRD as a quality control process. Crystallite size, space between lattice planes, and crystalline phase are determined by XRD. It also helps in studying the nature of the polymers and nanocomposites. It allows differentiation between optical isomers, enantiomers, and cis/trans isomers. The entire electron density pattern can be mapped using XRD. During operation, when X-rays falls over a crystal or powder, they scatter producing a diffraction pattern which informs about the atomic arrangement in a crystal. XRD is a nondestructive technique with several other advantages such as easy sample preparation, high sensitivity, reliability, simplicity, depth profiling, and low maintenance cost. This technique is limited by peak broadening at small-sized crystal. Recent innovation and synchrotron radiation in XRD analyzes bulk polymers, biopolymers, and multilayered semiconductors with 0.5-500 nm thickness. The International Centre for Diffraction Data (ICDD) has stored powder diffraction data of more than 600,000 substances. Information on the structures of organic, inorganic, and organometallic substances are also stored in Crystallography Open Database. The Cambridge Structural Database contains structures of small organic and organometallic molecules (Chauhan and Chauhan 2014).

Small-Angle X-Ray Scattering (SAXS)

The ability to resolve features in the range between 1 and 100 nm at high resolution of SAXS technique is used to characterize the nanoparticle in real time and under realistic sample environment. Particles such as aerosols, micelles, minerals, and particles synthesized through sol–gel reactions are studied by SAXS. SAXS measures only the electron density differences. SAXS results should be compared with the TEM results. TEM analysis is limited to a particular analysis area, whereas SAXS provides structural data averaged over macroscopic sample volume. SAXS allows to determine particle dimensionality, size distribution, core–shell morphology edge length of polyhedral particles and nanoparticle concentration (Li et al. 2016; Allec et al. 2015).

Zeta Potential Analysis

Zeta potential of a drug affects its stability, intracellular trafficking, transfection efficiency, and sustainability in bloodstream. Surface charge of nanopharmaceuticals is an important aspect for drug delivery. Without surface modification, the NPs are opsonized and massively cleared from the bloodstream by macrophages of reticuloendothelial systems. Particle size and zeta potential of a gene carrying nanomaterial should be examined for successful transfection (Honary and Zahir 2013). In a colloidal system, zeta potential of a particle can be defined as the potential difference between the stationary fluids attached to the particle surface and the dispersion medium present away from the particle surface. Zeta potential indicates the stability of the colloidal system. High zeta potential indicates more dispersion of the particles, whereas less potential denotes less repulsion and more attraction between the particles resulting in agglomeration. In a zeta potential measuring instrument, the potential is calculated from the electrophoretic movement of the particles. When electric field is applied to a colloidal system, they move according to their surface charge which scatters the laser light. The electrophoretic mobility can be calculated from the phase change in the scattered light (Greenwood 2003; Kirby 2010; Hanaor et al. 2012).

4.3.5 Surface Hydrophobicity Studies

Surface hydrophobicity of nanopharmaceuticals is also one of the surface properties which decides their fate, transport, bioavailability, and toxicity. Surface hydrophobicity of engineered NPs are characterized by surface tension, surface adsorption of hydrophobic or hydrophilic molecules, and affinity coefficient. Surface tension is measured by contact angle measurement employing sessile drop Young–Laplace method. Surface adsorption method assesses the affinity of the nanoparticle to a standard hydrophilic or hydrophobic molecule. In the partitioning method, the nanoparticles are distributed between two immiscible liquid phases such as water and octanol (Xiao and Wiesner 2012). Xiao and Weisner performed Rose Bengal dye and naphthalene adsorption, octanol–water affinity coefficient, and contact angle determination experiments to characterize surface hydrophobicity of carbonand metal-based NPs with and without surface coatings.

4.3.6 Drug Release Studies

In vitro drug release from nanopharmaceuticals can be studied by direct diffusion method in which NPs carrying drug are dispersed in a buffer for a period of time. The drug released into the buffer is analyzed spectrophotometrically (Nimesh et al. 2006; Anitha et al. 2011; López Goerne et al. 2013). Bohrey et al. (2016) used dialysis bags to perform drug release experiment. Other methods of drug release studies include size-exclusion chromatography, ultrafiltration, and spectral changes between free and entrapped drug (Fugit 2014).

4.3.7 Biocompatibility Studies

It is proposed that NPs of size less than 10 nm act similar to a gas and can easily enter human tissues resulting in disruption of normal biochemical environment of cells (Bahadar et al. 2016). Therefore, nanopharmaceuticals should be characterized for its biocompatibility to ensure safe drug release with minimum toxicity. Studies regarding interaction of a drug with the target environment are also essential (Naahidi et al. 2013). NPs as biosensors and delivery vehicle of drug and gene come in direct contact with blood; therefore, their hemocompatibility is also studied. Hemocomapatibility studies are performed by evaluating red blood cell aggregation, hemolysis study, and coagulation behavior (Li et al. 2012). Cellular toxicity of the nanomaterials in various cell lines is evaluated by assays such as cellular morphology assay and cell viability assays. Cell viability assays are mostly dye-dependent assays which involve inclusion, exclusion, or conversion of an added dye. Enzymatic conversion of a dye precursor in living cells versus dead cells also indicates cell viability in these assays. Dye-dependent assays are quantified colorimetrically. These assays include formazan-based assays (MTT, MTS, WST assays), lactate dehydrogenase assay (LDH assay), mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) assay, ATP-luciferin luminescence, adenylate kinase release, and thiobarbituric assay. Dyes such as resazurin, trypan blue, neutral red, and Coomassie blue are used for cell viability assays. Cell stress assays are performed to evaluate the nonlethal cell injuries and changes in cell behavior due to nanomaterial-induced changes in the surrounding environment. Altered reactive oxygen species levels, reduced glutathione (GSH) levels, cytokine protein expression, cell stress-related gene, and protein expression due to cellular stress are also measured. Particle uptake assay and cell visualization distinguish normal cells from injured or dying cells (Jones and Grainger 2009). In vivo studies of NP toxicity in appropriate animal model are requisite due to the growing apprehensions of FDA (Bahadar et al. 2016; Adabi et al. 2017). Zebrafish embryos were used as a vertebrate model system, and their mortality was assessed after a period of NP exposure (Lathamuthiah et al. 2015).

4.4 Conclusion

The use of nanotechnology in pharmaceutical industry has revolutionized site-specific drug delivery, therapy, and disease diagnosis. Nanopharmaceuticals are synthesized and formulated to meet the desired pharmacokinetics and therapeutic value with minimized toxicity. Therefore, synthesis of nanopharmaceuticals of desired properties is an important step of nanopharmaceutical development. Researchers are continuously working on this part which is evident from the number of articles published in this area. Once synthesized, characterization of these nanopharmaceuticals is equally important. High-end sophisticated instruments are now being used to characterize their physical, chemical, and biological properties. Understanding the mechanism of nanopharmaceutical uptake, transport, interaction with biological components, and their removal from the biological system is essential. Toxicity assessment of these nanopharmaceuticals toward biological systems and environment is also required. In order to establish nanopharmaceuticals as novel therapeutics for patients, selection of appropriate synthetic approach, assessment of their therapeutic value, toxicity, and quality at each step during large-scale production are compulsory.

Acknowledgment We would like to thank the Department of Biotechnology, New Delhi, Government of India, for providing us support and facility to carry out our research work at Institutional Biotech Hub, Centre for the Environment, IIT Guwahati (Project No. BT/04/ NE/2009). SO and DS would also like to thank IITG and MHRD for the financial support in the form of fellowship. We extend our thanks to the Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, IIT Guwahati.

References

- Abbasi E, Aval SF, Akbarzadeh A, Milani M, Nasrabadi HT, Joo SW, Hanifehpour Y, Nejati-Koshki K, Pashaei-Asl R (2014) Dendrimers: synthesis, applications, and properties. Nanoscale Res Lett 9(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-247
- Adabi M, Naghibzadeh M, Adabi M, Zarrinfard MA, Esnaashari SS, Seifalian AM, Faridi-Majidi R, Tanimowo Aiyelabegan H, Ghanbari H (2017) Biocompatibility and nanostructured materials: applications in nanomedicine. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 45(4):833–842. https://doi. org/10.1080/21691401.2016.1178134
- Ahmed S, Ahmad M, Swami BL, Ikram S (2016) A review on plants extract mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles for antimicrobial applications: a green expertise. J Adv Res 7(1):17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2015.02.007
- Alaqad K, Saleh TA (2016) Gold and silver nanoparticles: synthesis methods, characterization routes and applications towards drugs. J Environ Anal Toxicol 6(384):2161–0525. https://doi. org/10.4172/2161-0525.1000384
- Ali A, Hira Zafar MZ, Ul Haq I, Phull AR, Ali JS, Hussain A (2016) Synthesis, characterization, applications, and challenges of iron oxide nanoparticles. Nanotechnol Sci Appl 9:49–67. https://doi.org/10.2147/NSA.S99986
- Allec N, Choi M, Yesupriya N, Szychowski B, White MR, Kann MG et al (2015) Small-angle X-ray scattering method to characterize molecular interactions: proof of concept. Sci Rep 5:12085. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12085
- Al-Sabagh AM, Kabel KI, El-Din MN, Elsharaky EA (2012) Synthesis of polyalkylacrylate nanolatexes by microemulsion polymerization method. Egypt J Pet 21(2):81–87. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2012.11.001
- Altavilla C, Ciliberto E (eds) (2016) Inorganic nanoparticles: synthesis, applications, and perspectives. CRC Press, 576 pages
- Amgoth C, Dharmapuri G (2016) Synthesis and characterization of polymeric nanoparticles and capsules as payload for anticancer drugs and nanomedicines. Mater Today: Proceed 3(10):3833–3837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2016.11.036
- Amoabediny G, Haghiralsadat F, Naderinezhad S, Helder MN, Akhoundi Kharanaghi E, Mohammadnejad Arough J, Zandieh-Doulabi B (2018) Overview of preparation methods of polymeric and lipid-based (niosome, solid lipid, liposome) nanoparticles: A comprehensive review. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 67(6):383–400. https://doi.org/10.1080/0091403 7.2017.1332623
- Anitha A, Deepagan VG, Rani VD, Menon D, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2011) Preparation, characterization, in vitro drug release and biological studies of curcumin loaded dextran sulphate–chitosan nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 84(3):1158–1164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2011.01.005
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S (2016) Nanoparticles in the clinic. Bioeng Transl Med 1(1):10–29. https://doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10003
- Anselmo AC, Prabhakarpandian B, Pant K, Mitragotri S (2017) Clinical and commercial translation of advanced polymeric nanoparticle systems: opportunities and material challenges. Translat Mater Res 4(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-1613/aa5468
- Azimvand J, Didehban K, Mirshokrai SA (2018) Preparation and characterization of lignin polymeric nanoparticles using the green solvent ethylene glycol: acid precipitation technology. Bioresources 13(2):2887–2897
- Badran MM, Mady MM, Ghannam MM, Shakeel F (2017) Preparation and characterization of polymeric nanoparticles surface modified with chitosan for target treatment of colorectal cancer. Int J Biol Macromol 95:643–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.11.098
- Bahadar H, Maqbool F, Niaz K, Abdollahi M (2016) Toxicity of nanoparticles and an overview of current experimental models. Iran Biomed J 20(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.7508/ ibj.2016.01.001
- Baig T, Nayak J, Dwivedi V, Singh A, Srivastava A, Tripathi PK (2015) A review about dendrimers: synthesis, types, characterization and applications. Int J Adv Pharm Biol Chem 4(1):44–59
- Baker S, Harini BP, Rakshith D, Satish S (2013) Marine microbes: invisible nanofactories. J Pharm Res 6(3):383–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopr.2013.03.001
- Bang JH, Suslick KS (2010) Applications of ultrasound to the synthesis of nanostructured materials. Adv Mater 22(10):1039–1059. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200904093
- Barzegar H (2015) Synthesis and characterization of carbon based one-dimensional structures: tuning physical and chemical properties. Doctoral dissertation, Umeå University. Retrieved from http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:umu:diva-97551

- Basha SK, Govindaraju K, Manikandan R, Ahn JS, Bae EY, Singaravelu G (2010) Phytochemical mediated gold nanoparticles and their ptp 1b inhibitory activity. Colloids Surf B: Biointerfaces 75(2):405–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2009.09.008
- Bhatia S (2016) Nanoparticles types, classification, characterization, fabrication methods and drug delivery applications. In: Natural polymer drug delivery systems. Springer, Cham, pp 33–93
- Bisht S, Feldmann G, Koorstra JBM, Mullendore M, Alvarez H, Karikari C et al (2008) In vivo characterization of a polymeric nanoparticle platform with potential oral drug delivery capabilities. Mol Cancer Ther 7(12):3878–3888. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0476
- Bobo D, Robinson KJ, Islam J, Thurecht KJ, Corrie SR (2016) Nanoparticle-based medicines: a review of FDA-approved materials and clinical trials to date. Pharm Res 33(10):2373–2387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1958-5
- Bohrey S, Chourasiya V, Pandey A (2016) Polymeric nanoparticles containing diazepam: preparation, optimization, characterization, in-vitro drug release and release kinetic study. Nano Convergence 3(1)
- Bondì ML, Di Gesù R, Craparo EF (2012) Lipid nanoparticles for drug targeting to the brain. In: Methods in enzymology, vol 508. Academic Press, pp 229–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-391860-4.00012-4
- Bottomley LA (1998) Scanning probe microscopy. Anal Chem 70:425–476. https://doi. org/10.1021/a19800110
- Bumbrah GS, Sharma RM (2016) Raman spectroscopy-basic principle, instrumentation and selected applications for the characterization of drugs of abuse. Egypt J Forensic Sci 6(3):209–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejfs.2015.06.001
- Buse J, El-Aneed A (2010) Properties, engineering and applications of lipid-based nanoparticle drug-delivery systems: current research and advances. Nanomedicine 5(8):1237–1260. https:// doi.org/10.2217/nnm.10.107
- Byrappa K, Ohara S, Adschiri T (2008) Nanoparticles synthesis using supercritical fluid technology–towards biomedical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60(3):299–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.09.001
- Camacho-Flores BA, Martínez-Álvarez O, Arenas-Arrocena MC, Garcia-Contreras R, Argueta-Figueroa L, de la Fuente-Hernández J, Acosta-Torres LS (2015) Copper: synthesis techniques in nanoscale and powerful application as an antimicrobial agent. J Nanomater 16(1). https:// doi.org/10.1155/2015/415238
- Caminade AM, Laurent R, Majoral JP (2005) Characterization of dendrimers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 57(15):2130–2146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2005.09.011
- Campos EA, Pinto DVBS, Oliveira JISD, Mattos EDC, Dutra RDCL (2015) Synthesis, characterization and applications of iron oxide nanoparticles-A short review. J Aerosp Technol Manag 7(3):267–276. https://doi.org/10.5028/jatm.v7i3.471
- Capek I (2001) Microemulsion polymerization of styrene in the presence of a cationic emulsifier. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 92(1–3):195–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8686(00)00072-5
- Chauhan A, Chauhan P (2014) Powder XRD technique and its applications in science and technology. J Anal Bioanal Techn 5(5):1–5. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-9872.1000212
- Chen G, Roy I, Yang C, Prasad PN (2016) Nanochemistry and nanomedicine for nanoparticlebased diagnostics and therapy. Chem Rev 116(5):2826–2885. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. chemrev.5b00148
- Cheng Z, Tan ALK, Tao Y, Shan D, Ting KE, Yin XJ (2012) Synthesis and characterization of iron oxide nanoparticles and applications in the removal of heavy metals from industrial wastewater. Int J Photoenergy 2012:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/608298
- Cholkar K, Gilger BC, Mitra AK (2016) Topical delivery of aqueous micellar resolvin E1 analog (RX-10045). Int J Pharm 498(1–2):326–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.12.037
- Christy AJ, Umadevi M (2012) Synthesis and characterization of monodispersed silver nanoparticles. Adv Nat Sci Nanosci Nanotechnol 3(3):035013. https://doi.org/10.1088/2043-6262/3/035013
- Claesson PM (2007) New techniques for optimization of particulate cleaning. In: Handbook for cleaning/decontamination of surfaces. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 885–927

- Couvreur P, Dubernet C, Puisieux F (1995) Controlled drug delivery with nanoparticles: current possibilities and future trends. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 41(1):2–13. ISSN: 09396411
- Crespy D, Landfester K (2010) Miniemulsion polymerization as a versatile tool for the synthesis of functionalized polymers. Beilstein J Org Chem 6:1132–1148. https://doi.org/10.3762/ bjoc.6.130
- Daraio C, Jin S (2012) Synthesis and patterning methods for nanostructures useful for biological applications. In: Nanotechnology for biology and medicine. Springer, New York, pp 27–44
- Dauthal P, Mukhopadhyay M (2016) Noble metal nanoparticles: plant-mediated synthesis, mechanistic aspects of synthesis, and applications. Ind Eng Chem Res 55(36):9557–9577. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.iecr.6b00861
- Desgouilles S, Vauthier C, Bazile D, Vacus J, Grossiord JL, Veillard M, Couvreur P (2003) The design of nanoparticles obtained by solvent evaporation: a comprehensive study. Langmuir 19(22):9504–9510. https://doi.org/10.1021/la034999q
- Devalapally H, Chakilam A, Amiji MM (2007) Role of nanotechnology in pharmaceutical product development. J Pharm Sci 96(10):2547–2565. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.20875
- Eastoe J, Hollamby MJ, Hudson L (2006) Recent advances in nanoparticle synthesis with reversed micelles. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 128:5–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CIS.2006.11.009
- Eatemadi A, Daraee H, Karimkhanloo H, Kouhi M, Zarghami N, Akbarzadeh A, Abasi M, Hanifehpour Y, Joo SW (2014) Carbon nanotubes: properties, synthesis, purification, and medical applications. Nanoscale Res Lett 9(1):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-393
- Fan L, Zhu M, Lee X, Zhang R, Wang K, Wei J, Zhong M, Wu D, Zhu H (2013) Direct synthesis of graphene quantum dots by chemical vapor deposition. Part Part Syst Charact 30(9):764–769. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppsc.201300125
- Fissan H, Ristig S, Kaminski H, Asbach C, Epple M (2014) Comparison of different characterization methods for nanoparticle dispersions before and after aerosolization. Anal Methods 6(18):7324–7334. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ay01203h
- Fonseca AC, Ferreira P, Cordeiro RA, Mendonça PV, Góis JR, Gil MH, Coelho JF (2013) Drug delivery systems for predictive medicine: polymers as tools for advanced applications. In: New strategies to advance pre/diabetes care: integrative approach by PPPM. Springer, Cham, pp 399–455
- Fugit KD (2014) Quantification of factors governing drug release kinetics from nanoparticles: a combined experimental and mechanistic modeling approach.
- Gan PP, Li SFY (2012) Potential of plant as a biological factory to synthesize gold and silver nanoparticles and their applications. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 11(2):169–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-012-9278-7
- Ganesan P, Narayanasamy D (2017) Lipid nanoparticles: different preparation techniques, characterization, hurdles, and strategies for the production of solid lipid nanoparticles and nanostructured lipid carriers for oral drug delivery. Sustain Chem Pharm 6:37–56. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scp.2017.07.002
- Garhwal S (2011) Fourier transform infrared (ft-ir) spectroscopy in an-overview. Res J Med Plants 5:127–135. https://doi.org/10.3923/rjmp.2011.127.135
- Girotra P, Singh SK, Nagpal K (2013) Supercritical fluid technology: a promising approach in pharmaceutical research. Pharm Dev Technol 18(1):22–38. https://doi.org/10.3109/1083745 0.2012.726998
- Goerne TML, García MGL, Grada GR, Pérez IO, López EG, Lemus MAA (2013) Obtaining of sol-gel ketorolac-silica nanoparticles: characterization and drug release kinetics. J Nanomater 2013:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/450483
- Gouadec G, Colomban P (2007) Raman spectroscopy of nanomaterials: how spectra relate to disorder, particle size and mechanical properties. Prog Cryst Growth Charact Mater 53(1):1–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcrysgrow.2007.01.001
- Greenwood R (2003) Review of the measurement of zeta potentials in concentrated aqueous suspensions using electroacoustics. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 106(1-3):55-81. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0001-8686(03)00105-2

- Grigorchuk NI (2012) Plasmon resonant light scattering on spheroidal metallic nanoparticle embedded in a dielectric matrix. EPL (Europhysics Letters) 97(4):1–6. https://doi. org/10.1209/0295-5075/97/45001
- Gupta V, Nayak SK (2015) Dendrimers: a review on synthetic approaches. J Appl Pharm Sci 5:117–122. https://doi.org/10.7324/JAPS.2015.50321
- Guterres SS, Alves MP, Pohlmann AR (2007) Polymeric nanoparticles, nanospheres and nanocapsules, for cutaneous applications. Drug Target Insights 2:147–157. https://doi.org/10.1177/117739280700200002
- Hamidi M, Azadi A, Rafiei P, Ashrafi H (2013) A pharmacokinetic overview of nanotechnologybased drug delivery systems: an ADME-oriented approach. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 30(5):435–467. https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevTherDrugCarrierSyst.2013007419
- Hanaor D, Michelazzi M, Leonelli C, Sorrell CC (2012) The effects of carboxylic acids on the aqueous dispersion and electrophoretic deposition of ZrO2. J Eur Ceram Soc 32(1):235–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeurceramsoc.2011.08.015
- Hare JI, Lammers T, Ashford MB, Puri S, Storm G, Barry ST (2017) Challenges and strategies in anti-cancer nanomedicine development: an industry perspective. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 108:25–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.04.025
- Hecht S (2003) Functionalizing the interior of dendrimers: synthetic challenges and applications. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 41(8):1047–1058. https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.10643
- Hoa LTM, Chi NT, Nguyen LH, Chien DM (2012) Preparation and characterisation of nanoparticles containing ketoprofen and acrylic polymers prepared by emulsion solvent evaporation method. J Exp Nanosci 7(2):189–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/17458080.2010.515247
- Hofmann-Amtenbrink M, Grainger DW, Hofmann H (2015) Nanoparticles in medicine: current challenges facing inorganic nanoparticle toxicity assessments and standardizations. Nanomedicine 11(7):1689–1694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.05.005
- Honary S, Zahir F (2013) Effect of zeta potential on the properties of nano-drug delivery systems-a review (part 1). Trop J Pharm Res 12(2):255–264. https://doi.org/10.4314/tjpr.v12i2.20
- Hornbostel B, Haluska M, Cech J, Dettlaff U, Roth S (2006) Arc discharge and laser ablation synthesis of single walled carbon nanotubes. In: Carbon nanotubes. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 1–18 https://physics.boisestate.edu/kimresearch/instruments/
- https://sites.google.com/site/nanomodern/Home/CNT/syncnt/laser-ablation
- https://www2.chemistry.msu.edu/faculty/reusch/virttxtjml/Spectrpy/UV-Vis/spectrum.htm
- Hussain I, Singh NB, Singh A, Singh H, Singh SC (2016) Green synthesis of nanoparticles and its potential application. Biotechnol Lett 38(4):545–560. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10529-015-2026-7
- Iravani S (2011) Green synthesis of metal nanoparticles using plants. Green Chem 13(10):2638–2650. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1gc15386b
- Jelinek R (2017) Carbon dot synthesis. In: Carbon quantum dots. Springer, Cham. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-43911-2
- Jones CF, Grainger DW (2009) In vitro assessments of nanomaterial toxicity. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61(6):438–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2009.03.005
- Kammari R, Das NG, Das SK (2017) Nanoparticulate systems for therapeutic and diagnostic applications. In: Emerging nanotechnologies for diagnostics, drug delivery and medical devices. Elsevier, pp 105–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-42978-8.00006-1
- Karimi M, Solati N, Amiri M, Mirshekari H, Mohamed E, Taheri M, Hashemkhani M, Saeidi A, Estiar MA, Kiani P, Ghasemi A (2015) Carbon nanotubes part i: preparation of a novel and versatile drug-delivery vehicle. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 12(7):1071–1087. https://doi.org/1 0.1517/17425247.2015.1003806
- Karmakar R (2015) Review article. Quantum dots and it method of preparations revisited. Prajnan O Sadhona A Sci Ann 2:116–142
- Kaushik BK, Majumder MK (2015) Carbon nanotube: properties and applications. In: Carbon nanotube based VLSI interconnects. Springer, New Delhi, pp 17–37

- Kellici S, Acord J, Power NP, Morgan DJ, Coppo P, Heil T, Saha B (2017) Rapid synthesis of graphene quantum dots using a continuous hydrothermal flow synthesis approach. RSC Adv 7(24):14716–14720. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra00127d
- Khandel P, Shahi SK (2016) Microbes mediated synthesis of metal nanoparticles : current status and future prospects. Int J Nano Biomater 6(1):1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2013.12.011
- Kim JH, Bryan WW, Randall Lee T (2008) Preparation, characterization, and optical properties of gold, silver, and gold– silver alloy nanoshells having silica cores. Langmuir 24(19):11147–11152. https://doi.org/10.1021/la8016497
- Kim D, Kim J, Park YI, Lee N, Hyeon T (2018) Recent development of inorganic nanoparticles for biomedical imaging. ACS Central Sci 4(3):324–336. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acscentsci.7b00574
- Kirby BJ (2010) Micro-and nanoscale fluid mechanics: transport in microfluidic devices. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 536 pages
- Koziol K, Boskovic BO, Yahya N (2010) Synthesis of carbon nanostructures by cvd method. In: Carbon and oxide nanostructures. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 23–49
- Krajczewski J, Kołątaj K, Kudelski A (2017) Plasmonic nanoparticles in chemical analysis. RSC Adv 7(28):17559–17576. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra01034f
- Krishnamoorthy K, Mahalingam M (2015) Selection of a suitable method for the preparation of polymeric nanoparticles: multi-criteria decision making approach. Adv Pharm Bull 5(1):57–67. https://doi.org/10.5681/apb.2015.008
- Kroto HW, Fischer JE, Cox D (1993) The fullerenes. Pergamon, Oxford
- Kruis FE, Fissan H, Peled A (1998) Synthesis of nanoparticles in the gas phase for electronic, optical and magnetic applications—a review. J Aerosol Sci 29(5–6):511–535. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0021-8502(97)10032-5
- Kryzhevich DS, Zolnikov KP, Korchuganov AV, Psakhie SG (2017) Nanopowder synthesis based on electric explosion technology. In: AIP conference proceedings, vol 1893(1). AIP Publishing, p 030125. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5007583
- Kulkarni JA, Tam YYC, Chen S, Tam YK, Zaifman J, Cullis PR, Biswas S (2017) Rapid synthesis of lipid nanoparticles containing hydrophobic inorganic nanoparticles. Nanoscale 9(36):13600–13609. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7NR03272B
- Kulthe SS, Choudhari YM, Inamdar NN, Mourya V (2012) Polymeric micelles: authoritative aspects for drug delivery. Des Monomers Polym 15(5):465–521. https://doi.org/10.108 0/1385772X.2012.688328
- Kumar N, Kumbhat S (2016) Essentials in nanoscience and nanotechnology. Wiley, 488 pages. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119096122.ch4
- Kyesmen PI, Onoja AD, Amah AN (2015) Fullerenes synthesis using fabricated arc discharge system with relatively large chamber size. IOSR J Appl Phys 7:77–83. https://doi. org/10.9790/4861-07617783
- Landfester K (2003) Miniemulsions for nanoparticle synthesis. In: Colloid chemistry II. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 75–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-36412-9_4
- Lathamuthiah B, Inbakandan RD, J. (2015) In vivo toxicity studies of biosynthesized silver nanoparticles using brassica oleraceae in zebra fish model. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 7(2):425–430
- Lee GJ, Kim CK, Lee MK, Rhee CK (2014) Facile synthesis of surface oxide free copper nanoparticles by in-situ coating with oleic acid. Powder Technol 261:143–146. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.powtec.2014.04.031
- Li X, Xu H, Chen ZS, Chen G (2011) Biosynthesis of nanoparticles by microorganisms and their applications. J Nanomater 2011:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/270974
- Li X, Wang L, Fan Y, Feng Q, Cui FZ (2012) Biocompatibility and toxicity of nanoparticles and nanotubes. J Nanomater 2012:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/548389
- Li J, Wu Q, Wu J (2015) Synthesis of nanoparticles via solvothermal and hydrothermal methods. In: Mahmood A (ed) Handbook of nanoparticles. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-13188-7_17-1

- Li T, Senesi AJ, Lee B (2016) Small angle X-ray scattering for nanoparticle research. Chem Rev 116(18):11128–11180. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00690
- Li Y, He H, Lu W, Jia X (2017) A poly (amidoamine) dendrimer-based drug carrier for delivering dox to gliomas cells. RSC Adv 7(25):15475–15481. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra00713b
- Lin WJ, Juang LW, Wang CL, Chen YC, Lin CC, Chang KL (2010) Pegylated polyester polymeric micelles as a nano-carrier: synthesis, characterization, degradation, and biodistribution. J Exp Clin Med 2(1):4–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1878-3317(10)60002-2
- Linkov P, Artemyev M, Efimov AE, Nabiev I (2013) Comparative advantages and limitations of the basic metrology methods applied to the characterization of nanomaterials. Nanoscale 5(19):8781–8798. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3NR02372A
- Liu H, Zhang L, Yan M, Yu J (2017) Carbon nanostructures in biology and medicine. J Mater Chem B 5(32):6437–6450. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7tb00891k
- Lu Y, Park K (2013) Polymeric micelles and alternative nanonized delivery vehicles for poorly soluble drugs. Int J Pharm 453(1):198–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.08.042
- Madaan K, Kumar S, Poonia N, Lather V, Pandita D (2014) Dendrimers in drug delivery and targeting: drug-dendrimer interactions and toxicity issues. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 6(3):139–150. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.130965
- Makhmalzade BS, Chavoshy F (2018) Polymeric micelles as cutaneous drug delivery system in normal skin and dermatological disorders. J Adv Pharm Technol Res 9(1):2. https://doi. org/10.4103/japtr.JAPTR_314_17
- Malam Y, Loizidou M, Seifalian AM (2009) Liposomes and nanoparticles: nanosized vehicles for drug delivery in cancer. Trends Pharmacol Sci 30(11):592–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tips.2009.08.004
- Masala O, Seshadri R (2004) Synthesis routes for large volumes of nanoparticles. Annu Rev Mater Res 34:41–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.matsci.34.052803.090949
- Maver U, Velnar T, Gaberšček M, Planinšek O, Finšgar M (2016) Recent progressive use of atomic force microscopy in biomedical applications. Trends Anal Chem 80:96–111. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2016.03.014
- McCormick PG, Tsuzuki T, Robinson JS, Ding J (2001) Nanopowders synthesized by mechanochemical processing. Adv Mater 13(12–13):1008–1010. https://doi. org/10.1002/1521-4095(200107)13:12/13<1008::aid-adma1008>3.0.co;2-q
- Mehrotra A, Pandit JK (2015) Nanomedicine & biotherapeutic preparation and characterization and biodistribution studies of lomustine loaded plga nanoparticles by interfacial deposition method. J Nanomed Biother Discov 5(4):1–10. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-983X.1000138
- Menon S, Rajeshkumar S, Kumar V (2017) A review on biogenic synthesis of gold nanoparticles, characterization, and its applications. Resour-Efficient Technol 3(4):516–517. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.reffit.2017.08.002
- Miladi K, Sfar S, Fessi H, Elaissari A (2016) Nanoprecipitation process: from particle preparation to in vivo applications. In: Polymer nanoparticles for nanomedicines. Springer, Cham, pp 17–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41421-8_2
- Mitra S, Pope CJ, Gleason KK, Makarovsky Y, Lafleur AL, Howard JB (1992) Synthesis of fullerenes (C₆₀ and C₇₀) by combustion of hydrocarbons in a flat flame burner. MRS Online Proceed Libr Arch 270:149–154. https://doi.org/10.1557/proc-270-149
- Mitra AK, Cholkar K, Mandal A (eds) (2017) Emerging nanotechnologies for diagnostics, drug delivery and medical devices. William Andrew, 416 pages
- Mojica M, Alonso JA, Méndez F (2013) Synthesis of fullerenes. J Phys Org Chem 26:526–539. https://doi.org/10.1002/poc.3121
- Mourya VK, Inamdar N, Nawale RB, Kulthe SS (2011) Polymeric micelles: general considerations and their applications. Indian J Pharm Educ Res 45:128–138
- Mozafari M. R. (2010) Nanoliposomes: preparation and analysis In Weissig V. (eds) Liposomes. Methods in molecular biology (Methods and Protocols), vol 605. Humana Press, 559 pages. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-360-2_2

- Mozafari MR, Reed CJ, Rostron C, Hasirci V (2005) A review of scanning probe microscopy investigations of liposome-DNA complexes. J Liposome Res 15(1–2):93–107. https://doi. org/10.1081/LPR-64965
- Mukherjee S, Ray S, Thakur RS (2009) Solid lipid nanoparticles: a modern formulation approach in drug delivery system. Indian J Pharm Sci 71(4):349–358. https://doi. org/10.4103/0250-474x.57282
- Muthurasu A, Dhandapani P, Ganesh V (2016) Facile and simultaneous synthesis of graphene quantum dots and reduced graphene oxide for bio-imaging and supercapacitor applications. New J Chem 40(11):9111–9124. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6nj00586a
- Naahidi S, Jafari M, Edalat F, Raymond K, Khademhosseini A, Chen P (2013) Biocompatibility of engineered nanoparticles for drug delivery. J Control Release 166(2):182–194. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.12.013
- Nagavarma BVN, Yadav HKS, Ayaz A, Vasudha LS, Shivakumar HG (2012) Different techniques for preparation of polymeric nanoparticles- a review. Asian J Pharm Clin Res 5:16–23
- Naseri N, Valizadeh H, Zakeri-Milani P (2015) Solid lipid nanoparticles and nanostructured lipid carriers: structure, preparation and application. Adv Pharm Bull 5(3):305–313. https://doi.org/10.15171/apb.2015.043
- Nasir S, Hussein MZ, Zainal Z, Yusof NA (2018) Carbon-based nanomaterials/allotropes: a glimpse of their synthesis, properties and some applications. Materials 11(2):1–24. https://doi. org/10.3390/ma11020295
- Natelson D (2015) Nanostructures and nanotechnology. 639 pages
- Nikalje AP (2015) Nanotechnology and its applications in medicine. Med Chem 5(2):81-89. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0444.1000247
- Nimesh S, Manchanda R, Kumar R, Saxena A, Chaudhary P, Yadav V, Mozumdar S, Chandra R (2006) Preparation, characterization and in vitro drug release studies of novel polymeric nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 323(1–2):146–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.05.065
- Oda CMR, Fernandes RS, de Araújo Lopes SC, de Oliveira MC, Cardoso VN, Santos DM et al (2017) Synthesis, characterization and radiolabeling of polymeric nano-micelles as a platform for tumor delivering. Biomed Pharmacother 89:268–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2017.01.144
- Owen SC, Chan DP, Shoichet MS (2012) Polymeric micelle stability. Nano Today 7(1):53–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2012.01.002
- Owens GJ, Singh RK, Foroutan F, Alqaysi M, Han CM, Mahapatra C, Kim HW, Knowles JC (2016) Sol–gel based materials for biomedical applications. Prog Mater Sci 77:1–79. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2015.12.001
- Pantapasis K, Anton GC, Bontas DA, Sarghiuta D, Grumezescu AM, Holban AM (2017) Bioengineered nanomaterials for chemotherapy. In: Nanostructures for cancer therapy. Elsevier, pp 23–49
- Parsons JG, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2007) Use of plants in biotechnology: synthesis of metal nanoparticles by inactivated plant tissues, plant extracts, and living plants. Dev Environ Sci 5:463–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-8177(07)05021-8
- Parveen K, Banse V, Ledwani L (2016) Green synthesis of nanoparticles: their advantages and disadvantages. In: AIP conference proceedings, vol 1724(1). AIP Publishing, p 020048. https:// doi.org/10.1063/1.4945168
- Paulo S, Palomares E, Martinez-Ferrero E (2016) Graphene and carbon quantum dot-based materials in photovoltaic devices: from synthesis to applications. Nano 6(9):1–20. https://doi. org/10.3390/nano6090157
- Pearson RM, Sunoqrot S, Hsu HJ, Bae JW, Hong S (2012) Dendritic nanoparticles: the next generation of nanocarriers? Ther Deliv 3(8):941–959. https://doi.org/10.4155/tde.12.76
- Pham QP, Sharma U, Mikos AG (2006) Electrospinning of polymeric nanofibers for tissue engineering applications: a review. Tissue Eng 12(5):1197–1211. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.2006.12.ft-65

- Pillai G (2014) Nanomedicines for cancer therapy: an update of FDA approved and those under various stages of development. SOJ Pharm Pharm Sci 1(2):13. https://doi. org/10.15226/2374-6866/1/2/00109
- Puapaiboon U, Taylor RT (1999) Characterization and monitoring reaction of polyurethane dendritic wedges and dendrimers using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 13(6):508–515. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0231(19990330)13:6<508::AID-RCM516>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Puoci F (ed) (2016) Advanced polymers in medicine. Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-12478-0
- Rajput N (2015) Methods of preparation of nanoparticles a review. Int J Adv Eng Technol 7:1806–1811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2015.02.007
- Rao JP, Geckeler KE (2011) Polymer nanoparticles: preparation techniques and size-control parameters. Prog Polym Sci 36(7):887–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.01.001
- Ray S, Mishra A, Mandal TK, Biswanath SA, Chakraborty J (2015) Optimization of the process parameters for the fabrication of a polymer coated layered double hydroxide-methotrexate nanohybrid for the possible treatment of osteosarcoma. RSC Adv 5:102574–102592. https:// doi.org/10.1039/c5ra15859a
- Reis CP, Neufeld RJ, Ribeiro AJ, Veiga F (2006) Nanoencapsulation I. methods for preparation of drug-loaded polymeric nanoparticles. Nanomedicine 2(1):8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nano.2005.12.003
- Richards R, Bönnemann H (2005) Synthetic approaches to metallic nanomaterials. In: Kumar CSSR, Josef Hormes CL (eds) Nanofabrication towards biomedical applications: techniques, tools, applications, and impact. Wiley, Weinheim, 442 pages
- Rodriguez-Fragoso, L., Gutiérrez-Sancha, I., Rodríguez-Fragoso, P., Rodríguez-López, A., & Reyes-Esparza, J. (2014). Pharmacokinetic properties and safety of cadmium-containing quantum dots as drug delivery systems. In Application of nanotechnology in drug delivery. InTech. doi: https://doi.org/10.5772/58553
- Roy P, Chen PC, Periasamy AP, Chen YN, Chang HT (2015) Photoluminescent carbon nanodots: synthesis, physicochemical properties and analytical applications. Mater Today 18(8):447–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2015.04.005
- Roy U, Drozd V, Durygin A, Rodriguez J, Barber P, Atluri V et al (2018) Characterization of Nanodiamond-based anti-HIV drug delivery to the brain. Sci Rep 8(1):1603. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-017-16703-9
- Sakthivel D, Arunachalam G (2017) Preparation and characterization of polymeric nanoparticles used in the treatment of epilepsy. J Pharm Sci Res 9(3):298
- Saranya M, Santhosh C, Augustine SP, Grace AN (2014) Synthesis and characterisation of CuS nanomaterials using hydrothermal route. J Exp Nanosci 9(4):329–336. https://doi.org/10.108 0/17458080.2012.661471
- Schork FJ, Guo J (2008) Continuous miniemulsion polymerization. Macromol React Eng 2(4):287–303. https://doi.org/10.1002/mren.200800003
- Selvakumar R, Seethalakshmi N, Thavamani P, Naidu R, Megharaj M (2014) Recent advances in the synthesis of inorganic nano/microstructures using microbial biotemplates and their applications. RSC Adv 4(94):52156–52169. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ra07903e
- Shah M, Fawcett D, Sharma S, Tripathy SK, Poinern GEJ (2015) Green synthesis of metallic nanoparticles via biological entities. Materials 8(11):7278–7308. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ma8115377
- Sharma R, Sharma AK, Sharma V (2015) Synthesis of carbon nanotubes by arc-discharge and chemical vapor deposition method with analysis of its morphology, dispersion and functionalization characteristics. Cogent Eng 2(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2015.1094017
- Shi J, Votruba AR, Farokhzad OC, Langer R (2010) Nanotechnology in drug delivery and tissue engineering: from discovery to applications. Nano Lett 10(9):3223–3230. https://doi. org/10.1021/n1102184c

- Shi J, Liu Y, Wang L, Gao J, Zhang J, Yu X, Ma R, Liu R, Zhang Z (2014) A tumoral acidic pH-responsive drug delivery system based on a novel photosensitizer (fullerene) for in vitro and in vivo chemo-photodynamic therapy. Acta Biomater 10(3):1280–1291. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.actbio.2013.10.037
- Sill TJ, Recum HAV (2008) Electrospinning: applications in drug delivery and tissue engineering. Biomaterials 29(13):1989–2006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.01.011
- Singh H, Srivastava M (1995) Fullerenes: synthesis, separation, characterization, reaction chemistry, and applications—a review. Energy Sources 17(6):615–640. https://doi. org/10.1080/00908319508946108
- Singh I, Rehni AK, Kumar P, Kumar M, Aboul-Enein HY (2009) Carbon nanotubes: synthesis, properties and pharmaceutical applications. Fullerenes, Nanotubes, Carbon Nanostruct 17(4):361–377. https://doi.org/10.1080/15363830903008018
- Singh SK, Kulkarni PP, Dash D (2013) Biomedical applications of carbon-based nanomaterials. In: Bio-nanotechnology: a revolution in food, biomedical and health sciences, pp 443–463. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118451915.ch25
- Singh R, Shedbalkar UU, Wadhwani SA, Chopade BA (2015) Bacteriagenic silver nanoparticles: synthesis, mechanism, and applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99(11):4579–4593. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6622-1
- Smagulova S, Egorova M, Tomskaya A, Kapitonov A (2017) Synthesis of carbon dots with tunable luminescence. J Mater Sci Eng 6(5):1–6. https://doi.org/10.4172/2169-0022.1000376
- Smalley RE (1994) U.S. Patent No. 5,300,203. U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, Washington, DC
- Sushen U, Chouhan A, Gulam MM (2017) Nanoparticles and current technology in pharmacy and medicine : an overview. Eur J Pharm Med Res 4(9):216–228
- Swihart MT (2003) Vapor-phase synthesis of nanoparticles. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci 8(1):127–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-0294
- Talam S, Karumuri SR, Gunnam N (2012) Synthesis, characterization, and spectroscopic properties of ZnO nanoparticles. ISRN Nanotechnol 2012:1–6. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/372505
- Tamuly C, Hazarika M, Bordoloi M, Bhattacharyya PK, Kar R (2014) Biosynthesis of Ag nanoparticles using pedicellamide and its photocatalytic activity: an eco-friendly approach. Spectrochim Acta A Mol Biomol Spectrosc 132:687–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2014.05.024
- Thakral S, Mehta RM (2006) Fullerenes: an introduction and overview of their biological properties. Indian J Pharm Sci 68(1):13–19. https://doi.org/10.4103/0250-474x.22957
- Thakur S, Pramod KS, Malviya R (2017) Utilization of polymeric nanoparticle in cancer treatment: a review. J Pharm Care Health Syst 4(2):1–12. https://doi.org/10.4172/2376-0419.1000172
- Tran QH, Le AT (2013) Silver nanoparticles: synthesis, properties, toxicology, applications and perspectives. Adv Nat Sci Nanosci Nanotechnol 4(3):1–20. https://doi. org/10.1088/2043-6262/4/3/033001
- Tsai SC, Song YL, Tsai CS, Yang CC, Chiu WY, Lin HM (2004) Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis for nanoparticles synthesis. J Mater Sci 39(11):3647–3657. https://doi. org/10.1023/b:jmsc.0000030718.76690.11
- Tsuzuki T, McCormick PG (2004) Mechanochemical synthesis of nanoparticles. J Mater Sci 39(16–17):5143–5146. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:jmsc.0000039199.56155.f9
- Tuerhong M, Xu Y, Yin X-B (2017) Review on carbon dots and their applications. Chin J Anal Chem 45(1):139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1872-2040(16)60990-8
- Turánek J, Miller AD, Kauerová Z, Lukáč R, Mašek J, Koudelka Š, Raška M (2015) Lipidbased nanoparticles and microbubbles – multifunctional lipid-based biocompatible particles for in vivo imaging and theranostics. In: Advances in bioengineering. InTech. https://doi. org/10.5772/59870
- Ullah M, Ali E, Bee Abd Hamid S (2014) Structure-controlled nanomaterial synthesis using surfactant-assisted ball milling-a review. Curr Nanosci 10(3):344–354. https://doi.org/10.217 4/15734137113096660114
- Vauthier C, Bouchemal K (2009) Methods for the preparation and manufacture of polymeric nanoparticles. Pharm Res 26(5):1025–1058. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9800-3

- Ventola CL (2017) Progress in nanomedicine: approved and investigational nanodrugs. Pharm Ther 42(12):742–745
- Wang Y, Hu A (2014) Carbon quantum dots: synthesis, properties and applications. J Mater Chem C 2(34):6921–6939. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4tc00988f
- Wang R, Billone PS, Mullett WM (2013) Nanomedicine in action: an overview of cancer nanomedicine on the market and in clinical trials. J Nanomater 2013:1–12. https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/629681
- Wang L, Zhu SJ, Wang HY, Qu SN, Zhang YL, Zhang JH, Chen QD, Xu HL, Han W, Yang B, Sun HB (2014) Common origin of green luminescence in carbon nanodots and graphene quantum dots. ACS Nano 8(3):2541–2547. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn500368m
- Xiao Y, Wiesner MR (2012) Characterization of surface hydrophobicity of engineered nanoparticles. J Hazard Mater 215–216:146–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.02.043
- Xu M, Li Z, Zhu X, Hu N, Wei H, Yang Z, Zhang Y (2013) Hydrothermal/solvothermal synthesis of graphene quantum dots and their biological applications. Nano Biomed Eng 5(2):65–71. https://doi.org/10.5101/nbe.v4i3.p65-71.1
- Yadav TP, Yadav RM, Singh DP (2012) Mechanical milling: A top down approach for the synthesis of nanomaterials and nanocomposites. Nanosci Nanotechnol 2(3):22–48. https://doi. org/10.5923/j.nn.20120203.01
- Yadav V, AlokMahor S, Alok S, AmitaVerma A, Kumar N, Kumar S (2014) Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN): formulation by high pressure homogenization. World J Pharm Pharm Sci 3(11):1200–1213
- Yan Y, Li H, Wang Q, Mao H, Kun W (2017) Controllable ionic liquid-assisted electrochemical exfoliation of carbon fibers for the green and large-scale preparation of functionalized graphene quantum dots endowed with multicolor emission and size tunability. J Mater Chem C 5(24):6092–6100. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7tc01342f
- Yang S, Liu C, Liu W, Yu H, Zheng H, Zhou W, Hu Y (2013) Preparation and characterization of nanoliposomes entrapping medium-chain fatty acids and vitamin C by lyophilization. Int J Mol Sci 14(10):19763–19773. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms141019763
- Yao H, Su L, Zeng M, Cao L, Zhao W, Chen C, Du B, Zhou J (2016) Construction of magnetic-carbon-quantum-dots-probe-labeled apoferritin nanocages for bioimaging and targeted therapy. Int J Nanomedicine 11:4423–4438. https://doi.org/10.2147/ijn.s108039
- Ye F, Guo H, Zhang H, He X (2010) Polymeric micelle-templated synthesis of hydroxyapatite hollow nanoparticles for a drug delivery system. Acta Biomater 6(6):2212–2218. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.actbio.2009.12.014
- Yuan F, Ding L, Li Y, Li X, Fan L, Zhou S, Fang D, Yang S (2015) Multicolor fluorescent graphene quantum dots colorimetrically responsive to all-pH and a wide temperature range. Nanoscale 7(27):11727–11733. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5nr02007g
- Zhou L, Russell DH, Zhao M, Crooks RM (2001) Characterization of poly (amidoamine) dendrimers and their complexes with Cu2+ by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry. Macromolecules 34(11):3567–3573. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma001782j
- Zhou X, Zhang Y, Wang C, Wu X, Yang Y, Zheng B, Wu H, Guo S, Zhang J (2012) Photo-Fenton reaction of graphene oxide: a new strategy to prepare graphene quantum dots for DNA cleavage. ACS Nano 6(8):6592–6599. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn301629v
- Zhu S, Wang L, Zhou N, Zhao X, Song Y, Maharjan S, Zhang J, Lu L, Wang H, Yang B (2014) The crosslink enhanced emission (Cee) in non-conjugated polymer dots: from the photoluminescence mechanism to the cellular uptake mechanism and internalization. Chem Commun 50(89):13845–13848. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4cc05806b
- Zhu S, Song Y, Zhao X, Shao J, Zhang J, Yang B (2015) The photoluminescence mechanism in carbon dots (graphene quantum dots, carbon nanodots, and polymer dots): current state and future perspective. Nano Res 8(2):355–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12274-014-0644-3

Chapter 5 Electrospun Nanofibers as Carriers in Dermal Drug Delivery



Meryem Sedef Erdal and Sevgi Güngör

Contents

5.1	Introduction	140
5.2	Electrospinning of Nanofibers	141
5.3	Factors Affecting Electrospinning.	144
5.4	Characterization of Nanofibers.	
5.5	Polymers Used in Nanofiber Formation.	149
	5.5.1 Natural Polymers.	150
	5.5.2 Synthetic Polymers.	152
5.6	Electrospun Nanofibers in Dermal Drug Delivery	153
5.7	Conclusions.	157
Refe	rences	157
Refe	rences.	15

Abstract Nanotechnology has opened a new direction in biomedical sciences. Nanomedicine and nanodelivery systems offer multiple benefits in treatment of diseases by site-specific and target-oriented delivery of many drugs. Among the various forms of nanocarrier systems, nanofibers have recently proved to be a versatile carrier system for drug delivery applications due to their attractive properties such as target-specific, prolonged delivery of drugs, and ease of fabrication. Polymeric nanofibers can be produced using several techniques such as phase separation, self-assembly, and electrospinning. Electrospinning is a versatile, cost-effective, and scalable technique using electrostatic forces to produce fine fibers from polymer solutions or melts. The nanofiber production by electrospinning enables higher drug loading and entrapment efficiency compared to other nanodelivery systems prepared by other methods. Electrospun nanofibers can be fabricated from a wide variety of solutions of either natural or synthetic polymers, as well as combinations thereof. The type of the polymer can be chosen depending on the treatment, on the nature of the drug, and on the compatibility with the biological environment. During

M. S. Erdal $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Güngör (\boxtimes)

139

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: serdal@istanbul.edu.tr; sgungor@istanbul.edu.tr

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_5

the last several decades, polymeric nanofibers have been explored as controlled drug delivery systems for dermal, transdermal, oral, oromucosal, parenteral, and ocular routes. Recently, electrospun nanofibers have gained more popularity for the topical and transdermal drug delivery and wound dressing applications. Especially, the unique architectural properties like nanoscale morphology, porous structure, and flexibility of electrospun nanofibers make them a suitable option for developing novel wound dressings. However, despite the numerous attractive features of nanofiber composites in drug delivery applications, there are certain major drawbacks which need to be overcome. Drug stability, initial burst release, and scale-up problems foremost require to be solved before bringing nanofiber technology into mainstream drug delivery technologies. In this chapter, first, the basic concepts of electrospinning process and the characterization techniques of electrospun nanofibers are discussed. Then, the most widely used polymers in the composition of drug-loaded nanofibers are presented, and recent applications of nanofibers in dermal drug delivery and wound healing are described.

Keywords Electrospinning · Nanofibers · Polymers · Topical drug delivery · Transdermal drug delivery · Wound healing

5.1 Introduction

Novel drug delivery systems are used to improve the efficiency and safety of active compounds by carrying them on the site of action at a specific rate (Vasita and Katti 2006; Akduman et al. 2016). Particularly, nanocarriers like liposomes, nanoparticles, and nanoemulsions have demonstrated increased drug absorption, penetration, half-life, bioavailability, and stability. Among the many forms of nanocarrier systems, nanofibers have recently proved to be a versatile carrier system for drug delivery applications due to their remarkable properties such as high drug-loading capacity, high encapsulation efficiency, target-specific, prolonged delivery of drugs, and ease of fabrication (Ravikumar et al. 2017).

Polymeric nanofibers are defined as solid fibers with a nanoscale diameter. They can be produced using several techniques such as phase separation, self-assembly, and electrospinning (Melanko et al. 2009). Among these techniques, electrospinning is the mostly preferred one because of its versatility for adaptation to both laboratory- and industrial-scale production processes (Akduman et al. 2016). Electrospun nanofibers can be fabricated from a wide variety of solutions of either natural or synthetic polymers, as well as combinations thereof (Zanin et al. 2011). Natural polymers offer the advantage of being very similar to the macromolecules present in the extracellular matrix (ECM). They are usually biodegradable and biocompatible. Synthetic polymers, on the other hand, have great flexibility in synthesis and modification. In most cases, it is preferable to fabricate composite nanofibers comprising both natural and synthetic polymers (Hu et al. 2014).

The unique properties of electrospun nanofibers such as high surface area to volume ratio and high porosity make them suitable carriers for both hydrophilic and lipophilic drugs, and research studies have been especially focused on topical wound healing and tissue engineering applications recently (Kyzioł et al. 2017). Concerning dermal drug delivery, electrospun nanofibers provide an opportunity for encapsulation of different active agents such as antifungal and antimicrobial therapeutics, antibiotics, proteins, and growth factors (Karthikeyan et al. 2015; Zhao et al. 2016). Drug release rate from nanofiber mats can be tailored by modulation of nanofiber morphology, porosity, and composition. Nanofiber mats can provide sustained drug release, which reduces the application frequency, and consequently increase the patient compliance to the treatment (Goyal et al. 2016; He et al. 2014).

In this chapter, first, the basic concepts of electrospinning process and the characterization techniques of electrospun nanofibers are discussed. Then, the most widely used polymers in the composition of drug-loaded nanofibers are presented, and recent applications of nanofibers in dermal drug delivery and wound healing are described.

5.2 Electrospinning of Nanofibers

Electrospinning is a versatile, cost-effective, and scalable technique using electrostatic forces to produce fine fibers from polymer solutions or melts. Electrospinning was patented firstly by Formhals in 1934 (Frenot and Chronakis 2003). It is a topdown nanomanufacturing process and usually conducted at room temperature with atmosphere conditions. A classical electrospinning setup, shown in Fig. 5.1, consists of three basic components: a syringe pump fitted with a metallic spinneret, a high voltage supply, and a conductive collector (Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010; Liao et al. 2008).

In the electrospinning process, a high voltage is applied to the polymer solution, and with the use of the syringe pump, the polymer solution is delivered to the tip of spinneret at a constant rate (Kamble et al. 2017; Zanin et al. 2011; Zamani et al. 2013). When the electrostatic charge is larger than the surface tension of the polymer droplet at the tip of the nozzle, the droplet elongates to form the "Taylor cone." Then, a fiber jet extrudes from the cone and moves toward the fiber collector (He et al. 2014; Seif et al. 2015). As the solvent evaporates during this process, a mat of ultrafine solid nanofibers is collected as a final product. The evaporation patterns determine the porosity of the nanofibers (Sharma et al. 2015; Frenot and Chronakis 2003).

The nanofiber production by electrospinning enables higher drug loading and entrapment efficiency compared to other nanodelivery systems prepared by other methods (Pelipenko et al. 2015). Among all the developed methods for drug loading into nanofibers, mixing the drug with a polymer solution prior to electrospinning remains the most predominant. Generally, lipophilic drugs are loaded in lipophilic polymers, while hydrophilic drugs are loaded in hydrophilic polymer solutions



(Kamble et al. 2017; Zamani et al. 2013). For this purpose, the drug is dissolved or dispersed in the polymer solution to achieve encapsulated drug through a single-phase electrospinning procedure. A common problem in this technique is the loss of activity of the incorporated biological molecules (e.g., enzymes and growth factors) during the electrospinning process (Mickova et al. 2012). Therefore, several electrospinning techniques have been developed to obtain nanofibers with different shapes and structural characteristics (He et al. 2014).

Coaxial electrospinning is a modified version of electrospinning that enables production of drug-loaded fibers with core-shell morphology (Zamani et al. 2013) (Fig. 5.2). The coaxial configuration involves two capillaries which permit simultaneous electrospinning of two separate polymer solutions into core-shell structured nanofiber (Zanin et al. 2011). The shell polymer improves sustained and prolonged release of the active agent. It also prevents the direct contact of the drug with the external environment. Therefore, to encapsulate specific materials such as biological agents and growth factors, coaxial electrospinning is preferred (Manuel et al. 2016). Mickova et al. (2012) produced core-shell nanofibers with embedded liposomes. They have suggested that the liposomes remained intact during and after coaxial electrospinning in contrast with blend electrospinning. The main drawbacks of coaxial electrospinning are the need for a specialized electrospinning setup and the complication of controlling of multiple feed rates (Canbolat et al. 2013).

Emulsion electrospinning is another method for the encapsulation of the drugs into core–shell structured nanofibers. Briefly, this technique involves the emulsification of drug solution in the polymer solution and the electrospinning of the obtained emulsion. The application of emulsion electrospinning process has been resulted in



Fig. 5.2 The difference between the blend (conventional) and coaxial electrospinning processes

the controlled release of drugs and enhanced bioactivity of sensitive compounds (Nikmaram et al. 2017). The primary advantage of this technique is the absence of organic solvent usage (Manuel et al. 2016). On the other hand, emulsion electrospinning requires the inclusion of surfactants, which may generate toxicity to the biological systems (Zhang et al. 2018).

Other techniques to incorporate drugs into nanofibers could be listed as (a) physical adsorption by immersing electrospun nanofibers into drug solution wherein electrostatic interactions occur; (b) chemical method, which involves modifying the surface properties of nanofibers and covalent bounding of drug molecules to the surface of preformed nanofibers; and (c) bioconjugating drug molecules such as enzymes, DNA, or growth factors to nanofiber surfaces (Pelipenko et al. 2015; Sharma et al. 2015; Kamble et al. 2017).

It can be found in the literature that certain techniques such as phase separation and self-assembly have also been used to prepare drug-loaded polymeric nanofibers. However, the obvious disadvantages of these techniques can be listed as material limitation and time-consuming and complex processing (Table 5.1) (Morie et al. 2016; Zanin et al. 2011). Compared with other methodologies, electrospinning can be used for many formulations and is more reproducible when system and process parameters are controlled (Manuel et al. 2016).

Conventional electrospinning is accepted as an easy and efficient method; however, the big problem limiting its industrial applications is the electrospinning production rate versus commercial fiber production rate. Multineedle electrospinning and needleless electrospinning came to the forefront among the several methods which have been developed to increase the productivity of solution electrospinning process (Valipouri 2017; Zhao et al. 2016). Multineedle electrospinning technique is based on multiplication of the jets using multineedle constructions. Jets instability and mutual interference have been reported as the main limitations of this method

Nanofiber production		
technique	Advantage	Disadvantage
Phase separation	Minimum equipment requirement Process can directly fabricate a nanofiber matrix Batch-to-batch consistency is achieved easily Mechanical properties of the matrix can be	Limited to specific polymers Laboratory-scale process Fiber dimensions
	tailored by adjusting polymer concentration	cannot be controlled
Self-assembly	Process can fabricate smaller nanofibers	Complex and laboratory-scale process Fiber dimensions cannot be controlled
Electrospinning	Cost-effective Long, continuous nanofibers can be produced Scale-up possibility	Jet instability

 Table 5.1
 Advantages and disadvantages of phase separation, self-assembly, and electrospinning techniques

(Dubský et al. 2012). The needleless electrospinning technology however created an opportunity for the scale-up the conventional electrospinning process to an industrial production level (Zhao et al. 2016). The setup which consists of a rotating drum immersed into a bath of a liquid polymer has been commercialized under the brand name NanospiderTM. NanospiderTM technology is a patented, needle-free, high-voltage, free liquid surface electrospinning process and is able to fabricate polymeric nanofibers in diameter range of 50–300 nm into nonwovens (Petrik 2011; Kamble et al. 2017).

5.3 Factors Affecting Electrospinning

Although electrospinning is considered to be a simple production technique, a number of parameters can influence the formation and structure of the obtained fibers. The process parameters and the system parameters known to affect nanofiber properties are shown in Fig. 5.3. By appropriately adjusting all or some of these parameters, fibers with desired morphology and diameter can be obtained (Frenot and Chronakis 2003; Supaphol et al. 2012).

The physicochemical properties of the polymer solution have a significant impact on the final morphology and characteristics of the formed electrospun fibers (Morie et al. 2016; Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010). The polymer concentration influences both the viscosity and the surface tension of the solution. Within the optimal concentration range of the solutions, uniform fibers can be obtained (Supaphol et al. 2012). It was reported that the fiber diameter increases with an increase in the polymer solution concentration (Huang et al. 2003). A low viscosity favors an efficient stretching of the polymer jet and thus the formation of thinner fibers. However, the viscosity of the polymer solution must be high enough to prevent the jet from collapsing into



Fig. 5.3 Process parameters and system parameters affecting nanofiber production by electrospinning method

droplets before the solvent has evaporated (Frenot and Chronakis 2003; Gomes et al. 2015).

The vapor pressure of the solvent should be suitable so that it evaporates quickly enough for the fiber to maintain its integrity when it reaches the collector (Ramakrishna et al. 2005). Solvent volatility has been reported to affect the porosity of fibers (Morie et al. 2016). The conductivity of the polymer solution can be altered by adding ionic salts. A low conductivity leads to a decrease in stretching behavior of the jet and to thicker nanofibers (Gomes et al. 2015). It was suggested that the radius of the fiber jet is inversely related to the cube root of the solution conductivity (Supaphol et al. 2012). The surface tension of polymer solution is another significant parameter, and electrospinnability could be enhanced by reduction in the surface tension (Huang et al. 2003; Wali et al. 2018).

Fabrication process parameters can greatly affect fiber formation and structure. The applied voltage, polymer flow rate, nozzle to collector distance, and type of the collector can influence the formation of nanofibers with bead-like defects (Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010; He et al. 2014). The distance between the capillary and the fiber collector has an impact on fiber drying and should be kept at minimum. If the distance is too long, the electrostatic force cannot overcome the surface tension, and electrospraying instead of electrospinning occurs (Thakkar and Misra 2017). Polymer flow rate also has an impact on fiber size and can influence fiber porosity as well as fiber geometry. At high flow rates, significant amounts of bead defects can be observed (Supaphol et al. 2012). The applied voltage has been found to influence the macroscale morphology of the nanofibers. The fiber diameter usually decreases using high voltage and low flow rate. The power supply should be adequate to overcome the viscosity and surface tension of the polymer solution to form and sustain the jet from the pipette (Frenot and Chronakis 2003; Ramakrishna et al. 2005; Sharma et al. 2015).

Ambient parameters in the production are likewise important in controlling the formation of nanofibers. Temperature, relative humidity, and air velocity in the electrospinning chamber play a major role in the properties of the polymeric solution and, consequently, modulate the nanofiber formation. It has been reported that high environmental temperature leads to an increase in solvent evaporation rate and as a result thicker nanofibers occur (Esentürk et al. 2016; Melanko et al. 2009; Pelipenko et al. 2015).

Taking all parameters into account, the choice of optimum electrospinning conditions depends on the selected polymer or polymers blend along with the intended use of the resulting nanofibers. By appropriately varying all or some of these parameters, fibers with desired morphologies can be obtained. However, the optimization of the process and system parameters is complex, and keeping close conditions in industrial scale is still a challenge.

5.4 Characterization of Nanofibers

During the preparation of polymeric nanofibers, it is crucial to monitor the basic properties such as nanofiber morphology, molecular structure, and mechanical characteristics. The average fiber diameter, porosity, and hydrophobic property are related to the morphology of the nanofibrous membrane. The molecular structure affects the optical, thermal, and mechanical behavior of electrospun nanofibers. Mechanical properties of nanofibers are important especially in biomedical applications such as wound dressings. The most commonly used techniques for the characterization of nanofibers are summarized in Table 5.2.

The morphological characterization of nanofibrous materials requires a complex approach and evaluation of the results of various methods. SEM, FE-SEM, TEM, and AFM have been used as complementary measurements in morphological characterization of the nanofibrous samples (Viana et al. 2015). SEM is the most used technique to evaluate the fiber diameter, diameter distribution, and surface morphology of prepared nanofibers (Fig. 5.4). FE-SEM is recommended to investigate biodegradable polymer-based nanofibers with poor heat resistance (Melanko et al. 2009; Širc et al. 2012; Vashisth et al. 2016).

The pore size of nanofibers and its distribution can be measured by using electron microscopy techniques and AFM. However porosity cannot be measured by these methods. The most commonly methodology to determine the porosity and pore size of nanofiber scaffolds is using mercury porosimetry (Morie et al. 2016). This method is based on the property of mercury that does not wet the surface of solid materials. During the measurement, mercury is transferred into the sample under vacuum and pressure is applied. Then, the sample porosity is calculated from the mass of mercury penetrated into the pores at highest pressure (Širc et al. 2012). The total pore volume and the total pore area can also be determined by using the same method. The total volume of pores gives foresight about the internal structure of nanofiber mats (Dubský et al. 2012). The major drawbacks of mercury

Nanofiber property	Characterization method
Fiber diameter, orientation, structure, morphology	Scanning electron microscopy (SEM), field emission SEM (FE-SEM)
Surface roughness	Atomic force microscopy (AFM)
Internal structure	Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)
Chemical functional groups Polymer–drug secondary interactions	Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy
Crystallographic structure and phase analysis	X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis
Polymer-drug secondary interactions	
Porosity and pore size distribution	Mercury porosimetry
Specific surface area	Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) analysis
Mechanical characteristics	Dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) Tensile strength measurement
Wettability	Water contact angle measurement
Swelling behavior	Swelling index measurement
Thermal behavior	Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) Differential thermal analysis (DTA) Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)
Other	Drug entrapment efficiency Drug release study In vitro cell viability study In vitro cell attachment study

 Table 5.2
 Methods for nanofiber characterization

porosimetry are its cost and toxicity and the risk of the sample being destroyed at very high pressures.

In order to apply the nanofiber scaffolds for various biomedical applications, an appropriate mat with desirable wettability should be prepared. The hydrophilicity of electrospun nanofibrous membranes can be investigated by water contact angle measurement (Fazli and Shariatinia 2017). Hydrophilic nanofibers show low contact angle, depending on the spreadability of water across surface, while hydrophobic nanofibers show high contact angle because of the minimal contact between water droplet and nanofiber surface (Ramakrishna et al. 2005). Cross-linked nanofiber formulations based on hydrophilic polymers show an increase in the contact angle value as compared to noncross-linked counterparts which reflects the improved aqueous stability of cross-linked nanofibers (Vashisth et al. 2016).

In electrospun nanofiber membranes, the mechanical property is determined by the arrangement and packing characteristic of individual fibers that made up the membrane. As the electrospinning process is influenced by various interrelated and independent variables, it is advisable to perform mechanical testing of the nanofiber membrane when electrospinning process parameters have been altered. Moreover, in order to meet with long-life durability in biomedical applications, the mechanical properties of nanofibrous membranes should be determined. For mechanical characterization, dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) and tensile strength measurement are the most applied techniques (Ramakrishna et al. 2005).



Fig. 5.4 SEM images and mean diameter of PVA/sodium alginate nanofibers (Esentürk et al. 2020)

The structures of the polymer molecules within the nanofibers, polymer–drug compatibility in drug-loaded nanofibers, and nanofiber surface chemistry can be investigated by FTIR spectroscopy. TGA and DSC can be used to study the thermal behavior of the nanofiber composites, whereas the crystallographic structure can be evaluated by XRD analysis (Melanko et al. 2009). The high evaporation rate of the solvents in electrospinning process provides the formation of a solid drug solution in polymer fibers. Therefore, amorphous form of the drug is achieved in the final nanofiber mats (Akduman et al. 2016). Since an amorphous form is thermodynamically less stable than any crystalline form, it can be a challenge to ensure physicochemical stability for the entire shelf life of the drug product (Censi and Di Martino 2015). Especially for hydrophilic drugs which are incorporated into hydrophobic polymer fibers, crystal growth of the drug on the surface of electrospun nanofibers represents a major stability challenge (Kamble et al. 2017; Seif et al. 2015).

Other than these basic physicochemical characterizations, there are a few methods which are also important to characterize nanofiber composites for drug delivery applications. Drug entrapment efficiency and the cumulative in vitro drug release should be determined in drug-loaded nanofibers. The amount of entrapped drug (%, w/w) in nanofiber mats is usually measured by dissolving the dry mat in the electrospinning solvent. Then the amount of the drug can be measured by using an appropriate method, such as UV spectrophotometer or high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC). The mechanism of drug release can be elucidated by transforming and interpreting the in vitro release data into mathematical models. The nanofibers produced by conventional electrospinning from drug-polymer mixed solution usually display burst release behavior because of the short diffusion pathway (Kyziol et al. 2017). The burst release behavior is also associated with the presence of drug on the surface of the nanofibers (Hall Barrientos et al. 2017). This problem can be eliminated by a cross-linking process or by increasing the thickness of the membrane. Zhang et al. (2018) developed hybrid nanofibers for effective drug encapsulation and controlled release. Drug-loaded inorganic nanoparticles have been mixed with PLGA for subsequent electrospinning to form hybrid nanofibers. The preloading of drug molecules within nanocarriers significantly extended the drug diffusion distance; hence the formed hybrid nanofibers displayed reduced burst release profiles. It has been also shown that the electrospinning setup significantly affect the burst release profile of the drugs (Goval et al. 2016).

The biodegradation profile, cellular compatibility, and cytotoxicity of drugloaded nanofibers can also be assessed by using various biochemical assays. In industrial-scale production of nanofibers, it is desirable that the main techniques used for the characterization are automated and can be applied online (Pelipenko et al. 2015).

5.5 Polymers Used in Nanofiber Formation

The selection of polymer is of critical importance for the production of nanofibers. The type of the polymer can be chosen depending on the treatment, on the nature of the drug, and on the compatibility with the biological environment (Fig. 5.5) (Pelipenko et al. 2015; Sharma et al. 2015). Although synthetic polymers were the first to be electrospun, biopolymers have gained increasing attention because of their compatibility with biological tissues. Naturally occurring polymers exhibit good biocompatibility and low immunogenicity; hence they have been used widely in wound healing and skin regeneration applications (Erdal et al. 2016; Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010; Zhao et al. 2016). Synthetic polymers can be divided into biodegradable and nondegradable types. They provide many advantages over natural polymers such as wider range of properties, predictable lot-to-lot uniformity, and reliable source of raw materials. The biodegradable synthetic polyesters PLA, PGA, PLGA, and PCL have been commonly used for sustained drug release from nanofibers (Supaphol et al. 2012).



Fig. 5.5 The most widely used natural and synthetic polymers in drug-loaded electrospun nanofibers

5.5.1 Natural Polymers

Natural polymers offer the advantage of being very similar to the macromolecules present in the ECM (Melanko et al. 2009; Sharma et al. 2015). They are usually biodegradable and their biocompatibility is excellent. However, natural polymers often lack the desired physical properties, and they are difficult to electrospin on their own, so they are used mostly in combination with synthetic polymers (Supaphol et al. 2012). The most important biopolymers for the production of drug-loaded electrospun nanofibers are briefly discussed below.

Silk Fibroin Silk is a well-described natural fiber, which has been used in textile industry for ages. Silk fibroin is a main component of silk. It has excellent mechanical strength, and it is biocompatible and biodegradable (Zhao et al. 2016). Electrospun fibers from silk fibroin were found to promote cell adhesion and proliferation, and they found place in tissue engineering, wound healing, and drug delivery studies (Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010; Ramakrishna et al. 2005). Silk protein is water soluble, and therefore cross-linking treatments have been used to increase its water resistance (Kluge and Mauck 2012).

Gelatin Gelatin is obtained by partial hydrolysis of collagen. It is widely used in the pharmaceutical industry and biomedical fields due to its nontoxic nature and biodegradability (Erdal et al. 2016). Gelatin scaffolds have been engineered to facilitate the regeneration of bones, skin, muscles, and nerves (Gomes et al. 2015). However, the mechanical strength of gelatin nanofibers is low, and therefore crosslinking treatments have been used to increase their water resistance (Laha et al. 2016; Zhao et al. 2016). The blends of gelatin with natural or synthetic polymers have been used to improve the mechanical properties of nanofibers (Aldana and Abraham 2017; Laha et al. 2016). Gelatin/poly- ε -caprolactone (PCL) composite systems showed better mechanical strength and wettability compared with gelatin or PCL alone (Vasita and Katti 2006). Gelatin nanofibers produced by needleless electrospinning accelerated wound healing in full-thickness wound model in rats (Dubský et al. 2012).

Collagen Collagen is the most abundant protein in animals and in the human body. It is a major component of the skin, cartilage, bone, tendon, and teeth. In many native tissues, type I and III collagen are the principal structural elements of the ECM (Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010; Zhao et al. 2016). Collagen as a biopolymer has been used in wound dressings. It has also been tested in skin, bone, tendon, and ligament tissue engineering. In vitro studies had shown that cells respond positively to tissue scaffold made of electrospun collagen fibers (Ramakrishna et al. 2005). The nanofibers based on collagen have been shown to be compatible with a number of cell types and offer a suitable environment for cell growth (Vasita and Katti 2006). But, electrospinning of pure collagen is difficult, and usually a stabilization procedure by cross-linking with formaldehyde or glutaraldehyde is needed (Erdal et al. 2016; Pelipenko et al. 2015).

Hyaluronic Acid Hyaluronic acid is a linear polyanionic glycosaminoglycan, and it is a natural component of the ECM of connective tissues (Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010). Due to its unique rheological properties and biocompatibility, hyaluronic acid has been used extensively in many biomedical applications such as ophthalmology, medical implants, and drug delivery (Ramakrishna et al. 2005). Hyaluronic acid nanofibers have been tested in the development of modern wound dressings. But electrospinning of hyaluronic acid alone does not allow a consistent production of fibers, and the main drawbacks of hyaluronic acid nanofibers have been reported as poor cell adhesion, mechanical instability, and rapid degradation in vivo (Pelipenko et al. 2015; Vasita and Katti 2006).

Chitosan Chitosan is a biodegradable and biocompatible polymer. Chitosan has been chosen for infection-related wound healing studies in a majority because of the rich hydrogen bonds between chitosan chains that allow a favorable swelling ability to the polymer (Wang et al. 2017). Chitosan-based nanofibers were applied for tendon, bone, and cartilage tissue engineering (Bhardwaj and Kundu 2010; Erdal et al. 2016; Pelipenko et al. 2015). Although it is possible to electrospun pure chitosan, the nonaqueous solvents, which should be used in the electrospinning process, possess very harmful characteristics. Therefore, blends of chitosan with synthetic polymers such as polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) or polyethylene oxide (PEO) have been used in order to improve the spinnability of chitosan (Zhao et al. 2016).

Alginate Alginate is a water-soluble, natural linear polysaccharide obtained from brown seaweed. It is a biopolymer which plays an important role in the design of controlled drug delivery formulations, and it shows great potential as a scaffold material in tissue engineering (Erdal et al. 2016). Alginate-based nanofiber wound dressings have been widely studied due to the specific characteristics of alginate,

including biocompatibility, nonimmunogenicity, and large water-absorbing capacity (Pelipenko et al. 2015; Zhao et al. 2016). Alginate alone could not electrospun because of its poor mechanical strength and processing difficulties. Therefore it is usually blended with appropriate polymers with a high molecular weight (Fu et al. 2016; Kyziol et al. 2017).

5.5.2 Synthetic Polymers

A wide variety of synthetic polymers has been used to fabricate nanofiber sheets by electrospinning technique (Vasita and Katti 2006). Especially, the water-soluble synthetic polymers polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), PVA, and PEO have been accepted as ideal candidates to fabricate nanofibers for use as drug carriers (He et al. 2014). The composite nanofibers composed of synthetic and natural polymer blends combine the favorable biological characteristics of natural polymers and the mechanical performance of the synthetic ones (Aldana and Abraham 2017).

Polyvinyl Alcohol (PVA) PVA is a nontoxic, highly hydrophilic, biodegradable, semicrystalline polymer with adhesive properties (Fu et al. 2016). It has good chemical and physical stability and has the ability to form fibers, films, and membranes (Wali et al. 2018). PVA has been widely used to produce nanofiber mats due to its good spinnability (Arthanari et al. 2016; Viana et al. 2015). The morphology of electrospun PVA nanofibers has shown to be affected by concentration of the polymer solution, ionic salt addition, applied electric potential, and pH (Ngawhirunpat et al. 2009). The elastic properties of PVA nanofibers have been found suitable for regeneration of soft tissues such as skin (Pelipenko et al. 2015). The fabrication of polyblend PVA–natural polymer nanofibers provided improved mechanical strength, bioactivity, and degradation profile to the end product and introduced scaffolds with desired properties for specific tissue regeneration and drug delivery applications (Zanin et al. 2011; Zamani et al. 2013).

Polyethylene Oxide (PEO) PEO is a unique class of nonionic water-soluble, biodegradable polymer with a linear structure and good spinnability. It shows excellent biocompatibility and very low toxicity (Kyziol et al. 2017). PEO nanofibers can be stabilized physically. Blending of PEO with biopolymers has become a popular tool for overcoming the processing limitations of less soluble or less available materials (Kluge and Mauck 2012). In the electrospinning field, PEO and PVA are often used in the preparation of nanofibers from their blend solutions (Fu et al. 2016). They are also often added to chitosan, alginate, and hyaluronic acid which are difficult to be electrospun alone (Pelipenko et al. 2015).

Poly-e-caprolactone (PCL) PCL is an FDA-approved semicrystalline and biodegradable hydrophobic polyester which is commonly used in electrospun nanofibers for controlled release (Hall Barrientos et al. 2017). It is characterized by a high plasticity and a slow degradation rate resulting from the hydrolysis of its ester linkages (Anjum et al. 2017; Gomes et al. 2015). The mechanical properties of PCL as well as its spinnability are excellent. PCL nanofibers are stable in an aqueous environment, but organic solvents are needed for their production (Pelipenko et al. 2015; Chou et al. 2015). Due to the limited cell specificity and high hydrophobicity of PCL, incorporation of pore-generating polymers, like PEG or gelatin, into PCL nanofibers has been shown to increase the biofunctionality (Ravikumar et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2016). Surface treatment of PCL nanofibrous scaffolds with ethanol can create a hydrophilic surface which serves for efficient cell attachment (Kluge and Mauck 2012).

Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) PVP is a hydrophilic, nontoxic, biocompatible synthetic polymer (Maslakçı et al. 2017). Electrospun PVP nanofibers have been tested as a drug delivery systems and wound dressings. The water absorbability and dissolution properties of PVP nanofibers have been found to improve the dissolution profile of incorporated drugs (Yu et al. 2010).

Polylactic Acid (PLA), Polyglycolic Acid (PGA), and Polylactic-co-glycolic Acid (PLGA) The most commonly used synthetic polymers for three-dimensional tissue scaffolds are saturated biodegradable polyesters, including PLA and PGA, as well as PLGA copolymers. PGA is a hydrophilic and highly crystalline polymer with a relatively fast degradation rate. Although structurally very similar to PGA, PLA exhibits different chemical, physical, and mechanical properties. The nanofibers obtained from PLA, PGA, and PLGA have been found mechanically stable, but organic solvents are needed for their production (Kluge and Mauck 2012; Said et al. 2011).

Polyurethane (PU) PU is one of the most widely used polymers in biomedical applications especially those in contact with blood (Ramakrishna et al. 2005). PU nanofibers possess excellent mechanical properties, and they have been widely used in wound healing applications due to their oxygen permeability and barrier properties (Akduman and Kumbasar 2017).

5.6 Electrospun Nanofibers in Dermal Drug Delivery

Among the various applications of electrospun nanofibers, drug delivery plays a key role for biomedical applications. The advantages of using nanofibers in drug delivery can be considered as (a) high drug loading and encapsulation efficiency, (b) ability to modulate drug release, (c) the possibility to use a wide variety of both natural polymers and synthetic polymers, and (d) the high surface area-to-volume ratio that facilitates mass transfer and efficient delivery of both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs (Goyal et al. 2016; Chou et al. 2015; Manuel et al. 2016; Melanko et al. 2009). Small molecular weight drugs, proteins, DNA, genes, and

vaccines can be incorporated to the electrospun nanofibers for specific therapeutic purposes (Sharma et al. 2015; Zamani et al. 2013). During the last several decades, polymeric nanofibers have been explored as controlled drug delivery systems for dermal, transdermal, oral, oromucosal, parenteral, and ocular routes (Pelipenko et al. 2015). Recently, electrospun nanofibers have gained more popularity for the topical and transdermal drug delivery and wound dressing applications.

The use of the skin as a drug delivery route for both topical and systemic therapy is a noninvasive approach for administration of drugs. However, the remarkable barrier properties of the skin, especially of its outermost layer, stratum corneum, pose a significant challenge to administering medications via the skin either for local cutaneous effects or as systemic therapy. In order to deliver drugs through the skin, most compounds require various degrees of permeation enhancement. Nanofiber-based dermal delivery systems have been considered as tool to improve the solubility of active agents and thereby enhancing drug release and skin permeation characteristics (Kamble et al. 2017). Table 5.3 represents a selection of scientific studies dealing with the nanofiber-based dermal drug delivery in the last decade. As evident from the table, drug-loaded nanofibers have especially attracted great attention for their use in wound healing applications.

PCL poly(E-caprolactone), PEO poly(ethylene oxide), PVA poly(vinyl alcohol), PVAc poly(vinyl acetate), PNIPAM poly(-N-isopropylacrylamide), PGS poly(glycerol sebacate), CA cellulose acetate, PVP poly(vinylpyrrolidone), SA sodium alginate, PLA poly(lactic acid), PLGA poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid), PU poly(urethane), HPC hydroxypropyl cellulose, PMMA poly(methyl methacrylate)

Wound healing is essential for the restoration of the skin barrier after injury. It comprises of healing of dermal and epidermal tissues by their regeneration. During the wound healing process, the cells at the wound edge proliferate and migrate, leading to reepithelization of the wound surface. This is a complex and dynamic process involving five stages: hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, migration, and maturation (Stamm et al. 2016). During this period the disturbance of wound healing can be caused by several factors, such as infection, excess of inflammatory cytokines, and necrosis (Anjum et al. 2017; Garcia-Orue et al. 2017).

The prevalence of chronic dermal wounds has increased in recent years due to the increase of the high-risk population including elderly, diabetics, and obese. The inflammation stage in chronic wounds proceeds too long, resulting in wounds that remain open for months to years. Therefore, the treatment of chronic wounds is still a significant clinical challenge (Goyal et al. 2016). Current studies to overcome this problem are focused on the development of new therapeutic approaches. Recently, the electrospun nanofibrous wound dressings have been shown to be able to enhance the wound healing process because of their potential to mimic the structure and biological function of dermal ECM (Anjum et al. 2017; Mickova et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2017).

The unique architectural properties like nanoscale morphology, porous structure, and flexibility of electrospun nanofibers make them a suitable option for developing novel wound dressings (Garcia-Orue et al. 2017). The very high porosity of the nanofibrous membranes allows cell respiration and gas permeation and prevents the

Polymer or polymer			
blend	Drug	Aim	Author and Year
PU	Doxorubicin	Wound healing	Kiliç et al. (2018)
Chitosan/PVA	Tetracycline hydrochloride	Wound healing	Alavarse et al. (2017)
Chitosan/PVA	Ampicillin	Wound healing	Wang et al. (2017)
Chitosan/PEO	Cefazolin and cefazolin loaded nanoparticles	Wound healing	Fazli and Shariatinia (2017)
Chitosan/PCL	Ferulic acid and resveratrol	Wound healing	Poornima and Korrapati (2017)
Nanochitosan/PCL	Curcumin	Wound healing	Cr et al. (2018)
Gelatin	Centella asiatica extract	Wound healing	Yao et al. (2017)
Gelatin/silk fibroin	Thyme essential oil and doxycycline	Wound dressing	Dadras Chomachayi et al. (2017)
Gelatin/PCL	Cerium oxide nanoparticles	Wound healing	Rather et al. (2017)
Gelatin/PGS	Ciprofloxacin	Wound healing	Shirazaki et al. (2017)
Gelatin/PVA/PCL	Bromelain and salvianolic acid	Wound healing	Shoba et al. (2017)
SA, chitosan, PCL, collagen, PEO	Doxycycline	Wound healing	Tort et al. (2017)
SA/PEO	Ciprofloxacin	Wound healing	Kyziol et al. (2017)
PLGA	Recombinant human epidermal growth factor and <i>Aloe vera</i>	Wound healing	Garcia-Orue et al. (2017)
PLGA	Growth factors	Skin tissue regeneration	Lee et al. (2017)
PLA	Ibuprofen	Wound healing	Mohiti-Asli et al. (2017)
PVP/dextran	Ibuprofen and acetylsalicylic acid	Antimicrobial wound dressing	Maslakçı et al. (2017)
PVA/SA	Dexpanthenol	Wound healing	Tamizi et al. (2017)
PVA/calcium alginate	Papain	Wound healing	Dutra et al. (2017)
Eudragit RL/RS	Gentamicin sulfate and recombinant human epidermal growth factor	Wound healing	Dwivedi et al. (2018)
PCL-PEG-PCL	Magnetic iron oxide	Skin tissue	Zhang et al. (2017)
triblock copolymer	nanoparticles	engineering	
PCL/PVA	Silver sulfadiazine	Antimicrobial wound dressing	Mohseni et al. (2016)
PCL/gum tragacanth	Curcumin	Wound healing	Ranjbar- Mohammadi et al. (2016)
PCL/hyaluronan	Epidermal growth factor	Wound healing	Wang et al. (2016)
PVP	Chloramphenicol and suberin fatty acids	Wound healing	Tamm et al. (2016)

 Table 5.3
 Nanofiber-based dermal drug delivery studies conducted in the last decade

(continued)

Polymer or polymer			
blend	Drug	Aim	Author and Year
PMMA/PVA	Ciprofloxacin	Wound healing	Zupančič et al. (2016a)
Chitosan/PEO	Metronidazole	Wound healing	Zupančič et al. (2016b)
PU/dextran	β-Estradiol	Post-menopausal wound care	Unnithan et al. (2015)
Collagen/hyaluronic acid	Multiple angiogenic growth factors	Wound healing	Lai et al. (2014)
Chitosan/PEO	Blood-derived growth factors	Wound healing	Bertoncelj et al. (2014)
SA/PVA	Ciprofloxacin	Wound healing	Kataria et al. (2014)
SA/PVA	Gatifloxacin	Wound healing	Arthanari et al. (2016)
PVA/PCL	Horseradish peroxidase	Wound healing	Mickova et al. (2012)
PVA/PVAc	Ciprofloxacin	Wound healing	Jannesari et al. (2011)
PLGA	Fusidic acid	Wound dressing	Said et al. (2011)
PLGA	Rhodamine B	Tissue engineering scaffold	Liao et al. (2008)
PU/HPC	Donepezil hydrochloride	Transdermal drug delivery system	Gencturk et al. (2017)
Chitosan/ phospholipid	Curcumin, diclofenac, and vitamin B12	Transdermal drug delivery system	Mendes et al. (2016)
PLGA	Daidzein-loaded lipid nanocarriers	Transdermal drug delivery system	Song et al. (2016)
PVP	Curcumin	Transdermal drug delivery system	Wang et al. (2015)
PVA	Prazosin hydrochloride	Transdermal drug delivery system	Shen et al. (2014)
CA/PVP	Ibuprofen	Transdermal drug delivery system	Shi et al. (2013)
PVA/CA	Capsicum extract	Transdermal drug delivery system	Opanasopit et al. (2013)
PVA	Meloxicam	Transdermal drug delivery system	Ngawhirunpat et al. (2009)
PU	Naproxen	Topical drug delivery system	Akduman et al. (2016)
PCL	Linezolid	Topical antibacterial	Tammaro et al. (2015)
PVA/PNIPAM	Levothyroxine (T ₄)	Sustained topical delivery of T ₄	Azarbayjani et al. (2010)

Table 5.3 (continued)

wound from bacterial penetration and dehydration (Mickova et al. 2012). Most of the studies have shown that electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds might be capable of supporting cell adhesion, proliferation, and maturation (Anjum et al. 2017; Frenot and Chronakis 2003). Generally, the hydrophilic natural polymers provide sites for cell adhesion, while synthetic polymers add mechanical strength and slow the degradation rate (Gomes et al. 2015). Upon proper polymer selection nanofibers can also provide an optimum barrier for appropriate healing of the wound (Kamble et al. 2017; Sharma et al. 2015; Zanin et al. 2011). The local delivery of drugs via bioactive nanofiber mats is one of the effective approaches to accelerate the wound healing process more efficiently (Kataria et al. 2014). Drug-loaded nanofibers composed of chitosan–PEO (Bertoncelj et al. 2014; Fazli and Shariatinia 2017), chitosan–PVA (Alavarse et al. 2017), chitosan–PCL (Poornima and Korrapati 2017), and gelatin– PCL (Rather et al. 2017) blends or hydrophilic synthetic polymers such as PVA (Shoba et al. 2017), PLA (Mohiti-Asli et al. 2017), and PVP (Tamm et al. 2016) have been specifically engineered to promote wound healing and skin regeneration.

5.7 Conclusions

Among the different nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems, electrospun nanofibers have been considered as promising novel carriers due to their efficiency on drug delivery in a controlled manner. The nanofiber scaffolds composed of biocompatible polymers are widely studied as effective alternatives for skin wound treatment and dermal drug delivery. On the other hand, the scale-up to industrial production and the clinical studies of drug-loaded nanofibers are still limited. Further studies have to be performed to overcome the technical challenges to ensure industrial production of uniform nanofibers. Furthermore, the effect of drug release kinetics on therapeutic efficiency as well as possible toxic effects should be clarified by in vivo studies.

References

- Akduman Ç, Kumbasar EPA (2017) Electrospun polyurethane nanofibers. In: Yilmaz F (ed) Aspects of polyurethanes. IntechOpen, pp 17–52. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.69937
- Akduman C, Özgüney I, Kumbasar EPA (2016) Preparation and characterization of naproxenloaded electrospun thermoplastic polyurethane nanofibers as a drug delivery system. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 64:383–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.04.005
- Alavarse AC, de Oliveira Silva FW, Colque JT, da Silva VM, Prieto T, Venancio EC, Bonvent JJ (2017) Tetracycline hydrochloride-loaded electrospun nanofibers mats based on PVA and chitosan for wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 77:271–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.03.199
- Aldana AA, Abraham GA (2017) Current advances in electrospun gelatin-based scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Int J Pharm 523(2):441–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2016.09.044

- Anjum F, Agabalyan NA, Sparks HD, Rosin NL, Kallos MS, Biernaskie J (2017) Biocomposite nanofiber matrices to support ECM remodeling by human dermal progenitors and enhanced wound closure. Sci Rep 7(1):10291. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-10735-x
- Arthanari S, Mani G, Jang JH, Choi JO, Cho YH, Lee JH, Cha SE, Oh HS, Kwon DH, Jang HT (2016) Preparation and characterization of gatifloxacin-loaded alginate/poly (vinyl alcohol) electrospun nanofibers. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 44(3):847–852. https://doi.org/10.310 9/21691401.2014.986676
- Azarbayjani AF, Venugopal JR, Ramakrishna S, Lim PF, Chan YW, Chan SY (2010) Smart polymeric nanofibers for topical delivery of levothyroxine. J Pharm Pharm Sci 13(3):400–410
- Bertoncelj V, Pelipenko J, Kristl J, Jeras M, Cukjati M, Kocbek P (2014) Development and bioevaluation of nanofibers with blood-derived growth factors for dermal wound healing. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 88(1):64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.06.001
- Bhardwaj N, Kundu SC (2010) Electrospinning: a fascinating fiber fabrication technique. Biotechnol Adv 28:325–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.01.004
- Canbolat MF, Gera N, Tang C, Monian B, Rao BM, Pourdeyhimi B, Khan SA (2013) Preservation of cell viability and protein conformation on immobilization within nanofibers via electrospinning functionalized yeast. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 5(19):9349–9954. https://doi. org/10.1021/am4022768
- Censi R, Di Martino P (2015) Polymorph impact on the bioavailability and stability of poorly soluble drugs. Molecules 20:18759–18776. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules201018759
- Chou SF, Carson D, Woodrow KA (2015) Current strategies for sustaining drug release from electrospun nanofibers. J Control Release 220:584–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.09.008
- Cr R, Ps S, O M, Pp S, A S (2018) Nanochitosan enriched poly ε-caprolactone electrospun wound dressing membranes: a fine tuning of physicochemical properties, hemocompatibility and curcumin release profile. Int J Biol Macromol 108:1261–1272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2017.11.035
- Dadras Chomachayi M, Solouk A, Akbari S, Sadeghi D, Mirahmadi F, Mirzadeh H (2017) Electrospun nanofibers comprising of silk fibroin/gelatin for drug delivery applications: thyme essential oil and doxycycline monohydrate release study. J Biomed Mater Res A. https://doi. org/10.1002/jbm.a.36303
- Dubský M, Kubinová S, Sirc J, Voska L, Zajíček R, Zajíčová A, Lesný P, Jirkovská A, Michálek J, Munzarová M, Holáň V, Syková E (2012) Nanofibers prepared by needleless electrospinning technology as scaffolds for wound healing. J Mater Sci Mater Med 23(4):931–941. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10856-012-4577-7
- Dutra JA, Carvalho SG, Zampirolli AC, Daltoé RD, Teixeira RM, Careta FP, Cotrim MA, Oréfice RL, Villanova JC (2017) Papain wound dressings obtained from poly(vinyl alcohol)/calcium alginate blends as new pharmaceutical dosage form: preparation and preliminary evaluation. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 113:11–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.12.001
- Dwivedi C, Pandey I, Pandey H, Patil S, Mishra SB, Pandey AC, Zamboni P, Ramteke PW, Singh AV (2018) In vivo diabetic wound healing with nanofibrous scaffolds modified with gentamicin and recombinant human epidermal growth factor. J Biomed Mater Res A 106(3):641–651. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36268
- Erdal MS, Güngör S, Özsoy Y (2016) Dermal and transdermal drug delivery systems. In: Mishra M (ed) Encyclopedia of biomedical polymers and polymeric biomaterials. Taylor and Francis, New York, pp 2606–2619. Published online: 26 Jan 2016
- Esentürk İ, Erdal MS, Güngör S (2016) Electrospinning method to produce drug-loaded nanofibers for topical/transdermal drug delivery applications. J Fac Pharm Istanbul 46(1):49–69
- Esentürk İ, Balkan T, Özhan G, Döşler S, Güngör S, Erdal MS, Sarac AS (2020) Voriconazole incorporated nanofiber formulations for topical application: preparation, characterization and antifungal activity studies against species. Pharm Dev Technol 25(4):440–453. https://doi. org/10.1080/10837450.2019.1706563

- Fazli Y, Shariatinia Z (2017) Controlled release of cefazolin sodium antibiotic drug from electrospun chitosan-polyethylene oxide nanofibrous Mats. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 71:641–652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.10.048
- Frenot A, Chronakis IS (2003) Polymer nanofibers assembled by electrospinning. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci 8(1):64–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-0294(03)00004-9
- Fu R, Li C, Yu C, Xie H, Shi S, Li Z, Wang Q, Lu L (2016) A novel electrospun membrane based on moxifloxacin hydrochloride/poly(vinyl alcohol)/sodium alginate for antibacterial wound dressings in practical application. Drug Deliv 23(3):828–839. https://doi.org/10.3109/1071754 4.2014.918676
- Garcia-Orue I, Gainza G, Gutierrez FB, Aguirre JJ, Evora C, Pedraz JL, Hernandez RM, Delgado A, Igartua M (2017) Novel nanofibrous dressings containing rhEGF and Aloe vera for wound healing applications. Int J Pharm 523(2):556–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.11.006
- Gencturk A, Kahraman E, Güngör S, Özhan G, Özsoy Y, Sarac AS (2017) Polyurethane/hydroxypropyl cellulose electrospun nanofiber mats as potential transdermal drug delivery system: characterization studies and in vitro assays. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 45(3):655–664. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2016.1173047
- Gomes SR, Rodrigues G, Martins GG, Roberto MA, Mafra M, Henriques CM, Silva JC (2015) In vitro and in vivo evaluation of electrospun nanofibers of PCL, chitosan and gelatin: a comparative study. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 46:348–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2014.10.051
- Goyal R, Macri LK, Kaplan HM, Kohn J (2016) Nanoparticles and nanofibers for topical drug delivery. J Control Release 240:77–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.10.049
- Hall Barrientos IJ, Paladino E, Brozio S, Passarelli MK, Moug S, Black RA, Wilson CG, Lamprou DA (2017) Fabrication and characterisation of drug-loaded electrospun polymeric nanofibers for controlled release in hernia repair. Int J Pharm 517:329–337
- He C, Niea W, Fenga W (2014) Engineering of biomimetic nanofibrous matrices for drug delivery and tissue engineering. J Mater Chem B 2:7828–7848. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB01464B
- Hu X, Liu S, Zhou G, Huang Y, Xie Z, Jing X (2014) Electrospinning of polymeric nanofibers for drug delivery applications. J Control Release 185:12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2014.04.018
- Huang ZM, Zhang YZ, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S (2003) A review on polymer nanofibers by electrospinning and their applications in nanocomposites. Compos Sci Technol 63:2223–2253. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0266-3538(03)00178-7
- Jannesari M, Varshoaz J, Morshed M, Zamani M (2011) Composite poly(vinyl alcohol)/poly(vinyl acetate) electrospun nanofibrous mats as a novel wound dressing matrix for controlled release of drugs. Int J Nanomedicine 6:993–1003. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S17595
- Kamble P, Sadarani B, Majumdar A, Bhullar S (2017) Nanofiber based drug delivery systems for skin: a promising therapeutic approach. J Drug Delivery Sci Technol 41:124–133. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jddst.2017.07.003
- Karthikeyan K, Sowjanya RS, Yugandhar ADV, Gopinath S, Korrapati PS (2015) Design and development of a topical dosage form for the convenient delivery of electrospun drug loaded nanofibers. RSC Adv 2015(5):52420–52426. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA04438C
- Kataria K, Gupta A, Rath G, Mathur RB, Dhakate SR (2014) In vivo wound healing performance of drug loaded electrospun composite nanofibers transdermal patch. Int J Pharm 469(1):102–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.04.047
- Kiliç E, Yakar A, Pekel Bayramgil N (2018) Preparation of electrospun polyurethane nanofiber mats for the release of doxorubicin. J Mater Sci Mater Med 29(1):8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10856-017-6013-5
- Kluge JA, Mauck RL (2012) Synthetic/biopolymer nanofibrous composites as dynamic tissue engineering scaffolds. In: Jayakumar R, Nair SV (eds) Biomedical applications of polymeric nanofibers. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 101–130. ISBN 978-3-642-27147-2

- Kyzioł A, Michna J, Moreno I, Gamez E, Irusta S (2017) Preparation and characterization of electrospun alginate nanofibers loaded with ciprofloxacin hydrochloride. Eur Polym J 96:350–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2017.09.020
- Laha A, Yadav S, Majumdar S, Sharma CS (2016) In-vitro release study of hydrophobic drug using electrospun cross-linked gelatin nanofibers. Biochem Eng J 105:481–488. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.11.001
- Lai HJ, Kuan CH, Wu HC, Tsai JC, Chen TM, Hsieh DJ, Wang TW (2014) Tailored design of electrospun composite nanofibers with staged release of multiple angiogenic growth factors for chronic wound healing. Acta Biomater 10(10):4156–4166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2014.05.001
- Lee MS, Ahmad T, Lee J, Awada HK, Wang Y, Kim K, Shin H, Yang HS (2017) Dual delivery of growth factors with coacervate-coated poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanofiber improves neovascularization in a mouse skin flap model. Biomaterials 124:65–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2017.01.036
- Liao Y, Zhang L, Gao Y, Zhu ZT, Fong H (2008) Preparation, characterization, and encapsulation/ release studies of a composite nanofiber mat electrospun from an emulsion containing poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid). Polymer (Guildf) 49(24):5294–5299
- Manuel CBJ, Jesús VGL, Aracely SM (2016) Electrospinning for drug delivery systems: drug incorporation techniques. In: Haider S (ed) Electrospinning – material, techniques, and biomedical applications. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/65939
- Maslakci NN, Ulusoy S, Uygun E et al (2017) Ibuprofen and acetylsalicylic acid loaded electrospun PVP-dextran nanofiber mats for biomedical applications. Polym Bull 74:3283. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00289-016-1897-7
- Melanko JB, Pearce ME, Salem AK (2009) Nanotubes, nanorods, nanofibers, and fullerenes for nanoscale drug delivery. In: de Villiers MM, Aramwit P, Kwon GS (eds) Nanotechnology in drug delivery. Springer, American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists, New York, pp 105–128. ISBN: 978-0-387-77667-5
- Mendes AC, Gorzelanny C, Halter N, Schneider SW, Chronakis IS (2016) Hybrid electrospun chitosan-phospholipids nanofibers for transdermal drug delivery. Int J Pharm 510(1):48–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.06.016
- Mickova A, Buzgo M, Benada O, Rampichova M, Fisar Z, Filova E, Tesarova M, Lukas D, Amler E (2012) Core/shell nanofibers with embedded liposomes as a drug delivery system. Biomacromolecules 13(4):952–962. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm2018118
- Mohiti-Asli M, Saha S, Murphy SV, Gracz H, Pourdeyhimi B, Atala A, Loboa EG (2017) Ibuprofen loaded PLA nanofibrous scaffolds increase proliferation of human skin cells in vitro and promote healing of full thickness incision wounds in vivo. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 105(2):327–339. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.33520
- Mohseni M, Shamloo A, Aghababaei Z, Vossoughi M, Moravvej H (2016) Antimicrobial wound dressing containing silver sulfadiazine with high biocompatibility: in vitro study. Artif Organs 40(8):765–773. https://doi.org/10.1111/aor.12682
- Morie A, Garg T, Goyal AK, Rath G (2016) Nanofibers as novel drug carrier-an overview. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 44:135–143. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2014.927879
- Ngawhirunpat T, Opanasopit P, Rojanarata T, Akkaramongkolporn P, Ruktanonchai U, Supaphol P (2009) Development of meloxicam-loaded electrospun polyvinyl alcohol mats as a transdermal therapeutic agent. Pharm Dev Technol 14(1):70–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/10837450802409420
- Nikmaram N, Roohinejad S, Hashemi S, Koubaa M, Barba FJ, Abbaspourrad A, Greiner R (2017) Emulsion-based systems for fabrication of electrospun nanofibers: food, pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. RSC Adv 7:28951–28964. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA00179G
- Opanasopit P, Sila-On W, Rojanarata T, Ngawhirunpat T (2013) Fabrication and properties of capsicum extract-loaded PVA and CA nanofiber patches. Pharm Dev Technol 18(5):1140–1147. https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2012.727004

- Pelipenko J, Kocbek P, Kristl J (2015) Critical attributes of nanofibers: preparation, drug loading, and tissue regeneration. Int J Pharm 484(1–2):57–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2015.02.043
- Petrík S (2011) Industrial production technology for nanofibers. In: Lin T (ed) Nanofibers production, properties and functional applications. InTech. ISBN: 978-953-307-420-7
- Poornima B, Korrapati PS (2017) Fabrication of chitosan-polycaprolactone composite nanofibrous scaffold for simultaneous delivery of ferulic acid and resveratrol. Carbohydr Polym 157:1741–1749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.11.056
- Ramakrishna S, Fujihara K, Teo WE, Lim TC, Ma Z (2005) An introduction to electrospinning and nanofibers. World Scientific Publishing, Singapore, pp 7–17. ISBN 981-256-415-2
- Ranjbar-Mohammadi M, Rabbani S, Bahrami SH, Joghataei MT, Moayer F (2016) Antibacterial performance and in vivo diabetic wound healing of curcumin loaded gum tragacanth/poly(εcaprolactone) electrospun nanofibers. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 69:1183–1191. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.08.032
- Rather AH, Thakore R, Singh R, Jhalaa D, Singh S, Vasita R (2017) Antioxidative study of Cerium Oxide nanoparticle functionalised PCL-Gelatin electrospun fibers for wound healing application. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat.2017.09.006
- Ravikumar R, Ganesh M, Ubaidulla U, Young Choi E, Tae Jang H (2017) Preparation, characterization, and in vitro diffusion study of nonwoven electrospun nanofiber of curcumin-loaded cellulose acetate phthalate polymer. Saudi Pharma J 25(6):921–926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jsps.2017.02.004
- Said SS, Aloufy AK, El-Hlfawy OM, Boraei NA, El-Khordagui L (2011) Antimicrobial PLGA ultrafine fibers: interaction with wound bacteria. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 79:108–118. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.03.002
- Seif S, Franzen L, Windbergs M (2015) Overcoming drug crystallization in electrospun fibers–Elucidating key parameters and developing strategies for drug delivery. Int J Pharm 478(1):390–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.11.045
- Sharma J, Lizu M, Stewart M, Zygula K, Lu Y, Chauhan R, Yan X, Guo Z, Wujcik EK, Wei S (2015) Multifunctional nanofibers towards active biomedical therapeutics. Polymers 7:186–219
- Shen X, Xu Q, Xu S, Li J, Zhang N, Zhang L (2014) Preparation and transdermal diffusion evaluation of the prazosin hydrochloride-loaded electrospun poly(vinyl alcohol) fiber mats. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 14(7):5258–5265
- Shi Y, Wei Z, Zhao H, Liu T, Dong A, Zhang J (2013) Electrospinning of ibuprofen-loaded composite nanofibers for improving the performances of transdermal patches. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 13(6):3855–3863
- Shirazaki P, Varshosaz J, Kharazi AZ (2017) Electrospun gelatin/poly(glycerol sebacate) membrane with controlled release of antibiotics for wound dressing. Adv Biomed Res 6:105. https:// doi.org/10.4103/abr.abr_197_16
- Shoba E, Lakra R, Syamala Kiran M, Korrapati PS (2017) Fabrication of core-shell nanofibers for controlled delivery of bromelain and salvianolic acid B for skin regeneration in wound therapeutics. Biomed Mater 12(3):035005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-605X/aa6684
- Širc J, Hobzová R, Kostina N, Munzarova M, Juklíčková M, Lhotka M, Kubinová S, Zajícová A, Michálek J (2012) Morphological characterization of nanofibers: methods and application in practice. J Nanomater Article ID 327369. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/327369
- Song J, Fan X, Shen Q (2016) Daidzein-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers-PLGA nanofibers for transdermal delivery. Int J Pharm 501(1–2):245–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2016.02.003
- Stamm A, Reimers K, Strauß S, Vogt P, Scheper T, Pepelanova I (2016) In vitro wound healing assays – state of the art. BioNanoMaterials 17(1–2):79–87. https://doi.org/10.1515/ bnm-2016-0002
- Supaphol P, Suwantong O, Sangsanoh P, Srinivasan S, Jayakumar R, Nair SV (2012) Synthetic/ biopolymer nanofibrous composites as dynamic tissue engineering scaffolds. In: Jayakumar

R, Nair SV (eds) Biomedical applications of polymeric nanofibers. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/ Heidelberg, pp 213–240. ISBN 978-3-642-27147-2

- Tamizi E, Azizi M, Dorraji MSS, Dusti Z, Panahi Azar V (2017) Stabilized core/shell PVA/SA nanofibers as an efficient drug delivery system for dexpanthenol. Polym Bull. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-017-2049-4
- Tamm I, Heinämäki J, Laidmäe I, Rammo L, Paaver U, Ingebrigtsen SG, Škalko-Basnet N, Halenius A, Yliruusi J, Pitkänen P, Alakurtti S, Kogermann K (2016) Development of suberin fatty acids and chloramphenicol-loaded antimicrobial electrospun nanofibrous mats intended for wound therapy. J Pharm Sci 105(3):1239–1247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2015.12.025
- Tammaro L, Saturnino C, D'Aniello S, Vigliotta G, Vittoria V (2015) Polymorphic solidification of Linezolid confined in electrospun PCL fibers for controlled release in topical applications. Int J Pharm 490(1–2):32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.04.070
- Thakkar S, Misra M (2017) Electrospun polymeric nanofibers: new horizons in drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci 107:148–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2017.07.001
- Tort S, Acartürk F, Beşikci A (2017) Evaluation of three-layered doxycycline-collagen loaded nanofiber wound dressing. Int J Pharm 529(1–2):642–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2017.07.027
- Unnithan AR, Sasikala AR, Murugesan P, Gurusamy M, Wu D, Park CH, Kim CS (2015) Electrospun polyurethane-dextran nanofiber mats loaded with Estradiol for post-menopausal wound dressing. Int J Biol Macromol 77:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.02.044
- Valipouri A (2017) Production scale up of nanofibers: a review. J Text Polym 5:8-16
- Vashisth P, Nikhil K, Roy P, Pruthi PA, Singh RP, Pruthi V (2016) A novel gellan-PVA nanofibrous scaffold for skin tissue regeneration: fabrication and characterization. Carbohydr Polym 136:851–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2015.09.113
- Vasita R, Katti DS (2006) Nanofibers and their applications in tissue engineering. Int J Nanomedicine 1(1):15–30
- Viana JF, Carrijo J, Freitas CG, Paul A, Alcaraz J, Lacorte CC, Migliolo L, Andrade CA, Falcão R, Santos NC, Gonçalves S, Otero-González AJ, Khademhosseini A, Dias SC, Franco OL (2015) Antifungal nanofibers made by controlled release of sea animal derived peptide. Nanoscale 7(14):6238–6246. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5nr00767d
- Wali A, Zhang Y, Sengupta P, Higaki Y, Takahara A, Badiger MV (2018) Electrospinning of non-ionic cellulose ethers/polyvinyl alcohol nanofibers: characterization and applications. Carbohydr Polym 181:175–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2017.10.070
- Wang C, Ma C, Wu Z, Liang H, Yan P, Song J, Ma N, Zhao Q (2015) Enhanced bioavailability and anticancer effect of curcumin-loaded electrospun nanofiber: in vitro and in vivo study. Nanoscale Res Lett 10(1):439. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-015-1146-2
- Wang Z, Qian Y, Li L, Pan L, Njunge LW, Dong L, Yang L (2016) Evaluation of emulsion electrospun polycaprolactone/hyaluronan/epidermal growth factor nanofibrous scaffolds for wound healing. J Biomater Appl 30(6):686–698. https://doi.org/10.1177/0885328215586907
- Wang M, Roy AK, Webster TJ (2017) Development of chitosan/poly(vinyl alcohol) electrospun nanofibers for infection related wound healing. Front Physiol 7:683. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2016.00683
- Yao CH, Yeh JY, Chen YS, Li MH, Huang CH (2017) Wound-healing effect of electrospun gelatin nanofibres containing Centella asiatica extract in a rat model. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11(3):905–915. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1992
- Yu D-G, Branford-White C, White K, Li X-L, Zhu L-M (2010) Dissolution improvement of electrospun nanofiber-based solid dispersions for acetaminophen. AAPS PharmSciTech 11(2):809–817. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-010-9438-4
- Zamani M, Prabhakaran MP, Ramakrishna S (2013) Advances in drug delivery via electrospun and electrosprayed nanomaterials. Int J Nanomedicine 8:2997–3017. https://doi.org/10.2147/ IJN.S43575
- Zanin MHA, Cerize NNP, de Oliveira AM (2011) Production of nanofibers by electrospinning technology: overview and application in cosmetics. In: Beck R, Guterres S, Pohlmann A (eds)

Nanocosmetics and nanomedicines: new approaches for skin care. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/ Heidelberg, pp 311–332. ISBN 978-3-642-19791-8

- Zhang H, Xia J, Pang X, Zhao M, Wang B, Yang L, Wan H, Wu J, Fu S (2017) Magnetic nanoparticle-loaded electrospun polymeric nanofibers for tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 73:537–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.12.116
- Zhang C, Feng F, Zhang H (2018) Emulsion electrospinning: fundamentals, food applications and prospects. Trends Food Sci Technol 80:175–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2018.08.005
- Zhao Y, Qiu Y, Wang H, Chen Y, Jin S, Chen S (2016) Preparation of nanofibers with renewable polymers and their application in wound dressing. Int J Polymer Sci. https://doi. org/10.1155/2016/4672839
- Zupančič Š, Potrč T, Baumgartner S, Kocbek P, Kristl J (2016a) Formulation and evaluation of chitosan/polyethylene oxide nanofibers loaded with metronidazole for local infections. Eur J Pharm Sci 95:152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2016.10.030
- Zupančič Š, Sinha-Ray S, Sinha-Ray S, Kristl J, Yarin AL (2016b) Controlled release of ciprofloxacin from core-shell nanofibers with monolithic or blended core. Mol Pharm 13(4):1393–1404. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.6b00039

Chapter 6 Enzyme-Responsive and Enzyme Immobilized Nanoplatforms for Therapeutic Delivery: An Overview of Research Innovations and Biomedical Applications



Mohd Faheem Khan, Debasree Kundu, Manashjit Gogoi, Ashwinee Kumar Shrestha, Naikankatte G. Karanth, and Sanjukta Patra

Contents

168 169 170
169 170
170
170
171
171
172
172
173
173
176

Mohd Faheem Khan and Debasree Kundu have contributed equally as first authors.

M. F. Khan \cdot D. Kundu \cdot S. Patra (\boxtimes)

Department of Biosciences and Bioengineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India e-mail: sanjukta@iitg.ac.in

M. Gogoi Biomedical Engineering Department, North Eastern Hill University, Shillong, Meghalaya, India

A. K. Shrestha Department of Pharmacy, Kathmandu University, Dhulikhel, Nepal

N. G. Karanth Department of Fermentation Technology, CSIR-Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysuru, India

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_6 165
	6.3.3	Other Hydrolase-Responsive Nanocarriers.	178	
	6.3.4	Oxidoreductase-Responsive Nanocarriers.	178	
6.4	Salient	t Features of Enzyme Immobilized Nanocarriers		
	for Bio	omedical Applications.	179	
	6.4.1	Size of Nanoassembly	179	
	6.4.2	Surface Modifications of Nanomaterials for Enhanced Biocompatibility	180	
	6.4.3	Dosage and Administered Route for Therapeutic Nanocarriers	181	
	6.4.4	Loading of Enzyme onto the Nanocarriers	182	
	6.4.5	Tissue Specific-Targeted Delivery of Nanocarriers.	183	
	6.4.6	Biodistribution and Subcellular Localization for Therapeutic Efficacy	184	
	6.4.7	Bioavailability and Duration of Drug Delivery		
		for Successful Therapeutics.	185	
6.5	Immobilized Enzymes as Drug for Therapeutic Delivery			
	6.5.1	Applications of Immobilized Enzymes in Treatment of Diseases	186	
6.6	Challe	nges and Suggestive Notes	191	
6.7	Conclu	ision and Future Perspectives	192	
Refe	rences.		193	

Abstract Enzymes facilitate physiological function but are dysregulated in diseaseassociated environments. The utilization of the altered enzyme activity for therapeutics exhibits enormous promise. The amalgamation of nanomaterials with such enzymatic responses as enzyme responsive and immobilized nanoplatforms has found growing applications in therapeutic delivery of enzyme-triggered nanomedicine. However, the key problem is the low stability and high immunogenicity of these nanobiocatalysts that restricts their use in therapy. These limitations can be overcome through designing, functionalization, and engineering of smart biocompatible nanocarriers that improves stability and reduces immunogenic responses leading to more efficient and targeted delivery of drug.

In enzyme-responsive drug delivery, the affected tissues secrete disease-specific enzymes that help in the release of drugs from the coated nanocarriers at the diseased tissue. Apart from this, enzymes can be immobilized that act as drugs for regulation of diseases. In this chapter, initially the types of nanomaterials for immobilization of enzymes with improved biomedical application potential highlighting their effectiveness as new tools for future therapeutics are discussed. Subsequently, protease, lipolytic and oxidoreductase-responsive nanocarriers, and the salient features of enzyme immobilized nanoplatforms for biomedical applications are explored. Moreover, applications of the immobilized enzymes for treatment of various diseases like cancer, wound healing, alcohol intoxication, and Gaucher's disease along with the challenges and suggestions for future research are delineated. Overall, this chapter reviews the effectiveness of enzyme-responsive and immobilized nanomaterials as emerging tools for future therapeutics.

Keywords Nanoparticle · Enzyme responsive · Immobilization · Therapeutic delivery · Biomedical applications

6.1 Introduction

Life depends upon numerous synergistic metabolic processes that rely on protein machinery of the organism. Enzymes are the workhorse molecules of life that keeps the organisms running by getting integrated into various metabolic pathways. Various diseases disrupt these metabolic pathways, and the enzymes involved in them are the biorecognition molecules that play an imperative role in the regulation of diseases (DeBerardinis and Thompson 2012). Enzymes have the potential of combating as antidotes or therapeutic agents. So currently, enzyme therapy is an effective and efficient way to treat diseases (Chowdhury et al. 2017). Nevertheless, low stability and high immunogenicity are the major limitations of enzyme therapy that can be resolved by enzyme-responsive and immobilized nanoenzyme delivery systems. The major advantages of enzyme immobilization for disease therapeutics include increased stability, decreased immunogenic responses, enhanced functional efficiency, minimum therapeutic time, continuous use of enzymes, etc. (Bosio et al. 2015). These benefits of enzyme immobilization can employ a wide range of nanomaterials to make nanoenzyme complex as an avenue for therapeutic delivery. The additional approach of enzyme-activated (or responsive) drug carriers releases the drug molecules to the specific targeted tissues (Hu et al. 2014). Due to the presence of specific enzyme in the carrier reacting with the substrate or the triggered molecule at the site of infection, the drug is eventually released. This is advantageous as the rate of release of drugs can be adjusted to the changing physiological conditions (Shukla et al. 2016). Thus, research have propelled toward enzyme-mediated nanotherapy techniques for targeted treatment of diseased cells without damaging healthier tissues of the organisms referred to as tissue-specific targeted drug delivery.

For successful and effective drug delivery, various nanosystems with varying sizes are applied leading to efficacious therapy. But, the problems encountered in efficacious nanoconjugated drug delivery are optimized synthesis of drug nanocarriers, sustained targeted drug delivery at the site of infection, immunological rejection, and toxicological effects in the host. Even though nanomedicine can be efficient in in vitro or ex vivo studies, it is important to evaluate the different platforms that are decided upon multiple considerable factors such as required size of nanoparticles, surface modification (hydrophobic or charged), permeability to the biological barriers, biodegradable, biocompatible, nontoxicity, controlled drug release at desired site, site-specific drug targeting, and nonresponsive to the host immune system required for in vivo delivery (Li et al. 2012; Shukla et al. 2016). Most importantly, site-specific drug targeting is only achieved by tagging the nanoassemblies with receptor-specific ligands for internalization into specific cells (Xu et al. 2013). Many biocompatible nanosupports comprising biological entities such as protein, polysaccharide, DNA, etc. are used for diseases like cancer, wound healing, inflammation, infectious diseases, myocardial infarction, neurodegeneration disorders, etc. (Kalam et al. 2017; Chowdhury et al. 2017). Thus, nanotherapeutic platforms have provided the opportunities to get direct access to the diseased cells selectively with improved drug localization and cellular uptake.

The central tenet of this chapter is to demonstrate current research innovations and biomedical applications of both enzyme-responsive nanoparticles and immobilized enzymes as drug for biomedical therapeutics. The present chapter discusses various nanomaterials employed for immobilization followed by enzyme-responsive nanocarriers for effective drug release, the key parameters for nanodesign consideration for therapeutic efficacies, and finally focused upon biomedical therapeutics using immobilized enzymes for various diseases. At last, the challenges regarding nanomaterial designing, biological barriers, their toxicological and immunological effects, tissue-specific delivery, their pharmacokinetics parameters, etc. along with the suggestive strategies to resolve these challenges are being discussed.

6.2 Types of Nanomaterials for Immobilization of Enzymes

Immobilization of enzymes on to the selected solid support refers to the interaction between them with specific chemical bonds that changes the physical, biochemical, and kinetic properties of biocatalysts. However, immobilization can sometimes alter the kinetic parameters such as K_m , V_{max} , turnover rate, and catalytic efficiency (Mohamad et al. 2015). Immobilization of enzymes makes the enzyme more robust than that of their native form by increasing enzyme stability in terms of extreme pHs and elevated temperatures, in solvents, and at higher ionic strengths (Mohamad et al. 2015). From the therapeutic point of view, immobilized enzymes have advantageous attributes that include resistance to autolysis from hydrolases, reduce shearing effects, reusability of the biocatalyst in the living system, prolonged catalytic half-life, and extended half-life of enzyme in the in vivo system.

There are several principal techniques for immobilization of enzymes like entrapment, adsorption, covalent, and cross-linking for in situ and ex situ conjugation and purification (Mohamad et al. 2015). The enzyme entrapment method involves trapping of enzyme within the matrix in such a way that the enzyme remains entrapped but allows the substrate and products to pass through (Aehle 2007). In physical adsorption method, the enzymes are being reversibly adsorbed or attached onto the support material through van der Waals interactions, hydrophobic interactions, hydrogen bonds, etc. (Jegannathan et al. 2008). Crosslinking includes formation of intermolecular crosslinkages between enzyme molecules and matrix by means of reagents such as glutaraldehyde (Sheldon 2011; Saha et al. 2018). Lastly, the covalent binding immobilizes enzymes irreversibly via the side chains of surface-exposed residues like ϵ -amino group of lysine, thiol group of cysteine, and carboxylic group of aspartic and glutamic acids (Singh and Lillard 2009). In general, enzyme immobilization solid supports can be grouped into polymeric-based nanoparticles, metal-based nanoparticles, silica-based nanoparticle, carbon-based nanoparticles, liposomes, crosslinked enzyme aggregates, and hybrid nanoparticles.

6.2.1 Polymeric Nanoparticles

The use of polymeric nanoparticles is beneficial for optimal drug delivery in varied drug dosages as they are more biocompatible, increase drug efficacy to the target tissue, reduce side effects, and improve patient compliance. They are considered as promising approach to augment chemical drug delivery systems (Łukasiewicz et al. 2015). Enzyme-responsive polymeric nanoparticles take advantages of overexpressing enzymes in the disease tissues such as Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in cancer and alter polymeric material chemical structures in response to these specific enzymes. Various polymeric nanoparticles are exploited with drugs and therapeutic enzymes for diseases such as cancer, diabetes, etc. (Hu et al. 2012). Several natural polymers (alginate, carrageenan, chitosan, cellulose, chitin, collagen, starch, sepharose, etc.) can be used as support materials but are difficult to tailor into nanosize (under 200 nm) and are generally crosslinked with encapsulated drugs (Meryam Sardar 2015). So, apart from natural polymers, different synthetic polymeric materials [poly(cyanoacrylate), polyanhydride, poly(e-caprolactone), poly(lactic acid) (PLA), poly(lactide-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)] are also used for immobilization (Choi and Ryoo 2003). Gu et al. (2009) developed enzymatically degradable peptide polymeric nanocapsules that contained functional apoptosis inducing target protein Caspase-3 (CP3). Upon enzymatic degradation, the nanoparticle dissociated and released protein CP3 leading to apoptotic hallmarks of HeLa cells as shrinking of cells after 24 h (Gu et al. 2009). The problem encountered is aggregation of these polymeric nanocarriers that can be overcome by surface modification leading to improved surface to surface interfacial interactions. For surface modification of various nanoparticles, polyethylene glycol (PEG) is used very vigorously nowadays because of its unique properties. PEG is an (i) inert hydrophilic polymer, (ii) has steric hindrance, (iii) prevents protein binding, (iv) reduces immune responses, and (v) enhances half-life of drugs in the in vivo system (Hu et al. 2012). Wong et al. (2011) employed PEG-coated enzyme-degradable nanoparticles of type A gelatin which shrunk from 100 to 10 nm after exposed to overexpressed MMP-2 at the site of tumor microenvironment. In addition to polymeric nanoparticle shrinking, enzyme responses can also increase the size of nanoparticle by cleaving the substrates (Wong et al. 2011). Besides, micelles can also be prepared by integration of hydrophobic block and a hydrophilic peptide into copolymers which can be employed for easy diffusion into the tumors for gaining access to dysregulated enzymes (Akagi et al. 2007). Additionally, natural or synthetic hydrogels or cryogels can be used for enzyme immobilization, for example, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) cryogels are widely used for whole cells and enzyme immobilization (Homaei et al. 2013). Moreover, a wide range of biopolymers, preferably, water-insoluble polysaccharides like starch, agarose, cellulose, carragenans, chitosan, etc., has been used as supports for enzyme immobilization (Mohamad et al. 2015). Further development of new polymeric-based nanoparticle synthesis will pave a path for evaluation of smart drug delivery.

6.2.2 Metallic Nanoparticles

Metal-based nanoparticles are used for various biomedical applications as they affect immune responses in many organisms. They are significantly used for their different physicochemical properties (smaller size, elemental composition, charge, shape, surface area, solubility, crystallinity, and easy cellular uptake for intracellular distribution) than their conventional bulk materials but are found to be toxic to the physiological environment as they trigger both the innate and adaptive immune responses (Luo et al. 2015). Metal-based nanoparticles like that of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), and other metal oxide nanoparticles (iron oxide, zinc oxide, titanium dioxide, and quantum dots) are employed for various biomedical and industrial applications (Homaei et al. 2013; Luo et al. 2015). Zinc oxide (ZnO) and titanium dioxide (TiO₂) nanoparticles are used in sunscreens and cosmetic products, and AgNPs are used in antibacterial agents, paints and printer inks, textiles, and detergent applications (Lu et al. 2015). Datta et al. (2017) reported effective anticancer and antimicrobial activity of enzyme-responsive adenosine triphosphate functionalized silver nanoparticles with excellent stability in normal physiological environment (Datta et al. 2017). Development of metallic nanoparticles with improved biomedical application potential highlights their effectiveness as new tools for future therapeutics.

6.2.3 Silica-Based Nanoparticles

Various inorganic solid supports of nanosizes such as alumina, mesoporous silicas, and zeolites have been used for immobilization of enzymes (He and Shi 2011; Peng et al. 2014). Exhaustive research has been performed to use silica-based nanoparticles (SiNPs) in disease diagnostics and drug delivery applications due to their higher mechanical strength, eco- and solvent-friendly, and increase longevity in the in vivo system (He and Shi 2011; Jo and Ban 2016). Moreover, the silica gel can be tuned to required morphology, pore structures, and microchannels (He and Shi 2011). These nanoparticles are considered beneficial as they opened innovative prospects in enzyme supporters for delivery, biosensors development for diagnosis, controlled drug release at the target tissues, and intracellular uptake for biodistribution (He and Shi 2011; Peng et al. 2014; Jo and Ban 2016). Park et al. (2009) constructed an enzyme-responsive porous SiNPs with cyclodextrin gatekeepers, multifunctional stalk structures, and fluorescence probes at nanoparticle surfaces to release drug loads in response to α -amylase and lipase at targeted tissues (Park et al. 2009). Yu et al. (2012) evaluated in vivo toxicity of enzymes-immobilized SiNPs for subcutaneous and oral administration routes which requires high and repeated doses to achieve efficient disease treatment. The effective progress in the field of biodegradable SiNPs may open up new avenues for designing of drug carriers with improved biosafety.

6.2.4 Carbon-Based Nanoparticles

A wide variety of carbon nanomaterials based on carbon allotropes (such as carbon nanotubes, nanohorns, and nanodiamonds) known for versatile physicochemical and structural properties are currently being explored for clinical applications (Liu et al. 2011). They are well-thought-out as novel and innovative tools for in vivo delivery of therapeutic cargo molecules. Graphene is a novel member of carbon nanoparticle family. The immobilization of enzymes onto graphene oxide sheets leads to improved conformation of enzymes for better catalytic performance (Zhang et al. 2010). It is reported that graphene oxide along with near-infrared laser irradiation can be used for photothermal treatment of Alzheimer's disease (Li et al. 2012; Yang et al. 2013). Further, recent evolvement in drug delivery fields based on mesoporous carbon nanomaterials (MCNs) results in immediate, sustained, controlled, and targeted delivery of the drug. MCNs have numerous biomedical applications including photothermal therapy, biotherapeutic agent delivery, mesoporous carbonassisted bioimaging, etc. (Zhao et al. 2017). For instance, Li et al. (2015) designed enzyme and glutathione dual-responsive drug release MCNs that were functionalized with hyaluronic acid for chemophotothermal therapy. The system was found to be sensitive to both intracellular hyaluronidase and GSH-degrading enzyme to control drug release (Li et al. 2015). Thus, the carbon-based nanomaterials have promising potential for drug or gene delivery.

6.2.5 Liposomes

Liposomes are considered as an excellent smart enzyme delivery nanoplatform for therapeutics due to their biocompatibility and ease of fabrication (Liu et al. 2016). They have advantage of improved delivery efficiency and therapeutic efficacy in terms of their suitable sizes, unique chemical properties, multiple functionality, large surface area to volume ratio, diversity in structure, and receptors recognition ligands to combat various diseases (Akbarzadeh et al. 2013). They are also integrated with the biorecognition elements that are responsive to enzyme overexpressed at the site of diseased tissue (Liu et al. 2016). The release of cargo in enzyme-responsive liposomes occurs through various degradation mechanisms like lipid bilayer perturbation; degradation of coated polymer from the surface and leading to cellular uptake; lipopeptide or lipopolymer cleavage in the lipid bilayer; and prodrug activation in the liposomes (Fouladi et al. 2017). Cummings et al. (2000) reported phospholipase A2 (PLA₂)-mediated hydrolysis of phospholipids at the sn2fatty acyl ester position that produced free fatty acid and lysophospholipid which was incorporated into liposomes leading to disruption of integrity of the lipid bilayer and released the encapsulated payloads (Cummings et al. 2000). Similarly, Terada et al. (2006) also constructed the PEGylated, galactosylated liposome having protease-specific substrate peptide and conjugated with

1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine which showed that liposome did not enter into normal hepatocytes but in upregulated MMP-2 hepatocytes by enzymatic catalyzed interactions and delivered a payload (Terada et al. 2006). Optimal site-specific delivery rather than site-avoidance delivery is the characteristics of liposomal-based drug delivery system, and the developments of fusogenic liposomal-based drug delivery will allow a larger variety of agents to be delivered.

6.2.6 Crosslinked Enzyme Aggregates (CLEAs)

CLEAs are mostly active immobilized enzymes forms and have controllable particle sizes (varying from 500 to 100 μ m), operational stability and performance, ease of recycling, and improved productivities used for various biomedical and industrial applications (Sheldon 2011; Islan et al. 2014). They are synthesized by adding salts and organic solvents or nonionic polymers and by physical aggregation. However, they have inherent disadvantage of perturbation by denaturation of tertiary structure and reduction in the enzyme catalytic activity when linked through covalently crosslinker (Sheldon 2011). The penicillin acylase CLEAs are used for large-scale antibiotic production (Cao et al. 2000). In another research, Islan et al. (2014) synthesized novel *Sphingobacterium multivorum*-derived alginate lyase CLEAs with low methoxylated pectin and glutaraldehyde as crosslinker that were used for cystic fibrosis oral therapy (Islan et al. 2014). As a whole, CLEA technology has turned enzymes into a useful tool for the biocatalysis processes and warrants further studies to improve CLEA's performance and bringing up new crosslinking agents.

6.2.7 Hybrid Nanoparticles

A variety of emerging enzyme-responsive hybrid nanoparticles have gained increasing attraction as new delivery platform like lipid–polymer, gel–lipid, silica–polymer, iron oxides–polymer hybrid nanoparticle, etc. (Hoskins et al. 2012; Jiang et al. 2014). They can be engineered to increased surface area-to-volume ratio, controlled morphology, mechanical stability, biocompatibility, biodegradability and biodistribution. Lipid–polymer hybrid nanoparticles have efficient stability and biocompatibility along with in vivo cellular delivery capacity than any other nanoparticles since they exhibit complementary features of both liposomes and polymeric nanoparticles (Hadinoto et al. 2013). Despite their complex structure, they are easily prepared in one-step method by simultaneous self-assembly of the lipid and polymer resulting into better and higher production. Recently, Jiang et al. (2014) developed gel-liposome hybrid nanoparticles for anticancer drug-delivery systems and performed efficient drug delivery with increased fold than that of individual loaded with the drug (Jiang et al. 2014). In another study, it was found that β -Dgalactosidase-responsive hybrid SiNPs capped with different saccharide derivatives could open the gate and release cargoes when exposed to the specific enzymes upon uptake by tumor cells (Bernardos et al. 2010). Therefore, the hybrid nanoparticles can be exploited extensively as the promising platforms for cancer therapy. The current state of development for the hybrid nanoparticle preparations and applications are required to bring them closer to its clinical realization.

6.3 Enzyme-Responsive Nanocarriers in Effective Drug Release for Biomedical Applications

The inherent enzymes play a crucial role at the microenvironment of the target tissues for controlled and targeted drug release for effective therapy of disease. In this section, several approaches that exploit the biocatalytic action of an enzyme for drug delivery, diagnostics, and therapies are summarized. Most of the enzymes interact with the nanocarriers for catalysis in the host system. The most widely used enzymes for drug delivery are hydrolase class of enzymes. These hydrolytic enzymes include proteases, lipases, glycosidases, etc. (Hu et al. 2014). As most of the utilized biocompatible nanoassembles have attachment of bioactive moieties through cleavable units, the nonspecific hydrolases of host can cleave their bonds of integrity through which drug molecules are anchored and results into successful, effective, and controlled drug delivery. Such materials are frequently known as hydrolase-responsive nanomaterials (Mura et al. 2013). Besides, some nanomaterials are responsive to oxidoreductase class of enzymes. The deployment of oxidoreductases is still in a proof-of-concept stage, and some pioneering examples on their utilization for drug delivery are enlisted in Table 6.1.

Enzyme-activated drug carriers expose the drug molecules to the specific targeted tissues and then subsequently internalize into specific cells. The site-specific enzymatic cleavage leads in the release of drugs from different nanocarriers. Drugs can be loaded into nanomaterials through covalent attachment (or physical encapsulation), involving a crosslinked matrix, a self-assembled system, and a caged porous structure (Mura et al. 2013; Hu et al. 2014). Various designs of enzyme-responsive nanomaterials for controlled and effective drug delivery are summarized in Fig. 6.1.

6.3.1 Protease-Responsive Nanocarriers

The expression and activity of specific protease in the diseased tissue is characterized by imbalances in their over- and underexpression of their genes. Protease can be utilized for selective activation of advanced drug delivery platforms. They are known to be involved in many physiological processes such as wound therapy, tissue remodeling, cancer metastasis, etc. (Hu et al. 2014). For instance, peptideconjugated polymer nanoparticles were synthesized that could overexpress and

Type of enzyme	Responsive enzyme (E.C. number)	Nanomaterial used for immobilization	Therapeutic application	References
Proteolytic enzymes	α-Chymotrypsin (E.C. 3.4.21.1)	Single-enzyme nanoparticles (SEN)	Enzyme responsive drug delivery and biosensing application	Kim and Grate (2003)
	Cathepsin B (E.C. 3.4.22.1)	Polymeric nanoparticles (HPMA)	Intracellular drug delivery	Vicent and Pérez-Payá (2006)
			Extracellular drug delivery	Satchi- Fainaro et al. (2003)
	Cancer associated proteases (CAPs) (3.4)	Polymer-stabilized liposomes	Targeted drug delivery	Basel et al. (2011)
	Caspase 1 thrombin collagenase chymotrypsin (E.C. 3.4)	Semiconductor nanoparticles (quantum dots)	Biosensing via FRET	Medintz et al. (2006)
	Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (E.C. 3.4.24)	Mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNPs)	Enzyme responsive drug delivery system	Liu et al. (2015)
	Prostate-specific antigen (PSA) (E.C. 3.4.21.77)	Gold nanoparticles	Prostate cancer diagnosis	Laromaine et al. (2007)
	Papain (E.C. 3.4.4.10)	Carbon nanotubes, CLEA, porous- CLEAs (cross- linked enzyme aggregates)	Enzymatic hydrolysis of macromolecules	Wang et al. (2011)
	Pepsin (E.C. 3.4.4.1)	Polyurethane microsphere/AuNP	Enzyme responsive drug delivery and Immunosensing applications	Phadtare et al. (2003)
	Trypsin (E.C. 3.4.4.4)	Single-enzyme nanoparticles (SEN)	Enzyme responsive drug delivery and biosensing application	Kim and Grate (2003)

 Table 6.1 Enzyme responsive nanoplatforms with potential therapeutic applications

(continued)

Type of enzyme	Responsive enzyme (E.C. number)	Nanomaterial used for immobilization	Therapeutic application	References
Lipolytic enzymes	Acetylcholine esterase (E.C. 3.1.1.7)	Polymer nanoparticles	Highly sensitive and microdiagnostic system	Konno et al. (2004)
	Carboxylesterase (E.C. 3.1.1.1)	Silica nanosystems	Biosensing applications and chiral resolution reactions	Edwards et al. (2011)
	Lipase (E.C. 3.1.1.3)	Supermagnetic nanoparticles	Chiral resolution reactions	Gardimalla et al. (2005)
	Phospholipase A ₂ (3.1.1.4)	Polymer-stabilized	Synergistic drug delivery	Andresen et al. (2004)
		Liposomes	Phospholipase sensor	Aili et al. (2011)
Other hydrolases	Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (E.C. 3.1.3.1)	Modified silica coatings	Surgical implant functionalization	Ehlert et al. (2010)
	α-Amylase (E.C. 3.2.1.1)	Polymeric nanoparticles (dextran)	Targeted drug delivery	Ferguson et al. (2009)
		Hybrid nanoparticles	Proteomic analysis, antifouling, biofuel cells, and tissue engineering	Wang et al. (2013)
		Silica nanosystems	Biochemical diagnostics	Bellino et al. (2010)
		Halloysite nanotubes, zeolites, carboxymethyl- tamarind-gum- silica nanohybrids	Food intolerance; improvement of fat digestibility and enhancement of growth performance	Singh and Kumar (2011)
	Arginase (E.C. 3.5.3.1)	Gold nanoparticles	Fibrin clot	Lee et al. (2012)
	Lysozyme (E.C. 3.2.1.17)	Gold nanorods; silica-coated magnetic nanoparticles	Fabrication of bioactive and biocompatible nanoparticle	Yang et al. (2007)
	Urease (3.5.1.5)	Gold nanoparticles	ELISA	de la Rica et al. (2012)

 Table 6.1 (continued)

(continued)

	Responsive enzyme	Nanomaterial used	Therapeutic	
Type of enzyme	(E.C. number)	for immobilization	application	References
Oxidoreductases	Catalase (E.C. 1.11.1.6)	Bentonite and sepiolite nanoparticles, starch-based polymers, metal-chelated affinity cryogels	Biosensing and biomedical applications	Cengiz et al. (2012)
	Choline oxidase (E.C. 1.1.3.17)	Polymer nanoparticles	Highly sensitive and microdiagnostic system	Konno et al. (2004)
	Glucose oxidase (E.C. 1.1.3.4)	Liposomes	Drug delivery triggered by glucose	Napoli et al. (2004)
	Monooxygenase (E.C. 1.14.14.1)	Mesoporous materials	Targeted drug delivery	Weber et al. (2010)
	Peroxidase (E.C. 1.11.1)	Gold nanoparticles	ELISA	de la Rica et al. (2012)

Table 6.1 (continued)

activate the gene in response to protein kinase or protease activity (Kang et al. 2008). Correspondingly, Law et al. (2006) developed self-assembled peptide nanocarriers which could release therapeutic drugs and degraded peptide fragments upon interaction with proteases associated with infection (Law et al. 2006). Another class of proteases which are often used for controlled drug delivery are known as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). MMPs are proteolytic enzymes and have long been associated with cancer and other degenerative diseases (Hu et al. 2014). Their mechanism of action is protein degradation leading to the regulation of various cell behaviors pertaining to diseased physiology. In diseased condition, they are overexpressed in comparison to normal physiological conditions (Nguyen et al. 2015). For example, Jiang et al. (2014) developed a proteolytically activated cell-penetrating peptide-modified nanoparticle drug delivery system triggered by MMP-2 and MMP-9 for cancer therapy. Correspondingly, the overexpressed cancer-associated MMP-2 in tumor tissues catalyzes proteolysis which have made protease-activated effective drug delivery platform for tumor treatment (Jiang et al. 2014). Proteases thus serve as ideal biomolecules for targeted drug delivery in different cell compartments.

6.3.2 Lipolytic Enzyme-Responsive Nanocarriers

Upregulation of lipolytic enzymes, especially phospholipase, has been a pathological indicator for various diseases such as cancer, myocardial infarction, neurodegeneration disorders, wound healing, inflammation, and infectious diseases (Gardimalla et al. 2005; Aili et al. 2011). Phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂) is one such



Fig. 6.1 Design of enzyme responsive nanoparticles for efficient drug release

enzyme that is upregulated in cancer tumors. It is observed that in prostate cancers, PLA₂ is expressed at levels greater than disease-free paired controls (Yu et al. 2012). The upregulation of secreted PLA₂ in tumor microenvironment mediates carcinogenesis by (i) release of arachidonic acid producing carcinogenic metabolites, and (ii) release of lysophospholipids, including lysophosphatidic acids inducing cell growth (Yu et al. 2012). This upregulation of PLA₂ enzymes in the microenvironment of tumor is being actively explored for responsive drug release in the tumors (Aili et al. 2011). Further, Andresen et al. (2004) synthesized an enzymatically activated liposome drug delivery system which was involved in masking antitumor ether lipids (AELs) as prodrugs. Results showed that PLA₂-activated proAELs and converted water-soluble prodrugs to chemotherapeutic agents (Andresen et al. 2004). Thus, the generated lipid hydrolytic products after enzyme responsive can

perturb the membranes and enhance the cellular uptake of drugs encapsulated in the liposomes.

6.3.3 Other Hydrolase-Responsive Nanocarriers

The other class of hydrolases including glycosidases, phosphatases, ureases, amidase, etc. have a significant role in activation and effective and controlled drug release at the site of infection (Singh and Kumar 2011; Lee et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2013). Glycosidases (such as α -amylases) catalyze the hydrolysis of carbohydrates to yield small sugar moieties, and thus, they are useful biocatalysts for triggering the target-specific drug delivery when secreted in microenvironment of target tissue (Ferguson et al. 2009). It has been revealed that the enzyme α -amylase is overexpressed up to 85-fold in the tumor tissues, and consequently it should be possible to design polysaccharide-based nanocarriers to release anti-cancer drugs specific to tumors. Further, to prove this concept, enzyme PLA₂ as drug was covalently linked to dextran (R-1,4 poly(D-glucose)) via succinovlation (Ferguson et al. 2009). Earlier, it was reported that the PLA₂ was used for treatment of bladder, breast, cervix, and lung cancers in clinical phase I, where more than 50% of patients treated with the drug exhibited neurotoxicity (Wang et al. 2013). However, when conjugated to sugar, PLA₂ activity was shielded, and systemic toxicity was not observed (Wang et al. 2013). Correspondingly, PLA_2 was released at desired concentrations when α -amylase was added at optimal required concentrations and exhibits the functionalization of the nanocarrier. Similarly, Bernardos et al. (2010) reported that lactose or starch derivatives grafted mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNPs) can be employed for enzymatically elicited drug release (Bernardos et al. 2010). On the other hand, Harnov et al. (2014) employed enzyme penicillin G amidase to cleave the end groups of phenyl acetamide that could disassemble the synthesized micelles for controlled drug release at the diseased tissue (Harnoy et al. 2014). Thus, hydrolases are interesting biomarkers helpful in designing advanced drug delivery systems with enhanced features.

6.3.4 Oxidoreductase-Responsive Nanocarriers

Oxidoreductases are promising target for drug delivery systems where various diseases such as cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, etc. create oxidative environments (Napoli et al. 2004). The glucose oxidase (GOx), catalase, and peroxidase are extensively exploited for enzyme-responsive controlled drug release systems (Napoli et al. 2004). Gu et al. (2009) applied chitosan-coated nanoparticles with a solid core of insulin and enzymes (GOx and catalase) that was responsive to blood–sugar levels for closed-loop insulin delivery in the therapy of diabetes. At hyperglycemic state, glucose was converted into gluconic acid by GOx which resulted in dissociation of porous nanonetwork and subsequently release of insulin to treat diabetes (Gu et al. 2009). Other enzymes like azoreductase has established widespread attention in the treatment of colon diseases as they are secreted by gut microflora. Rao and Khan (2013) synthesized azoreductase responsive nanoplatforms by copolymerization of drug and azobenzene-linked poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly(styrene). As the system was azoreductase sensitive and selective, it has the potential for treatment of colon diseases (Rao and Khan 2013). Overall, oxidoreductase responsive nanocarriers open up new avenues toward the development of favorable drug delivery systems.

6.4 Salient Features of Enzyme Immobilized Nanocarriers for Biomedical Applications

To reduce the side effect of engineered nanoparticles, it is important to study associated factors for successful drug (as enzyme) delivery. The vital goals for optimized therapeutic drug delivery that are provided by medical pharmacology include the right nanoparticle design, right drug, right administration route, and right drug dosage at the right time to the right patient (Li 2014). The factors involved in efficient delivery that includes drug chemical composition, size of nanoassembly, surface modification, biocompatibility, route of drug administration, sufficient enzyme load to their site-specific action, targeted therapy for subcellular localization, and duration of drug delivery as illustrated in Fig. 6.2. These optimally designed nanoassembly which will not elicit immune system have been investigated for treatment of various pathological conditions.

6.4.1 Size of Nanoassembly

Nanosize and their size distribution are the most important characteristics of enzyme-loaded nanocarriers. It determines the biological fate, biodistribution, biocompatibility, toxicity, enzyme load, and targeting ability of the nanocarrier. The methods used for determination of these nanoassembly size is by photon-correlation spectroscopy (PCS) or dynamic light scattering (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), and transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Out of them, most routinely used method of size determination is by PCS or DLS. Photon-correlation spectroscopy requires the viscosity of the medium to be known and determines the diameter of the particle by Brownian motion and light scattering properties (Gorbenko and Trusova 2011). The results obtained by photon-correlation spectroscopy are usually verified by SEM or TEM. The advantages of using biocompatible nanocarriers (nanoparticles) over microcarriers (microparticles) for therapeutics are that (a) it can cross the blood–brain barrier easily through endothelium tight



Fig. 6.2 Nanodesign considerations for successful enzyme (or drug) delivery

junctions (Saraiva et al. 2016), (b) nanoassemblies have a many fold greater uptake rate than that of microparticles (Desai et al. 1997), (c) nanocarriers have greater penetrability throughout the intestinal submucosal layers in comparison to microparticles that are predominantly localized in the epithelial lining (Redhead et al. 2001), and (d) nanoparticles have a larger surface area to volume ratio leading to faster immobilized enzyme activity as well as stability in contrast to microparticles, that have large cores and allows more enzymes to be encapsulated per particle giving slower enzyme activity (Redhead et al. 2001). Therefore, control of particle size helps in tuning enzyme action rates.

6.4.2 Surface Modifications of Nanomaterials for Enhanced Biocompatibility

Although most of the researchers have acquired detailed understanding about the behavior of nanomaterial surfaces, still the surface chemistry of nanoparticles should explore and control surface parameters of nanoparticles such as charge,

hydrophobicity, porosity, etc. by various nanotechnological approaches for biomedical applications (Aggarwal et al. 2009). The nature of surface interface is dependent upon the biological applications that impacts nanoparticle properties. The surface charge of nanoparticle plays a significant role in determining its interaction with cell membranes for intracellular drug distribution (Calvo et al. 1997). The positively charged nanoparticles can penetrate deep into cell membranes because of negatively charged cell surface, whereas negatively charged nanoparticles does not at all enter into the cell that could help in engineering of nanoparticles for therapeutic drug delivery. The zeta potential of a nanoparticle is commonly used to characterize the surface charge property of nanoparticles (Couvreur et al. 2002). The aggregation of nanoparticle is prevented when zeta potential is above ±30 mV due to their surface charges and regarded as stable in suspension. It is known that the nonmodified hydrophobic nanoparticles can easily be recognized by phagocytes and blood components (e.g., opsonins) upon administration and then cleared from the host circulatory system (Singh and Lillard 2009). Thus, nanoparticles hydrophilicity can be attained by coating with hydrophilic polymers/surfactants such as polyethylene glycol (PEG), polyethylene oxide, polyoxamer, poloxamine, Tween 80, etc. (Singh and Lillard 2009). Olivier (2005) shows that coated nanoparticle with PEG prevents opsonization and the administered nanoparticle remained active after reaching the target tissues. Their result also showed the brush-like configurations of PEG on nanoparticle surface reduce phagocytosis and complement activation, whereas mushroom-like structures are more prone to complement activation and favored phagocytosis (Olivier 2005). The successful surface modifications of nanocarriers lead to host mimetic functionalization that improves the biocompatibility and specific biological interactions.

6.4.3 Dosage and Administered Route for Therapeutic Nanocarriers

The main goal for both administered route and immobilized drug (or enzyme) dosage are that they uptake by specific target cells, and retain the enhanced delivery, reduce the toxic effects of free drug at non-target organs, and have therapeutic efficacy (Singh and Lillard 2009). Understanding the existing methods for drug administration and appropriate route for their application completely depends on their target tissues or sites of their distribution. Various bioactive cargos such as drugs, enzymes, antibodies, whole cells, etc. are administered for their biological activity evaluation. Thus, engineering nanocarriers that are target-specific and have longevity in circulation is required (Moghimi et al. 2001). Nowadays, drug-loaded nanocarriers are coated with biodegradable polymers causing drug release post degradation after long travel at specific tissues (Olivier 2005). For achieving successful target-specific delivery, nanocarrier design should consider environmental pH, concentration, viscosity, toxicity levels, etc. All administration routes have both

Route of administration	Advantages	Disadvantages
Oral	Noninvasive means of nanoparticle delivery	First pass metabolism in the liver potentially hepatotoxic; potential for translocation into systemic circulation; requires intact intestinal mucosa for nanoparticle uptake
Parenteral	Preferred for rapid absorption, useful when patient is unconscious, noncooperative, or unable to take drug by an enteral route	Difficult to remove; dose is toxic; risks involved with invading the body with a needle
Pulmonary	Noninvasive means of nanoparticle delivery; large surface area; local action; avoidance of first pass metabolism in the liver	Local toxicity; potential for translocation into systemic circulation
Transdermal (local)	Noninvasive means of nanoparticle delivery; large surface area; local action	Local irritation; potential for translocation into systemic circulation
Intravenous	Systemic delivery of nanoparticles; systemic action	First pass metabolism in the liver potentially hepatotoxic; systemic toxicity
Intrathecal	Useful in spinal anesthesia, chemotherapy or pain management applications	Difficult dose calculation/difficult technique; direct access to CNS creates danger

Table 6.2 Advantages and disadvantages of route of administrations for targeted delivery

advantages and disadvantages for targeted delivery like the bioavailability, absorption, metabolism, etc. (Singh and Lillard 2009). Some of the advantages and disadvantages for targeted delivery of some route of administrations are enlisted in Table 6.2. A detailed conceptual understanding of dosage and administered route is required for the development and application of safe nanomaterials in drug delivery.

6.4.4 Loading of Enzyme onto the Nanocarriers

A good, smart and successful nanocarrier delivery system should have a high enzyme (as drug) loading capacity, high immobilization efficiency, and yield for their administration into the host system (Meryam Sardar 2015). The loading of enzymes/drugs on the nanocarriers can be carried out by adding drug molecules at the time of their synthesis or by adsorbing the drug molecules after the formation of nanoparticles. Thus, the enzyme (as drug) loading can be achieved via physical adsorption, covalent attachment, crosslinking, entrapment, or self-assembly and

with nanomaterial (Fig. 6.1). The major factors affecting therapeutic molecules loading are molecular weight of enzyme, matrix composition, functional groups of the matrix, enzyme–polymer interactions, enzyme–polymer solubility and incubation time for assembling (Panyam et al. 2003). In addition, Calvo et al. (1997) reported that the macromolecules such as drugs or enzyme encapsulated are efficiently loaded in nanoparticles at or near their isoelectric point as drug and matrix materials interacted through ionic bonds (Calvo et al. 1997). As a result of the increased and efficient enzyme/drug loading on the carrier, their sustainable release rate at the site of action will be regulated.

6.4.5 Tissue Specific-Targeted Delivery of Nanocarriers

Currently, research focuses toward "smart drug" for therapeutic efficacy that is also referred to as tissue-specific targeted drug delivery. There are two broad areas of targeted drug delivery: (i) systemic targeting and (ii) intracellular targeting (Panyam et al. 2003). The classification of the current targeted drug delivery processes are represented in Fig. 6.3A. Systemic targeting is classified into ligand-receptor mediated and locally activated drug delivery that is based on blood circulation and extravasation (Bae and Park 2011). Further, locally activated drug delivery can occur either through self-triggered drug release by the site specific signal such as presence of specific enzymes or pH changes or occur by externally activating drug release by physical factors like light, temperature, magnetic field, and ultrasound. On the other side, intracellular targeting can be achieved through intracellular trafficking of the drug carriers to specific locations within targeted cells (Bae and Park 2011). For intracellular targeting, the drug delivery strategies have been divided into two categories: (a) passive and (b) active. Passive drug targeting is frequently known for enhanced permeation and retention (EPR) effect (Maeda 2010). It occurs through accumulation of drug at the site of tumors with having leaky vasculatures. The EPR effect is seen only when the drug nanocarriers are intravenously administered to the host. Thus, it shows side effect as majority of the drug might accumulate in other organs (Maeda 2010). On the other hand, active drug targeting describes the specific interactions between ligand and receptor that results into subcellular localization of drug/drug carrier to the target cells, which occurs only after blood circulation and extravasation (Bae and Park 2011). This is why PEGylation improving the EPR effect is expected to enhance delivery to the tumor site by increasing blood circulation time (Bae and Park 2011). Drug targeting strategies through active and passive drug delivery by the EPR effect are illustrated in Fig. 6.3B. Targeted delivery of nanocarriers lead to improved pharmacokinetic properties thus increasing the safety and maximizing the therapeutic effects.



Fig. 6.3 Strategies for targeting of nanocarriers. (A). Types of targeted drug delivery processes; (B). Mechanism of active and passive drug delivery

6.4.6 Biodistribution and Subcellular Localization for Therapeutic Efficacy

The intrinsic physiochemical properties of drug loaded nanocarriers vary for different physiological sites which aim at successful biodistribution, subcellular localization, and then targeted molecular action of nanocarriers after cellular uptake (van Vlerken et al. 2007). The effective parameters for required biodistribution and subcellular localization of functionalized nanocarriers are also affected by their morphology, surface charge, and chemical composition of the nanomaterials (Olivier 2005). Consequently, drug-loaded nanocarriers are taken up through specific endocytic and trafficking pathways that modulate subcellular drug distribution by altering enzyme levels and cellular signaling pathways that finally results into increase in induction of disease therapy. Thus, the fate of drug-loaded nanocarriers for subcellular localization is appropriate for their therapeutic efficacy and biosafety (Tansi et al. 2017). Moreover, functionalization of nanocarriers is significant for successful and targeted biodistribution in organisms (Aggarwal et al. 2009). It inhibits the nanoparticles binding to different blood proteins, including opsonins which evoke nanoparticle opsonization and phagocytosis in an organism. For instance, functionalization through PEGylation suppresses phagocytosis of nanoparticles and leads to enhanced systemic circulation (Chaudhari et al. 2012). Therefore, designing and engineering of nanoparticles facilitate required effective biodistribution and subcellular localization.

6.4.7 Bioavailability and Duration of Drug Delivery for Successful Therapeutics

Bioavailability is one of the key factors for successful drug delivery in which the natural barriers encountered is the determining factor when administered. To improve this, extensive research is being carried out to overcome these natural barriers through engineering nanocarriers to transport drugs across biological barriers at the targeted site (Singh 2015). Thus, for successful therapeutics, the continuous release of drug from the nanocarrier should extend over a period of time after their administration in the host. The prolonged therapeutic effect of drug depends upon controlled drug release, sustained and extended period of action, and time of release dosage (Singh and Lillard 2009). The bioavailability of a drug to the targeted pathological site also depends on various physicochemical factors such as its water solubility, dissolution rate, metabolic rate, duration of delivery, membrane permeable and susceptibility to efflux mechanisms, the mode of exposure (intravenous, dermal, inhalation, and oral), and its fate (absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) (Dmochowski and Staskin 2002). The bioavailability of the nanodrug carriers should alter the effect of their degrading pathways and establish the drug level in the host. These attributes are integrated during the drug carrier designing to maximize the benefits of designed drugs. Nowadays, most of drug candidates are insoluble in water, and it limits the in vivo bioavailability which is an important challenge that opens new avenues for the scientific society (Dmochowski and Staskin 2002).

6.5 Immobilized Enzymes as Drug for Therapeutic Delivery

The immobilization of therapeutic enzymes as drug delivery has been classified according to the type of nanomaterials, their chemical composition, its structural properties, and the route of administrations of the nanocarrier are decided accordingly for various biomedical applications. For most of the clinical applications, the

new smart delivery of nanoenzymes depends upon choosing of drug for therapeutics like cancer, antithrombotic therapy, wound healing, alcohol intoxication, gastrointestinal diseases, etc. (Bosio et al. 2015). The various immobilized enzymes for biomedical therapeutic applications are enlisted in Table 6.3. To cite an example, in the therapy of cardiovascular arrest, multiple blood proteases (such as tissue plasminogen activator and urokinase plasminogen activator) in their nanoimmobilized form find potential application for antithrombosis therapy to treat blood clots by degradation of insoluble fibrin into soluble fibrin (Park et al. 2001; Piras et al. 2008). Besides, microbial proteases (like *Bacillus subtilis* nattokinase and *Candida albicans* lumbrokinase) are commonly used for different immobilization strategies to facilitate antithrombosis therapy as they have higher efficacy for fibrinogen cleavage (Ren et al. 2010). Although impediments still exist in the use of immobilized enzymes as drug, the potentiality and the versatility of these novel catalysts put forward a bright future for an emerging drug therapy approach.

6.5.1 Applications of Immobilized Enzymes in Treatment of Diseases

During the last decades, immobilized enzymes have been studied vigorously for its potential in biomedical applications for remedy of multiple diseases without any immunological effect. Immobilized enzymes are used in therapy of various illnesses like cancer and wound healing, in inborn metabolic defects, for alcohol intoxication, etc. The nanocarrier immobilized enzyme forms are more prone to combat the diseases by scavenging accumulated toxic metabolic products (Bosio et al. 2015).

Since the last three decades, immobilization of various enzymes has been employed for potential applications of cancers. For instance, earlier in 1997, Storm et al. employed immunoliposomes delivering β-glucuronidase for treatment of cancer by activation of anticancer prodrugs (Storm et al. 1997). Löhr et al. (2001) used microencapsuled cytochrome P450 enzymes using sodium cellulose sulfate and polydialyldimethylammonium chloride that were involved in the removal of carcinogenic compounds from the body to convert ifosfamide to its cytotoxic metabolite (Löhr et al. 2001). Correspondingly, PEG-conjugated immobilized adenosine deaminase was used for anticancer therapy, especially, for melanoma and hepatocarcinoma (Kim et al. 2009). On the other hand, asparaginase is an important enzyme used effectively and potentially for the acute lymphoblastic leukemia treatment by hydrolyzing the L-asparagine to aspartic acid and ammonia that causes targeted cell death. It is coimmobilized with drugs that are important for therapeutics of cancer and modified by PEGylation for enhanced efficiency of the drug delivery for the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Wang et al. 2013). In other studies, asparaginase is immobilized in various polymeric nanomaterial such as poly(lactide-co-glycolide), activated agarose-glutaraldehyde supports, liposome, etc. for clinical testing in the in vivo systems (Cruz et al. 1993; Manuela Gaspar

Therapeutic enzymes	Disease therapy	Immobilization panomaterial	Peferences
Parantaral administr	Disease merapy	Ininioonization nanomateriai	Kelefelices
Alcohol oxidase (E.C. 1.1.3.7) and catalase (E.C. 1.11.1.6)	Alcohol intoxication and Alcohol prophylaxis	DNA-directed assembly with AuNPs	Liu et al. (2013)
Asparaginase (E.C. 3.5.1.1)	Acute lymphocytic leukemia	Poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles	Manuela Gaspar et al. (1998)
		Liposome formulations of simplified dehydration-rehydration vesicles or extruded vesicles	Cruz et al. (1993)
		Polyethylene glycol conjugated enzymes	Liu et al. (2016)
		Multi-subunit covalent immobilization of the enzyme onto activated agarose-glutaraldehyde supports	Balcao et al. (2001)
Cytochrome P450 (cells producing the enzymes) (E.C. 1.14.14.1)	Cancer (to convert ifosfamide to its cytotoxic metabolite)	Microencapsulation of sodium cellulose sulfate and poly(dialyldimethylammonium) chloride	Löhr et al. (2001)
Glucose-6- phosphate- dehydrogenase (E.C. 1.1.1.49)	Jaundice	Silica-based matrix	Cumana et al. (2013)
Pepsin (E.C. 3.4.23.1), chymotrypsin (E.C. 3.4.21.1), trypsin (E.C. 3.4.21.4)	Gastrointestinal diseases and fat malab-sorption (Enzyme replacement therapy)	Enzymes injected into Creon® Minimicrospheres	Santini et al. (2000) and Patchell et al. (2002)
Serine endopeptidase (lumbrokinase, E.C. 3.4.21) and subtilisin (nattokinase, E.C.3.4.21.62)	Antithrombotic therapy	Magnetic nanoparticles	Ren et al. (2010)
Streptokinase (E.C. 3.4.99.22)	Thrombolytic therapy	Enzyme drug to be administered in an inactive (i.e., prodrug) form and then released at the target site in an active form using protamine as the triggering agent	Liang et al. (2000)
Streptokinase (E.C. 3.4.99.22)	Antithrombotic therapy	RGD-(Ar–Gly–Asp)-peptide- conjugated liposomes (RGD Lips), magnetic nanoparticles	Walde and Ichikawa (2001)

 Table 6.3
 Nanoimmobilized enzymes for therapeutic and their route of administrations

(continued)

Therapeutic enzymes			
(E.C. numbers)	Disease therapy	Immobilization nanomaterial	References
Tyrosinase (E.C. 1.14.18.1)	Cancer (treatment of melanoma cancer skin)	Polylactic-acid nanocapsules, polyethyleneglycol–polylactic acid nanocapsules	Wang and Chang (2012)
t-Plasminogen activator (E.C.3.4.21.68,)	Antithrombotic therapy	Magnetic nanoparticles, PEGylated liposomes, poly-(lactide-co- glycolide)/chitosan nanoparticles, polystyrene latex nanoparticles	Park et al. (2001)
u-Plasminogen activator or urokinase (E.C. 3.4.21.73)	Antithrombotic therapy	2-methoxyethanol hemiesters of poly(maleic anhydride-alt-butyl, vinyl ether) nanoparticles	Piras et al. (2008)
Local administration	of nanocarrier		
Adenosine deaminase (E.C. 3.5.4.4)	Cancer (melanoma and hepatocarcinoma)	Polyethylene glycol conjugated enzymes	Ensor et al. (2002)
Alkaline phosphatase (E.C. 3.1.3.1)	Hypophosphatasia (Increased mineralization and bone regeneration)	Microporous nanofibrous fibrin scaffolds	Osathanon et al. (2009)
β-Glucuronidase (E.C. 3.2.1.31)	Cancer (treatment by activation of anticancer prodrugs)	Immunoliposomes bearing enzymes (immunoenzymosomes) for site-specific activation of anticancer prodrugs	Storm et al. (1997)
Brachyurin (collagenase, E.C. 3.4.21.32)	Skin ulcers	Hyaluronan microparticles	Lee et al. (2001)
Catalase (E.C. 1.11.1.6)	Wound healing	Sugar-ester vesicles	Thiem and Goślińska (2004)
Heparin lyase (E.C. 3.2.1.19)	Wound healing	Gold, titanium and zinc oxide nanoparticles	Behera et al. (2012)
Keratinase (E.C. 3.4.4.25)	Debridement of necrotic tissue	Polyvinyl-alcohol cryogels	Martínez et al. (2013)
Lysozyme (E.C. 3.2.1.17)	Wound healing and other antimicrobial therapies	Titania nanotubes, carbon nanotubes, mesoporous silica rods, nanofiber	Huang et al. (2013)
Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (E.C. 3.4.24)	Cancer (treatment by enzyme responsive drug delivery system)	Mesoporous silica nanoparticles	Liu et al. (2015)
Papain (E.C. 3.4.4.10)	Wound healing	Niosomes and nanospheres	Manosroi et al. (2013)
Trypsin (E.C. 3.4.4.4)	Wound healing	Cotton yarn	Nikolic et al. (2010)

 Table 6.3 (continued)

(continued)

Therapeutic enzymes			
(E.C. numbers)	Disease therapy	Immobilization nanomaterial	References
Oral administration	of nanocarrier		
β-Galactosidase (E.C. 3.2.1.23)	Lactose intolerance	Magnetic nanoparticles	Corchero et al. (2012)
Bilirubin oxidase (E.C. 1.3.3.5)	Neonatal jaundice	Immobilized rat-serum albumin	Soltys et al. (1992)
Chymotrypsin (E.C. 3.4.21.1)	Pancreatic insufficiency	Magnetic nanoparticles; electrospinning nanofibers	Medeiros et al. (2011)
Glucose oxidase- peroxidase (E.C. 1.1.3.4)	Oral infections	Encapsulation of enzymes glucose oxidase and in combination with horse radish peroxidase by both extrusion and reverse-phase evaporation	Hill et al. (1997)
Phenylalanine ammonia lyase (E.C. 4.3.1.24)	Phenylketonuria	Immobilized in semipermeable microcapsules for enzyme replacement in phenylketonuria	Bourget and Chang (1985)
		Cross mixed enzyme aggregates	(2012)
Phosphotriesterase (E.C. 3.1.8.1)	Intoxication by organophosphates	Enzymes encapsulated within sterically stabilized liposomes	Petrikovics et al. (1999)
Prolidase (E.C. 3.4.13.9)	Prolidase deficiency (enzyme replacement therapy)	Enzyme loaded into biodegradable poly(d,l-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres	Genta et al. (2001)
Urease (E.C. 3.5.1.5)	Removal of urea in kidney failure	Orally ingested microencapsulated urease to remove urea in kidney failure	Wolfe and Chang (1987)
Xanthine oxidase (E.C. 1.1.3.22)	Lesch–Nyhan	Microcarrier	Palmour et al. (1989)
		Concanavalin A layered calcium alginate–starch beads; positively charged trimethylammonium- functionalized mixed-monolayer protected clusters	Haider and Husain (2008)
Intravenous adminis	tration of nanocarrie	r	
Alcohol dehydrogenase (E.C. 1.1.1.1) and acetaldehyde dehydrogenase (E.C. 1.2.1.10)	Alcohol intoxication and Alcohol prophylaxis	Encapsulated into human erythrocytes by electroporation	Lizano et al. (1998)
β-Glucosidase (E.C. 3.2.1.21)	Gaucher's disease	Encapsulation in liposomes	Korablyov et al. (1999)
Intrathecal administ	ration of nanocarrier		
Superoxide dismutase (E.C. 1.15.1.1)	Cerebral ischemia and reperfusion injury	Encapsulation in polybutylcyanoacrylate or poly (lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles.	Yun et al. (2013)

 Table 6.3 (continued)

et al. 1998; Balcao et al. 2001). In recent times, nanoimmobilized arginase has been considered as an alternative for cancer treatment since it catalyzes the conversion of L-arginine to L-ornithine and urea that hinders the growth of cancer tumors (Hsueh et al. 2012). Stasyuk et al. (2011) developed β -mercaptohexadecanoic acid functionalized AuNPs for immobilization of recombinant human type I arginase that resulted in retaining of total enzyme activity. However, it requires further clinical testing for successful cancer therapy (Stasyuk et al. 2011).

Further, tissue repair and wound healing have achieved enormous development in the current scenario of medical research. A complex of enzymatic reactions are carried out at the site of wound that is of major importance for healing of chronic wound. This will reopen new avenues for the nanobased drug delivery approach using immobilization of enzymes such as trypsin, keratinase, papain, pepsin, catalase, arginase, lysozyme, etc. (Bosio et al. 2015). For example, immobilized trypsin has potential applications in wound healing when immobilized covalently with oxidized cotton varn by sodium periodate (Nikolic et al. 2010). Correspondingly, lysozyme has antimicrobial therapies as it attacks the cell wall of bacteria and hydrolyzes glycosidic linkage of peptidoglycan present in the cell wall. Lysozyme alone or along with trypsin were immobilized on various nanomatrix such as cellulose, PEG methacrylate, silica devices, carbon nanotubes, etc. that were utilized for implantable devices involving supportive wounds (Nepal et al. 2008). Similarly, Martínez et al. (2013) used keratinase which were entrapped in polyvinyl alcohol-pectin cryogel and coimmobilized with antibiotic enrofloxacin for promoting epithelial tissues at the site of wound of skin (Martínez et al. 2013). Further, enzyme catalase is prospective for biomedical applications that prevent oxidative damage by scavenging free radicals produced at the healing site of wound. Catalase was encapsulated in flexible sugar-ester vesicles for in vivo wound healing application, the enzyme was much stable than its free form and retained 95% activity after 90 days (Abdelmajeed 2012). Moreover, the enzymes from plant sources are also employed for healing of wounds. For example, Carica papaya-derived papain has potential for removal of dead, necrotic, or infected tissue to improve the wound healing. Manosroi et al. (2013) synthesized gel encapsulated elastic niosomes with immobilization of papain for effective sustained release at the rabbit skin scars (Manosroi et al. 2013).

Another disease where immobilized enzymes find its applications is alcohol intoxication that is a clinical condition leading to psychological disturbances of consciousness. It is a pathological condition in which alcohol enters faster in the bloodstream than that of its metabolization (Bosio et al. 2015). In the body, the consumed ethanol is broken down into nonintoxicating by-products by two enzymes, namely, alcohol-oxidase and catalase. Alcohol oxidase first catalyzes the conversion of ethanol to acetaldehyde and hydrogen peroxide, and then catalase decomposes the later to prevent formation of free radical (Bosio et al. 2015). Recently in 2013, Liu et al. developed novel nanoassemblies of single-stranded DNA, covalent inhibitor of enzymes (such as 4-dimethylamino antipyrine, glucosamine, or lactobionic acid) and lacking enzymes (alcohol-oxidase and catalase) for the alcohol intoxication therapy. Both the enzymes were preconjugated with inhibitor, and then they

were subjected to coencapsulation to produce the scaffolds at specific sequences of DNA that forms nanoassembly of multienzyme system to prevent alcohol intoxication (Liu et al. 2013). Finally, the encapsulation of enzyme–DNA scaffolds by polyacrylamide gels was carried out for enhanced alcohol oxidation rate in ethanol-fed mice (Liu et al. 2013).

In another instance, immobilized enzymes are used for treatment of Gaucher's disease. It is a genetic lipid storage disease which is caused due to deficiency of glucocerebrosidase (membrane-bound lysosomal hydrolase) leading to glucocerebroside deposition in the macrophage-monocyte system at spleen, liver, bones, etc. (Mistry et al. 2017). The substitution of this enzyme in a nanocarrier such as liposome, silica, metallic nanoparticles, etc. is an innovative way of Gaucher disease therapeutics. Thus, Alftrén and Hobley (2013) synthesized activated superparamagnetic magnetite nanoparticles using 3-aminopropyl-triethoxysilane on which glucocerebrosidase were immobilized (Alftrén and Hobley 2013). Further, Alftrén and Hobley (2013) synthesized nonporous iron magnetic particles to immobilize the deficient enzyme through covalent attachment after activated with cyanuric chloride and polyglutaraldehyde. A significant performance was noticed with high activity of immobilized enzyme for the therapy of Gaucher's disease (Alftrén and Hobley 2013). In a nutshell, the technology of immobilized enzymes in therapeutics has evolved and reflected in the ever-broadening applications in treatment of various diseases.

6.6 Challenges and Suggestive Notes

Despite the escalating progress in the design and application of enzyme-responsive and immobilized nanomaterials for therapeutics, there are various challenges that needs to be addressed. Firstly, the main challenge encountered in efficacious drug delivery is optimized designing and adsorption of drugs (or enzymes) on nanocarriers that requires combination of unique nanoassemblies into larger superstructures and tunable functionalities, along with increased stability, solubility, and biocompatibility (De Jong and Borm 2008; Chakravorty et al. 2017). Secondly, targetspecific delivery and intracellular localization of nanocarriers are required. Thus, specific interactions between nanoparticles and biological targets must be favored via designing of specific ligands like small molecules, oligosaccharides, peptides, antibodies, and aptamers onto the surface of nanocarriers (Xiao and Farokhzad 2012). Thirdly, release rate of drug at the target site can be tailored by use of enzyme specific nanomaterial for targeted tissue delivery (Singh and Lillard 2009). Fourthly, the difficulty of biological barriers to drug delivery can be overcome through defining the systemic administration route of nanocarriers. This can be achieved by designing multifunctional layers of nanocarriers that can sequentially cross these barriers one at a time. Accordingly, the size, solubility, and pharmacokinetic factors can be modulated depending on the physicochemical properties of the nanocarriers (Li 2014). Fifthly, to gain insight into the immunological responses to nanocarriers, studying the nanoparticle immunomodulatory effects (such as immunostimulatory and immunosuppressive) is required to understand the physicochemical parameters that define their effects on the immune system so that the nanoparticles can be engineered accordingly (Zolnik et al. 2010). In addition to this, nanocarriers should have improved stability, favorable biodistribution profiles, slower drug release kinetics, lower immunotoxicity, and targeting specific cell populations in order to overcome the toxic effects of nanomedicines (Zolnik et al. 2010). Finally, to maintain drug (or enzyme) concentration at the target site, active drug availability at the site of action for required time and duration should be ensured through optimal delivery system. Taken together, advancement in therapeutic uses for enzymes will open up new vista for biomedical applications of enzyme-responsive and enzyme immobilized nanoplatforms.

6.7 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Bionanotechnology has great attention in the field of drug delivery applications. A number of unexpected discoveries have been done recently on enzyme-responsive nanocarriers and nanoimmobilized enzyme as drug. A variety of biocompatible nanomaterials are exploited for nanoformulations in treatment of numerous diseases such as cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, diabetes, myocardial infarction, wound healing, inflammation, infectious diseases, etc. It includes protein or polysaccharide-based biopolymers, natural or synthetic or semisynthetic biopolymers and combination of these biopolymers for drug delivery applications. These nanoparticle-based drug or enzyme system can provide improved half-life, high biocompatibility, reduced immunogenicity, and site-specific targeting and overcome the biological barriers to drug delivery. The performance of these nanocarriers has been exploited for the designing of smart drug delivery systems. Such drug delivery systems can be made by polymeric nanoparticles, liposomes, inorganic (such as metal oxide based) nanoparticles, and hybrid nanoparticles for sustained drug release by enzyme responses at the target tissues. Newer methods to obtain innovative technologies for nanocarrier designing have been developed for biomedical applications taking into consideration the key features of immobilized enzyme nanoplatform such as controlled size and shaped nanoparticles, surface modification for biocompatibility, their route of administration, enzyme load for their action, dosage, duration, and site-specific target drug delivery.

Nowadays, research focuses on identifying new smart nanomaterial for engineering them to design biocompatible nanocarriers which can alter its own structure and function in response to the physiological environment. The biocompatible nanoparticle at molecular level therapy needs to be enhanced. Advanced and smart drug (or enzyme as drug) delivery systems has been attained efficaciously in case of cancer. Apart from that, numerous challenges remain to be addressed for other pathologic conditions. For the fabrication and designing of nanoassembly, most of the delivery systems fails to do well in clinical trials. Thus, further research is required to come up with simple, economical, effective, and accurate preparations with wide applicability for the development of smart delivery systems. Recently, in the field of polymer science with progressive techniques of chemistry, many pioneering approaches are employed to face the difficulties against the upcoming rejection of nanocarriers. Therefore, further investigation is required for biofunctionalization modification of nanocarriers to attain compatibility under physiological conditions. The advancement of next generation advanced nanodesigning of therapeutic carriers should be accorded toward development of compatible nanoassembly by incorporating the cell ligands and receptors, growth factors, antibodies, genes, peptides, etc. to enhance the efficiency and minimize the unwanted effects.

Acknowledgments Mohd Faheem Khan acknowledges Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati for providing research fellowship, and Debasree Kundu is grateful to Science and Engineering Research Board, Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi (File Number: PDF/2015/000382) for National Post Doctoral Fellowship (N-PDF).

References

- Abdelmajeed NA (2012) Immobilization technology for enhancing bio-products industry. Afr J Biotechnol 11:13528–13539. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB12.547
- Aehle W (2007) Enzymes in industry. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim
- Aggarwal P, Hall JB, McLeland CB et al (2009) Nanoparticle interaction with plasma proteins as it relates to particle biodistribution, biocompatibility and therapeutic efficacy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61:428–437
- Aili D, Mager M, Roche D, Stevens MM (2011) Hybrid nanoparticle–liposome detection of phospholipase activity. Nano Lett 11:1401–1405. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl1024062
- Akagi T, Baba M, Akashi M (2007) Preparation of nanoparticles by the self-organization of polymers consisting of hydrophobic and hydrophilic segments: potential applications. Polymer (Guildf) 48:6729–6747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2007.08.038
- Akbarzadeh A, Rezaei-Sadabady R, Davaran S et al (2013) Liposome: classification, preparation, and applications. Nanoscale Res Lett 8:102. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-8-102
- Alftrén J, Hobley TJ (2013) Covalent immobilization of β-glucosidase on magnetic particles for lignocellulose hydrolysis. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 169:2076–2087. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12010-013-0122-5
- Andresen TL, Davidsen J, Begtrup M et al (2004) Enzymatic release of antitumor ether lipids by specific phospholipase A 2 activation of liposome-forming prodrugs. J Med Chem 47:1694–1703. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm031029r
- Bae YH, Park K (2011) Targeted drug delivery to tumors: myths, reality and possibility. J Control Release 153:198–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.06.001
- Balcao VM, Mateo C, Fernandez-Lafuente R et al (2001) Structural and functional stabilization of L-Asparaginase via multisubunit immobilization onto highly activated supports. Biotechnol Prog 17:537–542. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp000163r
- Basel MT, Shrestha TB, Troyer DL, Bossmann SH (2011) Protease-sensitive, polymer-caged liposomes: a method for making highly targeted liposomes using triggered release. ACS Nano 5:2162–2175. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn103362n
- Behera BK, Sahoo SK, Mohapatra R et al (2012) Biodegradable and bioinspired polymers for pharmaceutical formulations and drug delivery: a brief review. World J Pharm Res 1:591–625

- Bellino MG, Regazzoni AE, Soler-Illia GJAA (2010) Amylase-functionalized Mesoporous silica thin films as robust biocatalyst platforms. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2:360–365. https://doi. org/10.1021/am900645b
- Bernardos A, Mondragón L, Aznar E et al (2010) Enzyme-responsive intracellular controlled release using nanometric silica mesoporous supports capped with "Saccharides". ACS Nano 4:6353–6368. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn101499d
- Bosio VE, Islan GA, Martínez YN et al (2015) Nanodevices for the immobilization of therapeutic enzymes. Crit Rev Biotechnol:1–18. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388551.2014.990414
- Bourget L, Chang TMS (1985) Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in semipermeable microcapsules for enzyme replacement in phenylketonuria. FEBS Lett 180:5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(85)80219-2
- Calvo P, Vila-Jato JL, Alonso MJ (1997) Evaluation of cationic polymer-coated nanocapsules as ocular drug carriers. Int J Pharm 153:41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(97)00083-5
- Cao L, van Rantwijk F, Sheldon RA (2000) Cross-linked enzyme aggregates: a simple and effective method for the immobilization of penicillin Acylase. Org Lett 2:1361–1364. https://doi. org/10.1021/o1005593x
- Cengiz S, Çavaş L, Yurdakoç K (2012) Bentonite and sepiolite as supporting media: immobilization of catalase. Appl Clay Sci 65–66:114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2012.06.004
- Chakravorty D, Khan MF, Patra S (2017) Multifactorial level of extremostability of proteins: can they be exploited for protein engineering? Extremophiles 21:419–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00792-016-0908-9
- Chaudhari KR, Ukawala M, Manjappa AS et al (2012) Opsonization, biodistribution, cellular uptake and apoptosis study of PEGylated PBCA nanoparticle as potential drug delivery carrier. Pharm Res 29:53–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-011-0510-x
- Choi M, Ryoo R (2003) Ordered nanoporous polymer–carbon composites. Nat Mater 2:473–476. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat923
- Chowdhury A, Kunjiappan S, Panneerselvam T et al (2017) Nanotechnology and nanocarrierbased approaches on treatment of degenerative diseases. Int Nano Lett 7:91–122. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40089-017-0208-0
- Corchero JL, Mendoza R, Ferrer-Miralles N et al (2012) Enzymatic characterization of highly stable human alpha-galactosidase A displayed on magnetic particles. Biochem Eng J 67:20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2012.05.003
- Couvreur P, Barratt G, Fattal E, Vauthier C (2002) Nanocapsule technology: a review. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 19:99–134. https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevTherDrugCarrierSyst.v19.i2.10
- Cruz MEM, Gaspar MM, Lopes F et al (1993) Liposomal l-asparaginase: in vitro evaluation. Int J Pharm 96:67–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(93)90213-Y
- Cui J-D, Zhang S, Sun L-M (2012) Cross-linked enzyme aggregates of phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase: novel biocatalysts for synthesis of L-Phenylalanine. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 167:835–844. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9738-0
- Cumana S, Simons J, Liese A et al (2013) Immobilization of glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase in silica-based hydrogels: a comparative study. J Mol Catal B Enzym 85–86:220–228. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molcatb.2012.09.014
- Cummings BS, McHowat J, Schnellmann RG (2000) Phospholipase A(2)s in cell injury and death. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 294:793–799
- Datta LP, Chatterjee A, Acharya K et al (2017) Enzyme responsive nucleotide functionalized silver nanoparticles with effective antimicrobial and anticancer activity. New J Chem 41:1538–1548. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6NJ02955H
- De Jong WH, Borm PJA (2008) Drug delivery and nanoparticles: applications and hazards. Int J Nanomedicine 3:133
- de la Rica R, Aili D, Stevens MM (2012) Enzyme-responsive nanoparticles for drug release and diagnostics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:967–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.01.002
- DeBerardinis RJ, Thompson CB (2012) Cellular metabolism and disease: what do metabolic outliers teach us? Cell 148:1132–1144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.032

- Desai MP, Labhasetwar V, Walter E et al (1997) The mechanism of uptake of biodegradable microparticles in Caco-2 cells is size dependent. Pharm Res 14:1568–1573. https://doi.org/10.102 3/A:1012126301290
- Dmochowski RR, Staskin DR (2002) Advances in drug delivery: improved bioavailability and drug effect. Curr Urol Rep 3:439–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11934-002-0094-4
- Edwards JS, Kumbhar A, Roberts A et al (2011) Immobilization of active human carboxylesterase 1 in biomimetic silica nanoparticles. Biotechnol Prog 27:863–869. https://doi.org/10.1002/ btpr.604
- Ehlert N, Müller PP, Stieve M, Behrens P (2010) Immobilization of alkaline phosphatase on modified silica coatings. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 131:51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. micromeso.2009.11.040
- Ensor CM, Holtsberg FW, Bomalaski JS, Clark MA (2002) Pegylated arginine deiminase (ADI-SS PEG20, 000 mw) inhibits human melanomas and hepatocellular carcinomas in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 62:5443–5450
- Ferguson RM, Minard KR, Krishnan KM (2009) Optimization of nanoparticle core size for magnetic particle imaging. J Magn Magn Mater 321:1548–1551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmmm.2009.02.083
- Fouladi F, Steffen KJ, Mallik S (2017) Enzyme-responsive liposomes for the delivery of anticancer drugs. Bioconjug Chem 28:857–868. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.6b00736
- Gardimalla HMR, Mandal D, Stevens PD et al (2005) Superparamagnetic nanoparticle-supported enzymatic resolution of racemic carboxylates. Chem Commun:4432. https://doi.org/10.1039/ b504128g
- Genta I, Perugini P, Pavanetto F et al (2001) Enzyme loaded biodegradable microspheres in vitro. J Control Release 77:287–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(01)00511-9
- Gorbenko G, Trusova V (2011) Protein aggregation in a membrane environment. In: Advances in protein chemistry and structural biology. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam, pp 113–142
- Gu Z, Yan M, Hu B et al (2009) Protein nanocapsule weaved with enzymatically degradable polymeric network. Nano Lett 9:4533–4538. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl902935b
- Hadinoto K, Sundaresan A, Cheow WS (2013) Lipid–polymer hybrid nanoparticles as a new generation therapeutic delivery platform: a review. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 85:427–443. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.07.002
- Haider T, Husain Q (2008) Concanavalin A layered calcium alginate–starch beads immobilized β galactosidase as a therapeutic agent for lactose intolerant patients. Int J Pharm 359:1–6. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.03.013
- Harnoy AJ, Rosenbaum I, Tirosh E et al (2014) Enzyme-responsive Amphiphilic PEG-Dendron hybrids and their assembly into smart micellar nanocarriers. J Am Chem Soc 136:7531–7534. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja413036q
- He Q, Shi J (2011) Mesoporous silica nanoparticle based nano drug delivery systems: synthesis, controlled drug release and delivery, pharmacokinetics and biocompatibility. J Mater Chem 21:5845. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0jm03851b
- Hill KJ, Kaszuba M, Creeth JE, Jones MN (1997) Reactive liposomes encapsulating a glucose oxidase-peroxidase system with antibacterial activity. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1326:37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(97)00007-2
- Homaei AA, Sariri R, Vianello F, Stevanato R (2013) Enzyme immobilization: an update. J Chem Biol 6:185–205
- Hoskins C, Min Y, Gueorguieva M et al (2012) Hybrid gold-iron oxide nanoparticles as a multifunctional platform for biomedical application. J Nanobiotechnol 10:27. https://doi. org/10.1186/1477-3155-10-27
- Hsueh EC, Knebel SM, Lo W-H et al (2012) Deprivation of arginine by recombinant human arginase in prostate cancer cells. J Hematol Oncol 5:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8722-5-17
- Hu J, Zhang G, Liu S (2012) Enzyme-responsive polymeric assemblies, nanoparticles and hydrogels. Chem Soc Rev 41:5933. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2cs35103j

- Hu Q, Katti PS, Gu Z (2014) Enzyme-responsive nanomaterials for controlled drug delivery. Nanoscale 6:12273–12286. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4NR04249B
- Huang W, Li X, Xue Y et al (2013) Antibacterial multilayer films fabricated by LBL immobilizing lysozyme and HTCC on nanofibrous mats. Int J Biol Macromol 53:26–31. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2012.10.024
- Islan GA, Martinez YN, Illanes A, Castro GR (2014) Development of novel alginate lyase crosslinked aggregates for the oral treatment of cystic fibrosis. RSC Adv 4:11758. https://doi. org/10.1039/c3ra47850e
- Jegannathan KR, Abang S, Poncelet D et al (2008) Production of biodiesel using immobilized lipase—a critical review. Crit Rev Biotechnol 28:253–264. https://doi. org/10.1080/07388550802428392
- Jiang T, Mo R, Bellotti A et al (2014) Gel-liposome-mediated co-delivery of anticancer membraneassociated proteins and small-molecule drugs for enhanced therapeutic efficacy. Adv Funct Mater 24:2295–2304. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201303222
- Jo H, Ban C (2016) Aptamer–nanoparticle complexes as powerful diagnostic and therapeutic tools. Exp Mol Med 48:e230–e230. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2016.44
- Kalam MA, Khan AA, Alshamsan A (2017) Non-invasive administration of biodegradable nanocarrier vaccines. Am J Transl Res 9:15–35
- Kang J-H, Asai D, Kim J-H et al (2008) Design of polymeric carriers for cancer-specific gene targeting: utilization of abnormal protein kinase Cα activation in cancer cells. J Am Chem Soc 130:14906–14907. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja805364s
- Kim J, Grate JW (2003) Single-enzyme nanoparticles armored by a nanometer-scale organic/inorganic network. Nano Lett 3:1219–1222. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl034404b
- Kim RH, Coates JM, Bowles TL et al (2009) Arginine deiminase as a novel therapy for prostate cancer induces autophagy and caspase-independent apoptosis. Cancer Res 69:700–708. https:// doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3157
- Konno T, Watanabe J, Ishihara K (2004) Conjugation of enzymes on polymer nanoparticles covered with Phosphorylcholine groups. Biomacromolecules 5:342–347. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bm034356p
- Korablyov V, Zimran A, Barenholz Y (1999) Cerebroside-beta-glucosidase encapsulation in liposomes for Gaucher's disease treatment revisited. Pharm Res 16:466–469. https://doi.org/1 0.1023/A:1011998407862
- Laromaine A, Koh L, Murugesan M et al (2007) Protease-triggered dispersion of nanoparticle assemblies. J Am Chem Soc 129:4156–4157. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0706504
- Law B, Weissleder R, Tung C-H (2006) Peptide-based biomaterials for protease-enhanced drug delivery. Biomacromolecules 7:1261–1265. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm050920f
- Lee JE, Park JC, Kim JG, Suh H (2001) Preparation of collagen modified Hyaluronan microparticles as antibiotics carrier. Yonsei Med J 42:291. https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2001.42.3.291
- Lee GK-C, Kwok S-Y, Yu CH et al (2012) Immobilization of engineered arginase on gold-carbon nanotubes. Chem Commun 48:7693. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2cc32863a
- Li C (2014) A targeted approach to cancer imaging and therapy. Nat Mater 13:110–115. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nmat3877
- Li X, Wang L, Fan Y et al (2012) Biocompatibility and toxicity of nanoparticles and nanotubes. J Nanomater 2012:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/548389
- Li Q-L, Xu S-H, Zhou H et al (2015) pH and glutathione dual-responsive dynamic cross-linked supramolecular network on Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for controlled anticancer drug release. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7:28656–28664. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b10534
- Liang JF, Li YT, Yang VC (2000) A novel approach for delivery of enzyme drugs: preliminary demonstration of feasibility and utility in vitro. Int J Pharm 202:11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-5173(00)00414-2
- Liu Z, Robinson JT, Tabakman SM et al (2011) Carbon materials for drug delivery & cancer therapy. Mater Today 14:316–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-7021(11)70161-4

- Liu Y, Du J, Yan M et al (2013) Biomimetic enzyme nanocomplexes and their use as antidotes and preventive measures for alcohol intoxication. Nat Nanotechnol 8:187–192. https://doi. org/10.1038/nnano.2012.264
- Liu Y, Ding X, Li J et al (2015) Enzyme responsive drug delivery system based on mesoporous silica nanoparticles for tumor therapy in vivo. Nanotechnology 26:145102. https://doi. org/10.1088/0957-4484/26/14/145102
- Liu W, Wang H, Wang W et al (2016) Use of PEG-asparaginase in newly diagnosed adults with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia compared with E. coli-asparaginase: a retrospective single-center study. Sci Rep 6:39463. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39463
- Lizano C, Sanz S, Luque J, Pinilla M (1998) In vitro study of alcohol dehydrogenase and acetaldehyde dehydrogenase encapsulated into human erythrocytes by an electroporation procedure. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1425:328–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0304-4165(98)00085-3
- Löhr M, Hoffmeyer A, Kröger J-C et al (2001) Microencapsulated cell-mediated treatment of inoperable pancreatic carcinoma. Lancet 357:1591–1592. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(00)04749-8
- Lu P-J, Huang S-C, Chen Y-P et al (2015) Analysis of titanium dioxide and zinc oxide nanoparticles in cosmetics. J Food Drug Anal 23:587–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2015.02.009
- Łukasiewicz S, Szczepanowicz K, Błasiak E, Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M (2015) Biocompatible polymeric nanoparticles as promising candidates for drug delivery. Langmuir 31:6415–6425. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.langmuir.5b01226
- Luo Y-H, Chang LW, Lin P (2015) Metal-based nanoparticles and the immune system: activation, inflammation, and potential applications. Biomed Res Int 2015:1–12. https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/143720
- Maeda H (2010) Tumor-selective delivery of macromolecular drugs via the EPR effect: background and future prospects. Bioconjug Chem 21:797–802. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc100070g
- Manosroi A, Chankhampan C, Manosroi W, Manosroi J (2013) Transdermal absorption enhancement of papain loaded in elastic niosomes incorporated in gel for scar treatment. Eur J Pharm Sci 48:474–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2012.12.010
- Manuela Gaspar M, Blanco D, Cruz MEM, José Alonso M (1998) Formulation of l-asparaginaseloaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles: influence of polymer properties on enzyme loading, activity and in vitro release. J Control Release 52:53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0168-3659(97)00196-X
- Martínez YN, Cavello I, Hours R et al (2013) Immobilized keratinase and enrofloxacin loaded on pectin PVA cryogel patches for antimicrobial treatment. Bioresour Technol 145:280–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.02.063
- Medeiros SF, Santos AM, Fessi H, Elaissari A (2011) Stimuli-responsive magnetic particles for biomedical applications. Int J Pharm 403:139–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.10.011
- Medintz IL, Clapp AR, Brunel FM et al (2006) Proteolytic activity monitored by fluorescence resonance energy transfer through quantum-dot–peptide conjugates. Nat Mater 5:581–589. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat1676
- Meryam Sardar RA (2015) Enzyme immobilization: an overview on nanoparticles as immobilization matrix. Biochem Anal Biochem 04. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-1009.1000178
- Mistry PK, Lopez G, Schiffmann R et al (2017) Gaucher disease: progress and ongoing challenges. Mol Genet Metab 120:8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2016.11.006
- Moghimi SM, Hunter AC, Murray JC (2001) Long-circulating and target-specific nanoparticles: theory to practice. Pharmacol Rev 53:283–318. doi: VL 53
- Mohamad NR, Marzuki NHC, Buang NA et al (2015) An overview of technologies for immobilization of enzymes and surface analysis techniques for immobilized enzymes. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 29:205–220. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2015.1008192
- Mura S, Nicolas J, Couvreur P (2013) Stimuli-responsive nanocarriers for drug delivery. Nat Mater 12:991–1003. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat3776

- Napoli A, Boerakker MJ, Tirelli N et al (2004) Glucose-oxidase based self-destructing polymeric vesicles. Langmuir 20:3487–3491. https://doi.org/10.1021/la0357054
- Nepal D, Balasubramanian S, Simonian AL, Davis VA (2008) Strong antimicrobial coatings: single-walled carbon nanotubes armored with biopolymers. Nano Lett 8:1896–1901. https:// doi.org/10.1021/nl080522t
- Nguyen MM, Carlini AS, Chien M-P et al (2015) Enzyme-responsive nanoparticles for targeted accumulation and prolonged retention in heart tissue after myocardial infarction. Adv Mater 27:5547–5552. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201502003
- Nikolic T, Kostic M, Praskalo J et al (2010) Sodium periodate oxidized cotton yarn as carrier for immobilization of trypsin. Carbohydr Polym 82:976–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2010.06.028
- Olivier J-C (2005) Drug transport to brain with targeted nanoparticles. NeuroRx 2:108–119. https://doi.org/10.1602/neurorx.2.1.108
- Osathanon T, Giachelli CM, Somerman MJ (2009) Immobilization of alkaline phosphatase on microporous nanofibrous fibrin scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 30:4513–4521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.05.022
- Palmour R, Goodyer P, Reade T, Chang T (1989) Microencapsulated xanthine oxidase as experimental therapy in Lesch-Nyhan disease. Lancet 334:687–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(89)90939-2
- Panyam J, Sahoo SK, Prabha S et al (2003) Fluorescence and electron microscopy probes for cellular and tissue uptake of poly(d,l-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 262:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(03)00295-3
- Park Y-J, Liang J, Yang Z, Yang VC (2001) Controlled release of clot-dissolving tissue-type plasminogen activator from a poly(l-glutamic acid) semi-interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel. J Control Release 75:37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(01)00360-1
- Park J-H, Gu L, von Maltzahn G et al (2009) Biodegradable luminescent porous silicon nanoparticles for in vivo applications. Nat Mater 8:331–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2398
- Patchell C, Desai M, Weller P et al (2002) Creon® 10000 Minimicrospheres[™] vs. Creon® 8000 microspheres—an open randomised crossover preference study. J Cyst Fibros 1:287–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1569-1993(02)00103-0
- Peng F, Su Y, Zhong Y et al (2014) Silicon nanomaterials platform for bioimaging, biosensing, and cancer therapy. Acc Chem Res 47:612–623. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar400221g
- Petrikovics I, Hong K, Omburo G et al (1999) Antagonism of Paraoxon intoxication by recombinant Phosphotriesterase encapsulated within Sterically stabilized liposomes. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 156:56–63. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.1998.8620
- Phadtare S, Kumar A, Vinod VP et al (2003) Direct assembly of gold nanoparticle "shells" on polyurethane microsphere "cores" and their application as enzyme immobilization templates. Chem Mater 15:1944–1949. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm020784a
- Piras AM, Chiellini F, Fiumi C et al (2008) A new biocompatible nanoparticle delivery system for the release of fibrinolytic drugs. Int J Pharm 357:260–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2008.01.035
- Rao J, Khan A (2013) Enzyme sensitive synthetic polymer micelles based on the Azobenzene Motif. J Am Chem Soc 135:14056–14059. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja407514z
- Redhead HM, Davis SS, Illum L (2001) Drug delivery in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles surface modified with poloxamer 407 and poloxamine 908: in vitro characterisation and in vivo evaluation. J Control Release 70:353–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(00)00367-9
- Ren L, Wang X, Wu H et al (2010) Conjugation of nattokinase and lumbrukinase with magnetic nanoparticles for the assay of their thrombolytic activities. J Mol Catal B Enzym 62:190–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcatb.2009.10.009
- Saha P, Khan MF, Patra S (2018) Truncated α-amylase: an improved candidate for textile processing. Prep Biochem Biotechnol 48:1–11

- Santini B, Antonelli M, Battistini A et al (2000) Comparison of two enteric coated microsphere preparations in the treatment of pancreatic exocrine insufficiency caused by cystic fibrosis. Dig Liver Dis 32:406–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1590-8658(00)80261-3
- Saraiva C, Praça C, Ferreira R et al (2016) Nanoparticle-mediated brain drug delivery: overcoming blood–brain barrier to treat neurodegenerative diseases. J Control Release 235:34–47. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.044
- Satchi-Fainaro R, Hailu H, Davies JW et al (2003) PDEPT: polymer-directed enzyme prodrug therapy. 2. HPMA copolymer-β-lactamase and HPMA Copolymer-C-Dox as a model combination. Bioconjug Chem 14:797–804. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc020091k
- Sheldon RA (2011) Cross-linked enzyme aggregates as industrial biocatalysts. Org Process Res Dev 15:213–223. https://doi.org/10.1021/op100289f
- Shukla SK, Shukla SK, Govender PP, Giri NG (2016) Biodegradable polymeric nanostructures in therapeutic applications: opportunities and challenges. RSC Adv 6:94325–94351. https://doi. org/10.1039/C6RA15764E
- Singh AK (2015, Nov 24) Engineered nanoparticles: structure, properties and mechanisms of toxicity. Academic Press
- Singh V, Kumar P (2011) Carboxymethyl tamarind gum-silica nanohybrids for effective immobilization of amylase. J Mol Catal B Enzym 70:67–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcatb.2011.02.006
- Singh R, Lillard JW (2009) Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. Exp Mol Pathol 86:215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.12.004
- Soltys PJ, Mullon C, Langer R (1992) Oral treatment for jaundice using immobilized bilirubin oxidase. Artif Organs 16:331–335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1594.1992.tb00527.x
- Stasyuk N, Serkiz R, Mudry S et al (2011) Recombinant human arginase I immobilized on gold and silver nanoparticles: preparation and properties. Nanotechnol Dev 1:3. https://doi. org/10.4081/nd.2011.e3
- Storm G, Vingerhoeds MH, Crommelin DJA, Haisma HJ (1997) Immunoliposomes bearing enzymes (immuno-enzymosomes) for site-specific activation of anticancer prodrugs. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 24:225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(96)00461-9
- Tansi FL, Rüger R, Kollmeier AM et al (2017) A fast and effective determination of the biodistribution and subcellular localization of fluorescent immunoliposomes in freshly excised animal organs. BMC Biotechnol 17:8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-017-0327-8
- Terada T, Iwai M, Kawakami S et al (2006) Novel PEG-matrix metalloproteinase-2 cleavable peptide-lipid containing galactosylated liposomes for hepatocellular carcinoma-selective targeting. J Control Release 111:333–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2005.12.023
- Thiem B, Goślińska O (2004) Antimicrobial activity of Rubus chamaemorus leaves. Fitoterapia 75:93–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2003.08.014
- van Vlerken LE, Vyas TK, Amiji MM (2007) Poly(ethylene glycol)-modified nanocarriers for tumor-targeted and intracellular delivery. Pharm Res 24:1405–1414. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11095-007-9284-6
- Vicent MJ, Pérez-Payá E (2006) Poly-L-glutamic acid (PGA) aided inhibitors of apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1): an Antiapoptotic polymeric Nanomedicine. J Med Chem 49:3763–3765. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm060458x
- Walde P, Ichikawa S (2001) Enzymes inside lipid vesicles: preparation, reactivity and applications. Biomol Eng 18:143–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-0344(01)00088-0
- Wang Y, Chang TMS (2012) Nanobiotechnological nanocapsules containing Polyhemoglobin-Tyrosinase: effects on murine B16F10 melanoma cell proliferation and attachment. J Skin Cancer 2012:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/673291
- Wang M, Jia C, Qi W et al (2011) Porous-CLEAs of papain: application to enzymatic hydrolysis of macromolecules. Bioresour Technol 102:3541–3545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2010.08.120

- Wang R, Zhang Y, Lu D et al (2013) Functional protein-organic/inorganic hybrid nanomaterials. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 5:320–328. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wnan.1210
- Weber E, Sirim D, Schreiber T et al (2010) Immobilization of P450 BM-3 monooxygenase on mesoporous molecular sieves with different pore diameters. J Mol Catal B Enzym 64:29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcatb.2010.01.020
- Wolfe EA, Chang TMS (1987) Orally ingested microencapsulated urease and an adsorbent, zirconium phosphate, to remove urea in kidney failure. Int J Artif Organs 10:269–274
- Wong C, Stylianopoulos T, Cui J et al (2011) Multistage nanoparticle delivery system for deep penetration into tumor tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108:2426–2431. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1018382108
- Xiao Z, Farokhzad OC (2012) Aptamer-functionalized nanoparticles for medical applications: challenges and opportunities. ACS Nano 6:3670–3676. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn301869z
- Xu S, Olenyuk BZ, Okamoto CT, Hamm-Alvarez SF (2013) Targeting receptor-mediated endocytotic pathways with nanoparticles: rationale and advances. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65:121–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.041
- Yang T, Li Z, Wang L et al (2007) Synthesis, characterization, and self-assembly of protein lysozyme monolayer-stabilized gold nanoparticles. Langmuir 23:10533–10538. https://doi. org/10.1021/la701649z
- Yang H-W, Hua M-Y, Hwang T-L et al (2013) Non-invasive synergistic treatment of brain tumors by targeted chemotherapeutic delivery and amplified focused ultrasound-hyperthermia using magnetic Nanographene Oxide. Adv Mater 25:3605–3611. https://doi.org/10.1002/ adma.201301046
- Yu JA, Mauchley D, Li H et al (2012) Knockdown of secretory phospholipase A2 IIa reduces lung cancer growth in vitro and in vivo. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 144:1185–1191. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.08.003
- Yun X, Maximov VD, Yu J et al (2013) Nanoparticles for targeted delivery of antioxidant enzymes to the brain after cerebral ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 33:583–592. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2012.209
- Zhang J, Zhang F, Yang H et al (2010) Graphene oxide as a matrix for enzyme immobilization. Langmuir 26:6083–6085. https://doi.org/10.1021/la904014z
- Zhao Q, Lin Y, Han N et al (2017) Mesoporous carbon nanomaterials in drug delivery and biomedical application. Drug Deliv 24:94–107
- Zolnik BS, González-Fernández Á, Sadrieh N, Dobrovolskaia MA (2010) Minireview: nanoparticles and the immune system. Endocrinology 151:458–465. https://doi.org/10.1210/ en.2009-1082

Chapter 7 Systemic Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment in Animal Models



Vishal Sharma, Bharti Aneja, Vinod Kumar Yata, Dhruba Malakar, and Ashok Kumar Mohanty

Contents

7.1	Introd	uction	202
7.2	Anima	al Models for Nanotoxicity Assessment	204
7.3	Biokir	netics of Nanoparticles.	204
	7.3.1	Absorption.	207
	7.3.2	Biodistribution	208
	7.3.3	Metabolism	209
	7.3.4	Excretion	210
7.4	Nanot	oxicity and Its Assessment in Different Physiological Systems	210
	7.4.1	Pulmonary Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment	210
	7.4.2	Cardiovascular Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment	214
	7.4.3	Hepatic Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment.	215
	7.4.4	Renal Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment	217
	7.4.5	Nanotoxicity to the Gastrointestinal System and Its Assessment	218
	7.4.6	Nanotoxicity to the Nervous System and Its Assessment	220
	7.4.7	Nanotoxicity to the Reproductive System and Its Assessment	222
	7.4.8	Nanotoxicity to the Hematopoietic System	226
	7.4.9	Conclusions	227
Refe	rences.		228

Abstract Nanoparticles (NPs) have found applications in large number of fields which increases the exposure of human to NPs. The potential toxicity of the NPs during the earlier days was not in focus, but during the last decade, much attention has been paid to the potential risk of NP toxicity to human health. In this chapter we summarized biokinetics of NPs and the toxicity of NPs to specific organ systems of the body and different methods used to assess the nanotoxicity using in vivo models. The physicochemical properties of NPs affect their biokinetics and thus toxicity

V. Sharma · V. K. Yata · D. Malakar · A. K. Mohanty

Animal Biotechnology Centre, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

B. Aneja (🖂)

Dairy Microbiology Division, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_7
to different organ systems in the body. Cationic NPs enhance their cellular uptake compared to neutral or anionic NPs. NPs are absorbed through different routes and are distributed locally or to distant organs by hematopoietic system. NPs may cross the different barriers in the body and cause toxic effects in different organs and even to the developing embryo. NPs smaller than 5 nm can cross the placental barrier and are highly toxic to the developing embryo. NPs of size more than 80 nm are accumulated in different organs and are rarely excreted in feces or urine. Accumulation of the NPs may disturb the homeostasis and result in the toxicity to different levels. NPs are more toxic to the lung, brain, intestine, stomach, and developing embryo. Si and TiO₂ NP absorption through placenta may lead to 20–30% reduction in uterine weight in pregnant mice. On the other hand, NPs are relatively nontoxic to the kidney. Thus it becomes even more important to assess the toxicity of the NPs in different physiological systems. To assess the toxicity of the NPs, in vivo models are best choice as they mimic the biological system and thus their results are more reliable. Furthermore, proper techniques are also required to assess the toxicity of the NPs for particular organ system. Complete study of the toxicity potential of the NPs should be assessed as this will support the safe application of NPs.

Keywords Nanoparticles · Nanotoxicity · Systemic toxicity · Biokinetics · Toxicity assessment

7.1 Introduction

Nanoparticles (NPs) are defined as the particles with at least one dimension in the nanometer scale between 1 and 100 nm. During the last two decades, advances in nanotechnology have found wide applications of NPs in different fields like industrial, energy shortage, sensing, electronics, biomedical, bioengineering, and optical fields and even in the daily use commodities (Zhang et al. 2014). The increased applications of the NPs are because of their small particle size, novel physicochemical properties, and easy surface modification (Cho et al. 2009). Despite the large number of advantages that nanotechnology offers, the potential risk of NP exposure to human health is increasing (Pietroiusti et al. 2018). During the last decade, much attention has been paid to toxicity of NPs due to the same properties that make them useful. Early studies on asbestos and anthropogenic nanoparticles, such as from diesel exhausts, have shown that after daily exposure they can accumulate in the human body and can pose health risks, especially in occupational systems. Varoius health hazards from asbestos dust (like respiratory diseases, lung cancer, mesothelioma) have been recognized in workers involved in shipbuilding trades, asbestos mining and milling, manufacturing of asbestos products, insulation work in the construction and building trades, brake repair, and a variety of other trades. Exposure of diesel exhaust to susceptible animal models is also known to cause exacerbation of atherosclerosis (Bai et al. 2011) and changes in cardiac function (Carll et al. 2012). Due to their nanometer dimensions, both natural and synthetic NPs act like biological molecules and can affect different mechanisms operating in the cell. NPs bind to different biomolecules in cells, such as DNA, lipids, and proteins (Zhang et al. 2014) and may affect their function. NPs may interact with the genetic material (DNA) and produce genotoxicity (Magdolenova et al. 2014; Li et al. 2014; Kwon et al. 2014). NPs may also interact with proteins involved in DNA replication, transcription, or repair (e.g., C60 fullerene binds to human DNA topoisomerase II α in the ATP binding domain, which might inhibit the enzyme activity) (Baweja et al. 2011). Moreover, NPs can also cause indirect damage to DNA by toxic ions released from soluble NPs or reactive oxygen species generation (Magdolenova et al. 2014; Annangi et al. 2016; Manke et al. 2013). Long-term and short-term toxicity caused by the NPs to humans and animals has already become a serious concern. Recent studies have focused on the impact of NPs on biomolecules, cells, organs, or isolated physiological systems. These studies provide understanding of the mechanisms and level of the toxic impacts posed by the NPs. However, no organ or system is an isolated target for the NPs as the different organs of the body have similar basic properties. Thus the NPs can easily translocate between different organs, and signals can be transmitted across physiological boundaries. Therefore, it becomes extremely important to understand the nanotoxicity at the whole body level. For example, inhalation of multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) resulted in the release of signals from the lung that activated cyclooxygenase enzymes in the spleen and mediated immune suppression in mice (Mitchell et al. 2009). In another study, the exposure of cobalt chromium NPs to pregnant mice caused DNA damage in neonatal blood without accumulation of cobalt chromium NPs in the body of neonates (Sood et al. 2011). These results clearly indicate that NP toxicity cannot be limited to particular organ and NPs may have effects on the remote organs or tissues.

Thus the assessment of nanotoxicity becomes extremely important, and it requires a set of rules. Fischer and Chan (2007) emphasized the importance of developing predictive models for the assessment of nanotoxicity, while other researchers focused on histological changes (Kim et al. 2003) and pharmacokinetic parameters like exposing (Leite-Silva et al. 2013), biodistribution (Balogh et al. 2007; Goel et al. 2009), biochemistry metabolism, and clearance. However, exploration of nanotoxicity remains superficial in sacrificed animals. Based on the in vivo results of NP pharmacokinetics, including homeostasis regulation, systemically evaluating the impact of NPs on the major systems, including the hepatic, renal, digestive, pulmonary, hematological, cardiovascular, nervous, and immune systems, may provide profound insight into this field.

In the present book chapter, concise description about different in vivo animal model systems, the biokinetics (systemic assessment, absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) of NPs, current knowledge about the toxicity of the NPs to different physiological systems, and different methods to assess the toxicity of the NPs for different organ systems using examples of in vivo systems are presented. This chapter will help in understanding the potential toxicity risks related to the NPs. This chapter provides important information about the potential health

hazards of NPs and thus will help in supporting the application of NPs by minimizing the adverse effects of NPs in vulnerable population.

7.2 Animal Models for Nanotoxicity Assessment

To study the effect of toxicity of NPs on different physiological systems, researchers have developed numerous in vitro toxicity models. However, the problem with in vitro assays is that the results obtained through these assays are inconsistent or conflicting with the in vivo studies due to the interference of NPs with either the detection system or the assay materials, and thus, the researchers are focusing on the development of more in vivo models for the toxicology studies (Bahadar et al. 2016).

For the in vivo studies of nanotoxicity, selection of suitable animal model is an important step. Although many animal models have been developed to study the nanotoxicity of different NPs (Table 7.1), a standard and predictive animal model is still unknown. The most common experimental animals used for the in vivo studies of nanotoxicity are murines (Lopez-Chaves et al. 2018; Bai et al. 2010). Besides mice and rats, zebrafish (Vandhana et al. 2015; Fang et al. 2015), rabbits (Leonardi et al. 2015), Caenorhabditis elegans (Zanni et al. 2012), and pig (Kim et al. 2004; Wu et al. 2009) have also been used in nanotoxicology studies. Mice and rats would be more appropriate models in nanotoxicity investigations as their genome is explicitly known and they have developed application in toxicity investigation. Assessment of the in vivo nanotoxicity can be divided into two main categories: the first involves tissue structure changes (Guo et al. 2013; Sayes et al. 2007), apoptosis (Sarhan and Hussein 2014; Coccini et al. 2013), and inflammatory changes in main organs (kidney, spleen, lung, brain, and heart), while the second one targets certain systems, whose structural specificities are likely to concentrate NPs. For example, hepatic sinusoid and Kupffer cells are the basic structures for liver function in metabolism and detoxication, where NPs are liable to be deposited. Consequently, appropriate nanotoxicity assessment models could be established by combining the exposing ways (ingestion, injection, transdermal delivery, and inhalation) and applications, especially for the drug delivery of NPs (Gross et al. 2015). On physiological basis, nanotoxicity can be tested from pathological changes, including morphological changes (gross, microscopic, and ultrastructural changes) and functional damage.

7.3 Biokinetics of Nanoparticles

Physicochemical properties of NPs like size (De Jong et al. 2008; Ma et al. 2011), shape (Qiu et al. 2010), aspect ratio (Qiu et al. 2010), surface charge, constituent (Hsieh et al. 2014; Mosqueira et al. 2001), surface chemistry, and aggregation status also affect absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of NPs. These physicochemical properties determine the toxicity of NPs to different organ systems

Nanoparticle	Animal model	Distribution of nanoparticle	References
Gold	Mice	Liver, spleen, intestine, heart, skin, lung, dorsal root ganglion	Bahamonde et al. (2018), Sykes et al. (2014), and Koyama et al. (2015)
	Rat	Liver, intestine, spleen, kidney, feces, urine	Bahamonde et al. (2018), Lopez-Chaves et al. (2018), and Loeschner et al. (2014)
	Zebrafish	Embryo	Kim et al. (2013)
Titanium	Mouse	Spleen, lung, kidney, brain, heart, embryo	Wang et al. (2008), Wu et al. (2009), and Jia et al. (2017)
	Pig	Skin	Wu et al. (2009)
	Zebrafish	Reproductive system, embryo, nervous system	Sheng et al. (2014)
Manganese	Rat	Central nervous system, muscle, liver, kidney, bone marrow	Elder et al. (2006), Singh et al. (2013), and Nosrati et al. (2014)
Silver	Rat	Liver, kidney, spleen, testis, lung	van der Zande et al. (2012) and Johnston et al. (2010)
	Zebrafish	Liver, embryo, nervous system	Bar-Ilan et al. (2009), Choi et al. (2010a), and Xin et al. (2015)
Iron	Mice	Brain	Wang et al. (2009)
	Rat	Kidney, liver, spleen, lung	Kumari et al. (2012) and Zhu et al. (2008, 2009)
	Caenorhabditis elegans	Reproductive system	Qu et al. (2011) and Gonzalez- Moragas et al. (2017)
SWCNTs	Mice	Liver, spleen, heart, lung, kidney, stomach	Liu et al. (2008)
MWCNTs	Mice	Testis	Bai et al. (2010)
CNTs	Zebrafish	Brain, gonads, embryo	Li et al. (2015a, b) and Cheng and Cheng (2012)

 Table 7.1
 Distribution of different types of nanoparticles in animal models

SWCNTs single-walled carbon nanotubes, MWCNTs multiwalled carbon nanotubes, CNTs carbon nanotubes

(Table 7.2). Since the cell membrane is negatively charged, cationic NPs readily bind to the cell surface and are internalized, e.g., polyethyleneimine (cationic) coating of silica NPs increases the cell uptake as compared to neutral or anionic NPs (Xia et al. 2009). But cationic NPs exhibit higher toxicity than neutral and anionic nanoparticles, as the cationic NPs may damage the cell membrane and, after internalization, damage the lysosomal compartment (Xia et al. 2009). Modification of the NPs with ligand molecules that recognize specific cell membrane receptors also enhances their uptake into cells (Nel et al. 2009) and stability of the NPs.

Table 7.2Effect of tianimal models	ne main physicochemical	properties of nanoparti	cles, as well as the rou	ites of administration of	on the biodistribution of na	anoparticles in
Nanoparticle	Surface chemistry	Size/nm	Animal model	Administration route	Major observations	References
Polystyrene microspheres	Without modification	50, 100, and 300	Rat	Gavage	Accumulation in the liver and spleen via lymph	Jani et al. (1990)
MnO ₂	Without modification	30	Rat	Whole body inhalation	Accumulation in CNS via olfactory bulb	Elder et al. (2006)
MWCNTs	Carboxylated and aminated	$20-30 \times 0.5-2 \ \mu m$	Mouse	Intravenous	Accumulation in the testis	Bai et al. (2010)
SWCNTs	Without or coated by paclitaxel (PTX)- polyethylene glycol (PEG)	1-3 × 100 (diameter × length)	Mouse	Intravenous	Accumulation in the liver and spleen, less in the heart, lung, kidney, stomach, intestine, muscle	Liu et al. (2008)
TiO ₂	Without modification	10, 25, and 60	Mouse	Intranasal instillation	Accumulation in the brain through olfactory bulb	Wang et al. (2008)
TiO ₂	Hydrophobic or hydrophilic	80, 155	Hairless mouse	Dorsal skin exposure	Accumulation in the spleen, lung, kidney, and brain	Wu et al. (2009)
CdTe (CdSe) core (shell) type II QDs	Oligomeric, phosphine	10 (naked); 18.8 (coated)	Pig	Intradermal	Accumulation in sentinel lymph node	Kim et al. (2004)
Gold	Without modification	2,40	Mouse	Intraperitoneal and intravenous	Macrophage uptake in the liver, less in spleen, small intestine, lymph nodes	Sadauskas et al. (2007)
Gold	Without modification	10–250	Rat	Intravenous	NPs of 10 nm entered the testis and brain	De Jong et al. (2008)
SWCNTS single-walle	d carbon nanotubes, MWC	NTs multiwalled carbo	n nanotubes, QDs qua	ntum dots		

206

7.3.1 Absorption

Human exposure to the nanoparticles is increasing with the increasing applications of the NPs in different fields. NPs may be exposed to the body of human through different routes like skin, oral, intravenous, and respiratory (Fig. 7.1). Exposure to the NPs may be accidental or intentional. Accidental exposure to the nanoparticle includes exposure through respiratory, oral, or dermal as in case of pollution. Intentional exposure to the nanoparticle is by cosmetics, medicinal products mainly like implantation (Wennerberg et al. 2011), intravenous injection, oral



Fig. 7.1 Schematic of exposure of nanoparticles through different routes in the human body and distribution and excretion of the nanoparticles from the body. (I) Skin, (II) inhalation, (III) fabric, (VI) intravenous injection, (V) food intake, (VI) water intake, (VII) gastrointestinal tract, (VIII) lymph, (IX) bone marrow, (X) breast milk, (XI) placenta, (XII) kidney, (XIII) muscles, (XIV) liver, and (XV) spleen. (Reproduced from Brohi et al. 2017, Front Pharmacol 8:606. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00606 under Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY))

administration, inhalation, and transdermal use of pharmaceuticals. The skin prevents the absorption of larger NPs, but smaller NPs can cross the dermal barrier and translocate to different organs (Wu et al. 2009). Functionalization of the NPs' surface by the ligands that can bind to the cell surface receptors may enhance their absorption and internalization in the cells (Nel et al. 2009). Once the NPs are absorbed through different routes, they may enter the bloodstream and are distributed to different organs (Fig. 7.1). NPs easily enter the organs that have rich supply of blood, such as the liver and spleen, and are effectively retained by the reticuloendothelial system (RES) of these organs (Sadauskas et al. 2007; Liu et al. 2008). In different organs of the body, these nanoparticles are partially metabolized, excreted, or retained (Fig. 7.1).

7.3.2 Biodistribution

Exposure of experimental animal's skin to NPs results in the absorption of only a small number of NPs in the blood. However, smaller NPs (less than 100 nm) can penetrate the skin through different routes like intercellular, intracellular, or follicular and then translocate to various organs after being absorbed in the blood (Wu et al. 2009). NPs are absorbed in the blood after crossing different barriers, by oral administration, inhalation, injection (intravenous, intramuscular, subcutaneous, intradermal), and implants, and are distributed to different organs (Fig. 7.1). The translocation of NPs to different organs is a complicated process. For example, after dermal or gastrointestinal exposure, ultrafine particles (less than 10 nm) can enter the circulation via lymph node-mediated process (Jani et al. 1990; Kim et al. 2004). After inhalation, NPs can enter different systems by taking four possible paths: to lymph nodes, to the gastrointestinal tract, to the central and/or peripheral nervous system, and to the blood circulation (Oberdorster et al. 2005). The ingested quantum dots (QDs) may partly be translocated to the reproductive system in Caenorhabditis elegans (Qu et al. 2011). Translocation of NPs to different organs of the body is also, partially, controlled by physicochemical properties such as surface charge, size, shape and chemical properties (Choi et al. 2010b).

Understanding the biodistribution of NPs in different organs is useful to guide the adjustment and modification of NPs. The most common way of investigating the distribution of the NPs is to collect the organs (Balogh et al. 2007) or tissues such as the skin, lung, liver, kidney, heart, spleen, brain, and bone marrow of the animals after the animal sacrifice. NPs can be tracked by using detection methods based on their characteristics. For some metal NPs, their intrinsic properties could be probed by specific instruments. For example, gold composite nanodevices in mouse tumor tissues were explored by instrumental neutron activation analysis (Balogh et al. 2007). Silicon and cadmium (Guo et al. 2013) concentrations could be determined by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry. For some NPs, radiolabeled and fluorescent-labeled skills have also been used. [³H]-PLA (Mosqueira et al. 2001) was used as a marker to show blood concentration and organ distributions of poly(ethylene glycol)-grafted nanocapsules quantitatively in mice. Some fluorescent-labeled particles (Semete et al. 2010) in tissue homogenates were analyzed by plate reader. In materials like quantum dots with heavy metal cores (Li et al. 2015), it was more appropriate to apply multiplexing and multicolor imaging through single-particle Förster resonance energy transfer assays (Massey et al. 2015). Other imaging techniques, like magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT), positron emission tomography (PET), single photon emission computed tomography, optical imaging, and ultrasound, were introduced in the latest reviews (Janib et al. 2010; Park et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2016). Some of the imaging contrast agents have potential unintentional toxicity; these tracing methods may aggravate the toxicity of NPs. Moreover, the combination of contrast agents may alter the characteristics and consequently change the biodistribution of NPs.

7.3.3 Metabolism

Recently a number of articles have described in vivo metabolism of NPs (Wang et al. 2013a; Feliu et al. 2016). The physiological conditions in the cell compartment (acidic environment in endosomes) or organ (the acidic environment in the stomach, Meng et al. 2007) and the degradation by enzymatic catalysis in cell lysosomes may play primary roles in the metabolism of NPs. The major route for the entrance of nanoparticle into the cells is endocytosis. During endocytosis, the NPs are enclosed by early or late endosomes having slightly acidic pH (6.2-6.5) or pronouncedly acidic pH (4.5-5.5), respectively. Some metallic nanoparticles, such as silver (Arora et al. 2008), quantum dots (Hoshino et al. 2004; Gao et al. 2004), and iron oxide NPs may undergo dissolution in the acidic microenvironment in endosomes and release metallic ions (Zhu et al. 2011). For majority of the biological applications, the NPs are injected intravenously, and in the biological environment, the NPs are exposed to large number of biomolecules such as lipid, protein, sugars, ions, and metabolites in the body (Feliu et al. 2016). These biomolecules adsorb on the surface of NPs and form biomolecule corona or protein corona (Wan et al. 2015). These biomolecules are easily degraded by the enzymes in endosomes and lysosomes and macrophages of the lung, liver, and spleen (Wang et al. 2013a) and release the inorganic part. NPs made up of inorganic ions like Ag, ZnO, CdSe, and FeOx corrode and release metal ions (Soenen et al. 2015), whereas gold NPs are inert and thus stable against degradation. Degradation of such NPs occurs by the strong binding of the ligands such as thiols (available from glutathione) to the surface of gold NPs. Under certain conditions, this may lead to pulling out of atoms via the ligand from the surface of gold NPs (Paulsson et al. 2009) leading to slow degradation of gold NPs. In some cases, the released ions might be more toxic in some cases. This complicates the evaluation of nanoparticle toxicity as in the case of some quantum dots, most of which are made of toxic heavy metals (Derfus et al. 2004).

7.3.4 Excretion

Nanoparticles can be partially excreted through urine, feces, or breast milk (Fig. 7.1). The physicochemical properties of the NPs also affect their excretion pathways (Zhang et al. 2014), e.g., single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) coated with polyethylene glycol are mainly cleared through feces and urine (Liu et al. 2008), while liposomes are eliminated via the hepatobiliary pathway (Alexis et al. 2008). NPs with diameter less than 10 nm can be eliminated in urine (Longmire et al. 2008; Naz et al. 2016), whereas NPs having diameter larger than 80 nm are trapped by the liver and spleen and are slowly excreted in feces (Alexis et al. 2008). NPs that are degradable in macrophages may be cleared by the reticuloendothelial system (RES) organs, while nondegradable particles may be deposited in organs for a long time (Zhao et al. 2011a). The possibility of other excretion pathways, like saliva, sweat, and breast milk, cannot be ruled out (Li et al. 2010). Thus it is very much clear that the NPs are only partially excreted, and some organs retain the NPs for long periods. This persistence of the NPs for extended period prolongs the impact on physiological systems and thus poses a considerable risk to health, i.e., nanotoxicity.

7.4 Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment in Different Physiological Systems

7.4.1 Pulmonary Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment

The human respiratory tract consists of three sequential regions: nasopharyngeal, tracheobronchial, and the pulmonary regions. Alveoli and airways of the respiratory tract have vast internal surface area (approximately 150 m²) which facilitates broad access of inhaled materials to the lung tissue (Bakand et al. 2012). Inhaled NPs are reported to cross alveolar epithelial and vascular endothelial cell layers (Heckel et al. 2004). These NPs are transported from the lungs to different organs through the lymphatic vessels and blood (Kreyling et al. 2010) and may result in toxicity to the whole body. Respiratory nanotoxicity can be divided into two main categories: respiratory toxicity to the lungs and systemic toxicity to the organs/systems other than the respiratory tract.

Nanotoxicity to the Lungs The lung is one of the primary sites for the accumulations of the NPs because it is a reticuloendothelial system. The respiratory toxicity of NPs has been investigated mainly after exposure of animals to NPs by inhalation. Inhalation of different NPs leads to different types of lesions in the lungs depending upon the properties of the NPs. Inhalation of MWCNTs (0.5 and 2.5 mg m⁻³) by rats resulted in pronounced multifocal granulomatous inflammation of the lungs (Ma-Hock et al. 2009). Inhalation of carbon nanofibers causes the formation of extrapulmonary fibers and inflammation in the terminal bronchioles and alveolar ducts of rats (DeLorme et al. 2012). Exposure of NPs by dermal route resulted in the slight increase in the alveolar thickness in the hairless mice (Wu et al. 2009). Inhalation of TiO_2 NPs causes lung inflammation in mice (Lindberg et al. 2012). Inhalation of gold NPs by rats showed that the gold NPs can be translocated from the lung to organs such as the kidney, aorta, spleen, and heart and causes damage to the lung and these organs (Yu et al. 2007; Takenaka et al. 2006).

Apart from inhalation exposure, intratracheal instillation is another method for the exposure of the NPs to the pulmonary systems. This method delivers a higher dose to animals, in comparison to the inhalation (Morimoto et al. 2012). NPs administered by the intratracheal instillation are taken up by alveolar macrophages and alveolar epithelial cells. NPs that enter the alveolar epithelium are cleared from the lungs with difficulty (Zhu et al. 2009). Administration of various NPs like carbon nanotubes (CNTs) (Chou et al. 2008), carbon black (Bourdon et al. 2012), silver (Park et al. 2011), and iron oxide (Ban et al. 2012) through the intratracheal instillation route induced pulmonary inflammatory responses, granuloma formation (Muller et al. 2005; Chou et al. 2008; Shvedova et al. 2005), and fibrotic lung injury (Muller et al. 2005). In Sprague Dawley rats, TiO₂ nanorods generated hydroxyl radicals in the lungs and caused reversible pneumotoxicity with no significant alterations in pulmonary immune function (Roberts et al. 2011). Single intratracheal instillation of iron oxide NPs resulted in the suppression of local immunity in the mice (Ban et al. 2012).

Systemic Nanotoxicity In addition to causing local injury to the lungs, NPs can be transported to other organs by the lymphatic system and circulatory system, leading to systemic toxicity. The translocation of NPs to other organs from the lungs depends on the physicochemical properties of the NPs. The translocation capability of organic and inorganic NPs is affected by the size, surface charges (Choi et al. 2010b), and surface area (Schmid and Stoeger 2016) of the NPs. After instillation exposure, NPs having size less than 6 nm are freely absorbed in the circulation in rats, NPs having size smaller than 34 nm are translocated to the mediastinal lymph nodes, while cationic NPs tend to be retained in the lungs. Long fiber-like NPs like MWCNTs (more than 20 μ m in length) were translocated to the pleural space from subpleural alveoli (Murphy et al. 2011).

Inhalation of NPs may also damage the innate immunity of an animal. After inhalation of MWCNTs, an impaired immune response to sheep erythrocytes and decreased activity of natural killer cells were found in mice (Mitchell et al. 2007). MWCNTs also stimulate the release of immunoregulatory factor TGF- β from the lung and cause humoral immune suppression (Mitchell et al. 2009). Fe₂O₃ and ZnO NPs accumulated in the liver and lungs after inhalation and resulted in changes in biochemical markers of blood in rats (Wang et al. 2010). Susceptibility of the individual to nanotoxicity of the airborne particles also depends on age (Chen et al. 2008), genetic susceptibility, and cardiovascular disease status (Ge et al. 2012). After 24 hours of intratracheal instillation, SWCNTs induced local inflammatory responses and oxidative stress in lungs, perivascular myocyte degeneration, and

peripheral vascular lesions, in hypertensive rat model (Ge et al. 2012). Inhalation of TiO_2 NPs (21 nm) compromised the dilation of the carotid artery in rats. This response is similar to pathophysiological microvascular changes occurring in chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, and heart failure (Nurkiewicz et al. 2008). Inhaled Fe₂O₃ and ZnO NPs accumulated in the liver and lungs and caused changes in blood biochemical markers in rats (Wang et al. 2010). Gold nanoparticles had also been shown to cause systemic damage to distal organs (Takenaka et al. 2006).

In summary, NPs exposed to the respiratory system are retained by the lung reticuloendothelial system and the alveolar epithelium. Respiratory exposure also results in the absorption of NPs to the blood circulation in the lung alveoli. NPs less than 6 nm are readily distributed to the blood, while NPs more than 34 nm are distributed via lymphatic systems. NPs cause pulmonary inflammatory responses, fibrosis, and granuloma formation in the lungs. Systemic toxicity of NPs absorbed by the respiratory system affects immune responses and systemic microvascular function in animal models and the toxicity depends on the characteristics of the NPs. Inhaled TiO₂, ZnO, and Fe₂O₃ NPs are more toxic to lungs and liver due to their accumulation in these organs.

Nanotoxicity Assessment For in vivo assessment of the toxicity of NPs in the pulmonary system, accumulation of the NPs in different tissues of the pulmonary tract and changes in biochemical parameters, histology, and genotoxicity are studied by different methods (Armstead and Li 2016). The most common method to study pulmonary nanotoxicity is intratracheal instillation for long-term (Bermudez et al. 2002, 2004) and short-term (Ma-Hock et al. 2009) toxicity assessments, followed by the bronchoalveolar lavage (Paranjpe and Müller-Goymann 2014; Armstead and Li 2016) to collect the fluid for in vitro biochemical analysis, including lactate dehydrogenase assay. Lactate dehydrogenase index is useful to indicate pneumocyte injury (Yang et al. 2016). To study the inflammatory reactions occurring in the respiratory tract, the number of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid-recovered neutrophils (Zhang et al. 2002) is also counted to indicate the extent of the inflammation. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of the lung tissue of the hairless mice exposed to TiO₂ NPs showed slight alveolar thickness on obervation at 100 X under the microscope (Wu et al. 2009) (Fig. 7.2). In order to study the oxidative stress of pulmonary system, lipid peroxidation (LPO) and glutathione production assays are conducted in the bronchoalveolar fluid (Braakhuis et al. 2014). Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid can also be used to evaluate the pulmonary toxicity of NPs by studying other biochemical parameters like total protein and albumin, IL-1, TNF- α , fibronectin, or cystatin-C and nitric oxide synthase (Armstead et al. 2015; Armstead and Li 2016). To detect pulmonary accumulation of NPs, MRI was used to visualize antibody-conjugated superparamagnetic iron oxide NPs in a lipopolysaccharideinduced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mice model (Al Faraj et al. 2014).



Fig. 7.2 Histopathological evaluation of the organ of hairless mice after dermal exposure to TiO_2 nanoparticles of different sizes for 60 days. Samples were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and observed at 100×. The arrows point at pathological changes in various tissue sections. Skin sections from all 10 nm and Degussa P25 (21 nm) nanoparticle treatment groups showed excessive keratinization, thinner dermis, and an epidermis with wrinkles. In the liver, focal necrosis (25 nm, Degussa P25, 60 nm) and liquefaction necrosis (10 nm) are observed. In heart tissue sections, only small traces of white blood cells are observed in the 10 nm group. In the spleen and lung tissues, increased proliferation of local macrophages and slight alveolar thickness are observed, respectively. (Reproduced with permission from Wu et al. 2009, Toxicol Lett 191:1–8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2009.05.020)

7.4.2 Cardiovascular Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment

Nanoparticles absorbed in the blood are transported to distal organs (Jun et al. 2011; Corbalan et al. 2012). Cardiac uptake of NPs was revealed by de Barros et al. (2014) using a radioisotope [¹²⁵I] of iron oxide NPs. During the transportation of the NPs, the fluid dynamics of blood is altered (Buxton 2008); NPs affect the walls of the blood vessels (Decuzzi et al. 2005) and adhere to the walls of the blood vessels by nonspecific interactions like van der Waals forces and electrostatic and steric interactions (Zhang et al. 2014). This is related to the physical properties of NPs like size and shape (Liu et al. 2012; Shah et al. 2011), e.g., oblate-shaped NPs showed a higher adhesion probability to the walls of the blood vessels than spherical NPs of the same volume (Decuzzi and Ferrari 2006). In blood, the circulating NPs get coated by the different biomolecules like lipids, proteins, and sugars and form biomolecule corona (Demir et al. 2011; Wan et al. 2015). Protein corona is the most common biomolecule corona (Wan et al. 2015) and influences in vivo absorption, distribution, and metabolism of the NPs (Monopoli et al. 2012). Protein adsorption increases the stability of the NPs and also improves the biodistribution of the NPs and also increases the cellular accumulation of the NPs (Demir et al. 2011). Toxicity of the NPs to the circulatory system occurs in different ways. Intravenous injection of NPs will have certain impact on the cardiovascular system. After inhalation, different NPs in the lungs of animal models stimulated oxidative stress and release of proinflammatory mediators and coagulation factors in the blood leading to the cardiovascular lesions (Donaldson et al. 2001). In apoprotein E-deficient (ApoE $^{-/-}$) mouse model, NPs like carbon nanotubes, carbon black, and nickel hydroxide increased plaque formation in ascending aorta and thoracic and abdominal aorta and exacerbated the condition of atherosclerosis (Kang et al. 2011; Vesterdal et al. 2010; Sun et al. 2005). Exposure of carbon black NPs by the intratracheal route for 10 weeks, exacerbated atherosclerotic lesions in low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout (LDLR/KO) mice (Niwa et al. 2007). NPs in the circulation activate coagulation pathways and thrombosis (Zhang et al. 2014). For example, MWCNTs with different surface chemistries (pristine, carboxylated, and amidated) caused platelet activation and blood coagulation in mice (Burke et al. 2011). Silver NPs induced hemolysis, membrane injury, and lipid peroxidation in a size- and dose-dependent manner in fish (Chen et al. 2015). Carbon nanoparticles (Radomski et al. 2005) and injected silver nanoparticles (Jun et al. 2011) cause increased platelet aggregation and thus vascular thrombosis in a dose-dependent manner (Vermylen et al. 2005; Hoet et al. 2004). Silver NP exposure in rats elevated the level of serum total cholesterol, triacylglyceride, and low density lipoprotein cholesterol and produced increased inflammation and cellular degeneration in the heart (Sulaiman et al. 2015).

In summary, NPs absorbed through the different routes reach the circulatory system. NPs alter the fluid dynamics of blood, increase intracellular oxidative stress, and induce inflammation that leads to cardiovascular lesions, accumulation of cholesterol in the aorta and heart, penetration of WBCs in the heart and blood vessels, thrombosis, platelet aggregation, and cardiovascular malfunction in experimental animals. **Toxicity Assessment** For the assessment of NP toxicity, hematology and serum drew lots of attention. Phlebitis is the first and most common clinical observation. Typical symptoms of phlebitis can be seen through pathological sections (Laverman et al. 2001). Hemolysis and thrombosis are other common risks of the NP toxicity. Hemolysis is usually tested in vitro (Fornaguera et al. 2015), while the vascular thrombosis is studied in animal models like rats (Radomski et al. 2005). Generally, the toxicity of the NPs in circulation is evaluated by studying the variation in complete blood parameters, including erythrocytes, total leukocytes, hemoglobin, and hematocrit (Sarhan and Hussein 2014). Cardiac injury by the NPs is assessed by the analysis of serum markers, like troponin-T, creatine kinase-MB, and myoglobin (Baky et al. 2013). To assess the damage to the contraction function of the cardiac system, cardiac calcium concentration and DNA damage can also be analyzed (Yang et al. 2016). Oxidative stress biomarkers including lipid peroxidase, reactive oxygen species, and antioxidant enzymes like superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, and catalase are also studied by different workers to know the damage to the cardiac cells (Shafiee et al. 2010; Sulaiman et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2015). Monitoring of the cardiovascular parameters like arterial pressure and heart rate telemetrically can also be used for the energetics study involving nanocarriers (Vlasova et al. 2014).

7.4.3 Hepatic Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment

The liver is a multifunctional organ, and it plays main role in clearing xenobiotic chemicals from the body and aids in digestion, synthesis, and storage of glucose, fatty acids, and iron and endocrine function. Thus, toxicity to the liver will have multiple consequences. Since the liver is the major reticuloendothelial system, it is the major organ for the accumulation of NPs (Hirn et al. 2010). NPs taken up by the hepatocytes and Kupffer cells (Fig. 7.3) are cleared through the hepatic biliary system. Long-term accumulation of NPs in the liver results in the toxicity of the NPs. After the intravenous and intraperitoneal injection of SWCNTs, NPs were partially excreted in feces (Derfus et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2004). TiO₂, carbon nanotubes, and SiO₂ NPs induce hepatotoxicity, as indicated by unusual serum levels of aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase (Kim et al. 2010). Histopathological examination showed injuries to hepatocytes like necrosis, fibrosis, bile duct hyperplasia, congestive dilation of the central veins, and abnormal pigmentation (Hwang et al. 2012). Silver NPs caused necrosis and hemorrhage in the liver cells of rat (Wen et al. 2017). Poly(ethylene glycol)-coated gold NPs administered intravenously in mice accumulated in the liver and spleen cells of mice. The accumulated gold NPs caused inflammation and apoptosis in the liver (Cho et al. 2009).

Cytochrome P450 family of enzymes of the liver play major role in the metabolism of toxins and prevent the body from the injuries caused by these toxins. At low doses (IC_{50} less than 30 mg/ml), oral administration of silver NPs inhibited CYP2C



Fig. 7.3 Thin-section TEM images of mouse liver and spleen tissues at 24 h or 7 days after intravenous injection of PEG-coated gold NPs. The micrographs show entrapped PEG-coated gold NPs and their clustering and localization in intracellular organelles, such as lysosomes and smooth endoplasmic reticulum. Kupffer cells at (a) 24 h or (b, c) 7 days postinjection at scope magnifications of (a) 100,000×, (b) 50,000×, and (c) 100,000×. Spleen macrophages at (d) 24 h or (e, f) 7 days after injection at scope magnifications of (d) 50,000×, (e) 50,000×, and (f) 50,000×. (Reproduced with permission from Cho et al. 2009, Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 236:16–24, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2008.12.023)

and CYP2D activity in rat liver microsomes (Kulthong et al. 2012). TiO₂ NPs caused oxidative stress to the hepatocytes and increased lipid peroxidation and decreased superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) level in the liver of rats (Orazizadeh et al. 2014). Fe₃O₄ NPs administration in the rat at higher doses (150 and 300 μ g/g) caused elevation in liver enzymes (alanine transaminase, aspartate aminotransferase, and alkaline phosphatase) (Parivar et al. 2016). Intravenous injection of silver NPs also caused changes in the WBC count, platelet count, hemoglobin, and RBC count and the levels of liver function enzymes (Wen et al. 2017) in rats. These studies show that the toxicity of NPs becomes a matter of concern for individuals suffering from the liver diseases, obesity, and diabetes.

In summary, Kupffer cells and hepatocytes of the liver internalize NPs that reach to them through the circulatory system. NPs accumulate in the liver and cause hepatotoxicity and produce lesions like focal necrosis and liquefaction necrosis in the liver. NPs adversely affect the function of enzymes of cytochrome P450 family. The effects of NPs on the secretion of bile, synthesis of glucose and fatty acids, and protein metabolism are largely unknown. Thus, the persons suffering from liver diseases or with compromised liver are more vulnerable to the toxicity of the NPs.

Toxicity Assessment Hepatic nanotoxicity is usually assessed by the histopathological studies or changes in the blood parameters and liver function test. Immunohistochemistry and histopathological examination were used to detect liver fibrosis, fibrosis, bile duct hyperplasia, abnormal pigmentation, and inflammation

(Pan et al. 2012; Hwang et al. 2012). Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of tissue sections of the NPs also helps in understanding the focal necrosis and liquefaction necrosis in the hepatic tissue (Wu et al. 2009) (Fig. 7.2). Analysis of different enzymes related to the liver function evaluation, mainly including alanine transaminase, aspartate transaminase, alkaline phosphatase, superoxide dismutase (Yamagishi et al. 2013; Parivar et al. 2016; Wen et al. 2017), and c-glutamyl transferase (Cho et al. 2009), is also used to assess the hepatic toxicity of the NPs. If conditions allow, multiple automated hematology and chemistry analyzer are beneficial for the comprehensive analysis (Adamcakova-Dodd et al. 2014; Carneiro et al. 2013). Transmission electron microscopy of the tissue sections of the liver will also help in understanding the distribution and pathological lesions in the liver tissue. Distribution of poly(ethylene glycol)-coated gold NPs in the liver cells was demonstrated by using transmission electron microscopy (Fig. 7.3).

7.4.4 Renal Nanotoxicity and Its Assessment

The kidney is an important organ for filtration of the blood and eliminates the toxins from the body through urine. It also eliminates NPs through urine. Apart from the reticuloendothelial system, NPs also accumulate readily in the kidney. Renal glomerular basement membranes are fragile to toxic stimuli and thus prone to nanotoxicity. Larger NPs have higher tendency to accumulate in the kidney as smaller NPs are eliminated through urine (Jefferson et al. 2011). The glomerular basement membrane along with the podocyte foot processes apparently allows only NPs of approximately 10 nm size or molecular weight of 30-50 kDa (Zhang et al. 2014). However, there are few exceptions to this rule. SWCNTs can penetrate the physical barriers present in the kidney due to their needle-like shape and are excreted in urine. After intravenous injection of SWCNT NPs (0.8-1.2 nm in diameters and 100-500 nm in length) in mice, the NPs were detected in the bladders of mice within 1 min (Ruggiero et al. 2010). Some spherical nanoparticles much larger than the suggested "cutoff size" can also be excreted in the urine. Parenterally administered magnetic NPs (100 nm) were found in bladders of mice by magnetic resonance imaging, indicating that they are partially excreted in urine (Lacava et al. 2003).

Many studies have indicated that the kidney is relatively resistant or insensitive to the nanotoxicity. Intraperitoneal injection of naked gold NPs (12.5 nm) of different doses (40, 200, and 400 μ g/kg/per day) to mice for 8 days caused no changes in urea nitrogen or creatinine level in blood (Lasagna-Reeves et al. 2010). However there are other studies which have shown the toxic effects of the NPs on the kidney. Kidney is one of the primary targets of copper NPs. Oral gavage of copper NPs (23.5 nm) at a dose of 232 mg/kg caused dose-dependent pathological changes, grave injury to the kidneys, and changes in the blood urea nitrogen level in a gender-dependent manner in mice. Male mice showed more severe symptoms than female mice (Chen et al. 2006). Renal glomerular swelling and histopathological lesions in the kidneys of mice were induced by TiO₂ at 1944 or 2592 mg/kg induced. But

blood urea nitrogen levels remained unchanged even at these high doses of TiO_2 NPs (Chen et al. 2009). Intraperitoneal injections of TiO_2 NPs did not change serum creatinine levels, but serum urea and uric acid showed significant changes, and deposition of hyaline-like materials, inflammation, dilatation of Bowman's capsule, and degenerations were observed on histopathological examination, though the effects were temporary and kidney function returned to normal (Fartkhooni et al. 2016). Intravenous injection of silver NPs in rats resulted in the red-colored urine, increased blood urea nitrogen level, and diffused hyaline degeneration in renal tubular epithelial cells (Wen et al. 2017).

In summary, the kidney is less sensitive to the NP toxicity as compared to other organs. The kidney prevents the excretion of NPs having size more than 410 nm in urine because of the glomerular filtration barrier. But needle-shaped NPs may bypass this barrier and are excreted in urine. However silver, titanium, and copper NPs may cause renal toxicity and lesions in the kidney.

Toxicity Assessment Renal toxicity of the NPs can be best studied by the histopathology and serum blood urea nitrogen level estimation. Renal glomerular degeneration can be studied best by histopathological study. The different pathologic changes, like hyaline degeneration in renal tubular epithelial cells, inflammation, dilatation of Bowman's capsule, glomerulosclerosis, and collagenous tubulointerstitial matrix, can be confirmed by immunohistochemistry and histopathology by selecting different markers like by detecting fibrotic and mesenchymal markers transforming growth factor-\beta1, interferon-6, type I collagen, fibronectin, and vimentin (Coccini et al. 2015; Fartkhooni et al. 2016; Wen et al. 2017). Some special dyes, including periodic acid-Schiff, periodic acid-silver methenamine, and Masson, can be observed under light microscope (Yanardag et al. 2002). The pathological diagnosis can be also determined by electron microscopy. From a functional aspect, kidney indices (Gui et al. 2013) are commonly measured. Urine and blood parameter changes like protein in urine, hematuria, urine albumin, creatine ratio, serum or blood urea nitrogen, serum creatine, uric acid, etc. were also studied in vivo by different workers (Gandhi et al. 2013; Petrica et al. 2015; Fartkhooni et al. 2016) to evaluate the injury to glomerular filtration membrane.

7.4.5 Nanotoxicity to the Gastrointestinal System and Its Assessment

Oral administration of drugs or others is favorable over other methods due to convenience and compliance for patients. However, drug bioavailability through oral administration is limited because of physiological barriers of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Nanotechnology has improved the bioavailability of the drugs (Sonaje et al. 2011; Pridgen et al. 2014) by preventing biologicals from inactivation by acidic and alkaline environment and enzymatic degradation in the GIT.

The hazardous impact from oral uptake of NPs cannot be ignored because NPs are widely used in the industry as food additives and coloring agents, in food packaging, and even in other agents like toothpaste and drugs (Augustin and Sanguansri, 2009). Environmental pollution by NPs makes it possible that NPs frequently enter the digestive system through drinking water, street foods, and nanopharmaceutical products (Zhu et al. 2009). After the oral exposure/uptake of NPs, the stomach and intestines are the main organs in which NPs accumulate. NPs that are not absorbed quickly by the GIT are quickly eliminated in the feces (Loeschner et al. 2011). NP absorption in the gastrointestinal tract has been studied in different animal models. Orally administered NPs have been detected in distal organs though their absorption rate by the GIT is slow. Silver and TiO₂ NPs administered orally in rats and mice, respectively, accumulated in the wall of ileum as well as in the lung, liver, spleen, and brain (Loeschner et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2007). NP retention in the GIT may affect its structure and function. In chicken, acute oral exposure of polystyrene NPs to disrupted the iron transport in intestinal epithelial cells, while chronic exposure increased the surface area of intestinal villi available for iron absorption to compensate for the decreased iron transport caused by NP exposure (Mahler et al. 2012). NPs induce similar effects in lower invertebrate and vertebrate animal models. NPs of silver, CuO, TiO₂, and nickel accumulated in the digestive glands after oral exposure in Nereis diversicolor, Mytilus galloprovincialis, Porcellio scaber (Isopoda, Crustacea), Mytilus edulis, and zebrafish and induced oxidative stress and damaged digestive gland cell membranes (Valant et al. 2011; Tedesco et al. 2010; Gomes et al. 2012; Garci'a-Alonso et al. 2011; Croteau et al. 2011; Novak et al. 2012). In rats the orally administered silver NPs accumulated in the lamina propria of the small and large intestine and also in the upper villi of the ileum and protruding surface of the fold in the colon and disturbed the mucus composition (sialylated mucins increased) in the goblet cells in the intestines, similar to ulcerative colitis and small intestine carcinoma (Jeong et al. 2010). Oral administration of high dose (5 g/kg) of ZnO NPs stimulated acute responses like anorexia, vomiting, and diarrhea in mice, and after 2 weeks, slight inflammation in the stomach and intestine was also noticed (Wang et al. 2006). Oral exposure of CeO_2 NPs to the zebrafish resulted in decreased body weight, delayed vertebral calcification, and injury to epithelial lining of GIT (Lin et al. 2014). Further investigations are required to establish the significance of these findings to the pathophysiology of the gastrointestinal tract. Additionally, NPs may have impact on the gut microflora on oral administration in the animals.

In summary, NPs after the oral route exposure mainly interact with the stomach and intestines. NPs that are not absorbed by the GIT are quickly eliminated in feces. The absorbed NPs accumulate in the stomach and intestine of the GIT. NPs accumulated in the GIT damage intestinal structure and disturb its functions. Depending on physicochemical nature, NPs absorbed through the GIT may enter the circulation and reach distant organs. In the GIT, NP toxicity may result in increased gastric emptying and altered nutrient absorption. However, how NPs affect the immunological defense capability of the intestine and whether they affect the gut microbiome or not remain unknown. **Toxicity Assessment** For the toxicity assessment of NPs in GIT system, the initial step should be the histological assay to know about the GIT microvilli and epithelial atrophy (Lin et al. 2014; Han et al. 2012) under electron microscope. The number of mast cells in the stomach should be counted (Wang et al. 2013b) as indicator of the GIT epithelial damage. Additionally, functional tests of GIT should also be done to assess the damage to GIT. Evaluation of metal content and electrolyte could reflect the absorption function of GIT indirectly (Yang et al. 2016). Lin et al. (2014) developed a novel method to quantitatively monitor the digestion of intramolecular-quenched protein under fluorescence spectroscopy in zebrafish to show digestive malfunction and developmental abnormalities. Both serum proinflammatory (IL-1, IL-6, IL-12) and anti-inflammatory (IL-10, TGF- β) cytokines increased in the mice in response to silver NPs on oral administration (Park et al. 2010a). These may serve as marker of the NP toxicity on oral administration.

7.4.6 Nanotoxicity to the Nervous System and Its Assessment

Two physiological barriers, the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB), protect the human central nervous system (CNS) (Sharma and Johanson 2007) from the toxic effects of xenobiotics. These barriers also make the delivery of CNS therapeutics difficult. Owing to their small size, NPs are able to cross these barriers and reach the CNS making them potential therapeutic carriers for the treatment of CNS diseases (Bharali et al. 2005). At the same time, it raises concerns about their possible toxic effects on the CNS. There are at least three modes by which nanoparticles enter the CNS. First, NPs like CdSe/CdS/ZnS quantum rods coated with various biomolecules (Xu et al. 2008), iron oxide NPs coated with chitosan copolymer (Veiseh et al. 2009), and magnetic NPs coated with silica (Kim et al. 2005; Simko and Mattsson 2010) penetrate the BBB without damaging it. Second, NPs like silver, aluminum, and copper penetrate the BBB by disrupting its integrity. BBB disruptive effect of silver and copper NPs was most prominent in animals treated with aluminum NPs (Sharma et al. 2010). NPs also enhance stressinduced BBB disruption, inflammation, and damage to the cells of CNS. Silver and copper NPs (50-60 nm) aggravated the BBB breakdown induced by hyperthermia and produced severe cognitive dysfunction and brain pathology in rat and mice (Sharma et al. 2009a, b). Brain microvessel endothelial cells form the major component of the BBB. Therefore, CNS inflammation and functional abnormalities caused by NPs may be attributed to NP-induced damage to microvessel endothelial cells. Third, NPs like Fe_2O_3 and TiO_2 can bypass the BBB by translocating to the brain along the olfactory nerve pathway (Wang et al. 2008, 2009).

NPs that affect the CNS cause the behavioral changes in the animals as first symptom. In rats, intraperitoneal injection of silver, copper, or aluminum NPs resulted in mild to moderate deficits in mental and sensory-motor functions, as demonstrated by poor performance in tests like rotarod, grid walking, inclined plane angle, and footprint analysis. More malfunctions were observed in animals on administration of NPs by intravenous, intracarotid, or intracerebroventricular routes than intraperitoneal administration, indicating that NPs disrupt the BBB and induce brain damage (Sharma and Sharma 2007, 2010).

NPs may also cause changes in the level of dopamine, neurotransmitter involved in the regulation of movement and emotional responses in animals. In rats, SiO₂ NPs caused the depletion of dopamine and dopaminergic activity in the striatum (Wu et al. 2011). These outcomes are alarming because dopamine depletion in mice causes characteristic movement disorders of Parkinson's disease (Matsuura et al. 1997). Free ions released by some metal or metal oxide NPs also cause neurotoxicity. Exposure of CuO NPs to Cyprinus carpio, released free Cu²⁺ ions and inhibited the activity of cholinesterase, an important enzyme that hydrolyzes acetylcholine at cholinergic synapses (Zhao et al. 2011b). NPs can also induce morphological changes in the nerve cells of different parts of the brain and cause degeneration of nerve cells and may damage myelinated fibers too (Sharma 2007). Silver and copper NPs are more toxic than aluminum NPs, and the hippocampus is reported to be the most adversely affected by these NPs (Sharma et al. 2009a, b; Sharma and Sharma 2010). Intranasal instillation of TiO₂ NPs in the female mice for 30 days, caused morphological changes in neurons and decreased production of neurotransmitters in the sub-brain regions (Zhang et al. 2011). SiO₂ NPs administered by intranasal instillation to rats crossed the olfactory bulb to the striatum and induced oxidative damage and inflammatory responses (Wu et al. 2011). CNS toxicity by the NPs may occur by other mechanisms, like by destroying the phagocytic microglial cells and glioblastoma cells, but no such in vivo report is available.

In summary, NPs that enter the circulation can enter the CNS by crossing the BBB. In the brain, NPs induce inflammation and cell apoptosis and damage both neurons and glial cells. NPs alter the electrophysiological properties of neurons and release of neurotransmitters like dopamine from the neurons leading to behavioral disorders in animals.

Toxicity Assessment In the nervous system, NP toxicity assessments are focused on the drug delivery of solid lipid NPs (SLNs) in the brain. Radiography techniques like positron emission tomography and positron emission tomography/computed tomography system were used to assess the drug permeability across the BBB (Frigell et al. 2013). In rat, magnetic-labeled NPs were used as contrast agent for brain magnetic resonance imaging (Vera et al. 2014). After the injection of PEGylated silica NPs via the carotid artery, the transportation of NPs across the BBB was assayed by noninvasive in vivo imaging and ex vivo optical imaging (Liu et al. 2014). Silica NPs showed the potential role in the brain imaging. Confocal microscopy and electron microscopy studies were also used to assess the in vivo uptake of silica NPs by the brain cells (Liu et al. 2014; Tamba et al. 2018). Acute toxicity of the NPs to the brain has been visualized by brain histology examination (light microscopy and transmission electron microscopy) (Blasi et al. 2013) and fluorescence imaging (Vera et al. 2014).

Nervous injury is mainly assayed by changes in the behavioral and electrophysiological studies. In mature animals behavior observation is a gold standard for evaluating perturbation of the CNS (Zhang et al. 2014). Behavioral studies with clinical signs of toxicity, like convulsions, tremors, salivation, nausea, etc., have been performed in well-established animal models (Pradhan et al. 2014). By examining the expression of genes related to spatial learning ability and memory function associated with the hippocampus toxicity of the NPs in nervous system has been studied in mice (Win-Shwe et al. 2008). Electrophysiological investigation with electroencephalogram bands (Horváth and Oszlanczi 2011) of the hemispheres of the brain and tail nerves is a convenient and reliable method to assess the toxicity of the cadmium NPs in the rat. Mitochondrion is the main cell organelle that utilizes the oxygen and is the main producer of reactive oxygen species. The brain has high oxidative metabolism (Akopova et al. 2014), and thus any damage to the cells of the brain will lead to alteration in the membrane potential of mitochondria and reactive oxygen species which may serve as marker of the nerve injury in the brain.

7.4.7 Nanotoxicity to the Reproductive System and Its Assessment

Nanotoxicity to the reproductive system is described as the detrimental effects of NPs on any stage of reproduction and pregnancy in the reproductive cycle, which may affect the fertility of males or females and development of healthy embryos in child-bearing age of the females (Adler et al. 2010). The toxic effects that impact the developing offspring at any stage of life before birth are called as developmental toxicity (Rogers and Kavlock 1998). NPs also have adverse effects on reproductive organ function, germ cells, and fertility of the animals.

Nanotoxicity to Female Reproductive Organs

Different studies on the toxicity of the NPs in female reproductive organs tend to focus on the uterus and ovaries. Smaller-sized NPs are more likely to accumulate in the uterus than larger NPs. Similarly, the solubility of the NPs also plays a major role in nanotoxicity. Intravenous administration of gold NPs in rats resulted in two fold higher accumulation of 1.4 nm size NPs at the uterine wall in comparison to the NPs of 18 nm or 80 nm size, administered at the same concentration (Semmler-Behnke et al. 2014). Iron oxide magnetic NPs (IOMNPs) of 10 nm size also accumulate more readily in the uterus of mice than NPs of larger size (Yang et al. 2015). Information on the toxicity of these NPs in the uterus is lacking. Gold NPs did not cause toxicity on the reproductive system when administered by an intraperitoneal route to either male or female mice (Chen et al. 2013). NPs also accumulate in other female reproductive organs, but there is a lack of overall clarity on their potential toxicity. Short-term oral administration of titanium dioxide (TiO₂) nanoparticles in rats increased total Ti level in the ovaries without general toxicity (Tassinari et al.

2014). Similarly, the single oral gavage of a high concentration (5 g/kg body weight) of TiO₂ NPs to adult mice produced no evidence of abnormal pathological changes in the ovaries over a period of 2 weeks (Wang et al. 2007). In contrast, intragastric treatment of TiO₂ NPs over 90 days resulted in ovarian damage in adult mice and altered the expression of genes associated with estrogen and progesterone synthesis and metabolism (Gao et al. 2012). High-dosage TiO₂ NP treatment altered the expression of genes related to apoptosis, inflammatory and immune responses, oxidative stress, cell proliferation, and ion transport (Gao et al. 2012). Thus, changes in sex hormone levels and damage to ovaries may have contributed in the decreased fertility and pregnancy rate observed in this study, in response to long-term exposure to TiO₂ NPs (Gao et al. 2012). Administration of nickel NPs (90 nm size) at the dose rate of 15 or 45 mg/kg body weight in adult rats decreased ovarian weight, increased apoptosis and infiltration of eosinophils and inflammatory cells into ovaries, and induced vascular dilation and congestion (Kong et al. 2014). Silver NP administration in mouse increased the in vivo expression of proinflammatory cytokines along with the loss of germ cells (Han et al. 2016). Estrogen and progesterone are main female sex hormones. There are few in vivo studies that suggest that the NPs can alter the expression of genes involved in the synthesis and metabolism of these hormones as mentioned above (Gao et al. 2012). Exposure of CdO NPs through inhalation route in mice resulted in \sim 50% reduction 17β-estradiol level in serum, increased expression of estrogen receptors in the uterus, and decreased implantation rate of embryo (Blum et al. 2012).

Nanotoxicity to Male Reproductive Organs

NPs may also affect the male reproductive system as the small-sized NPs can easily cross the blood-testes barrier. The ability of NPs to cross the blood-testes barrier will determine their accumulation in the testes and thus their toxicity, if any. The impact of NPs may begin at the seminiferous tubules of the testes which reflects in the impaired spermatogenesis (Boisen et al. 2013). However, the impact of NPs on the male reproductive system varies from species to species (Gao et al. 2013). A review on NPs on spermatogenesis suggests precautionary measures in nanomedicines and understanding the passage of NPs through the blood-testes barrier (Yoshida et al. 2010). The toxicity of the NPs can begin from the fetal stage if the NPs are transmitted in utero or during pregnancy as described earlier. Exposing adult male mice to NPs can induce the changes in the seminiferous tubules and spermatogenesis directly. Intratracheal administration of carbon black NPs at high dosage (0.1 mg/mouse) for ten times every week resulted in histological changes in the seminiferous tubules and elevated serum testosterone levels (Bai et al. 2010). Some NPs are nontoxic to the testes; however, some NPs may induce toxic effects upon accumulation in the testes, with consequences for male fecundity (Brohi et al. 2017). Recent studies on AgNP ingestion by fruit flies suggested that AgNP accumulates in the testes and decreases the number of germline stem cells (Lafuente et al. 2016). Subchronic exposure of polyvinyl propylene (PVP)-coated Ag NPs

by oral administration altered the testicular histology and sperm morphology in rats (Hong et al. 2016). Exposure to TiO_2 NPs is also associated with reproductive toxicity in male animal models (Ritz et al. 2011).

Nanotoxicity to Embryo (Developmental Nanotoxicity)

Developmental toxicity of the NPs may be caused by transmission of NPs from the mother to the fetus through placenta. The small size and wide distribution of NPs to reproductive organs make them ideal candidates to breach the placental barrier. Rodent and zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryogenesis models have been used to explore the transplacental transmission of the NPs for in vivo studies. Such studies confirmed that NPs, like gold, TiO₂, SiO₂, carbon (C), and quantum dot NPs, can pass through the placental barrier (Takeda et al. 2009; Chu et al. 2010; Sumner et al. 2010; Refuerzo et al. 2011; Yamashita et al. 2011; Semmler-Behnke et al. 2014). Intravenous injection of Si and TiO₂ NPs in pregnant mice for 2 consecutive days resulted in 20–30% reduction in uterine weight, increased fetal resorption rate, and smaller fetuses at gestational days 16 and 17, resulting from placental dysfunction (Yamashita et al. 2011). Gold NPs of 5 nm size show higher transfer across placenta to the fetus, compared to 30 nm gold NPs after the intravenous injection, in Wistar rats (Yang et al. 2012).

In animal models, exposure to NPs during the prenatal period directly affects the brain and nervous system. Subcutaneous injection of TiO₂ NPs in pregnant mice resulted in the entry of NPs into the brain of the offspring, leading to blood vessel stenosis in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex (Takeda et al. 2009). A similar experiment in which TiO₂ (25–70 nm) was administered subcutaneously in the pregnant ICR mice, pups of the mice were having increased levels of dopamine (DA) and its metabolites in the prefrontal cortex and neostriatum (Takahashi et al. 2010). Intratracheal administration of diesel exhaust NPs to pregnant C57BL/6BomTac mice at 268 μ g/animal induced changes in innate behavioral patterns of female offspring (Jackson et al. 2011). These studies suggested that the fetal brain tissue is highly vulnerable to NP toxicity.

NP toxicity affects fetal development and compromises fertility (Tsuchiya et al. 1996) and may cause changes in embryogenesis and anomalies in the fetal reproductive system. Subcutaneous injection of TiO_2 NPs in pregnant mice resulted in the entry of NPs to Leydig cells, Sertoli cells, and spermatids of the testis of male off-spring aged 4 days and 6 weeks (Takeda et al. 2009). NP toxicity is also associated with abnormal fetal morphological development and organogenesis at different gestational periods (Tsuchiya et al. 1996). Oral administration of TiO_2 and platinum NPs in a high dose to pregnant dams causes significant increase in the fetal deformities and mortality (Philbrook et al. 2011; Park et al. 2010b). Oral administration of platinum (Pt) NPs in ICR mice, 14 days before and 4 days after mating, increased mortality of the pups, and decreased growth without deformities was noticed during the lactation period (Pietroiusti et al. 2011). Administration of SWCNTs to pregnant CD-1 mice, 5.5 days after implantation, also resulted in

skeletal defects, like divided cervical vertebra; reduced formation of new bones in the sternum, fingers, and toes; and phenotypic imperfections (Lim et al. 2011). Increased reactive oxygen species in both the placenta and fetus was associated with fetal malformations (Lim et al. 2011).

In summary, effects of NPs on reproduction have received much attention, while their effects on endocrine functions have been less well studied. NPs have the ability to accumulate in the reproductive organs of male and female. NPs cause less toxicity to the female reproductive organs as compared to male. In male NPs cross the blood–testes barrier and may disturb the spermatogenesis by producing lesions in the seminiferous tubules. NPs may alter the hormone levels of sex hormones in male and female. In pregnant animals, NPs less than 5 nm cross the placental barrier and may affect the development of the embryo. NP toxicity produces developmental effects in embryo, reduced body weight of the offspring and causes abnormalities in the reproductive organs of male.

Toxicity Assessment

NP toxicity assessment of the reproductive system is a relatively long-term study. Only a few researches (Hong et al. 2014; Kong et al. 2014; Di Bona et al. 2015; Roychoudhury et al. 2016; Hong et al. 2016) have focused on this kind of chronic study. However, it is an essential step for the clinical approval of NP products especially drugs. So far, various in vivo models have been developed to study nanotoxicity in different organs of this system (as reviewed by Saunders et al. 2015). Reproductive system is different for male and female and thus the strategies to assess the toxicity of NPs is different for female and male reproductive systems in some cases. Routinely for the assessment of nanotoxicity in male reproductive system, histopathology of the testes, sperm parameters, serum sexual hormones (e.g., testosterone), and the concentration of NPs in serum, spermatogonial stem cells, seminiferous tubules, and the testis are tested by electron microscopy (Li et al. 2016; Layali et al. 2016; Ren et al. 2016; Lafuente et al. 2016). For the assessment of nanotoxicity in the female reproductive system, sexual hormone (e.g., folliclestimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, progesterone, and estradiol) levels in the serum are measured (Saunders et al. 2015; Gao et al. 2012). Functions and histopathological analysis of major organs (ovary, uterus, and vaginal tract) are also evaluated to know the injury to the organ and concentration of the NPs accumulated (Semmler-Behnke et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015). Specifically, organs such as testes, ovaries, uterus, and placenta (of parental or offspring generation) with potential resorption of NPs are suggested to be inspected (Semmler-Behnke et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015). Electron microscopy can provide useful information about the histology and NP accumulation in the various tissues (Li et al. 2016; Ren et al. 2016; Lafuente et al., 2016). Reproductive index and offspring development need to be explored as some NPs penetrate the placenta-blood barrier and blood-testes barrier in rodents (Zhang et al. 2016; Yoshida et al. 2010; Brohi et al. 2017). Teratogenicity of NPs is of great concern on the fetus especially in case of prenatal exposure to the NPs (Zhang et al. 2016; Lim et al. 2011). Also, the survival, growth, development, skeletal deformities, and reproduction of the offspring need to be mainly assessed upon prenatal exposure (Di Bona et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2014; Takeda et al. 2009; Takahashi et al. 2010).

7.4.8 Nanotoxicity to the Hematopoietic System

In adult mammals, the production and maturation of most blood cells occur within the bone marrow, whereas the lymphoid cells mature and activate in the spleen, thymus, and lymph nodes. The liver, thymus, and spleen may resume hematopoietic functions under some pathological conditions, causing enlargement of these organs. NPs may accumulate in the spleen and liver and cause toxicity. Toxicity to hematopoietic system may impair the production of blood cells by damaging hematopoietic stem cells or immune functioning, leading to severe diseases like leucopenia, thrombocytopenia, neutropenia, and anemia. NPs can accumulate in the bone marrow, as the bone marrow is an organ of the reticuloendothelial system. Among the various cells of innate immunity, accumulation efficiency of lipid NPs in monocytes (Peer et al. 2007) and macrophages (Sou et al. 2010) is higher than in lymphocytes, neutrophils, and dendritic cells. Many bone marrow-targeting drug delivery strategies using NPs with various surface chemistries have been developed (Sou et al. 2010; Leuschner et al. 2011).

Some NPs cause genotoxicity in the cells of the bone marrow. In rats, the oral administration of alumina NPs (30/40 nm) at doses of 1000 and 2000 mg/kg for 30 or 48 h resulted in the chromosomal aberrations in the bone marrow cells, indicating genotoxicity of alumina NPs to bone marrow (Balasubramanyam et al. 2009). Intraperitoneal injection of functionalized and pristine MWCNTs for 5 consecutive days to Swiss Webster mice resulted in a dose-dependent micronucleus formation and chromosomal aberrations in bone marrow cells and DNA damage in leukocytes (Patlolla et al. 2010). The adverse effects of NPs on hematopoiesis also depend on the route of administration. The inhalation of magnetic NPs (but not by intraperitoneal route) for 4 weeks in mice resulted in a decrease in the mean corpuscular volume and mean corpuscular hemoglobin content (indicators of impaired erythrocyte function) and decreased production of platelets and induced extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen, indicative of pathological conditions such as anemia (Kwon et al. 2009).

In summary, NPs entering the circulation through different routes may accumulate in the bone marrow, one of the primary organs of the reticuloendothelial system. NPs accumulated in the bone marrow causes genotoxicity to bone marrow cells. NP toxicity changes blood parameters, e.g., compromise erythrocyte functions, reduce the platelet count, and increase white blood cells count. Damage caused by the NPs to the bone marrow cells may induce extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen. **Toxicity Assessment** The toxicity of NPs to hematopoietic system can be assessed by histological changes in major immune organs (e.g., spleen) which are preferably observed by H&E staining (Wang et al. 2016) (Fig. 7.2). TiO₂ NP exposure in the hairless mouse increased proliferation of the local macrophages in the spleen which was easily observed by the H&E staining of the tissue sections of the organ (Wu et al. 2009). Changes in the blood parameters like mean corpuscular volume, mean corpuscular hemoglobin, and number of WBCs and platelets also serve as indicator of nanotoxicity (Kwon et al. 2009). Histopathology of the bone marrow to find changes in the number of micronuclei formation may help in assessing nanotoxicity (Balasubramanyam et al. 2009; Patlolla et al. 2010). Transmission electron microscopy of spleen and liver can be used to study the toxicity of NPs to the hematopoietic system (Cho et al. 2009).

7.4.9 Conclusions

During the last few decades, advances in the field of nanotechnology has led to increasing number of applications of NPs in different areas like biomedicine, industry, drug delivery systems, cosmetics, food industry, and engineering and as contrast agent of imaging. Due to their wide applications, the possible toxicity of NPs cannot be neglected. Nanoparticles tend to be absorbed with different efficiencies from different exposure routes and get distributed to various organs where they may be partially degraded, excreted, or stably accumulated. Accumulation of NPs in different organ systems may cause damage either to the particular organ system or to the other organ systems. NP toxicity results in different types of lesions in different organs. In pulmonary toxicity NPs may cause inflammatory responses, granuloma formation, and fibrotic injury in the lung, or alteration in the fluid dynamics of the blood. In bone marrow toxicity, NPs may compromise erythrocyte functions, increase the number of WBCs, reduce the number of platelets, and induce extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen. NPs exposure to pregnant dams decreases the birth weight of offspring and causes damage to the reproductive systems of their male pups. NPs cause reversible damages to the male reproductive organs with minimal effect on the fertility, while accumulation of NPs in the mouse ovary disturbs the normal balance of sex hormones. In the digestive system, some NPs are quickly eliminated in feces, while remaining NPs may cause diarrhea, alter nutrient absorption, damage intestinal structure, and enter the circulation. In kidneys, the glomerular filtration barrier prevents large NPs (410 nm) from being excreted in urine, and smaller hydrophilic nanoparticles and some needle-like nanoparticles may bypass this barrier and enter the urine. The kidney is less sensitive to nanotoxicity, but copper NPs are known to cause renal toxicity. NPs may enter the CNS by damaging, penetrating, or bypassing the BBB. NPs may damage neurons and glial cells and affect nerve cell functions such as neurotransmitter release. The liver is one of the major organs where the NPs accumulate. Kupffer cells and hepatocytes retain NPs that alter the function of liver enzymes such as those in cytochrome P450 family. NPs have been shown to cause chromosomal aberrations and DNA damage in bone marrow cells. NPs can have significant effects across different systems and organs due to the close association and extensive intra- and intersystem communications between them. NPs can penetrate various biological barriers like dermal barrier, BBB, blood–testes barrier, and placental barrier.

Therefore, considerable attention should be paid to the biosafety assessments of NPs. The toxicity of the NPs to the different organ systems is assessed according to the properties of the NP and the type of organ system or tissue involved. Ultrastructural examination by electron microscopy, histopathological examination by staining tissue sections, analysis of serum parameters, enzyme function tests, analysis of different biomarkers, etc. also help in the nanotoxicity assessment. High-tech instruments like magnetic resonance imaging, positron emission tomography, and computed tomography can be used to assess the injury caused by NPs to some tissues.

References

- Adamcakova-Dodd A, Stebounova LV, Kim JS, Vorrink SU, Ault AP, O'Shaughnessy PT, Grassian VH, Thorne PS (2014) Toxicity assessment of zinc oxide nanoparticles using sub-acute and sub-chronic murine inhalation models. Part Fibre Toxicol 11:1
- Adler S, Basketter D, Creton S, Pelkonen O, Van Benthem J, Zuang V et al (2010) Alternative (non-animal) methods for cosmetics testing: current status and future prospects—2010. Arch Toxicol 85:367–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-011-0693-2
- Akopova O, Kolchinskaya L, Nosar V, Bouryi V, Mankovska I, Sagach V (2014) Effect of potential-dependent potassium uptake on production of reactive oxygen species in rat brain mitochondria. Biochemistry (Mosc) 79:44–53
- Al Faraj A, Shaik AS, Afzal S, Al Sayed B, Halwani R (2014) MR imaging and targeting of a specific alveolar macrophage subpopulation in LPS-induced COPD animal model using antibodyconjugated magnetic nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine 9:1491–1503. https://doi.org/10.2147/ IJN.S59394
- Alexis F, Pridgen E, Molnar LK, Farokhzad OC (2008) Factors affecting the clearance and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. Mol Pharm 5:505–515. https://doi.org/10.1021/ mp800051m
- Annangi B, Rubio L, Alaraby M, Bach J, Marcos R, Hernandez A (2016) Acute 827 and long-term in vitro effects of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Arch Toxicol 90(9):2201–2213
- Armstead AL, Li B (2016) Nanotoxicity: emerging concerns regarding nanomaterial safety and occupational hard metal (WC-co) nanoparticle exposure. Int J Nanomedicine 11:6421–6433. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S121238
- Armstead AL, Minarchick VC, Porter DW, Nurkiewicz TR, Li B (2015) Acute inflammatory responses of nanoparticles in an intra-tracheal instillation rat model. PLoS One 10(3):e0118778. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118778
- Arora S, Jain J, Rajwade JM, Paknikar KM (2008) Cellular responses induced by silver nanoparticles: *In vitro* studies. Toxicol Lett 179:93–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2008.04.009
- Augustin MA, Sanguansri P (2009) Nanostructured materials in the food industry. Advances in food nutrition research. Ch 5 ed. Steve LT, Academic Press, 58:183–213. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1043-4526(09)58005-9

- Bahadar H, Maqbool F, Niaz K, Abdollahi M (2016) Toxicity of nanoparticles and an overview of current experimental models. Iranian Biomed J 20(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.7508/ ibj.2016.01.001
- Bahamonde J, Brenseke B, Chan MY, Kent RD, Vikesland PJ, Prater MR (2018) Gold nanoparticle toxicity in mice and rats: species differences. Toxicol Pathol 46(4):431–443. https://doi. org/10.1177/0192623318770608
- Bai Y, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Mu Q, Zhang W, Butch ER, Snyder SE, Yan B (2010) Repeated carbon nanotube administrations in male mice cause reversible testis damage without affecting fertility. Nat Nanotechnol 5:683–689. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2010.153
- Bai N, Kido T, Suzuki H, Yang G, Kavanagh TJ, Kaufman JD, Rosenfeld ME, van Breemen C, Eeden SF (2011) Changes in atherosclerotic plaques induced by inhalation of diesel exhaust. Atherosclerosis 216:299–306
- Bakand S, Hayes A, Dechsakulthorn F (2012) Nanoparticles: a review of particle toxicology following inhalation exposure. Inhal Toxicol 24(2):125–135. https://doi.org/10.3109/0895837 8.2010.642021
- Baky N, Faddah L, Al-Rasheed N, Fatani A (2013) Induction of inflammation DNA damage and apoptosis in rat heart after oral exposure to zinc oxide nanoparticles and the cardioprotective role of α -lipoic acid and vitamin E. Drug Res 63:228–236. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1334923
- Balasubramanyam A, Sailaja N, Mahboob M, Rahman MF, Misra S, Hussain SM, Grover P (2009) Evaluation of genotoxic effects of oral exposure to aluminum oxide nanomaterials in rat bone marrow. Mutat Res Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen:676, 41–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mrgentox.2009.03.004
- Balogh L, Nigavekar SS, Nair BM, Lesniak W, Zhang C, Sung LY, Kariapper MS, El-Jawahri A, Llanes M, Bolton B (2007) Significant effect of size on the *in vivo* biodistribution of gold composite nanodevices in mouse tumor models. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 3:281–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2007.09.001
- Ban M, Langonne I, Huguet N, Goutet M (2012) Effect of submicron and nano-iron oxide particles on pulmonary immunity in mice. Toxicol Lett:210, 267–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. toxlet.2012.02.004
- Bar-Ilan O, Albrecht RM, Fako VE, Furgeson DY (2009) Toxicity assessments of multisized gold and silver nanoparticles in zebrafish embryos. Small 5:1897–1910
- Baweja L, Gurbani D, Shanker R, Pandey AK, Subramanian V, Dhawan A (2011) C60-fullerene binds with the ATP binding domain of human DNA topoiosmerase II alpha. J Biomed Nanotechnol 7(1):177–178
- Bermudez E, Mangum JB, Asgharian B, Wong BA, Reverdy EE, Janszen DB, Hext PM, Warheit DB, Everitt JI (2002) Long-term pulmonary responses of three laboratory rodent species to subchronic inhalation of pigmentary titanium dioxide particles. Toxicol Sci 70:86–97
- Bermudez E, Mangum JB, Wong BA, Asgharian B, Hext PM, Warheit DB, Everitt JI (2004) Pulmonary responses of mice rats and hamsters to subchronic inhalation of ultrafine titanium dioxide particles. Toxicol Sci 77:347–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfh019
- Bharali DJ, Klejbor I, Stachowiak EK, Dutta P, Roy I, Kaur N, Bergey EJ, Prasad PN, Stachowiak MK (2005) Organically modified silica nanoparticles: a nonviral vector for *in vivo* gene delivery and expression in the brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:11539–11544. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0504926102
- Blasi P, Schoubben A, Traina G, Manfroni G, Barberini L, Alberti PF, Cirotto C, Ricci M (2013) Lipid nanoparticles for brain targeting III. Long-term stability and *in vivo* toxicity. Int J Pharm 454:316–323
- Blum JL, Xiong JQ, Hoffman C, Zelikoff JT (2012) Cadmium associated with inhaled cadmium oxide nanoparticles impacts fetal and neonatal development and growth. Toxicol Sci 126:478–486. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs008
- Boisen AMZ, Shipley T, Jackson P, Wallin H, Nellemann C, Vogel U et al (2013) In utero exposure to nanosized carbon black (Printex90) does not induce tandem repeat mutations in female murine germ cells. Reprod Toxicol 41:45–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.06.068

- Bourdon JA, Halappanavar S, Saber AT, Jacobsen NR, Williams A, Wallin H, Vogel U, Yauk CL (2012) Hepatic and pulmonary toxicogenomic profiles in mice intratracheally instilled with carbon black nanoparticles reveal pulmonary inflammation, acute phase response, and alterations in lipid homeostasis. Toxicol Sci 127:474–484. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs119
- Braakhuis HM, Gosens I, Krystek P, Boere JA, Cassee FR, Fokkens PH, Post JA, van Loveren H, Park MV (2014) Particle size dependent deposition and pulmonary inflammation after short-term inhalation of silver nanoparticles. Part Fibre Toxicol 11:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12989-014-0049-1
- Brohi RD, Wang L, Talpur HS, Wu D, Khan FA, Bhattarai D, Rehman ZU, Farmanullah F, Huo LJ (2017) Toxicity of nanoparticles on the reproductive system in animal models: a review. Front Pharmacol 8:606. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00606
- Burke AR, Singh RN, Carroll DL, Owen JD, Kock ND, D'Agostino R Jr, Torti FM, Torti SV (2011) Determinants of the thrombogenic potential of multiwalled carbon nanotubes. Biomaterials 32:5970–5978
- Buxton GA (2008) The fate of a polymer nanoparticle subject to flow-induced shear stresses. Europhys Lett 84:26006. https://doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/84/26006
- Carll AP, Hazari MS, Perez CM, Krantz QT, King CJ, Winsett DW, Costa DL, Farraj AK (2012) Whole and particle-free diesel exhausts differentially affect cardiac electrophysiology, blood pressure, and autonomic balance in heart failure-prone rats. Toxicol Sci 128:490–499
- Carneiro MLB, Peixoto RC, Joanitti GA, Oliveira RG, Telles LA, Miranda-Vilela AL, Bocca AL, Vianna LM, da Silva IC, de Souza AR (2013) Antitumor effect and toxicity of free rhodium (II) citrate and rhodium (II) citrate-loaded maghemite nanoparticles in mice bearing breast cancer. J Nanobiotechnology 11:4
- Chen Z, Meng H, Xing G, Chen C, Zhao Y et al (2006) Acute toxicological effects of copper nanoparticles in vivo. Toxicol Lett 163:109–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2005.10.003
- Chen Z, Meng H, Xing G, Yuan H, Zhao F, Liu R, Chang X, Gao X, Wang T, Jia G, Ye C, Chai Z, Zhao Y (2008) Age-related differences in pulmonary and cardiovascular responses to sio2 nanoparticle inhalation: nanotoxicity has susceptible population. Environ Sci Technol 42:8985–8992
- Chen J, Dong X, Zhao J, Tang G (2009) In vivo acute toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles to mice after intraperitoneal injection. J Appl Toxicol 29:330–337. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jat.1414
- Chen J, Wang H, Long W, Shen X, Wu D, Song SS, Sun YM, Liu PX, Fan S, Fan F, Zhang XD (2013) Sex differences in the toxicity of polyethylene glycol-coated gold nanoparticles in mice. Int J Nanomedicine 8:2409–2419. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S46376
- Chen LQ, Fang L, Ling J, Ding CZ, Kang B, Huang CZ (2015) Nanotoxicity of silver nanoparticles to red blood cells: size dependent adsorption, uptake, and hemolytic activity. Chem Res Toxicol 28(3):501–509. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx500479m
- Cheng J, Cheng SH (2012) Influence of carbon nanotube length on toxicity to zebrafish embryos. Int J Nanomedicine 7:3731–3739
- Cho WS, Cho M, Jeong J, Choi M, Cho HY, Han BS, Kim SH, Kim HO, Lim YT, Chung BH (2009) Acute toxicity and pharmacokinetics of 13 nm-sized PEG-coated gold nanoparticles. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 236:16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2008.12.023
- Choi JE, Kim S, Ahn JH, Youn P, Kang JS, Park K, Yi J, Ryu DY (2010a) Induction of oxidative stress and apoptosis by silver nanoparticles in the liver of adult zebrafish. Aquat Toxicol 100:151–159
- Choi HS, Ashitate Y, Lee JH, Kim SH, Matsui A, Insin N, Bawendi MG, Semmler-Behnke M, Frangioni JV, Tsuda A (2010b) Rapid translocation of nanoparticles from the lung airspaces to the body. Nat Biotechnol 28:1300–1303. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1696
- Chou CC, Hsiao HY, Hong QS, Chen CH, Peng YW, Chen HW, Yang PC (2008) Single-walled carbon nanotubes can induce pulmonary injury in mouse model. Nano Lett 8:437–445. https:// doi.org/10.1021/nl0723634

- Chu M, Wu Q, Yang H, Yuan R, Hou S, Yang Y, Zou Y, Xu S, Xu K, Ji A, Sheng L (2010) Transfer of quantum dots from pregnant mice to pups across the placental barrier. Small 6:670–678. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200902049
- Coccini T, Barni S, Manzo L, Roda E (2013) Apoptosis induction and histological changes in rat kidney following Cd-doped silica nanoparticle exposure: evidence of persisting effects. Toxicol Mech Methods 23:566–575. https://doi.org/10.3109/15376516.2013.803270
- Coccini T, Barni S, Mustarelli P, Locatelli C, Roda E (2015) One-month persistence of inflammation and alteration of fibrotic marker and cytoskeletal proteins in rat kidney after Cd-doped silica nanoparticle instillation. Toxicol Lett 232:449–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. toxlet.2014.11.021
- Corbalan JJ, Medina C, Jacoby A, Malinski T, Radomski MW (2012) Amorphous silica nanoparticles aggregate human platelets: potential implications for vascular homeostasis. Nanomedicine 7:631–639
- Croteau MN, Misra SK, Luoma SN, E. Valsami Jones E (2011) Silver bioaccumulation dynamics in a freshwater invertebrate after aqueous and dietary exposures to nanosized and ionic Ag. Environ Sci Technol 45:6600–6607. doi:https://doi.org/10.1021/es200880c
- de Barros AL, Chacko AM, Mikitsh JL, Al Zaki A, Salavati A, Saboury B, Tsourkas A, Alavi A (2014) Assessment of global cardiac uptake of radiolabeled iron oxide nanoparticles in apolipoprotein-E-deficient mice: implications for imaging cardiovascular inflammation. Mol Imaging Biol 16(3):330–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-013-0709-9
- De Jong WHD, Hagens WI, Krystek P, Burger MC, Sips AJAM, Geertsma RE (2008) Particle size-dependent organ distribution of gold nanoparticles after intravenous administration. Biomaterials 29:1912–1919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.12.037
- Decuzzi P, Ferrari M (2006) The adhesive strength of non-spherical particles mediated by specific interactions. Biomaterials 27:5307–5314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.05.024
- Decuzzi P, Lee S, Bhushan B, Ferrari M (2005) A theoretical model for the margination of particles within blood vessels. Ann Biomed Eng 33:179–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10439-005-8976-5
- DeLorme MP, Muro Y, Arai T, Banas DA, Frame SR, Reed K, Warheit DB (2012) Ninety-day inhalation toxicity study with a vapour grown carbon nanofiber in rats. Toxicol Sci 128:449–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs172
- Demir E, Vales G, Kaya B, Creus A, Marcos R (2011) Genotoxic analysis of silver nanoparticles in Drosophila. Nanotoxicology 5:417–424. https://doi.org/10.3109/17435390.2010.529176
- Derfus AM, Chan WCW, Bhatia SN (2004) Probing the cytotoxicity of semiconductor quantum dots. Nano Lett 4:11–18. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl0347334
- Di Bona KR, Xu Y, Gray M, Fair D, Hayles H, Milad L, Montes A, Sherwood J, Bao Y, Rasco JF (2015) Short-and long-term effects of prenatal exposure to iron oxide nanoparticles: influence of surface charge and dose on developmental and reproductive toxicity. Int J Mol Sci 16:30251–30268
- Donaldson K, Stone V, Seaton A, MacNee W (2001) Ambient particle inhalation and the cardiovascular system: potential mechanisms. Environ Health Perspect 109:523–527
- Elder A, Gelein R, Silva V, Feikert T, Opanashuk L, Carter J, Potter R, Maynard A, Ito Y, Finkelstein J, Oberdörster G (2006) Translocation of inhaled ultrafine manganese oxide particles to the central nervous system. Environ Health Perspect 114(8):1172–1178
- Fang Q, Shi X, Zhang L, Wang Q, Wang X, Guo Y, Zhou B (2015) Effect of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on the bioavailability metabolism and toxicity of pentachlorophenol in zebrafish larvae. J Hazard Mater 283:897–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014
- Fartkhooni FM, Noori A, Mohammadi A (2016) Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles toxicity on the kidney of male rats. Int J Life Sci 10(1):65–69. https://doi.org/10.3126/ijls.v10i1.14513
- Feliu N, Docter D, Heine M, del Pino P, Ashraf S, Kolosnjaj-Tabi J, Macchiarini P, Nielsen P, Alloyeau D, Gazeau F, Stauber RH, Parak WJ (2016) *In vivo* degeneration and the fate of inorganic nanoparticles. Chem Soc Rev 45:2440. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5cs00699f

- Fischer HC, Chan WC (2007) Nanotoxicity: the growing need for *in vivo* study. Curr Opin Biotechnol 18:565–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2007.11.008
- Fornaguera C, Calderó G, Mitjans M, Vinardell MP, Solans C, Vauthier C (2015) Interactions of PLGA nanoparticles with blood components: protein adsorption coagulation activation of the complement system and hemolysis studies. Nanoscale 7:6045–6058. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c5nr00733j
- Frigell J, García I, Gómez-Vallejo V, Llop J, Penadés S (2013) ⁶⁸Ga-labeled gold glyconanoparticles for exploring blood-brain barrier permeability: preparation biodistribution studies and improved brain uptake via neuropeptide conjugation. J Am Chem Soc 136:449–457. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1021/ja411096m
- Gandhi S, Srinivasan B, Akarte AS (2013) An experimental assessment of toxic potential of nanoparticle preparation of heavy metals in streptozotocin induced diabetes. Exp Toxicol Pathol 65:1127–1135
- Gao X, Cui Y, Levenson RM, Chung LWK, Nie S (2004) In vivo cancer targeting and imaging with semiconductor quantum dots. Nat Biotechnol 22:969–976. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt994
- Gao G, Ze Y, Li B, Zhao X, Zhang T, Sheng L et al (2012) Ovarian dysfunction and gene-expressed characteristics of female mice caused by long term exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles. J Hazard Mater 243:19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.08.049
- Gao G, Ze Y, Zhao X, Sang X, Zheng L, Ze X et al (2013) Titanium dioxide nanoparticle-induced testicular damage, spermatogenesis suppression, and gene expression alterations in male mice. J Hazard Mater 258:133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.04.046
- Garcia-Alonso J, Khan FR, Misra SK, Turmaine M, Smith BD, Rainbow PS, Luoma SN, Valsami Jones E (2011) Cellular internalization of silver nanoparticles in gut epithelia of the estuarine polychaete nereis diversicolor. Environ Sci Technol 45:4630–4636. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es2005122
- Ge C, Meng L, Xu L, Bai R, Du J, Zhang L, Li Y, Chang Y, Zhao Y, Chen C (2012) Acute pulmonary and moderate cardiovascular responses of spontaneously hypertensive rats after exposure to single-wall carbon nanotubes. Nanotoxicology 6:526–542
- Goel R, Shah N, Visaria R, Paciotti GF, Bischof JC (2009) Biodistribution of TNF-α-coated gold nanoparticles in an *in vivo* model system. Nanomedicine 4:401–410
- Gomes T, Pereira CG, Cardoso C, Pinheiro JP, Cancio I, Bebianno MJ (2012) Accumulation and toxicity of copper oxide nanoparticles in the digestive gland of Mytilus galloprovincialis. Aquat Toxicol 118–119:72–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.03.017
- Gonzalez-Moragas L, Yu SM, Benseny-Cases N, Stürzenbaum S, Roig A, Laromaine A (2017) Toxicogenomics of iron oxide nanoparticles in the nematode *C. elegans* Nanotoxicology 11:5 647–657 doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/17435390.2017.1342011
- Gross E, Toste FD, Somorjai GA (2015) Polymer-encapsulated metallic nanoparticles as a bridge between homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis. Catal Lett 145:126–138. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10562-014-1436-9
- Gui S, Li B, Zhao X, Sheng L, Hong J, Yu X, Sang X, Sun Q, Ze Y, Wang L (2013) Renal injury and Nrf2 modulation in mouse kidney following chronic exposure to TiO2 nanoparticles. J Agric Food Chem 61:8959–8968. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf402387e
- Guo M, Xu X, Yan X, Wang S, Gao S, Zhu S (2013) *In vivo* biodistribution and synergistic toxicity of silica nanoparticles and cadmium chloride in mice. J Hazard Mater 260:780–788
- Han XY, Du WL, Huang QC, Xu ZR, Wang YZ (2012) Changes in small intestinal morphology and digestive enzyme activity with oral administration of copper-loaded chitosan nanoparticles in rats. Biol Trace Elem Res 145:355–360
- Han JW, Jeong JK, Gurunathan S, Choi YJ, Das J, Kwon DN et al (2016) Male-and female-derived somatic and germ cell-specific toxicity of silver nanoparticles in mouse. Nanotoxicology 10:361–373. https://doi.org/10.3109/17435390.2015.1073396
- Heckel K, Kiefmann R, Dorger M, Stoeckelhuber M, Goetz AE (2004) Colloidal gold particles as a new *in vivo* marker of early lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Phys 287:L867–L878

- Hirn S, Semmler-Behnke M, Schleh C, Wenk A, Lipka J, Schaffler M, Takenaka S, Moller W, Schmid G, Simon U (2010) Particle size-dependent and surface charge-dependent biodistribution of gold nanoparticles after intravenous administration. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 77:407–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.12.029
- Hoet P, Bruske-Hohlfeld I, Salata O (2004) Nanoparticles-known and unknown health risks. J Nanobiotechnol 2:12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-3155-2-12
- Hong JS, Kim S, Lee SH, Jo E, Lee B, Yoon J, Eom IC, Kim HM, Kim P, Choi K (2014) Combined repeated-dose toxicity study of silver nanoparticles with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test. Nanotoxicology 8:349–362. https://doi.org/10.3109/17435390.2013.780108
- Hong F, Zhao X, Chen M, Zhou Y, Ze Y, Wang L et al (2016) TiO₂ nanoparticles-induced apoptosis of primary cultured sertoli cells of mice. J Biomed Mater Res 104:124–135. https://doi. org/10.1002/jbm.a.35548
- Horváth E, Oszlánczi G, Máté Z, Szabó A, Kozma G, Sápi A, Kónya Z, Paulik E, Nagymajtényi L, Papp A (2011) Nervous system effects of dissolved and nanoparticulate cadmium in rats in subacute exposure. J Appl Toxicol 31:471–476
- Hoshino A, Hanaki K, Suzuki K, Yamamoto K (2004) Applications of T-lymphoma labeled with fluorescent quantum dots to cell tracing markers in mouse body. Biochem Biophys Res Commun:314, 46–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.11.185
- Hsieh CM, Huang YW, Sheu MT, Ho HO (2014) Biodistribution profiling of the chemical modified hyaluronic acid derivatives used for oral delivery system. Int J Biol Macromol 64:45–52
- Huang X, Zhang F, Sun X, Choi K-Y, Niu G, Zhang G, Guo J, Lee S, Chen X (2014) The genotypedependent influence of functionalized multiwalled carbon nanotubes on fetal development. Biomaterials 35:856–865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.10.027
- Hwang JH, Kim SJ, Kim YH, Noh JR, Gang GT, Chung BH, Song NW, Lee CH (2012) Susceptibility to gold nanoparticle-induced hepatotoxicity is enhanced in a mouse model of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Toxicology 294:27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2012.01.013
- Jackson P, Vogel U, Wallin H, Hougaard KS (2011) Prenatal exposure to carbon black (Printex 90): effects on sexual development and neurofunction. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 109:434–437. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-7843.2011.00745.x
- Jani P, Halbert GW, Langridge J, Florence AT (1990) Nanoparticle uptake by the rat gastrointestinal mucosa: quantitation and particle size dependency. J Pharm Pharmacol 42:821–826. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.1990.tb07033.x
- Janib SM, Moses AS, MacKay JA (2010) Imaging and drug delivery using theranostic nanoparticles. Adv Drug Deliver Rev 62:1052–1063
- Jefferson JA, Nelson PJ, Najafian B, Shankland SJ (2011) Podocyte disorders: Core curriculum 2011. Am J Kidney Dis 58:666–677. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.05.032
- Jeong GN, Jo UB, Ryu HY, Kim YS, Song KS, Yu IJ (2010) Histochemical study of intestinal mucins after administration of silver nanoparticles in Sprague–Dawley rats. Arch Toxicol 84:63–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-009-0469-0
- Jia X, Wang S, Zhou L, Sun L (2017) The potential liver, brain, and embryo toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on mice. Nanoscale Res Lett 12(1):478. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s11671-017-2242-2
- Johnston HJ, Hutchison GR, Christensen FM, Peters S, Hankin S, Aschberger K, Stone V (2010) A critical review of the biological mechanisms underlying the in vivo and in vitro toxicity of carbon nanotubes: the contribution of physico-chemical characteristics. Nanotoxicology 4:207–246
- Jun E, Lim K, Kim K, Bae O, Noh J, Chung K, Chung J (2011) Silver nanoparticles enhance thrombus formation through increased platelet aggregation and procoagulant activity. Nanotoxicology 5:157–167
- Kang GS, Gillespie PA, Gunnison A, Moreira AL, Tchou-Wong K, Chen L (2011) Long-term inhalation exposure to nickel nanoparticles exacerbated atherosclerosis in a susceptible mouse model. Environ Health Perspect 119:176–181. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002508

- Kim SY, Lee YM, Baik DJ, Kang JS (2003) Toxic characteristics of methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)/ poly(ε-caprolactone) nanospheres, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies in the normal mice. Biomaterials 24:55–63
- Kim S, Lim SYT, Soltesz EG, De Grand AM, Lee J, Nakayama A, Parker JA, Mihaljevic T, Laurence RG, Dor DM, Cohn LH, Bawendi MG, Frangioni JV (2004) Near-infrared fluorescent type II quantum dots for sentinel lymph node mapping. Nat Biotechnol 22:93–97. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nbt920
- Kim JS, Yoon TJ, Kim BG, Park SJ, Kim HW, Lee KH, Park SB, Lee IK, Cho MH (2005) Toxicity and tissue distribution of magnetic nanoparticles in mice. Toxicol Sci 89:338–347
- Kim YS, Song MY, Park JD, Song KS, Ryu HR, Chung YH, Chang HK, Lee JH, Oh KH, Kelman BJ, Hwang IK, Yu IJ (2010) Subchronic oral toxicity of silver nanoparticles. Part Fibre Toxicol 7:20
- Kim KT, Zaikova T, Hutchison JE, Tanguay RL (2013) Gold nanoparticles disrupt zebrafish eye development and pigmentation. Toxicol Sci 133:275–288
- Kong L, Tang M, Zhang T, Wang D, Hu K, Lu W, Wei C, Liang G, Pu Y (2014) Nickel nanoparticles exposure and reproductive toxicity in healthy adult rats. Int J Mol Sci 15:21253–21269. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms151121253
- Koyama Y, Matsui Y, Shimada Y, Yoneda M (2015) Biodistribution of gold nanoparticles in mice and investigation of their possible translocation by nerve uptake around the alveolus. J Toxicol Sci Off J Jpn Soc Toxicol 40:243–249. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.40.243
- Kreyling WG, Hirn S, Schleh C (2010) Nanoparticles in the lung. Nat Biotechnol 28:1275–1276. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1735
- Kulthong K, Maniratanachote R, Kobayashi Y, Fukami T, Yokoi T (2012) Effects of silver nanoparticles on rat hepatic cytochrome P450 enzyme activity. Xenobiotica 42:854–862
- Kumari M, Rajak S, Singh SP, Kumari SI, Kumar PU, Murty USN, Mahboob M, Grover P, Rahman MF (2012) Repeated oral dose toxicity of iron oxide nanoparticles: biochemical and histopathological alterations in different tissues of rats. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 12(11):2149–2159. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2012.5796
- Kwon J, Kim D, Minai-Tehrani A, Hwang S, Chang S, Lee E, Xu C, Lim HT, Kim J, Yoon B, An G, Lee K, Lee J, Cho M (2009) Inhaled fluorescent magnetic nanoparticles induced extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen of mice. J Occup Health 51:423–431. https://doi.org/10.1539/ joh.L8159
- Kwon JY, Koedrith P, Seo YR (2014) Current investigations into the genotoxicity of zinc oxide and silica nanoparticles in mammalian models in vitro and in vivo: carcinogenic/genotoxic potential, relevant mechanisms and biomarkers, artifacts, and limitations. Int J Nanomedicine 9(Suppl 2):271–286
- Lacava LM, Garcia VAP, Kuckelhaus S, Azevedo RB, Lacava ZGM et al (2003) Magnetic resonance and light microscopy investigation of a dextran coated magnetic fluid. J Appl Phys 93:7563–7565
- Lafuente D, Garcia T, Blanco J, Sánchez DJ, Sirvent JJ, Domingo JL et al (2016) Effects of oral exposure to silver nanoparticles on the sperm of rats. Reprod Toxicol 60:133–139. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.02.007
- Lasagna-Reeves C, Gonzalez-Romero D, Barria M, Olmedo I, Clos A, Ramanujam VS, Urayama A, Vergara L, Kogan M, Soto C (2010) Bioaccumulation and toxicity of gold nanoparticles after repeated administration in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 393:649–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.02.046
- Laverman P, Dams ETM, Storm G, Hafmans TG, Croes HJ, Oyen WJ, Corstens FH, Boerman OC (2001) Microscopic localization of PEG liposomes in a rat model of focal infection. J Control Release 75:347–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(01)00402-3
- Layali E, Tahmasbpour E, Jorsaraei S (2016) The effects of silver nanoparticles on oxidative stress and sperm parameters quality in male rats. J Babol Univ Med Sci 18:48–55
- Leite-Silva VR, Le Lamer M, Sanchez WY, Liu DC, Sanchez WH, Morrow I, Martin D, Silva HD, Prow TW, Grice JE (2013) The effect of formulation on the penetration of coated and

uncoated zinc oxide nanoparticles into the viable epidermis of human skin *in vivo*. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 84:297–308

- Leonardi A, Bucolo C, Drago F, Salomone S, Pignatello R (2015) Cationic solid lipid nanoparticles enhance ocular hypotensive effect of melatonin in rabbit. Int J Pharm 478:180–186
- Leuschner F, Dutta P, Gorbatov R, Novobrantseva TI, Donahoe JS, Courties G, Lee KM, Kim JI, Markmann JF, Marinelli B, Panizzi P, Lee WW, Iwamoto Y, Milstein S, Epstein-Barash H, Cantley W, Wong J, Cortez-Retamozo V, Newton A, Love K, Libby P, Pittet MJ, Swirski FK, Koteliansky V, Langer R, Weissleder R, Anderson DG, Nahrendorf M (2011) Therapeutic siRNA silencing in inflammatory monocytes in mice. Nat Biotechnol 29:1005–1010. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1989
- Li M, Al-Jamal KT, Kostarelos K, Reineke J (2010) Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of nanoparticles. ACS Nano 4:6303–6317. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn1018818
- Li K, Du S, Van GS, Chen Y (2014) Atomic force microscopy study of the interaction of DNA and nanoparticles. Adv Exp Med Biol 811:93–109
- Li J, Ying GG, Jones KC, Martin FL (2015a) Real-world carbon nanoparticle exposures induce brain and gonadal alterations in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) as determined by biospectroscopy techniques. Analyst 140:2687–2695
- Li X, Yeh YC, Giri K, Mout R, Landis RF, Prakash Y, Rotello VM (2015b) Control of nanoparticle penetration into biofilms through surface design. Chem Comm 51:282–285
- Li X, Yang X, Yuwen L, Yang W, Weng L, Teng Z, Wang L (2016) Evaluation of toxic effects of CdTe quantum dots on the reproductive system in adult male mice. Biomaterials 96:24–32
- Lim JH, Kim SH, Shin IS, Park NH, Moon C, Kang SS et al (2011) Maternal exposure to multiwall carbon nanotubes does not induce embryo-fetal developmental toxicity in rats. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol 92:69–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdrb.20283
- Lin S, Wang X, Ji Z, Chang CH, Dong Y, Meng H, Liao YP, Wang M, Song TB, Kohan S (2014) Aspect ratio plays a role in the hazard potential of CeO₂ nanoparticles in mouse lung and zebrafish gastrointestinal tract. ACS Nano 8:4450–4464. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn5012754
- Lindberg HK, Falck GCM, Catalan J, Koivisto AJ, Suhonen S, Jarventaus H, Rossi EM, Nykasenoja H, Peltonen Y, Moreno C, Alenius H, Tuomi T, Savolainen KM, Norppa H (2012) Genotoxicity of inhaled nanosized TiO2 in mice. Mutat Res Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen 745:58–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2011.10.011
- Liu Z, Davis C, Cai W, He L, Chen X, Dai H (2008) Circulation and long-term fate of functionalized, biocompatible single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice probed by Raman spectroscopy. PNAS 105(5):1410–1415. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0707654105
- Liu Y, Shah S, Tan J (2012) Computational modeling of nanoparticle targeted drug delivery. Rev Nanosci Nanotechnol 1:66–83. https://doi.org/10.1166/rnn.2012.1014
- Liu D, Lin B, Shao W, Zhu Z, Ji T, Yang C (2014) *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies on the transport of PEGylated silica nanoparticles across the blood-brain barrier. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:2131–2136
- Loeschner K, Hadrup N, Qvortrup K, Larsen A, Gao X, Vogel U, Mortensen A, Lam H, Larsen E (2011) Distribution of silver in rats following 28 days of repeated oral exposure to silver nanoparticles or silver acetate. Part Fibre Toxicol 8:18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-8-18
- Loeschner K, Brabrand MS, Sloth JJ, Larsen EH (2014) Use of alkaline or enzymatic sample pretreatment prior to characterization of gold nanoparticles in animal tissue by single-particle ICPMS. Anal Bioanal Chem 406(16):3845–3851. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-013-7431-y
- Longmire M, Choyke PL, Kobayashi H (2008) Clearance properties of nano-sized particles and molecules as imaging agents: considerations and caveats. Nanomedicine 3:703–717. https:// doi.org/10.2217/17435889.3.5.703
- Lopez-Chaves C, Soto-Alvaredo J, Montes-Bayon M, Bettmer J, Llopis J, Sanchez-Gonzalez C (2018) Gold nanoparticles: distribution, bioaccumulation and toxicity. In Vitro In Vivo Stud 14(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2017.08.011

- Ma X, Wu Y, Jin S, Tian Y, Zhang X, Zhao Y, Yu L, Liang XJ (2011) Gold nanoparticles induce autophagosome accumulation through size-dependent nanoparticle uptake and lysosome impairment. ACS Nano 5:8629–8639. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn202155y
- Magdolenova Z, Collins A, Kumar A, Dhawan A, Stone V, Dusinska M (2014) Mechanisms of genotoxicity. A review of in vitro and in vivo studies with engineered nanoparticles. Nanotoxicology 8(3):233–278
- Mahler GJ, Esch MB, Tako E, Southard TL, Archer SD, Glahn RP, Shuler ML (2012) Oral exposure to polystyrene nanoparticles affects iron absorption. Nat Nanotechnol 7:264–271. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2012.3
- Ma-Hock L, Burkhardt S, Strauss V, Gamer AO, Wiench K, van Ravenzwaay B, Landsiedel R (2009) Development of a short-term inhalation test in the rat using nano-titanium dioxide as a model substance. Inhal Toxicol 21:102–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/08958370802361057
- Manke A, Wang L, Rojanasakul Y (2013) Mechanisms of nanoparticle-induced 825 oxidative stress and toxicity. Biomed Res Int 2013:942–916
- Massey M, Wu M, Conroy EM, Algar WR (2015) Mind your P's and Q's: the coming of age of semiconducting polymer dots and semiconductor quantum dots in biological applications. Curr Opin Biotechnol 34:30–40
- Matsuura K, Kabuto H, Makino H, Ogawa N (1997) Pole test is a useful method for evaluating the mouse movement disorder caused by striatal dopamine depletion. J Neurosci Methods 73(1):45–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0270(96)02211-X
- Meng H, Chen Z, Xing G, Yuan H, Chen C, Zhao F, Zhang C, Zhao Y (2007) Ultrahigh reactivity provokes nanotoxicity: explanation of oral toxicity of nano-copper particles. Toxicol Lett 175:102–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2007.09.015
- Mitchell LA, Gao J, Wal RV, Gigliotti A, Burchiel SW, McDonald JD (2007) Pulmonary and systemic immune response to inhaled multiwalled carbon nanotubes. Toxicol Sci 100:203–214
- Mitchell LA, Lauer FT, Burchiel SW, McDonald JD (2009) Mechanisms for how inhaled multiwalled carbon nanotubes suppress systemic immune function in mice. Nat Nanotechnol 4:451–456
- Monopoli MP, Aberg C, Salvati A, Dawson KA (2012) Biomolecular coronas provide the biological identity of nanosized materials. Nat Nanotechnol 7:779–786. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nnano.2012.207
- Morimoto Y, Horie M, Kobayashi N, Shinohara N, Shimada M (2012) Inhalation toxicity assessment of carbon-based nanoparticles. Acc Chem Res 46:770–781. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ar200311b
- Mosqueira VCF, Legrand P, Morgat J-L, Vert M, Mysiakine E, Gref R, Devissaguet JP, Barratt G (2001) Biodistribution of long-circulating PEG-grafted nanocapsules in mice: effects of PEG chain length and density. Pharm Res 18:1411–1419
- Muller J, Huaux F, Moreau N, Misson P, Heilier J et al (2005) Respiratory toxicity of multiwall carbon nanotubes. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 207:221–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. taap.2005.01.008
- Murphy FA, Poland CA, Duffin R, Al-Jamal KT, Ali-Boucetta H, Nunes A, Byrne F, Prina-Mello A, Volkov Y, Li S, Mather SJ, Bianco A, Prato M, MacNee W, Wallace WA, Kostarelos K, Donaldson K (2011) Length-dependent retention of carbon nanotubes in the pleural space of mice initiates sustained inflammation and progressive fibrosis on the parietal pleura. Am J Pathol 178:2587–2600
- Naz F, Koul V, Srivastava S, Gupta YK, Dinda AK (2016) Biokinetics of ultrafine gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) relating to redistribution and urinary excretion: a long-term *in vivo* study. J Drug Target 24:720–729. https://doi.org/10.3109/1061186X.2016.1144758
- Nel AE, Madler L, Velegol D, Xia T, Hoek EMV, Somasundaran P, Klaessig F, Castranova V, Thompson M (2009) Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. Nat Mater 8:543–557. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2442
- Niwa Y, Hiura Y, Murayama T, Yokode M, Iwai N (2007) Nano-sized carbon black exposure exacerbates atherosclerosis in LDL-receptor knockout mice. Circ J 71:1157–1161

- Nosrati N, Hassanpour-Ezzati M, Mousavi ZS, Rahmanifar MS, Rezagholiyan S (2014) Comparison of MnO₂ nanoparticles and microparticles distribution in CNS and muscle and effect on acute pain threshold in rats. Nanomed J 1(3):180–190
- Novak S, Drobne D, Valant J, Pelicon P (2012) Internalization of consumed TiO₂ nanoparticles by a model invertebrate organism. J Nanomater:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/658752
- Nurkiewicz T, Porter D, Hubbs A, Cumpston J, Chen B, Frazer D, Castranova V (2008) Nanoparticle inhalation augments particle-dependent systemic microvascular dysfunction. Part Fibre Toxicol 5:1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-5-1
- Oberdorster G, Oberdorster E, Oberdorster J (2005) Nanotoxicology: an emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. Environ Health Perspect 2005(113):823–839
- Orazizadeh M, Fakhredini F, Mansouri E, Khorsandi L (2014) Effect of glycyrrhizic acid on titanium dioxide nanoparticles-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. Chem Biol Interact 220:214–221
- Pan TL, Wang PW, Al-Suwayeh SA, Huang YJ, Fang JY (2012) Toxicological effects of cationic nanobubbles on the liver and kidneys: biomarkers for predicting the risk. Food Chem Toxicol 50:3892–3901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2012.07.005
- Paranjpe M, Müller-Goymann CC (2014) Nanoparticle-mediated pulmonary drug delivery: a review. Int J Mol Sci 15:5852–5873. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms15045852
- Parivar K, Fard FM, Bayat M, Alavian SM, Motavaf M (2016) Evaluation of iron oxide nanoparticles toxicity on liver cells of BALB/c rats. Iran Red Crescent Med J 18(1):e28939. https://doi. org/10.5812/ircmj.28939
- Park EJ, Bae E et al (2010a) Repeated-dose toxicity and inflammatory responses in mice by oral administration of silver nanoparticles. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 30:162–168. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.etap.2010.05.004
- Park EJ, Kim H, Kim Y, Park K (2010b) Effects of platinum nanoparticles on the postnatal development of mouse pups by maternal exposure. Environ Health Toxicol 25:279–286
- Park EJ, Choi K, Park K (2011) Induction of inflammatory responses and gene expression by intratracheal instillation of silver nanoparticles in mice. Arch Pharm Res 34:299–307
- Park YI, Lee KT, Suh YD, Hyeon T (2015) Upconverting nanoparticles: a versatile platform for wide-field two-photon microscopy and multi-modal *in vivo* imaging. Chem Soc Rev 44:1302–1317
- Patlolla AK, Hussain SM, Schlager JJ, Patlolla S, Tchounwou PB (2010) Comparative study of the clastogenicity of functionalized and nonfunctionalized multiwalled carbon nanotubes in bone marrow cells of Swiss-Webster mice. Environ Toxicol 25:608–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tox.20621
- Paulsson M, Krag C, Frederiksen T, Brandbyge M (2009) Conductance of alkanedithiol singlemolecule junctions: a molecular dynamics study. Nano Lett 9:117. https://doi.org/10.1021/ nl802643h
- Peer D, Karp JM, Hong S, Farokhzad OC, Margalit R, Langer R (2007) Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy. Nat Nanotechnol 2:751–760. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nnano.2007.387
- Petrica L, Vlad A, Gluhovschi G, Zamfir A, Popescu C, Gadalean F, Dumitrascu V, Vlad D, Popescu R, Velciov S (2015) Glycated peptides are associated with proximal tubule dysfunction in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Clin Exp Med 8:2516
- Philbrook NA, Winn LM, Nabiul-Afrooz ARM, Saleh NB, Walker VK (2011) The effect of TiO2 and Ag nanoparticles on reproduction and development of Drosophila melanogaster and CD-1 mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 257(3):429–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2011.09.027
- Pietroiusti A, Massimiani M, Fenoglio I, Colonna M, Valentini F, Palleschi G et al (2011) Low doses of pristine and oxidized single-wall carbon nanotubes affect mammalian embryonic development. ACS Nano 5:4624–4633. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn200372g
- Pietroiusti A, Stockmann-Juvala H, Lucaroni F, Savolainen K (2018) Nanomaterial exposure, toxicity, and impact on human health. WIREs Nanomed Nanobiotechnol e1513. https://doi. org/10.1002/wnan.1513
- Pradhan S, Patra P, Mitra S, Dey KK, Jain S, Sarkar S, Roy S, Palit P, Goswami A (2014) Manganese nanoparticles: impact on nonmodulated plant as a potent enhancer in nitrogen metabolism and toxicity study both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. J Agr Food Chem 62:8777–8785
- Pridgen EM, Alexis F, Farokhzad OC (2014) Polymeric nanoparticle technologies for oral drug delivery. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 12:1605–1610
- Qiu Y, Liu Y, Wang L, Xu L, Bai R, Ji Y, Wu X, Zhao Y, Li Y, Chen C (2010) Surface chemistry and aspect ratio mediated cellular uptake of au nanorods. Biomaterials 31:7606–7619. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.06.051
- Qu Y, Li W, Zhou Y, Liu X, Zhang L, Wang L, Li Y, Iida A, Tang Z, Zhao Y, Chai Z, Chen C (2011) Full assessment of fate and physiological behavior of quantum dots utilizing Caenorhabditis elegans as a model organism. Nano Lett 11:3174–3183
- Radomski A, Jurasz P, Alonso-Escolano D, Drews M, Morandi M, Malinski T, Radomski MW (2005) Nanoparticle-induced platelet aggregation and vascular thrombosis. Br J Pharmacol 146:882–893
- Refuerzo JS, Godin B, Bishop K, Srinivasan S, Shah SK, Amra S et al (2011) Size of the nanovectors determines the transplacental passage in pregnancy: study in rats. Am J Obstet Gynecol 204:546–5e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2011.02.033
- Ren L, Zhang J, Zou Y, Zhang L, Wei J, Shi Z, Li Y, Guo C, Sun Z, Zhou X (2016) Silica nanoparticles induce reversible damage of spermatogenic cells via RIPK1 signal pathways in C57 mice. Int J Nanomedicine 11:2251–2264. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S102268
- Ritz C, Ruminski W, Hougaard KS, Wallin H, Vogel U, Yauk CL (2011) Germline mutation rates in mice following in utero exposure to diesel exhaust particles by maternal inhalation. Mutat Res Fund Mol Mech Mut 712:55–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.04.007
- Roberts JR, Chapman RS, Tirumala VR et al (2011) Toxicological evaluation of lung responses after intratracheal exposure to non-dispersed titanium dioxide nanorods. J Toxicol Environ Health 74:790–810
- Rogers JM, Kavlock RJ (1998) Developmental toxicology. Reprod Dev ToxicoL, ed Korach KS. Marcel Dekker Inc, New York, pp 47–71
- Roychoudhury S, Nath S, Massanyi P, Stawarz R, Kacaniova M, Kolesarova A (2016) Copperinduced changes in reproductive functions: *in vivo* and *in vitro* effects. Physiol Res 65:11
- Ruggiero A, Villa CH, Bander E, Rey DA, Bergkvist M, Batt CA, Manova-Todorova K, Deen WM, Scheinberg DA, McDevitt MR (2010) Paradoxical glomerular filtration of carbon nanotubes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:12369–12374. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0913667107
- Sadauskas E, Wallin H, Stoltenberg M, Vogel U, Doering P, Larsen A, Danscher G (2007) Kupffer cells are central in the removal of nanoparticles from the organism. Part Fibre Toxicol 4:10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-4-10
- Sarhan OMM, Hussein RM (2014) Effects of intraperitoneally injected silver nanoparticles on histological structures and blood parameters in the albino rat. Int J Nanomedicine 9:1505–1517. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S56729
- Saunders M, Hutchison G, Carreira SC (2015) Reproductive toxicity of nanomaterials. Therapy 40:44
- Sayes CM, Marchione AA, Reed KL, Warheit DB (2007) Comparative pulmonary toxicity assessments of C60 water suspensions in rats: few differences in fullerene toxicity *in vivo* in contrast to *in vitro* profiles. Nano Lett 7:2399–2406
- Schmid O, Stoeger T (2016) Surface area is the biologically most effective dose metric for acute nanoparticle toxicity in the lung. J Aerosol Sci 99:133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaerosci.2015.12.006
- Semete B, Booysen L, Lemmer Y, Kalombo L, Katata L, Verschoor J, Swai HS (2010) In vivo evaluation of the biodistribution and safety of PLGA nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. Nanomedicine 6:662–671
- Semmler-Behnke M, Lipka J, Wenk A, Hirn S, Schäffler M, Tian F et al (2014) Size dependent translocation and fetal accumulation of gold nanoparticles from maternal blood in the rat. Part Fibre Toxicol 11:33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-014-0033-9

- Shafiee H, Mohammadi H, Rezayat SM, Hosseini A, Baeeri M, Hassani S, Mohammadirad A, Bayrami Z, Abdollahi M (2010) Prevention of malathion-induced depletion of cardiac cells mitochondrial energy and free radical damage by a magnetic magnesium-carrying nanoparticle. Toxicol Mech Method 20:538–543
- Shah S, Liu Y, Hu W, Gao J (2011) Modeling particle shape-dependent dynamics in nanomedicine. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 11:919–928. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2011.3536
- Sharma HS, Johanson CE (2007) Blood–cerebrospinal fluid barrier in hyperthermia. Prog Brain Res 162:459–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)62023-2
- Sharma HS, Sharma A (2007) Nanoparticles aggravate heat stress induced cognitive deficits, blood–brain barrier disruption, edema formation and brain pathology. Prog Brain Res 162:245–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)62013-X
- Sharma HS, Sharma A (2010) Breakdown of the blood-brain barrier in stress alters cognitive dysfunction and induces brain pathology: new perspectives for neuroprotective strategies. Brain Protec Schizophrenia, Mood and Cognitive Disorders ed. Ritsner MS. Springer Netherlands, pp 243–303
- Sharma HS, Ali S, Hussain S, Schlager J, Sharma A (2009a) Influence of engineered nanoparticles from metals on the blood-brain barrier permeability, cerebral blood flow, brain edema and neurotoxicity an experimental study in the rat and mice using biochemical and morphological approaches. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 9:5055–5072. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2009.GR09
- Sharma HS, Ali S, Tian Z, Hussain S, Schlager J, Sjoquist P, Sharma A, Muresanu DF (2009b) Chronic treatment with nanoparticles exacerbate hyperthermia induced blood-brain barrier breakdown, cognitive dysfunction and brain pathology in the rat. Neuroprotective effects of nanowired-antioxidant compound h-290/51. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 9:5073–5090. https://doi. org/10.1166/jnn.2009.GR10
- Sharma HS, Hussain S, Schlager J, Ali S, Sharma A (2010) Influence of nanoparticles on blood-brain barrier permeability and brain edema formation in rats. Acta Neurochir Suppl 106:359–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-211-98811-4_65
- Sheng L, Wang L, Su M, Zhao X, Hu R, Yu X, Hong J, Liu D, Xu B, Zhu Y et al (2014) Mechanism of TiO₂ nanoparticle-induced neurotoxicity in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Environ Toxicol 31:163–175
- Shvedova AA, Kisin ER, Mercer R, Murray AR, Johnson VJ, Potapovich AI, Tyurina YY, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, Schwegler-Berry D, Hubbs AF, Antonini J, Evans DE, Ku B, Ramsey D, Maynard A, Kagan VE, Castranova V, Baron P (2005) Unusual inflammatory and fibrogenic pulmonary responses to single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Phys 289:L698–L708. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00084.2005
- Simko M, Mattsson MO (2010) Risks from accidental exposures to engineered nanoparticles and neurological health effects: a critical review. Part Fibre Toxicol 7:42. https://doi. org/10.1186/1743-8977-7-42
- Singh SP, Kumari M, Kumari SI, Rahman MF, Mahboob M, Grover P (2013) Toxicity assessment of manganese oxide micro and nanoparticles in Wistar rats after 28 days of repeated oral exposure. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2887
- Soenen SJ, Parak WJ, Rejman J, Manshian B (2015) (Intra)cellular stability of inorganic nanoparticles: effects on cytotoxicity, particle functionality, and biomedical applications. Chem Rev 115:2109–2135
- Sonaje K, Lin KJ, Tseng MT, Wey SP, Su FY, Chuang EY, Hsu CW, Chen CT, Sung HW (2011) Effects of chitosan-nanoparticle-mediated tight junction opening on the oral absorption of endotoxins. Biomaterials 32:8712–8721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.07.086
- Sood A, Salih S, Roh D, Lora LL, Parry M, Hardiman B, Keehan R, Grummer R, Winterhager E, Gokhale PJ, Andrews PW, Abbott C, Forbes K, Westwood M, Aplin JD, Ingham E, Papageorgiou I, Berry M, Liu J, Dick AD, Garland RJ, Williams N, Singh R, Simon AK, Lewis M, Ham J, Roger L, Baird DM, Crompton LA, Caldwell MA, Swalwell H, Machin MB, Castejon GL, Randall A, Lin H, Suleiman MS, Evans WH, Newson R, Case CP (2011) Signalling of DNA

damage and cytokines across cell barriers exposed to nanoparticles depends on barrier thickness. Nat Nanotechnol 6:824–833. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2011.188

- Sou K, Goins B, Leland MM, Tsuchida E, Phillips WT (2010) Bone marrow-targeted liposomal carriers: a feasibility study in nonhuman primates. Nanomedicine 5:41–49. https://doi. org/10.2217/nnm.09.78
- Sulaiman FA, Adeyemi OS, Akanji MA, Oloyede HOB et al (2015) Biochemical and morphological alterations caused by silver nanoparticles in Wistar rats. J Acute Medicine 5(4):96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacme.2015.09.005
- Sumner SC, Fennell TR, Snyder RW, Taylor GF, Lewin AH (2010) Distribution of carbon-14 labeled C60 ([¹⁴C] C60) in the pregnant and in the lactating dam and the effect of C60 exposure on the biochemical profile of urine. J Appl Toxicol 30:354–360. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jat.1503
- Sun Q, Wang A, Jin X, Natanzon A, Duquaine D, Brook RD, Aguinaldo JGS, Fayad ZA, Fuster V, Lippmann M, Chen LC, Rajagopalan S (2005) Long-term air pollution exposure and acceleration of atherosclerosis and vascular inflammation in an animal model. J Am Med Assoc 294:3003–3010
- Sykes EA, Dai Q, Tsoi KM, Hwang DM, Chan WCW (2014) Nanoparticle exposure in animals can be visualized in the skin and analysed via skin biopsy. Nat Commun 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms4796
- Takahashi Y, Mizuo K, Shinkai Y, Oshio S, Takeda K (2010) Prenatal exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles increases dopamine levels in the prefrontal cortex and neostriatum of mice. J Toxicol Sci 35:749–756. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.35.749
- Takeda K, Suzuki KI, Ishihara A, Kubo-Irie M, Fujimoto R, Tabata M et al (2009) Nanoparticles transferred from pregnant mice to their offspring can damage the genital and cranial nerve systems. J Health Sci 55:95–102. https://doi.org/10.1248/jhs.55.95
- Takenaka S, Karg E, Kreyling WG, Lentner B, Moller W, Behnke-Semmler M, Jennen L, Walch A, Michalke B, Schramel P, Heyder J, Schulz H (2006) Distribution pattern of inhaled ultrafine gold particles in the rat lung. Inhal Toxicol 18:733–740. https://doi.org/10.1080/08958370600748281
- Tamba BI, Streinu V, Foltea G, Neagu AN, Dodi G, Zlei M, Tijani A, Stefanescu C (2018) Tailored surface silica nanoparticles for blood-brain barrier penetration: preparation and *in vivo* investigation. Arab J Chem. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2018.03.019
- Tassinari R, Cubadda F, Moracci G, Aureli F, D'Amato M, Valeri M et al (2014) Oral, short-term exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles in Sprague-Dawley rat: focus on reproductive and endocrine systems and spleen. Nanotoxicology 8:654–662. https://doi.org/10.3109/1743539 0.2013.822114
- Tedesco S, Doyle H, Blasco J, Redmond G, Sheehan D (2010) Oxidative stress and toxicity of gold nanoparticles in Mytilus edulis. Aquat Toxicol 100:178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquatox.2010.03.001
- Tsuchiya T, Oguri I, Yamakoshi YN, Miyata N (1996) Novel harmful effects of [60] fullerene on mouse embryos *in vitro* and *in vivo*. FEBS Lett 393:139–145. https://doi. org/10.1016/0014-5793(96)00812-5
- Valant J, Drobne D, Novak S (2011) Effect of ingested titanium dioxide nanoparticles on the digestive gland cell membrane of terrestrial isopods. Chemosphere 87:19–25. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.11.047
- van der Zande M, Vandebriel RJ, Doren EV, Kramer E et al (2012) Distribution, elimination, and toxicity of silver nanoparticles and silver ions in rats after 28-day oral exposure. ACS Nano 6(8):7427–7442. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn302649p
- Vandhana S, Nithya M, Deepak A (2015) Review on nanotoxic effects in living organisms (mice and zebra fish). Int J Innov Res Sci Technol 1:134–137
- Veiseh O, Sun C, Fang C, Bhattarai N, Gunn J, Kievit F, Du K, Pullar B, Lee D, G. Ellenbogen RG, Olson J, Zhang M (2009) Specific targeting of brain tumors with an optical/magnetic resonance imaging nanoprobe across the blood-brain barrier. Cancer Res 69:6200–6207. doi:https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1157

- Vera NPM, Schmidt R, Langer K, Zlatev I, Wronski R, Auer E, Havas D, Windisch M, von Briesen H, Wagner S (2014) Tracking of magnetite labeled nanoparticles in the rat brain using MRI. PLoS One 9:e92068
- Vermylen J, Nemmar A, Nemery B, Hoylaerts M (2005) Ambient air pollution and acute myocardial infarction. J Thromb Haemostasis 3:1955–1961. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01471.x
- Vesterdal L, Folkmann J, Jacobsen N, Sheykhzade M, Wallin H, Loft S, Moller P (2010) Pulmonary exposure to carbon black nanoparticles and vascular effects. Part Fibre Toxicol 7:33. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-7-33
- Vlasova MA, Tarasova OS, Riikonen J, Raula J, Lobach AS, Borzykh AA, Smirin BV, Kauppinen EI, Eletskii AV, Herzig KH (2014) Injected nanoparticles: the combination of experimental systems to assess cardiovascular adverse effects. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 87:64–72
- Wan S, Kelly PM, Mahon E, Stockmann H, Rudd PM, Caruso F, Dawson KA, Yan Y, Monopoli MP (2015) The "sweet" side of the protein corona: effects of glycosylation on nanoparticle– cell interactions. ACS Nano 9:2157–2166. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn506060q
- Wang H, Wang J, Deng X, Sun H, Shi Z, Gu Z, Liu Y, Zhao Y (2004) Biodistribution of carbon single-wall carbon nanotubes in mice. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 4:1019–1024. https://doi. org/10.1166/jnn.2004.146
- Wang B, Feng WY, Wang TC, Jia G, Wang M, Shi JW, Zhang F, Zhao YL, Chai ZF (2006) Acute toxicity of nano- and micro-scale zinc powder in healthy adult mice. Toxicol Lett 161:115–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2005.08.007
- Wang J, Zhou G, Chen C, Yu H, Wang T, Ma Y et al (2007) Acute toxicity and biodistribution of different sized titanium dioxide particles in mice after oral administration. Toxicol Lett 168:176–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2006.12.001
- Wang J, Liu Y, Jiao F, Lao F, Li W, Gu Y, Li Y, Ge C, Zhou G, Li B, Zhao Y, Chai Z, Chen C (2008) Time-dependent translocation and potential impairment on central nervous system by intranasally instilled TiO₂ nanoparticles. Toxicology 254:82–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tox.2008.09.014
- Wang B, Feng W, Zhu M, Wang Y, Wang M, Gu Y, Ouyang H, Wang H, Li M, Zhao Y, Chai Z, Wang H (2009) Neurotoxicity of low-dose repeatedly intranasal instillation of nanoand submicron-sized ferric oxide particles in mice. J Nanopart Res 11:41–53. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11051-008-9452-6
- Wang L, Wang L, Ding W, Zhang F (2010) Acute toxicity of ferric oxide and zinc oxide nanoparticles in rats. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 10:8617–8624. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2010.2483
- Wang B, He X, Zhang Z, Zhao Y, Feng W (2013a) Metabolism of nanomaterials *in vivo*: blood circulation and organ clearance. Acc Chem Res 46:761–769. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar2003336
- Wang Y, Chen Z, Ba T, Pu J, Chen T, Song Y, Gu Y, Qian Q, Xu Y, Xiang K (2013b) Susceptibility of young and adult rats to the oral toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles. Small 9:1742–1752. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201201185
- Wang X, Tian J, Yong K-T, Zhu X, Lin MC-M, Jiang W, Li J, Huang Q, Lin G (2016) Immunotoxicity assessment of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots in macrophages lymphocytes and BALB/c mice. J Nanobiotech 14:10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-016-0162-4
- Wen H, Dan M, Yang Y, Lyu J, Shao A, Cheng X et al (2017) Acute toxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticle in rats. PLoS One 12(9):e0185554. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0185554
- Wennerberg A, Jimbo R, Allard S, Skarnemark G, Andersson M (2011) In vivo stability of hydroxyapatite nanoparticles coated on titanium implants surfaces. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 26:1161–1166
- Win-Shwe T-T, Yamamoto S, Fujitani Y, Hirano S, Fujimaki H (2008) Spatial learning and memory function-related gene expression in the hippocampus of mouse exposed to nanoparticlerich diesel exhaust. Neurotoxicology 29:940–947

- Wu J, Liu W, Xue C, Zhou S, Lan F, Bi L, Xu H, Yang X, Zeng F (2009) Toxicity and penetration of TiO2 nanoparticles in hairless mice and porcine skin after subchronic dermal exposure. Toxicol Lett 191:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2009.05.020
- Wu J, Wang C, Sun J, Xue Y (2011) Neurotoxicity of silica nanoparticles: brain localization and dopaminergic neurons damage pathways. ACS Nano 5:4476–4489. https://doi.org/10.1021/ nn103530b
- Xia T, Kovochich M, Liong M, Meng H, Kabehie S, George S, Zink JI, Nel AE (2009) Polyethyleneimine coating enhances the cellular uptake of mesoporous silica nanoparticles and allows safe delivery of siRNA and DNA constructs. ACS Nano 3:3273–3286. https://doi. org/10.1021/nn900918w
- Xin Q, Rotchell JM, Cheng J, Yi J, Zhang Q (2015) Silver nanoparticles affect the neural development of zebrafish embryos. J Appl Toxicol 35:1481–1492
- Xu G, Yong KT, Roy I, Mahajan SD, Ding H, Schwartz SA, Prasad PN (2008) Bioconjugated quantum rods as targeted probes for efficient transmigration across an *in vitro* blood-brain barrier. Bioconjug Chem 19:1179–1185. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc700477u
- Yamagishi Y, Watari A, Hayata Y, Li X, Kondoh M, Tsutsumi Y, Yagi K (2013) Hepatotoxicity of sub-nanosized platinum particles in mice. Pharmazie 68:178–182
- Yamashita K, Yoshioka Y, Higashisaka K, Mimura K, Morishita Y, Nozaki M et al (2011) Silica and titanium dioxide nanoparticles cause pregnancy complications in mice. Nat Nanotechnol 6:321–328. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2011.41
- Yanardag R, Bolkent S, Ozsoy-Sacan O, Karabulut-Bulan O (2002) The effects of chard (Beta vulgaris L. var. cicla) extract on the kidney tissue serum urea and creatinine levels of diabetic rats. Phytother Res 16:758–761
- Yang H, Sun C, Fan Z, Tian X, Yan L, Du L, Liu Y, Chen C, Liang X, Anderson GJ, Keelan JA, Zhao Y, Nie G (2012) Effects of gestational age and surface modification on maternofetal transfer of nanoparticles in murine pregnancy. Sci Rep 2:847. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep00847
- Yang L, Kuang H, Zhang W, Aguilar ZP, Xiong Y, Lai W et al (2015) Size dependent biodistribution and toxicokinetics of iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles in mice. Nanoscale 7:625–636. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4NR05061D
- Yang Y, Qin Z, Zeng W, Yang T, Cao Y, Mei C, Kuang Y (2016) Toxicity assessment of nanoparticles in various systems and organs. Nanotechnol Rev 6(3):279–289. https://doi.org/10.1515/ ntrev-2016-0047
- Yoshida S, Hiyoshi K, Oshio S, Takano H, Takeda K, Ichinose T (2010) Effects of fetal exposure to carbon nanoparticles on reproductive function in male offspring. Fertil Steril 93:1695–1699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.03.094
- Yu LE, Yung LYL, Ong CN, Tan YL, Balasubramaniam SK, Hartono D, Shui G, Wenk MR, Ong WY (2007) Translocation and effects of gold nanoparticles after inhalation exposure in rats. Nanotoxicology 1:235–242
- Zanni E, De Bellis G, Bracciale MP, Broggi A, Santarelli ML, Sarto MS, Palleschi C, Uccelletti D (2012) Graphite nanoplatelets and Caenorhabditis elegans: insights from an *in vivo* model. Nano Lett 12:2740–2744
- Zhang DD, Hartsky MA, Warheit DB (2002) Time course of quartz and TiO₂ particle-induced pulmonary inflammation and neutrophil apoptotic responses in rats. Exp Lung Res 28:641–670
- Zhang L, Bai R, Li B, Ge C, Du J, Liu Y, Le Guyader L, Zhao Y, Wu Y, He S, Ma Y, Chen C (2011) Rutile TiO(2) particles exert size and surface coating dependent retention and lesions on the murine brain. Toxicol Lett 207(1):73–81
- Zhang Y, Bai Y, Jia J, Gao N, Li Y, Zhang R, Jiang G, Yan B (2014) Perturbation of physiological systems by nanoparticles. Chem Soc Rev 43:3762. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cs60338e
- Zhang W, Yang L, Kuang H, Yang P, Aguilar ZP, Wang A, Fu F, Xu H (2016) Acute toxicity of quantum dots on late pregnancy mice: effects of nanoscale size and surface coating. J Hazard Mater 318:61–69

- Zhao F, Zhao Y, Liu Y, Chang X, C. Chen C, Y. Zhao Y (2011a) Cellular uptake, intracellular trafficking, and cytotoxicity of nanomaterials. Small 7:1322–1337. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201100001
- Zhao J, Wang Z, Liu X, Xie X, Zhang K, Xing B (2011b) Distribution of CuO nanoparticles in juvenile carp (Cyprinus carpio) and their potential toxicity. J Hazard Mater 197:304–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.09.094
- Zhu MT, Feng WY, Wang B, Wang TC, Gu YQ, Wang M, Wang Y, Ouyang H, Zhao YL, Chai ZF (2008) Comparative study of pulmonary responses to nano- and submicron-sized ferric oxide in rats. Toxicology 247:102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2008.02.011
- Zhu MT, Feng WY, Wang Y, Wang B, Wang M, Ouyang H, Zhao YL, Chai ZF (2009) Particokinetics and extrapulmonary translocation of intratracheally instilled ferric oxide nanoparticles in rats and the potential health risk assessment. Toxicol Sci 107:342–351
- Zhu MT, Wang B, Wang Y, Yuan L, Wang H, Wang M, Ouyang H, Chai Z, Feng W, Zhao Y (2011) Endothelial dysfunction and inflammation induced by iron oxide nanoparticle exposure: risk factors for early atherosclerosis. Toxicol Lett 203:162–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. toxlet.2011.03.021

Chapter 8 Dendrimers as Drug Carriers for Cancer Therapy



Narsireddy Amreddy, Anish Babu, Anupama Munshi, and Rajagopal Ramesh

Contents

8.1	Introduction.	246
8.2	Dendrimer Synthesis Strategies and Characterization.	
	8.2.1 Divergent Method.	248
	8.2.2 Convergent Method.	249
8.3	Chemistry and Structure of Dendrimers.	250
8.4	Biocompatible Dendrimers	252
8.5	Dendrimers for Drug Delivery	252
8.6	Dendrimers for Gene Delivery.	254
8.7	Dendrimers for Receptor-Targeted Delivery.	257

N. Amreddy · A. Babu

Department of Pathology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

 A. Munshi
Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

R. Ramesh (⊠) Department of Pathology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Graduate Program in Biomedical Sciences, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA e-mail: rajagopal-ramesh@ouhsc.edu

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_8 245

8.8	Dendri	mer–Light Interaction Therapies	260
	8.8.1	Photodynamic Therapy	260
	8.8.2	Photothermal Therapy	261
	8.8.3	Boron Neutron Capture Therapy	262
8.9	.9 Dendrimers in Imaging and Diagnosis.		263
8.10) Conclusions		
Refere	ences		264

Abstract The efficacy of anticancer agents is often limited due to treatment-related toxicity, poor pharmacokinetics, and inadequate drug accumulation in the tumor. Advances made in the field of cancer nanomedicine have made it possible to reduce the toxicity, alter the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution, increase site-specific drug delivery, and enhance the efficacy of many therapeutic agents by using nanoparticles as drug carriers. These nanocarriers can be composed of polymers, lipids, proteins, or inorganic materials. Among these delivery systems, dendrimers form a separate class of branched polymer nanoparticles that has shown great promise in cancer drug delivery. In this chapter, we describe the application of dendrimers as nanocarriers for drug and gene delivery in cancer. We discuss the structures, properties, and various synthesis methods for dendrimers suitable for anticancer drug delivery. Further, we describe various types of dendrimers with appropriate examples in different therapeutic modalities of cancer. Recent examples of drug and gene delivery using dendrimers and their advantages are also presented. The application of tumor-targeted delivery systems using dendrimers is described. The chapter concludes with a description of current challenges with dendrimer-based drug delivery and efforts made to bring these promising systems to the forefront of cancer treatment.

Keywords Polyamidoamine dendrimer \cdot Poly(propylene imine) \cdot Poly-L-lysine \cdot Cancer \cdot Drug delivery \cdot Gene delivery \cdot Receptor targeting

8.1 Introduction

Cancer is the leading cause of disease-related deaths worldwide, and its incidence is increasing. Chemotherapy is among the most successful therapeutic modality for treating cancers of different stages. However, chemotherapy delivery presents several challenges, such as unfavorable pharmacokinetic profiles, low aqueous solubility, narrow therapeutic index, poor membrane permeability, rapid clearance, instability in circulation, and concerns over emergence of multidrug resistance (MDR) phenotypes in cancer (Ozols 2006; Fuertes et al. 2008). Side effects caused by the toxicity of chemotherapy drugs are also an unresolved clinical issue, mainly because of the lack of good delivery agents.

Similarly, gene therapy is another therapeutic modality that is gaining much attention due to its efficiency and increased tumor specificity compared with chemotherapy. This approach, however, requires specific delivery vehicles for successful application against cancer. The major challenge is achieving therapeutic concentrations at the tumor sites, since most gene therapy agents lack sufficient stability in the circulation. This lack of stability affects tumor-specific delivery. Therefore, delivery of therapeutic molecules, i.e., chemodrugs and gene molecules, into targeted tumor tissue is an important issue in cancer therapy (Bae and Park 2011).

The global drug delivery research community is currently focused on developing safe and targeted drug delivery strategies for cancer. To improve the biodistribution of cancer drugs, nanoparticles have been designed for optimal size and surface characteristics to increase their circulation time in the bloodstream. Numerous delivery methods have been developed. Among them, nanocarrier-based delivery systems have shown promising results (Singh and Lillard 2009). Nanocarriers are able to carry their loaded drugs selectively to cancer cells using the unique pathophysiology of tumors, such as their enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect and the tumor microenvironment (Maeda et al. 2000). Various metallic (gold and iron oxide)-, lipid (liposomes)-, and polymer-based nanocarriers have been studied for delivery of therapeutic molecules in vitro and in vivo (Bayda et al. 2017; Hu et al. 2017; Wilczewska et al. 2012). Some lipid- and polymer-based nanocarriers have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for clinical trials (Bobo et al. 2016). Although many of these nanoparticles are extensively explored in biomedical applications, their stability and toxicity are major issues. Metallic nanoparticles are prone to aggregation when they interact with biological molecules leading to rapid clearance. Lipid-based nanoparticles tend to burst release the encapsulated drugs due to their dynamic architecture, causing undesired distribution of the drugs and resulting in nonspecific toxicity.

Dendrimers are alternative carriers that can overcome the abovementioned limitations. These carriers form a special class of drug delivery systems that can be constructed with a well-defined molecular structure providing special opportunities for drug and gene delivery (Abbasi et al. 2014). Dendrimers are polymer-based, three-dimensional, highly branched monodispersed molecules that can be synthesized by sequential and precise introduction of unique branching structure. Ultimately, dendrimers are highly branched and have well-defined globular structures with enormous surface functionality (Klajnert and Bryszewska 2001).

The size of dendrimers is less than 100 nm. The use of dendrimers as nanocarriers for chemotherapy drug may provide significant advantages, including high drug loading, enhancement of water solubility, and low cytotoxicity; these versatile dendrimers have the ability to encapsulate both hydrophilic and hydrophobic molecules (Madaan et al. 2014; Choudhary et al. 2017). Another important advantage is that dendrimers can mediate the delivery of single-stranded or double-stranded, natural or synthetic DNA or RNA of any kind and any size (Chaplot and Rupenthal 2014). Dendrimers have increased overall ionic interaction with DNA compared with natural polyamines, polylysine, and liposomes, and they produce very stable and highly soluble DNA complexes (Mendes et al. 2017). Dendritic polymers also have a broader concentration range between transfection and cytotoxicity. It has been demonstrated that some of these polymers increased the efficiency of plasmid-mediated gene transfer in vivo. Dendritic polymers have been recently studied in targeted drug, gene delivery, and imaging studies (Noriega-Luna et al. 2014).

8.2 Dendrimer Synthesis Strategies and Characterization

Molecular and polymer chemistry concepts are involved in the design of dendrimers. Dendrimer construction requires a step-by-step controlled synthesis (molecular chemistry) and the creation of a repetitive structure made of monomers (polymer chemistry). The synthesis process follows either divergent or convergent methods, as represented in Fig. 8.1. Dendrimers possess more symmetric, globular, and closed packed membrane structures with higher generations, whereas lower-generation dendrimers have an asymmetric and more open structure. The number of surface functional groups and size of dendrimers vary based on generation. The active surface functional groups (e.g., -COOH, -OH, -NH2, -SH) can also be synthesized with different core molecules. The generation of surface functional groups and internal cavities plays an important role in loading and conjugation of drug, gene, and targeting ligands.

8.2.1 Divergent Method

In the divergent method, the structure initiates from a multifunctional core and builds up one monomer layer. The first-generation dendrimer is then created by reacting the core molecule with monomers that have one reactive group per monomer as shown in Fig. 8.1. The sequence is then continued by activation of the inactive groups at the periphery and conjugation of another generation of monomer molecules, resulting in the second-generation dendrimer. This process is repeated for multiple layers; each layer represents one generation. Higher-generation dendrimers with larger molecular diameters are usually synthesized using this method.

PAMAM dendrimers that are widely used as nanocarriers are synthesized by the divergent method. Generally, these dendrimers are composed of an alkyl-diamine core and tertiary amine branches. Their terminal groups often end with different surface-active groups, such as -OH, -COOH, and -NH₂. The divergent method is also used to synthesize poly(propylene imine) (PPI) dendrimers with EDA and DAB as core groups, which are highly studied in biomedical applications. In this method, each step of product purification and degree of purity has limitation due to smaller molecular weight and size difference between desired dendrimer and imperfect dendrimers.



Fig. 8.1 Schematic representation of divergent and convergent dendrimer synthesis methods

8.2.2 Convergent Method

In the convergent method, dendrimer is synthesized layer by layer, but the core group terminates and the end groups react. These two (or more) peripheral branches react with a single joining unit that contains two (or more) active sites and one inactive site, as represented in Fig. 8.1. This reaction of two active sites repeats and joins with the peripheral branches. When the dendrons reach the target generation, they are then attached to a core molecule to yield the dendrimer (Xu et al. 1994; Grayson and Fréchet 2001). The molecular weight difference between desired dendrimer and its by-products is high, so it is easy to purify the required dendrimer from its by-products. Convergent method produces high-purity and homogeneity dendrimers because of lower generation and fewer reactive functional groups available. In a typical example, 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA)-based dendrimers are synthesized by the convergent method by conjugating ALA residues to the periphery through ester linkages. Steric hindrance is generated when conjugating large dendron molecules with a small core molecule. Therefore, convergent method is useful for synthesizing lower-generation dendrimers and avoids steric hindrance.

The synthesized dendrimer structures can be characterized using different methods. The molecular weight and generation of dendrimer molecules can be identified using MALDI-TOF and ESI-MS. The chemical structure and functional groups can be identified by NMR, UV-visible, and FT-IR spectroscopy. The size and morphological properties of dendrimers can be measured by DLS analysis and TEM imaging, respectively. The internal structure of dendrimers can be confirmed with small-angle X-ray and neutron scattering and laser light scattering.

8.3 Chemistry and Structure of Dendrimers

Dendrimers are constructed with different generations; each generation increases the peripheral functional groups and cavity inside the dendrimers, as represented in Fig. 8.2. For biological applications, it is important to use biocompatible dendrimers. The most commonly used biocompatible dendrimer is polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer, which is available commercially. These PAMAM dendrimers are usually synthesized with an ammonia and ethylenediamine core. Ammonia has three branching units, while ethylenediamine has four branching units. These branching units are used to build up the different generations of dendrimers with the divergent approach, adding methyl acrylate to form amide bonds resulting from amine and ester reactions (Esfand and Tomalia 2001). The complete generations will result in amine surface functionality, whereas intermediate generations give carboxylate terminal groups to the dendrimers. The PAMAM dendrimers exist in 1–10 generations and with different surface functional groups (e.g., carboxylate, amine, alcoholic, sulfhydryl).

Another commercially available biocompatible dendrimer is poly(propylenimine) (PPI), synthesized from the butylenediamine (DAB) core molecule. The repetitive reaction is based on Michael addition of acrylonitrile to a primary amino group, followed by chemical reduction of nitrile groups into primary amino groups (Kaur et al. 2016). Another class of dendrimers based on poly-L-lysine (PLL) units, which have surface amine groups, has been explored as an antiangiogenic agent (Al-Jamal et al. 2010). PLL-based dendrimers are cationic dendrimers with amine surface groups with different generations. A PLL-based dendrimer-enhanced version of docetaxel (DTX; Taxotere[®]) called DEPTM docetaxel has entered Phase I clinical trials (Starpharma Holdings, Melbourne) in Australia. Starpharma reported that in preclinical trials, DEPTM docetaxel showed significant tumor targeting and superior anticancer effects across a range of cancer types when compared with the clinically



Fig. 8.2 General schematic representation of dendrimer structure. Each dotted line illustrates different generations. The chemical structures represent the surface groups of respective dendrimers

Dendrimer name	Surface functional group
Polyamidoamine	-OH, -COOH, -NH ₂ C12 hydrophobe
Poly(propylen imine) tetramine dendrimer	-NH ₂
Poly(ethylene glycol) linear dendrimer	Boc-protected amine
bis-MPA dendrimers	Acetylene, azide, Boc-protected amine, hydroxyl, carboxylic
Hyperbranched PEG dendrimers	Hydroxyl
PEG-core dendrimers	Hydroxyl, acetylene, ester
Phosphorous dendrimers	Dichlorophosphinothioyl
Poly-L-lysine	Amines
Poly(etherhydroxylamine)/poly(ester amine)	Amines, hydroxyl

Table 8.1 Commercially available dendrimers and their surface functional groups

approved drug, Taxotere[®], a commercial Taxol formulation (Fox et al. 2009). Polyester dendrimers are another class of neutral surface charge biocompatible dendrimers that is mostly useful in drug delivery applications. It has low toxicity to normal tissues. Other chemical structures of peptide dendrimers, carbohydrate dendrimers, melamine dendrimers, and phosphorus dendrimers are also biocompatible and are being tested for various biomedical applications. Table 8.1 shows the commercially available dendrimers with various surface functional groups.

The structure and functional groups of dendrimers play a crucial role in drug and gene delivery applications. Water-soluble and biodegradable dendrimers are more biocompatible. Chemotherapeutic drugs can be functionalized with dendrimers through different methods, such as covalent conjugation, electrostatic interaction, and hydrogen bonding (Madaan et al. 2014). The surface functional groups of dendrimers (e.g., -COOH, -SH, -NH₂) can be used for direct conjugation with drugs through different chemical reactions (EDC/NHS or disulfide linkage) (Badalkhani-Khamseh et al. 2018). The drug molecules can also be conjugated with dendrimers using tumor microenvironment-sensitive linkages (hydrazone, disulfide) (Wang et al. 2016a, b). The carboxylate and amine groups possess negative and positive surface charges, respectively; those charges can be utilized to load drug molecules through electrostatic interaction.

Higher-generation dendrimers contain a cavity in their internal structure. These cavities can be utilized to load small molecules via coordinate bond or hydrogen bond formation (Choudhary et al. 2017). Nucleic acid molecules, such as plasmid DNA, siRNA, and shRNA, exhibit a negative surface charge due to their phosphate backbones. Thus, amine-functionalized dendrimers exhibiting positive surface charge can easily condense with negatively surface charged gene molecules, forming a compact complex that results in increased transfection efficiency (Palmerston et al. 2017). To increase the targeting efficiency, the dendrimers surface can be functionalized with proteins, aptamers, peptides, affibodies, and antibodies through chemical or physical interactions (Saad et al. 2008). To enhance the accumulation of the dendrimer nanoparticles in the tumor tissues, the dendrimers are usually modified with PEG molecules of different molecular weights. PEGylation prolongs the blood circulation, resulting in improved pharmacokinetics and biodistribution.

8.4 Biocompatible Dendrimers

The structural properties of size, charge, hydrophobicity, and functional groups are important parameters for in vitro and in vivo membrane and tissue interactions and biocompatibility. In vitro cationic dendrimers interact with anionic cell membranes and tissues, which causes toxicity by disturbing the cell membrane. The surface charge of dendrimers increases with increasing generations; lower-generation dendrimers are less toxic than are higher-generation dendrimers. With increasing concentration of dendrimers in the treatment, the toxicity increases (Duncan and Izzo 2005). Therefore, it is important to find the optimal tolerable concentrations of dendrimers when used in vivo.

Dendrimer toxicity is usually evaluated by hemolytic properties, membrane fluidics, in vitro cytotoxicity, and antibacterial activity. The surface modification of dendrimer with lipid molecules also results in toxicity, even at lower concentration (Albertazzi et al. 2013). Dendrimer toxicity can be reduced by choosing a biocompatible and biodegradable core and branched monomers and functionalizing active surface groups with biocompatible molecules such as PEG, amino acids, and carbohydrates.

Neutral and anionic dendrimers electrostatically cannot interact with biological tissues. Hence these dendrimers are optimal for clinical applications. An interesting study demonstrated that G4 PAMAM dendrimers show less toxicity and poor immune response and increase deeper tissue diffusion activity in the central nervous system (CNS) (Albertazzi et al. 2013). Another article reported that generation 4 and generation 8 viologen-phosphorus dendrimers are not toxic to B14 cells, but show cytotoxicity towards N2a cancer cells (Ciepluch et al. 2012). Polyester-based dendrimers degrade inside the body, which reduces the toxicity (Feliu et al. 2012). Disulfide linkage dendrimers also degrade in the intracellular environment due to the reducing nature of cells, resulting in negligible toxicity.

The *in vivo* toxicity of dendrimers resembles the *in vitro* toxicity. At lower concentrations, cationic PAMAM dendrimers shows minimal toxicity, while at higher concentrations, they cause liver toxicity. When the cationic groups are replaced with neutral polyethylene oxide, polyester dendrimers exhibit reduced *in vivo* toxicity (Jain et al. 2010).

8.5 Dendrimers for Drug Delivery

Dendrimers offer unique cavity-like structures inside their branches, enabling them to carry drugs by encapsulation. In addition, the presence of numerous peripheral functional groups in dendrimers can be utilized for conjugation of drugs. Dendrimers can carry hydrophilic drugs, hydrophobic drugs, or both (Nanjwade et al. 2009). The small size and globular architecture of drug-loaded dendrimers favor their easy permeability through vasculature pores and successful entry into the tumor milieu

for delivery of the drug payload. Thus, passively targeted conventional dendrimers use enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effects for tumor-directed delivery of cancer drugs, which in turn reduces the exposure of normal tissues to drugs.

Paclitaxel is a hydrophobic anticancer drug. Delivery of this drug into the human body is a challenge, due to solubility and dispersibility. Dendrimers can be used as alternative carriers to deliver paclitaxel. Yang et al. utilized polyamidoamine-alkali blue (PTX-P-AB) dendrimer loaded with paclitaxel. Using pharmacokinetics, they found that PTX-P-AB dendrimer delivery increased lymphatic absorption and AUC values in lymph nodes compared with Taxol[®]. They concluded that PTX-P-AB was able to function as both lymphatic tracer and lymphatic targeting vector (Yang et al. 2016). Recently, another group reported that PTX conjugation was performed through enzyme-sensitive linker glycylphenylalanylleucylglycine tetra-peptide by an efficient click reaction to PEGylated peptide. This enzyme-sensitive PTX delivery increases cytotoxicity against 4 T1 cancer cells while reducing dendrimer toxicity to normal cells when compared with free PTX. In vivo studies also supported extended circulation time in tumors, showing therapeutic effects in the 4 T1 breast cancer model (Li et al. 2017).

Targeted dendrimer nanocarriers have been developed for tumor-specific delivery of drugs by modifying the dendrimers with ligands that have specific affinity toward certain cancer cell surface receptors. Anchoring poly(propylene imine) dendrimers with folate, dextran, or galactose resulted in targeted delivery of anticancer drug paclitaxel (PTX) in HeLa and SiHa cells (Kesharwani et al. 2011). However, the therapeutic efficacy of PTX was different for folate-, dextran-, and galactose-modified dendrimer formulations (IC50 values of 0.05, 0.2, and 0.8 μ M, respectively). They showed that the folate-anchored dendrimer-PTX formulations had the highest targeting potential. All of these formulations showed higher cell-killing efficiency than did free PTX.

Another study demonstrated that LFC131 peptide functionalized PAMAM dendrimers encapsulated with common anticancer drug doxorubicin (Dox). Researchers studied CXCR4 receptor targeting in breast cancer cells and observed significantly increased therapeutic efficiency with targeted dendrimers over nontargeted dendrimers. Further, the targeted LFC131-PAMAM reduced migration of BT-549-Luc breast cancer cells toward chemoattractant (Chittasupho et al. 2017). In another report, peptide-based capsid-like mimic dendrimers increased tumor penetration and drug accumulation in solid tumor tissue. These Dox-loaded delivery systems facilitate capsid-like structures increased the accumulation of Dox and in vitro and in vivo therapeutic effects in 4 T1 tumor-bearing BALB/c mice while reducing toxicity (Li et al. 2016).

Dendrimer nanoparticle delivery of other classes of anticancer drugs, such as cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), has also been studied (Tran et al. 2013). Cisplatin and 5-FU were loaded onto neutral surface PEGylated polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer (G 3.0) and negatively charged carboxylated PAMAM dendrimer (G 2.5). The formulations of cisplatin and 5-FU showed therapeutic activity

against NCI-H460 lung cancer and MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines, respectively (Tran et al. 2013).

In a recent report, ursolic acid (UA), a natural triterpene acid, was used for suppression of tumor growth and metastasis. However, bioavailability was low due to hydrophobicity. To increase UA dispersibility, a low-polyamidoamine (low-PAMAM) dendrimer-based formulation was developed through self-assembly. This dendrimer-UA complex enhanced cytotoxicity, attenuated the migration and adhesion of SMMC7721 liver cancer cells, and suppressed metastasis. Moreover, in vivo study revealed an improvement in blood circulation time for the dendrimer-UA complex that ultimately resulted in tumor growth inhibition in a mouse model (Shen et al. 2018).

Camptothecin (CPT), a poorly water-soluble plant alkaloid isolated from *Camptotheca acuminata*, is widely used as a cancer treatment. Cheng et al. reported that PAMAM dendrimer-CPT complexes could enhance the aqueous solubility, a major issue during drug formulation, of CPT in clinical trials (Cheng et al. 2008). In another ester-linked glycine and β -alanine spacers conjugated G3.5 PAMAM dendrimer-SN38 (7-ethyl-10-hydroxycamptothecin) was used against colorectal cancer metastases. This G3.5-SN38 conjugate has advantages in that the drug is covalently conjugated to the dendrimer rather than complexed, which increases stability in gastric and intestinal environments and reduces uncontrolled release. Further, CPT delivery in HT-29 cells using G3.5-glycine-SN38 and G3.5- β Alanine-SN38 formulations showed IC50 concentrations of 0.60 and 3.59 μ M, respectively (Goldberg et al. 2011).

8.6 Dendrimers for Gene Delivery

RNA interference (RNAi) is a process in which a desired gene is silenced or part of its expression is knocked down through a complementary RNA introduced into the cell. RNAi is a conserved biological process among multicellular organisms, in which double-stranded RNA is processed by the enzyme dicer into $\approx 21-23$ bp double-stranded fragments known as small interfering RNAs, or siRNAs (Carthew and Sontheimer 2009). This process forms an "RNA-induced silencing complex" (RISC), which scans mRNAs for homology and, upon sequence-specific binding, promotes the destruction of target mRNAs through enzymatic activity integrated in the complex (Tijsterman and Plasterk 2004). In cancer, therapeutic RNAi is moderated by introducing small interfering RNA (siRNA), short hairpin RNA (shRNA), or microRNA (miRNA) complementary to the target mRNA in cancer cells. The siRNA are known to be highly specific in inactivating the targeted gene. Thus, they can act as therapeutics or can inactivate genes that can enhance the activity of a coanticancer agent, such as a small molecule inhibitor or a chemotherapeutic. RNAi agents are vulnerable to enzymatic digestion and rapid removal from the circulation upon systemic administration.



Fig. 8.3 Schematic illustration of multifunctional dendrimer uptake by cells through receptormediated endocytosis and entry into endosomes. After endosomal disruption, therapeutic and diagnostic molecules enter the cytoplasm

Dendrimers, due to their unique structure and cationic functionality, can readily complex with and condense nucleic acid therapeutics. They can carry RNAi agents, protect them from enzymatic digestion, and prolong the circulation time. In addition, dendrimers allow various surface modifications for targeted delivery of RNAi agents (Tambe et al. 2017). Different dendritic structures, such as polyamidoamine (PAMAM), poly(propylene imine) (PPI), poly-L-lysine, poly(etherhydroxylamine) (PEHAM), poly(ester amine) (PEA), and polyglycerol, have been used as gene delivery systems (Table 8.2). Among various dendrimers, PAMAM has been widely considered an efficient carrier for gene transfer and, recently, for RNAi delivery (Yang et al. 2015a, b). Figure 8.3 illustrates the uptake of multifunctional dendrimers by cells and the entrance of the therapeutics and image agents into the cytoplasm via endosomal escape.

The nucleic acid to dendrimer charge ratio, nitrogen to phosphate ratio (N:P ratio), and heat activation of the dendrimer are important parameters that determine dendrimer-nucleic acid complexation and efficient transfection. In a typical example, PAMAM (G4, G5) dendrimers were complexed with plasmid DNA, and their ability to transfect cells in vitro and in vivo was evaluated (Navarro and Tros de Ilarduya 2009). Compared with naked DNA, these PAMAM dendrimers were more effective in protecting DNA from DNase and transfection efficiency. The N:P ratio of 10:1 between dendrimer and DNA was optimal in inducing efficient transfection. Moreover, heat-activated dendrimer showed enhanced efficiency in transfection compared with nonactivated or intact dendrimer-DNA complexes. In vivo studies demonstrated that intravenously administered G4 and G5 heat-activated dendrimer-DNA complexes showed increased gene transfection efficiency compared with nonactivated complexes (Navarro and Tros de Ilarduya 2009).

Dendrimers	Therapeutic agent	References
Polyamidoamine	Paclitaxel	Yang et al. (2016) and Li et al. (2017)
Poly(propylene imine)	Paclitaxel	Kesharwani et al. (2011)
Polyamidoamine	Doxorubicin	Chittasupho et al. (2017)
Peptide-based capsid-like mimic dendrimers	Doxorubicin	Li et al. (2016)
PEGylated and carboxylate polyamidoamine (PAMAM)	Cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)	Tran et al. (2013)
Polyamidoamine	Ursolic acid (UA)	Shen et al. (2018)
Polyamidoamine	Camptothecin (CPT)	Cheng et al. (2008) and Goldberg et al. (2011)
Polyamidoamine	Plasmid DNA	Navarro and Tros de Ilarduya (2009) and Huang et al. (2007)
Amine-terminated PAMAM	siRNA	Jensen et al. (2011) and Shen et al. (2014)
PAMAM G4.0-PEG-1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero- 3-phosphoethanolamine	siRNA	Biswas et al. (2013)
Poly(propylene imine)	siRNA	Tietze et al. (2017)

Table 8.2 Example of dendrimers utilized for drug and gene delivery

Similarly, siRNA delivery using dendrimers requires optimization of key parameters, such as the N:P ratio between dendrimer and siRNA and the generation of dendrimer used for complexation with siRNA. Jensen et al. studied various dendrimer generations to obtain optimal complexation efficiency with siRNA. They observed that dendrimer generations with low charge density (e.g., G1) lacked siRNA condensation ability. Higher efficiency in dendriplex (dendrimer-siRNA complex) formation was observed with G4 and G7 dendrimers with high charge densities. Among the dendrimer generations studied, flexible G1 and rigid G7 dendrimers displayed unfavorable thermodynamic properties. The researchers concluded that G4 dendrimer showed better dendriplex formation ability than did other dendrimers used in siRNA encapsulation (Jensen et al. 2011).

The N:P ratio plays a crucial role in forming complex and release kinetics. Although a dendrimer-siRNA complex with an appropriate N:P ratio exhibits therapeutic efficacy, it may cause toxicity. To improve safety, dendrimer-siRNA complexes can be coated with liposomes. These liposome-coated complexes are called dendrosomes. Dutta et al. reported successful delivery of siRNA targeted to E6 and E7 oncogenes in cervical cancer cells using a novel dendrosome nanocarrier DF3. In the first step, a dendrimer-siRNA complex (viz., 4D100) was optimized for transfection efficiency in cells. 4D100 was toxic to cells, but when it was encapsulated in liposomes to form dendrosomes (DF3), the toxicity was negligible. Compared with other formulations tested in their study, DF3-containing siRNAs showed considerable knockdown of the target genes (E6 and E7) in cervical cancer cells (Dutta et al. 2010).

PEGylation into dendrimers increased the transfection efficiency. Shen et al. studied G5.0 and G7.0 PAMAM dendrimers conjugated with PEG 5000 Da for the

delivery of syndecan-4-specific siRNA and caveolin-1 protein in C2C12 mouse myoblasts and the HepG2 human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line. PEGylation was increased to give the polyplexes higher syndecan-4 siRNA transfection efficiency with low immune-recognition response and cytotoxicity. The results showed a significant improvement in the cellular uptake of PEG-PAMAM dendrimer polyplexes in HepG2 with the downregulation of syndecan-4 and upregulation of caveolin-1 (Shen et al. 2014).

In another study, DOPE lipid was utilized for conjugation along with the PEG molecule. A triblock copolymeric system composed of PAMAM G4.0-PEG-1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine (PAMAM-D-PEG-2K-DOPE) was synthesized and condensed with siRNA. The hydrophobicity of DOPE allows cellular interaction for enhanced cell penetration and to achieve increased siRNA condensation. The PAMAM-D-PEG-2K-DOPE micellar nanocarrier formed stable complexes with siRNA with serum stability and increased cellular uptake of siRNA, leading to better target gene knock-down when compared with the PAMAM G4.0 dendrimer. Further, PAMAM G4.0-D-PEG-2K-DOPE/PEG-5K-PE micelles showed potential for drug/siRNA codelivery (Biswas et al. 2013).

In a different study, to improve siRNA therapeutic efficiency, single-chain fragment variables (scFvs) were conjugated to poly(propylene imine) dendrimers and functionalized with maltose (mal-PPI) for siRNA delivery. Using biotin–neutravidin bridging, researchers conjugated mal-PPI with epidermal growth factor receptor variant III (EGFRvIII), monobiotinylated anti-EGFRvIII scFv fused to a *Propionibacterium shermanii* transcarboxylase-derived biotinylation acceptor (P-BAP). Compared with the control polyplex with nonspecific scFv-P-BAP, the polyplex with EGFRvIII scFv delivered siRNA exclusively toward tumor cells by receptor-mediated endocytosis. The authors concluded that the use of EGFRvIII scFv-modified mal-PPI-based polyplexes is an effective strategy for tumor targeted delivery of siRNAs (Tietze et al. 2017) (Table 8.2).

8.7 Dendrimers for Receptor-Targeted Delivery

Cancer cells often overexpress specific receptors. By exploiting the receptor–ligand affinity, drug delivery systems can be modified using specific ligands for those receptors to achieve cancer cell-targeted drug delivery. Receptor-targeted drug delivery has been extensively explored for active targeting. However, active targeting is achieved with a carrier surface functionalized with active targeting ligands that have high binding affinity towards a specific cell type, tissue, or organ. Some targeted delivery systems are currently in clinical trials (Vhora et al. 2014). To improve the specificity of dendrimer nanocarrier systems, ligands specific to cancer cell receptors can be conjugated. Commonly used ligands include transferrin, folic acid, peptides (e.g., Arg-Gly-ASP), and aptamers.

Transferrin (Tf) is an iron-chelator protein and has affinity toward transferrin receptors (Tf-R), which are overexpressed by many cancers. This ability of cancer cells allows them to internalize Tf in high levels compared with levels in normal

cells. Tf-conjugated targeted dendrimer drug delivery systems exploit these high Tf levels. A typical example of Tf-ligand-based targeted dendrimer drug delivery was reported by Huang et al. (2007). They constructed a high-branching nanoscopic PAMAM dendrimer conjugated with Tf using a bifunctional polyethylene glycol linker and tested the uptake in brain capillary endothelial cells (BCECs) and in Balb-C mouse brains. The transfection efficiency of the PAMAM-PEG-Tf/DNA complex was much higher than that of PAMAM/DNA and PAMAM-PEG/DNA complexes in BCECs. The luciferase activity obtained from DNA complexed with PAMAM/Tf complex was 2.25-fold higher than that from DNA complexed with PAMAM in mouse brains after IV administration. At the 10:1 weight ratio of PAMAM/DNA, Tf gene expression for the PAMAM-PEG-Tf/DNA complex was approximately twofold higher than that of the PAMAM/DNA and PAMAM-PEG/DNA complexes in the brain (Huang et al. 2007).

Integrins (e.g., integrin alpha-v beta-3) are overexpressed in activated endothelial cells, newborn vessels, and some tumor cells, but are not present in resting endothelial cells and most normal organ systems. Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) peptide specific to integrins has also been explored for targeted dendrimer-based drug delivery toward tumor neovasculature and tumor cells. Kong et al. studied the use of cyclic-RGD peptide c(RGDfK) ligand for targeted delivery of PAMAM by modifying PAMAM G4.0–25% C12 with fluorescein isothiocyanate. RGD-modified PAMAM showed significantly higher cellular uptake than did non-RGD-modified PAMAM, as confirmed by fluorescence microscopy assay with 22RV1 cells. PEGylation successfully reduced the toxicity of PAMAM in 22RV1 cells with high expression of integrin alpha-v beta-3. No apparent toxicity was observed with the modification with c(RGDfK). Drug release was observed in targeted tumor sites, and the therapeutic efficiency of 10-hydroxycamptothecin was enhanced with RGD-modified dendrimer delivery in 22RV1 cells and MCF-7 cells compared with their non-RGD counterparts (Kong et al. 2014).

Folic acid is a well-known ligand for selective targeting of drugs into folate receptor-positive tumor cells. Conjugating folic acid molecules to dendrimers allows them to target tumor cells with folate receptor expression to enhance the therapeutic efficiency of the drug. Jain et al. (2014) reported the use of FA-conjugated poly-L-lysine (PLL) dendrimers (FPLL) to which the water-soluble drug doxorubicin (Dox) was conjugated through a pH-sensitive linker. FPLL showed significant antiangiogenic activity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), compared with nontargeted dendrimer. When compared with free Dox, the FPLL formulation showed higher levels of accumulation in MCF7 xenografts in a mouse model and enhanced therapeutic activity, leading to significantly prolonged survival (Jain et al. 2014).

FA-conjugated dendrimers are also under study for the construction of multifunctional architectures for targeted cancer drug delivery and as diagnostic tools. Two or more functional end groups can be introduced to dendrimers to allow conjugation with multiple agents, such as drugs, genes, fluorescent dyes, MRI agents, and targeting ligands (Fig. 8.4). A recent study demonstrated the use of folic acid (FA)-conjugated PAMAM G5.0 dendrimers as a platform for constructing a



Fig. 8.4 Schematic representation of multifunctional dendrimer nanoparticles functionalized with therapeutic molecules (drugs and genes), diagnostic agents (fluorescent dyes and MRI agents), and targeting ligands

multifunctional theranostic system for targeted cancer imaging and therapy (Zhu et al. 2014). PAMAM-entrapped gold nanoparticles were covalently conjugated with fluorescein isothiocyanate, PEG-modified-a tocopheryl succinate, and PEGylated folic acid (Au-TOS-FA-DENPs). In vitro cellular uptake assay and flow cytometric study with U87MG and L929 cells showed that the conjugate could be specifically delivered to cancer cells that overexpressed folic acid receptors via receptor-mediated binding and endocytosis. In CT imaging, the CT value of U87MG with high expression of folic acid was significantly enhanced with Au-TOS-FA-DENPs. Further, a significant decrease in U87MG-HFAR cell viability was observed when treated with Au-TOS-FA-DENPs compared with the nontargeted counterpart. An in vivo study reported no toxic side effects and obvious tumor inhibition in BALB/c nude mice (Zhu et al. 2014).

Aptamers are an attractive class of ligands that exhibit many desirable properties for constructing a targeted drug delivery system. These ligands are short, singlestranded oligonucleotides obtained through the process of systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment (SELEX). These oligonucleotides are known for their high binding affinity and target specificity, low immunogenicity, and versatile synthetic accessibility. Aptamer–dendrimer bioconjugates have been created for targeted delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs and gene silencing agents for cancer therapy. Recently, one report demonstrated that AS1411 aptamer functionalized on PAMAM dendrimer, which conjugated with 10-bromodecanoic acid (10C) and 10C-PEG. These aptamer-functionalized dendrimers targeted nucleolin ligand and specifically knocked down Bcl-xL protein with shRNA plasmid delivery. The aptamer-modified dendrimer significantly improved the transfection efficiency when compared with the nontargeted dendrimer in A549 cells. This improved transfection efficiency led to increase gene silencing and apoptosis (Ayatollahi et al. 2017). MicroRNA delivery has been explored using aptamer conjugated-dendrimer systems. In a recent study, micro-RNA-34a (miR-34a), a potent endogenous tumor suppressor in NSCLC, was encapsulated into S6 aptamer-conjugated dendrimer to form a lung cancer-targeted gene delivery system (PAM-Ap/pMiR-34a NPs). The aptamer conjugation to PAM significantly improved the pMiR-34a cellular uptake and transfection efficiency in NSCLC cells. They showed that PAM-Ap/pMiR-34a NPs enhanced the regulation of targeted genes BCL-2 and p53 in vitro. PAM-Ap/pMiR-34a NPs significantly inhibited the cell growth, migration, and invasion and induced significant apoptosis of lung cancer cells compared with nontargeted NPs (Wang et al. 2015).

Recently, we demonstrated that FA-conjugated PAMAM dendrimer can be successfully used for folate receptor alpha (FRA)-targeted combinatorial delivery of CDDP and HuR siRNA for lung cancer therapy. Here, CDDP and HuR siRNA were encapsulated through a hydrolysis method and electrostatic interactions, respectively. Further, folic acid was conjugated to the surface of dendrimer functional groups for FRA-targeted delivery. The combinatorial delivery showed significant enhancement in therapeutic activity of CDDP and HuR siRNA in nonsmall cell lung cancer cell lines (H1299 and A549). Normal lung fibroblast cells (MRC9) that had low FRA expression levels did not show significant toxicity with our formulation. The FRA-targeted combined delivery also showed significantly higher therapeutic efficiency of CDDP and HuR siRNA than did nontargeted delivery (Amreddy et al. 2017).

Despite these promising outcomes, there are some challenges in using targeted dendrimers for drug delivery. First, a clear understanding of the differential expression and accessibility of cell surface receptors in the target cancer is required. Second, the ligand density in the dendrimer should be optimal for efficient interaction with the cell surface receptors. The proper choice of ligands and ideal conjugation chemistry will increase the target specificity. For example, aptamers should be carefully designed to avoid any multimerization interactions with drugs, as maintaining proper confirmation of aptamers after conjugation with dendrimers is crucial in determining the receptor specificity. Another important step is the choice of conjugation chemistry between ligands and the dendrimer host that should control the stability and release of ligand appropriately in the in vivo environment.

8.8 Dendrimer–Light Interaction Therapies

8.8.1 Photodynamic Therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a type of phototherapy that kills bacteria, fungi, and viruses. It is used in treatment of skin, head, and neck, lung, and bladder cancers. PDT involves three components: photosensitizer (PS, a chemical substance), light, and reactive oxygen species (ROS). The PS is administered into the desired tissue and followed by irradiation with NIR light with the specific wavelength of excitation of the PDT agent (PS). Irradiation will cause generation of ROS in the presence

of molecular oxygen. This kills cancer cells, as ROS damages the cell membrane and organelles, resulting in cell death. Most potential PS molecules are not solubilized in aqueous media; when administered into the body, PS molecules interact with normal tissues resulting in nonspecific toxicity. The targeted delivery of PS molecules which can be achieved through nanocarrier-based delivery is an alternative. Dendrimers are one of the best carriers of PS molecules.

PS molecules can be encapsulated into dendrimers by methods such as electrostatic, physical interaction, and covalent conjugation. In a typical example, the anionic and cationic phosphorus dendrimer were used to encapsulate methylene blue and rose bengal (RB) PSs through electrostatic and $\pi - \pi$ interactions, respectively. These polyanionic and polycationic combinations resulted in better stability and therapeutic effect, and identified to be better PDT carriers (Dabrzalska et al. 2015). Encapsulation of PS by physical interaction can occur in organic and aqueous solvent mixtures at different ratios. The RB PS physically interacts with PAMAM dendrimer when incubated in a mixture of methanol and water. The resulting PAMAM-RB dendrimer showed improved phototoxicity in mouse lymphoma cell lines (Karthikeyan et al. 2011). The photosensitizer chlorin e6 (Ce6) covalently conjugated to G4.5 PAMAM dendrimers showed enhanced photodynamic therapeutic effect than did free Ce6 (Bastien et al. 2015). Another approach implemented a PAMAM dendrimer-PS complex in image-guided PDT (Yang et al. 2015a, b). In this approach, the Ce6 PS-conjugated polyethyleneimine-PEGylated ceria nanoparticles increased solubility and stability of Ce6 PS in an aqueous environment. Furthermore, the enhanced cellular uptake and therapeutic effect of Ce6 was observed by image-guided therapy approach.

Receptor-targeted PS delivery also improves therapeutic effect in cancer treatment and reduces the toxicity to normal tissues. A study reported that HER2 peptide and 5,10,15,20-tetrakis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-21H,23H-porphine (PS) were covalently conjugated to the PAMAM dendrimer. This HER2 receptor-targeted PS delivery increases cell uptake and PDT effects in HER2 overexpressed SKOV3 ovarian cancer cells in vitro and in vivo compared with when administered in HER2-negative expressing MCF7 cell line (Narsireddy et al. 2015).

The PEGylation of dendrimers improves dispersibility and prolong circulation that improves cytotoxicity. The PEGylation of PAMAM and PPI dendrimers also increases protoporphyrin-IX stability in physiological conditions resulting in higher cytotoxicity in the desired tissue (Kojima et al. 2007). Dendrimers in other forms of complex called micelles also increase the PDT effects. The polyanion dendrimer porphyrins (DPs) complexed in other micelles composed with PEG-b-P(Asp) effectively delivers PS, leading to enhanced PDT efficacy (Stapert et al. 2000).

8.8.2 Photothermal Therapy

Photothermal therapy (PTT) involves a photo-activating agent that will generate heat upon light irradiation to kill cancer cells. Unlike PDT, PTT does not generate singlet oxygen. Normal tissues can bear up to 42 °C heat, whereas cancer tissues

cannot tolerate this temperature. Some of the nanoparticles are inherent to act as photothermal agents. Metallic-based gold nanorods, gold nanoshells, and graphene oxide materials are the typical examples for photothermal agents. For effective delivery and treatment, these nanoparticles can be combined with polymer-based nanoparticles. Gold nanorods absorb the radiation in the near-infrared region, whereas gold nanoparticles absorb at the visible region. Hence, nanorods show better therapeutic efficiency in photothermal therapy. The dendrimer-stabilized gold nanorods show better photothermal effects than do dendrimer-stabilized gold nanoparticles.

The safety of photothermal agent development is also an important parameter in terms of clearance from the body, which requires photothermal agents small in size and effectively efficient. Wang et al. developed ultrasmall-Au DSAuNRs, which showed better safety and higher photothermal affect in vivo (Wang et al. 2016a, b). Photothermal ablation can also be utilized to deliver other therapeutic molecules (genes and drugs), to further increase the controlled therapeutic effect. Zhang et al. described PAMAM dendrimers grown onto mesoporous silica-coated gold nanorods via a divergent method. The dendrimers were loaded with siRNA and Dox therapeutics. Upon NIR light irradiation, siRNA and Dox were released along with the PTT effect, resulting in multitherapeutic effects in cancer cells and reduced toxicity to normal cell lines (Zhang et al. 2017). The CTAB is known to be toxic in higher concentrations; replacing CTAB surfactant combined with dendrimer reduces the toxicity to normal tissues. Li et al. synthesized gold nanorods by CTAB and replaced the CTAB with PAMAM dendrimer, followed by conjugation with arginine-glycineaspartic acid (RGD) peptides for targeted delivery. They reported selective photothermal effects in the $\alpha_V \beta_3$ overexpressing A375 cell line compared with MCF7 cell lines expressing less $\alpha_V \beta_3$ (Li et al. 2010).

8.8.3 Boron Neutron Capture Therapy

Neutron capture therapy is a noninvasive therapy used for localized tumor treatments. It is mainly useful for brain and head and neck tumors. The mechanism involves a two-step process. First, nontoxic neutron-capturing agents are administered into tumor. Usually, boron-10 (¹⁰B) and gadolinium-157, 155 (^{157, 155} Gd) metals act as neutron-capturing agents. This step is followed by irradiation with a neutron beam on targeted tissue. Then those metal substances convert into radioactive substances that decay helium and energy as by products. The energy thus generated helps to kill the cancer cells. For effective administration of ¹⁰B into targeted tissue, nanocarrier systems are useful tools (Laramore et al. 1994; Aromando et al. 2009).

Polymer-based dendrimer nanoparticles are also used in boron neutron capture therapy for cancer. Different generations of PAMAM dendrimers are utilized for ¹⁰B delivery. The ¹⁰B molecules can be conjugated with PAMAM dendrimers via different chemical methods. Barth et al. reported that the boronated molecule isocyanato

polyhedral borane [Na(CH3)3NB10H8NCO] was conjugated to second and fourth generation of amine-terminated PAMAM dendrimers (Barth et al. 1994). In further studies, boronated dendrimers were conjugated with SPDP-derivatized MoAb to improve the tumor accumulation in the therapeutic range. Another report demonstrated that fifth-generation PAMAM dendrimer was conjugated with boronated molecules and chimeric MoAb cetuximab, which directs to EGFR- and EGFRvIII-expressed brain tumors (Wu et al. 2004).

PEG conjugations on dendrimers will effect pharmacodynamic properties. Receptor-targeted boron delivery further increases the boron accumulation and BNCT effect and reduces the uptake by reticuloendothelial system. Shukla et al. conjugated boronated poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) with third-generation PAMAM dendrimers. The PEGylated boronated complexes showed more tumor uptake than did the corresponding non-PEGylated dendrimers (Shukla et al. 2003).

8.9 Dendrimers in Imaging and Diagnosis

Dendrimer molecules do not have inherent diagnostic and imaging properties. To create an imaging and diagnostic tool with dendrimer molecules, dendrimers are externally loaded or encapsulated with imaging and diagnostic agents. Usually, gadolinium (Gd III) and superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles provide magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast. The loading of these agents is useful for tracking dendrimers inside the body. Gadolinium-diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid (Gd-DTPA) and gadolinium-tetraxetan (Gd-DOTA) chelates conjugated with different generations of dendrimers increase MRI signal intensity (Zhu et al. 2008; Rudovský et al. 2006). Higher-generation dendrimers will give better MRI contrast than will lower-generation dendrimers, since more metal chelates can be conjugated to higher-generation dendrimers.

Another important imaging technique is X-ray computed tomography (CT). Iodinated and gold nanoparticle-based agents are being used in CT imaging (Cormode et al. 2014). In a typical example, different generations of G3, G4, and G5 dendrimers with amine surface groups were conjugated with tri-iodophthalamide agents. This approach showed improved in vivo imaging with intravascular enhancement and a half-life of 35 min with G4 dendrimers (Fu et al. 2006).

Optical imaging has numerous advantages for tracking and detecting disease. For optical imaging, organic structure-based fluorescent molecules, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), GFP, Cy3-fluorophores, Alexa Fluor 594, and so forth can be conjugated or load with different generations of dendrimer molecules that are utilized for cell uptake studies (Koyama et al. 2007; Waite and Roth 2009). Radioactive materials can also be conjugated with dendrimers for diagnosis and treatment. The conjugated radioactive dendrimer complex can be irradiated with gamma rays and imaged with single photon emission tomography (SPECT) and positron emission tomography (PET) (Xing et al. 2018; Zhao et al. 2017). The dendrimers can be encapsulated with metal-based nanoparticles that can be visualized inside the tissue through transmission electron microscopy (TEM). High-density gold (Au) and silver (Ag) nanoparticles are easily visualized by TEM to locate dendrimer molecules inside the cells (Vasile et al. 2014; Kéki et al. 2000).

8.10 Conclusions

Dendrimers are demonstrated to provide an excellent platform for drug and gene delivery for cancer therapy. The unique and highly defined structure, characterized by the presence of many functional groups, allows dendrimers to incorporate or conjugate multiple agents, including chemotherapeutics, nucleic acid therapeutics, image contrast agents, and targeting ligands. Despite the promising use of dendrimers as nanoparticle drug delivery systems, the use of dendrimers in the clinic has not been successful. This is because cationic PAMAM dendrimers are more toxic than their anionic counterparts. Larger dendrimers are more toxic than smaller dendrimers of similar surface functionality. However, techniques such as PEG modification have been employed in masking cationic residues with neutral groups that improve the tolerability of PAMAM dendrimers and their uptake by the cells. With further understanding of dendrimers' molecular characteristics, interaction with biological membranes, toxicity profile, and improved synthesis, it is hoped that cancer therapy applications may be realized in the near future.

Acknowledgments The work was supported in part by a grant received from the National Institutes of Health (NIH), R01 CA167516 (RR), grant from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences (P20 GM103639) of the National Institutes of Health (RR & AM), a MERIT grant (101BX0034201A1) from the Department of Veterans Affairs (RR), a seed grant (AM) funded by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) Cancer Center Support Grant (P30CA225520) awarded to the University of Oklahoma Stephenson Cancer Center, grant from the Department of Defense (DOD) through the Lung Cancer Research Program (LCRP) under award no. W81XWH-19-1-0647 (RR), a grant from the Oklahoma Center for Advanced Science and Technology (OCAST), and by funds received from the Stephenson Cancer Center Seed Grant (RR), Presbyterian Health Foundation Seed Grant (RR), Presbyterian Health Foundation Bridge Grant (RR), and the Jim and Christy Everest Endowed Chair in Cancer Developmental Therapeutics (RR) at the University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center. The authors thank Ms. Kathy Kyler at the office of the Vice President of Research, OUHSC, for editorial assistance.

References

- Abbasi E, Aval SF, Akbarzadeh A, Milani M, Nasrabadi HT, Joo SW, Hanifehpour Y, Nejati-Koshki K, Pashaei-Asl R (2014) Dendrimers: synthesis, applications, and properties. Nanoscale Res Lett 9:247. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-247
- Albertazzi L, Gherardini L, Brondi M, Sulis Sato S, Bifone A, Pizzorusso T, Ratto GM, Bardi G (2013) In vivo distribution and toxicity of PAMAM dendrimers in the central nervous system depend on their surface chemistry. Mol Pharm 10:249–260. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp300391v

- Al-Jamal KT, Al-Jamal WT, Akerman S, Podesta JE, Yilmazer A, Turton JA, Bianco A, Vargesson N, Kanthou C, Florence AT, Tozer GM, Kostarelos K (2010) Systemic antiangiogenic activity of cationic poly-L-lysine dendrimer delays tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:3966–3971. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908401107
- Amreddy N, Babu A, Panneerselvam J, Srivastava A, Muralidharan R, Chen A, Zhao YD, Munshi A, Ramesh R (2017) Chemo-biologic combinatorial drug delivery using folate receptortargeted dendrimer nanoparticles for lung cancer treatment. Nanomedicine 14:373–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2017.11.010
- Aromando RF, Heber EM, Trivillin VA, Nigg DW, Schwint AE, Itoiz ME (2009) Insight into the mechanisms underlying tumor response to boron neutron capture therapy in the hamster cheek pouch oral cancer model. J Oral Pathol Med 38(5):448–454. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0714.2008.00720.x
- Ayatollahi S, Salmasi Z, Hashemi M, Askarian S, Oskuee RK, Abnous K, Ramezani M (2017) Aptamer-targeted delivery of Bcl-xL shRNA using alkyl modified PAMAM dendrimers into lung cancer cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 92:210–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocel.2017.10.005
- Badalkhani-Khamseh F, Ebrahim-Habibi A, Hadipour NL (2018) Influence of dendrimer surface chemistry and pH on the binding and release pattern of chalcone studied by molecular dynamics simulations. J Mol Recognit 25:e2757. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmr.2757
- Bae YH, Park K (2011) Targeted drug delivery to tumors: myths, reality and possibility. J Control Release 153:198–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.06.001
- Barth RF, Adams DM, Soloway AH, Alam F, Darby MV (1994) Boronated starburst dendrimermonoclonal antibody immunoconjugates: evaluation as a potential delivery system for neutron capture therapy. Bioconjug Chem 5:58–66. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc00025a008
- Bastien E, Schneider R, Hackbarth S, Dumas D, Jasniewski J, Röder B, Bezdetnaya L, Lassalle HP (2015) PAMAM G4.5-chlorin e6 dendrimeric nanoparticles for enhanced photodynamic effects. Photochem Photobiol Sci 14:2203–2212. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5pp00274e
- Bayda S, Hadla M, Palazzolo S, Corona G, Toffoli G, Rizzolio F (2017) Inorganic nanoparticles for cancer therapy: a transition from lab to clinic. Curr Med Chem 25:25. https://doi.org/10.217 4/0929867325666171229141156
- Biswas S, Deshpande PP, Navarro G, Dodwadkar NS, Torchilin VP (2013) Lipid modified triblock PAMAM-based nanocarriers for siRNA drug co-delivery. Biomaterials 34:1289–1301. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.10.024
- Bobo D, Robinson KJ, Islam J, Thurecht KJ, Corrie SR (2016) Nanoparticle-based medicines: a review of FDA-approved materials and clinical trials to date. Pharm Res 33:2373–2287. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1958-5
- Carthew RW, Sontheimer EJ (2009) Origins and mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. Cell 136:642–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.035
- Chaplot SP, Rupenthal ID (2014) Dendrimers for gene delivery a potential approach for ocular therapy? J Pharm Pharmacol 66:542–556. https://doi.org/10.1111/jphp.12104
- Cheng Y, Li M, Xu T (2008) Potential of poly(amidoamine) dendrimers as drug carriers of camptothecin based on encapsulation studies. Eur J Med Chem 43:1791–1795. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2007.09.030
- Chittasupho C, Anuchapreeda S, Sarisuta N (2017) CXCR4 targeted dendrimer for anti-cancer drug delivery and breast cancer cell migration inhibition. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 119:310–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.07.003
- Choudhary S, Gupta L, Rani S, Dave K, Gupta U (2017) Impact of dendrimers on solubility of hydrophobic drug molecules. Front Pharmacol 8:261. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00261
- Ciepluch K, Katir NE, Kadib A, Felczak A, Zawadzka K, Weber M, Klajnert B, Lisowska K, Caminade AM, Bousmina M, Bryszewska M, Majoral JP (2012) Biological properties of new viologen-phosphorus dendrimers. Mol Pharm 9:448–457. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp200549c
- Cormode DP, Naha PC, Fayad ZA (2014) Nanoparticle contrast agents for computed tomography: a focus on micelles. Contrast Media Mol Imaging 9:37–52. https://doi.org/10.1002/cmmi.1551

- Dabrzalska M, Zablocka M, Mignani S, Majoral JP, Klajnert-Maculewicz B (2015) Phosphorus dendrimers and photodynamic therapy. Spectroscopic studies on two dendrimer-photosensitizer complexes: cationic phosphorus dendrimer with rose bengal and anionic phosphorus dendrimer with methylene blue. Int J Pharm 492:266–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.06.014
- Duncan R, Izzo L (2005) Dendrimer biocompatibility and toxicity. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 57:2215–2237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2005.09.019
- Dutta T, Burgess M, McMillan NA, Parekh HS (2010) Dendrosome-based delivery of siRNA against E6 and E7 oncogenes in cervical cancer. Nanomedicine 6:463–470. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nano.2009.12.001
- Esfand R, Tomalia DA (2001) Poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) dendrimers: from biomimicry to drug delivery and biomedical applications. Drug Discov Today 6:427–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1359-6446(01)01757-3
- Feliu N, Walter MV, Montañez MI, Kunzmann A, Hult A, Nyström A, Malkoch M, Fadeel B (2012) Stability and biocompatibility of a library of polyester dendrimers in comparison to polyamidoamine dendrimers. Biomaterials 33:1970–1981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2011.11.054
- Fox ME, Guillaudeu S, Fréchet JM, Jerger K, Macaraeg N, Szoka FC (2009) Synthesis and in vivo antitumor efficacy of PEGylated poly(l-lysine) dendrimer-camptothecin conjugates. Mol Pharm 6:1562–1572. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp9001206
- Fu Y, Nitecki DE, Maltby D, Simon GH, Berejnoi K, Raatschen HJ, Yeh BM, Shames DM, Brasch RC (2006) Dendritic iodinated contrast agents with PEG-cores for CT imaging: synthesis and preliminary characterization. Bioconjug Chem 17:1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bc060019c
- Fuertes MA, Nguewa PA, Castilla J, Alonso C, Pérez JM (2008) Anticancer compounds as leishmanicidal drugs: challenges in chemotherapy and future perspectives. Curr Med Chem 15:433–439. https://doi.org/10.2174/092986708783503221
- Goldberg DS, Vijayalakshmi N, Swaan PW, Ghandehari H (2011) G3.5 PAMAM dendrimers enhance transepithelial transport of SN38 while minimizing gastrointestinal toxicity. J Control Release 150:318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.11.022
- Grayson SM, Fréchet JM (2001) Convergent dendrons and dendrimers: from synthesis to applications. Chem Rev 101:3819–3868. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr990116h
- Hu J, Sheng Y, Shi J, Yu B, Yu Z, Liao G (2017) Long circulating polymeric nanoparticles for gene/ drug delivery. Curr Drug Metab 19:723. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920021966617120712064 3
- Huang RQ, Qu YH, Ke WL, Zhu JH, Pei YY, Jiang C (2007) Efficient gene delivery targeted to the brain using a transferrin-conjugated polyethyleneglycol-modified polyamidoamine dendrimer. FASEB J 21:1117–1125. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.06-7380com
- Jain K, Kesharwani P, Gupta U, Jain NK (2010) Dendrimer toxicity: let's meet the challenge. Int J Pharm 394:122–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.04.027
- Jain K, Gupta U, Jain NK (2014) Dendronized nanoconjugates of lysine and folate for treatment of cancer. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 87:500–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.03.015
- Jensen LB, Pavan GM, Kasimova MR, Rutherford S, Danani A, Nielsen HM, Foged C (2011) Elucidating the molecular mechanism of PAMAM-siRNA dendriplex self-assembly: effect of dendrimer charge density. Int J Pharm 416:410–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2011.03.015
- Karthikeyan K, Babu A, Kim SJ, Ramachandran M, Jeyasubramanian K (2011) Enhanced photodynamic efficacy and efficient delivery of Rose Bengal using nanostructured poly(amidoamine) dendrimers: potential application in photodynamic therapy of cancer. Cancer Nanotechnol 2:95–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12645-011-0019-3
- Kaur D, Jain K, Mehra NK, Kesharwani P, Jain NK (2016) A review on comparative study of PPI and PAMAM dendrimers. J Nanopart Res 18:146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-016-3423-0
- Kéki S, Török J, Deák G, Daróczi L, Zsuga M (2000) Silver nanoparticles by PAMAM-assisted photochemical reduction of Ag(+). J Colloid Interface Sci 229(2):550–553

- Kesharwani P, Tekade RK, Gajbhiye V, Jain K, Jain NK (2011) Cancer targeting potential of some ligand-anchored poly(propylene imine) dendrimers: a comparison. Nanomedicine 7:295–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2010.10.010
- Klajnert B, Bryszewska M (2001) Dendrimers: properties and applications. Acta Biochim Pol 48:199–208. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-247
- Kojima C, Toi Y, Harada A, Kono K (2007) Preparation of poly(ethylene glycol)-attached dendrimers encapsulating photosensitizers for application to photodynamic therapy. Bioconjug Chem 18:663–670. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc060244u
- Kong X, Yu K, Yu M, Feng Y, Wang J, Li M, Chen Z, He M, Guo R, Tian R, Li Y, Wu W, Hong Z (2014) A novel multifunctional poly(amidoamine) dendrimeric delivery system with superior encapsulation capacity for targeted delivery of the chemotherapy drug 10-hydroxycamptothecin. Int J Pharm 465:378–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.02.022
- Koyama Y, Talanov VS, Bernardo M, Hama Y, Regino CA, Brechbiel MW, Choyke PL, Kobayashi H (2007) A dendrimer-based nanosized contrast agent dual-labeled for magnetic resonance and optical fluorescence imaging to localize the sentinel lymph node in mice. J Magn Reson Imaging 25:866–871. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.20852
- Laramore GE, Wootton P, Livesey JC, Wilbur DS, Risler R, Phillips M, Jacky J, Buchholz TA, Griffin TW, Brossard S (1994) Boron neutron capture therapy: a mechanism for achieving a concomitant tumor boost in fast neutron radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 28(5):1135–1142. https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-3016(94)90487-1
- Li Z, Huang P, Zhang X, Lin J, Yang S, Liu B, Gao F, Xi P, Ren Q, Cui D (2010) RGD-conjugated dendrimer-modified gold nanorods for in vivo tumor targeting and photothermal therapy. Mol Pharm 7:94–104. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp9001415
- Li Y, Lai Y, Xu X, Zhang X, Wu Y, Hu C, Gu Z (2016) Capsid-like supramolecular dendritic systems as pH-responsive nanocarriers for drug penetration and site-specific delivery. Nanomedicine 12:355–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.09.015
- Li N, Cai H, Jiang L, Hu J, Bains A, Hu J, Gong Q, Luo K, Gu Z (2017) Enzyme-sensitive and amphiphilic PEGylated dendrimer-paclitaxel prodrug-based nanoparticles for enhanced stability and anticancer efficacy. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9:6865–6877. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsami.6b15505
- Madaan K, Kumar S, Poonia N, Lather V, Pandita D (2014) Dendrimers in drug delivery and targeting: drug-dendrimer interactions and toxicity issues. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 6:139–150. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.130965
- Maeda H, Wu J, Sawa T, Matsumura Y, Hori K (2000) Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review. J Control Release 65:271–284. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00248-5
- Mendes LP, Pan J, Torchilin VP (2017) Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy Molecules 22,1401. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22091401
- Nanjwade BK, Bechra HM, Derkar GK, Manvi FV, Nanjwade VK (2009) Dendrimers: emerging polymers for drug-delivery systems. Eur J Pharm Sci 38:185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejps.2009.07.008
- Narsireddy A, Vijayashree K, Adimoolam MG, Manorama SV, Rao NM (2015) Photosensitizer and peptide-conjugated PAMAM dendrimer for targeted in vivo photodynamic therapy. Int J Nanomedicine 10:6865–6878. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S89474
- Navarro G, Tros de Ilarduya C (2009) Activated and non-activated PAMAM dendrimers for gene delivery in vitro and in vivo. Nanomedicine 5:287–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nano.2008.12.007
- Noriega-Luna B, Godínez LA, Rodríguez FJ, Rodríguez A, Zaldívar-Lelo de Larrea G, Sosa-Ferreyra CF, Mercado-Curiel RF, Manríquez J, Bustos E (2014) Applications of dendrimers in drug delivery agents, diagnosis, therapy, and detection. J Nanomater 2014:3020287. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2014/507273
- Ozols RF (2006) Challenges for chemotherapy in ovarian cancer. Ann Oncol 17:v181–v187. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdj978

- Palmerston ML, Pan J, Torchilin VP (2017) Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy. Molecules 22:E1401. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22091401
- Rudovský J, Botta M, Hermann P, Hardcastle KI, Lukes I, Aime S (2006) PAMAM dendrimeric conjugates with a Gd-DOTA phosphinate derivative and their adducts with polyaminoacids: the interplay of global motion, internal rotation, and fast water exchange. Bioconjug Chem 17:975–987. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc0601491
- Saad M, Garbuzenko OB, Ber E, Chandna P, Khandare JJ, Pozharov VP, Minko T (2008) Receptor targeted polymers, dendrimers, liposomes: which nanocarrier is the most efficient for tumorspecific treatment and imaging? J Control Release 130:107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2008.05.024
- Shen W, van Dongen MA, Han Y, Yu M, Li Y, Liu G, Banaszak Holl MM, Qi R (2014) The role of caveolin-1 and syndecan-4 in the internalization of PEGylated PAMAM dendrimer polyplexes into myoblast and hepatic cells. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 88:658–663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejpb.2014.07.010
- Shen Z, Li B, Liu Y, Zheng G, Guo Y, Zhao R, Jiang K, Fan L, Shao J (2018) A self-assembly nanodrug delivery system based on amphiphilic low generations of PAMAM dendrimers-ursolic acid conjugate modified by lactobionic acid for HCC targeting therapy. Nanomedicine 14:227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2017.10.007
- Shukla S, Wu G, Chatterjee M, Yang W, Sekido M, Diop LA, Müller R, Sudimack JJ, Lee RJ, Barth RF, Tjarks W (2003) Synthesis and biological evaluation of folate receptor-targeted boronated PAMAM dendrimers as potential agents for neutron capture therapy. Bioconjug Chem 14:158–167. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc0255860
- Singh R, Lillard JW Jr (2009) Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. Exp Mol Pathol 86:215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.12.004
- Stapert HR, Nishiyama N, Jiang DL, Aida T, Kataoka K (2000) Polyion complex micelles encapsulating light-harvesting ionic dendrimer zinc porphyrins. Langmuir 16:8182–8188. https:// doi.org/10.1021/la000423e
- Tambe V, Thakkar S, Raval N, Sharma D, Kalia K, Tekade RK (2017) Surface engineered dendrimers in siRNA delivery and gene silencing. Curr Pharm Des 23:2952–2975. https://doi. org/10.2174/1381612823666170314104619
- Tietze S, Schau I, Michen S, Ennen F, Janke A, Schackert G, Aigner A, Appelhans D, Temme A (2017) A poly(propylene imine) dendrimer-based polyplex-system for single-chain antibodymediated targeted delivery and cellular uptake of siRNA. Small 13:27. https://doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201700072
- Tijsterman M, Plasterk RH (2004) Dicers at RISC; the mechanism of RNAi. Cell 117(1):1–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00293-4
- Tran NQ, Nguyen CK, Nguyen TP (2013) Dendrimer-based nanocarriers demonstrating a high efficiency for loading and releasing anticancer drugs against cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. Adv Nat Sci Nanosci Nanotechnol 4:045013. (7pp). https://doi.org/10.1088/2043-6262/4/4/045013
- Vasile E, Serafim A, Petre D, Giol D, Dubruel P, Iovu H, Stancu I (2014) Direct synthesis and morphological characterization of gold-dendrimer nanocomposites prepared using PAMAM succinamic acid dendrimers: preliminary study of the calcification potential. ScientificWorldJournal 2014:103462. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/103462
- Vhora I, Patil S, Bhatt P, Gandhi R, Baradia D, Misra A (2014) Receptor-targeted drug delivery: current perspective and challenges. Ther Deliv 5:1007–1024. https://doi.org/10.4155/tde.14.63
- Waite CL, Roth CM (2009) PAMAM-RGD conjugates enhance siRNA delivery through a multicellular spheroid model of malignant glioma. Bioconjug Chem 20:1908–1916. https://doi. org/10.1021/bc900228m
- Wang H, Zhao X, Guo C, Ren D, Zhao Y, Xiao W, Jiao W (2015) Aptamer-dendrimer bioconjugates for targeted delivery of miR-34a expressing plasmid and antitumor effects in non-small cell lung cancer cells. PLoS One 10(9):e0139136. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139136
- Wang H, Huang Q, Chang H, Xiao J, Cheng Y (2016a) Stimuli-responsive dendrimers in drug delivery. Biomater Sci 4:375–390. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5bm00532a

- Wang X, Wang H, Wang Y, Yu X, Zhang S, Zhang Q, Cheng Y (2016b) A facile strategy to prepare dendrimer-stabilized gold nanorods with sub-10-nm size for efficient photothermal cancer therapy. Sci Rep 9(6):22764. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22764
- Wilczewska AZ, Niemirowicz K, Markiewicz KH, Car H (2012) Nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. Pharmacol Rep 64:1020–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1734-1140(12)70901-5
- Wu G, Barth RF, Yang W, Chatterjee M, Tjarks W, Ciesielski MJ, Fenstermaker RA (2004) Site-specific conjugation of boron-containing dendrimers to anti-EGF receptor monoclonal antibody cetuximab (IMC-C225) and its evaluation as a potential delivery agent for neutron capture therapy. Bioconjug Chem 15:185–194. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc0341674
- Xing Y, Zhu J, Zhao L, Xiong Z, Li Y, Wu S, Chand G, Shi X, Zhao J (2018) SPECT/CT imaging of chemotherapy-induced tumor apoptosis using 99mTc-labeled dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles. Drug Deliv 25(1):1384–1393. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2018.1474968
- Xu Z, Kahr M, Walker KL, Wilkins CL, Moore JS (1994) Phenylacetylene dendrimers by the divergent, convergent, and double-stage convergent methods. J Am Chem Soc 116:4537–4550. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00090a002
- Yang J, Zhang Q, Chang H, Cheng Y (2015a) Surface-engineered dendrimers in gene delivery. Chem Rev 115:5274–5300. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr500542t
- Yang ZY, Li H, Zeng YP, Hao YH, Liu C, Liu J, Wang WD, Li R (2015b) Photosensitizer-loaded branched polyethylenimine-PEGylated ceria nanoparticles for imaging-guided synchronous photochemotherapy. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7:24218–24228. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsami.5b07702
- Yang R, Mao Y, Ye T, Xia S, Wang S, Wang S (2016) Study on enhanced lymphatic exposure of polyamidoamin-alkali blue dendrimer for paclitaxel delivery and influence of the osmotic pressure on the lymphatic targeting. Drug Deliv 23:2617–2629. https://doi.org/10.3109/1071754 4.2015.1041577
- Zhang Q, Wang L, Jiang Y, Gao W, Wang Y, Yang X, Yang X, Liu Z (2017) Gold nanorods with silica shell and PAMAM dendrimers for efficient photothermal therapy and low toxic codelivery of anticancer drug and siRNA. Adv Mater Interfaces 4:1701166. https://doi.org/10.1002/ admi.201701166
- Zhao L, Shi X, Zhao J (2017) Dendrimer-based contrast agents for PET imaging. Drug Deliv 24(Suppl 1):81–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2017.1399299
- Zhu W, Okollie B, Bhujwalla ZM, Artemov D (2008) PAMAM dendrimer-based contrast agents for MR imaging of Her-2/neu receptors by a three-step pretargeting approach. Magn Reson Med 59:679–685. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.21508
- Zhu J, Zheng L, Wen S, Tang Y, Shen M, Zhang G, Shi X (2014) Targeted cancer theranostics using alpha-tocopheryl succinate-conjugated multifunctional dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles. Biomaterials 35:7635–7646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.05.046

Chapter 9 Nanoparticle Design to Improve Transport Across the Intestinal Barrier



Wai-Houng Chou, Tessa Lühmann, Lorenz Meinel, and Javier Octavio Morales

Contents

9.1	Introduction		272
9.2	Mecha	anisms of Nanoparticle Barrier Penetration and Permeation	273
	9.2.1	Transcellular Pathway	274
	9.2.2	Intracellular Pathway	277
	9.2.3	Paracellular Pathway	279
	9.2.4	Homeostasis of Intestinal Barrier	279
9.3	Nanor	particle Properties Governing Barrier Transport	281
	9.3.1	Nanoparticle Size.	281
	9.3.2	Nanoparticle Shape.	282
	9.3.3	Surface Charge.	283
	9.3.4	Surface Properties of Nanoparticles	284
	9.3.5	Deformability and Degradability of Nanoparticles	284
9.4	Strate	gies to Improve Nanoparticle Transport Across the Intestinal Barrier	285

W.-H. Chou

Department of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, School of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile

Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Santiago, Chile

Center of New Drugs for Hypertension (CENDHY), Santiago, Chile e-mail: wai-houng.chou@postqyf.uchile.cl

T. Lühmann · L. Meinel

Institute of Chemistry and Pharmacy, University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany e-mail: tessa.luehmann@uni-wuerzburg.de; lorenz.meinel@uni-wuerzburg.de

J. O. Morales (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, School of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile

Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Santiago, Chile

Center of New Drugs for Hypertension (CENDHY), Santiago, Chile

Pharmaceutical Biomaterial Research Group, Department of Health Sciences, Luleå University of Technology, Luleå, Sweden e-mail: jomorales@ciq.uchile.cl

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_9

	9.4.1	Enterocyte-Mediated Transport	286
	9.4.2	Microfold Cell-Mediated Transport.	289
	9.4.3	Goblet Cell-Mediated Transport.	290
	9.4.4	Dendritic Cell-Mediated Transport	291
	9.4.5	Overcoming the Intestinal Mucus Gel Barrier.	291
	9.4.6	Avoidance of Efflux Pumps	293
	9.4.7	Bioresponsive Delivery Systems.	293
9.5 Toxicology of Na		logy of Nanoparticles	295
	9.5.1	Toxicological Pathways	296
	9.5.2	Toxicological Determinants of Nanoparticles.	297
	9.5.3	Systemic Toxicity of Nanoparticles	298
	9.5.4	Regulation Aspects of Nanoparticles	300
9.6	Conclu	isions	301
Refe	rences.		301

Abstract Overcoming the intestinal epithelium barrier is an important challenge for orally administered drugs, specifically for those that elicit poor water solubility and permeability, and several efforts have been developed to address this challenge. Nanosized drug delivery systems constitute one of these attempts to enhance the penetration and permeation of drugs through the intestinal epithelium; however, there remain limitations to be addressed to lead and elaborate an effective oral drug delivery system. A profound understanding of the mechanism of nanoparticle internalization pathways through gastrointestinal epithelial cells, i.e., endocytosis and paracellular transport, is required to overcome these pitfalls. Furthermore, the physical and chemical properties of nanoparticles, including size, shape, charge, surface composition, and particle deformation and degradation, are relevant factors that influence the internalization process and also in the toxicity profile in the organism. In addition, multiple developed and reported strategies for nanoparticles to target the intestinal epithelial cells, to adhere and penetrate the mucus gel barrier, and to perform a differentiated response according to a specific stimulus (i.e., bioresponsive effect) have been described in the relevant literature. Therefore, this chapter will provide a comprehensive depiction of key nanoparticle aspects to help to formulate a rational and effective design to overcome the intestinal epithelium barrier.

Keywords Nanoparticles · Intestinal epithelium · Drug delivery system · Intestinal barrier · Intestinal epithelium permeation · Bioresponsive nanoparticles · Nanotoxicology

9.1 Introduction

Epithelia are organized cellular structures served as natural barriers, maintaining and separating the internal environment of the body from external surfaces. An example of epithelial barriers is the epithelium covering the gastrointestinal tract, which is composed of different types of cells, so-called intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), and closely packed to each other, forming an asymmetric cellular layer characterized with a selective permeability (Laurent et al. 2017). This ability to restrict the passage of different molecules is a great challenge for orally administrated drugs, especially those with poorly water-soluble and poorly permeable properties. As the oral route of administration is the most popular and comfortable and results in better compliance by patients, several efforts have undertaken to overcome this problem. Furthermore, chemical, physical, and biological interactions between the drug and cellular components of the epithelium are the main determinant of whether or not and to what extent the drug may reach into the blood circulation and therefore, perform the therapeutic effect (Berardi and Bisharat 2014). As such, nanotechnology has emerged as a new tool for the design and elaboration of nanosized drug delivery systems. Using different types of these nanosized systems, an effective and enhanced permeation of transported drugs can be observed (Diab et al. 2017; El-Say and El-Sawy 2017; He et al. 2018). Moreover, active targeting strategies and the development of mucoadhesive and mucopenetrating nanomaterials comprise a whole new platform for engineering an optimal drug delivery system.

The goal of this chapter is to provide an overview of several aspects that must be considered for the design and development of an orally administered nanosized drug delivery system. The first part of the chapter will focus on the main pathways of nanoparticles to penetrate and permeate the epithelial barrier. Then, the second section will detail several parameters related to the physical and chemical properties of the nanoparticle and how they can impact on its internalization process through the epithelial barrier. The third and core part of this chapter will describe several strategies to overcome the epithelial barrier using targeting ligands, mucoadhesive and mucopenetrating agents, and novel bioresponsive delivery systems. Finally, the fourth section will be dedicated to the toxicity related to nanoparticles and the impact in the organism. The overall aim of this chapter is to describe the current tools that can be employed for enhancing the permeation through the intestinal epithelial barrier using nanosized drug delivery systems.

9.2 Mechanisms of Nanoparticle Barrier Penetration and Permeation

The transport of different kinds of molecules, including nanoparticles, through different compartments of the body, leads to factors associated with crossing biological membranes. These membranes act as barriers that show selective permeability, allowing them to control the transport of molecules and cell interaction with the environment and therefore, maintaining the cell composition equilibrium and integrity. There are several mechanisms described to allow molecule transport, depending on the molecular size and concentration, or electrochemical gradient. One of these mechanisms is endocytosis and consists of the process by which cells internalize selected extracellular molecules, including lipids, proteins, nanosized biomimetic particles, viruses, and even microorganisms, by endocytic vesicles called endosomes (Decuzzi and Ferrari 2008). Endocytosis is an active saturable internalization mechanism, i.e., a concentration, time, and energy-dependent process (Harush-Frenkel et al. 2008), and plays an important role in multiple biological processes such as mitosis, antigen presentation, cell migration, intracellular signaling cascades pathways, and nanoparticle interaction with barriers (Doherty and McMahon 2009). Among the endocytic pathways, these are classified into transcellular and intracellular mechanisms (Fig. 9.1).

9.2.1 Transcellular Pathway

The transcellular pathway is the major endocytic route for nanoparticle internalization with a very large surface area for this mechanism (Cai et al. 2010). Usually, this pathway involves the uptake of particles at the apical membrane of polarized cells, followed by release into the basolateral compartment, i.e., an endocytosis/exocytosis dual pathway, so-called transcytosis (Woitiski et al. 2008). Within the endocytic process of transcytosis, there are several mechanisms relevant to nanoparticle design:



Fig. 9.1 Endocytic mechanisms of nanoparticle penetration, including transcellular and intracellular pathways. *CCV* clathrin-coated vesicle, *CLIC* clathrin-independent tubulovesicular carrier, *GEEC* glycophosphatidyl inositol anchored protein-enriched early endosomal compartment. (Reproduced with permission from Sahay et al. (2010a))

Clathrin-Mediated Endocytosis

Clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) is the most classical route of cellular receptor-mediated endocytic entry, which is present in all mammalian cells (Kou et al. 2013; Sahay et al. 2010a). This route fulfills important physiological functions, including nutrient uptake and intracellular communication. The CME typically occurs in a membrane region enriched with a cytosolic three-legged structure protein, clathrin 1. After ligand binding to the respective receptor, cytoplasmic motifs of the receptor engage adaptor proteins, such as AP2 and AP180, which interact with clathrin, leads to the formation of a clathrin-coated basket-like structure (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009; Kanaseki and Kadota 1969; Rajendran et al. 2010; Sahay et al. 2010a). As clathrin structure formation continues, the pit becomes deeply invaginated into the cytoplasm until fission and formation of 100-150 nmsized clathrin-coated vesicles, mediated by a small GTPase protein, dynamin (Pucadyil and Schmid 2009). Once these vesicles are formed and internalized, the uncoating process is developed to recycling clathrin proteins (Conner and Schmid 2003). After this process, uncoated vesicles are delivered to acidic early endosomes, after which receptors and ligands are dissociated and recycled (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009). When early endosomes mature into late endosomes, reaching acidic conditions (pH 5), these vesicles fuse with lysosomes, and the content is exposed to enzymatic degradation (Bareford and Swaan 2007; Mukherjee et al. 1997). However, there is evidence that not all late endosomes will fuse with lysosomes. Furthermore, they can be excluded from the pathway and transported to the Golgi complex or even to the opposite membrane and be exocytosed (Matter and Mellman 1994; Rappoport 2008).

Caveolae-Mediated Endocytosis

Caveolae-mediated endocytosis (CvME) is an alternative pathway for particle internalization and is widely present in muscle, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and adipocytes and absent in neurons and leukocytes (Doherty and McMahon 2009). This is a clathrin-independent, but dynamin-dependent endocytosis, and is mediated by caveolin, a dimeric protein (Doherty and McMahon 2009; Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009). Caveolae are characteristic flask-shaped membrane invaginations, eliciting an average size between 50 nm and 80 nm and are enriched with lipid rafts, constituted by cholesterol and sphingolipids (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009; Sahay et al. 2010a). CvME is a highly regulated process, involving a complex signaling pathway, which may be driven by the cargo content itself (Bareford and Swaan 2007; Conner and Schmid 2003). When particles are attached to the cell surface via receptor-ligand interactions, they move along the plasma membrane to caveolae invaginations (Bareford and Swaan 2007). Once there, membrane curvature is induced by cavin protein, and fission of these caveolae structures generates cytosolic caveolae vesicles, in a dynamin-dependent process (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009; Nabi 2009). These vesicles fuse with caveosomes or neutral multivesicular
bodies by vesicle-associated membrane protein 2 and synaptosome-associated protein (Schnitzer et al. 1995). This pathway is slower than CME, but can avoid the lysosomal degradation and therefore, could be an advantage for the delivery of highly enzymatic-sensitive drugs or delivery systems (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009; Sahay et al. 2010a).

Nonspecific Adsorptive Pinocytosis

Nonspecific adsorptive pinocytosis is also referred to as fluid-phase endocytosis. Although this pathway is a variant of CME, there is a difference: nonspecific adsorptive pinocytosis is a receptor-independent mechanism, i.e., substances avoid direct attachment to cell membrane constituents. Nonspecific charges and hydrophobic interactions are the main mechanisms of cell adsorption, and the internalization process includes the entry of extracellular fluid and contents, carried out by clathrin-coated vesicles (Bareford and Swaan 2007; Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009). This adsorption process has a slower internalization rate compared to the classical receptor-dependent CME (Strømhaug et al. 1997).

Clathrin- and Caveolae-Independent Endocytosis

Both CME and CvME are pathways resulting in protein-coated vesicles and requiring the presence of dynamin. However, it is known that there are several mechanisms of endocytosis leading to the formation of noncoated vesicles and therefore, dynamin is not required. Among these pathways, CLIC/GEEC, Arf-6, and flotillinassociated endocytosis are the most described.

CLIC/GEEC Pathway

Clathrin-independent tubulovesicular carrier/glycophosphatidyl inositol anchored (GPI-AP)-enriched early endosomal compartments protein (CLIC/GEEC) pathway is a high-capacity route of internalization, specifically for lipid-anchored proteins (e.g., GPI-AP) and transmembrane proteins (e.g., CD44 and dysferlin) (Howes et al. 2010; Mayor et al. 2014; Rajendran et al. 2010). The structure of endocytic vesicles formed by this pathway is termed GEEC and results from the fusion of primary uncoated CLICs, derived from the cell surface (Kirkham et al. 2005). GEEC proteins appear to be enriched by GPI-APs, but the mechanism for this enrichment is not completely clear; however, a cholesterol and sphingolipid-dependent sorting mechanism is proposed, due to alterations on the level of those lipids that affects the vesicle formation in this pathway (Chadda et al. 2007; Sharma

et al. 2004). CLIC/GEEC endocytosis is initiated by the recruitment of Golgi brefeldin A resistant guanine nucleotide exchange factor 1 (GBF1) at the cell surface and activates ADP-ribosylation factor 1 (Arf1) protein. This activation leads to maintenance in the cyclic state of cell division control protein 42 (Cdc42), essential for the downstream actin polymerization process (Mayor et al. 2014). Although CLIC formation is dynamin-independent, this protein is localized to GEECs post-internalization and plays a role in vesicle recycling (Kirkham et al. 2005).

Arf6-Associated Pathway

ADP-ribosylation factor 6 (Arf6) is a protein located at the cell surface and is involved in clathrin- and dynamin-independent, but cholesterol-dependent endocytosis (Mayor et al. 2014). After the formation of endosomes, they fuse with Rab-5-positive vesicles, which can sort for recycling or degradation. The activation of Arf6 is required for the recycling pathway, but not for endocytosis. However, inactivation of this protein is important after internalization for the sorting of endosomal cargo (Naslavsky et al. 2003). Among substances using this pathway mostly are endogenous cell surface proteins (e.g., CD44 and CD59), major histocompatibility complex class I, glucose transporter GLUT1, and carboxypeptidase E (Doherty and McMahon 2009; Mayor et al. 2014).

Flotillin-Dependent Pathway

Flotillin 1 and 2 proteins play a key role in this mechanism of endocytosis, involving both dynamin-dependent and dynamin-independent internalization (Sandvig et al. 2011). For example, basolateral internalization of GPI-APs is carried out by flotillin 2 and is a dynamin-dependent process (Aït-Slimane et al. 2009). On the other hand, flotillin 1-dependent and dynamin-independent endocytosis are relevant for the internalization of cholera toxin B (Glebov et al. 2006). Other cargoes that exploit this pathway are Shiga toxin, CD59, and proteoglycans (Doherty and McMahon 2009; Pust et al. 2010).

9.2.2 Intracellular Pathway

Intracellular pathways are mechanisms of internalization involving large volumes of the membrane, and the final destination is the lysosome and therefore, this route is a degrading internalization pathway. This classification includes phagocytosis and macropinocytosis.

Phagocytosis

Phagocytosis is defined as the recognition and ingestion process of particles larger than 0.5 µm into membrane-bound vesicles, known as phagosomes (Freeman and Grinstein 2014). This process is a clathrin-independent and actin-dependent pathway and allows the internalization of particles, pathogens, and apoptotic cells (Champion and Mitragotri 2006; Freeman and Grinstein 2014; Murugan et al. 2015). This type of internalization pathway is widely described in phagocytes, including macrophages, monocytes, and dendritic cells and plays a key role during the immune response (Freeman and Grinstein 2014). However, there is evidence that other types of cells also exert phagocytic activity, such as fibroblasts and epithelial and endothelial cells, but to a much lower extent (Rabinovitch 1995). The basic mechanism of phagocytosis includes recognition by opsonization in circulation, adhesion of the opsonized particle to the cell, and subsequent internalization. Opsonization is a process consisting in tagging foreign particles with circulating blood proteins, opsonins (e.g., immunoglobulins G and M, complement system protein fragments, laminin, fibronectin, and C-reactive protein), making them visible to macrophages (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009; Owens III and Peppas 2006; Vonarbourg et al. 2006). After this process, opsonized particles are recognized by circulating macrophages and attached by specific receptor-mediated interactions, where Fc and complement receptors are the major and best characterized, recognizing immunoglobulin-opsonized and complement proteins-opsonized particles, respectively (Aderem and Underhill 1999; Groves et al. 2008). This receptor-ligand interaction triggers a signaling cascade mediated by GTPase Rho proteins, leading to actin assembly and the formation of cell surface extensions, so-called pseudopodia, which enclose and engulf the opsonized particles (Caron and Hall 1998). Furthermore, other receptors have been reported to be involved in the phagocytosis pathway, such as mannose/fructose scavenger and CD44 receptors (Aderem and Underhill 1999; Vachon et al. 2006, p. 44). The resulting phagosome will carry throughout the cytoplasm when actin protein is depolymerized from the vesicle and allows it to fuse with early endosomes and ultimately lysosomes, to a degradative pathway (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009).

Macropinocytosis

Macropinocytosis is a clathrin-independent and cholesterol-dependent endocytic route and is related to large-scale internalization process, involving the formation of membrane protrusions (Doherty and McMahon 2009; Lim and Gleeson 2011). Extracellular components trapped between these protrusions are internalized in vesicles, known as macropinosomes (Doherty and McMahon 2009; Swanson 2008). These macropinosomes have no particular coating structure, and sizes are ranged between 0.2 and 10 µm and therefore, provide a pathway for nonselective internalization of a large quantity of solute (Lim and Gleeson 2011; Sahay et al. 2010a). As phagocytosis, macropinocytosis is an actin-dependent pathway, i.e., the protein

polymerization and reorganization is essential for the formation of membrane protrusions (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009). Once macropinosomes are formed, these vesicles undergo a maturation process leading to two possible results: (1) fusion with lysosomes and degradation by lysosomal enzymes or (2) fusion with the plasma membrane and recycling the content to the cell exterior (Lim and Gleeson 2011).

9.2.3 Paracellular Pathway

Another transport mechanism to bypass epithelial barriers is the paracellular route, consisting of a non-endocytic passive transport of substances between adjacent cells (Morris and Bridget 2013, p. 5; Murugan et al. 2015). This pathway is limited to the very small surface area of intercellular spaces and tight junctions between cells and is specific for the transport of small hydrophilic molecules (Murugan et al. 2015; des Rieux et al. 2006). A pore formed by the space between adjacent cells has a variety of diameters of up to 15 Å and occupies less than 1% of the mucosal surface, compared to the transcellular pathway (Cai et al. 2010; Hayashi et al. 1997). The most relevant intercellular structures for substance transport are tight junctions and are found in most apical regions of the intercellular connections (Laksitorini et al. 2014). These structures are the rate-limiting factor of the paracellular permeation process (Ménard et al. 2010). Tight junctions are composed by a multiprotein complex of occludins, claudin-3, claudin-5, and claudin-12), junctional adhesion molecules (JAM-A, JAM-B, and JAM-C), and tricellulin and are associated with apical actomyosin rings, leading to the formation of an organized structure (Laksitorini et al. 2014; Ménard et al. 2010). These proteins have negatively charged amino acids in the composition, and thus, paracellular transport is more likely developed by small positive-charged NPs, due to electrostatic interactions (Woitiski et al. 2008). Under the steady-state condition, tight junctions allow the diffusion of cations and inert molecules of small size with a molecular weight of 600 Da or less (Ménard et al. 2010).

All transcellular, intracellular, and paracellular pathways of internalization are summarized in Table 9.1. These pathways occur within a wide range of cells, and understanding these processes can provide an approach to design drug delivery systems that exploit these types of internalization pathways for crossing epithelial barriers, especially those that avoid lysosomal fusion to prevent drug degradation.

9.2.4 Homeostasis of Intestinal Barrier

An important role of biological membranes is to provide protection serving as a barrier for exogenous and potential harming particles; however, this barrier function, especially in the intestinal epithelium, can be compromised in several types of diseases, including inflammatory and autoimmune illnesses, leading to a disrupted

Туре	Pathway	Mechanism	Observations
Transcellular	Clathrin-mediated endocytosis	Formation of invaginated clathrin-coated vesicles, in a dynamin-dependent process. This mechanism is mediated by ligand-receptor recognition	The main final destination of the cargo is the lysosome for degradation process; however, cargo can escape from lysosomes and be exocytosed
	Caveolae-mediated endocytosis	Formation of vesicles in a caveolin and dynamin- dependent process. This mechanism is mediated by ligand-receptor recognition	Cargo using this pathway has a slower rate of internalization in comparison with clathrin- mediated endocytosis, and it is not related to the lysosomal degradation pathway
	Nonspecific adsorptive pinocytosis	Variation of clathrin-mediated endocytosis that does not require ligand-receptor recognition	Ligand adsorption to the cell surface is required
	Clathrin- and caveolae- independent endocytosis	Some proteins and lipids are required for this type of endocytosis and are not dependent on dynamin	CLIC/GEEC, Arf6, and flotillin-dependent pathways are part of this type of endocytosis
Intracellular	Phagocytosis	Formation of phagosomes implies opsonization of circulating particles, adhesion to cell surface and internalization, and is an actin-dependent process	Solid cargoes include particles, pathogens, and cells
	Macropinocytosis	Formation of membrane protrusions (macropinosomes) incorporating cholesterol, and it is actin-dependent process	Cargoes are in a liquid state and may be destined to lysosomal degradation or membrane recycling
Paracellular	Paracellular	Formation of pores in apical intercellular connections, such as tight junctions	Transport of small positively charged particles

 Table 9.1
 Summary of types of barrier penetration pathways found in transcellular, intracellular, and paracellular transport mechanisms

barrier and therefore, higher permeability (Martini et al. 2017; Turner 2006). To restore this proper function, several processes are activated, including an enhanced proliferation of epithelial cells, immune response, and regulation of gut microbes. The intestinal epithelium is composed of IECs and elicited one of the most rapid renewal processes in the human body (Roostaee et al. 2016). This tissue is renewed every 4–5 days and approximately 10⁹ new cells are produced in each cycle. These new cells are derived from multipotent stem cells organized near the bottom of intestinal crypts. Several signals can induce proliferation and differentiation in several types of IECs. As these stem cells begin to differentiate, a migration process

from the base to the top of intestinal crypts occurs. Furthermore, by the time that these cells leave the crypt, they are fully differentiated in IECs and continue the migration up to the top of intestinal villi (De Mey and Freund 2013; van der Flier and Clevers 2009). Another important homeostatic process is related to the immune response in the intestinal lumen and is associated with the secretion of immunoglobulin A and antimicrobial peptides. Both molecules are involved in the protection against bacterial invasion of the mucus layer and secreted in intestinal dysbiosis-related diseases, reinforcing the integrity of the intestinal barrier and cushion cytokines-related proinflammatory responses (Okumura and Takeda 2017; Wells et al. 2017). In addition, gut microbiota and metabolites contribute to the mucosal barrier function of IECs, influencing tissue and immune development, providing metabolic functions and colonization resistance against pathogens (Okumura and Takeda 2018; Wells et al. 2017). Therefore, a well understanding of the intestinal barrier homeostasis, i.e., epithelium cells renewal cycles, immune response, and microbiota and metabolite interactions, may provide advantages in the design and proper formulation of drug delivery systems.

9.3 Nanoparticle Properties Governing Barrier Transport

An important issue that nanoparticles, as drug delivery systems, should achieve is to reach the absorptive epithelium surface, promote interactions with cells, and therefore, cross this barrier and reach the systemic circulation. These critical nanoparticle–cell interactions are influenced by several physical and chemical parameters of nanoparticles for drug delivery, including particle size, shape, surface charge, surface chemistry, and particle deformability and degradability (Fig. 9.2).

9.3.1 Nanoparticle Size

The particle size is an important key parameter that represents the three-dimensional in a one-dimensional singular scale value. Decreasing in particle size has been related to distinct properties about the bulk material that are responsible for several improvements in biological effects of nanoparticles used as drug delivery systems, including cell internalization rate, circulation half-lives, extravasation, or penetration through vasculature and mononuclear phagocyte system uptake (Blanco et al. 2015; Yokoyama et al. 2008).

As mentioned before, the cell internalization process is influenced by particle size. In this context, it has been described that an enhanced and easier internalization by epithelial cells is achieved using small-sized particles and therefore, can extravasate into circulation to reach diseased tissues, including inflamed endothelial cells and tumors (Sahay et al. 2010a; Singh and Lillard Jr. 2009). Nanoparticles with size ranging from 50 nm to 200 nm have been shown to have greater cell



Fig. 9.2 Nanoparticle properties governing barrier transport and permeation, including particle size, shape, charge, surface composition, and deformability and degradability. *CME* clathrin-mediated endocytosis, *NP* nanoparticle, *PEG* poly(ethylene glycol), *PVP* poly(vinyl pyrrolidone)

internalization rate compared with larger particles using both in vitro and in vivo models of intestinal epithelial cells (Banerjee et al. 2016b; Florence et al. 1995; Li et al. 2015). While larger nanoparticles are internalized using intracellular-dependent pathway, specifically phagocytosis and macropinocytosis, small particles are prone to be internalized by transcellular-dependent mechanism, either by CVE or CvME (Koval et al. 1998; Li et al. 2015; des Rieux et al. 2006).

9.3.2 Nanoparticle Shape

The shape of a nanoparticle is a parameter related to size and therefore, it must be considered at the design of delivery systems. As the size, particle shape can also influence several phenomena in biological tissues and organs. To date, the most described shape is spherical, but in the past decades to discoid, rod-like, filamentous, cylindrical, and barrel-shaped NPs are been obtained (Champion et al. 2007; Kinnear et al. 2017). There is evidence that nonspherical-shaped nanoparticles elicited an enhanced cell internalization rate compared with spherical ones (Banerjee et al. 2016b; Chithrani et al. 2006; Hao et al. 2012; Zheng et al. 2017). For example,

Hao et al. have developed different types of poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-conjugated fluorescent mesoporous silica nanoparticles, including spherical, short rod, and long rod-shaped, and demonstrated that long rod-shaped particles achieved the highest cell internalization rate compared with the other two shapes (Hao et al. 2012). The difference observed can be explained by the larger contact area interaction of rod-shaped in contrast with spherical particles. Furthermore, the shape also influences the internalization pathway. The same study of Hao et al. has demonstrated that spherical particles are internalized via CME, long rod-shaped prefer CvME, and short rod-shaped can be internalized indistinctly by both mechanisms (Hao et al. 2012). Therefore, the shape of the particle is an important parameter that influences the rate and mechanism of cell internalization.

9.3.3 Surface Charge

The surface charge or zeta potential is a parameter related to the charge of a structure and represents the electrostatic potential mean in the particle surface (Hunter 1981; Woitiski et al. 2008). Chemical nature of the nanoparticle surface, the stabilizing agent used in the elaboration process, and pH of the medium are major factors that influence the net surface charge (Mora-Huertas et al. 2010). There is consensus that positively charged particles elicited a higher interaction with negatively charged cell membranes or other components surrounding the cells, e.g., negatively charged mucin proteins forming the mucus layer (Gratton et al. 2008; Norris and Sinko 1997). Chitosan nanoparticles may interact with negatively charged groups of the mucosa. This is a biocompatible, biodegradable, hydrophilic, and positively charged polymer and can interact with negatively charged groups of the cell membrane and mucus layer and therefore, be used to design nanoparticles for crossing biological barriers (Behrens et al. 2002; Cai et al. 2010). Therefore, the interaction between positively charged particles and the negatively charged constituents of the cell membrane and mucus layer enhances the cell internalization rate of these nanoparticles. This was confirmed by Ha et al. and demonstrated a positive correlation between an increase in the zeta potential of β -lactoglobulin nanoparticles and the cell internalization rate using an experimental in vivo Caco-2 cell model (Ha et al. 2015). Rather than advantages of positively charged nanoparticles, there are negatively charged nanosystems reported to be more prone to be internalized, including cadmium selenide core and zinc sulfide shell quantum dots, gold, and polystyrene nanoparticles (Walczak et al. 2015a, b; Zhang and Monteiro-Riviere 2009). Furthermore, Harush-Frenkel et al. have shown that positively charged poly(lactic acid) (PLA)-PEG nanoparticles are internalized by CME, and when this pathway is saturated, the uptake is driven by macropinocytosis. Negatively charged PLA-PEG particles are internalized to a lower extent by CME and clathrin-dynamin independent pathways, and similarly to positive ones, when these mechanisms are saturated, these particles are internalized via macropinocytosis (Harush-Frenkel et al. 2008). Other studies indicate that negatively charged liposomes, micelles, and

quantum dots are possibly internalized via CvME (Sahay et al. 2010b; Zhang and Monteiro-Riviere 2009). Furthermore, Lin et al. have demonstrated that negatively charged gold nanoparticles cross the epithelial Caco-2 cell monolayer through tight junctions via the paracellular route, while positive and neutral gold particles are internalized by endocytosis (Lin et al. 2012).

9.3.4 Surface Properties of Nanoparticles

The surface properties are related mainly by the chemical composition of nanoparticles and associated with particle cell internalization. Indeed, a balanced composition of hydrophobic and hydrophilic moieties at the particle surface leads to an optimal cell internalization process (Cai et al. 2010). In this parameter, the polymer chosen to synthesize drug delivery systems must be biocompatible and biodegradable. Among these, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and chitosan have been used for this purpose. PLGA nanoparticles have been applied for vaccines administration (Slütter et al. 2010; Tian and Yu 2011) and targeting to cancer cells (Amin et al. 2016; Aravind et al. 2012) and have been reported that are internalized via fluid-phase pinocytosis and CME (Danhier et al. 2012). On the other hand, chitosan is also used as mucoadhesive particles and internalized mainly by adsorptivemediated endocytosis and CME in respiratory epithelial A549 cells (Huang et al. 2002). However, there is evidence that chitosan nanoparticles can also be internalized by CME using an in vitro Caco-2 cells model (Ma and Lim 2003). Furthermore, another important property using chitosan is the ability to temporarily open tight junctions to enhance paracellular transport (Vllasaliu et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2014a). Covering the particle surface with hydrophilic polymers, including PEG and poly(vinyl pyrrolidone), has been reported to decrease the opsonization process and prevent the uptake of nanoparticles by mononuclear phagocyte system tissues, mainly due to steric repulsive forces present at the surface of these nanoparticles against circulating proteins. This phenomenon leads to an enhanced circulation time of nanoparticles in the so-called stealth effect (Gref et al. 2000; Ogawara et al. 2004; Owens III and Peppas 2006; Perrault et al. 2009; Rabanel et al. 2012; Torchilin et al. 1994).

9.3.5 Deformability and Degradability of Nanoparticles

Another feature that is relevant in nanoparticle design to improve the ability to cross a biological barrier is related to the deformability and degradability of nanoparticles. The deformability is related to the elasticity and ability of a particle to adopt different forms and therefore, may contribute to the modulation and performance of several pharmacokinetic parameters. For example, rigid particles with a greater diameter than the cutoff limit of fenestrations of splenic interendothelial slits are

prone to be cleared by this organ (Blanco et al. 2015). Cui et al. have developed PEG hydrogel particles with tunable elasticity and demonstrated that super soft hydrogels, i.e., particles with high elasticity and thus, an increase ability to deform, are more susceptible to pass through the microchannels in a microfluidic blood capillary model (Cui et al. 2014). Recent studies have also confirmed that deformability is directly relevant for tumoral cells uptake and to optimally penetrate intestinal mucosal and tumor matrix of nanolipogels and PLGA-lipid nanoparticles (Guo et al. 2018; Yu et al. 2018). On another key aspect of nanoparticles, degradability has a major impact on the release of the encapsulated drug and also influences the stability of the delivery system. In this matter, biodegradability is a critical parameter to design a nanoparticle, i.e., using constituents that are proved of high biocompatibility and the degradation products are non-toxic and not cause adverse effects (Blanco et al. 2015). Furthermore, the biodegradability of nanoparticle constituents is related to barrier penetration. Tang et al. have developed biodegradable poly(sebacic acid) and PEG nanoparticles and demonstrated an enhanced permeation through human cervicovaginal mucus in comparison with polystyrene nanoparticles, due to effect partitioning of PEG units and therefore, may constitute a valid platform for controlling drug release (Tang et al. 2009). Thus, nanoparticlerelated parameters, including particle size, shape, charge, surface properties, deformability, and degradability, are important to be considered in nanoparticle development as a drug delivery system and influence their ability and performance of crossing biological barriers, by promoting interactions between nanoparticle and cell surface.

9.4 Strategies to Improve Nanoparticle Transport Across the Intestinal Barrier

The safety and noninvasiveness made the oral route an ideal route of administration for drugs and delivery systems. Although these advantages, the administration of poorly water-soluble and poorly permeable drugs are always been difficult and challenging, due to the poor bioavailability, and consequently the pharmacological effect. For this reason, nanoparticles as drug delivery systems have emerged as a solution to this disjunctive. Nonetheless, crossing the intestinal epithelium and therefore, reaching systemic circulation remains a challenging feature that must be addressed for an efficient delivery and effect of the drug.

Anatomically, the larger absorption surface for nutrients, drugs, and other substances in the gut is present in the small intestine and provides efficient barrier for foreign particles, including toxins, peptides, and microorganisms (Lundquist and Artursson 2016). This barrier effect is due to several processes, including pH environment, the presence of hydrolytic enzymes, the mucus gel layer, and the organization of the epithelial cells (Lee and Yamamoto 1989). The epithelium of the small intestine is composed of several types of cells, called IECs, and these cells are prone to internalize and transport substances from intestinal lumen to systemic circulation. Therefore, several strategies have been proposed to enhance absorption and internalization processes for nanoparticles (Fig. 9.3).

9.4.1 Enterocyte-Mediated Transport

Enterocytes are the most numerous cells among IECs (Peterson and Artis 2014). The apical surface has multiple projections known as microvilli and formed a highly specialized structure for efficient digestion, substance absorption and transport, and protecting barrier, called brush border (Delacour et al. 2016). The internalization process of nanoparticles can be achieved by exploiting the existing knowledge about receptors used for the absorption of molecules, including antibodies, transferrin, vitamins, and monocarboxylate substances.

A very known antibody receptor is the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), which binds to immunoglobulin G and also albumin. A very unique characteristic of this receptor involves a pH-dependent activity, i.e., this receptor can bind ligands in the apical side at a mildly acidic environment (pH < 6.5) and then be internalized and cross the whole cell by a transcytosis mechanism and release the ligands in the basolateral side at physiological pH (7.4) (Pridgen et al. 2013; Pyzik et al. 2015). Pridgen et al. have developed immunoglobulin G-conjugated PLA-PEG nanoparticles and demonstrated an augmented transepithelial transport using an in vitro Caco-2 cell model, compared with nonconjugated particles. The administration of human



Fig. 9.3 Illustration of the absorptive small intestinal epithelium and intestinal epithelial cells for potential active targeting of nanoparticles to improve transport across the intestinal barrier. (Reproduced with permission from Zhang and Wu (2014))

immunoglobulin G solution also impaired the internalization rate of these conjugated nanoparticles, due to the higher affinity of free human immunoglobulin G and FcRn receptor, demonstrating that these immunoglobulin G-conjugated nanoparticles can bind and be internalized by a FcRn-dependent pathway (Pridgen et al. 2013). Recently, Shi et al. have developed PEG-PLGA-nanoparticles modified with Fc and loaded with exenatide, a hypoglycemic drug, and demonstrated a faster and greater permeation rate in comparison with unmodified particles, using in vivo Caco-2 cells model. Furthermore, orally administered of these modified nanoparticles have elicited an extended hypoglycemic effect in mice compared with subcutaneous injection of the exenatide solution (Shi et al. 2018). However, the main disadvantage of this type of targeting involves the production and therefore, the cost of FcRn ligands that may require eukaryotic expression systems due to specific patterns of these ligands, including glycosylation or disulfide bonds (Sockolosky and Szoka 2015).

On the other hand, the transferrin receptor elicits a high affinity for transferrin, a non-heme iron-binding glycoprotein, important for dietary iron absorption (Qian et al. 2002). Some evidence demonstrates the overexpression of this receptor in central nervous systems and tumor cells (Högemann-Savellano et al. 2003; Ulbrich et al. 2009). Besides, the transferrin receptor is involved in a CME-dependent internalization process (Grant and Donaldson 2009). Insulin conjugated with transferrin to target transferrin receptor in enterocytes has elicited 5-15-folds higher internalization rate using an in vitro Caco-2 cell monolayer model and demonstrated a higher hypoglycemic effect after oral administration of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats, compared with free insulin (Lim and Shen 2005; Shah and Shen 1996). Micelles made by transferrin receptor-specific 7 peptide-conjugated PEG-bpolycaprolactone and loaded with coumarin 6 have demonstrated an increased internalization rate in Caco-2 cells and higher accumulation in late endosomes and lysosomes, compared with nonconjugated micelles (Du et al. 2013). Although the enhanced permeation in enterocytes, transferrin-conjugated nanoparticles may be harmful to low transferrin receptor-expressed cells causing toxicity and adverse effects (Alexander-Bryant et al. 2013).

Vitamins can also be used as targeting ligand, and complex B is the most used. Folate (vitamin B9) is a water-soluble vitamin and is important for nucleotide synthesis as well as for the methylation process of nucleic acids, proteins, and phospholipids (Dai and Koh 2015). It has been described that the internalization process of this vitamin in enterocytes is related to two different proteins: intestinal reduced folate carrier and proton-coupled folate transporter (Visentin et al. 2014). Paclitaxel-loaded folate-PEG-PLA-conjugated PLGA nanoparticles have demonstrated a higher internalization rate of this poorly water-soluble antitumoral drug, using an in vitro Caco-2 cells model, related to the expression of folate carrier in a CvME-dependent pathway (Roger et al. 2012). Furthermore, folate-poly(ethyleneimine)-conjugated mesoporous carbon nanoparticles have elicited an enhanced internalization rate, for the same drug and using an identical Caco-2 cell culture (Wan et al. 2015). However, the main drawback of using folate as targeting ligand

is that the site of conjugation is difficult to precisely control, leading to the formation of a heterogeneous population of folate conjugates (Zhao et al. 2008).

Cyanocobalamin (vitamin B12) is another water-soluble vitamin and absorption depends on a glycoprotein known as intrinsic factor. This complex is internalized by cubilin, the specific endocytic enterocyte receptor (Kozyraki et al. 1999). Vitamin B12-conjugated Gantrez AN poly(methyl vinyl ether-co-maleic anhydride) nanoparticles linked with dimethylformamide chains elicited 3.5-fold higher tropism for distal sites of the intestine, compared with nonconjugated nanoparticles (Salman et al. 2008). Furthermore, a novel insulin-loaded calcium phosphate nanoparticles conjugated with vitamin B12-chitosan layer-by-layer coating have shown a higher internalization rate using in vivo Caco-2 cells model, mediated by cubilin-mediated endocytosis and enhanced paracellular route, by chitosanassociated opening tight junctions effect. This increased internalization rate leads to a more efficient hypoglycemic effect after oral administration of these conjugated nanoparticles, in streptozotocin-induced diabetic Wistar rats (Verma et al. 2016). Using a similar vitamin B12-amphiphilic chitosan nanoparticle, Wang et al. have shown an enhanced uptake and permeation of these particles carrying scutellarin, an active flavone, using in vitro Caco-2 cells model, as a possible treatment of type II diabetes induced-retinopathy (Wang et al. 2017). However, the main disadvantage using systems with cyanocobalamin as targeting molecule is the high accumulation rate in the liver and kidneys, due to interaction with transcobalamin II transporter and therefore, leading to high clearance of these systems (Alberto 2010).

Another water-soluble vitamin that could be used as targeting ligand is biotin (vitamin B7 or vitamin H). This micronutrient has dietary and colonic bacterial sources and is transformed to free biotin. This free biotin can be internalized by a saturable and sodium-dependent carrier-mediated process (Said 2002, 2009). Biotin-ricinoleic acid and biotin-12-hydroxystearic acid-conjugated with the antiviral drug acyclovir have elicited higher cell accumulation in MDCK-MDR1 and Caco-2 cells, indicating that both biotin (as targeting moiety) and lipid acids (as lipid raft to impart lipophilicity) act synergistically toward cell internalization process (Vadlapudi et al. 2012). Furthermore, oral administration of insulin-loaded biotin-conjugated liposomes showed a significant hypoglycemic effect after treating diabetic rats, compared with conventional liposomes (Zhang et al. 2014b). A possible limitation using biotin-conjugated nanoparticles is the strong interaction between this targeting ligand and the receptor, leading to a difficult releasing process of modified nanoparticles and therefore, a highly concentrated biotin solution must be used to reverse this ligand-receptor interaction (Jain and Cheng 2017).

Monocarboxylate substances, such as pyruvate, lactate, and ketone bodies (acetoacetate and β -hydroxybutyrate), are internalized in enterocytes by proton-linked pathway monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), specifically by solute carriers (SLC), SLC16 family (Halestrap 2012). The MCT1 isoform is the most studied and widely expressed in the liver parenchymal cells, tubule cells of the kidney, bloodbrain barrier, and IECs. Furthermore, the absorption of certain drugs, including salicylate, valproic acid, atorvastatin, nateglinide, and nicotinic acid, is dependent on MCT proteins (Halestrap and Wilson 2012) and also related with the γ -hydroxybutyric acid transport (Lam et al. 2010). Therefore, a novel butyrateconjugated lipid-polymer nanoparticle with PEG chains, used as drug delivery system, has demonstrated an increase in cell internalization rate using an in vitro model using E12 cells, by MCT-dependent mechanism, compared with nonconjugated particles (Wu et al. 2017).

Hence, several strategies for enhanced permeation using receptors expressing in enterocyte apical cell membranes including immunoglobulins, transferrin, vitamins, and monocarboxylate compounds as targeting ligands. Although these developed strategies and the presence of microvilli in the apical surface of enterocytes, targeting to these cells may include challenges, such as high expression of hydrolytic enzymes and dense mucus layer on top of the apical membrane that influence the nanoparticle permeation process and is not addressed with the use of in vitro cell models.

9.4.2 Microfold Cell-Mediated Transport

Microfold cells (M-cells) are the second most abundant IECs and constitute the follicle-associated epithelium in Peyer's patches. The main difference between enterocytes and M-cells is related to the morphological structures. The apical surface of the latter is lack of an organized brush border, with short irregular microvilli and no extensive glycocalyx, as shown in Fig. 9.3 (Corr et al. 2008). At the basolateral surface, M-cells elicit an invagination leading to a few microns distance with the apical surface (Neutra et al. 1996). These distinctive surfaces are demonstrated to be important for the active transport of food antigens and microorganisms, mainly by endocytosis or phagocytosis-dependent mechanisms (Clark et al. 2001; Schulz and Pabst 2013). Therefore, several strategies have been developed to target these cells.

For specific M-cell targeting, lectins can be used as targeting ligands. Lectins are proteins or glycoproteins that have been reported to be useful for selective targeting of certain monosaccharides in glycans and glycolipids presenting on the M-cell surface (Becker and Lowe 2003). A specific lectin is *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin 1 (UEA-1) obtained from gorse seeds and elicits high affinity and specificity for L-fucose (Brayden et al. 2005). Monophosphoryl lipid A-loaded UEA-1-conjugated PLGA lipid nanoparticles were developed for oral vaccine delivery system and demonstrated an effective internalization using both in vitro Caco-2/Raji B coculture and ex vivo BALB/c mice models (Ma et al. 2014). However, the main disadvantage of using UEA-1 is that the L-fucose receptor is not expressed in human M-cells, and this lectin elicits a toxic effect and is prone to intestinal degradation (Brayden et al. 2005). For these reasons, nontoxic and low-degraded lectins have been tested, including tomato lectin and wheat germ agglutinin. Both lectins have an affinity to *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine expressed in human M-cells and have been tested as lectin-modified insulin liposomes, demonstrating to cause an effective

hypoglycemic effect compared with non-coated insulin liposomes using in vivo mice model (Zhang et al. 2005).

Another strategy used for M-cell targeting is using microorganism-derived ligands. In this sense, poliovirus type-1 and the attenuated Sabin strain have been related with selective adhesion to human M-cells, mediated by CD155 receptor, and the internalization process is related to CME-dependent pathway (Iwasaki et al. 2002; Neutra et al. 1996). Clostridium perfringens enterotoxin is another strategy that could be used for M-cell targeted delivery systems. This toxin elicits high affinity with claudin-4, an integral membrane protein responsible for the formation of tight junctions in epithelial cells and therefore, paracellular communication (Günzel and Yu 2013). Using this toxin as targeting ligand, modified chitosan-based complexes have been evaluated as DNA vaccine model for protection against viral myocarditis induced by Coxsackievirus B3 and demonstrated that this vaccine system showed an effective immune system stimulation after oral administration in BALB/c mice, eliciting higher mucosal IgA expression and T cell proliferation, mainly interferon-y-producing T cells, compared with nonconjugated chitosan DNA control (Ye et al. 2014). However, using microorganism-derived compounds as targeting ligands may trigger a local immune response and alter the permeation process through M-cells.

The arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) tripeptide is useful as an alternative for M-cell targeting. This tripeptide is recognized as the minimal sequence for integrin receptor recognition. Integrins are proteins that play important roles as cell adhesion receptors and several pathological processes, including cancer (Barczyk et al. 2010). Using an in vitro human M-cell model, RGD-conjugated to PEGylated PLGA nanoparticles elicited a higher internalization rate compared with the enterocytes model, demonstrating the RGD and integrin receptor interactions and an M-cell selectivity (Garinot et al. 2007). A pentapeptide–glycine–arginine–glycine– aspartic acid–serine (GRGDS)-conjugated β -glucan positively charged nanoparticles designed as oral vaccine delivery system for negatively charged PR8 antigen, an inactivated antigen of influenza A virus, have elicited a higher affinity to M-cell model compared with enterocyte cells model, due to the RGD-integrin receptormediated targeting. In vivo analysis for immune response in female Swiss albino rats confirmed the usefulness of this oral vaccine delivery system for immunization (Lee et al. 2017).

Thus, M-cell targeting strategies are alternatives to overcome the intestinal barrier and enhance the permeation effect of nanoparticles. Although the advantages of M-cells related to the morphology, a low number of these cells in comparison with enterocytes are the main pitfall of the development of these targeting strategies.

9.4.3 Goblet Cell-Mediated Transport

Goblet cells are specialized IECs with a high secretory function, related to the production of mucosal components, such as mucins, and several other proteins of glycocalyx (McCauley and Guasch 2015). A known strategy to target this type of epithelial cell is using CSKSSDYQC (CSK) peptide sequence. Trimethylated chitosan chloride nanoparticles for orally insulin administration were conjugated with CSK peptide and elicited higher internalization rate through in vitro goblet-cell like HT29-MTX cell model, compared with non-modified particles, in both CME- and CvME-dependent manners (Jin et al. 2012). Novel amphiphilic dodecylaminegrafted- γ -polyglutamic acid copolymers conjugated with *N*-trimethylated chitosan-CSK peptide micelles have elicited significantly higher internalization rate in an in vitro Caco-2/HT29-MTX-E-12 co-culture cell model, compared with non-CSKconjugated chitosan micelles. Furthermore, using this vehicle for orally insulin administration in diabetic rats, a prolonged hypoglycemic effect was observed (Zhang et al. 2015a). However, a mucus layer and the presence of mucins cover the apical face of goblet cells, as enterocytes, and may hinder the effective targeting process.

9.4.4 Dendritic Cell-Mediated Transport

Dendritic cells are not present in the intestinal epithelium, but reside below this, in the lamina propria layer. These cells have an important role in the modulation of innate and adaptive immune activities as specialized antigen-presenting cells (Coombes and Powrie 2008). Dendritic cells can only extend projections between IECs, known as dendrites, and therefore, be exposed to the intestinal lumen and could be taken advantage for absorption and internalization of drug delivery systems, mainly by the expression of surface receptors, including toll-like receptors and Fc receptors (Schulz and Pabst 2013; Zhang and Wu 2014). Three different peptide sequences, composed of 12 amino acids (FYPSYHSTPORP, AYYKTASLAPAE, SLSLLTMPGNAS), have been proved to target dendritic cells and efficiently activate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (Curiel et al. 2004). Using the first peptide as a dendritic cell-targeting molecule to deliver Bacillus anthracis protective antigen using Lactobacillus acidophilus as a vector was synthesized for vaccine strategy and showed higher protective immune response compared with non-dendritic cell-targeting vector (Mohamadzadeh et al. 2009). However, this type of targeting is exclusively developed for the immunization process.

9.4.5 Overcoming the Intestinal Mucus Gel Barrier

The intestinal epithelium at the luminal side is covered by a viscous liquid, so-called mucus barrier. This mucus is constituted by water and mucins, secreted by goblet cells, and also contains digestive intestinal enzymes and antibodies. The thickness of this mucus layer could vary according to the intestine portion, from 10 μ m to 100 μ m (Lundquist and Artursson 2016; Pearson et al. 2016). The contact of several small agents, including microorganisms and drug delivery systems, with IECs,

could be avoided and prevented by the presence of this mucus layer (Pelaseyed et al. 2014). Therefore, strategies have been developed to overcome this mucus barrier for efficient interaction between drug delivery systems and IECs.

The mucoadhesive effect is based on the enhanced adhesion property of a particle to the components of the mucus layer, and therefore, an increase in the residency time of a particle in the intestine is seen. This effect may be achieved using a designed positive surface charge of drug delivery systems, due to formation of electrostatic interactions with negatively charged functional groups of mucins, including sialic acid and sulfate groups (Malhaire et al. 2016). Positive charges of chitosan make this polymer an optimal component for the development of drug delivery systems with the mucoadhesive property. Indeed, trimethylated and thiolated chitosan nanoparticles have been proved for this purpose and demonstrated a significantly higher mucus adhesion capacity (Millotti et al. 2011; Yin et al. 2009). Poly(acrylic acid) is another polymer with mucoadhesive property tested. Poly(acrylic acid)conjugated nanoparticles for oral delivery of acyclovir elicited an enhanced mucoadhesion ability using in vitro excised Sprague Dawley small intestine evaluation, and this effect is higher as increasing concentration of polymer is used (Bhosale et al. 2011). Some evidence demonstrates Eudragit® polymer systems also elicit mucoadhesive property and were successfully tested for orally insulin administration (Banerjee et al. 2016a; Zhang et al. 2015b). Mucus-penetrating particles have been developed based on the mucoadhesive property. These mucus-penetrating particles consist of nanoparticles coated with good wettability agents, promoting the formation of chemical interactions between mucus and these particles (Malhaire et al. 2016). The most used coating agent is PEG, due to the neutral uncharged and hydrophilic surface properties (Lai et al. 2009). Evidence demonstrated that PEGcoated nanoparticles enhance the adhesion and penetration of intestinal mucosa. Furthermore, low molecular weight PEG elicited a better adhesive and penetrating capabilities compared with high molecular weight polymer (Inchaurraga et al. 2015; Yoncheva et al. 2007; Zabaleta et al. 2012). An interesting topic using PEG is the surface distribution. PEG can adopt two distribution patterns on particle surface: mushroom-like distribution is associated with a low density of PEG, leading to a thin coating layer; and brush-like distribution is related to fully extended arrangement of PEG, resulting in a thicker layer (Perry et al. 2012). There is evidence that described the advantages of using the brush-like distribution for PEGcoated nanoparticles, enhancing the tissue diffusion, distribution, and several pharmacokinetic parameters (Lee and Larson 2016; Perry et al. 2012; Xu et al. 2015). Novel dissociable "mucus-inert" hydrophilic N-(2-hydroxypropyl)methacrylamide copolymer coating for insulin-loaded N-trimethylated chitosan nanoparticles has elicited a significantly higher mucus penetration, due to the dissociation of the copolymer as particles permeate through this layer, and the subsequent insulin-loaded N-trimethylated chitosan nanoparticles can interact with IECs and be transported by paracellular-dependent pathway, related with chitosan-induced tight junctions opening mechanism (Liu et al. 2016).

The other strategy to overcome the mucus gel layer is the mucodiffusion effect, which consists of the disruption of this mucus layer. Papain, a mucoglycoprotein

cleaver enzyme, has been used in the synthesis of mucodiffusive nanoparticles. Papain-grafted poly(acrylic acid) nanoparticles are developed as drug delivery systems and demonstrated an effective mucus penetration (Köllner et al. 2015; Müller et al. 2014). Another mucolytic enzyme used is bromelain and has been demonstrated that this enzyme elicited higher penetration efficiency than papain (Pereira de Sousa et al. 2015). N-acetyl-L-cysteine, another mucolytic enzyme, has been shown to reduce the cross-linking structure between mucins by breaking disulfide bonds, resulting in a decrease of mucus viscosity (Dünnhaupt et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2015). Nanomicelles made by N-acetyl-L-cysteine-functionalized chitosan-vitamin E succinate have been developed using this strategy for orally paclitaxel delivery and demonstrated greater mucoadhesion and mucodiffusion properties (Lian et al. 2013). Furthermore, N-acetyl-L-cysteine-PEG-monostearate nanostructured lipid carriers loaded with curcumin elicited higher accumulation in the duodenum of mice, compared with non-mucolytic PEG-monostearate systems, after intragastrical administration (Tian et al. 2017). Therefore, addressing the challenge of overcoming the mucus gel barrier using mucoadhesion and mucodiffusion processes may lead to effective contact and interaction between nanoparticles and the apical membrane of IECs.

9.4.6 Avoidance of Efflux Pumps

P-glycoprotein (P-gp) is a well-characterized membrane transporter and plays a key role in drug efflux at the intestinal epithelium. This protein acts as a physiological pump by extruding foreign substances out of the cells, including toxins and some drugs (Amin 2013; Srivalli and Lakshmi 2012). Although P-gp can recognize, bind, and transport several non-related drugs, almost all of the substrates are basic or uncharged and hydrophobic compounds (Lin and Yamazaki 2003, p. 59–98). To avoid this efflux pump, P-gp inhibitor-conjugated delivery systems have been described. In this sense, PEG has demonstrated that significantly inhibit the efflux and basolateral to apical transport mechanisms of several drugs, including paclitaxel, doxorubicin, and famotidine, using in vitro Caco-2 cells model (Hugger et al. 2002; Mokhtar et al. 2017).

9.4.7 Bioresponsive Delivery Systems

A novel strategy used for the efficient delivery of drugs has been proposed and is known as a bioresponsive delivery system. This type of drug delivery system is designed to be inactive in circulation and be activated by a specific endogenous stimulus at the desire tissue or cell (Lühmann and Meinel 2016). This specific endogenous stimulus is based on differences between physiological and pathological conditions, including temperature, pH value, the activity of enzymes, and the presence of reactive oxygen species (Lühmann and Meinel 2016). These bioresponsive delivery systems possess a fragment of small peptide motif used as a linker, including the desired sequences for activation by any stimulus mentioned above (Liu et al. 2014; Weinstain et al. 2014).

One of the main bioresponsive linkers used is based on pH variation. Therefore, these pH-sensitive drug delivery systems are designed to respond selectively according to a pH value of normal or diseased tissue (Liu et al. 2014). There is evidence of these pH-sensitive delivery systems used with mesoporous silica nanoparticles. Positively charged mesoporous silica nanoparticles for sulfasalazine oral administration have demonstrated pH-differentiated responses, where higher drug release was achieved under simulated intestinal pH (7.4) compared with simulated gastric acidic conditions (1.2) (Lee et al. 2008; Popat et al. 2014). This pH-responsive effect is based on changes in the hydrodynamic diameter of nanoparticles, eliciting a higher release profile when a swollen state is reached at physiologic conditions (Chang et al. 2013). Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose phthalate-conjugated thiolated chitosan nanoparticles have also elicited pH-responsive effect used for low molecular weight heparin oral administration (Fan et al. 2016).

Another type of bioresponsive effect is to design linkers that respond to extracellular or intracellular enzymes, depending on the targeting level. In the latter case, to target an intracellular destiny, this system must be internalized using a strategy described above. A matrix metalloproteinase-sensitive linker peptide conjugated with myostatin inhibitor to solid surfaces has the potential to use for muscle-wasting disease, due to local upregulation of metalloproteinases (Braun et al. 2017). Indeed, this strategy can be used for diagnostic purposes. For example, Ritzer et al. have developed a diagnostic peptide sequence-loaded chewing gum to discriminate saliva from patients with peri-implant disease versus asymptomatic patients (Ritzer et al. 2017). PEGylated mesoporous silica nanoparticles with a shell constituted by disulfide-cross-linked poly(N-vinylcaprolactam-co-methacrylic acid) have been reported to respond to glutathione enzyme exposure, leading to reductive cleavage of disulfide bond of the cross-linker, and together with reductive pH conditions, a most rapid release of drug was achieved (Chang et al. 2013). Succinvlated soy protein isolate-linked amine-functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles forming amide bonds have been designed to be responsive to pancreatin enzymes, capable to cleave the amide bond (Popat et al. 2014). Therefore, enzyme-triggered bioresponsive ligands can be potentially developed for enhancing the permeation process through the intestinal barrier.

The linker structure allows the bioresponsive activation of cell-penetrating peptides (CPPs), due to proteolytic cleavage for the internalization of the loaded drug into the cytoplasm of the cell (Fig. 9.4). A polyanionic counterpart, connected by a peptide sequence, neutralizes the polycationic CPP-coupled drug delivery system. This peptide sequence is cleavable by specific proteases located in tissues, and this CPP can interact with the surface of targeted cells, and then the internalization of the delivery system occurs. Masking of the positive charges exposed by the drug delivery system may contribute therefore not only to release and internalization of the drug in the presence of specific proteases in diseased tissues but also can



Fig. 9.4 Bioresponsive uptake of cell-penetrating peptide (CPP) decorated particular carriers as a drug delivery system by enzymatic processing, such as protease. (Modified from Jiang et al. (2004))

decrease unspecific bindings of these delivery systems to the negatively charged components of the endo- and epithelium, leading to a favorable lower volume of distribution. An activatable CPP approach to deliver far-red fluorescent dyes to cancer cells elicited tenfold increased signals compared to not cleavable controls in mice xenografts (Jiang et al. 2004). Therefore, similar strategies could be used to decorate the nanoparticle surface and to unprotect charged underlying absorption enhancing or targeting sequences by protease activity in specific absorption regions or diseased tissues, respectively, in the future.

In consequence, strategies to direct drug delivery systems to IECs (e.g., enterocytes, M-cells, goblet, or dendritic cells) using targeting moieties such as transferrin, immunoglobulins, vitamins, or lectins; overcoming mucus gel barrier by enhancing adhesion or penetration; avoiding efflux pumps; and using bioresponsive molecules as constituents of delivery systems are several mechanisms, alone or in combination, which may lead to an enhanced penetration and permeation through intestinal epithelium and then reach the systemic circulation.

9.5 Toxicology of Nanoparticles

Given the advances of nanotechnology applied to medical sciences, a good comprehension of the toxicological profile of nanoparticles is needed. This is justified by the difference in behaviors between nanoparticles and the bulk material (Mortimer and Minchin 2017). Therefore, nanotoxicology has emerged as "the study of the adverse effects of engineered nanomaterials on living organisms and the ecosystems, including the prevention and amelioration of such adverse effects" (Hobson and Guy 2014).

9.5.1 Toxicological Pathways

Several toxicological mechanisms have been described for nanoparticle toxicity. These particles can produce reactive oxygen species and therefore, cause oxidative stress in cells, followed by DNA damage and apoptosis, resulting in many pathological conditions, including cancer, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases (Khanna et al. 2015; Oberdörster et al. 2005). Oxidant production has been associated with a direct mechanism catalyzed by nanoparticles and the leached ions, by Fenton and Haber–Weiss reactions (Mortimer and Minchin 2017; Yan et al. 2013). Besides, an indirect pathway has been proposed and consists of disturbance of reactive oxygen species-related equilibrium, including disruption of the electron transport chain in mitochondria and activation of enzymes and receptors associated with oxidants production (Yan et al. 2013). This mechanism of toxicity is relevant for metal oxide nanoparticles, including titanium dioxide (Halamoda Kenzaoui et al. 2012; Shi et al. 2013), iron (Halamoda Kenzaoui et al. 2012; Khan et al. 2012), and cerium oxides (Alili et al. 2013; Park et al. 2008). However, there is evidence that also suggests that carbon materials (Liu et al. 2011; Muthu et al. 2013) and liposomes (Zhong et al. 2013) can induce oxidative stress.

Inflammation is another mechanism of nanoparticle toxicity and is triggered by the interaction of particles with cell surface receptors, causing oxidative stress and activation of inflammation after the uptake process (Mortimer and Minchin 2017). An important step for inflammatory process activation is opsonization. This opsonized-nanoparticle complex is recognized by several types of cell surface receptors, including macrophage-1 antigen and toll-like receptors (Khanna et al. 2015; Mortimer and Minchin 2017). Both cell surface recognition and the oxidative process can induce the synthesis of nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) and therefore, the release of other proinflammatory cytokines (Khanna et al. 2015; Mortimer and Minchin 2017). After nanoparticle internalization, a multimeric protein complex is formed, so-called inflammasome (Mortimer and Minchin 2017). This structure triggers host defense by the production and activation of caspases, leading to the release of proinflammatory cytokines (Latz et al. 2013; Man and Kanneganti 2015). As seen for oxidative stress, metal nanoparticles are prone to trigger inflammation effects in cells and eventually cell death (Deng et al. 2017; Kennedy et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2009).

Genotoxicity and cytotoxicity are the other pathways of nanoparticle-related toxicity. Several kinds of particles can induce genetic damage, including DNA strand breaks, mutations, and chromosomal aberrations (Mortimer and Minchin 2017). Metal nanoparticles, including palladium (Alarifi et al. 2017), silver (Wen et al. 2017), titanium dioxide (Shukla et al. 2011), and zinc oxide (Valdiglesias et al. 2013), have been related to DNA damage in animal and human cell models, causing by oxidant formation. Paget et al. have demonstrated that aminated polystyrene nanobeads induce genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in Calu-3 and THP-1 macrophage cell cultures (Paget et al. 2015). Arising from metallic nanoparticles, an important issue to note is that a nanoparticle may cause toxicity by different pathways at the same time.

9.5.2 Toxicological Determinants of Nanoparticles

As seen in Sect. 9.3, physicochemical properties of nanoparticles are considered as important characteristics for the design and function of nanomaterials as delivery systems. However, these parameters also determine the toxicity of nanoparticles.

The particle size is relevant for enhancing the cell internalization process, leading to increased accessibility of nanoparticles to cells and tissues. Also, the biodegradability of these particles is an important determinant, due to nonbiodegradable nanoparticles may accumulate in the cell and trigger harmful or deleterious effects (Chatterjee et al. 2017). Prietl et al. have demonstrated that 20 nm carboxyl polystyrene nanoparticles were cytotoxic to leukocytes, monocytes, and macrophages, associated with IL-8 production-induced oxidative stress; however, 500 and 1,000 nm-sized nanoparticles only elicited cytotoxic effects on macrophages, related to oxidative stress induced by IL-6 and IL-8 secretions (Prietl et al. 2014). Another important aspect related to the particle size is pharmacokinetics. Nanoparticles with a diameter lesser than 6 nm can be excreted by the kidneys, but larger counterparts cannot, and accumulation in specific organs is observed, such as the liver and spleen, and can cause cytotoxicity (Shin et al. 2015).

The shape is another determinant parameter of nanoparticle toxicity, influencing the physiological responses. Zhang et al. have shown that needle-shaped PLGA-PEG nanoparticles induce human liver carcinoma cell death, by lysosome disruption, DNA fragmentation, and apoptosis, compared with spherical-shaped (Zhang et al. 2017). Indeed, both particle size and shape are relevant to determine the total surface area, an important parameter of particle toxicity, due to the increased chance of contact and interaction between the particle and cell surface, leading to an enhanced cell internalization (Mortimer and Minchin 2017). Therefore, nanoparticles with larger surface areas may lead to increased reactivity and toxicity, associated with higher production of reactive oxygen species, DNA damage, or mitochondrial perturbation (Chatterjee et al. 2017; Shin et al. 2015).

Surface charge is important for interaction with the cell membrane and therefore, the rate of cell internalization process. Charged nanoparticles are prone to produce cytotoxic effects more than neutral counterparts, and positively charged particles tend to elicit higher toxicity than negatively counterparts (Fröhlich 2012; Shin et al. 2015). Naha et al. have demonstrated that positively charged polyamidoamine dendrimers caused cytotoxicity in a mouse macrophage cell line model, related to increased production of inflammatory cytokines and subsequent oxidative stress. Furthermore, as higher positively charged dendrimers, increased toxicity was observed (Naha et al. 2010). Indeed, cationic nanoparticles have elicited to affect cell proliferation, differentiation, and pro-apoptotic genes activation in a human epithelial cell model (Vega-Villa et al. 2008, p. 929–938). In another study conducted

by Mura et al., three types of PLGA nanoparticles have been synthesized and conjugated with different polymers, positively charged chitosan, neutral charged poloxamer 88, and negatively charged poly(vinyl alcohol). All these nanoparticles have demonstrated very limited cytotoxicity with no inflammatory response in Calu-3 cells model (Mura et al. 2011). The low cytotoxic effect of positively chargedconjugated PLGA nanoparticles is associated with the biocompatibility of natural chitosan (Fröhlich 2012). A good strategy to reduce cytotoxicity of cationic particles is using PEG as a coating agent, as demonstrated by Luo et al. that showed PEGylated polyethyleneimine-DNA complexes reduce cell death in HeLa cells model and even improve the transfection efficiency (Luo et al. 2012).

Another important toxicity determinant is surface coating agents. Some polymers used as surface coating agents may cause some deleterious effects, affecting the chemical reactivity and cytotoxicity of nanoparticles. Indeed, these agents play an important role in favoring the contact between particles and the cell surface (Chatterjee et al. 2017). Grabowski et al. have demonstrated that chitosan, poly(vinyl alcohol), and poloxamer 88, used as stabilizers in PLGA nanoparticles, caused cytotoxicity in human-like THP-1 macrophage model, while nonconjugated PLGA particles have elicited no toxic effects in the same cell model (Grabowski et al. 2015). Other commonly used surface coating agents are surfactants. Wang et al. have realized that cetyltrimethylammonium bromide is responsible for cytotoxicity elicited in the human skin keratinocyte model by surfactant-coated gold nanoparticles (Wang et al. 2008). Similarly, Zhang et al. have demonstrated the cytotoxic effect of long-chain cationic and anionic surfactants (Zhang et al. 2016). Therefore, the same physicochemical properties that are relevant for cell internalization of nanoparticles, i.e., particle size, shape, charge, surface properties, and degradability, are related to the toxicity profile and may produce deleterious effects, including oxidative stress and potential cell death.

9.5.3 Systemic Toxicity of Nanoparticles

As described above, the oral route is the most acceptable and tolerated route of administration for drugs and drug delivery systems. Oral toxicity of nanoparticle has been associated with several types of particles, mainly by direct ingestion of these drugs or drug delivery systems, but nanoparticles can also reach the gut from ingestion-induced by inhalation (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2017; Vega-Villa et al. 2008). Indeed, nanoparticles can enter the bloodstream by oral absorption and be distributed throughout the organism and accumulate in cells and tissues, leading to systemic toxicity (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2017). Therefore, the toxicity profile of nanoparticles is required for a good comprehension of the behavior of these drug delivery systems.

The most described systemic toxicity induced by oral administration is related to metal oxide nanoparticles. Inflammatory responses have been reported in a repeated dose administration of silver particles in mice model, related to increased production of cytokines (Park et al. 2010). Park et al. have demonstrated that after 90 days

of oral administration of 20 nm-negatively charged zinc oxide nanoparticles in Sprague Dawley rats elicited a decrease in several anemia-related hematological and blood biochemical parameters related to the accumulation of zinc; and also pancreatic acinar cells apoptosis and stomach lesions induced by continuous irritation of orally administered particles (Park et al. 2014b). Similar results were obtained using 20 nm positively charged zinc oxide nanoparticles (Park et al. 2014a).

For lipid-based nanoparticles, such as liposomes and micelles, toxicity profile is associated with lipid composition, particle size, and charge (Sharma et al. 2012). Cationic liposomes have been used as possible carriers for gene therapy; however, the positively charged nanoparticles have been related to the cytotoxic effect, by interaction and inhibition of critical enzymes, such as protein kinase C (Lv et al. 2006). Knudsen et al. have performed an in vivo rat model assay and determined that cationic micelles and liposomes increased DNA strand breaks in the lung and spleen and liposomes induced more toxicity than micelles (Knudsen et al. 2015). Roursgaard et al. have demonstrated the same results in an in vitro model using human hepatocyte and lung epithelial cell lines (Roursgaard et al. 2016). These results are related to the cationic hydrophilic group of lipids and nanoparticle accumulation in mononuclear phagocyte system organs, after administration and systemic absorption (Sercombe et al. 2015). Therefore, the chemical nature and composition of these lipid-based nanoparticles are important considerations in the formulation and elaboration processes.

Polymer-based nanoparticles have been related to minimal or noncytotoxic effects. For example, PLGA is an FDA-approved polymer for the synthesis of drug delivery systems due to polymer biodegradability and biocompatibility and has demonstrated an enhanced accumulation of drugs in targeted tissues (Sharma et al. 2012). Chitosan is a positively charged polysaccharide-derived polymer and has been used to increase paracellular permeability, mucoadhesive property, and cellular internalization of nanoparticles (Bowman and Leong 2006). As PLGA, chitosan also elicits relevant features, such as biodegradability and biocompatibility (Rodrigues et al. 2012); however, a high degree of deacetylation, i.e., the proportion of glucosamine and N-acetyl-glucosamine that determine the total positive charges, elicited greater cytotoxicity; thus, a 65% of deacetylation is considered as an optimal value to prevent this toxic effect (Bowman and Leong 2006). Ojer et al. have demonstrated that uncoated, 2-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin-coated, and PEG 6000-coated poly(anhydride) nanoparticles have no toxic effects in Wistar rats after oral administration (Ojer et al. 2012). Similar results have been obtained by Syama et al. using dextran-coated ferrite nanomaterials in an in vivo model after oral administration (Syama et al. 2014). However, some deleterious effects have been reported for dextran, including anaphylaxis, pulmonary edema, and platelet dysfunction (Sharma et al. 2012).

An issue that is important to describe for any drug and drug delivery system is immunotoxicity. The nanoparticle-related toxic effects on the immune system are related to particle interactions with serum proteins and sites of particle accumulation (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2017). There are several mechanisms that nanoparticles can alter the induction of immune responses: by delivering antigens, accumulation effect, repetitive exposures, and cross-immune reactions (Smith et al. 2013). Although coating with PEG is a strategy commonly used to enhance circulation time and reduce an immunogenic response for nanoparticles, some evidence established that this agent may be immunogenic and induce the production of anti-PEG antibodies, associated with an increase of blood clearance and diminished efficacy of these drug delivery systems (Schellekens et al. 2013). Indeed, Mima et al. have demonstrated that anti-PEG IgM is the major determinant of these immune responses (Mima et al. 2015). Recent findings have determined that the occurrence of anti-PEG antibodies in healthy blood donors is ranged from 22% to 25%, due to greater exposure of PEG-containing cosmetics, drugs, and food products (Garay et al. 2012). The study of Wan et al. has demonstrated that the extent of PEGylation and the molecular weight of methoxyPEG are relevant for immunotoxicity, while branching of methoxyPEG had no significant effect in immune response (Wan et al. 2017). Another mechanism of immunotoxicity is related to the formation of protein corona at the particle surface. This protein corona is composed of several serum proteins, including IgG, albumin, fibrinogen, and apolipoproteins, and may trigger an immune response and affect the nanoparticle toxicity profile and targeting properties (Corbo et al. 2016). Therefore, the systemic and immune toxicity studies must be needed for a better determination and characterization of the safety profile of nanoparticles.

9.5.4 Regulation Aspects of Nanoparticles

Given the rise and advancement of nanotechnology applied to the medical sciences in recent years, engineered nanomaterials must be regulated, according to the safety concerns. Thus, nanoparticles are considered as chemical particulates and regulated by Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA), depending on the US Environmental Protection Agency, and by Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), related to the environmental subdivision of the European Commission (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2017). Furthermore, nanoparticles designed for medical applications or used as medical devices (e.g., drug delivery systems) are regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration and European Medicines Agency (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2017; Hobson and Guy 2014). The aspect of regulation for nanomaterials was first incorporated by European Union and Switzerland into the existing legislation and is reviewed in detail in other publications (Amenta et al. 2015; Rauscher et al. 2017). In general, these and other regulatory entities are focus on the safety issues of nanoparticles, including the development of good practices, risk assessment, exposure evaluation and mitigation, control over safety, and sustainable use of nanotechnology (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2017).

9.6 Conclusions

Nowadays, medicine and health care have evolved according to the progress and development of new technologies and strategies to diagnose and treat several diseases. Using the advance of nanotechnology applied to this field, there are multiple knowledge and evidence that nanoparticles offer several advantages and may represent a big tool as drug delivery systems, especially for orally administered poorly water-soluble and permeable drugs. Therefore, the design and development of an optimal nanoparticle used as an oral drug delivery system may serve as a tool to overcome the intestinal epithelial barrier and should consider the anatomical and histological features of the gastrointestinal tract. Furthermore, several physicochemical characteristics of designed nanoparticles, including size, shape, surface charge, chemical composition, and particle deformability and degradability, are important for the understanding of the mechanism and rate of internalization process through the intestinal epithelium and also relevant for the potential role in the toxicity of these nanosized drug delivery systems. To enhance the internalization rate in IECs for poorly water-soluble and permeable drugs after oral administration, there are several strategies that could be used to achieve this purpose, including specific IEC targeting, overcoming the mucus layer, and avoiding efflux pumps. Indeed, there are several mechanisms that could be exploited by the distinct physiological conditions of this route of administration, including pH and digestive enzymes, and even more the distinct pathological conditions, such as cancer or inflammation, using bioresponsive delivery systems. Therefore, comprehensive knowledge of these topics may conduct a rational design and elaboration of an optimal oral drug delivery system.

Acknowledgments W-H Chou thanks the financial support grant from Chilean National Agency for Research and Development (ANID) 21170322. JO Morales acknowledges the support from regular FONDECYT project 1181689, Proyecto Anillo ACT192144, PCI project REDI170653, and FONDAP project 15130011.

Disclosure (Declaration of Interest) The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Aderem A, Underhill DM (1999) Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages. Annu Rev Immunol 17:593–623. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.593
- Aït-Slimane T, Galmes R, Trugnan G, Maurice M (2009) Basolateral internalization of GPIanchored proteins occurs via a clathrin-independent flotillin-dependent pathway in polarized hepatic cells. Mol Biol Cell 20:3792–3800. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E09-04-0275
- Alarifi S, Ali D, Alkahtani S, Almeer RS (2017) ROS-mediated apoptosis and genotoxicity induced by palladium nanoparticles in human skin malignant melanoma cells. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8439098

- Alberto R (2010) Organometallic radiopharmaceuticals. In: Jaouen G, Metzler-Nolte N (eds) Medicinal organometallic chemistry. Springer, pp 219–246
- Alexander-Bryant AA, Vanden Berg-Foels WS, Wen X (2013) Chapter 1 bioengineering strategies for designing targeted cancer therapies. In: Tew KD, Fisher PB (eds) Advances in cancer research. Academic, pp 1–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407173-5.00002-9
- Alili L, Sack M, von Montfort C, Giri S, Das S, Carroll KS, Zanger K, Seal S, Brenneisen P (2013) Downregulation of tumor growth and invasion by redox-active nanoparticles. Antioxid Redox Signal 19:765–778. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4831
- Amenta V, Aschberger K, Arena M, Bouwmeester H, Botelho Moniz F, Brandhoff P, Gottardo S, Marvin HJP, Mech A, Quiros Pesudo L, Rauscher H, Schoonjans R, Vettori MV, Weigel S, Peters RJ (2015) Regulatory aspects of nanotechnology in the agri/feed/food sector in EU and non-EU countries. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 73:463–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yrtph.2015.06.016
- Amin ML (2013) P-glycoprotein inhibition for optimal drug delivery. Drug Target Insights 7:27–34. https://doi.org/10.4137/DTI.S12519
- Amin ML, Kim D, Kim S (2016) Development of hematin conjugated PLGA nanoparticle for selective cancer targeting. Eur J Pharm Sci 91:138–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2016.05.029
- Aravind A, Varghese SH, Veeranarayanan S, Mathew A, Nagaoka Y, Iwai S, Fukuda T, Hasumura T, Yoshida Y, Maekawa T, Kumar DS (2012) Aptamer-labeled PLGA nanoparticles for targeting cancer cells. Cancer Nanotechnol 3:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12645-011-0024-6
- Banerjee A, Lee J, Mitragotri S (2016a) Intestinal mucoadhesive devices for oral delivery of insulin. Bioeng Transl Med 1:338–346. https://doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10015
- Banerjee A, Qi J, Gogoi R, Wong J, Mitragotri S (2016b) Role of nanoparticle size, shape and surface chemistry in oral drug delivery. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc 238:176–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.07.051
- Barczyk M, Carracedo S, Gullberg D (2010) Integrins. Cell Tissue Res 339:269–280. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00441-009-0834-6
- Bareford LM, Swaan PW (2007) Endocytic mechanisms for targeted drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 59:748–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.06.008
- Becker DJ, Lowe JB (2003) Fucose: biosynthesis and biological function in mammals. Glycobiology 13:41R–53R. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwg054
- Behrens I, Pena AIV, Alonso MJ, Kissel T (2002) Comparative uptake studies of bioadhesive and non-bioadhesive nanoparticles in human intestinal cell lines and rats: the effect of mucus on particle adsorption and transport. Pharm Res 19:1185–1193. https://doi.org/10.102 3/A:1019854327540
- Berardi A, Bisharat L (2014) Nanotechnology systems for oral drug delivery: challenges and opportunities. In: Nanotechnology in drug delivery. Springer, New York, pp 52–84
- Bhosale U, Kusum DV, Jain N (2011) Formulation and optimization of mucoadhesive nanodrug delivery system of acyclovir. J Young Pharm JYP 3:275–283. https://doi. org/10.4103/0975-1483.90236
- Blanco E, Shen H, Ferrari M (2015) Principles of nanoparticle design for overcoming biological barriers to drug delivery. Nat Biotechnol 33:941–951. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3330
- Bowman K, Leong KW (2006) Chitosan nanoparticles for oral drug and gene delivery. Int J Nanomedicine 1:117–128
- Braun AC, Gutmann M, Ebert R, Jakob F, Gieseler H, Lühmann T, Meinel L (2017) Matrix metalloproteinase responsive delivery of myostatin inhibitors. Pharm Res 34:58–72. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11095-016-2038-6
- Brayden DJ, Jepson MA, Baird AW (2005) Keynote review: intestinal Peyer's patch M cells and oral vaccine targeting. Drug Discov Today 10:1145–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1359-6446(05)03536-1
- Cai Z, Wang Y, Zhu L-J, Liu Z-Q (2010) Nanocarriers: a general strategy for enhancement of oral bioavailability of poorly absorbed or pre-systemically metabolized drugs. Curr Drug Metab 11:197–207. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920010791110836

- Caron E, Hall A (1998) Identification of two distinct mechanisms of phagocytosis controlled by different Rho GTPases. Science 282:1717–1721. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5394.1717
- Chadda R, Howes MT, Plowman SJ, Hancock JF, Parton RG, Mayor S (2007) Cholesterol-sensitive Cdc42 activation regulates actin polymerization for endocytosis via the GEEC pathway. Traffic 8:702–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0854.2007.00565.x
- Champion JA, Mitragotri S (2006) Role of target geometry in phagocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:4930–4934. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0600997103
- Champion JA, Katare YK, Mitragotri S (2007) Making polymeric micro- and nanoparticles of complex shapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:11901–11904. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0705326104
- Chang B, Chen D, Wang Y, Chen Y, Jiao Y, Sha X, Yang W (2013) Bioresponsive controlled drug release based on mesoporous silica nanoparticles coated with reductively sheddable polymer shell. Chem Mater 25:574–585. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm3037197
- Chatterjee S, Mankamna Kumari R, Nimesh S (2017) Chapter 10 Nanotoxicology: evaluation of toxicity potential of nanoparticles. In: Advances in nanomedicine for the delivery of therapeutic nucleic acids. Woodhead Publishing, Duxford, pp 187–201
- Chithrani BD, Ghazani AA, Chan WCW (2006) Determining the size and shape dependence of gold nanoparticle uptake into mammalian cells. Nano Lett 6:662–668. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl0523960
- Clark MA, Jepson MA, Hirst BH (2001) Exploiting M cells for drug and vaccine delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 50:81–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(01)00149-1
- Conner SD, Schmid SL (2003) Regulated portals of entry into the cell. Nature 422:37–44. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature01451
- Coombes JL, Powrie F (2008) Dendritic cells in intestinal immune regulation. Nat Rev Immunol 8:435–446. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2335
- Corbo C, Molinaro R, Parodi A, Toledano Furman NE, Salvatore F, Tasciotti E (2016) The impact of nanoparticle protein corona on cytotoxicity, immunotoxicity and target drug delivery. Nanomedicine 11:81–100. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.15.188
- Corr SC, Gahan CCGM, Hill C (2008) M-cells: origin, morphology and role in mucosal immunity and microbial pathogenesis. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 52:2–12. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2007.00359.x
- Cui J, Björnmalm M, Liang K, Xu C, Best JP, Zhang X, Caruso F (2014) Super-soft hydrogel particles with tunable elasticity in a microfluidic blood capillary model. Adv Mater 26:7295–7299. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201402753
- Curiel TJ, Morris C, Brumlik M, Landry SJ, Finstad K, Nelson A, Joshi V, Hawkins C, Alarez X, Lackner A, Mohamadzadeh M (2004) Peptides identified through phage display direct immunogenic antigen to dendritic cells. J Immunol 172:7425–7431. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7425
- Dai Z, Koh W-P (2015) B-vitamins and bone health: a review of the current evidence. Nutrients 7:3322–3346
- Danhier F, Ansorena E, Silva JM, Coco R, Le Breton A, Préat V (2012) PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications. J Control Release 161:505–522. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.01.043
- De Mey JR, Freund J-N (2013) Understanding epithelial homeostasis in the intestine. Tissue Barriers 1. https://doi.org/10.4161/tisb.24965
- Decuzzi P, Ferrari M (2008) The receptor-mediated endocytosis of nonspherical particles. Biophys J 94:3790–3797. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.107.120238
- Delacour D, Salomon J, Robine S, Louvard D (2016) Plasticity of the brush border the yin and yang of intestinal homeostasis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 13:161–174. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2016.5
- Deng Z, Jin J, Wang Z, Wang Y, Gao Q, Zhao J (2017) The metal nanoparticle-induced inflammatory response is regulated by SIRT1 through NF-κB deacetylation in aseptic loosening. Int J Nanomedicine 12:3617–3636. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S124661

- des Rieux A, Fievez V, Garinot M, Schneider Y-J, Préat V (2006) Nanoparticles as potential oral delivery systems of proteins and vaccines: a mechanistic approach. J Control Release 116:1–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.08.013
- Diab R, Canilho N, Pavel IA, Haffner FB, Girardon M, Pasc A (2017) Silica-based systems for oral delivery of drugs, macromolecules and cells. Adv Colloid Interface Sci 249:346–362. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2017.04.005
- Dobrovolskaia MA, Cornier J, Owen A, Kwade A, Van de Voorde M (2017) Nanoparticle toxicity: general overview and insights into immunological compatibility. In: Pharmaceutical nanotechnology: innovation and production. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, pp 425–442. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527800681.ch17
- Doherty GJ, McMahon HT (2009) Mechanisms of endocytosis. Annu Rev Biochem 78:857–902. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.78.081307.110540
- Du W, Fan Y, Zheng N, He B, Yuan L, Zhang H, Wang X, Wang J, Zhang X, Zhang Q (2013) Transferrin receptor specific nanocarriers conjugated with functional 7peptide for oral drug delivery. Biomaterials 34:794–806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.10.003
- Dünnhaupt S, Kammona O, Waldner C, Kiparissides C, Bernkop-Schnürch A (2015) Nano-carrier systems: strategies to overcome the mucus gel barrier. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 96:447–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.022
- El-Say KM, El-Sawy HS (2017) Polymeric nanoparticles: promising platform for drug delivery. Int J Pharm 528:675–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.06.052
- Fan B, Xing Y, Zheng Y, Sun C, Liang G (2016) pH-responsive thiolated chitosan nanoparticles for oral low-molecular weight heparin delivery: in vitro and in vivo evaluation. Drug Deliv 23:238–247. https://doi.org/10.3109/10717544.2014.909908
- Florence AT, Hillery AM, Hussain N, Jani PU (1995) Factors affecting the oral uptake and translocation of polystyrene nanoparticles: histological and analytical evidence. J Drug Target 3:65–70. https://doi.org/10.3109/10611869509015936
- Freeman SA, Grinstein S (2014) Phagocytosis: receptors, signal integration, and the cytoskeleton. Immunol Rev 262:193–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12212
- Fröhlich E (2012) The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine 7:5577–5591. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S36111
- Garay RP, El-Gewely R, Armstrong JK, Garratty G, Richette P (2012) Antibodies against polyethylene glycol in healthy subjects and in patients treated with PEG-conjugated agents. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 9:1319–1323. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2012.720969
- Garinot M, Fiévez V, Pourcelle V, Stoffelbach F, des Rieux A, Plapied L, Theate I, Freichels H, Jérôme C, Marchand-Brynaert J, Schneider Y-J, Préat V (2007) PEGylated PLGA-based nanoparticles targeting M cells for oral vaccination. J Control Release 120:195–204. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.04.021
- Glebov OO, Bright NA, Nichols BJ (2006) Flotillin-1 defines a clathrin-independent endocytic pathway in mammalian cells. Nat Cell Biol 8:46–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1342
- Grabowski N, Hillaireau H, Vergnaud J, Tsapis N, Pallardy M, Kerdine-Römer S, Fattal E (2015) Surface coating mediates the toxicity of polymeric nanoparticles towards human-like macrophages. Int J Pharm 482:75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.11.042
- Grant BD, Donaldson JG (2009) Pathways and mechanisms of endocytic recycling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:597–608. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2755
- Gratton SEA, Ropp PA, Pohlhaus PD, Luft JC, Madden VJ, Napier ME, DeSimone JM (2008) The effect of particle design on cellular internalization pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:11613–11618. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0801763105
- Gref R, Lück M, Quellec P, Marchand M, Dellacherie E, Harnisch S, Blunk T, Müller RH (2000) 'Stealth' corona-core nanoparticles surface modified by polyethylene glycol (PEG): influences of the corona (PEG chain length and surface density) and of the core composition on phagocytic uptake and plasma protein adsorption. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 18:301–313. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7765(99)00156-3

- Groves E, Dart AE, Covarelli V, Caron E (2008) Molecular mechanisms of phagocytic uptake in mammalian cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:1957–1976. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-7578-4
- Günzel D, Yu ASL (2013) Claudins and the modulation of tight junction permeability. Physiol Rev 93:525–569. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00019.2012
- Guo P, Liu D, Subramanyam K, Wang B, Yang J, Huang J, Auguste DT, Moses MA (2018) Nanoparticle elasticity directs tumor uptake. Nat Commun 9:130. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-017-02588-9
- Ha H-K, Kim JW, Lee M-R, Jun W, Lee W-J, Ha H-K, Kim JW, Lee M-R, Jun W, Lee W-J (2015) Cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of β-lactoglobulin nanoparticles: the effects of particle size and surface charge. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci 28:420–427. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.14.0761
- Halamoda Kenzaoui B, Chapuis Bernasconi C, Guney-Ayra S, Juillerat-Jeanneret L (2012) Induction of oxidative stress, lysosome activation and autophagy by nanoparticles in human brain-derived endothelial cells. Biochem J 441:813–821. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20111252
- Halestrap AP (2012) The monocarboxylate transporter family structure and functional characterization. IUBMB Life 64:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.573
- Halestrap AP, Wilson MC (2012) The monocarboxylate transporter family role and regulation. IUBMB Life 64:109–119. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.572
- Hao N, Li L, Zhang Q, Huang X, Meng X, Zhang Y, Chen D, Tang F, Li L (2012) The shape effect of PEGylated mesoporous silica nanoparticles on cellular uptake pathway in Hela cells. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 162:14–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micromeso.2012.05.040
- Harush-Frenkel O, Rozentur E, Benita S, Altschuler Y (2008) Surface charge of nanoparticles determines their endocytic and transcytotic pathway in polarized MDCK cells. Biomacromolecules 9:435–443. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm700535p
- Hayashi M, Tomita M, Awazu S (1997) Transcellular and paracellular contribution to transport processes in the colorectal route. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 28:191–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0169-409X(97)00072-0
- He H, Lu Y, Qi J, Zhu Q, Chen Z, Wu W (2018) Adapting liposomes for oral drug delivery. Acta Pharm Sin B. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2018.06.005
- Hillaireau H, Couvreur P (2009) Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: relevance to drug delivery. Cell Mol Life Sci 66:2873–2896. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-009-0053-z
- Hobson DW, Guy RC (2014) Nanotoxicology. In: Wexler P (ed) Encyclopedia of toxicology, 3rd edn. Academic, Oxford, pp 434–436
- Högemann-Savellano D, Bos E, Blondet C, Sato F, Abe T, Josephson L, Weissleder R, Gaudet J, Sgroi D, Peters PJ, Basilion JP (2003) The transferrin receptor: a potential molecular imaging marker for human cancer. Neoplasia N Y N 5:495–506
- Howes MT, Kirkham M, Riches J, Cortese K, Walser PJ, Simpson F, Hill MM, Jones A, Lundmark R, Lindsay MR, Hernandez-Deviez DJ, Hadzic G, McCluskey A, Bashir R, Liu L, Pilch P, McMahon H, Robinson PJ, Hancock JF, Mayor S, Parton RG (2010) Clathrin-independent carriers form a high capacity endocytic sorting system at the leading edge of migrating cells. J Cell Biol 190:675–691. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201002119
- Huang M, Ma Z, Khor E, Lim L-Y (2002) Uptake of FITC-chitosan nanoparticles by A549 cells. Pharm Res 19:1488–1494. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020404615898
- Hugger ED, Audus KL, Borchardt RT (2002) Effects of poly(ethylene glycol) on efflux transporter activity in Caco-2 cell monolayers. J Pharm Sci 91:1980–1990. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jps.10175
- Hunter RJ (1981) Chapter 1 Introduction. In: Zeta potential in colloid science: principles and applications. Academic, Londres, pp 1–10
- Inchaurraga L, Martín-Arbella N, Zabaleta V, Quincoces G, Peñuelas I, Irache JM (2015) In vivo study of the mucus-permeating properties of PEG-coated nanoparticles following oral administration. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 97:280–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.12.021
- Iwasaki A, Welker R, Mueller S, Linehan M, Nomoto A, Wimmer E (2002) Immunofluorescence analysis of poliovirus receptor expression in Peyer's patches of humans, primates, and CD155

transgenic mice: Implications for poliovirus infection. J Infect Dis 186:585–592. https://doi.org/10.1086/342682

- Jain A, Cheng K (2017) The principles and applications of avidin-based nanoparticles in drug delivery and diagnosis. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc 245:27–40. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.11.016
- Jiang T, Olson ES, Nguyen QT, Roy M, Jennings PA, Tsien RY (2004) Tumor imaging by means of proteolytic activation of cell-penetrating peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:17867–17872. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0408191101
- Jin Y, Song Y, Zhu X, Zhou D, Chen C, Zhang Z, Huang Y (2012) Goblet cell-targeting nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery and the influence of mucus on insulin transport. Biomaterials 33:1573–1582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.10.075
- Kanaseki T, Kadota K (1969) The "vesicle in a basket". A morphological study of the coated vesicle isolated from the nerve endings of the guinea pig brain, with special reference to the mechanism of membrane movements. J Cell Biol 42:202–220. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.42.1.202
- Kennedy IM, Wilson D, Barakat AI, HEI Health Review Committee (2009) Uptake and inflammatory effects of nanoparticles in a human vascular endothelial cell line, Research report. Health Effects Institute, Boston, pp 3–32
- Khan MI, Mohammad A, Patil G, Naqvi SAH, Chauhan LKS, Ahmad I (2012) Induction of ROS, mitochondrial damage and autophagy in lung epithelial cancer cells by iron oxide nanoparticles. Biomaterials 33:1477–1488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.10.080
- Khanna P, Ong C, Bay BH, Baeg GH (2015) Nanotoxicity: an interplay of oxidative stress, inflammation and cell death. Nanomaterials 5:1163–1180. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano5031163
- Kinnear C, Moore TL, Rodriguez-Lorenzo L, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Petri-Fink A (2017) Form follows function: nanoparticle shape and its implications for nanomedicine. Chem Rev 117:11476–11521. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.7b00194
- Kirkham M, Fujita A, Chadda R, Nixon SJ, Kurzchalia TV, Sharma DK, Pagano RE, Hancock JF, Mayor S, Parton RG (2005) Ultrastructural identification of uncoated caveolin-independent early endocytic vehicles. J Cell Biol 168:465–476. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200407078
- Knudsen KB, Northeved H, Ek PK, Permin A, Gjetting T, Andresen TL, Larsen S, Wegener KM, Lykkesfeldt J, Jantzen K, Loft S, Møller P, Roursgaard M (2015) In vivo toxicity of cationic micelles and liposomes. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 11:467–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2014.08.004
- Köllner S, Dünnhaupt S, Waldner C, Hauptstein S, Pereira de Sousa I, Bernkop-Schnürch A (2015) Mucus permeating thiomer nanoparticles. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 97:265–272. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.004
- Kou L, Sun J, Zhai Y, He Z (2013) The endocytosis and intracellular fate of nanomedicines: implication for rational design. Asian J Pharm Sci 8:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2013.07.001
- Koval M, Preiter K, Adles C, Stahl PD, Steinberg TH (1998) Size of IgG-opsonized particles determines macrophage response during internalization. Exp Cell Res 242:265–273. https:// doi.org/10.1006/excr.1998.4110
- Kozyraki R, Fyfe J, Kristiansen M, Gerdes C, Jacobsen C, Cui S, Christensen EI, Aminoff M, de la Chapelle A, Krahe R, Verroust PJ, Moestrup SK (1999) The intrinsic factor–vitamin B12 receptor, cubilin, is a high-affinity apolipoprotein A-I receptor facilitating endocytosis of highdensity lipoprotein. Nat Med 5:656–661. https://doi.org/10.1038/9504
- Lai SK, Wang Y-Y, Hanes J (2009) Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to mucosal tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61:158–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2008.11.002
- Laksitorini M, Prasasty VD, Kiptoo PK, Siahaan TJ (2014) Pathways and progress in improving drug delivery through the intestinal mucosa and blood-brain barriers. Ther Deliv 5:1143–1163. https://doi.org/10.4155/tde.14.67
- Lam WK, Felmlee MA, Morris ME (2010) Monocarboxylate transporter-mediated transport of γ -hydroxybutyric acid in human intestinal Caco-2 cells. Drug Metab Dispos 38:441–447. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.109.030775

- Latz E, Xiao TS, Stutz A (2013) Activation and regulation of the inflammasomes. Nat Rev Immunol 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3452
- Laurent F, Hillery AM, Mrsny R (2017) Overview of epithelial barriers. In: Drug delivery: fundamentals and applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 71–99
- Lee H, Larson RG (2016) Adsorption of plasma proteins onto PEGylated lipid bilayers: the effect of PEG size and grafting density. Biomacromolecules 17:1757–1765. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.6b00146
- Lee VHL, Yamamoto A (1989) Penetration and enzymatic barriers to peptide and protein absorption. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 4:171–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-409X(89)90018-5
- Lee C-H, Lo L-W, Mou C-Y, Yang C-S (2008) Synthesis and characterization of positive-charge functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles for oral drug delivery of an anti-inflammatory drug. Adv Funct Mater 18:3283–3292. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.200800521
- Lee H-M, Shin D-M, Song H-M, Yuk J-M, Lee Z-W, Lee S-H, Hwang SM, Kim J-M, Lee C-S, Jo E-K (2009) Nanoparticles up-regulate tumor necrosis factor-α and CXCL8 via reactive oxygen species and mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 238:160–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2009.05.010
- Lee D-Y, Nurunnabi M, Kang SH, Nafiujjaman M, Huh KM, Lee Y, Kim Y-C (2017) Oral gavage delivery of PR8 Antigen with β-glucan-conjugated GRGDS carrier to enhance M-cell targeting ability and induce immunity. Biomacromolecules 18:1172–1179. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.6b01855
- Li Q, Liu C-G, Yu Y (2015) Separation of monodisperse alginate nanoparticles and effect of particle size on transport of vitamin E. Carbohydr Polym 124:274–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2015.02.007
- Lian H, Zhang T, Sun J, Liu X, Ren G, Kou L, Zhang Y, Han X, Ding W, Ai X, Wu C, Li L, Wang Y, Sun Y, Wang S, He Z (2013) Enhanced oral delivery of paclitaxel using acetylcysteine functionalized chitosan-vitamin E succinate nanomicelles based on a mucus bioadhesion and penetration mechanism. Mol Pharm 10:3447–3458. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp400282r
- Lim JP, Gleeson PA (2011) Macropinocytosis: an endocytic pathway for internalising large gulps. Immunol Cell Biol 89:836–843. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2011.20
- Lim C-J, Shen W-C (2005) Comparison of monomeric and oligomeric transferrin as potential carrier in oral delivery of protein drugs. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc 106:273–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2005.05.001
- Lin JH, Yamazaki M (2003) Role of P-glycoprotein in pharmacokinetics. Clin Pharmacokinet 42:59–98. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200342010-00003
- Lin I-C, Liang M, Liu T-Y, Monteiro MJ, Toth I (2012) Cellular transport pathways of polymer coated gold nanoparticles. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 8:8–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nano.2011.09.014
- Liu X, Sen S, Liu J, Kulaots I, Geohegan D, Kane A, Puretzky AA, Rouleau CM, More KL, Palmore GTR, Hurt RH (2011) Antioxidant deactivation on graphenic nanocarbon surfaces. Small 7:2775–2785. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201100651
- Liu J, Huang Y, Kumar A, Tan A, Jin S, Mozhi A, Liang X-J (2014) pH-sensitive nano-systems for drug delivery in cancer therapy. Biotechnol Adv 32:693–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biotechadv.2013.11.009
- Liu M, Zhang J, Shan W, Huang Y (2015) Developments of mucus penetrating nanoparticles. Asian J Pharm Sci 10:275–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2014.12.007
- Liu M, Zhang J, Zhu X, Shan W, Li L, Zhong J, Zhang Z, Huang Y (2016) Efficient mucus permeation and tight junction opening by dissociable "mucus-inert" agent coated trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery. J Control Release 222:67–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2015.12.008
- Lühmann T, Meinel L (2016) Nanotransporters for drug delivery. Curr Opin Biotechnol 39:35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2015.12.013

- Lundquist P, Artursson P (2016) Oral absorption of peptides and nanoparticles across the human intestine: opportunities, limitations and studies in human tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 106(Part B):256–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.07.007
- Luo X, Feng M, Pan S, Wen Y, Zhang W, Wu C (2012) Charge shielding effects on gene delivery of polyethylenimine/DNA complexes: PEGylation and phospholipid coating. J Mater Sci Mater Med 23:1685–1695. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-012-4632-4
- Lv H, Zhang S, Wang B, Cui S, Yan J (2006) Toxicity of cationic lipids and cationic polymers in gene delivery. J Control Release 114:100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.04.014
- Ma Z, Lim L-Y (2003) Uptake of chitosan and associated insulin in Caco-2 cell monolayers: a comparison between chitosan molecules and chitosan nanoparticles. Pharm Res 20:1812–1819. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PHAM.0000003379.76417.3e
- Ma T, Wang L, Yang T, Ma G, Wang S (2014) M-cell targeted polymeric lipid nanoparticles containing a toll-like receptor agonist to boost oral immunity. Int J Pharm 473:296–303. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.06.052
- Malhaire H, Gimel J-C, Roger E, Benoît J-P, Lagarce F (2016) How to design the surface of peptideloaded nanoparticles for efficient oral bioavailability? Adv Drug Deliv Rev 106:320–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.03.011
- Man SM, Kanneganti T-D (2015) Regulation of inflammasome activation. Immunol Rev 265:6–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12296
- Martini E, Krug SM, Siegmund B, Neurath MF, Becker C (2017) Mend your fences: the epithelial barrier and its relationship with mucosal immunity in inflammatory bowel disease. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 4:33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2017.03.007
- Matter K, Mellman I (1994) Mechanisms of cell polarity: sorting and transport in epithelial cells. Curr Opin Cell Biol 6:545–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/0955-0674(94)90075-2
- Mayor S, Parton RG, Donaldson JG (2014) Clathrin-independent pathways of endocytosis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 6. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016758
- McCauley HA, Guasch G (2015) Three cheers for the goblet cell: maintaining homeostasis in mucosal epithelia. Trends Mol Med 21:492–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2015.06.003
- Ménard S, Cerf-Bensussan N, Heyman M (2010) Multiple facets of intestinal permeability and epithelial handling of dietary antigens. Mucosal Immunol 3:247–259. https://doi.org/10.1038/ mi.2010.5
- Millotti G, Perera G, Vigl C, Pickl K, Sinner FM, Bernkop-Schnürch A (2011) The use of chitosan-6-mercaptonicotinic acid nanoparticles for oral peptide drug delivery. Drug Deliv 18:190–197. https://doi.org/10.3109/10717544.2010.522611
- Mima Y, Hashimoto Y, Shimizu T, Kiwada H, Ishida T (2015) Anti-PEG IgM Is a major contributor to the accelerated blood clearance of polyethylene glycol-conjugated protein. Mol Pharm 12:2429–2435. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.5b00144
- Mohamadzadeh M, Duong T, Sandwick SJ, Hoover T, Klaenhammer TR (2009) Dendritic cell targeting of Bacillus anthracis protective antigen expressed by Lactobacillus acidophilus protects mice from lethal challenge. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4331–4336. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0900029106
- Mokhtar M, Gosselin P, Lacasse F, Hildgen P (2017) Design of PEG-grafted-PLA nanoparticles as oral permeability enhancer for P-gp substrate drug model famotidine. J Microencapsul 34:91–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/02652048.2017.1290155
- Mora-Huertas CE, Fessi H, Elaissari A (2010) Polymer-based nanocapsules for drug delivery. Int J Pharm 385:113–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2009.10.018
- Morris ME, Bridget L (2013) Chapter 5 Membrane drug transporters. In: Foye's principles of medicinal chemistry. Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 191–209
- Mortimer GM, Minchin RF (2017) Chapter 20 nanotoxicology and nanovaccines. In: Skwarczynski M, Toth I (eds) Micro and nanotechnology in vaccine development. Micro and nano technologies. William Andrew Publishing, pp 373–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-323-39981-4.00020-8

- Mukherjee S, Ghosh RN, Maxfield FR (1997) Endocytosis. Physiol Rev 77:759–803. https://doi. org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.759
- Müller C, Perera G, König V, Bernkop-Schnürch A (2014) Development and in vivo evaluation of papain-functionalized nanoparticles. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 87:125–131. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.12.012
- Mura S, Hillaireau H, Nicolas J, Le Droumaguet B, Gueutin C, Zanna S, Tsapis N, Fattal E (2011) Influence of surface charge on the potential toxicity of PLGA nanoparticles towards Calu-3 cells. Int J Nanomedicine 6:2591–2605. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S24552
- Murugan K, Choonara YE, Kumar P, Bijukumar D, du Toit LC, Pillay V (2015) Parameters and characteristics governing cellular internalization and trans-barrier trafficking of nanostructures. Int J Nanomed 10:2191–2206. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S75615
- Muthu MS, Abdulla A, Pandey BL (2013) Major toxicities of carbon nanotubes induced by reactive oxygen species: should we worry about the effects on the lungs, liver and normal cells? Nanomedicine 8:863–866. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.13.60
- Nabi IR (2009) Cavin fever: regulating caveolae. Nat Cell Biol 11:789–791. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncb0709-789
- Naha PC, Davoren M, Lyng FM, Byrne HJ (2010) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) induced cytokine production and cytotoxicity of PAMAM dendrimers in J774A.1 cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 246:91–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2010.04.014
- Naslavsky N, Weigert R, Donaldson JG (2003) Convergence of non-clathrin- and clathrin-derived endosomes involves Arf6 inactivation and changes in phosphoinositides. Mol Biol Cell 14:417–431. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.02-04-0053
- Neutra MR, Frey A, Kraehenbuhl J-P (1996) Epithelial M cells: gateways for mucosal infection and immunization. Cell 86:345–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80106-3
- Norris DA, Sinko PJ (1997) Effect of size, surface charge, and hydrophobicity on the translocation of polystyrene microspheres through gastrointestinal mucin. J Appl Polym Sci 63:1481–1492. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4628(19970314)63:11<1481::AID-APP10>3.0.CO;2-5
- Oberdörster G, Oberdörster E, Oberdörster J (2005) Nanotoxicology: an emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. Environ Health Perspect 113:823–839. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7339
- Ogawara K, Furumoto K, Nagayama S, Minato K, Higaki K, Kai T, Kimura T (2004) Pre-coating with serum albumin reduces receptor-mediated hepatic disposition of polystyrene nanosphere: implications for rational design of nanoparticles. J Control Release 100:451–455. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.07.028
- Ojer P, de Cerain AL, Areses P, Peñuelas I, Irache JM (2012) Toxicity studies of poly(anhydride) nanoparticles as carriers for oral drug delivery. Pharm Res 29:2615–2627. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-012-0791-8
- Okumura R, Takeda K (2017) Roles of intestinal epithelial cells in the maintenance of gut homeostasis. Exp Mol Med 49:e338. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2017.20
- Okumura R, Takeda K (2018) Maintenance of intestinal homeostasis by mucosal barriers. Inflamm Regen 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-018-0063-z
- Owens DE III, Peppas NA (2006) Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 307:93–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.10.010
- Paget V, Dekali S, Kortulewski T, Grall R, Gamez C, Blazy K, Aguerre-Chariol O, Chevillard S, Braun A, Rat P, Lacroix G (2015) Specific uptake and genotoxicity induced by polystyrene nanobeads with distinct surface chemistry on human lung epithelial cells and macrophages. PLoS One 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123297
- Park E-J, Choi J, Park Y-K, Park K (2008) Oxidative stress induced by cerium oxide nanoparticles in cultured BEAS-2B cells. Toxicology 245:90–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2007.12.022
- Park E-J, Bae E, Yi J, Kim Y, Choi K, Lee SH, Yoon J, Lee BC, Park K (2010) Repeated-dose toxicity and inflammatory responses in mice by oral administration of silver nanoparticles. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 30:162–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2010.05.004

- Park H-S, Kim S-J, Lee T-J, Kim G-Y, Meang E, Hong J-S, Kim S-H, Koh S-B, Hong S-G, Sun Y-S, Kang JS, Kim Y-R, Kim M-K, Jeong J, Lee J-K, Son W-C, Park J-H (2014a) A 90-day study of sub-chronic oral toxicity of 20 nm positively charged zinc oxide nanoparticles in Sprague Dawley rats. Int J Nanomedicine 9:93–107. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S57927
- Park H-S, Shin S-S, Meang EH, Hong J, Park J-I, Kim S-H, Koh S-B, Lee S-Y, Jang D-H, Lee J-Y, Sun Y-S, Kang JS, Kim Y-R, Kim M-K, Jeong J, Lee J-K, Son W-C, Park J-H (2014b) A 90-day study of subchronic oral toxicity of 20 nm, negatively charged zinc oxide nanoparticles in Sprague Dawley rats. Int J Nanomedicine 9:79–92
- Pearson JP, Chater PI, Wilcox MD (2016) The properties of the mucus barrier, a unique gel how can nanoparticles cross it? Ther Deliv 7:229–244. https://doi.org/10.4155/tde-2015-0002
- Pelaseyed T, Bergström JH, Gustafsson JK, Ermund A, Birchenough GMH, Schütte A, van der Post S, Svensson F, Rodríguez-Piñeiro AM, Nyström EEL, Wising C, Johansson MEV, Hansson GC (2014) The mucus and mucins of the goblet cells and enterocytes provide the first defense line of the gastrointestinal tract and interact with the immune system. Immunol Rev 260:8–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12182
- Pereira de Sousa I, Cattoz B, Wilcox MD, Griffiths PC, Dalgliesh R, Rogers S, Bernkop-Schnürch A (2015) Nanoparticles decorated with proteolytic enzymes, a promising strategy to overcome the mucus barrier. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 97(Part A):257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejpb.2015.01.008
- Perrault SD, Walkey C, Jennings T, Fischer HC, Chan WCW (2009) Mediating tumor targeting efficiency of nanoparticles through design. Nano Lett 9:1909–1915. https://doi.org/10.1021/ nl900031y
- Perry JL, Reuter KG, Kai MP, Herlihy KP, Jones SW, Luft JC, Napier M, Bear JE, DeSimone JM (2012) PEGylated PRINT nanoparticles: the impact of PEG density on protein binding, macrophage association, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics. Nano Lett 12:5304–5310. https:// doi.org/10.1021/nl302638g
- Peterson LW, Artis D (2014) Intestinal epithelial cells: regulators of barrier function and immune homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol 14:141–153. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3608
- Popat A, Jambhrunkar S, Zhang J, Yang J, Zhang H, Meka A, Yu C (2014) Programmable drug release using bioresponsive mesoporous silica nanoparticles for site-specific oral drug delivery. Chem Commun 50:5547–5550. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4CC00620H
- Pridgen EM, Alexis F, Kuo TT, Levy-Nissenbaum E, Karnik R, Blumberg RS, Langer R, Farokhzad OC (2013) Transepithelial transport of Fc-targeted nanoparticles by the neonatal Fc receptor for oral delivery. Sci Transl Med 5:213ra167. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3007049
- Prietl B, Meindl C, Roblegg E, Pieber TR, Lanzer G, Fröhlich E (2014) Nano-sized and microsized polystyrene particles affect phagocyte function. Cell Biol Toxicol 30:1–16. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10565-013-9265-y
- Pucadyil TJ, Schmid SL (2009) Conserved functions of membrane active GTPases in coated vesicle formation. Science 325:1217–1220. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1171004
- Pust S, Dyve AB, Torgersen ML, van Deurs B, Sandvig K (2010) Interplay between toxin transport and flotillin localization. PLoS One 5:e8844. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008844
- Pyzik M, Rath T, Lencer WI, Baker K, Blumberg RS (2015) FcRn: the architect behind the immune and non-immune functions of IgG and albumin. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950(194):4595–4603. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1403014
- Qian ZM, Li H, Sun H, Ho K (2002) Targeted drug delivery via the transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway. Pharmacol Rev 54:561–587
- Rabanel JM, Aoun V, Elkin I, Mokhtar M, Hildgen P (2012) Drug-loaded nanocarriers: passive targeting and crossing of biological barriers. Curr Med Chem 19:3070–3102. https://doi. org/10.2174/092986712800784702
- Rabinovitch M (1995) Professional and non-professional phagocytes: an introduction. Trends Cell Biol 5:85–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(00)88955-2
- Rajendran L, Knölker H-J, Simons K (2010) Subcellular targeting strategies for drug design and delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 9:29–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2897

- Rappoport JZ (2008) Focusing on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Biochem J 412:415–423. https:// doi.org/10.1042/BJ20080474
- Rauscher H, Rasmussen K, Sokull-Klüttgen B (2017) Regulatory aspects of nanomaterials in the EU. Chem Ing Tech 89:224–231. https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.201600076
- Ritzer J, Lühmann T, Rode C, Pein-Hackelbusch M, Immohr I, Schedler U, Thiele T, Stübinger S, Rechenberg BV, Waser-Althaus J, Schlottig F, Merli M, Dawe H, Karpíšek M, Wyrwa R, Schnabelrauch M, Meinel L (2017) Diagnosing peri-implant disease using the tongue as a 24/7 detector. Nat Commun 8:264. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00340-x
- Rodrigues S, Dionísio M, Remuñán López C, Grenha A (2012) Biocompatibility of chitosan carriers with application in drug delivery. J Funct Biomater 3:615–641. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jfb3030615
- Roger E, Kalscheuer S, Kirtane A, Guru BR, Grill AE, Whittum-Hudson J, Panyam J (2012) Folic acid functionalized nanoparticles for enhanced oral drug delivery. Mol Pharm 9:2103–2110. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp2005388
- Roostaee A, Benoit YD, Boudjadi S, Beaulieu J (2016) Epigenetics in intestinal epithelial cell renewal. J Cell Physiol 231:2361–2367. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25401
- Roursgaard M, Knudsen KB, Northeved H, Persson M, Christensen T, Kumar PEK, Permin A, Andresen TL, Gjetting T, Lykkesfeldt J, Vesterdal LK, Loft S, Møller P (2016) In vitro toxicity of cationic micelles and liposomes in cultured human hepatocyte (HepG2) and lung epithelial (A549) cell lines. Toxicol In Vitro 36:164–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2016.08.002
- Sahay G, Alakhova DY, Kabanov AV (2010a) Endocytosis of nanomedicines. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc 145:182–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.01.036
- Sahay G, Kim JO, Kabanov AV, Bronich TK (2010b) The exploitation of differential endocytic pathways in normal and tumor cells in the selective targeting of nanoparticulate chemotherapeutic agents. Biomaterials 31:923–933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.09.101
- Said HM (2002) Biotin: the forgotten vitamin. Am J Clin Nutr 75:179–180. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ajcn/75.2.179
- Said HM (2009) Cell and molecular aspects of human intestinal biotin absorption. J Nutr 139:158–162. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.108.092023
- Salman HH, Gamazo C, de Smidt PC, Russell-Jones G, Irache JM (2008) Evaluation of bioadhesive capacity and immunoadjuvant properties of vitamin B12-Gantrez nanoparticles. Pharm Res 25:2859–2868. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9657-5
- Sandvig K, Pust S, Skotland T, van Deurs B (2011) Clathrin-independent endocytosis: mechanisms and function. Curr Opin Cell Biol 23:413–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2011.03.007
- Schellekens H, Hennink WE, Brinks V (2013) The immunogenicity of polyethylene glycol: facts and fiction. Pharm Res 30:1729–1734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-013-1067-7
- Schnitzer JE, Liu J, Oh P (1995) Endothelial caveolae have the molecular transport machinery for vesicle budding, docking, and fusion including VAMP, NSF, SNAP, annexins, and GTPases. J Biol Chem 270:14399–14404. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.24.14399
- Schulz O, Pabst O (2013) Antigen sampling in the small intestine. Trends Immunol 34:155–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2012.09.006
- Sercombe L, Veerati T, Moheimani F, Wu SY, Sood AK, Hua S (2015) Advances and challenges of liposome assisted drug delivery. Front Pharmacol 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00286
- Shah D, Shen W (1996) Transcellular delivery of an insulin-transferrin conjugate in enterocytelike Caco-2 cells. J Pharm Sci 85:1306–1311. https://doi.org/10.1021/js9601400
- Sharma P, Varma R, Sarasij RC, Ira, Gousset K, Krishnamoorthy G, Rao M, Mayor S (2004) Nanoscale organization of multiple GPI-anchored proteins in living cell membranes. Cell 116:577–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00167-9
- Sharma A, Madhunapantula SV, Robertson GP (2012) Toxicological considerations when creating nanoparticle based drugs and drug delivery systems? Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 8:47–69. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425255.2012.637916
- Shi H, Magaye R, Castranova V, Zhao J (2013) Titanium dioxide nanoparticles: a review of current toxicological data. Part Fibre Toxicol 10:15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8977-10-15
- Shi Y, Sun X, Zhang L, Sun K, Li K, Li Y, Zhang Q (2018) Fc-modified exenatide-loaded nanoparticles for oral delivery to improve hypoglycemic effects in mice. Sci Rep 8:726. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-018-19170-y
- Shin SW, Song IH, Um SH (2015) Role of physicochemical properties in nanoparticle toxicity. Nano 5:1351–1365. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano5031351
- Shukla RK, Sharma V, Pandey AK, Singh S, Sultana S, Dhawan A (2011) ROS-mediated genotoxicity induced by titanium dioxide nanoparticles in human epidermal cells. Toxicol In Vitro 25:231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2010.11.008
- Singh R, Lillard JW Jr (2009) Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. Exp Mol Pathol 86:215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.12.004
- Slütter B, Bal S, Keijzer C, Mallants R, Hagenaars N, Que I, Kaijzel E, van Eden W, Augustijns P, Löwik C, Bouwstra J, Broere F, Jiskoot W (2010) Nasal vaccination with N-trimethyl chitosan and PLGA based nanoparticles: nanoparticle characteristics determine quality and strength of the antibody response in mice against the encapsulated antigen. Vaccine 28:6282–6291. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.06.121
- Smith DM, Simon JK, Baker JR Jr (2013) Applications of nanotechnology for immunology. Nat Rev Immunol 13:592–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3488
- Sockolosky JT, Szoka FC (2015) The neonatal Fc receptor, FcRn, as a target for drug delivery and therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 91:109–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.02.005
- Srivalli KMR, Lakshmi PK (2012) Overview of P-glycoprotein inhibitors: a rational outlook. Braz J Pharm Sci 48:353–367. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-82502012000300002
- Strømhaug PE, Berg TO, Gjøen T, Seglen PO (1997) Differences between fluid-phase endocytosis (pinocytosis) and receptor-mediated endocytosis in isolated rat hepatocytes. Eur J Cell Biol 73:28–39
- Swanson JA (2008) Shaping cups into phagosomes and macropinosomes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9:639–649. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2447
- Syama S, Reshma S, Leji B, Anju M, Sreekanth P, Hk V, Mohanan P (2014) Toxicity evaluation of dextran coated ferrite nanomaterials after acute oral exposure to Wistar rats. J Allergy Ther 5:1–6. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-6121.1000166
- Tang BC, Dawson M, Lai SK, Wang Y-Y, Suk JS, Yang M, Zeitlin P, Boyle MP, Fu J, Hanes J (2009) Biodegradable polymer nanoparticles that rapidly penetrate the human mucus barrier. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:19268–19273. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905998106
- Tian J, Yu J (2011) Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles as candidate DNA vaccine carrier for oral immunization of Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus) against lymphocystis disease virus. Fish Shellfish Immunol 30:109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2010.09.016
- Tian C, Asghar S, Wu Y, Amerigos DK, Chen Z, Zhang M, Yin L, Huang L, Ping Q, Xiao Y (2017) N-acetyl-L-cysteine functionalized nanostructured lipid carrier for improving oral bioavailability of curcumin: preparation, in vitro and in vivo evaluations. Drug Deliv 24:1605–1616. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2017.1391890
- Torchilin VP, Omelyanenko VG, Papisov MI, Bogdanov AA, Trubetskoy VS, Herron JN, Gentry CA (1994) Poly(ethylene glycol) on the liposome surface: on the mechanism of polymercoated liposome longevity. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1195:11–20. https://doi. org/10.1016/0005-2736(94)90003-5
- Turner JR (2006) Molecular basis of epithelial barrier regulation. Am J Pathol 169:1901–1909. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.060681
- Ulbrich K, Hekmatara T, Herbert E, Kreuter J (2009) Transferrin- and transferrin-receptorantibody-modified nanoparticles enable drug delivery across the blood–brain barrier (BBB). Eur J Pharm Biopharm 71:251–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2008.08.021
- Vachon E, Martin R, Plumb J, Kwok V, Vandivier RW, Glogauer M, Kapus A, Wang X, Chow C-W, Grinstein S, Downey GP (2006) CD44 is a phagocytic receptor. Blood 107:4149–4158. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-09-3808

- Vadlapudi AD, Vadlapatla RK, Kwatra D, Earla R, Samanta SK, Pal D, Mitra AK (2012) Targeted lipid based drug conjugates: a novel strategy for drug delivery. Int J Pharm 434:315–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.05.033
- Valdiglesias V, Costa C, Kiliç G, Costa S, Pásaro E, Laffon B, Teixeira JP (2013) Neuronal cytotoxicity and genotoxicity induced by zinc oxide nanoparticles. Environ Int 55:92–100. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.02.013
- van der Flier LG, Clevers H (2009) Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. Annu Rev Physiol 71:241–260. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. physiol.010908.163145
- Vega-Villa KR, Takemoto JK, Yáñez JA, Remsberg CM, Forrest ML, Davies NM (2008) Clinical toxicities of nanocarrier systems. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:929–938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2007.11.007
- Verma A, Sharma S, Gupta PK, Singh A, Teja BV, Dwivedi P, Gupta GK, Trivedi R, Mishra PR (2016) Vitamin B12 functionalized layer by layer calcium phosphate nanoparticles: a mucoadhesive and pH responsive carrier for improved oral delivery of insulin. Acta Biomater 31:288–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.12.017
- Visentin M, Diop-Bove N, Zhao R, Goldman ID (2014) The intestinal absorption of folates. Annu Rev Physiol 76:251–274. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-020911-153251
- Vllasaliu D, Exposito-Harris R, Heras A, Casettari L, Garnett M, Illum L, Stolnik S (2010) Tight junction modulation by chitosan nanoparticles: comparison with chitosan solution. Int J Pharm 400:183–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.08.020
- Vonarbourg A, Passirani C, Saulnier P, Benoit J-P (2006) Parameters influencing the stealthiness of colloidal drug delivery systems. Biomaterials 27:4356–4373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2006.03.039
- Walczak AP, Hendriksen PJM, Woutersen RA, van der Zande M, Undas AK, Helsdingen R, van den Berg HHJ, Rietjens IMCM, Bouwmeester H (2015a) Bioavailability and biodistribution of differently charged polystyrene nanoparticles upon oral exposure in rats. J Nanopart Res 17:231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-015-3029-y
- Walczak AP, Kramer E, Hendriksen PJM, Tromp P, Helsper JPFG, van der Zande M, Rietjens IMCM, Bouwmeester H (2015b) Translocation of differently sized and charged polystyrene nanoparticles in in vitro intestinal cell models of increasing complexity. Nanotoxicology 9:453–461. https://doi.org/10.3109/17435390.2014.944599
- Wan L, Wang X, Zhu W, Zhang C, Song A, Sun C, Jiang T, Wang S (2015) Folate-polyethyleneimine functionalized mesoporous carbon nanoparticles for enhancing oral bioavailability of paclitaxel. Int J Pharm 484:207–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjpharm.2015.02.054
- Wan X, Zhang J, Yu W, Shen L, Ji S, Hu T (2017) Effect of protein immunogenicity and PEG size and branching on the anti-PEG immune response to PEGylated proteins. Process Biochem 52:183–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.09.029
- Wang S, Lu W, Tovmachenko O, Rai US, Yu H, Ray PC (2008) Challenge in understanding size and shape dependent toxicity of gold nanomaterials in human skin keratinocytes. Chem Phys Lett 463:145–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2008.08.039
- Wang J, Tan J, Luo J, Huang P, Zhou W, Chen L, Long L, Zhang L, Zhu B, Yang L, Deng DYB (2017) Enhancement of scutellarin oral delivery efficacy by vitamin B12-modified amphiphilic chitosan derivatives to treat type II diabetes induced-retinopathy. J Nanobiotechnol 15:18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-017-0251-z
- Weinstain R, Savariar EN, Felsen CN, Tsien RY (2014) In vivo targeting of hydrogen peroxide by activatable cell-penetrating peptides. J Am Chem Soc 136:874–877. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ja411547j
- Wells JM, Brummer RJ, Derrien M, MacDonald TT, Troost F, Cani PD, Theodorou V, Dekker J, Méheust A, de Vos WM, Mercenier A, Nauta A, Garcia-Rodenas CL (2017) Homeostasis of the gut barrier and potential biomarkers. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 312:G171–G193. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00048.2015

- Wen H, Dan M, Yang Y, Lyu J, Shao A, Cheng X, Chen L, Xu L (2017) Acute toxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticle in rats. PLoS One 12:e0185554. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0185554
- Woitiski CB, Carvalho RA, Ribeiro AJ, Neufeld RJ, Veiga F (2008) Strategies toward the improved oral delivery of insulin nanoparticles via gastrointestinal uptake and translocation. BioDrug 22:223–237. https://doi.org/10.2165/00063030-200822040-00002
- Wu L, Liu M, Shan W, Zhu X, Li L, Zhang Z, Huang Y (2017) Bioinspired butyrate-functionalized nanovehicles for targeted oral delivery of biomacromolecular drugs. J Control Release 262:273–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.07.045
- Xu Q, Ensign LM, Boylan NJ, Schön A, Gong X, Yang J-C, Lamb NW, Cai S, Yu T, Freire E, Hanes J (2015) Impact of surface polyethylene glycol (PEG) density on biodegradable nanoparticle transport in mucus ex vivo and distribution in vivo. ACS Nano 9:9217–9227. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.5b03876
- Yan L, Gu Z, Zhao Y (2013) Chemical mechanisms of the toxicological properties of nanomaterials: generation of intracellular reactive oxygen species. Chem Asian J 8:2342–2353. https://doi. org/10.1002/asia.201300542
- Ye T, Yue Y, Fan X, Dong C, Xu W, Xiong S (2014) M cell-targeting strategy facilitates mucosal immune response and enhances protection against CVB3-induced viral myocarditis elicited by chitosan-DNA vaccine. Vaccine 32:4457–4465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.06.050
- Yin L, Ding J, He C, Cui L, Tang C, Yin C (2009) Drug permeability and mucoadhesion properties of thiolated trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles in oral insulin delivery. Biomaterials 30:5691–5700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.06.055
- Yokoyama T, Masuda H, Suzuki M, Ehara K, Nogi K, Fuji M, Fukui T, Suzuki H, Tatami J, Hayashi K, Toda K (2008) Chapter 1 – Basic properties and measuring methods of nanoparticles. In: Nanoparticle technology handbook. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 3–48
- Yoncheva K, Guembe L, Campanero MA, Irache JM (2007) Evaluation of bioadhesive potential and intestinal transport of pegylated poly(anhydride) nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 334:156–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.10.016
- Yu M, Xu L, Tian F, Su Q, Zheng N, Yang Y, Wang J, Wang A, Zhu C, Guo S, Zhang X, Gan Y, Shi X, Gao H (2018) Rapid transport of deformation-tuned nanoparticles across biological hydrogels and cellular barriers. Nat Commun 9:2607. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05061-3
- Zabaleta V, Ponchel G, Salman H, Agüeros M, Vauthier C, Irache JM (2012) Oral administration of paclitaxel with pegylated poly(anhydride) nanoparticles: permeability and pharmacokinetic study. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 81:514–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.04.001
- Zhang LW, Monteiro-Riviere NA (2009) Mechanisms of quantum dot nanoparticle cellular uptake. Toxicol Sci 110:138–155. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfp087
- Zhang X, Wu W (2014) Ligand-mediated active targeting for enhanced oral absorption. Drug Discov Today 19:898–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2014.03.001
- Zhang N, Ping QN, Huang GH, Xu WF (2005) Investigation of lectin-modified insulin liposomes as carriers for oral administration. Int J Pharm 294:247–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2005.01.018
- Zhang J, Zhu X, Jin Y, Shan W, Huang Y (2014a) Mechanism study of cellular uptake and tight junction opening mediated by goblet cell-specific trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles. Mol Pharm 11:1520–1532. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp400685v
- Zhang X, Qi J, Lu Y, He W, Li X, Wu W (2014b) Biotinylated liposomes as potential carriers for the oral delivery of insulin. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 10:167–176. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nano.2013.07.011
- Zhang P, Xu Y, Zhu X, Huang Y (2015a) Goblet cell targeting nanoparticle containing drug-loaded micelle cores for oral delivery of insulin. Int J Pharm 496:993–1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2015.10.078
- Zhang Y, Yang Z, Hu X, Zhang L, Li F, Li M, Tang X, Xiao W (2015b) Development and evaluation of mucoadhesive nanoparticles based on thiolated Eudragit for oral delivery of protein drugs. J Nanopart Res 17:98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-015-2909-5

- Zhang Y, Li X, Yu H (2016) Toxicity of nanoparticle surface coating agents: structurecytotoxicity relationship. J Environ Sci Health C 34:204–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/1059050 1.2016.1202762
- Zhang B, Sai Lung P, Zhao S, Chu Z, Chrzanowski W, Li Q (2017) Shape dependent cytotoxicity of PLGA-PEG nanoparticles on human cells. Sci Rep 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-07588-9
- Zhao X, Li H, Lee RJ (2008) Targeted drug delivery via folate receptors. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 5:309–319. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.5.3.309
- Zheng N, Li J, Xu C, Xu L, Li S, Xu L (2017) Mesoporous silica nanorods for improved oral drug absorption. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/2169140 1.2017.1362414
- Zhong Z, Zhai Y, Liang S, Mori Y, Han R, Sutterwala FS, Qiao L (2013) TRPM2 links oxidative stress to NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Nat Commun 4:ncomms2608. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncomms2608

Chapter 10 Recent Progress in Nanotheranostic Medicine



Pravas R Sahoo, H. Madhyastha, R. Madhyastha, M. Maruyama, and Y. Nakajima

Contents

10.1	Introduction	318
10.2	Nomenclature of Nanotheranostic Material.	320
10.3	Biodistribution	323
10.4	Pharmacokinetics	325
10.5	Surface Functionalization	325
10.6	Application of Nanotheranostics	327
10.7	Toxicity of Nanotheranostics.	329
10.8	Conclusion	329
Refere	nces	330

Abstract Issues: In the area of regenerative medicine paradigm, theranostic nanomedicine is emerging as a promising prototype. It has the advantage of both imaging and therapeutic functions in the platform of personalized medicine. Recently scientists have developed smart and hybrid forms of biological molecules, as carriers for various applications in diagnostics and therapeutics.

Major Advances: We reviewed the advances on nanotheranostic materials. Interactions among the particles in carrier payload have critical roles in the efficacy of a drug in clinical translation. Cancer and other degenerative diseases have remained indomitable problems for scientists and doctors due to their diverse nature and etiology. Nanotheranostic agents are now emerging as prudent tools in the detection of diseases, especially cancer. In recent years, the utilization of inorganic

P. R. Sahoo

Department of Animal Biochemistry, College of Veterinary Science & Animal Husbandry, Odisha University of Agriculture & Technology, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

H. Madhyastha (⊠) · R. Madhyastha · M. Maruyama · Y. Nakajima
 Department of Applied Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Miyazaki,
 Miyazaki, Japan

e-mail: hkumar@med.miyazaki-u.ac.jp; radharao@med.miyazaki-u.ac.jp; masugi@med.miyazaki-u.ac.jp; yunakaji@med.miyazaki-u.ac.jp

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0_10

particles like iron oxide, gold, and carbon dots has gained massive attention in imaging technologies like MRI, PET, and SPECT. However, cumulative information on nanotheranostic agents, such as nature of materials, cell interaction, toxicity, mode of action at cellular levels, and effects on microenvironmental milieu, are required. Finally, we discuss the progress of different types of theranostic agents, their modes of biodistribution, pharmacokinetic properties, and chemocellular interactions.

Keywords Nanoceutical · Nanotheranostic · Biomaterial · Regenerative medicine

Abbreviations

Computed axial tomography			
Computed tomography			
Fluorescein isothiocyanate			
Fluorescence resonance energy transfer			
High-intensity focused ultrasound			
Intensity modulated proton therapy			
Intensity modulated x-ray therapy			
IRH-PE40 Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone-Pseudomonas aeruginosa			
exotoxin 40			
Micro-ribonucleic acid			
Magnetic nanoparticles			
Magnetic resonance Imaging			
Nanoparticles			
Positron emission tomography			
Sonodynamic therapy			
Systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment			
(SELEX) method			
Small interfering ribonucleic acid			
Single-photon emission computed tomography			

10.1 Introduction

Nanotheranostic, an advanced branch of nanomedicine, is an amalgam of both diagnosis and therapeutics with fewer side effects, even for stubborn pathological conditions (Kojima et al. 2015). The strategy of nanotheranostic involves simple biological probing with easy monitoring of targeted drug delivery with more stability under physiological conditions (Sahoo et al. 2014). Nanotechnology-based theranostics approach is based on manipulating nanoparticles (NPs) (1–200 nm) by exploiting their unique properties, such surface area, optical and magnetic properties, low melting point, and mechanical strength (Horikoshi and Serpone 2013). A theranostic agent consists of a delivery platform that is conjugated either covalently or noncovalently to a therapeutic drug, nucleic acid (miRNA, siRNA), therapeutic proteins, or any other chemotherapeutic agent and signal emitters (with unique radioactive, optical, or magnetic properties) (Baum and Kulkarni 2012). Gold, silver, and magnetic NPs, along with nanoshells and nanocages, are important nanotherapeutical agents, that can be conjugated to either drugs, ligands, or antibodies to enhance the delivery and therapy as well as diagnostic imaging of the stages of diseases (by MRI, CT scan, CAT scan ultrasound, etc.) (Mody et al. 2010). The central principle and multimodal application of different nanotheranostic agents is shown in Fig. 10.1. It is clear from the model that the theranostic principle can be effectively utilized for a variety of activities in the area of biomedical, bioengineering, and biotechnological field. Therapeutic effectiveness of various drugs along with diagnostic agents has emerged as a future disease management system. Centrally, therapeutic drug and carriers are surface conjugated in a nanoform for various diagnostic purposes in the area of biomedical and biotechnological applications by bioengineering designs. Such an artificially designed drug for reliable diagnostic as well as therapeutic purpose enhances the efficacy of drug, especially in the area of cancer treatment. Cooperative joint delivery of drug and diagnostic agents could pave way to new insights for management of various degenerative diseases (Tinwala and Waikar 2019). This intelligent and smart revolutionary synthetic chemistry along with engineering tools is emerging as a powerful platform for modern diseases like cancer, vascular disease, and diabetic. Intracellular biostability, biocompatibility, low toxicity, and point of target are major advantages of this theranostic technology. Therefore, it is gaining importance in modern medicine. Accordingly, many varieties of nanocarriers for efficient conjugation have been developed in the recent past.



Fig. 10.1 Theranostic technology in applied biological fields like Bioengineering, Biomedical and Biotechnology

	Target cell/organ/tissue/	
Materials	field	Reference
Transferrin-stabilized nanomagnets	Human fibroblast	Berry et al. (2004)
Magneto-dendrimers	Stem cells	Bulte et al. (2001)
CEA-maghemite conjugate	Colorectal cancer	Campas de Paz et al. (2012)
Supermagnetic iron oxide	Schwann cell in CNS	Dunning et al. (2004)
Hybrid gadolinium oxide	Blood circulation pattern	
Fluorescent magnetic nanoparticles	Mouse whole body	Kwon et al. (2008)
LHRH-magnetic iron oxide particles	Breast cancer cells	Leuschner et al. (2006)
Carbon nanotube	Mouse tumor	Liu et al. (2007)
Octavalent peptides	Tumor imagining	Luo et al. (2012)
Dextrin-coated monocrystalline iron	Tumor cells and macrophages	Moore et al. (1997)
Biobarcoding system	Protein theranostic	Nam et al. (2003)
Magnetic nanoworms	Tumor imaging	Park et al. (2009)
Aptamer cell-SELEX	Liver cancer	Rong et al. (2016)
Magnetofection	Gene delivery	Scherer et al. (2002)
Silica-coated material	Lung cancer	Tartaj et al. (2001)
Magnetic nanoparticle	Central nervous system	Tomitaka et al. (2019)
Polyethylenimine and folic acid	Cancer biology	Zhang et al. (2002)
Graphene	Cancer biology	Orecchioni et al. (2015)

 Table 10.1
 Promising theranostic agents and its targets

For example, protein-based NPs and synthesized nano-scale DNA three-dimensional (3D) lattice structures (DNA origami) have been used as theranostic agents where various chemotherapeutic drugs compartmentalized into the hollow spaces inside the lattice can enhance the efficacy of controlled drug delivery and cancer biomarkers (Pinheiro et al. 2011). These nanotherapeutics can also be used for targeted delivery approach with real monitoring of both drug release and biodistribution of the NPs with facilitation of biomedical applications, such as efficient drug delivery across the blood-brain barrier (Tomitaka et al. 2019), multimodal and combinatorial therapies, and co-delivery of antisense oligonucleotides (siRNAs) (Muthu et al. 2014). The NPs can deliver a variety of targeting agents such as peptides, aptamers, monoclonal antibodies, nucleic acids, chemotherapeutics, etc. to malignant cells due to their surface modifications, enhanced permeability, and retention effect (Baetke et al. 2015). Different and promising types of nanotherapeutic agents with properties and target molecule are mentioned (Table 10.1).

10.2 Nomenclature of Nanotheranostic Material

Nomenclature of the nanotheranostic agents is principally based on the arrangement and organization of different drugs, theranostic agents, and target molecules. All three principal molecules are designed with the help of a linker molecule. There are several types of theranostic agents. Linear types have end positions attached to target agents. In polymeric and solid-phase types, diagnostic and theranostic agents are immobilized with linker-assisted target agents. In dendrimer type theranostic material, the endpoint of each branch is conjugated with detecting theranostic and drug molecule. In lipid-based types like liposome- and noisome-based types, micelle compounds are synchronized with diagnostic and theranostic materials. Finally, gold or any metal and carbon-based theranostic agents are prepared by simple chemical reactions. Different base materials are used to synthesize each of these types. Magnetic nanotheranostic is one important and widely used nanotherapeutical, due to its multipurpose functions such as hyperthermal killing of cancer cells, efficient delivery of gene and conventional chemotherapies, as well as multimodal imaging (PET, MRI, and optical imaging) (Singh and Sahoo 2014). Theranostic, coupled with MRI, have various advantages like free ion scanning mode, a high degree of tissue penetration with noninvasive detection mode. Due to their small size, they not only offer a better tissue penetration and faster drug delivery but also can provide a better platform for a diverse array of modifications with chemotherapeutic and target moieties (Xie et al. 2011). They are now used as contrast agents in MRI for diagnosis of cancer cells in soft tissue due to low cytotoxicity (Yoo et al. 2013). It has been shown that the superparamagnetic IONPs (SPIONs) loaded with amphiphilic poly(styrene)-b-poly(acrylic acid)-Dox and folic acid can be used as potential theranostic agents, as demonstrated in SkBr3 (human breast cancer cell) and HCT116 (human colon cancer) cell lines for controlled release, targeting, and anticancer activity (Patra et al. 2014).

Gold- and silver-based nanotheranostic materials are gaining importance in recent years due to their wide application ability in cancer biology. Gold and silver NPs are promising nanotheranostic agents due to their easy synthesis, bioconjugation, and surface modification (Boisselier and Astruc 2009). Use of gold nanoparticles in the diagnostic arena has attained considerable interest in biomedical, agricultural, and environmental including forensic investigation due to availability of highly advanced optical method, namely, surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS). Due to laser excitation on gold-labeled drug surface in the SERS analysis, it has a high degree of application in MRI technology in tumor identification. These are used for multimodal imaging as well as to combat different types of cancer by exploiting its efficacy on cancer cell local effect. Cancer cell drug target is focused on the various intracellular cancer cell microenvironments like redox potential, ROS status, and cellular pH. The schematic of gold-based plasmonic SERS system is explained in Fig. 10.2.

Gold as plasmonic materials has been widely used for developing SERS active sensors for intracellular targets. Due to its high specificity, enhanced cellular uptake, and negligible cytotoxicity, gold nanobeacons (AuNBs) are used for specific mRNA silencing (Baptista 2014). Gold nanoclusters (AuNCs) conjugated with chitosan biopolymer are used for imaging due to its properties like low photobleaching, negligible cytotoxicity, and enhanced Stokes-shifted emission (Sahoo et al. 2014). Graphene-based nanotheranostic compounds are recently gaining much attention as inert and nonevasive compounds. Due to their large surface area, colloidal stability,



Fig. 10.2 The schematic of gold-based plasmonic SERS system

easy surface modification/functionalization), as well as superior electrical and mechanical properties, graphene oxide-based nanomaterials provide significant attention in image-guided molecular ablation of cancerous cells (Draz et al. 2014). With a combination of AuNP, graphene-based nanotherapeutic agents are used in phototherapy; GO-Au-IONP assemblies have been shown to have enhanced super-paramagnetism, optical absorbance, and photothermal therapeutic potential (Shi et al. 2013).

Due to distinct properties such as chemical and thermal stability, large surface area, and pore volume, silica NPs (SiNPs) function as an important theranostic agent which can be used for controlled, sequential, and multifunctional delivery drugs to numerous cancer cell types (Draz et al. 2014). Silica nanorattles conjugated with LHRH-PE40 luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone-Pseudomonas aeruginosa exotoxin 40 and docyanine green fusion protein can be used as a nanotheranostic agent in combination with docetaxel (antimitotic chemotherapeutic) for treatment of cancers (Gao et al. 2013). These days, lipid- and polymer-based nanotheranostic agents, mainly liposomes, dendrimers, and polymeric micelles, are widely used as nanocarriers due to their easiness for surface modification, targeting ability, thermal stability, and compatibility with various diagnostic applications (Gu et al. 2007). They have a wide range of capability, such as cellular compatibilities, biodegradability, rapid cellular uptake, and lack of toxicity (Schroeder et al. 2010). Protein-based nanotheranostic agents are made up of proteins which can be used as carriers for both therapeutic and diagnostic agents (Ng et al. 2011). These nanocages can be modified both internally such as loading with conjugable molecules (drugs/aptamers/contrast agents) and externally by ligand conjugation (Lim et al. 2013, Kaur and others 2018). Other classes of protein-based nanotheranostic agents such as nanoradiopeptides and fluorescent peptide nanoprobes (Luo et al. 2012) also hold immense promise as major therapeutic agents for cancer treatment. Targeted binding of ions and small molecule proteins with artificially synthesized RNA or DNA oligonucleotides also called aptamers through a process called systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment (SELEX) method (Tuerk and Gold 1990) have effectively been used in the cell-based theranostic procedure (Kaur 2018). Due to the wide angle of advantage, SELEX has been widely used against cancer cells, tumor-associated proteins, and parasites or virus-infected cells (Rong and others 2016).

10.3 Biodistribution

Biodistribution of the nanotheranostic agents depends upon various factors such as size and shapes. For example, hybrid gadolinium oxide NPs (Gado-6Si-NP) were selectively taken up by circulatory blood pool and finally cleared by renal excretion without accumulation in the liver. The effectiveness of this particular theranostic agent is due to its small size of 3–4 nm diameter (Kryza et al. 2011). The strategy of application of theranostic agents in cancer biology and detection method is depicted in Fig. 10.3. The fate of cancer cell growth or death can be monitored through surface modification of theranostic agents using smart, radiowave-emitting or fluorescent tags that are cancer cell-specific and capturing these signals either by amplifier-assisted receiver or appropriate fluorescence detection instrument. In vivo barriers like cell membrane and blood–brain barriers are major checkpoints for NP movements in the body, by restricting the NP functions like their movement and physical changes and inducing a negative host response (Belting et al. 2005). Blood,



Fig. 10.3 The strategy of application of theranostic agents in cancer biology and detection method

its components, anatomical restriction, and different barriers like blood-brain barrier are important components through which the NPs have to pass. Effective traffic control and distribution in the body are key strategical factors for the optical design of NPs. Smart design is an important factor for the biodistribution of nanotheranostic agents through the biological barriers and enabling them to reach their intended destination (Ferrari 2005).

The physiochemical properties, which include morphology, hydrodynamic size, charge, and other surface properties, are important factors for the biodistribution of nanotheranostics (Dobrovolskaia et al. 2008). One of the important physicochemical properties is the hydrodynamic size. Hydrodynamic size helps in governing the NP concentration in the blood vessel by affecting the mechanism of NP clearance and dictates the permeability of NPs out of the vasculature (Chavanpatil et al. 2006). It also affects the NP clearance from the circulation and also determines the passage of it through the blood-brain barrier (Koo et al. 2006). Another aspect of the physicochemical nature and action of a theranostic agent is governed by the shape (Gratton et al. 2007). It was found that the anisotropically shaped NPs can avoid bioelimination better than spherical NPs (Liu et al. 2007). Some scientists also have shown that high aspect ratio shaped MNPs have also been evaluated in vivo and found to have similarly enhanced blood circulation times over the spherical counterparts (Park et al. 2009). Surface properties also play important roles in the target action of theranostic agent because major agents are targeted toward the cell receptors. Surface properties such as NP charge and hydrophobicity can affect biodistribution by minimizing or enhancing the interactions of NPs with the adaptive immune system, plasma proteins, extracellular matrices, and nontargeted cells (Davis 2002). These two factors mainly contribute to the short circulation time, which may be due to the adsorption of plasma proteins recognized by the reticuloendothelial system [RES] (Chouly et al. 1996). Target designed specificity is yet another important aspect to be considered during designing of the theranostic agent. For both diagnostic imaging and drug-based therapies for selected tissues, the specificity of NPs is an important factor for successful nanotheranostics (Leuschner et al. 2006). NPs have been engineered to have an affinity for target tissues either through passive, active, or magnetic targeting approaches. Passive targeting uses the predetermined physicochemical properties of a given NP to specifically migrate to a given tissue region by the phenomenon known as enhanced permeation and retention (EPR) (Maeda et al. 2000). Toxicological preevaluation of NP is an important aspect for end application (Madhyastha et al. 2019). In general, the toxicity of the compound to be conjugated and NP should be considered before development of an appropriate therapeutic agent. It mainly involves considering how the assembled NP will interact with the body and how the independent components will affect the body during biodegradation and liver processing (Lewinski et al. 2008). This leads to a new branch that is nanotoxicology, which mainly deals with an understanding of the body's response to the NPs' chemistry (Vega-Villa et al. 2008).

10.4 Pharmacokinetics

Nanotheranostic agents undergo typical pharmacokinetics pathway in which they are clustered within lysosome upon their intracellular internalization via endocytosis. They are degraded into corresponding metal ions by an array of hydrolyzing enzymes at low pH (Gupta et al. 2007). The size, charge, surface chemistry, and route of delivery influence the circulation time and biodistribution pattern inside the body. The spleen is the organ in which the large particles are usually sequestered and small particles are rapidly removed through extravasations and renal clearance upon intravenous injection. (Gupta and Gupta 2005). The final distribution of the particles is observed more in the liver (80-90%), followed by spleen (5-8%), and less in bone marrow (1-2%) which mainly depends upon the surface chemistry and the mechanism of internalization (Unfried et al. 2007). NPs may interact with the extracellular matrix components and the plasma cell membranes of macrophages, endothelial cells, skin epithelium, and respiratory or gastrointestinal tracts during their metabolism (Oberdorster et al. 2005). Upon inhalation, they are accumulated in the brain, liver, spleen, and lungs demonstrating their ability to cross blood-brain barrier (Kwon et al. 2008). Macrophage plays an important role in nanotheranostics clearance. Nanotheranostic agents are challenged by macrophages of the RES upon their administration in vivo (Duguet et al. 2006). Many mechanisms of the internal organization such as phagocytosis (mediated by mannose, complement, $Fc\gamma$, and scavenger receptors), endocytosis (clathrin- and caveolin-mediated, fluid-phase), and diffusion are involved for processing of nanotheranostics in macrophage (Dobrovolskaia and McNeil 2007; Unfried et al. 2007). NPs can also get opsonized by plasma proteins (e.g., albumin, apolipoprotein, immunoglobulins, complement, fibrinogen), which promote their recognition and clearance by cells of RES (Park et al. 2008). Iron oxide Nano Particle (IONP) binds to the plasma fibronectin, and vitronectin changed from receptor-mediated to fluid-phase endocytosis (Moore et al. 1997). The polyethylene glycol (PEG), which acts as amphiphilic polymeric surfactants, significantly reduces MNP interactions with plasma proteins, minimizing their internalization and clearance by macrophages (Zhang et al. 2002). PEG along with antitumor drug paclitaxel is being investigated in metastatic breast cancer xenograft mouse model and is found to be effective in reducing the tumor size over the period of administration (Lee et al. 2018), since cancer cell has several receptors for PEG and also free-circulating nature of PEG in bloodstream resulting in remarkable antitumor efficacy.

10.5 Surface Functionalization

Figure 10.4 depicts the various types of nanotheranostic agents by smart designing approach. Linear-type polymer and drugs are conjugated in an exponential manner. Target capture agents are capped at each corner of the polymer edge. Other types are



Fig. 10.4 The various types of nanotheranostic agents by smart designing approach

of solid-phase, dendrimer, liposome, and noisome types. In metal variety, gold or silver metals are centrally placed. Surface functionalization, which increases the surface activity and biocompatibility, is an important biological phenomenon needed for all the nanotheranostics reagents (Medha et al. 2018). Biodegradable polymers are safe and green materials that have been widely researched by many investigators. Several formulations such as dextrans, chitosan, polyethylene glycol, polysorbate, and polyaniline are used for increasing the surface functionalization of nanotheranostics agents. Dextran is an important constituent for various formulations such as Ferridex, Resovist, Combidex, and AMI-288/ferumoxytol (McCarthy et al. 2007). Polyethylene glycol due to its hydrophilicity and low antigenicity prevents plasma opsonization and uptake by macrophages and thus increasing the theranostics circulation in vivo (Gupta and Curtis 2004). Its excellent film-forming, emulsifying, and adhesive properties can be utilized in targeted drug delivery, tissue engineering, and biosensor technology (Gupta et al. 2007). Lastly, chitosan provides a natural, biocompatible, cationic, and hydrophilic polymer coating, suitable for affinity purification of proteins and magnetic bioseparation (Sasaki et al. 2008). Inorganic metals are prosperous materials with proper surface modifications. Different inorganic metals such as gold and silver are used for the surface functionalization due to their high stability and low reactivity (Eustis and el-Sayed 2006), but the dissimilarity of the two metallic surfaces causes a pitfall for use of the metal as coating agent (Lu et al. 2007). Inorganic oxides like metals too play a governing role in surface chemistry during synthesis and design of theranostic agents. Inorganic oxides such as silica gel can be used as a coating agent due to their negative charge and stability in aqueous solution. Silica-coated magnetic nanoparticles have longer circulation times, and their hydrophilic negatively charged surface provides ideal anchorage for covalent binding to ligands, presenting an excellent platform for drug delivery (Tartaj et al. 2001). In the area of cancer biology, use of dimercaptosuccinic acid is found to be a suitable agent as a surface modifier. Among all cancer etiology, colorectal cancer is considered as one of the major cancer types with huge mortality worldwide. Cancer of the large intestine (colon, rectum, and anus) is a major cause of morbidity. Nanosized maghemite material precoated with dimercaptosuccinic acid and functionalized anticarcinoembryonic antigen (anti-CEA) is a potent tool in the identification of colon cancer by MRI techniques (Campos da Paz et al. 2012). This system also can be used as a theranostic agent for tumor cells and circulating cancer cells. Surface charges during the synthesis of theranostic agent also play a very important role (Wilhelm et al. 2003). Negatively charged sulfur containing chelating agent prevents the theranostic materials from aggregation and interacts strongly with the positively charged regions of the plasma membrane due to its negative charge.

10.6 Application of Nanotheranostics

Nanotheranostics mainly aims at simultaneous diagnosis and therapy with a wide range of functions in magnetic hyperthermia, drug/gene delivery, tissues engineering, and diagnostic imaging or biosensor platform. For example, the use of magnetic hyperthermia techniques comes under cancer therapy and relies on the localized heating of tumors above 43°c for 30 min (Pankhurst et al. 2003). The magnetic nanoparticle due to its magnetization property can heat the cancer cell, and the selectivity toward tumors was considerably improved through the use of silane coating and through functionalization approaches (Jordan et al. 1999). Tumor growth can be arrested by using magnetic cationic liposomes with a combination approach employing TNF- α gene and stress-inducible gad 153 promoters (Ito et al. 2001). Magnetic resonance imaging is an important diagnostic technique for living tissues in which magnetic NPs are used as contrast agents to identify lymph node metastases and solid tumor (Hogemann et al. 2000). Macrophage-specific MNP labeling protocols are used to image inflammatory pathologies, including atherosclerosis, multiple sclerosis, and rheumatoid arthritis (Berry et al. 2004). MNPlabeled stem cells and neuroprotective glia cells can be guided by in vivo cell tracking of CNS regeneration, while glioma cells are visualized by FITC-conjugated MNPs (Dunning et al. 2004). Theranostic techniques are used to diagnose the rate of bioseparation in vivo (Jian and Rosenberg 2005). Healthy kidney function is evaluated by the rate of glomerular filtration rate. Insulin clearance is the most updated and standard marker for evaluating the glomerular filtrate rate. Alternately, radiolabeled chelating agents like ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, ⁵¹Cr-EDTA; diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid, 99mTc-DTPA; and radio-iothalamate, 125I-iothalame, are also used in medical pathology. All of these compounds are sensitive to kidney cells and are not cost-effective. Recently iohexol, a

nonradiolabeled, nonionic, low osmolar iodinated agent with very high x-ray contrast properties has shown efficacy as theranostic molecule (Berg et al. 2011).

Drug delivery system is a major concern nowadays for appropriate treatment of different chronic diseases, including various cancers. Current chemotherapy drugs attack both normal as well as cancer cells in the tissue, thus becoming a cause of concern with life-threatening side effects. Targeted drug delivery is a novel approach to overcome this lacuna. This can be done by surface functionalization of different NPs. MNP-conjugated drugs have been applied experimentally for cancer therapy (Duguet et al. 2006). Neurological diseases can be treated with these NP-based drugs and gene delivery system, which can cross the blood-brain barriers (Kreuter 2001). However, for efficient drug delivery, the NPs' surface chemistry, hydrophilicity, and the size are major factors to be considered for the rapid clearance by RES (Torchilin and Trubetskov 1995). Dual-modality imaging system is comparatively safe, simple, and noninvasive diagnostic and imaging system. But lower image quality is the caveat in this system. Recently magnetic transfection and surface modification of target drug are being used in regenerative medicine. Magnetic transfection is an important application in which NPs are employed as effective transfection system for delivering DNA into the cells. Mainly the MNPs are used for gene introduction to permissive and nonpermissive cells under external magnetic field (Scherer et al. 2002). Effective delivery of antisense oligonucleotide is done through the magnetic field in endothelial cells. (Krotz et al. 2003).

Another hallmark application of theranostic technology is in tissue engineering. During the artificial tissue grafting and developmental studies, varieties of theranostic agents are being used. It is one important application of nanotherapeutics where new tissues are regenerated by using stem cell replacement therapy for cell labeling, sorting, monitoring, and engraftment to the diseased tissue (Bulte et al. 2001). The tissue surfaces are joined under high temperature by using MNPs typically accompanied by protein denaturation followed by repolymerization of adjacent protein chains (Gupta et al. 2007). Keratinocyte sheet-like 3-D constructs have been developed by harvesting MNPs, where self-assembled magnetic nanowire arrays are used (Ito et al. 2005). Another important metal which has been used in theranostic biology is silver. Nanosilver is a major source of antibacterial material because of wide spectrum activity, especially in the wound-healing scenario. Silver, having highest physicochemical properties, very high mechanical strength, and good electrical conductivity, is reported as good sensing as well as imaging agent and is a source of interest for medical and biotechnological research. Silver decahedral NP (Ag10NP) conjugated with fluorophore aptamers (Sgc8-FITC) was found to be the most suitable sensing agent in FRET system (Li et al. 2015). Here target molecule is membrane protein tyrosine kinases-7 (PKT-7) in CCRF-CEM T-cell line. Advantage of using this theranostic agent is to enhance the imaging quality of T cell by disturbing the FERT effect in real-time system.

10.7 Toxicity of Nanotheranostics

Although the theranostic agents display huge advantages, they also exhibit different types of drawbacks like cell stress, cell senescence, and untimely cell death. One of the major concerns of cell stress is oxidative stress. Oxidative stress in the cancer cell is required to cure the cancer; however, the same action in a normal cell can be precancerous. Therefore, fine-tuning between cancer and normal cell is subject for research (Madhyastha et al. 2019). Theranostic agents such as magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) induce redox cycling and catalytic chemistry, which causes the evolution of reactive oxygen species (ROS), leading to oxidative stress (Borm et al. 2006). ROS induces MMP activity in the nervous system leading to increased blood-brain barrier permeability and neuronal damage (Liu et al. 2007). Application of the nanotheranostics is safe, but an imbalance in the homeostasis gives toxic implications to many organs. The individual ions either iron, gold, or graphene may produce excessive free radicals (Madhyastha et al. 2019) in the brain and could be associated with multiple neurodegenerative disorders, including multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Doraiswamy and Finefrock 2004). Toxicity of the nanotheranostics showed a large effect from cytotoxicity in vitro to transient and acute toxicity to unremarkable changes in vivo (Ma et al. 2008). The most toxic effect showed by MNP is accumulation in tissues, but with unremarkable histological changes in vital organs, concluding safety of the respective formulations. Ultrasound (US) theranostic-based biomedical technology is used frequently in the clinics as HIFU and SDT method. In both technologies, knowledge of material chemistry plays a key factor. In this technology core-to-shell design by solid to gas (perfluorocarbon) phase, interaction is an important factor to be considered. However, biosafety consideration is yet to evolve in this field. Platinum-conjugated drugs like, cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin are used extensively in cancer biology. However, these drugs cause extensive damage to the liver and kidney. In recent years, development of Pt-based nanodrugs has seen progress. A major limitation of this nanodrug is toxicity in off-target organ and delay in rapid clearance by the cells of the reticuloendothelial system and mononuclear phagocyte system. Use of graphene in cancer theranostic treatment is still under development but rapidly growing because of its promising results

10.8 Conclusion

Considering the above importance of NPs in both diagnosis and therapeutics, it can be concluded that this is an advanced branch of nanotechnology with inimitable characteristics such as highly specific, targeted, blood–brain barrier crossing, drug delivery, imaging platform, unique transfection, labeling, bioseparation, as well as analytical and tissue engineering approaches. Yet, some challenges exist, such as nanotoxicity, environmental hazards, and target mismatching, which need to be explored in the nearest future. Theranostic NP technology has drawn considerable interest in the cancer field, but application potential is hampered due to its toxicity property. Optical and smart design strategy to control the size and shape is another challenge in the application. Size of a particle plays an important role in the potential activity in vivo. Acceptable and adaptable size of a nanotheranostic drug for cancer cure is of 20 nm, but this size is not suitable or ideal for diagnosis due to poor imaging quality. Importantly posttreatment clearance from the cell is a major area for future research as the nanoresiduals may be a potential threat to cell architecture. More insight and research thoughts are also required on the concept of NP recycling from the cell as a novel challenge in biomedical research.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to sincerely acknowledge the university authority for permission to publish the work and several of our collaborators for proofreading.

References

- Baetke SC, Lammers T, Kiessling F (2015) Applications of nanoparticles for diagnosis and therapy of cancer. Br J Radiol 88:02–07
- Baptista PV (2014) Gold nanobeacons: a potential nanotheranostics platform. Nanomedicines 9:2247–2250
- Baum RP, Kulkarni HR (2012) Theranostics: from molecular imaging using Ga-68 labeled tracers and PET/CT to personalized radionuclide therapy – the Bad Berka experience. Theranostics 2:437–447
- Belting M, Sandgren S, Wittrup A (2005) Nuclear delivery of macromolecules: barriers and carriers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 57:505–527
- Berg UB, Back G, Celsi SE, Haling I, Hamberg R, Kamer T (2011) Comparison of plasma clearance of iohexol and urinary clearance of insulin for measurement of GFR in children. Am J Kidney Res 57:55–61
- Berry CC, Charles S, Wells S, Dalby MJ, Curtis AS (2004) The influence of transferrin stabilized magnetic nanoparticles on human dermal fibroblasts in culture. Int J Pharm 269(1):211–225
- Boisselier E, Astruc D (2009) Gold nanoparticles in nanomedicine: preparations, imaging, diagnostics, therapies and toxicity. Chem Soc Rev 38:1759–1782
- Borm PJ, Robbins D, Haubold S, Kuhlbusch T, Fissan H, Donaldson K, Schins R, Stone V, Kreyling W, Lademann J, Krutmann J, Warheit D, Oberdorster E (2006) The potential risks of nanomaterials: a review carried out for ECETOC Part. Fibre Toxicol 14(3):11
- Bulte JW, Douglas T, Witwer B, Zhang SC, Strable E, Lewis BK (2001) Magneto dendrimers allow endosomal magnetic labeling and in vivo tracking of stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 19(12):1141–1147
- Campos da Paz M, Santos MF, Santos Camila MB, De Silva SW, De Souza LB, Lima CD, Silva RC, Lucci CM, Morais RB, Lacava GM (2012) Anti-CEA loaded maghemite nanoparticles as theragnostic device for colorectal cancer. Int J Nanomedicine 7:5271–5282
- Chavanpatil MD, Khdair A, Panyam J (2006) Nanoparticles for cellular drug delivery: mechanisms and factors influencing delivery. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 6:2651–2663
- Chouly C, Pouliquen D, Lucet I, Jeune JJ, Jallet P (1996) Development of super paramagnetic nanoparticles for MRI: effect of particle size, charge and surface nature on biodistribution. J Microencapsul 13:245–255
- Davis ME (2002) Non-viral gene delivery systems. Curr Opin Biotechnol 13:128-131

- Dobrovolskaia MA, McNeil SE (2007) Immunological properties of engineered nanomaterials. Nat Nanotechnol 2:469–478
- Dobrovolskaia MA, Aggarwal P, Hall JB, McNeil SE (2008) Preclinical studies to understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution. Mol Pharm 5:487–495
- Doraiswamy PM, Finefrock AE (2004) Metals in our minds: therapeutic implications for neurodegenerative disorders. Lancet Neurol 3(7):431–434
- Draz MS, Fang BA, Zhang P, Hu Z, Gu S, Weng KC, Gray JW, Chen FF (2014) Nanoparticlemediated systemic delivery of siRNA for treatment of cancers and viral infections. Theranostics 4:872–892
- Duguet E, Vasseur S, Mornet S, Devoisselle JM (2006) Magnetic nanoparticles and their applications in medicine. Nanomed 1(2):157–168
- Dunning MD, Lakatos A, Loizou L, Kettunen M, Constant CF, Brindle KM (2004) Superparamagnetic iron oxide-labeled Schwann cells and olfactory unsheathing cells can be traced in vivo by magnetic resonance imaging and retain functional properties after transplantation into the CNS. J Neurosci 24(44):9799–9810
- Eustis S, el-Sayed MA (2006) Why gold nanoparticles are more precious than pretty gold: noble metal surface plasmon resonance and its enhancement of the radiative and nonradiative properties of nanocrystals of different shapes. Chem Soc Rev 35(3):209–217
- Ferrari M (2005) Cancer nanotechnology: opportunities and challenges. Nat Rev Cancer 5:161-171
- Gao F, Li L, Fu C, Nie L, Chen D, Tang F (2013) LHRH-PE40 fusion protein tethered silica nanorattles for imaging-guided tumor-specific drug delivery and bimodal therapy. Adv Mater Deerfield Beach Fla 25:5508–5513
- Gratton SEA, Pohhaus PD, Lee J, Guo I, Cho MJ, De Simone JM (2007) Nanofabricated particles for engineered drug therapies: a preliminary biodistribution study of PRINT (TM) nanoparticles. J Control Release 12:10–18
- Gu FX, Karnik R, Wang AZ, Alexis F, Levy-Nissenbaum E, Hong S et al (2007) Targeted nanoparticles for cancer therapy. Nano Today 2:14–21
- Gupta AK, Curtis AS (2004) Surface modified super paramagnetic nanoparticles for drug delivery: interaction studies with human fibroblasts in culture. J Mater Sci Mater Med 15(4):493–496
- Gupta AK, Gupta M (2005) Synthesis and surface engineering of iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical applications. Biomaterials 26(18):3995–3402
- Gupta AK, Naregalkar RR, Vaidya VD, Gupta M (2007) Recent advances on surface engineering of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles and their biomedical applications. Nanomedicine (Lond) 2(1):23–39
- Hogemann D, Josephson L, Weissleder R, Basilion JP (2000) Improvement of MRI probes to allow efficient detection of gene expression. Bioconjug Chem 11(6):941–946
- Horikoshi S, Serpone N (2013) Introduction to nanoparticles. Microw Nanoparticle Synth Fundam Appl 43:1–24
- Ito A, Shinkai M, Honda H, Kobayashi T et al (2001) Heat-inducible TNF-alpha gene therapy combined with hyperthermia using magnetic nanoparticles as a novel tumor-targeted therapy. Cancer Gene Ther 8(9):649–654
- Ito A, Shinkai M, Honda H, Kobayashi T (2005) Medical application of functionalized magnetic nanoparticles. J Biosci Bioeng 100(1):1–11
- Jian Liu K, Rosenberg GA (2005) Matrix metalloproteinases and free radicals in cerebral ischemia. Free Radic Biol Med 39(1):71–80
- Jordan A, Scholz R, Wust P, Schirra H, Schiestel T, Schmidt H et al (1999) Endocytosis of dextran and silan-coated magnetite nanoparticles and the effect of intracellular hyperthermia on human mammary carcinoma cells in vitro. J Magn Magn Mater 194(1–3):185–196
- Kaur H (2018) Recent developments in cell-SELEX technology for aptamer selection. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1862:2323–2329

- Kojima R, Aubel D, Fussenegger M (2015) Novel theranostic agents for next generation personalized medicine: small molecules, nanoparticles, and engineered mammalian cells. Curr Opin Chem Biol 28:29–38
- Koo YEL, Reddy GR, Bhojani MR, Schneider MA, Philbert A, Rehemtulla BD, Ross R, Kopelman R (2006) Brain cancer diagnosis and therapy with nanoplatforms. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 58:1556–1577
- Kreuter J (2001) Nanoparticulate systems for brain delivery of drugs. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 47(1):65-81
- Krotz F, deWit C, Sohn HY, Zahler S, Gloe T, Pohl U, Plank C (2003) Magnetofection—a highly efficient tool for antisense oligonucleotide delivery *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Mol Ther 7(5 Pt 1):700–710
- Kryza D, Taleb J, Janier M, Marmuse L, Milladi I, Bonazza P, Perriat P, Roux S, Tilement O, Billotey C (2011) Blood distribution study of nanometric hybrid gadolinium oxide particles as a multimodal SPECT/MR/optical imaging and theragnostic agent. Bioconjug Chem 22(6):1154–1152
- Kwon JT, Hwang SK, Jin H, Kim DS, Minai-Tehrani A, Yoon HJ (2008) Body distribution of inhaled fluorescent magnetic nanoparticles in the mice. J Occup Health 50(1):1–6
- Lee JE, Kim MG, Jang YL, Lee MS, Kim MW, Yin Y, Lee JH, Lim SY, Park JW, Kim J, Lee DS, Kim SH, Jeong JH (2018) Self-assembled PEGylated albumin nanoparticles (SPAN) as a platform for cancer chemotherapy and imaging. Drug Deliv 25(1):1570–1578
- Leuschner C, Kumar C, Hansel W, Soboyejo W, Zhou JK, Hormes J (2006) LHRH conjugated magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for detection of breast cancer metastases. Breast Cancer Res Treat 99:163–176
- Lewinski N, Colvin V, Drezek R (2008) Cytotoxicity of nanoparticles. Small 4:26-49
- Li H, Hu H, Xu D (2015) Silver decahedral nanoparticles-enhanced fluorescence resonance energy transfer sensor for specific cell imaging. Anl Chem 87(7):3826–3833
- Lim S, Peng T, Sana B (2013) Protein cages as theranostic agent carriers. In: Long M (ed) The World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering, May 26–31 2012 Beijing China. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 321–324
- Liu Z, Cai WB, He LN, Nakayama N, Chen K, Sun XM, Chen XY, Dai HJ (2007) In vivo biodistribution and highly efficient tumor targeting of carbon nanotubes in mice. Nat Nanotechnol 2:47–52
- Lu AH, Salabas EL, Schuth F (2007) Magnetic nanoparticles: synthesis, protection, functionalization, and application. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 46(8):1222–1244
- Luo H, Shi J, Jin H, Fan D, Lu L, Wang F, Zhang Z (2012) An 125I-labeled octavalent peptide fluorescent nanoprobe for tumor-homing imaging *in vivo*. Biomaterials 33:4843–4850
- Ma HL, Qi XR, Ding WX, Maitani Y, Tsuneji N (2008) Magnetic targeting after femoral artery administration and biocompatibility assessment of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. J Biomed Mater Res A 84(3):598–606
- Madhyastha H, Madhyastha R, Nakajima Y, Daima HK, Navya PN, Maruyama M (2019) An opinion on nanomedicine and toxico-cellular cross talk: considerations and caveats. Mater Today 10:100–105
- Maeda H, Wu J, Sawa T, Matsumura Y, Hori K (2000) Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review. J Control Release 65:271–284
- McCarthy JR, Kelly KA, Sun EY, Weissleder R (2007) Targeted delivery of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles. Nanomed (Lond) 2(2):153–167
- Medha MU, Sanjana S, Devendra J, Harishkumar M, Radha M, Masugi M, Navya PN, Daima HL (2018) Insight into the composition and surface corona reliant biological behavior of quercetin engineered nanoparticles. Colloids Surf A 5(48):1–9
- Mody VV, Siwale R, Singh A, Mody HR (2010) Introduction to metallic nanoparticles. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 2:282–289
- Moore A, Weissleder R, Bogdanov A (1997) Uptake of dextran-coated monocrystalline iron oxides in tumor cells and macrophages. J Magn Reson Imaging 7(6):1140–1145

- Muthu MS, Leong DT, Mei L, Feng SS (2014) Nanotheranostics application and further development of nanomedicine strategies for advanced theranostics. Theranostics 4:660–677
- Nam JM, Thaxton CS, Mirkin CA (2003) Nanoparticle-based Bio-Bar Codes for the Ultrasensitive Detection of Proteins. Science. (301):1884–1886
- Ng KK, Lovell JF, Zheng G (2011) Lipoprotein-inspired nanoparticles for cancer theranostics. Acc Chem Res 44:1105–1113
- Oberdorster G, Maynard A, Donaldson K, Castranova V, Fitzpatrick J, Ausman K et al (2005) Principles for characterizing the potential human health effects from exposure to nanomaterials: elements of a screening strategy. Part Fibre Toxicol 2:8
- Orecchioni M, Cabbiza R, Bianco A, Delogu LG (2015) Graphene as cancer theranostic tool: progress and future challenges. Theranostics 28(7):710–723
- Pankhurst QA, Connolly J, Jones SK, Dobson J et al (2003) Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine. J Phys D Appl Phys 36(13):R167–R181
- Park J, von Maltzahn G, Zhang L, Schwartz MP, Ruoslahti E, Bhatia SN, Sailor MJ et al (2008) Magnetic iron oxide nano-worms for tumor targeting and imaging. Adv Mater 20:1630–1635
- Park JH, Maltzahn GV, Zhang L, Derfus AM, Simberg D, Harris TJ, Ruoslahti E, Bhatia SN, Sailor MJ (2009) Systematic surface engineering of magnetic nano-worms for in vivo tumor targeting. Small 5:694–700
- Patra HK, Ul Khaliq N, Romu T, Wiechec E, Borga M, Turner APF, Tiwari A (2014) MRI-visual order-disorder micellar nanostructures for smart cancer theranostics. Adv Healthc Mater 3:526–535
- Pinheiro AV, Han D, Shih WM, Yan H (2011) Challenges and opportunities for structural DNA nanotechnology. Nat Nanotechnol 6:763–772
- Rong Y, Chen YH, Zhou XF, Yin CQ, Wang BC, Peng CW, Liu SP, Wang FB (2016) Identification of an aptamer through whole cell-SELEX for targeting high metastatic liver cancers. Oncotarget 7:8282–8294
- Sahoo AK, Banerjee S, Ghosh SS, Chattopadhyay A (2014) Simultaneous RGB emitting Au nanoclusters in chitosan nanoparticles for anticancer gene theranostics. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:712–724
- Sasaki T, Iwasaki N, Kohno K, Kishimoto M, Majima T, Nishimura S, Minami A (2008) Magnetic nanoparticles for improving cell invasion in tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 86(4):969–978
- Scherer F, Anton M, Schillinger U, Henke J, Bergemann C, Krüger A, Gänsbacher B (2002) Magnetofection: enhancing and targeting gene delivery by magnetic force in vitro and in vivo. Gene Ther 9(2):102–109
- Schroeder A, Levins CG, Cortez C, Langer R, Anderson DG (2010) Lipid-based nanotherapeutics for siRNA delivery. J Intern Med 267:9–21
- Shi X, Gong H, Li Y, Wang C, Cheng L, Liu Z (2013) Graphene-based magnetic plasmonic nanocomposite for dual bioimaging and photothermal therapy. Biomaterials 34:4786–4793
- Singh A, Sahoo SK (2014) Magnetic nanoparticles: a novel platform for cancer theranostics. Drug Discov Today 19:474–481
- Tartaj P, Gonzalez-Carreno T, Serna CJ (2001) Single-step nanoengineering of silica coated maghemite hollow spheres with tunable magnetic properties. Adv Mater 13:1620–1624
- Tinwala H, Waikar S (2019) Production surface modification and biomedical applications of nanodiamonds: a sparkling tool for theranostics. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 97:913–931
- Tomitaka A, Ota S, Nishimoto K, Arami H, Takemura Y, Nair M (2019) Dyanamic magnetic charaterisation and magnetic partcle imaging enhancement of magnetic gold-core shell nanoparticles. Nanoscale 11(13):6489-6496
- Torchilin VP, Trubetskoy VS (1995) Which polymers can make nanoparticulate drug carriers longcirculating. Adv Drug Del Rev 16(2–3):141–155
- Tuerk C, Gold L (1990) Systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment ligands to bacteriophage t4 DAN polymerase. Science 249:505–510

- Unfried K, Albrecht C, Klotz LO, Mikecz AV, Beck SG, Schins RPF (2007) Cellular responses to nanoparticles: target structures and mechanisms. Nanotoxicology 1(1):52–71
- Vega-Villa KR, Takemoto JK, Yanez JA, Remsberg CM, Forrest ML, Davies NM (2008) Clinical toxicities of nanocarrier systems. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:929–938
- Wilhelm C, Billotey C, Roger J, Pons JN, Bacri JC, Gazeau F (2003) Intracellular uptake of anionic super paramagnetic nanoparticles as a function of their surface coating. Biomaterials 24(6):1001–1011
- Xie J, Liu G, Eden HS, Ai H, Chen X (2011) Surface-engineered magnetic nanoparticle platforms for cancer imaging and therapy. Acc Chem Res 44:883–892
- Yoo H, Moon SK, Hwang T, Kim YS, Kim JH, Choi SW, Kim JH (2013) Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles modified with polyethyleneimine and folic acid for biomedical theranostics. Langmuir ACS J. Surf Colloids 29:5962–5967
- Zhang Y, Kohler N, Zhang M (2002) Surface modification of superparamagnetic magnetite nanoparticles and their intracellular uptake. Biomaterials 23(7):1553–1561

Index

A

Abnous, K., 26-48 Aili, D., 175 Akduman, C., 156 Alagad, K., 111 Alavarse, A.C., 155 Alftrén, J., 191 Ali, A., 112 Alibolandi, M., 26-48 Amgoth, C., 93 Amreddy, N., 245-264 Analytical methods, 41 Andresen, T.L., 175, 177 Aneja, B, 201-228 Anselmo, A.C., 86 Arthanari, S., 156 Arunachalam, G., 93 Azarbayjani, A.F., 156

B

Babu, A., 245–264 Badran, M.M., 93 Bahamonde, J., 205 Baig, T., 97 Bai, Y., 205, 206 Balcao, V.M., 187 Bar-Ilan, O., 205 Barth, R.F., 262 Baryeh, K., 42 Barzegar, H., 111 Basel, M.T., 174 Behera, B.K., 188 Bellinom M.G., 175 Bernardos, A., 178 Berry, C.C., 320 Bertoncelj, V., 156 Bhirde, A.A., 62 Biokinetics, 11, 12, 203, 204-210 Biomaterial, 67, 71 Biomedical applications, v, 2, 15, 104, 146, 147, 151, 153, 167–193, 241, 247, 248, 251, 320 Biosensors, v, 26-42, 48, 83, 127, 170, 326.327 Bisht, S., 93 Biswas, S., 256 Blel, N., 44 Bobo, D., 86 Bohrey, A., 127 Bone grafts, 64, 69-71 Bora, U., 82-128 Bourget, L., 189 Breggin, L., 17 Bulte, J.W., 320

С

Calvo, P., 183 Camacho-Flores, B.A., 111 Caminade, A.M., 97 Campos, E.A., 112 Cancer, 5, 26, 61, 84, 167, 202, 246, 284, 319 Cancer detection, v, 27–41, 48 Carbon-based nanoparticles, 27, 86, 168, 171 Cengiz, S., 176 Chang, C.-Y., 73 Chang, T.M.S., 188, 189

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 V. K. Yata et al. (eds.), *Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications Vol. 3*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 48, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47120-0 335

Chan, W.C., 203 Charbgoo, F., 26–48 Chavoshy, F., 95 Cheng, J., 205 Cheng, S.H., 205 Cheng, Y., 254, 256 Cheng, Z., 112 Chittasupho, C., 256 Choi, J.E., 205 Chomachayi, M.D., 155 Choonara, Y.E., 2-18 Chou, W.-H., 272-301 Christy, A.J., 111 Copper, v, 2, 9-10, 17, 111, 114, 119, 122, 217, 218, 220, 221, 227 Corchero, J.L., 189 Cottat, M., 43 Cr, R., 155 Cruz, M.E.M., 187 Cui, J.-D., 189 Cumana, S., 187 Cummings, B.S., 171

D

Dadmehr, M., 43 de Barros, A.L., 214 De Jong, W.H.D., 206 de la Rica, R., 175, 176 DeLoid, G.M., 11 Dharmapuri, G., 93 Dilnawaz, F., 54-74 Dong, Y.X., 45 Drug delivery, 2, 54, 82, 140, 167, 204, 247, 273, 318 Drug delivery systems, 2, 54, 70, 71, 94, 140, 153, 154, 156, 157, 169, 172, 174, 176-179, 188, 192, 227, 247, 257-259, 264, 273, 279, 281, 284, 285, 289, 291-295, 298-301, 328 Dunning, M.D., 320 Dutra, J.A., 155 Dutta, T., 256 Dwivedi, C., 155

Е

Edwards, J.S., 175 Ehlert, N., 175 Ehrlich, P., 66 Elder, A., 205, 206 Electrospinning, 118, 140, 141–149, 151, 189 Ensor, C.M., 188 Enzyme responsive, 167–193 Erdal, M.S., 140–157

F

Falagan-Lotsch, P., 6 Fazli, Y., 155 Ferguson, R.M., 175 Ferin, J., 14 Fischer, H.C., 203 Freese, C., 7

G

Ganesan, P., 105 Garcia-Oru, I., 155 Gardimalla, H.M.R., 175 Gaspar, M.M., 187 Gates, K.A., 73 Gencturk, A., 156 Gene delivery, 6, 108, 171, 247, 251, 254-257, 260, 264, 320, 327, 328 Genta, I., 189 Gold, 2, 27, 61, 83, 170, 205, 247, 283, 319 Goldberg, D.S., 256 Gonzalez-Moragas, L., 205 Goœliñska, O., 188 Govender, M., 2-18 Grate, J.W., 174 Güngör, S., 140–157 Guo, B., 6, 8 Gu, Z., 169, 178

H

Haider, T., 189 Hamd-Ghadareh, S., 43 Hansen, S.F., 17 Hao, N., 283 Hare, J.I., 86 Harnoy, A.J., 178 Harush-Frenkel, O., 283 Hill, K.J., 189 Hirai, T., 14 Hirasawa, M., 73 Hobley, T.J., 191 Hong, Y., 43 Huang, R.Q., 256, 258 Huang, W., 188 Huertas, C.S., 42 Husain, Q., 189 Hu, T., 46 Hu, Y., 44 Hu, Z., 42

I

Ichikawa, S., 187 Immobilization, v, 35, 36, 41, 167, 168–176, 182, 185–190 Indermun, S., 2–18 Inorganic nanoparticles, 2, 120, 149 Intestinal barrier, 271–301 Intestinal epithelium, 82, 279, 280, 285, 286, 291, 293, 295, 301 Intestinal epithelium permeation, 295 Iron, v, 9–12, 16, 17, 35, 105, 112, 115, 155, 170, 172, 191, 205, 209, 211, 212, 214, 215, 219, 220, 222, 247, 257, 263, 287, 296, 320, 325, 329 Islan, G.A., 172

J

Jain, K., 258 Jain, P., 54–74 Jani, P., 206 Jannesari, M., 156 Jensen, I.B., 256 Jiang, T., 172, 176 Jia, X., 205 Jin, B., 45 Johnston, H.J., 205

K

Karanth, N.G., 167-193 Kataria, K., 156 Kesharwani, P., 256 Khan, A., 179 Khan, M.F., 167-193 Ki, J., 42 Kiliç, E., 155 Kim, J., 174 Kim, J.H., 111 Kim, K.T., 205 Kim, S., 206 Kim, S.E., 15 Klinge, B., 73 Knudsen, K.B., 299 Kolesnikova, T.A., 12 Kong, X., 258 Konno, T., 175, 176

Korablyov, V., 189 Korrapati, P.S., 155 Koyama, Y., 205 Kozlovsky, A., 73 Kulkarni, J.A., 105 Kumari, M., 205 Kumar, P., 2–18, 175 Kundu, D., 167–193 Kura, A.U., 12 Kwon, J.T., 320 Kyziol, 155

L

Lai, H.J., 156 Laromaine, A., 174 Laser therapy, 69-70 Law, B., 176 Lee, G.K.-C., 175 Lee, J.E., 188 Lee, J.-S., 43 Lee. M.S., 155 Leitao, R., 73 Leuschner, C., 320 Liang, J.F., 187 Lian, M., 47 Liao, Y., 156 Li. B., 46 Li, C.M., 42 Li, J., 205 Li, K., 205 Li, N., 256 Lin, D., 43 Lin, I.-C., 284 Lin, W.J., 95 Lipid-based nanoparticles, 99-101, 104, 105, 247, 299, 321 Li, Q., 44 Liu, M.-H., 62 Liu. W., 187 Liu, Y., 174, 187, 188 Liu, Z., 205, 206, 320 Li, Y., 256 Li, Z., 262 Lizano, C., 189 Loeschner, K., 205 Löhr, M., 187 Lopez-Chaves, C., 205 Luan, Q., 73 Lühmann, T., 272-301 Lunov, O., 11 Luo. H., 320 Luo, X., 298

Μ

Madhyastha, H., 318-330 Madhyastha, R., 318-330 Makhmalzade, B.S., 95 Malakar, D., 201–228 Manashjit Gogoi, M., 167-193 Manikandan, M., 43 Manosroi, A., 188, 190 Marques, R.C., 45 Martínez, Y.N., 188, 190 Maruyama, M., 318–330 Maslakçi, N.N., 155 Mavon, A., 14 Medeiros, S.F., 189 Medintz, I.L., 174 Meinel, L., 272-301 Mendes, A.C., 156 Menon, S., 111 Michael, F.M., 15 Mickova, A., 142, 156 Mitragotri, S., 86 Mohanty, A.K., 201-228 Mohiti-Asli, M., 155 Mohseni, M., 155 Moore, A., 320 Morales, J.O., 272-301 Morris, M.S., 73 Motaghi, H., 43 Mozafari, M.R., 101 Multifunctional nanomaterials, 12 Munshi, A., 245-264 Mura, S., 298 Murugan, K., 9, 11

N

Nakajima, Y., 318-330 Nam, J.M., 320 Nanoanesthesia, 59 Nanocomposites, 12, 15, 35, 38, 57, 60, 61, 64, 65, 70, 71, 113, 122, 125 Nanodentistry, 58 Nanofibers, v, 29, 30, 41, 65, 70, 110, 118, 121, 140–157, 188, 189, 210 Nanomaterials, v, 2-18, 27, 37, 40, 57, 58, 60, 67, 69, 71, 72, 82, 83-86, 92, 99, 110, 112, 113, 122, 123, 126, 127, 167, 168-176, 180-189, 191, 192, 273, 295, 297, 299, 300, 322 Nanoparticles (NPs), 2, 26, 60, 83, 140, 167, 202, 247, 273, 318 Nanopharmaceuticals, v, 82-128, 219

Nanotechnology, v, 26, 27, 35, 54, 56–72, 82, 83, 128, 157, 181, 192, 202, 218, 227, 273, 295, 300, 301, 318, 329 Nanotheranostic, 318–330 Nanotoxicity, 202–228, 329 Nanotoxicology, 204, 295, 324 Napoli, A., 176 Narayanasamy, D., 105 Navarro, G., 256 Nekouian, R., 27, 42 Ngawhirunpat, T., 156 Nikolic, T., 188 Nosrati, N., 205

0

Oberdorster, G., 14 Oda, C.M.R., 95 Ojer, P., 299 Ojha, S., 82–128 Olivier, J.-C., 181 Opanasopit, P., 156 Orecchioni, M., 320 Orodental infections, 54 Orthodontics, 56, 60–61, 64, 70 Osathanon, T., 188

Р

Paget, V., 296 Palmour, R., 189 Pan, L.H., 45 Park, J.H., 320 Park, J.-H., 170 Park, Y.-J., 188 Patchell, C., 187 Patra, S., 167-193 Peng, Y., 46 Pérez-Payá, E., 174 Periodontics, 69 Petrikovics, I., 189 Phadtare, S., 174 Physicochemical properties, 2, 30, 59, 144, 170, 191, 202, 204, 206, 208, 210, 211, 297, 298, 324, 328 Pillai, G., 86 Pillay, V., 2-18 Pinon-Segundo, E., 72, 73 Piras, A.M., 188 Polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer, 250, 253, 297 Poly-L-lysine, 250, 251, 255, 258 Polymeric nanoparticles, 83, 86-87, 93, 169,

172, 174, 175, 192

Polymers, 5, 60, 84, 140, 169, 247, 283, 322 Poly(propylene imine), 248, 253, 255, 256, 257 Poornima, B., 155 Popovtzer, R., 61 Prietl, B., 297 Puapaiboon, U., 98

Q

Qu, Y., 205

R

Ramesh, R., 245–264 Ramezani, M., 26–48 Ranjbar-Mohammadi, M., 155 Rao, J., 179 Rather, A.H., 155 Receptor targeting, 253 Redlich, M., 60 Regenerative medicine, 328 Ren, L., 187 Rong, Y., 320 Roy, U., 111

S

Sadauskas, E., 206 Saeed, A.A., 46 Sahay, G., 274 Sahoo, P.R., 318-330 Said, S.S., 156 Saikia, D., 82–128 Sakthivel, D., 93 Saleh, T.A., 111 Santini, B., 187 Saranya, M., 111 Satchi-Fainaro, R., 174 Sato, Y., 73 Scherer, F., 320 Schulz, J., 14 Selwyna, P.G.C., 45 Shariatinia, Z., 155 Sharma, A., 46 Sharma, V., 201-228 Sheng, L., 205 Shen, W., 256 Shen, X., 156 Shen, Z., 256 Shi, J., 106 Shirazaki, P., 155 Shi, Y., 156, 287 Shoba, E., 155

Shrestha, A.K., 167-193 Shukla, S., 263 Silica, v, 2, 14, 15, 17, 48, 65, 67, 70, 71, 110, 168, 170, 172, 174, 175, 178, 187, 188, 190, 191, 205, 220, 221, 262, 283, 294, 320, 322, 326 Silver, 2, 27, 63, 111, 155, 170, 205, 264, 296, 319 Singh, S.P., 205 Singh, V., 175 Soler, M., 43 Soltys, P.J., 189 Song, J., 156 Stasyuk, N., 190 Storm, G., 188 Syama, S., 299 Sykes, E.A., 205 Systemic toxicity, 15, 178, 182, 210-212, 298-300

Т

Taghdisi, S.M., 26-48 Talam, S., 112 Tamizi, E., 155 Tammaro, L., 156 Tamm, I., 155 Tartai, P., 320 Taylor, R.T., 98 Terada, T., 171 Therapeutic delivery, 167-193 Thiem, B., 188 Tian, L., 46 Tietze, S., 256 Titanium dioxide, 4, 14, 170, 222, 296 Tomitaka, A., 320 Tong, J., 15 Topical drug delivery, 156 Tort, S., 155 Toxicity, 2, 92, 143, 170, 202, 246, 273, 319 Toxicity assessment, 120, 128, 204, 212, 215, 216, 218, 220, 221, 225, 227, 228 Tran, H., 46 Tran, N.Q., 256 Transdermal drug delivery, 154, 156 Triroj, N., 44 Tros de Ilarduya, C., 256 Truong, L.T.N., 44

U

Uliana, C.V., 46 Umadevi, M., 111 Unnithan, A.R., 156

V

Valentini, P., 42 Vanderkerckhove, B., 73 van der Zande, M., 205 Ventola, C.L., 86 Verma, S., 46 Vicent, M.J., 174 Vo-Dinh, T., 43 Vural, T., 44

W

Walde, P., 187 Wang, B., 205 Wang, C.X., 15 Wang, D., 44, 156 Wang, H.-N., 43 Wang, J., 42, 205, 206 Wang, K., 42 Wang, M., 155, 174 Wang, M.C., 35 Wang, R., 86, 175 Wang, S., 298 Wang, X., 9, 45 Wang, Y., 188 Wang, Z., 155 Wan, X., 300 Weber, E., 176 Weisner, M.R., 127 Wei, Y., 45 Wolfe, E.A., 189 Wound healing, 15, 66, 141, 149-151, 153-157, 167, 176, 186, 188, 190, 192, 328 Wu, J., 205, 206 Wu, W., 286

Х

Xia, N., 44 Xiao, Y., 127 Xin, Q., 205

Y

Yamada, S., 73 Yang, J., 45 Yang, K., 62 Yang, R., 253, 256 Yang, T., 175 Yang, Y., 15, 45 Yao, C.H., 155 Yao, H., 108 Yata, V.K., 201–228 Ye, F., 95 Yuan, J., 44 Yuan, Y.-H., 46 Yun, X., 189

Z

Zavari-Nematabad, A., 43 Zeenat Iqbal, Z., 54–74 Zhang, F., 12 Zhang, Q., 44, 155, 262 Zhang, X., 286 Zhang, Y., 47, 149, 298, 320 Zhao, L., 45 Zheng, X.T., 42 Zhou, L., 98 Zhu, M.T., 205 Zinc, v, 4, 9, 12, 14, 17, 67, 170, 188, 283, 296, 299 Zupančič, S., 156